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INTRODUCTION.

belong to an heroic age which sooms farther rernoved

from one's than the mere lapro of a century snggeste.

; Tt is probable that, saving to the student of Indian

Sd pea) history, their names are but 1s indistinct items on a

forgotten seroll, whose reeord is nearly obliterated by

the dust of oblivion. They and their deeds are blended into a bar-

baric past, when history was written in blood not in books, and of

which scares a vestige remuins in the civilised Indian Empire of the

Victorian Zenith. And yet only a hundred years ago theme dead and

gone Adveniurers created armies, conquered kingdome, overturned

princes and ruled provinces, winning snch distinctions and wielding

such personal power as are not within tho reach of modern endeavour,

Forming a link between the cras of Oriental despotism and Muropean

government, they bedizened the introduction of Western enlighten-

ment with the gaudy paraphernalia of the East. But Fate planted

them in one of those periods of transition which by their vory nature

are temporary, and they share with it a short-lived fame. Their

individual places in History are limited to a paragraph or, at most, a

page. They are but units in the sum of India’s story—stray drafts on

its eapitel of achievement which have bean retired, filed away and

forgotten. None heed these faded personalities now. The whisper of

De Boigne’s name is as powerless to compel attention as the thunder

of hia cannon to create terror ; the mention of George Thomas awakens

no responsive recognition even) in hearts alert to the influence of

Romance and Adventure; the political opinions of Perron have long

ceased to affect ihe price of India stock, or set heads wagging in

Leadenhall Street. As for the lesser Suldiers of Fortune—the cen-

turions and the lieutenants of the Mercenary Armies of Native India

—they are dust of the common dust, whose memory the greedy march

of English enterprise in the Hast has shuffled out of sight, reducing

their achievements to the common level which displays not a head-

stone to view. Yet each in his different way, designedly or uncon-

seiously, directly or indirectly, worked towards ong common end by



B INTRODUCTION.

assisting in bringing about the conditions that paved the way for the

establishment of English supremacy in India; and each, when his

personal share in the drama was finished, and the last great act

opened, passed off the atage unnoticed and wnknown, and left the

completion of the task, and the applause it evoked, to other actors.

A word of explanation ts nescssury concorning the title chosen for

this book. Tho “Hindustan” thercin referred to is the circumscribed

territory defined by that fine old geographer, Major James Renncll, in

hia “ Memoir of a Map of Windostan,” published in 1755. Tt was a

territory hounded by the Indus on the west, by the ‘ Burranipootra

or thereabouts” on the east, by the Himalayan mountains on the

north, and “by the countries of the Decean on the sonth, so that the

whole peninsula to the south of u line drawn nearly from Balasore to

Broach is not reckoned Hindostan.’ Tt is necessary tu thus localise

the Adventurers whose lives are sketchad in the following pages in

order that they may not becoufounded with the innumerable Kuropean

Free Lances, who served the courta of Haidsrabad and Mysore and

other Native Princes in Southern Lodia,

The period in which the Earopean Military Adventurers of Hindu-

stan flounshed began in 1764, during the Government of Warren

Hastings, and ended iv 1803 during that of the Marqnis Wellesley.

Those twenty years saw the riso, the reign, and the ruin of Independent

Military Adventure in India. To De Boigne helongs the honour of

having initiated the wonderful system that took root aud grew with

the fatal rapidity of an exotic. He ercated for Madhoji Sindhia—" A

Ruler of India”—the first complete army of regular troops employed

by the Native Priuces of the country. ‘The cxample was soon followed

by the Nizam of Haidarabad, and, in a differont degree, by Tipu Sultan.

Tn 1798 there were tliree preat discipliued military establishmonts in

the service of the leading Indian Conrts, commanded by Frenchinen in

the French intorest, and employing Europoat arte and tactics of war.

Their destruction and extermination was forced upon the Marquis

Wellosley by the political exigences of the times, and was the most

important work of his administration, De Boigne’s army, which had

passed under the command of Perron, was the first of these three

organisations to be called into existence and the last of them to be

broken up.

The political and, indeed, international importance of the European

Military Adventurers of India can be guaged from the following

extract from a despateh written by the Marquis Wellesley in 1798 :—

“Tn the present weak state of the Nizam of Haidarabad’s Covern-

ment, the French corps in his service would (in the event of a war
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between the English and Mysore, which was anticipated) openly join

Tipti Sultan, and by a sudden blow endeavour to seize the Nizam’s

territories, and to secure them to the Dominion of France under an

alliance offensive and defensive with Tipu Sultan... . The interest

and the inclination of Sindhia, who entertains a large army in his

gervice under the command of a French officer (Perron), would lead

him to engage with Tip Sultan and the French. . .. The junction

which might thus be effected between the French officers, with their

several corps in the respective services of tle Nizam, of Sindhia, and

of Tipd, might establish the power of France upon the ruins of the

atates of Poonah and of the Deccan.”

Although this book does not deal with the French Factions o1

Haidarabad and Mysore, their existonce and importance must be

noted, because they are intimatcly connected with the subject treated.

In Hajidarabad, in addition to the Nizam’s irreguler soldiery, there

was a trained army of 14,000 men and 80 guns under the command of

Piron, who had suceceded the famous Raymond. The native army of

Mysore numbered 75,000 troops of all arms, and inelnded Tipi’s

“ [uropean or French Foreo’” of 550 officers, non-commissioned

officers and men. Finally Sindhia could muster 40,000 disciplined

infantry with 380 guns, the whole commanded by Perron, who was

assisted by an efficient staf of 300 Kuropcans. Sindhia’s Brigades

were one factor, and, as events proved, the most formidable factor in

that possible combination whiel: a hundred years ago threatened the

existence of the English power in India. The story of those Brigades

is the story of the European Military Adventurers of Hindustan.

I am desirous of taking this opportunity of recording my obligations

to two gentlemen for help received. Mr. Edmund Neel, C.1.E., the

assistant secretary in the political department of the India office,

facilitated a search through many volumes of Government records,

and kindly assisted in regard to those of a secret nature which were

not open to my inspection ; and Count de Boigne placed at my disposal

a mermeir of his illustrious grandsire's life, and clearcd up one doubtful

point of great interest.

In compiling the following pages a great many authorities have

been consulted, but it would be tedious to give in detail the names of

all the works from which fragments of information have been gleaned.

The principal ones are indicated in the list printed below, to the first

four books in which I am particularly indebied. The sketch of De

Boigne’s life was written before the two French biographics indicated

came under my observation, and they have only becn used to correct

a fow minor statements of fact, chiefly of a personal nature. In the
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life of George Thomas, his memoirs have heen very closely followed,

but a great quantity of extraneous and uninteresting matter has been

eliminated, and a good deal of additional information incorporated.

With regard to Perron, so far as I am aware, there is no detailed

biography of this adventurer in oxistence, and the one here presented

is compiled from original sources. Tie lives of the lesser adventurers

have been culled from a great variety of works, by far the most

important of whieh is the one written by Lewis Ferdinand Smith.

An earnest endeavour has been made to secnre corroetness of narra-

tive, but in some eases it has been rendered very difficult, and success

renderod doubtful, by divergent statements and contradictory dates

bearing on the same incident.

H. C.

LIST OF AUTHORITIES CONSULTED.
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DEK BOIGNE.

CHAPTER I.

HIS EARLY LIFE AND SERVICES. ARRIVAL IN INDIA.

1751-1784.

—— F the darmg and srrant military adventurers who,

\| during the last two decades of the eighteenth

century, helped to wreck dynasties and establish

kingdoms in Hindustan, there is one who towers

high and great above the rest. The pride and pomp

of Perron, and the delirious ambition of George

Thomas, must yield place to the genius and achievement of General

Count de Boigne, who, if he never quito touched the political im-

portance attained by the former, of aspired to the actual independence

usurped by the latter, must yet take precedence of both as the creator

of the military system thoy inherited or adopted. For De Boigne was

the first to raise up disciplined armies from the fierce races of Upper

India, and teach them how to fight and how to conquer; he was the first

to carry the science of European warfare into the heart of Hindustan ;

and his famous battalions formed the connecting link between the

eras of Mughal Empire and British Dominion in the East. If the

extraordinary power Do Boigne’s brigades oxercised, and the brilliant

record they left behind them, during a momentous quarter of a century,

fill but a single chapter in the turbulent history of India, it is at

least one glowing with enterprise and achievement, end worthy of the

place it fills between the pages that record the conquosts of Clive and

Coote and the victories of Lake and Wellesley.

Benoit Le Borgno—better known to history as Benoit do Boigne—

was born at Chambéry, in Savoy, on the 8th of Mareh, 1751. Hoe
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was the second son of a large family, aud hia father followed the calling

of a hide merchant. Despite his narrow moans, Pére La Borgne

contrived to afford Bencit a anfficiont education at the college of his

native town, where, under the tutelage of pious and learned monks,

the youth acquired «2 general knowledgo of books and a tolerable pro-

ficiency in Latin; whilst, from the cirenmetances of his birthplace

being situated near the French frontier, he spoke French and Italian

with equal fluency.

Asa lad, Benoit found bis chief pleagnre in music and fencing, and

his brain was filled with the fanciful ideas of glory in which boys

indulge. It was his father's intention to make him a lawyer, but he

himself determined at an early age to follow the profession of arms,

for which his fine physique and bold spirit eminently fitted him. His

desire was to enter the army of his native country, then under ihe

rule of King Charles Fraanuol, but ia this he was disappointed owing

to all its commissioned sppointments being monopolised by the

nobility of Savoy and Sardinia, and admitting no cadets of less dis-

tinguished birth. Perhaps Da Boigne lost nothing by this, for the

life of an officer in the Sardinian services was often one of inflated

poverty wherein 4 glittering coat covered a hungry stomach during a

long and depressing period of uniformed impecnniosity.

But he bad not for tv look for a more hopeful epbore of action,

France was contiguous, and its capital the head-quarters of a body af

adventurera famous in history—the Irish Brigade. This corpse

enjoyed the highest reputation throughout Enrope for gallantry in

the field and discipline in the cainp. Tis ranks were open to the

merit and talent of all nations, and to belong to it was at once an

establishment and a distinction in life. It waa, in short, just such a

service as appealed to the inhorent instinets of young De Boigne, and

he determined to enter its ranks if possible.

Tradition says that he left his native country under cireumstances

which did more credit to his spirit than to his respect for those laws

which his father had intended he should expound, A duel with a

Sardinian officer, which threatened retribution at the hands of a local

magistrate, Iced De Boigne to accelerate his departure from the

paternal roof. Nurturing high aspirations, and without any definite

ambition in view, he crossed the frontier and entered France in 1768,

and presented himself for employment in the Trish Brigade.

There was a recommendation in his tall martial figare and frank

soldierly bearing. His large-boned limbs ond massive frame gave

evidence of unusual physical powers, and he confronted the world

with an air of congcious superiority. His features wera stern and
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rasolute, lit up with piercing eyes, and surmounted by a lofty brow,

not common in the Latin race, and indicating the possession of those

qualities from which soldiers are shaped and heroes hewn. His

application was successful, and he obtained an ensign’s commission

in the Clare Regiment, temporarily commanded by Major Leigh, an

officer noted for his discipline. Joining his corps at Landrecies,

De Boigne passed the next three years chiefly in Flanders, until his

regiment embarked for the Isle of France, where it remained for

eightecn months before being ordered back to Murope.

During his stay in the Irish Brigade De Tioigne was noted for his

professional zeal and general good conduct, and in this famous carps

acquired the intimate knowledge of military affairs which proved of

such essential use to him in later life. But after some years’ service

his active and ambitious temperament grew disheartened from want

of encouragement ; promotion stagnated, and he tound advancement

to the higher grades too slow for his restless spirit. He never spared

hiraself, but he expected a suitable reward for his cxertions. Despite

his zeal and love for his prafession, De Boigne was so far a mer-

cenary at heart that he recognised his sword was his sole capital, and

desired to inveat it to the best advantaye. Love of money was

strongly engrained in his character, and a subaltern’s pay in a

foreign legion satisficd him as little ag a subaltorn’s position. When,

therefore, he chanced to hear of an opening for volunteer officers in

the service of Russia (then at war with the Turks), De Boigne

determined to quit the Irish Brigade, and endeavour to advance his

fortunes under a new flag where the chances of active service

were assured, and the flow.of. promotion promised to be more

rapid.

Resigning his commission in the French service in 1774, De Boigne

proceeded to Turin, and obtained from the Marquis D’Aigueblanche,

the Sardinian minister, a letter of recommendation to Admiral

Orloff, whe commanded the Russian forees in the Grecian Archi-

pelago. Equipped with this, he started for the seat of war, and made

his way to Paros, where he presented himself before the Admiral, who,

with the quick perception of a commander accustomed to read character,

was favourably impressed with De Boigne’s appearance, and appointed

him to a captaincy in a Greck regiment in the service of the Empress

Catherine.

But Fate ordained that De Boigne’s career of active service should

be of short duration. After afew weeks his regiment was exaployed

jn an attack on the island of Tenedos, at the mouth of the Darda-

nelles. ‘The expedition was ill-conesived and ill-exeeuted, and met

2
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with a disastrous defeat at the hands of the Turkish garrison, by

whom De Boigne, one of the few survivora of the fight, was made

prisoner,

As an infidel and 2 captive of war in the hands of the Moslem ha

received but scant consideration, One account says he waa sent to

Scio, whore he laujuished six months in prison till the war terminated.

jut another authority gives the following somewhat apocryphal

but picturesque version of his adventures during the next three years.

Atter being taken prisoner he was sent to Constantinople, and there

sold as a slave for fifty dollars, and for a timo employed in a menial

capacity, being actually set to ew wood and draw water for hia

master’s household. During this period le managed to communicate

with hia parents, who arranged for hig ransom. On regaining his

freedom be made his way to St. Petersburg to press his claims for

consideration after the hardships, he had suffered in the Russian

service. After some little waiting Le succeeded in obtaining a pre-

sentation tu the Empress Catherine, who listened pracionsly and with

interest to the story of hia slavery at Constantinople, and is said to

have predicted a career fur lim. To compensate for hia misfor.

tune she bestowed on him a commission as major in her army, and

the war wilh the Turks being at an end, he was posted to a

regiment doing duty on the south-western frontier of Russia, where

he was not long aflerwards selected for the command of an escort

detached to attend Lord Percy, a son of the Duke of Northumber-

land, on a tour through the islands of tle Grecian Archipelago.

De Boigne quickly ingratiated himself with this nobleman. In

the course of their travels they touched at Smyrna, where Do

Boigne chanced tv meet some Muropean werchants latcly returned

from the East, whose dazzling descriptions of India, and the prospects

it held out to military advonturers so fascinated him that he detor-

mined to visit the country. This intention he communicated to Lord |

Perey, who furnished him with a letter of introduction to Warren

Hastings, the Governor of Bengal.

While considering the best way to carry his design into execution,

the idea occurred to De Boigne of making the journey to India over-

land, by way of the Caspian Sea, Tartary, and Kashmir. It waa a2

boldly conecived enterprise, and worthy of hia adventurous spirit.

Returning to St. Petersburg he solicited an andience with the

Empress, and laid his proposition beforc her. The project was one

that appealed to a sovereign who was always ready to encourage

travel and exploration, more especialiy in those countries which

Peter tho Great had indicated io hia will as indispensable objects of
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future acquisition by Russia, The Empress accorded her conntenanee

to the scheme, and it is interesting to note that, twelve years

later, when the relations between Russia and Fingland threatened a

rupture, she ordered her ministers to obtain all available information

concerning tho actual route suggested Ly De Boigne, with a view to

invading India by an advance in that direction. :

Such ig one version of De Boigne’s adventures during this period,

but another account ineraly states that after hia enpture by the Turks

he was confined for seven months at Scio, until the end of the war,

which event liberated him, but stopped his promotion ; that he then

resigned the service of Russia and embarked for Smyrna, where he

met certain English traders lately returned from the East, who

described India as a veritable political chaos, but withal so marvellous

a country that, listening to them, De Toigne folt all the fantastic

dreams of bis youth revive, ond was iuspired to go there and search

for fortune.

There is nothing incompatible in the two versions, and they both

bring the narrative to the same point at Aleppo, where De Boigne

found himself about the year 1777, and joined wu caravan starting for

Baghdad. Unfortunately Turkey was at wor with Persia, and tho

arms of the former having recently suffered some serious reverses,

the districts through which the caravan would have to travel were

rendered unsafe by the presenco of marauding bodies of Persian

cavalry, and the leader of the expedition, fearing capture, decided

shortly after starting, to ubandon the proposed journey and return to

Aleppo.

Undeterred by this inauspicious beyinuing, De Boigne determined

to reach India by some other route, and set suil for Alexandria. But

misfortune still dogged his path, for tho vessel that carried him was

wrecked at the mouth of the Nile, and he found himself a castaway

on tho inhospitable shores of Egypt. He was rescued by a band of

Arabs, from whom he expected the inhumanity of treatment they

were generally credited with exercising; but it appeared that, how-

ever pitiless they might be in plundering the rich, they were pre-

eluded by their notions of honour from oppressing the needy, and, so

for from ill-treating De Boigne, they succonred him most charitably,

and assisted him to reach Grand Cairo.

Here he met his old acquaintance Lord Percy, who imtroduced

him ta Mr. George Baldwin, the Pritish Cousul, throush whosc

kindnoss De Boigne obtained a passage in 1 country ship to Madras,

by way of the Ned Sea, He was also furnished with letters of intro-

duction to Major Sydenham, the Town-major of Fort St George,
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where he landed in January, 1778, just after Sir Thomas Rumbold

had assumed the government of the Presidency.

De Boigne was at this time a young man of twenty-seven years of

age, ten of which had been spent in military service and foreign

travel. And yat lie was not so worldly wise but that he expected to

find the famous pagoda tree flourishing, whose branches required

only to be shakon to ensure the dropping of their golden fruit. Ee

had come to acquire wealth, but he soon learnt that poverty and want

existed in the East as well ag riches aud luxury. War had recently

been declared between Englund ond France, and Sir Hector Munro

was engaged in laying siege to Vondicherry. It was an inauspicious

moment for an ex-officer of the French service to seek his fortune in

an English dependency. Month after month passed by, and De Boigna

waited for the preferment that did not come. His alender stock of

money gradually melted away, and at last, in order to procure the

vecessariea of life, he was compelled to give lessons in fenoing—an

art in which he was highly proficient.

That he was very poor, that lie was very distressed, and that le was

greatly disheartened, is confirmed by his aceeptance shortly afterwards

of an ensign’s cornmission in the 6th Regiment of Madras Native

Infantry. This he obtained through the good offices of Major Syden-

ham, who found means to overcome the acruplos of the Governor. It

has been suggested that by entering the British service De Boigno

desired to disarm suspicion as to lis political relations with the Rassian

Government, and that this step offered ihe most efficacious method of

doing so. But this theory may be dismissed, for there ia Tittle doubt

but that it was poverty alone which compelled this ex-captain of the

Irish Brigade and ex-major of the Russian army to don the uniform

of a subaltern in a regiment of Madras Native Infantry, and swear

allegiance to a Company of merchant adventurers.

For nearly two years De Boigne continued in this station, and, but

for a fortunate accident, might have ended as well as begun his Indian

career ag a Company's ensign. His regiment was attached to Colonel

Baillic's force at Gantur in September, 1780, when De Voigno

happened to be detached on escort duty to convoy up a supply of grain

from Madras, During his absence Colonel Baillie waa surrounded by

the Mysore army, under Tipu Salib, the son of Haidar Ali, and after a

brave, but hopeless, resistance, during which the greater portion of

his force Was cut to pieces, obliged to surrender.

Just about this time Lord Macartney succesded Sir Thomas Rumbold

ag Governor of Madras, and, after the disaster of Gantur, offered

De Boigne an appointment in hiy body-guard It is not improbable
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that during the next three years De Boigne learnt mauy particulars

coucetning the French military adventurers in the service of Mysore,

for the deeds of these Freo Lances of Carnatic must have been topies

of common conversation. Amongst them were many able officers

not unworthy successors to Dupleix, Bussy, La Bourdonnais, Lally,

and Law. Lally, it may be noted, had served in Dillon's Regiment

in the Irish Brigade. Aided by the condition of the timos, and the

circumstances of the country, these military adventurers attained sub-

stantial, and, in many cases, Incrative, commands in the service of

Haidar Ali, and were struggling to keep in existenee the French

influenco in Southern India,
Before many months had passed De Boigne came to the conclusion

that the Madras Native Army dangled no charms for a soldier of

fortune. On the contrary, it confirmed his repugnance for a progressive

service. Those were the daysof grey-headed ensigns and veteran lieu-

tenants, to whom promotion could never come. Money, not merit, com-

manded ateps,and De Boigne’s prospects were the more hopeless becatise

he laboured under the disadvantage of alien birth, which was a bar to

his advancement. Yet all this time he was constantly reminded of

the possibilities the country offered to men of ability and enterprise,

for but a few leagues distunt there were Frenchmen—who, in Europe,

must have sainted him respectfully—enjoying immense powers, dignity

and wealth in a service that was preedy to reccive all European appli-

cants who would fight against the English,

The resignation De Boigne decided on was accelerated by two

incidents, the one arising owt of the other. A charge was preferred

against him of taking undue liberties with the wile of a brother officer,

and although the accusation wag unfounded, and he was honourably

acquitted by a court-martial, the circumstance led Lord Macartney to

refuse De Boigne’s application for an adjutancy, and confer the

appointment on an officer of junior standing. Whereupon De Boigne

threw up his commission. This mduced the Governor to inquire

more clearly into the matter, and he was soon convinced that De

Boigne had been harshly ircated. Anxious now to repair the u-

witting injustice, he professed himself ready to sanction the appoint-

ment, but De Boigne bad made up his mind to leave the Company's

service, and declined to willidraw his papers. Lord Macartney was

therefore obliged to aceept his resignatiun, but to testify his kindly

fecling, he provided him with a letter of recommendation to Warren

Hastings at Calcntia. :

Captain Edward Moor, in his “ Narrative of Little’s Expedition,”

gives anotber version of the reason that ied to De Boigne’s departure
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from Madras. According to this writer he was dismissed from the

service for a trivial offence “by the overgrown authority of the Civil

power;” but it matters little whether he resigned voluntarily or of

necessity, In 1782 he arrived at Caleuita, where a kind-hearted resi-

dent of Fort Williiam—an intimate friend of Captain Moor—took him

by the hand, and furnished him with credit to a very considerable

amount, which enabled him early in the following year to get out on

his journey to Upper India.

Meanwhile De Boigne presented his letters of introduction from

Lord Perey and Lord Macartney to Warren Hastings, These secured

him a courteous reception, and he confided to the Governer-General

his intention of endeavouring fo make his way to Europe overland.

The boldness of the design interested Hastings, who could appreciate

enterprise in all its forms, and he provided De Boigne with letters to

the British agents in India, and-also to the Naw4h Wazier of Oudh,

which assured the recipient. great pecuniary advantages, since it was

the custom of the Native Courts of India to bestow valuable Khiluts,

or presents of honour, on all persons recommended by friendly powers.

This to e traveller of De Goigne’s narrow circumstances was a matter

of immense importance.

Early in 1788, after a short stay in Calcutta, De Boigne proceeded

to Lueknow, and waiied upon Mr. Middleton, the English Resident

at the Court of Oudh, and in the courge of time was received in

audience by the Nawab Wazir, and honoured with a valuable Khilut

and letters of credit on Kabul and Kandahar for Rs.12,000. The

Khilut De Boigne immediately sold for Rs.4,000, and being thus

provided with the necessary means, settled down at Lucknow to study

the languages for five months, and to prepare a suitable equipment

for his journey through Central Asia. During this time he made the

acquaintance of General Claude Martine, a remarkable adventurer,

who held a post of the highest confidence in the Nawab's Court, and

with whom he formed a friendship that lasted until Martine’s death,

sixteen years later.

In August Major James Brown, an officer deputed by Warren

Hastings on a mission to tle Emperor Shah ‘Alam, was starting for

Delhi, his object being to discover the desigus that the Mahratta Prince

Madhoji Sindhia had formed in regard to the Mughal Empire. De

Boigne decided to accompany Major Brown, but afew days after leaving

Lucknow, the march of the mission was arrested by the intrigues of

the turbulent nobles of the Court of Delhi, who, having long since

reduced their sovereign to a state of impotence, were very averse to

oreign interference, and especially dreaded the arrival of the British
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Ambassador. In consequence of which they took measures to impede

Major Brown's progress; but De Boigne pressed on, and made his

way to Delhi, where he arrived towarda the end of the month.

The Bmperor’s Wazir, or prime minister, Mirzi Shafi, being absent

from the capital on an expedition against the Jits at Agra, De Boigne

found it impossible to obtain an andience with Shah ’Alam, and

decided to proceed towards Agra, where Mirzé, Shafi was encamped.

But when the latter heard that the traveller had been in Major Brown's

mission, lis fears were aroused and he suspected De Boigne of sinister

designs. He therefore accorded him the coldest reception (for Mirza

was at this time intriguing with Madhoji Sindhie), and refused to

comply with his application for assistance on his journey towards the

west.

Not far from the Wazir’s camp lay the army of Madhoji Sindhia,

who was engaged in an invasion of the territory of the Nana of Gohad,

and the siege of the fortress of Gwalior, Madhoji was one of the

most powerful chiefs of the great Marathi Confederation, and attached

to his Court, in the quality of British Resident, was Mr. James Ander-

son. As soon as this gentleman heard of De Boigne’s arrival in the

neighbourhood he asked him to visit lis camp, and, hopeless of obtain-

ing any assistance from Mirzéi Shah, De Boigne gladly accepted the

invitation, But now, in turn, Madboji’s suspicions were aroused by the

advent of this stranger, who had been first in the entuurage of Major

Brown, next at Delhi, then in the camp of the Wazir, and was finally

coming to Mr. Anderson. Tt seemed impossible that such a sequence

of visits could be altogether innocent in their nature. The re-ocenpa-

tion of Delhi, which the Mardthas had been forced to evacuate after the

battle of Panipat, was the object of Sindhia’s preaent ambition, whilst

the encroachment of tho British power excited his keenest joalousy.

Under these circumstances Madhoji was particularly anxious to dis-

cover the real character of the suspicious wanderer, who was moving

from camp ta camp in a way that suggested inirigue. To obtain

this information Le had recourse to the usual Maritla expedient of

craft, and employed one of the gangs of robbers, with which the

country was infested, and whose deaterily in theft was beyond deserip-

tion, to steal De Boigne’s bugguge duriug his march to Mr. Anderson's

eamup, hoping to diseover in it letters or credentials that would explain

the recent movements or ultimate designs of their owner. His plot

was successful, and when De Boigne reached his destination he reported

that ail his property had been plundered on the march.

Mr. Anderson’s resentment was aroused at this indignity offered to

his guest, and he“demanded the restoration of the stolen baggage. A
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fow days aflerwards it was all brought in, with the exception of the

letters of recommendation and credit. ‘These were never given up,

although every pressure was brought to bear to secure their recovery.

The loss of his money and papers was a fatal blow to De Boigne’s

schomes of travel and exploration. Without moans or credentials he

could not hope to pierce the unsettled and disturbed districts that lay

between Hindustan and Hussia, and he had no other resources on

which to fall back. Without friends, without employment, a stranger

in a strange land, and penniless to boot, all that was left to him was

his sword, his talent, and his determination.

It was of course open to him to return to Calentta, and Mr. Ander-

son would have considered it a duty to arrange for his journey thither.

But this was a poor and ignominiaus retreat ont of his difficulties,

and one that could not commend itself to a man of Do Loigne’s

character and ambition. ‘The spirit\of adventure was qnick within

him, and he scorned surrendcr. . He felt he was on the threshold of

an archa where great achievements were possible. Vivid in his

memory was the recollection ef the French soldiers of fortune in

Southern India, whose successes afforded an example of the attain-

ment possible to men fitted for military cominand, if they once obiained

the confidence of the native princes. Instances of similar success were

around him: Sombre * and Médoc, Martine and Sangster, Panly and

Baours were adventurers wlio had commanded, or were at the present

moment commanding, small disciplined corps in the serviec of

neighbouring rulers, Here he was, in the centre of Hindustan,

amidst contending interests and warlike peoples, eacl: eager to over-

come the other. To the north lay Delhi, with its Mughal population

nurtured in conquest for centuries past; to the west dwelt the lajputs,

a warrior nation, the bravest and most chivalrous in all Tndia; close

at hand were the JAts, staunch and sturdy soldiers, who had recently

won their independence ; whilst to the sowthward stretched the great

Maraéthé Dominion, with its Confederated princes, whose spears had

glistened at the gates of Lahore, tintil the Abdali, carrying tho crescent

from the north, hurled them back to within their own boundaries from +

the field of Pénipat.

War was in tie hearts of all these antagonistic races, whom rapine

ruled, und whose profession wag plunder and pillage, Ye they were

utterly wanting in the seience of war. They relied on the strength of

countless numbers, or, at best, on the advantage of surprise by swift

advance or safety Ly rapid retreat. They fought with the ponderous

club, whose very unwieldiness carried its blows astray, not with the

* For this, aud all subsequent lesser adventurers mentioned, see Appendix.
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trained rapicr, which piereed the heart almost before its thrust was

seon, Their armies were vast multitudes, impossible to manceuvre,

sulject to panic, il-armed, and absolutely without discipline. The

brute pewer was Lhere, but it was wasted by reason of the ignorance

that could not direct or control it. Its proper organisation opened

out to De Boigne a splendid feld for his talents. In the strife and

sevanible for the wreck of Taimur’s Empire, a soldier's sword, supported

by European intelligence, was & sufficient capital.

De Boigne had already served three masters, and was no novice in

the art of swearing allegiance. His fortunes had never been at ao low

an ebb as they were at this nooment, when he found himself derelict

in the centre of Hindustan. Hoe was, in truth, a castaway, whose

condition might have awakened commiscration in the coldest breast.

But herein lay his opportunity. | From the lowliness of his beginning

must be measured the height of his attainment. He was to prove the

resultant of his own works, and before accompanying him on his career

to his ultimate suceess, it is well fo note this point frum which he

started. It was one hedged abont with novel and singular difficulties

and dangers; but they could not veil from his eyes the possibilities

beyond. To a man of his splendid spirit and tireless perseverance

obstacles were but the stepping stones to an end. That voyager

suceceds in life whose cyes are fixed, not on the troubled waters that

intervene, but on the harbour he desires to reach. It was so with

De Boigne. He felt that, at last, bis career was in his own hands,

and with squared shoulders and resolute nrien he faced the future that

lay before him. Long ago, as a boy, he had dreamed of glory and

greatness; but now the reality of his life was duwning, and it was

destined to carry him far beyond * the utmost further rim” of youth’s

imagination.



CHAPTER II.

DE BOIGNE ENTERS SINDHIA’S SERVICE. THE BATTLES OF LALSOT

AND GHAKS#ANA,

1784-1788.

HE value of European direction and discipline in native warfare

began to be acknowledged by the Princes of Upper India about

the middle of the eighteenth century. The Nawabs of Bengal and

Oudh, the Rajahs of Rajputana, the Jét chiefs of Agra and Bhartpur,

and the Imperial Court of Delhi iiself, all employed from time to time

the services of several French, and a fcw English, military adyen-

turers, who found their way westward or northward from Calcutta or

the Carnatic, and sold their swords to the highcst bidder. General

Claude Martine, of Lucknow, could haye told De Boigne many stirring

and romantic historios, that can never be known now, of European

soldiers of fortime who drilled the troops and led to battle the armies

of alien races, inspiring them with confidence and courage, and teaching

them how to fight felds and win victories. Amongst these daring

men were persons of birth, education, and approved character, who,

from various causes, expatriated themselves, and entered the services

of the Native Courts. Some from dissatisfaction with their prospects,

others—-men of less respectability—from, enpriee or more unworthy

motives; a fow were driven to this form of banishment by reason

of their necessities or pecuniary embarrassments, whilst many were

actuated by a spirit of pure adventure, without any aim except a

desire to win distinction in frosh fields, and rise to a pre-eminence

denied them in their own country.

Of this cosmopolitan corapany two or three achieved high rank and

position at the Courts they served, elther through their own abilities

or under favour of fortune. But the majority were men of inferior

moral calibre, who proved unable to rosist the temptations around

them, and suecumbed to the notorious vices of the Kast, Having once

26
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given way to debauchery and iminorality, they soon fell into the lowest

state of degradation, despised by tho very people they bad purposed to

teach,

History las recorded the good and bad deeds of only a few of these

early European pioneers tn Tindustan. From time to time their

pames flit across its pages in desultory transit, to be too often dis-

missed with perfunctory comment or contemptuous uneoncern. liven

the cnrrent literature of their day ignores them, and one may searcli

page after page of cantemporancous history withont gleaning more

than the baldest facts concerning men whose enterprises deserved a

fuller recognition, and who in this more civilized and calmer age would

have been acclaimed horoes of no commen clay.

None of these early soldiers of fortune, who served in the armies of

Delhi, Lucknow, Agra, and Bengal, left any permanent mark upon the

history of their times. Some of them were locally successful, and won

batiles for their several masters, bul their victories were isolated in-

cidenis leading to no substantial assextion of power. The doctrine of

the highest bidder governed their aetions whenever they attained to

any temporary importance, and counteracted sustained effort in one

divection. It was left to Do Boigne, not only to inangurate more

perfect systems of discipline and superior methods of warfure, but to

show how loyalty to a single cause could raise it up to supremacy.

Tlis genius and his constaney ereated w dominion such as those who

preceded him nover dreait of, and his curcer presents a contrast to,

rather than a comparison with, the careers of the Military Adventurers

who established themselves in Upper India previous to the period in

which he flourished.

When De Boigne joined Mr. Anderson’s camp, Madhoji Sindiua was

engaged in the reduction of Gwalior. This stronghold had been in

the possession of the Marathis, bul was captured from them by the

English during the late war, and ade over to Chattra Sing, the Rina

of Gohad,o Jat chiefiain who had created an independent principality

for himself on the rains of Mughal dceadence, The Itina had been

assisted by a Frenchman named Médoc, from who, by a species of

transaction peculiar to those days, he purclascd a battalion of dis-

ciplined infantry. In 1784 the conoueud of this battalion was in the

hands of a Seotebman named Sangster, 1 consisted of one thousand

disciplined men, and a respectable train of artillery, and was partially

officered by Europeans, one of them being an Trishman named Thomas

Legge, the hero of 4 marvellously adventurous life. But this single

batialion was not strong enough io cope with Madhoji Sindhia’s



28 DE BOIGNE.

immense MarAth4 hordes investing Gwalicr, the siege of which place

it had been unable to raise,

De Boigne, smarting under a sense of resentment at the robbery he

had sustained, determined to offer his sword to Sindhia’s enemy, the

Rana of Gohad. But instead of endeavouring to enter the service as

an officer under Sangster, he spurned such humble means to an end,

and boldly proposed to raise an independent and much larger force of

his own. A single battalion would not suit the ambition of this

vagrant adventurer, whose pride was not broken by his poverty. He

aspired to the immediate command of a brigade of five regiments. It

is impossible not to admire the cool audacity which from the depths

of recent disaster could deliberately ask for an advance of a lakh of

rupees (£12,500) to create an army. This was the actual proposition

De Boigne made fo Chattra Sing, undertaking in return to recruit five

thousand men at Delhi, Jaipur, Goad, and elsewhere, and withal

so secretly and expediliously as not to arouse suspicion until he was

in a position to act in conjunction with Sangster, and relieve the

beleaguered fort of Gwalior.

The proposal was an imperial one. But De Boigne had unbounded

belief in himself, and did not hesitate to formulate it, even though it

should bring him into direct conflict with the might of the Maratha

Empire, which at this time was the dominant power in India. A

lakh of rupees was all he required. But, alas! for tho hittleness of

human nature and the economy of regal minds, it was over this

miserable banble the scheme was wreeked. Chattra Sing was ®

prudent and thrifty potentate. He mistrusted the enthusiastic but

unknown stranger, and declined to confide so large a sum to his care.

But this did not prevent the practical prince from turning the incident

to his advantage, by cansing circumstantial details of it to be ciren-

lated, so thai they might reach Sindhia’s ears, and intimidate, him.

The information was soon current in the Mardthd eamp, and not

unnaturally excited Madhoji’s enmity against De Boigne. But at the

same time it discovered the daring and enterprise of a man who could

conceive such an audacicus scheme, and marked him as one of moro

than average ability.

This repulse instend of discouraging De Boiyne stirred him to fresh

endeavour, for his perseverance was as dogged as lis ambition was

aspiting, There were other enemies of Sindhia to be appealed to,

and first and foremost Purtib Sing, the Rajah of Jaipur, who was

jealously watching the movements of the Marath4’ armies, ready, in

jhis desire te restrain them within their own boundaries, to take the

field at any moment. To this prince De Boigne now addressed
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himself, and his proposals were favourably received. Negotiations

followed, and he was engaged at a salary Rs.2,000 a month to raise

and discipline a couple of battalions of regulary infantry.

De Boigne at ones wrote to Warren Ilastings, acquainting him of

his good fortune. Whether he did so from mere exuberance of satis-

faction, or from a sense of duty, it is difficult to say. Possibly he was

influenced by the circumstance of his having held a commission in

the Company’s army, or he may have considered that as he had

started from Bengal in pursuit of a fixed purpose, for the furtherance of

which he had received credentials from the Governor-General, it was

right, now that his original plan was abandoned, to communicate the

fact, Unfortunately his letter was official in form, and was read at

the meeting of the Bengal Council, whose factious memlers nevor

neglected an opportunity of oppasing the Governor-General; and they

immediately expressed disapproval of a Jinropean,a protégé of Warren

Hastings, entering the service of native princes. ‘This opinion was

quite in keeping with the petty prejudices of the period, when “ inter-

lopers* were regarded with only one degree less suspicion then

loafers create at the present day. It resulted im an order for De

Boigne to return to Calentta immediately.

De Boigne received this just as ha was entering on lis new task,

aid it is to his credit that he at onee obeyed, and started for Bengal,

His prompt compliance so pleased Warren Hastings, that after expla-

nations had been tendered, he permitted De Boigne to accompany

him to Lucknow, whither he was going, and from thence to return

to Jaipur to resume his engagement...But meanwhile the treaty ot

Salbye had been ratified, and this changed Partib Sing’s policy, and

he dispensed with De Boigne’s services, salving the disappointment

with a solatium of Rs.10,000, with which the latter retarned to Delhi,

where he found his friend, Major Brown.

Little did the Jaipur ruler suspect what a disastrous effect upon hig

future fortunes was to follow this decision, or he would never have

permitted the departure from his service of a man who was to become

his scourge and dictator in the future. It is idle to speculate upon

the what-might-have-beens of history, yet if is indisputable that, but

for the failure of De Boigne’s negotiations with Chattra Sing and

Partdb Sing, he would have been arrayed in the field of battle against

Madhoji Sindhia, instead of on his side, and this circumstance must,

in all human probability, have changed the course of Central and

Upper Indian history for the next twenty years.

During these transactions Madhoji Sindhia lad been obser-

vant of the man whose papers he had stolen, and of whose
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enterprise he received such constant proofs, and so high was the

opinion he conceived of his capacity that he came to the can-

elusion it wonld be better to sceure his services for himself. In the

recent war with the English Sindkia had learnt the value of dis-

ciplined infantry. Twiee within a fortnight his army of 20,000

cavalry had been attacked and dispersed by Colonel Goddard at the

head of a force of 4,000 British troops, whilst Captain Popham, by his

brilliant capture of Gwalior, had proved how much could be achieved

ly Sepoys well trained and heroically led. The Marath4 armies of

this period mustered no infantry ai all, and Sindhia determined to

raise a foree of this arm. He therefore made advances to De

Boigne through Mr. Anderson, and invited the man, who bad so

deliberately sought to beard lim, to enter his service.

With such splendid prospects as were now opened out to him, De

Boigne could afford to forget all injuries and bury all animosities,

and he accepted the offer without any hesitation, And here a short

digression is necessary to explain the political situation in Upper

India at the time when De Boigne entered the service of Madhoji

Sindhia,

In this year, 1784, the Empire of the Mughal was tottering to its

fall. It had, indeed, virtually ceased to exist twenty-two yours pre-

viously, when “Alamgir IT. was murdered, for Shah Alam, who suc-

cecded him, was never anything but a mere symbol of sovereignty,

now paraded by one minister in power, now by another, as his patent of

authority. Meanwhile the Mariitht power was fest recovering from

the shock its prestige had sustained at Panipat, and under the genius

of Madhoji Sindhia reasserting its influence at Delhi, Madhoji had

good cause to remember PAnipat, for 2 wound received in that battle

left him a cripple for life. Since that memorable day he had been

associated with Taktiji Holkar in consolidating the Maratha power

in the great province of Malwa, whose government they shared

equally, and preparing to recover the supremacy of Hindustan, Ten

years after Panipat the two chiefs placed Shah ‘Alam on the throne

of Delhi, from which he had been driven by the Abdali, Hight years

later war broke out with the English, and they were obliged to

withdraw their forees southward to protect their own territories,

During this campaign, which lasted from 1779 to 1782, Madhoji’s

fortunes rose and fell, and rose again, until they were finally estab-

lished by the treaty of Salbye, which recognised his independence,

raised him to the head of the confederated Maratha princes, who

acknowledged the Peshw4 of Poonal: as their suzerain, and lefi him

a free hand to deal with the wreck of the Mughal Empire as he willed.
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The road was now clear for the fulfilmont of those ambitions

designs against Delhi, which had been interrupted by late events,

Since the withdrawal of the Marithd protection from Shah ’Alam,
the capital had become a prey to internal quarrels and jealousies,

which reduced it to a state of absoluta anarchy, It was a period

when great political and territorial changes were on the lapis, and the

Emperor's dominions, torn by disseusions, scemed to court invasion.

Madhoji only waited a favourable opportunity to advance, whilst

behind him eronehed the encrmous power of tha Maratha nation.

To be associated with such a prince at such « line was to woo fortune

by her most certain path.

De Boigne was so associated, and how well he used his oppor-

tunities thesa pages will attempt to show. The commission he

received from Madhoji was ta raise two battalions of disciplined

. infantry, with a suitable complement of artillery. Uc was to reecive

eight rupees a month for each soldier in the force, and his own pay

was fixed at [s.1,000 por mensem. The battalions were to consist

of 850 men each, and to be formed as nearly as possible upon the

lines of those in the Company's service, wilh similar accoutrements,

arms, and discipline. In short, the corps was one calculated to

give fair scope to De Boigne’s powers of organisation and his military

ability.

In 1784 De Boigne began this task with characteristic energy.

Reeruits soon flocked to his enlisting centres, for in such warlike

times, and amongst such warlike races, soldicrs were an abundant

reaily-monuey commodity. He fixed the pay of a Sepoy at five and a

half rupees per mensem, thus leaving a sufficient surplusage from

which to offer attractive inducements to Tiuropean officers to join his

standard. Sangster was one of the first lo do so, having recently left

the Rana of Gohad's service on that chief submission to Sindhia.

The Scotchman was a man of considerable ingenuity, and skilful

in the art of casting cannon, and De Boigne appointed him super-

intendent of his arsenal, where he was soon busy turning out

excellent artillery and small arms. Another officer was John Hes-

sing, a Dutchman by nationality, and a gallant man by nature. He

commanded ons of the battalions, and a Frenchman named Frémont

the other.

During the time he was engaged in raising his corps De Boigue’s

energy was inexhaustible, and in vivid contrast to the sensual indo-

Jence which too frequently characterised the military adventurers of

the period. From morning to midnight he was continuously at work,

auperintending every detail of the uew force. Ile examined and
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passed recruits, drilled the raw levies, organised the companies and

divisions, and selected and appointed the native officers. Amongst

others who offered their services about this time was a certain

Rohilli, named Amir Khan, whom De Boigue rejected because of

his youth. It wag not often that he was at fault in selecting his

native subordinates, but in this instance le failed to dotect the merita

of the applicant; for Ami Klian rose to am aminence which, in

comparison, was as great as that aitained by the European who

declined his services, As soon as his muster roll was full De Roigne

turned his attention to succeeding details, choosing the uniforms,

deciding on the accoutrements and armament, and providing a

suitable equipment for field service. He never spared himself, but

grappled with the work he had undertaken strenuously and enthu-

siastically. The result was that in less than five months he had

brought into readiness for active service two excellent battaliona of

regular infantry. Those only who have liad experience of the interior

economy of a native state; which nowndays is but a reflection of the

chaos existing in India a hundred years ago, can form an idea of the

magnitude of the work accomplished by De Boigne within this short

space of time. ~

As soon as his new-fledged battalions were ready to take the field,

Madhoji Sindhia ordered them to join the army of Appa Khandi Rao,

one of his leading generals, who was engaged in the subjugation of

Bundelkhand. Appa’s force consisted solely of cavalry, that being

the only arm of service engaged in the predatory system of warfare

which the Murdthis affected. ‘Chere was at first a prejudice, amount-_

ing to a contempt, displayed towards Do Boigne’s new battalions, but

this did not prevent him from making their value felt; and when the

siege of Kalinjar, a strong fortress a few miles south of Allahabad,

was undertaken, the whole brunt of the attack devolved upon his

infantry and artillery, who distinguished themselves so signally that

they evoked the highest tribute of praisc from Appa Khandi Rao.

But the Bundelkhand eampaign was bronght to a premature close

by events ab Delhi. Madhoji Sindhia had long been watching the

dissensions in progress at the Court of Shah "Alam, which culminated

in the assassination of two successive Wazirs. Paralysed by the

difficulties around him, and after vainly seeking help from the

English, the luckless Emperor appealed in his extremity to the

Maritha prince to subduc his mutinons nobles and seat him in

security on the throne of his forefathers,

This was the opportunity Madhoji had so long desired. He at once

crossed the Chambal River, which formed the northern boundary of
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the Maratha dominions, and joined lle Emperor at Agra in October,

1784, and early in the following year escorted him back to Delhi,

from which he had been forced to fly. Some of the rebellious nobles

evacuated the city on his approuch, and others submitted, and in

January, 1785, the unhappy monarch wus once more elevated to the

regal state, if not the soversign powor, of Emperor of Hindustan.

The power remained in Sindhia’s hands, for he was the master of the

situation. In lis gratitude Shah "Alam desired to invest his deliverer

with the title and dignity of Amir-ul-Umyrah, or Chief of the Nobles,

but this honour was declined, The titular distinction was not accom-

panied by corresponding practical advantages, and the empty leader-

ship of such a factious aristocracy was to be avoided rather than

accepted. The crafty Ilindu prince—a great soldier, but a greater

statesman—lad other objects in view than tle impossible post of

keeper of a Muhammadan emperor’s unruly kin. With a sycophantic

assumption of humility, which he always carried to exeess throughout

life, Madhoji declined all honours for himself, but for his suzerain,

the Peshwé, who was nominally the vassal of Delhi, he requested the

dignity of Vakil-i-Mutluq, or supreme deputy of the Emperor, a post

which earricd with it paramount authority. This was aceorded by

Shah ’Alam, who thus signed away lis regal power. As a natural

consequence Madhoji, the Peslwivs local representative, assumed the

office, and with it the control, of the Imperial army, the gole

machine of government in Oriental politics, Seon afterwards the

chief command of it was conferred on him as a personal distinetion.

Hindustan was now in Sindbia’s hinds. His arms aud his diplomacy

had made him its master. The rich Mughal districts in the Doab, a

fertile tract of country between the Ganges and Jumma, soon sur-

Yendered with the fortresses of Aligarh and Agra, On the fall of

the latter, regarded as the key of Hindustan, the Deccan Hindu was

paramount lord of the Mughal Empire.

But Fortune bad been too lavish with her favours. To his career of

conquest Madhoji Sindhia was aided by circumstances too fortuitous

to be permanently relied upon. The ancient aristocracy of Delhi,

awed into submission at first by his masterly advance, and the weak-

ness of their own interval chaos, began to foregather and recover

spirit. Sindhia’s necessity, possibly his cupidity, could not resist the

temptation of sequestrating the estates of Lhe leading nobles, and thus,

to the intolerable insult of a despised infidel being placed in command

over them, was added the positive injury of the loss of their property.

Misfortune made them kin, and they determined to sink for a time all

their private enmities, and concert measures to expel the invader. To

3
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which end they entered into communications with the Rajahs of Jaipur

and Jodhpur, in Réjputana, to whom they proposed an alliance, and

these princes, mindful of the heavy exactions they continually suf-

fered as tributarice of tho Mardthas, turned a favourable ear to their

overtures.

Directly Madboji Sindhia heard of this combination ho detormined

to anticipate its action. The Rajpuiy hal long been nominal vassals

of the Empire, and seizing on this as a pretext, he called upon them, in

hia capacity of Vakil-i-Mutiuq, for payment of tribute. ‘he demand

was only partially obeyed, and in order to enforce it, Madhoji prepared

to lead the Imperial army against the rebels.

But Sindhia’a power now showed tho unstable basis on whieh it

waa builded. His weakness lay, not in his will, but in his weapon.

The Imperial army was necessarily the instrament of his purpose, but

it was officered by those very nobles who had entered into intrigues

with the enemy, and its ranks filled with their own personal follow-

ing. It was obviously unsafe for Madhoji to place himself in the

power of such a force. In order, therefore, to strengthen his hands,

he recalled the army of Bundelkhand, and, on being joined by Appa

Khandi Rao and De Boigne, set out for Réjputana early in the year

1787.

Near the village of Lalsdt, some miles to the south-cast of Jaipur,

the allied forces of the Rajput princes were found drawn up for batile.

The untrustworthiness of the Imperial army soon discovered itself,

for two of the leading gonorals ab once went over to Partdb Sing,

taking with them all their troops. Their names were Muhammad

Beg Hamadani, and his nephew, Isméil Beg, who was destined to

become one of Madhoji’s most redoubtable foes for the next seven

years,

This early example of treachery created a spirit of mutiny amongst

the Mughal soldiery, whose sympathies were naturally with the de-

sertors, and the aspect of affuirs saon became threatening. In this

dilemma Madhoji was compelled to avail himself of that desperate

panacea for internal troublo-—action. He determined to give battle

before thers was time for any further desertions to take. place, trusting

to fortune for victory, and knowing ihat halting indecision always

sides with the stronger party.

Accordingly he disposed his army for attack, and gave the order to

advance. On the left De Boigne’s battalions were stationed, and the

right was entrusted to the Mardéthi Cavalry, both supporting, or more

probably coercing, the Imperial army in the centre. ‘the Rajput

prinecs at once accepted battle, and the action began. At the very
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outset Muhammed Beg Hamadani was killed by a cannon-shot, which

20 disheartened his troops that they began to retreat, and if seemed

as though the day was lost. But at this juncture Ismail Deg came to

the rescue. Rallying his uncle's wavering soldiery he placed himself

at their head and charged the Mahratta Cavalry with such impetuous

gallantry that he drove them back in disorder.

Observing this, the Chief of Riah, one of the Raéja of Jodhpur’s

generals, was encouraged to advance, and collecting his 10,000 Rathor

Cavalry, led them against Sindhia‘s left wing, where only De Boigne,

with his little body of infantry, stood to oppose him.

The Rathors of Jodhpur were the very flower of Rajput bravery,

and celebrated throughout Hindustan for their splendid courage and

their handsome mien. They were a warrior clan whose past achieve-

ment had marked them out as the first and finest of all the fighting

races of the East, and won-for them the proud distinction of being

without fear.

As they came within sight of De Boigne’s two battalions, drawn up

ready to receive them, they converged upon the little band, rending

the air with fierce and exulting shouts of anticipated victory. Their

flags flaunted in the breeze, the sunshine glistened on their plumed

helmets and chain armour, and their swords and spears flashed aloft

as they tlundered over the sun-baked plain. Never yet in the history

of battle had footmen dared to oppose the might of Marwa4r :nounted

for the fray, aud when the Chief of Riah saw the compact formation,

steady as the stones around, awaiting hie onslaught, he determined

to punish this insolence of courage.

Tt was a terrible baptism of battle for De Boigne’s young battalions.

Armies had melted and dispersed before these on charging warriors,

who seomed as if they had but to ride over to annihilate the little

square that held its place and awaited the sllock with splendid courage.

In the midst of his men rode De Boigne, cali and fearless, He had

formed them into a hollow square (a formation Wellington and Quatre

Bas were to mako famons in after years), with his guns hidden from

view in the centre, Not for a moment was his presence of mind dis-

turbed, and as he issued his orders and completed his dispositions, lis

confident bearing gave lis men that sense of security which Asiatics

have cver derived from the presence and co-operution of Kuropean

leaders,

Nearer and nearer came the advancing synadrons, until the supreme

moment urrived and only a few paces intervened. ‘Then the word of

command rong out, and with the precision of the parade ground, De

Boigne’s front line fell back behind the guns, which, before the
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amazed Rathors could realize what the movement signified, belched

out a murderous discharge of grape into their ranks.

The huge moving mass staggered at the shock, but, carried forward

by its own impetus, completed its charge. Reckless of everything

exeept the honour of the day, the sons of Marwdr rode to the cannons’

muzzles, cutting down the gunners as they served their pieces, and

attempting to break into the centre of the stubborn square. For

a few seconds all was inextricable confusion; then, as the smoke

cleared away, high above the roar of battle, the word of command

yang out again, and from nearly two thonsand muskets, at closest

quarters, a death-dealing volley was directed againsi the Rathor ranks.

Their horses refused to face the awful sheet of flame that flashed

out and strewed the field with corpses of men and beasts; and rider-

less steeds, stampeding back in terror through the main body, added

to its confusion. Ds Boigne’s military instinct seized the decisive

moment, and the advance was sounded, It was the turning-point of

the fight. The enemy were rallying for a second charge, infuriated at

the insult of a repulse from infantry. But before they could reform

De Boigne and his battalions were on them. Again the flames flashed

forth in the very fuces of the horses, and like lightning from the

heavens above dealt death and dismay, Tho despised infantry could

not only resist, it could attack! A revelation burst upon these

warriors of the West, and before that smail disciplined foreo the

chivalry of Rijpulana wavered and broke, till finally, like driven

cattle, they streamed out in fight, conquered by the genius, the reso-

lution, and intrepidity of a single man.

It needed but a general advance of the Imperial army to complete

the victory assured by the valour of De Boigne’s corps. The Mughal

eentre was ordered to follow in pnreuit, but intrigue and treachery

had been at work, and they refused to stir, And so the enemy made

good their retreat, and De Boigne found that the heroism of his men

had been expended in vain, and that the blood so freely shed on

Lalsét’s plain had been sacrificed to the accomplishment of an empty

victory,

Two daye later Sindhia prepared to renew the battle, but even

as he was forming his line, the whole of the Imperial army, by a

volte face indigenous to Asiatic soil, passed over to the cnemy, taking

with them eighty pieces of cannon. De Boigne’s indignation was

aroused beyond endurance as he saw the Mughal deserters marching

away with drums beating and flags flying. Galloping up to Sindhia

he asked permission to charge them with the Marath4 Cavalry, bnt

Madhoji with a more prudent appreciation of the danger their defec-
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tion involved, preferred the doctrine of diseretion anil decided to leave

them alone.

There was nothing left but to retire, for the Marithd troops could

not Lape to resist the overswollen ranks of the encimy. The danger

was critical, but it served to bring into operation all Madhoji’s finest

qualities of fortitude and resource. <A line of retrent to Ulwar was

quickly decided wpon and the mareh commenced, the defence of the

rear being entrusted to De Boigne. Ismail Beg at once prepared to

follow, but his Rajput allies, having satisfactorily asserted their exemp-

tion from tribute, and recovered their lost province of Ajusir Gvhich

the Mardthas were obliged to abandon), declined to take up another's

quarrel and withdrew into their own territories. The Mughal noble,

collecting all the cavalry he could muster, followed in pursuit of the

retreating encmy with the intention of destroying thein, but in this he

was foiled by De Boigne, who proved himself as skilful a general in

retreat as he had been in action, and with his two hatialions suecess-

fully defended the rear of Sindhia’s army for cight days, meeting and

repulsing every attack made by Ismail Beg, until Ulwar was reachod

and refuge found within its walls.

The Mughal noble now relinquished the pursuit, and made his way

to Agra, and shortly afterwards Madhoji Sindhia, convineed that he

could no longer hold Hindustan, collected his vanquished forces, and

crossing the Chambal, fell hack upon the fortress of Gwalior, whence

he wrote urgent letters to the Peshwé at Poonah to send reinforev-

ments to aid in retrieving this tremendons disaster to Marathi

prestige.

Meanwhile Ismail Beg, m his design to recover Delhi, found

himself forestailed by a Rohill4é chief named Ghulam Kadir, whe had

seized the opportunity afforded by the distracted state of affairs in

Upper India, and the defenceless condition of the capital, to drive

out the Marathi garrison and take possession of it. The only in-

dividual who attempted to oppose him was the Beeum Somra, wha

lhad succeeded to the command of the regulary troops her late husband

raised; but although she displayed great courage and spirit she was

obliged to retire. Ghulim Kadir next captured Aligarh, whereupou

Ismail Beg, finding the Afghan master of the situation, and not

feeling strong enough to oppose him, made overtures for an alliance,

offering to share with hi all the conquests their joint forces might

effect; and these terms being accepted, a plan was formed for the

immediate recovery of the Mughal Doib provinces from the Mardthas.

The capture of Aligarh wag soon followed by that of the surrounding

districts, This accomplished, the two chiefs were able to concentrate
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their forces on the siege of Agra, Sindhia’s sole remaining stronghold

in Hindustan, but here a siunbborn resistance was opposed to them

by a Brahmin named Lakwa Dada, one of the bravest and best of the

Marathé generals, and a prominent figure in the history of the country

for the next fifteen years.

With the Imperial city wrested from Lim, the Dotb Provinces lost,

Aligarh captured, and Agra closely invested, the fortunes of Madhoji

Sindhia were indced dark. After his brief blaze of triumph, he had

in one short campaign lost neatly everything his arms had previously

won, and now fonnd himself apparently further off than ever from the

attainment of his ambition. Nis army was beaten and dispirited, and

he had proved as weak in liolding Hindustan as he had been lold in

seizing it, For some months ho vemained at Gwalior, anxiously

awaiting help from the Doecan; but it was a far ery from the

Chambal to Poonah. Not only amany leagues, but many jealousics

intervened. Poonal politics, were direeted by a crafty Brahmin

named Nana Farnavis, whe has been denominated the Machiavelli

of the Maritht Empire. He lad long been hostile to Sindhia, whose

enormous and growing power aroused mistrust, and had no difficulty

in persuading the Peshwa that his vassal of Ujjain was aiming at the

establishment of an independent kingdom for himself. Beneath the

cloak of servility, under which Sindhia always disguised his intentions,

there existed designs of the most imperial nature. In his excess of

hamility he called himself a Patel, or village mayor, and vowed that

to carry his master, the Peshwii’s, slippers was his hereditary duty;

but under this artificial assumption of modesty there lurked far-

reaching aims and ambitions. Nina, Farnavis was aware of this, and

in the hour of Sindhia’s necd, deemed it the wisest policy to withhold

assistance. To the urgeut appeals for reinforcements replies of

a temporising nature were sent, and it soon became apparent to

Sindhia that no help could be expected from Poonah at present, and

that he must depend upon jis own exertions to re-establish lis shaken

fortunes,

The relief af Agra was of the first, importanec, in order to secure

a base of operations for the recouquest of the lost territory, In

proximity to this fortress lay the country of the Jats, a low easte

Hindu tribe, originally from the banks of the Indus, who possessed

2 tolerable army, wlich ineluded a battalion of regular intantry,

commanded by a Lrenehman named Lestineau. After his defcat at

Lilsét, Madhoji, with diplomatic generosity, bad made a virtue of

necessity, and restored to the Jats a considerabia tract of territory

and the fortress of Dig, which had originally been conquered from
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them. This paved the way for an alliance which ho now entered into

with theiv ruler, Ranjit Sing. Calling in all leis scattered detach-

meats, Sindhia concentrated his anny at Bhartpur, where a junction

was formed with lis new allies, aud in the spring of 1788 he prepared

to take the field again.

Wheroupon Ismail Beg and Ghulam Kadir raised the siege of

Agra, and marched to oppose him, and on the 24th of April the two

arnues met at Chaksina, or Chdksu, about cight miles from Blartpar,

Sindhia’s troops were commanded by Appa Khandi Rio and ana

Khin, The latter was a favourite officer, who lad saved Madhoji’s life

at Panipat more than a quarter of a century before, in gratitnde for

whieh lhe had been raised to high iilitary command. Although of

fumble birth Raua Kkan proved himself worthy of the confidence

reposed in him, and was moreover’a very cupable general, Appa

Khandi Rao, as a reward for gallantry aid enterprise, hail recently

obtained the estates sequestrated from Ismail Bee, bnt only to loso

them by his master’s present reverse of fortune. Ife had every

reason to desire the re-establishment of the Murithi rule, and was

entrusted with the chief command in this Luttle. In the disposition

of his forces he placed the Maritha troops in the centre, supported on

the right by De Boigne’s battalions, and on the left by the Jat army

and Lestineau’s regular infantry.

The action began with a heavy cannonade opened Ly Ismail Beg,

and chiefly directed against De Boigne’s corps, in the hopes of shaking

the solidity of the phalanx which had so successfully resisted all attacks

in tha battle of Lalsét, and duriuy the retreat fo Ulwar. On the

other wing Ghulim Kadir, spurning such incidental aid, charged the

Jats, and scon put all to flight, exeept Lestinean’s infantry, who main-

tained their ground. Seeing the enemy's left wing in retreat, and

anticipating that their cxample might be contagious, Ismdil Beg now

suspended lis artillery fire, and collecting his cavalry bore down upon

De Boigne,

Bub the samo diseiplina wud resolution which had saved the two

battalions when they stemmed the torrent of the athor charge

animated them now. Ismail Bee's onslaught was met with firmness

aud fortitude, and all his cfforts failed be shake the square of trained

men, who, stunding shoulder to shoulder, proved themsclves in-

pervious to panie, and withheld their fire until their leader gave the

word of command. Then was repeated the lesson of Lalsét: a hail

of bullets tore into the ranks of the cnewy, and sirewed the gronud

with dead and wounded. Calm discipline again proved its snperioriby

over mad valour, and the scicnce of war triumphod over the advantnge
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of numbers, Before De Boigne's musketry fire the Mughal squadrons

fell back dazed and decimated, and it needed but the assistance of the

Marithé Cavalry to secure the day. But again Fate snatched the

Jaurels from the adventurer’s grasp, for when the critical moment

arrived the Deccan warriors were not at hand to charge. De Boigne’s

and Lestineau's infantry alone kept the field, until unsupported in the

unequal fighi, they were obliged, after sustaining heavy losses, to fall

back and seek shelter within the walls of Bhartpur, whither their

cowardly allies had preceded them.

The defeat of Chaksina completes a chapter in De Boigne’s career,

for with it closes the record of his military misfortunes, Tho signal

personal distinction with which he emerged from the two disastrous

battles recorded served to establish his reputation in » more sensible

degree than if he bad meroly shared ina general victory. His gallantry

in action, his presence of mind in cyisig, and his resouree in retreat,

marked him as a great and gallant leader,and impressed his high

merits on the mind of Madhoji Sindhia, whilst the ordeal through

which his young battalions had triamphantly passed, completed the

confidence of his men in their commander, and in themselves.



CHAPTER III.

THK RATTLE OF AGRA, FORMATION OF THE FIRST BRIGADE,

1788-1700,

MMEDIATELY after their victory at Chaksina, dissensions broke

out between Ismail Deg and Glialim Kadir, There wag little in

common between them except their creed. The former represented

Mughal respectability, whilst the latter was an Afghan adventurer,

emasculated in his youth, and vindictive and truculent by nature, who

represented a purely foreign element in Hindustan. News of tho

quarrel was conveyed to Sindhia, who learnt at the same time that

the Sikhs had made an incursion into Ghulim Kaidir’s own territory

of Saharanpur. So he sent)a foree to assist them, and this obliged

the Rohilla to proceed at once to the protection of his property, whilst

Ismail Beg returned io the siege of Avra, which still held out under

Lakwi Dida. Taking advantaye of this division of the enemy's

forees, Rana Khan and Appa Khiindi Tio were encouraged to reaume

the offensive, and marched to the relief of Agra, which place they

reached on the 18th of Jone, 1788.

Tt was the height of the hot season, just before the breaking of tha

monsoon rains, when the heated air was like a furnace breath, and

the sun scorched with the fierecness of x flame. The opposing

armies were drawn np on a large plain outside the city. Behind

Ismail Beg’s enamp flowed the river Jumna, its waters swollen by the

melting of the Himalayan snows. ‘l'o the far right the dazzling dome

and slender minarets of the Tdj rose in exquisite symmetry over the

grave of Mumftéz-i-Malal, a monnment Lo the past glory of that

empire which could raise such a monument to one of its queens.

Behind the red stone battlements of the beleaguered fortress the

gallant Lakwé Dida still held his own, and watched with anxious

eyes the result of the coming contest that was to decide the fate of

Tlindustan, It was an historical day, on which, for the last time in

41
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the annals of the house of Taimur, ifs army was.to stand in battle

array, fighting for the faith against the great encroaching power from

the south, begotten of its own overgrown empire,

A long and desperate battle ensued, Around De Boigne’s battalions

the strife raged fiercest. But his men were veterans in warfare now,

trained in the hard school of defeat, and met and repulsed cach

succeeding charge, till the Mughal Cavalry reeled backwarda beaten.

Then De Boigne advanced, with serried ranks and compact forma-

tion, and before the sun had set Ismail Beg’s army was disporsed in

full flight, its guns abandoned, and its camp given over to flame and

pillage. Wien he saw the day was lost, the Mughal noble, who had

been twice Wounded, mounted a swift horse, and spurred tothe Jumna.

Plunging into its swollen waters, he swam to the other side, and so

made good his escape, whilst the remnants of his routed army flocked

in straggling bodies to Delhi.

The battle of Agra was the most important and desisivo that had

taken place between the two parties engaged for many years. It

extinguished for cver lle Iasi flickering hope of independence that

remained to the Mughal, and completely establiched the ascendeney

of the Marithis, It assured the casy reconquest of the Dodb

Provinees, and made Madhoji Sindhia the undisprted master of

Hindustan, That the success of the day was due in the first degree

to De Boigne, every historian hag admitted, and from this time forward

the foree which his genius had created, became a recognised power in

the political history of the country, aud the chief factor in framing its

course during the next fifteen years.

Ismail Beg fled at onco to Ghulam KAdir’s camp, where an apparent

reconciliation was effected between them, As soon as Shab ‘Alam

heard of the Maraéth4 victory he wrote to Madhoji Sindhia, throwing

himsel? on his protection; but this letter fell into the hands of

Ghulim Kadir, who immediately procecded to the capital, where he

found the gates closed against Lim. Corruption and treachery soon

opened them, and seizing the person of the Emperor, the Rohillé

chief deposed him from power, and placed a youth named Bédar

Shah ou the throne. He then sacked the palace, not even sparing the

Zenina, or women’s apartments; but being Cisappointed by finding

less than was expected, he sent for Shah ’Alam and commanded him

Lo disclose the place where the concealed treasure was deposited. The

movarch pleaded in vain that he knew of none, Inflamed by a cou-

tinued debauch, which liad thrown him into a paroxysm of rage, the

lantal RehillA seized Shah ’Alam, who was an old man of nearly

seventy years of age, and throwing him to the ground, gouged out
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his eyes with a dagger, lieedless of the holy but impotent protest that

appealed against the sacrilege of destroying ‘ cyes which for a period

of sixty years have been assiduously employed in perusing tho sacred

Koran.” Por two months this bloodthirsty cuffian continued to hold

sway in the capital, during which ib became the scene of the most

barbarous atrocities and foulest excesscs consequent on his inhuman

efforts to extort money from the inmates of the palace.

During this time Madhoji Sindbia, with a snpincness that has been

reprobated, halted at Gwalior awailiny the reinforcements from the

Deccan, which were at length being sent to him. It was not until

three mouths had elapsed that he ordcred Rina Klin to march to

Delhi. On tho approach of this chief, Glndém Kadir at once eva-

cuated the capital, whilst fsmail Deg, wliw had quarrelled with him over

the spoils of the palace, and was further disgusted by his brutal

conduet, tendered his anbmission, aud caine over to the Marithis, who

took possession of the fori and city without firiuga shot. De Boigne's

battalions were entrusted with the charge of the citadel, and the blind

emperor was released from confinement, and soon afterwards, on

Sindhia’s arrival, elevatcd for the third time to his unstable throne.

The office of Vakil-i-Mutluy was now eonlirmed on the VeslwaA, and

the deputyship to Madhoji, whilst Ismiil Leg was rewarded with the

territory of Hari4na and Rewari, which he was sent to administer.

Ghulim Kadir fled to Meerut, whither: he was pursued by Rina Kin

and Lestineau. ‘The city being surrounded and all supplies ent off,

the chiefs followers becanie mutinows, and az a last regonree, he

placed himself at the head of 500 faithful cavalry, and one night made

a sortie from the fort and cut his way through the investing lines. He

would doubtless have made good his cseape, but for lis horse falling

into a well, by which the chicf was disabled, and his followers, wa-

aware of the accident, left him behind. ‘This led to his capture,

and he was shortly afterwards shockingly mutilated, lis body being

dismembered, and his trunk, whilst Le was yet alive, placed in a cage

for the purpose of beivg conveyed to Delhi. But death mercifully

released from his sufferings one who had never shown merey to

others. Tis saddle-bags, stuffed with valuable jewels looted from the

emperor's palace and harem, fell into the hands of Lestincau, who

conecived the opportunity of retirement from active serviee too

auspicious to be neglected,jand on his return to the capital, drew

a large sum of money for the pay of his troops, aud then decamped

to British territory, whilst his bilked battalion relieved its feelings by

breaking into mutiny.

The victorious termination of a long campaign that had opened ao
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disastrously, proved beyond doubt the value of De Boigne’s disciplined

infantry, which had done so much towards retrieving the sarlier ro-

verses of the war, Their commander now began to press his claims

for suitable recognition, In an army like Sindhia's, a corps of 2,000

men counted as nothing, numerically speaking. They were lost in

the enormous multitudes of Maratha soldiery, and their leader preju-

diced by tha insignificance of their numbers. Moreover, De Boigne

was subject fo the control and authority of the native generals, and

although he saved them in defeat, and won their victories for them,

he still remained subordinate to men for whom he could not but feel

a professional contempt and a racial superiority. Tis amour propre

rebelled against a continuance of these conditions, and tho false posi-

tion they placed him in. It was customary to measure the merits of

amilitary adventurer by his suecess, and to reward him in like ratio.

Tt has been observed that De Goigne was impatient of the slow pro-

motion of a progressive service; but his present service was not even

progressive, for his command remained precisely the same now as

when he was first appointed to it, although in the interval his battalions

had been instrumental in saving Sindhia from annihilation, and bad

mainly helped to restore to him @ lost ingdom, One cannot wonder

that De Boigne began to expect a reward commensurate with the

results he had achieved, and proposed to Madhoji to augment the two

battalions into a full brigade of 10,000 mcn-at-arms. In urging this

he could point to the justification of past achievement, for Lilsit,

Chaksina, and Agra were eredentials upon which almost any claim

might have been based by one whose share in them was us glorious as

De Boigne’s,

It is diffenlt to understand why Sindhia declined to accede to this

proposal. He was fully aware of the value of De Boigno and his two

battalions, and that the honours of the victory of Agra bolonged to

them ; for not even the jealousy that surrounded the Furopean com-

mander could hide his merits or depreciate his succesa. Possibly it

was the cirenmstance of this jealousy that influenced Madhoji, who

could not afford to quarrel with his countryman at this crisis. An

acquiescence in De Boigne’s proposals would certainly have raised up

a host of dangerous malcontents. ‘The time was not appropriate for

the introduction of such radical measures, for it was imperative for

Sindhia to conciliate all hostile influonces and consolidate his power.

Another substantial argument against the suggested increase of the

force was its expense, for the chief was gravely embarrassed by pecu-

niary difficulties, and the disturbed and devastated condition of the

districts he had just reconquercd made it impossible to collect any
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revenue from them. Lastly, it is not unlikely that there lingered in

his heart some deoply rooted Marathi prejudice in favour of cavalry ;

for although his experience and observation had taught him the value

of infantry, he was at this the a man convinced avainst his will, All

these causes operated against an immediate consent to De Boigne’s

suggestion, and Madhoji declared himself in favour of the existing

establishment and opposed to any augmentation.

Whereupon De Boigne, with the independence of churacter he had

olten displayed before, tendered his resignation, and Sindhia, not

aliogether displeased at the opportunity of gratifying his own couutry-

mon, accepted it. But there was no personal ill-feeling displayed or

aroused. Madhoji was conscious that he owed much to De Boigne,

who on his part had ianumerable pecuniary favours to remember.

And so the prince and his general parted with friendly compliments

and regrets, that augured an early rapprochement; and whilst the

former gettled himself down to the consolidation of his power in Lin-

dustan, the latter determined to forauke the hazardous paths of war, and

devote himself to the onltivation of the qiiet fields of commerce.

Leaving Delhi in 1789 De Boiene proceeded ta Tucknow, where he

was welcomed by his old friend Glande Martine, by whose advice he

entered into trade as a cloth and indigo merchant, embarking in these

ventures the very considerable sum of money ho had saved in

Sindhia’s service. He soon laid the foundation ef o successful und

lucrative business, which he continued to conduet after he resumed

his military career, utilising it as a means of transuitting to Europe

the large fortune he made in the Mast.

But he waa not long permitted to prirsie a peaceful life at Lucknow.

Madhoji Sindhia, having established himself at Delhi, and completed

the subjugation of the Dodb, turned his attention to army reform, and

early in the year 1790, began to introduce several innovations with the

view of making his forees better adapted for the requirements of the

service on which they were now employed. Amongst the first of

these was the enlistrmont of Rajput and Mulammadan soldiers for

garrison work, his own conntrymen being too independent by nature

and too lawless by habit to perform the duties of x sianding army.

Before long Sindhia’s judgment convineed him tit, however suilable

lis hordes of cavalry might be fur predatory warfare, for the invasivn

of countries and the sack of cities, those objects once attained an

infantry force was indispensible for the maintenance of a permanent

ocoupation, where fortresses hnd to Le garrisoned, and large centres of

population controlled. Tor such duties his wild Deccan horsemen,

with their impatience of restraint, and their irresistible craving for
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plunder, were altogether unsuited, and to detach them for service of

this description was almost tantamount to billetting 2 pack of wolves

on a fold of sheep.

Moreover, there was another danger which began to muke itself

apparent. Madloji wes illegitimate by birth, and this tended to

diminish his influence with his countrymen, and afforded a handle for

lis enemics, of whom he had many, to intrigue against him. Mughals

Rohillas, Rajputs, and Jéts, all resented his dominion at Delhi, and

were prepared to oppose him at every opportunity. But there were

more dangerous foes than these, for amongst his own countrymen

were many whose hostility was scarcely veiled, and chief amongst

them his great rival Takiji Holkay, who was consumed with jealousy

at Sindhia’s success. In order therefore to strengthen himself

Madhoji determined to create a special force, bound to him by the

strongest tics possible, and more completely under his control than

his unruly Marathis.

Early in 1790 he sent an agent to Lucknow, to invite De Boigne to

return to his service, and promising that the proposals originally made

should be accepted in every detail, Do Boigne was discovered deaply

immersed in his new business; but he was « soldier before everything

clse, and the eall to arms fell upon willing ears. A few days suffiecd

to regulate his affairs at the Qudli eapital, after which he accompanied

the Vakil back to Madhioji’s camp at Mattra. In u single interview

an understanding was arrived ab, for the prince was liberal, the soldier

not exacting, and bath imbued with feelings of mutual confidence and

estecm that had not been disturbed by wnything in the past.

The commission with which De Boigne was entrusted wag the

creation of a Campoo or Brigade of ten battalions of infantry, with a

suitable train of cavalry and artillery, the whole to be disciplined in

the English style, and officered by Europeana. In the execution of

this task he was left a perfectly free hand.

Tlius, after ten years of endeavour and perseverance, De Boigne

found himself with the means of accomplishing the object he had loug

desired, and cmpowered to create a force wortliy of his ambition.

The future was now his own to make: the materials required bub the

moulding. With characteristic energy he set to work carrying into

execution the scheme whose details he had so long considered and

matured in hismind., His two battalions were still in Sindhia’s service,

aud formed the nucleus of the vew brigade. Lestineau’s regiment

had been disbanded os a punishivent for its mutiny, bub, at De Boigne’s

request, the men were permitted to re-enlisk. Thus there were ab his

disposal trained soldiers sufficiont for three battalions. The remuin-
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ing seven were raised in Rohilkhand, Qudh, and the Dosh with bub

little diffienlty. IL was u time of war aud battle, when the arts of

peace had fallen into desuetude. Every peasant was perfores a soldier,

and every artisan could wield a sword. The inducements of regular

pay oud the anticipations of plunder were irresistible altvactions to

amen whose lives had been spent iu defending their property or

fightiug for existence wzainst the exactions of tyranis and the incur-

sious of invaders.

The engagement of a staff of Huropewn ofiicers presented greater

difficulties than the enlistment of the men. Sangster was still in the

service, and able to continue his work of casting cannon and manufac-

turing stall arms, in both of which branches he was an expert.

During the next few yeurs he supplied iost of the best artillery in

Sindhia’s ariny, whilst his muskets, tnrned ont at a cost of ten rupees

each, were far superior to anything then in the lands of the native

powers, and almost equal ia finish aud divabilty to weapons made iv

Europe. Tis arsenal was established at Agra, which fortress Sindhia

assigned to De Boigne as a depat for his arms and munitions of war.

Fremont the Frenchman and Hessing the Hollander still remained

in their original posts, aud the former was new promated to sccond in

command of the Brigade. Of the other Fnropean offiecrs engaged at

this time the names of at least six survive —Perren, Baours, Pedron,

and Rohan, all Frenchmen; and Sutherlind and Roberts, who were

British subjects. They were posted to the command of the different

battalions which were named after forts anid cities, such as the Cijaiu,

Burhaupur, Delhi, and Agra regiments.

With the assistance of these oflicers, De Loigne rapidly organised

his Brigade. It consisted of ten battalions of infantry of 750 men

each, Of these, seven, known as Tcliogas, were uniformed anid

accoutred in the same way is the Compauy’s Sepoy regiments and

armed with muskets and bayonets. The otler three, designated

Najis, were recruited frou athiins, and at first armed with matel-

locks, shiclds, and swords, but later on theie cilicieney was much

increased by the substibation of bayonets for the lanter, These Najils

wore Persian uniforms, and thir natcllocks were of & new invention,

All the infantry were exercised in the drill and tiannal according te

the old inglish system of L780, aud although one ultra-patriotic Lris-

torian avers that the word of coiumazd was given in Irish, itis agreed

by the majority of commentators that Luglish was the language in

use.

To increase the mobility of Lae Brigade 500 Mewdtis, ur irreeudar

soldiers, were incorporated, who performed the ordinary routine duties
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of camp, thus leaving the regular troops available for combatant

work. The cavalry consisted of 500 regular horsemen, called

Trokesuware, and the artillery of sixty pieces of cannon, three, six,

and twelve-pounders, with a proportion of howitzers, all excellently

appointed and drawn by capital cattle, When brought to its fall

strength the entire brigade numbered very nearly 10,000 men-at-arms,

and formed a compact, well-organised fgliting machine, immeasurably

superior to any hitherto existing in the native states of India.

De Boigne was promoted to the rank of General, and his pay, at

first fixed at Rs.4,000 por mensem, was subsequently raised bo Rs.10,000,

and he enjoyed in addition many other services of emolument. In

his agreement with Madhuji Sindhia he made but two stipulations ;

one that he should never be called on to carry arms against the

Engtish, the other that his troops shonld be regularly paid. Herein

he showed his wisdom. The history of all previous military adven-

turers employed by native princes pointed one moral, and that was

the fuilurc that invariably attended unpunctuslity in paying the men.

Fastern potentates were as poor in their pecuniary performances, as

they were prodigal in their preliminary promises, and Madhoji Sindbia

was ne exception to the rule. He had a reluctance to, amounting to

a positive horror of, parting with hard cash from his treasury. De

Boigne was a prudent man, especially in money matters, and recop-

uixed that silver was the sole power that could control a mercenary

army, and that without a fixed and cerlain revenue it was idle to

attempt the establishment of a serviceable force. He therefore insisted

upon a sound financial arrangement for the upkeep of his Brigade,

and Sindlia whose projudices did not include indireet disbursements,

made over to De Boigne a Jatdad or military assignment of territory,

the revenues of which were to be devoted to the expenses of the corps.

This system of assigning land for the payment of troops was almost

universal in India, where districts were always apportioned to the

native chiefs and generals for the npkcep of their troops.

The Jaidad which De Boigne received comprised a large and rich

tract of country in the Dodib, and within its boundaries, he was para-

niount, exercising and enjoying sovereign rights and privileges. When

lis first assumed the administrution of this province its revenucs

amounted to sixteen lakhs of rupees a year (£200,000); but by subse-

quent additions and good management the area was increased to fifty-

two pergaunaheor districts, and the income to thirtylakhs, De Boigne’s

civil administration was as successful, and, in its way, as remarkable

as his military one, He introduced a system of order and regularity,

adopted a fixed and equitable scale of taxation, and created special
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departments for collecting and checking the samc, by the simple but

efficacious expedient of two revenno ollices, the accounts in one being

kept in French, and in the other ia Persian. By a firm, but just

government he created confidence amongst the peasantry, wud without

harassing or squeezing them, drew from the Jand larger and more

punetnally paid revenues than had evcr beon obtuincd before. He

was wlowed a commission of 2 per cent. on all collections, and ac

xcellont was his administration that not only were lis troops regu-

larly and liberally paid, but his own private fortune was materially

increased.

farly in the summer of 1790 the Brigade was brought to its full

strength and reported ready for service. This prompt accomplish-

ment of a really great undertaking was due to De Boigne’s indefatig-

able exertions. His entliusiasm and energy were marvellous, and he

neither stopped nor rested until he lad gompleted lis work. When

at length everything was ready, aud le paraded his new-formed army

in review for the first time, prompted by a senliniont, that must touch

all patriotic hearls, he unfurled above it, in that wild and heathen

spol, so far removed from lis native land, the flag of Lis own country

—the White Cross of Savoy.

When Madhoji Sindhia inspected his new Brigade for the first time,

he must have been struck with the contrast Lbebweon it and his own

undisciplined Marishé army, ~The Decean soldicry of the last century

were perhaps the most irregular riffiuns in all India. Every indi-

vidual trooper asserbed his independence and freedom froin control;

he was the proprietor ef his horse and arms, and whilst agrecing to

give lis services in return fora certain payout, he did not consider

it any part of the eentract to imperil his property. Warfare, lie

regarded, as a legitimate means of phindering, but as his sleed and

spoar represouted lis entire capital, and constitutcd jis sole claim to

employment, he sedulously avoided all ecoutlies (which somewhat

detracted from his merils as a eoutbutant), and preiivred flight to

fight on overy occasion of danger.

The camps of these immense artuics of discreet, and yct, ab times,

dashing warriors, wero vast Lalting places, fortued without any idea

of order or regularity, and covering exteuded tracts of ground. Livery

trooper slept with his horse picketed beside lin, yud there were

genorally three camp followers tv cach fighting man. A teeming

bazaar accompanied the armics in their line of march, wherein all

trades and professions of city life were represented, mud whieh in-

eluded every accessory of Asiatic civilisation from bevies of dancing

girls to bands of professional thieves, who plied their licensed eallinyrs

4
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under privilece of a trade tax. The multitudes which a Maratha

prince lod towar consisted of a vast medley of conglomerata elements,

as fur removed in appearance from a military expedition as it is

possible to conceive, and powerful oniy in their overwhelming

numbers, their wonderful cndurance, and the almost ineredible

rapidity, with which they could move from place to place, either for

attack or in retreat.

De Boigne’s Brigade was the very antithesis of a Maratha’ army.

Tt was a emall, solid, compact, slow-moving body, in which obedience

and discipline were the gniding principles. Tivery military operation

was carried out with precision and routine ; the men marched and’

manenvred in the methods that obtained in European armies, and in

camp afforded a spectacle of order and system that would have done

credit to a Company’s Sepoy regiment.

This result had not been accomplished without labour, De

Boigne’s life was far from one of Oriental ease and luxury. He rose

each) morning with the sun, and until midnight devoted himself to

the anuliifarious dulies of his position. Jivery day he inspocted his

Khariduois, ov arsenal, drilled his troops on parade, and issuod the

orders of the day. To the enlistment of reernits he paid especial

attention. ‘he eqnipment and armament of lis force were designed

and provided by Lim, and he was hig own quarterinaster and

adjutant general. The medi¢al department and ambulance gervice

had his eare, and both were arranged for, He never delegated

administrative duties to subordinates, for he was a somewhat morbidly,

independently man, who insisted on doing everything himself, and

distrusted the deputation of authority. Active and laborious to an

astonishing degree, he seemed capable of performing the work of half

a dozen men, and his example infected those wnder lim, with much

of hia own energy and diligence. Before lis zeal and determination

to succeed, difficultics faded away, and apparent impossibilities

became accomplished fucts. ‘Lhe highly organised and disciplined

army, of which this first Brigade was the earncst, was a monument no

less to bis military genius as a great soldier, than to his personal

industry as an able administrator,



CHAPTER IY.

THE BATTLNS OF PATAN AND MERTA.

1780,

HERE was soon work for the new Brigade. Madhoji’s old and

redoubtable enemy, Ismail Deg, renounced his allegiance, and

having induced the Lajals of Juipny and Jodhpur to assist him,

appeared in arms in the Ajmir district. Sindhin, with his aeeustowed

preference for intrigue, tried at fest te corrupt the following of the

Mughal noble, but failing in the attempt, detached an army from his

camp af Mattra, under the commandot Lakwa Dadi and De Boigne,

to punish the rebel and erusli the Rajput princes.

They came upon the enemy near Patan Tanwar, in the Shaikhiwati

country, on tho 20th of June, 1790. Tt has heen stated that a

secret understanding existed between Lekwi and Pariah Sing, by

which the latter agreed to stand aloof during the fisht on the condi-

tion that his territory of Jaipur, adjoining the Mardthé boundaries,

should not be dovastuted. To this cause is attributed the defeat of the

famous Rathor Cavalry in a bloody wid obstinate conflict, in which

Ismail Beg and his VPithan horse behaved with signal gallantry,

thrico charging through De Dotgne’s linge and entting down his

artillery men at their guns. It was only the personal courage of the

general, and the staunchness of lis,troops, that sceured victory. ‘There

exists un authentic description of the battle, written by De Boigne

himself four days after ib was fought, and which appeayed in the Cal-

cutta Gazette of the 22nd of July, 1790. It reads as follows :—

‘ tetract of a Letter fran Major De Boigne.

“Camp Patan, June 24, 1790,

“ Our various little skirmishes sinee the severe cannonade of 8th

and 9th Ramzan,“ are not, I hope, unknown te you. I have often

* Tamean: the ninth Mohammedan lunar month. The mouth of the Fast.

ol
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tried to hayass and surprise the cnemy, but their naturally strong and

almost impregnable situation, added to their very great superiority in

numbers, both in troops and artillery, rendered all my exertions

fruitless. At last, tired cut with vexation, I determined to mareh

from our ground in threo eolunins, so as to form the line from the

centre of cach with caso and eclerity. In that way I advanced to a

little more than cannon-shot distance from the enemy, where IT

formed my little arnvy, consisting of two lines and a reserve, the

Marathé horse in the rear and on ovr flanks. After waiting the best

part of the day with impatient hopes to sec them marching against

us, as they had threatened; at last, about three o'clock, a few

Marathi horses began to skirmish with the enemy's right wing,

cousisting of horse, which shorily increased from five to six thousand,

but they were soon beaten off. I was now encouraged to try if some-

thing better could not be done by cur side, and in order to induce

them to come out from their stronghold, T ordered the line to advance

aftcr a warm cannonade ofahout anhourfrom both sides. The enemy

not appearing to come out, T still advanced till we came within reach

of grape-shob; then, halting, we gave and reeeived from each gun

nearly forty rounds of grape, which made it 2 warm business, we

being in the plain and they in the trenches. Tho evening was now

fay advanced, and seeing at the samo time such numerous bodies of

tha enciny’s cavalry in motion, and ready to fall on us if they could

find an opening, I thought it prudent to move on rather quicker,

which wo did till the firing of platoons began. But we had already

Jost such numbers of people, principally clashies,* thatthose remaining

were unable to dvag the guns any fortler. 1, therefore, gave imme-

diate orders te storm the lines, sword in hand, which was as soon

excented. Upon which the enemy, not relishing at all the close

Bphting, gave way on all sides, infantry as woll as cavalry, leaving

us in possession of all their guns, baggage, bazaar, elephants, and

everything else. The day being now closed put an end to the

slaughter of the enemy, which must have been very considerable if

we bud had an hour’s more daylight. Towever, it was a complete

victory. Their cavalry, after losing about 2,000 men and horses,

saved themselves by flight; the infantry, whe could not run so fast,

took refage in the town of Patun, strongly fortified. Lut in the

morning they thought proper to give themselves up, and surrendered

to me all their arms, colonrs, obe. Nino battalions and irregular troops,

making above 12,000 men, are new prisoners of war; IT haye promised

* OClushics : native artillerymen.
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to allow them a safeguard to conduct them to the other side of the

Jumna.

“The onemy’s foree consisted of 12,000 Rhattore Cavalry, 6,000

from Jeypore, 5,000 Moguls under Ismail Beg, and 2,000 under

Allyhar Beg Khan ; of foot they had 14,000 iuen, and 100 pieces of

artillery, and with Ismail Beg 5,000 Yelleayas,* and mutehlock men,

with twenty-one pieces of artillery, 4,000 Rohillas, 5,000 Iakirs,t

called Atéiyles and Brakys, and Rajpoot Syhuwndees, | with eight

pieces of canuon, and 4,000 AMinaeks, § who were of great service to the

enemy, as the batile was siven at the foot of the hills.

“My Brigade was 10,000 strong. The Mohratta Cavalry stood on

onr flanks ag spectators; they began the skirinish, in which they had

only six men killed and forty wounded. Tad it not been for two

battalions of mine, who changed frcnt when tle encmy’s cavalry were

charging onrs, the Mahriitas would have seen fine play.

“Our vietory is astonishing! A complete victory gained by a

handful of men, ovcr such a niuuiber ty sucht a position! Tt may

surprise you when I say that in less than three hours’ time 12,000

round and 1,500 grape shot were fred ly us, aud by the enemy much

nore, ag they had two guns to our one.

“During all the engagement I was on horseback cucouraging my

men. Thank God Lt have realised all tho sanguine expectations of

Sindhia, My officers, in general, have behaved well; to them I am

a great deal indebted for the fortunes ofthe day.

“We have had 120 men killed and 472 wounded. The enemy not

more, perbaps not so much, as they were entrenched; but they have

Jost a vast number of cavalry.

“T have taken 107 pieces of artillery, 6,000 stand of arms, 252

colours, fifteen elephants {amongst them are Ismael Leg's five

elephants) 200 camels, 518 horsce, and above 8,000 oxen. T intend

to send the whole to Sindhia as soou xs it may be practicable. All

their cramp was burnt or destroyed; they have wbsolutely saved

nothing but their ves.

“The terror of our arms alone pob us in possession of the Lown of

Patun, iu which the troops fuund a great deal of plunder, and near

2,000 horses, It would have required at any other time a uonth ty

inke ib, its fortifications being very strong, and defended by three hills

close to each other. ‘The place was uever taken before.”

* Tellongas: regular soldiery.

¢ Fakirs: religious fighting mondivnuts.

Sybundees: irresnlar infantry,

} Minahs: hill meu from the districts wear A pair.
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It is difficult which to admire moat in this Ictter,* the lucidity of

the narrative, or the modesty of the gallant soldier in his description

of an achievement in which he played the principal part. Another

account of the battle, algo published in the Calewéta Gazette, enables

oue or two interesting details to be added. It appears that the attack

on Ismiil Beg and the Rajputs was commenced on the 28rd of May ;

but owing to their strong position and numerous artillery, no impres-

sion could be made on their lines, ‘it being fall nine kes round the

niountains to come even at their foraging parties.” At last De Boigne

received information that the enemy’s council of war had fixed on the

20th of June as an auspicious day, and, taking them in the humour,

he sent word to Jsindil Bee that he would meet him half way. For

this purpose the general marched out of camp an honr before day-

break, but fle battle was delayed until three o’clock in the afternoon,

owing to the reluetanco of the enemy to join issue. The fight then

followed, as doseribed by De Boigne, until “ about six o’clock in the

evening, our intrepid General, placing bimscif at the head of one of

the battalions, and giving orders to the rest to follow, rushed forward,

sword in hand, to the mouth of the cnemy’s cannon. This vigorous

proceeding animating all our troops, had the desired effeet, as we

almost instantaneously vot possession of their first line. Their second

was forced about eight o’clock, and by nine the enemy were entirely

routed. The Genoral’s courage and judgment on this occasion were

equally conspicuous. . . . In the course of three days we took the

strong town of Patun by storm, which was afterwards razed to the

ground, and so intimiduted the Rajah, who commanded Patun Fort (a

place resembling Gibraliar from its almost impregnable position), that

he submitted to become a vassal of Sindhia, and is now (1st July) with

us on the march to Jaipur. Our signal victory was gained with only

the logs of 700 mon killed and wounded; but the number of the enemy

who have fallen must be immense, fer it ix said that, beside those left

on the field, the road from here to Jaipur, about thirty-two os, is

covered with the dead carcases of men, horses, eamcels, and bullocks.

Their camp, which was three wiles in length and onc im breadth, we

burned und Jeft noi o stick standing. Our suceess affords a strong

proof of the amazing power of discipline under a brave and skilful

commander,”

Directly the result of the battle was placed beyond doubt, Ismail

Beg accepted the inevitable, and attended by a small retinue, galloped

from the field. When news of this great success reached Sindhia at

* Tt is probable the original was written in Freuch and translated into

English for the Cafeutta Guzeite.
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Mattra, he determined to press home the advantage, and complete the

subjugation of the Rajput states, which had asserted, and main-

tained, their independence since the battle of Lilsét, and he now

ordered De Boigne to invade Jodhpur, and yeduee the Rijah te sub-

mission. On receiving these conunands, De Boigne decided to tirst

attempt the capture of Ajmir, which, lying as it did, half way between

Jaipur and Jodhpur, was the key of the country. On the 1éth of

August he reached it, and at once completed the investment, but, owing

to the impregnable nature of the fort, was unable to take it by a@ cuitp

demain. So he left 2,000 cavalry, and a sufficient force of infantry

to cover it, and marched wilh the rest of his army towards Jodhpur.

The following extract of a letter from an officer in De Boigne’s

Brigade, published in 1790, refers to this incident :—~

“ Aqiwenn Camp,

“ Seplember 1, 1790.

** Although we have invested (lis fort for fifteen days very closely,

yet we can make no impression upon it; our guns, from the very great

elevation they are placed at, and the distance, make no visible im-

pression, and the narrow paths whieh lead to the fort are so defended

by nature, that a few large stones thrown down must carry everything

before therm, The noise they make in ra!livg I can compare to nothing

but thunder. Indeed, I am afraid we imnust turn the blockade into a

siege, as they have six months’ water and a year's provisions in the

fort. Ifpney we shall divide our forces, leaving some here, and the

rest proceeding to Mairtha, where the enemy lave taken the field,

Bijai Sing offered the fori of Agimere and country for fifty Hos*

round fo General de Boigne, if he would desert Sindhia; hut De

Boigne’s reply was that Sindhia had already given him Jodhpur and

Jaipur, and thal the Rajah would not be so unreasonable as to

expect he would exchange ther for Agimere.”

The latter paragraph is interesting as confirming the assertion aften

made that De Boigne was on several occasions solicited to enter the

sexvico of Sindhia’s enemies.

To turn for a moment tv the course of uvents in the Najput slates,

it must be noted that Bijai Sing, the Rajah of Judlipur, had sustained

a terrible disgrace by the defeat of his Rathor Cavalry at Patan. The

Right of those redoubtable warriors, even though ib was due to the

treachery of their Jaipur allies, had given rise to a ribald rhyine,

which accused them of abandoning on the field of battle the five

* Kos: au clastic measure; probably a mile and a half in this instance.
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attributes of manhood, namely, horse, shoes, turban, moustachios,

and the “Sword of Mirwér.’ This was tantamount to taunting

them with having degenerated into women. None but those who

can enter into fhe exaggerated sense of pride which is the ruling

passion of a high caste Rajput, and understand his precise views

eoneerning womankind, can appreciate the keenness of this taunt.

To wipe out the shame of Pitan, Lijai Sing summoned to his

standard every Rithor between fourteen and sixty years of age capable

of wiolding a sword. From hamlets and villages they came, from

towns and cities, eager Lo blot out with their blood this evil stain on

their national honour, In response to this eall to arms, 30,000 warriors,

burning to repel the invader and efface the memory of the past, col-

lected at Merta, a large walled city, standing on high ground in the

centre of a vast grassy plain, thirty milos to the east of Ajmir. It

was an historical placc, and had been the scene of many desperate

battles, in the annala of Mirwaér, in which tle crown of Jodhpur had

oftentimes been lost and won, The plain around was fat with blood,

poured out, sometimes in internecine strife, but more often in opposing

foreign invasion, and was covered with altars and memorials, erected

to the manes of the doughty dead who lay there. Here, in September,

1790, the [tithor army assembled to meet their Marth’ enemies, who,

forty years belore, had defeated them on the very spot, with a Joss of

40,000 roen.

Owing to the failure of the annual ruins, all the ordinary sources of

water supply, never plentiful.in the best of seasons, wore exhausted,

and De Boigne was obliged to make a eonsidcrable detour to approach

Meria. On September 8th he reached a village called Riah, on the

banks of the Lini, and began the passage of the river. But soon bis

cannon became embarrassed in its muddy bed, and this occasioned

considerable delay. Whereupon he sent the MarAth4 Cavalry forward

to reconnoitre, who, after proceeding a few miles, suddenly eame upon

Bijai Sing’s uriy,

The Iithors were drawn up on the plain of Merta, their right fank

resting upon the village of Dangiwus. Lijai Sing was not present, ‘

for he had remained at his capital, and entrusted the divection of the

war to his commander-in-chief, Gangaram Bhandari. ut, unfortu-

nately, he had associated with this general one of ia ministers, and

the introduction of a civil element into an essentially military matter

proved fatal. Directly Gangaram Bhandari saw ihe Marithé Cavalry,
unsupported Ly those terrible battalions that had done all the fighting

at Pitan, he desired to engage them. Lut the Rajah’s minister in-

sisted upon waiting until they were reinforced by Ismail Beg, who was
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hurrying to form a junetion with them, Owing to this unhappy

divergence of opinion, the golden opportunity was lost, Vor it eannot

be doubted but thatthe Tathors dying to redeom their honour, would

have made short work of the Maritha Cavalry, whose cowardice was

notorious, and after defcating them, might have fallen upon De

GBoigne’s Irigade during its passaya of the Luni river, with every

prospect of destroying the force, or, at least, obliging it to retreat.

As it was, the Maréth’ Cavalry were permitted to retire unmolested,

and so to reimain for ihe next thirty-six hours. It was not until mid-

night of the 10th that Dc Boigne completed the crossing of bis gnns,

The next morning he advanced slowly in the direction of Merta, his

march across the sandy plain being much impeded by the heaviness of

the ground. Towards midday he came in sight of the enemy, drawn up

in line of battle, and a heavy cannovade wae at once opened upon him,

Lakwi, Dada, the Maritht General, was anxious to engage forthwith,

but De Boigne, profiting by the experience of Patan, where nightfall

robbed him of the full imeed of victory, determined to defer the battle

fill the next morning, in order that he might have « long day for the

work in hand. Te accordingly decided to fall buck, and the Rathors,

who still awaited Ismail Dog's arrival, made no elfort to furee on an

action.

During the afternoon, De Boigne carefully reconnoitred the ground,

and after deciding ou his plan of battle, gave orders for the Brigade

to be under arms before dawn, hopiug to take the chemy by surprise.

Whilst it was yet dark the troops began to assemble, and in the silance

of the swellering antunm night fetl into their places and prepared for

action. As day broke, the sleeping hosts encamped in front of them

were awakened from their sinmbers by showers of grape, followed by

the advanee of the regular infantry, who rapidly stormed and oceupicd

their outer limes. All in confusion and haste, the Rathors formed

and opened a cannonade, But the advantage was alroady with the

attacking army, and the Jadbpur infantry was beginning to waver and

break, when a misadventure overtook De Logue, which nearly proved

fatal in its results.

Captain Rehan, a French ofliver in eannnand of the left wing of the

Brigade, tock upon himsclf, withont orders from the Gencvral, to ad-

vance, and the battalions ov either side of lan following his exampie,

the line was broken, and a weak point afforded for attack.

In order to show how the Rathors took advantage of this error, it is

necessary to revert for 2 moment to the events osonrring in their

camp. When its ocenpants had been surpriseit in the carly morning

by De Boigne’s attack, their principal chiefs were wrapped in the
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lethargic slumber of opium—a narcotic universally consumed by the

governing classes of Rajputana. Slowly they were awakened from

their drowsy sleep, one of them—the Chief of Ahwa—being aroused

with the utmost diffenlty. When they regained possession of their

senses, they found, to their shame and humiliation, the camp in con-

fusion, and the infantry a disorganized rabble on the point of being

routed.

Then did these chiefs, twenty-two in number, decide on a great

atonement. Girding on their swords, they called four thousand *

chosen followers to arms, and, as the clan was collecting, prepared

and drank opium together for the last time. It was not the final

carouse of weak debauchees, but a stern and solemn sacrament. For

they drank it as the draught of death. They wrapped themselves

around with shawls of yellow silk, the certain token that they rode to

victory or death, and so gave the order to mount.

Ti was at this moment thut Captain Rohan advaneed ont of De

Boigne's ling. The Chief of Ahwn saw the opportunity presented for

attack, and in the act of imprndence recognised a propitious omen.

Standing up in his stirrups, he encovraged his clansmen with a few

spirited words, calling on them to follow him, and coneluding with the

pregnant exhortation : “ Remember Pitan !”

Then he led the way, the squadrons following after, at full gallop.

The seens of conflict was soon reached, and charging straight against

De Boigno’s three detached battalions, he took them at disadvantage,

and drove then: back in disorder, The moral effect of this temporary

triumph inspired the Rathora with hope and excitement, Their Chief

now turned his attack upon the main bedy of the Brigade, and when

he neared it his body of horse divided and trailed out, and, as if acting

on a preconcerted plan, wheeled round nnotil De Boigne was completely

surrounded ; awhile they rent the air with the war ery they had ac-

eepted, and which waa at once a confession and an inspiration.

Peradventure the God of Battle, as he looked down upon that heathen

hosi, stuiled grimly in anticipation of the rich sacrifice about to be

offered up before his altars. The parched plain guped for the coming

red flood that would droneh it so dukly, aud foree forth richer pasture

growths than any springing from the rain which fell from above. The

steel-blue sky interposed no clouds between that awful arena end the

high heavens. The rugged Aravallis, towering on the horizon, caught

the first rays of tho morning sun, and hung out crimson banners on

their mountain-tops, Oft had they looked down on Merta’s fields, and

seen human strife and luman carnage ; off from their grey steeps and

* Some authorities quote this number as only four Aundred,
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stony fastucsses the roar ot battle had re-echoed back in angry thunder

tones; off had their shadows fallen, as a pall, on ghastly heaps of

mangled men. And now the cycle of war had come round again, and

the wind that blew from Merta’s plain was soon to be hot with the

breath of battle.

* Remember Pitan !'—Onward swept the squadrons of Marwir;

out rang the batile ery, ag with uplifted swords and lances poised to

thrust, they hurled themselves upon De Boigne’s battalions,

But the genius of the great general had anticipated the danger, and

prepared to mect it. With “incomparable presence of mind” De

Boigne rapidly formed hig men into a hollow square, and ag the

Rithors dashed on to them they found a magie change had ranged

serried rows of bristling bayonets and long lines of gaping guns ready

to receive them at every point. Up to the very muzzles of the cannon,

they charged and recharged, those valiant sons of Marawer, “The Laud

of Death.” Towellers in the land of Weath wore they, and death they

despised. Theirs to retrieve a lost honour!) Theirs to give the lie to

that stinging jest of false Jaipur! Theirs te“ Remeber Putan f”

Again and again they charged, each time with ebbing effort and

weakor offect. Again and again they flung themselves against that

hedge of bayonets with merciless madness. There is a limit to

human endurance, but to-day that limit was Death. ‘Lo tho bravest

man there comes a time whea conscience confesses, “ Enough,” and

justifies it; but to-day the command of conscience was Death. Great

gaps yawned in the ranks, where grape and shot ploughed their

furrows, only to be at once closed up by the valour of a frantic

fanaticism, as the Rathors refurined under the destroying fire, and

rode back to the charge with the abandon of despair, But the

disciplined Brigade confronted them, unmoved og the rocks against

which the succeeding storm waves are shattered, and they recled

back broken, but unbeaten. Ail se the ghastly sucrifice was con-

sumimated until only fifteen remaincd alive, and these, steadfast to

the end, reimrned for the last lime to the shambles of self-immmolation,

and found the death they sought.

The God of Lattle suniled grimly down, and the incense of war rose

to his nostrils. A holocaust of selfduomedl devotees lay prone before

his feet. The plain reeked with blood, but it flowed not from alien

veins, but from hearts that claimed Mterta as their mother earth. ‘The

echoes of the cannon, booming sullenly back trom the grey Avavallis,

thundered owt no salute of national viclory, but sounded the mizute

gans that proclaimed the end of Mirwéx’s chivalry. Thus was the

atonement of the Chief of Ahwa accomplished.
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Before midday the Jodhpur army was in full flight, and an hour

later De Boigne’s battalions in possession of their camp. After

allowing his troops a short rest upon their arms, he ordered the storm

of the town of Merta, and before sunset the colours of the Brigade

wero flying over that formidable place.

There is an account of the battle of Merta, written by an officer in

De Boigne’s army, and printed in a Caleutta paper, which must be

quoted here, for the description ulready given is mainly based on

Colonci James Tod’s record in his * Avnals of Rajasthan.” This

letter is dated from Camp Merta on the 15th of September, 1790, and

reads as follows :—

“We had laid close siege to Agimere for seventecn days, when the

General, finding that the spirits of the army were upheld by the

enomy taking the field at Mirtah, left 2,000 horse to blockade

Agimere, and marched against the enemy. Owing to a scarcity of

water, following on a firmine and dry season, we had to make a

circuitorts route, and did not reael: Rie till the Sth. About midnight

we recommenced our march, and liaving marched very near to the

enemy, a heavy cannonade commenced about nine o’clock in the

morning. The Mahratta chief was eager to advance upon the enemy,

but De Boigne objected, not only o account of the fatigue of the

troops, after a march of ten A0s, but because of the intense heat and

lateness of the hour, which would have prevented him reaping the

fruits of success. The enemy's foree consisted of 30,000 cavalry,

100,000 infantry, and 25 pieces of cannon. On our side the same

number of horse, 6,000 to.7,000 rank and file, and 80 pieces of

artillery. On the 10th at break of dawn we were ordered to advance

on the enemy, the disposition of our troops being the same as at the

memorable battle of Pitan, A heavy cannonade soon commenced,

supported on both sides with great vigour. Onur first line of 50 pisces

of cannon shortly atter began to fire with grape, and, by meaus of our

superiority of guns, drove the enemy from their lines. Lut a French

officer of Sindbia's, elated with sriecess, advanced without orders of

the line of battle at the lead of three batlalions, The enemy soon

took advantage of his imprudence, and charged lim so vigorously

that it was not withont great diffienliy he effected his retreat. They

then charged our main body in front, flanks, and rear, but General

De Boigne’s foresight and incomparable presence of mind were the

means of saving us, for upon pereciving the erroy which his officer

had committed, and no doubt uware of the consequences, he formed

us inte a hollow square, so that upon being surrounded shortly after-

wards, we on all sides prescnted a front to the enemy.
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* About nine o’clock they were obliged to quit the field; about ten

we got possession of their eamp; and about three p.m. took the great

aud formidable town of Mirtah by storm. The pillage lasted: three

days, aud to mention all the pariiculurs alteudiug if would make your

teeth water, The Iudlics ab firsh seeined displeased with our coming

abruptly into the town, but at length grew more kind, acknowledging

wibli good grace that none but thie brave deserve the fair,

“The town of Mirtah is much larger than Bensres, surrounded

by a thick mud rampart and parapet thirty fect high. Ti has twa

minarets, and the houses are all puceas In this ongagement the

attacking army lost six to seven lundred men, killed and wounded,

mostly by the sabre. Gangaran: Dhanduree, the Commander-in-

Chief of the Rhattores, was taken on the 11th at night, cndeavouring

to make his escape in the disguise of.a servant. It is impossible for

me to deseribe the feats of bravery performed by the Jerd Kopperah

Watiahs,} or Forlorn Hope, of the cneny. I lave seen, after the

line was broken, fifteen or twenty men return to charge » thousand

infantry, and advance to within ten or fifteen paces before all were

shot. Captain Bahore (? Baours), who commanded the right wing,

was wounded in the thigh, and dicd; Licutcnant Roberts was also

severcly wountied by a missile, or weapon called an Organ,! whieh is

composed of about thirty-six gun barrels so joined as to fire at onee,

The Rhattores lost five chiefs, including 2 nephow of the Rajah, and

the Bu«ec § of the army. hese five, finding they could not escape,

quitted their horses, and fonght with eleven other followers on foot

fill they were all cut to pieces. This great victory ig solely to be

attributed 40 the coolness and inlvepidily of our general in making so

complete a disposition of his forces in time to repel the rapid charge

of the most courageous cavalry in the world. Ismidil Leg arrived the

day after the engagement at Nagora, abont two kos distant.”

Merta was a decisive victory, und was won by the bravery of De

Boigne. “ But for his skill and presence of mind,” writes Colonel

James Tod, who describes the batite from the Jodhpur point of view,

“his Brigade would infallibly have been anuibilated.” His trained

intelligence recoguised the inipending danger before it was apparent

* Pucca, substantial, built of stone or burnt brick, in contrast to the usual

buildings, which are AuwteAe, ¢.g., built of mud.

+ Jerd Kopperah IWallahs : men in yellow raiment, the garb of doom,

3 Organ = query, a wmitrailleuse ?

§ Buzee =the paymaster of the army, 4 most important personage in

Oriental armies.
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to any one else, and his military genius made tho dispositions thal

met and overeame it, The battle was recognised at the time as a

remarkable one. “Do Boigne’s battalions,” writes the Celeuita

Chronicte of the 14th of October, 1790, “ have certainly all the merit ol

the vietory of Mairtha. De Boigne lias shown such ability and courage,

that the corps scem to act as if they thought themselves invulnerable.’

Another writer, with a jusler appreciation of the man he was describ.

ing, thus refers to him in another journal, “ M. de Boigno’s history

will make an important figure in fnture times in the annals of India

that will immortalise his name, and add eclebrity to the European

character.” Six months luter, in March, 1791, the deeds of this

adventurer were recognised in a debate in the Brilish House oi

Commons.

Merta won for De Boigne's Brigade the name of the Cherri Faug.

or Flying Army, for it showed thet infantry could not only protecl

fortified places and act in pitched battle, but were able to undertake

extended canipaigns, and invade distant territories. It converted

Madhoji Sindhia to 1 complete belief iu his regular troops, and 1éq

to the ercation of the hnge stunding army wliuch, before « deeade had

passed, became a menace Lo the British power in India. '

The day after the battle Isméil Beg joined Lijai Sing, bringing

with him a hurricdly-collected force. He endeavoured to persuade

the Jodhpur prince to renew ile contest, and an attempt was made

to reassemble the seatiered soldicry, and form a new army. But in

Decomber discreeter counsels prevailed, and Gijai Sing sent a Vakil

to KoApur, where De Boigne was encamped, to suc for peace. The

terms imposed wore severe, and ineluded, in addition to an indemnity

of three quarters of a million sterling, the ed€sion of the province ol

Ajmir, which was granted as Jaidad to Lakwi Dada, tho Marathé

Commanider-in-Chiof.

As soon as the treaty was concluded, De Boigno marched his brigade

back to Mattra, which he reached on the 1st of January 1791. Here

he was weleomed with an unique salute of the entire park of artillery,

and a feu de goie of all the small arms in tle Marathé camp, whilst

in the jubilation of his heart Madhoji loaded his victorious general

with honours and rewards commensurate with his great services.



CHAPTER Y.

THE SECOND AND THIRD BRIGADES. MADILOJI SINDIT[A PROCEEDS TO

POONAH.

1701-1700.

HE immediate result of the victorics of PAtan and Merta was the

formation of a second brigade in 1791 and a third in 1793, the

enlistment and organisation of which occupied much of De Boigne’s

time and attention till the summicr of the latter yoar, Vistablishing

his headquarters at Koil, he throw himself with heari-whole enerey

into the new work Madhoji Sindhia had entrusted to him, determined

to fulfil tho expectations of his master and deserve the unlimited eon-

fidence reposed in him. oil was situated close to Aligarh, the forti-

fications of which were considerably strengthened, and beneath iis

ramparts arose an cxtensive eantoument capable of holding a larse

Lody of troops, whilst under De Boigno’s fostering administration the

town itself became an empormun of conmerce. The spot was well

ehosen for the headquarters of an army, for its position in the centre

of De Boigne’s districts securod to lum supplies of all deseriptions

necessary for his troops, whilst the cyui-distance from Delhi and

Agra enabled him to dominate both eities by the rapidity with which

he could concentrate a force at either point.

When increasing his army; civeumstaness induced Do Boigne to

somewhat remodcl the constitution of the brigades, cach now con-

sisting of 6,0U0 Telingas, or regular infantry, 1,000 Najibs, or irrcgu-

lara, and 1,000 Rohillas, called ‘* Allygools,” who were men of proved

bravery, and recruited for the special work of leading storming parties.

Attached to each brigade were 800 regular cavairy, 3 battering guns, 10

howitzers, 2 mortars, and 86 field-pieces. There was also a small

body of Persian Horse, monnted and armed at De Doigne’s expense,

and regarded asa his personal bodyguard. The regular cavalry were

well mounted ; some were armed with matchlocks and swerds, others
3)
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with carbines, pistols, and swords, and all were well disciplined to

perform the European evolutions.

To military readers the composition of a complete battalion in De

Boigne’s army may be interesting. Tt was as follows :—

Infantry,

1 Captain (European)

1 Lieutenant (Lurepcan) :

As.

1 Adjutant, or Bubahdar —... ve .- paid 34, per mensem.

STJomadars ... 3 20. "

1 Havildar Major » 12.8 ss

82 Havildars (sergeants) wee wee be » 108 "

32 Naika (corporals) ... » §8 ”

2 Colour Bearers » «12 s

2 Cymballs <9 =} on »y «12. ys

10 Drummers ... ay 7- 4) 2: » 12. ”

10 Fifers ae »y IB |

416 Scpoys, Grenadier Comme LUNES, 6 , he » 6.8. *
Artillery.

1 Sergeant Major (Enropcan) oF . paid 60. per mensem.

6 Gunners (European) » 40. "

1 Jemadar . os A ee » 30, ”

1 Havildar ... wes war ~ \.. » 16. ”

5 Naiks wee $4; I. yo ”

5 Sarangs (bullock reget) a » 2
5 Tindals (park sergeants). ~ we ” 6.3 43

4 Blacksmiths wo — »s oO ”

4 Carpenters ... . wee we ” 6, »

35 Golundars (native gunners) paid 6.,7., and 8 »
35 Clashies (native artilleryimen) paid 4.8 and 5. 9

20 Béldars (sappers) ... _ wo paid 4, ”

24 Garewdns (bullock driver 8) we wee » 4 n

Native Staff.

1 Pandit (accountant) ve vee -. paid 60, per mensem,

2 Matsaddis (writers) we we we sy BO, »

11 Beesties (water carriers) .., ” 4, 6

7 Armourers ... ” 7.

2 Hirkarrns (messengers) ss 5. »

4 Gurreealas (time-keepers) » 8. "

1 Surgeon (native) ... wes vee we 4 10.

1 Masaichi (toreh-bearer) =
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Hach battalion was provided witl—

408 stand of arms.

4 fiold-pieces (four- and six-pounders).

1 howitz.

5 tumbrils.

120 bullocks.

18 camels.

2 bullock carts.

300 round of shot for each wun.

100 round of grape for cach gun.

50 stone sheils for each howitz.

50 rounds of grape tor euch howits.

Each fumbril was drawn by twolve bullocks, under charge of three

drivers; and each gun by eight bullocks, with two drivers.

The irregular infantry were, siviilarly equipped, but while the

Telingas were clothed in scarlet uniforms, obtained from Caleutta,

with black leather accoutrements and ecockscombs in their blue tnr-

bangs, the Najibs wore garments of blue quilted country-cloth.

The companies fired by platoons independently, but as the fire of

the matellock battalions was much heavier than that of the ausket.

battalions, De Boigue gave au extra“ cavonade” or ‘ howitz’ Lo

each of the latter. The Rohillas, reeruited for fighting in hill country

and attaeks on fortified villages, were paid Ne.d.b per arensenr.

There were also 400 Mewattis attached to cach brigade, whose duties

were to forage, furnish guards, escorts, weod-cutters, &c, and two

hundred and forty reeruits, wha drew two annas a dy cach uli

incorporated in the rank and file.

The details concerning the Cavalry are not quite so explicit. The

number atluched to a brigade appears to have been S00, and their

uniform was a green ove, with red turbans and Awamearbends or belts,

Do Boigne’s bodyguard, the pick of the mounted troops, was made up

of four Ltisilas or troops, each consisting of—

lis.

1 Risildar a .. paid 40. per mensem,

1 Naib Risildar ... ws gy) BU, ”

4 Jemadars coy LB ” euch.

4 Daffadars a vee ogy A ” a

G1 Troopers ves weg . ”

1 Kettledrun ... we ope OL .

85 Gunners os tee gp a, ” ”

4 Galloper guns

St
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Tt included also a special body of 75 skirmishing horse, mounted

on the fleetest and hardiest animals, aud recruited from the bravest

and most active men, who were not disciplined like the troopers of the

other squadrons, but employed as irregulars.

Two Risilas of similar cavalry, composed of the bravest and best

mounted men, were attached to each brigade for skirmishing purposes,

The ordinary cavalry, who lad to provide and feed their own horses,

were paid as follows—

Kis.

Risdéldars be ... paid 80. per mensem, each.

Jomadars ... ae ys 40. n

Daffadars wee ae » 30, | ”

Kettledrume .., ae > «24. »

Troopers sae 2 » BA. 3

The number of men in cach brigade was about 9,000, so that when

his army was brought to its full strength De Goigne had under his

command, including garrison troops, about 80,000 men, he mouthly

eost of a brigude was Rs.56,000 in Hindustan, increased by a special

baita or allowance of 50 per centwim to Rs.94,000, when serving south

of the Chambal river.

The difficulty of obtaining competent officers was in a measure aver-

come by the pay and allowances offered. nt it is probable that these

were not so liberal at first as the scale ultimately sanctioned, which

bore favourable comparison with that obtaining in the Company's

army at the same period, and was certainly good enough to tempt

Isuropeans of recognised ability and character to enter the service.

This could hardly have been the case in L792, as the following pay-list

of De Boigne’s officers, supplicd to the Government of India, will

show—

OFFICERS In CoLonnn De Gotane’s Brigabe ry 1792.

PAY

Commander of Iivst Brigade. PER MENSEM,

Bs.
Major Fremont (Frenchman) ee ... 1,400

Commander of Second Brigade.

Major Perron (Frencliman) ,.. aes .. 1,200

Brigade Major of First Brigade.

Captain James Gardner (Scutcinuan)... uw. 450

Brigade Major of Second Brigade,

Capiain Drngeon (Savoyard) ... te a. = 400
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Officers in the (iret Brigade.

Captain Lyenite {lrance) wee see == 700

» Felose (Ituly) ... we wee we BOD

” Allamunde (Hieland) we v. — 800

” Baloman (Polilnan 2), Gdanover) .. 20K)

Butterfield (England) ven ve = 200

” Le Marchant (}rance) hee ve BOD

Captain Tdeutepant Robert Bell (england)... 250

Licutenant Sutherland (Seatland) —... ww. 20O

y Jameon (Holland) bee ves 150)

Rennick (Ireland)... Le we 200

» Abbott (England? ... te we 200

” Lewis (Bourguien 7}, (france) ... 200

Ensign Harvey (lreland), (deserter from

Company’s Artillery at Cawnpore)... we Leo

A footnote mentions that promotion dul pay chtirely depended on

Colonel De Boigue’s favour.

In this list the loaves and fishes arc few and far between, but a con-

siderable improvement was made in the pay and allowances of the

officers when the third brigade was raised, as the following amended

scale of salaries then iutroduced muiicites

RANK PAS Misty MENSA TAY PRE MISSAL

(Ho OFFIC. [NOUN OL SVAN, IN THE ROGAN,

Jis. ts.

Colonel we _ we OU. we FOO

Licttenant-Colonel wee 2UU0, ... 2 8,000

Major cee ee BUD BBO

Captain oe ve ew F000, . AOD

Captain- Lieutenant we HOO, we 450

Lieutenant ... wee we FO, we 00

Lnsign wee wee we LO, 2)

Besides their pay, all colonels, lieutenant-coloncis, and majors

commanding brigades drew 1is.100 # month froin the Lacuar as

table allowance. 16 is also easy to understand tht there were many

other sources of emolument open to the ofliccrs besides them pay,

especially when they rose to positions of command and responsibility,

and as time passed certain privileges accrued which increascd their

position aud respectability. Lor instance, no ordinary person pwe-

sumed to set up a palangnin in the Marathé, dotuinivas, aud in the

Mughal provinces the right of viding in a yellow elephant howdel was

confined exclusively to the aristocracy; yeb De Boigne’s buropeaus
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Were permitted ta nse both unquestioned. In travelling through the

country their baggage was carried from place to place free of charge,

and all goods imported for their personal use were exernpted from the

payment of customs dues. As for the duties of these officers, exeept

in the case of a commander of a battalion, they were far from onerous.

But, on the other land, the service was admittedly a precarious one,

depending sclely upon success in the ficld. So long as fortune smiled

upon their arms, pay and posifion were assured; but in the event of

a defeat, it was tacitly understood that {here was no compensation

for, or appeal aguinst, loss of employment, The expense of living was

considerable, requiring the upkeep of a large establishment of servants,

camp equipage, and transport animals,

That fortunes could Le, and were, made by the officers in De

Boigne’s Brigades is a matter of fact, for they had opportunities of

acquiring large sums of money apart from that which the ordinary

exercise of their professign brought them. ‘he Vagoda tree still

flourished in the native slates of India. De Boigne himselt, in his old

age, was wont to remark of many of his old subalterns, “Such a one,

if he had not drunk, or sucha one, if he had not gambled, could have

done as I have done. Tt was his owu fault that he did not save

£100,000. Té depended on himself to make a fortune equal to mine.”

When the Second Brigade was completed Major Perron was

appointed to its command, whilst Major Frémont received that of the

first. On the formation of the third Major Sutherland obtained the

command. As showing the value attaching to commissions in the

service, it is interesting to mote that an olficcr named Pedron, who

joined us a eaptain-lientenant, soon after pirchased his majority. By

the time the three brigades were brought to their full strength there

were about three hundred Europeans of diflerent nationalities—

English, French, German, Swiss, Italian, Hanoverian, Portuguese,

and half-castes—in the foree, of whom 10 per cent. held commissions.

The rest were drill-sergeants and artillery-men, chiefly recruited from

runaway soldiers aud suilors of the Company's service, or hall-castes.

Their pay was very sual], ranging from 80 to 60 rupees a month.

They were generally dissolute and degraded in thei mode of life,

forming counections with native woten, and in times of peace

reflecting but little credit on their Huropeas birth. Hut during active

service they constantly exlibited extraordinary courage, and sustained

their reputation for brave fighting.

De Boigne’s pay was raised, first from Is.4,000 to is.6,000 a month,

and subsequeully to Ks.10,00iR Moreover, this was nearly deubled

by various perquisites, including a conumission of 2 per cont. on the
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revenne collections of his Jaided, which could not have brought bin

in less than [s.60,000 a year. He enjoyed thle icone of a modem

British Vieeroy.

Soon after its establishment De Voigie’s fureo reevived the tithe of

The Daperiat Army, for although it was absolutely of Madheji

Sindhia’s own creation, and subservient to his orders atone, he pre-

ferred, perhaps from n sense of exraugerabted liuuility, or more prob-

ably from motives of policy, to invest it with a titular designation

which accorded the shadow of anthority to the blind en:peror, and Tett

the substance in his own hands.

Of course these racdieal changes and inuevations, ercating as they

did for Sindhia a formidable standing army of 30,000 men, were net

introduced without cnnsing enmity and dissatisfaction in imany

quarters. In the first instance, the assignment to De Boigne of a

vast and fertile district in tho heart of the Doab as fardee, sade bina

an object of universal jealousy, Soon,inm addition lo this, a laren

Jaghir, or personal estate, was cenferred on him by lis grateful

muster, to the intense chagin of the Maritha ehiofs, who realised,

with impotent anger, that tlle mropean interloper had obtained their

prinec’s car aud favour, and, haying diseredited thete own military

pretensions, was completely snperseding them, The power and

authority De Boigne enjoyed were ejual to those of a sovercign ruler,

and his orders carried the same fore as il they had been issued by

an independent Mughal Hniperor.

Thus in nine slort years, by perseverance and deternination, by

ability and industry, by the valour of his sword and the wisdom of hi-.

conduct, De Loigne raised liiimself from the ineonsequence of an

ensign in a regiment of Madras ative intantry to tlie position of

Commandoer-in-chief of the nrmy of Tindustan. Assisted by nonce.

dependent solely on his own exertions wid talents, lie attained this

pre-eminence through sheer foree of character and merit, In the

great city, which had for centuries been the cnpital of the most potent

and gorgeous empire in India, this wandering Saveyard was para-

mount, It was an elevation that excecided his willost aspirations—

one which in his oll age he could never look back upon withont ex-

claiming, “it all appears us if it were a dream!”

After the formation of the Second Brigade De Boigne was for some

time employed in consolidating Sindhia’s power in the Shaikhawati

district, but the service was of a comparatively wiluportant character,

and chieily confined to extirpating robber bands and reducing petty

chiefs to submission. No detailed chronicle of this poriod appears to

exist, but the following extract from a letter printed in Phe World
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newspaper, published at Calcutta, in September, 179%, is so far in-

teresting that it localises his actions about this time, and conveys in-

formation regarding the state of his health. The letter was written by

an officer in the First Brigade, under Major Fremont, who was engaged

in punishing the Rajah Devi Sing, a tributary chief of Jaipur, and

compelling him to pay the amount of tribute due from him. The

first portion will be found in the appendix in the sketch of Frémont’s

life: the concluding part reads as follows :—

“This country is called the Sheikawutty District, and if properly,

or ever moderately, cultivated, would yield seven lakhs’ revenue,

whereas it is not estimated al moro than three. Th is still populeus,

and the ruins of vast cities and towns dispersed through all our route,

convey a strong impression of former and vast opulence, Tut want

atares through every village, and while the little that the wretched

inbabitant of a hut possesses is subject to be wrested from him by

numerous bands of banditti on the one side, or by the oppressions of

his chief or his servants, ar both, cn the other, heaven lias afflicted

this unfortunate land with a drought of two years’ continuance. The

country is very monntainous, bub the valloys. notwithstanding the

niggardness of the elements, give still 2 display of verdure not to be

expected, and almost ineredible,

“We left the First Brigade with De Boigne at Rohtak on the 22nd

of June (1792). De Boigne was then just recovering from a dreadful

dysentery, which has deprived us of some of our officers, Colonel

Martine’s brother died at Jedger (Jhojjar ?), and Lieutenant Stewart

at Rolitak, the day prior to our mareh, und we eame at the vate of

eight and nine cos each day. Grain was nine secrs a rupee, and

coarse flour six pice the sear yesterday. It is now more moderate,

*Liqua Adda (Lakwa Dida} commands the division of Mahratta

Cavalry attached to this Brigade, He is a man of great respectability,

and a favourite of Seindia’s. The second in command is Jagge Cappoo

(? Bappoo) Dada, a man of ability and trust.

“De Roigne with his First Brigade is now at Ulwar, in the Mewatte

country, aboub fifty eos from Deli. The position of ony camp isin a

more westerly direction, but only fifty eos from Delhi, The country

is in such a state that subjection seems almost chronic; for plunder

ig the universal system, aud become so habitual os to be spoken of

with as much indifference as we talk of a purchase in a mereantile

way. As scon as a party has plundered a district, the plundered

directly tnake an incursion on their neighbours, and sa it continnes

with as great regularity as trado, only that it operates in the contrary

course, ruining lustead of supporting nature.
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“The superior politics, as you call it, has been come time out of

my way, or rather IT have been out of its way, on this active tour.

Scindia continues at Poonah, and a letter of yesterday from }e

Boigne (August 9th} mentions that he is not to he expected speedily.

Al Oojeen Major Palmer (the English Resident) has taken up partial

abode. He willmake it such so lung as tho subtle Mahratta continues

with the Peishwa. The sitnation is partienlarly favourable for keeping

the communication of correspondence complete between your presi-

denoy and our friends in this quarter. Tt keeps tho circle perfect, Tt

is certain that there had becu some seeret stroke in meditation be-

tween the British and the lately hostile Sultans: Almost Dutchlike

slowness nud Oriental indecision delayed the stroke till, ta use an ol

adage, the iran cooled. The opportunily is passed, and to prevent its

retiyn will be the true British policy. Various idcas are entertained

by the delay of Scindia. Ttha+ heen asserted in ovr earp that he

aimed at mucasures tending to fix acclaim to the Mogul iribute of two

and a half lakhs of rupees, agreed to be paid by the Company to the

Dewanni. Gut I can searcely eredit it, although I know that

Scindia’s power at Delhi is all, and that of the Mogul is nothing.

Beside, by the king's determination in {771 to reside at Delhi instead

of Allahabad, that claim was forfeited.

“Phe Sikhs hold the northern balance of India. Intrigue enonot

act on them from the unsettled nature of their living. But if Sciudia

had youth to reduce them, as lie has spirtl and resolution, their weight

would soon again restore the threne to the worshippers of the Hindoo

Theogony.”

During the period that De Boigue was raisiag the Sceond and Third

Brigades, and establishing his master’s authority, the enormous growth

of Sindhia’s power was being watched with rancorougs jealousy by

Takuji TWolkar, liz partner in the provines of Malwa, and his great

compeer in the Marithi Confoderation, Helkar had been associated

with Madhoji in the extension of the Marath’t power over Hindustan.

Politically the two were equal, and the furmer clung to his preseriptive

share in the conquoat with wreat tenacity. But Pitan aud Merta,and

the completion of De Boigne’s army, disturbed the balances of power,

and the shrewd and enterprising poliey of Sindhia outvan the slower

and more conservative course Uiat Tiolkar stecred, und carried him to

the front. Takiji realised this, and, in order to combat it, raised a

disciplined corps of his own. {ts organisalion was beeuu in 17UL, and

the Chevalier Dudrenec, a gallant Wrench gentleman, bat a singularly

unforlunate soldier, was chosen for ifs command,

* Tipti Salfan of Mysore.
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Had Holkar merely confined himeelf to the establishment of an

infantry brigade, modelled on the lines of De Boigne’s, Sindhia might

have regarded his endeavours with tolerabie indifference. Dut simul-

taneously cabals and intrigues were get on foot at the Peshwé’s Court

at Poonah, and every craft brought to bear to undermine Madhoji’s

influeuce. So successful were the conspirators that Sindlia soon

found it necessary to proceed to the capital to protect his own inte-

rests, and counteract the sehemes of lis onemies, The step was &

serious one, but the necessity was ercat; for Sindhia’s ambition com-

prehended au assertion of power, uot merely in Hindustan, but over

the whole of the Marith’ dominions, snd Holkar’s hostility neutra-

lised in the south all thet De Boigne’s snecesses had wrought in the

north.

Tlindustan was secure while De Boigne’s brigades held it in an iron

grasp, aud of this Madhoji felt satisiied. So he appointed Gopal Rao

Bhaeo his Viceroy, and prepared to start for Poonah. But in order to

allay suspicion he announced that the object of his journey was to

invest the Deshwa with the insignia of the office of Vahil-i-Mudlug,

or supreme deputy of the ompire, whieh had been confirmed on him

three years previously hy the Emperor, Moreover, with diplomatic

moderation, he confined his escort to a single buttalion (the one chosen

to accompany him being that commanded by Michael Filoze}, and a

bodyguard taised for the occasion by Coloucl John Hessing, who had

quarrelied with De Boigue after the battle of Patan, and resigned his

command. Tn the spring of 1793 Madhoji Sindhia commenced his

journey, and marching by slow stages arrived at Poonah on the llth

ot June following.



CHAPTER V1.

THE BATTLE OF LAKWAIRI, DEATH OF MADHOJI SINDHIA.

1793-1794.

HE departure of Madhoji Sindhia from Tindustan was the signal

for Takiiji Holkar io commence operations in that quarter. He

had long considered himself unjustly used by the small share awarded

him of the territory conquered from the Mughal, and his indignation

was greatly increased when he learnt that one of the principal objects

of Sindhia’s visit to Poonah was to procure the recall of his rival from

the conquered provinecs. This was not an unnatural step for Madhoji

to take. In the battles that had Jed.to the annosalion of Hindustan,

and tho subjugation of the Rajput States of Jaipur and Jodhpur,

Holkar had studiously, and en one notahle occasion, treacherously,

kept aloof; but, as not untrequently ocenrs, when the fehting was

over, hie desired to share the phiader. In Hindustan he had been less

insistent, or less successful, but be lad made up for tlis in Réjputana,

where he had carefully avoided conflict until Patan and Merta had

heen fought and won, when he sent bis troops across the Chambal,

pretended that in the division ef the spoils the tribute of Jaipur had

passed to him, and Jodhpur to Sindlia, and asserted his equal right

to oceupy, with Madhoji’s farces, the newly-anunexed territory of Ajmir.

This, of course, led to disagreemionte and difficulties; but, before draw-

ing his own sword, Holker sought for some ather instrament to use

against Sindhia, and in the restless and rebollions spirit of Ismail Beg

found the very weapon ho desired.

He at onee determined to meke a cat's-paw of the Mughal noble,

and push him forward to disburk the trunquillity of the new conquests,

trusting in any disturbance that ensued to find an opportunity to

further his own interests. A plausible chanee soon presented itself.

Befors the Marathé ocenpation of Delhi, one of the TMimperor’s most

trusted ministers had been a nobleman named Najaf Kuli Khan,

2B
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This person had reeently died, leaving a widow, who still maintained

her independence in the fortress of Kdnaund. Being a woman of

brave and masculine spirit, she refused Lo surrender hey stronghold to

Sindhia, and as such rebellious condiet could not be overlooked, ib

was deemed necessary to take forcible measnras to reduee hex to

stibmission, and De Boigne ovdered Major Perron to proceed against

Kinaund with a small force and capture it. Najaf Kuli Khan during

his lifetime had formed so high an estimate of the power of De Boiene’s

battalions, that previous Lo his death, although exhorting his Begum

to hold out resolutely against the Marathds, he advised hor to surrender

at onec if De Boiene’s troops were sent against her. With this warn-

ing fresh in her memory the widow was prepared to sne for peace,

but before she actually did so, Ismdit Beg, who had remained inactive

after lis dofeat at Pitan, instigated by Takiji Holkar, collected a

force, and, marching to Kanaund; persnaded the Begum to oppose

resistance.

A description of the battle which ensucd between Ismail Beg and

Perron’s forces will be found in the sketch of the latter's life, to which

it rightly belongs. Tlere if is snfiicient to record that the fort of

Kanaund was captured and the Begum billed, whilst Temail Beg, in

order to save himself from a shameful treachery premeditated against

him by the garrison, surrendered to Perron, under promise of his life

being spared. Directly Madhoji Sindhia heard that his old enomy

was at last in his power, he sent orders for his immediate execution,

but De Boigne chivalrously resisted the mundate, and saved the life of

the gallant but unfortunate noble, whose energy in the field and

heroic resistance to the invaders of bis) country was the one briglit

spot in tho miserable history of incapacity and defeat that brought

about the downfall of the Mughal Empire. Ismail Beg was sent as a

stato prisoner to Agra, where he was treated with the respeet due to

his rank and courage, and awarded a subsistenee of Rs,f00 4 month.

But his spirit was broken by his misfortunes, and he never lifted his

head again. He died in 1799, and with him passed away the last

worthy warrior thal sought to sustain the dynasty of Taimur in

independence on the tlirone.

The failure of Ismail Beg’s final effort left Holkar with only himself

to depend upon for the accomplishment of his hostile designs against

Madhojt, and it was not until the latter had procecded to the Decean,

in 1798, that he dared to bring matters to erisia, In July of that

year a rupture took place between his troops and those of Sindbia,

when the two factions were engaged in levying tribute in Réjputana.

A quarrel over the spoils of a certain district led to an appeal to arms,
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and this was at once followed by active preparations for war between

the two great rival chiefy.

Gopal Ito Blido, Madhoji’s Viceroy in HWindnatan, having summoned

Lakwa Dida and De Boigne to juin him, advanced against Holkar’s

army, which was in the vicinity of Ajmir. The litter endeavoure:L to

avoid a pitched battle, and some time was lost in marches and counter-

marches, but he was at length bronght to bay in the pass of Lakhairi

in Septembor, 1793.

Gopil Rio's army consisted of 20,000 horse, and De Boigne’s First

Brigade of 9,000 infantry, with $0 guns, whilst Molkar brought into

the field 80,000 cavalry, and lis four newly-raised regular battalions

under the command of the Chevalier Dudrenee. De Boigne, on whom

the command devolved, found the enemy strongly posted in a defile in

the hills, where the nature of the ground was such that only a very

small force could be utilised in attack. The battle that ensued has

been deseribed by the General as the mostobstinate and bloody one

he was ever engaged in. He began the action by sending forward

three battalions of infantry and 00 Rohillas to storm the narrow,

wooded pass which Jed to the enemy's position, Dut searcely had

these advanced than a terrible disaster overtook bis main body. A

chanee shot struck an open tumbril of ammunition and exploded it,

and this was immediately followed hy the explosion of twelve others

standing near. The catastrophe threw the Brigade into tle greatest

alarm and confusion, but fortunately, owing to the wooded and hilly

vature of the country, Holkar’s Cavalry were unable to take full advan-

tage of it. ‘With the wonderful presence of mind and resource in

moments of crisis that never failed lina, De Boigne retrieved the

disaster. Returning to his main body he collected and reformed tlie

broken soldiery in time to mect the onslaught of the enemy's cavalry,

who, as soon as they came under his dire began to waver, De Boisme

then ordered his regular horse forward, and leadine them in person,

attacked the hesituting foe, and turned a doubtful day into a complete

victory.

The punishment of the battle fell on the Chevalier Dudrenec’s corps,

These were unable to keep up with the cavalry in their rapid flight,

and in self-defence faced ronnd and attempted to stent the pursuit,

With the utmost determination and gallantry tiey contested the

ground until they were practically annihilated. Ducdrenee alone

escaped unhurt, every Europoan ofiicer in his forec being killed

or wounded, whilst thirty-eight of his guns were captured. Tie

shattored wreck of Holkar’s army made a precipitate flight neross the

Chambal into Malwa, where their prinec, in impotent rage, swooped

down upon Sindhia’s undefended capital of Ujjain and sacked it,
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The battle of Lakhairi decided for seven yrars the doubtful contest

that had hitherto smouldered between the houses of Ujjaia and Tndore.

It made Sindhie the sole master of the Marath’ acquisitions in Hin-

dnstan, and humbled the pride if it did not actually break the heart of

Takijt Tolkar, who never showed fight again, and diced four years

later. The one redceming feature of the defeat was the valour dis-

played by the Chevalier Dudrenee’s disciplined brigade. Shart-lived

and ill-fated though it had been, it had still proved ifs worth, and

shortly afterwards Holkar was indueed by this officer to vaisc another

eorps on similar lines,

Vhe quarrel between Sindhia and Holkar, and the abseuce of the

former from Hindustan, now prompicd Parti) Sing of Jaipur to

throw off the yoke of a tributary and declare his independence. We

was aruler not wanting in spirit, nor deficient in judgment, but on

this occasion his conduct was both impolitic and pusillanimous, for he

lacked the courage and the energy to carry into effect a determination

he had arrived at too hastily. No sooner was De Boigne informed

of Partib Sing’s refusal to pay his tribnte, than, with his usual

vigour and promptitude, he marched from Lakhairi to Jaipur. The

Rijah fell back before him, and shut bimeclf up in bis capital, and at

the last moment, rather than sustain a siege, tendered Jis submission

and paid the fine demanded of nearly a million sterling.

Matters being thus seitled Partib Singh invited De Tioigne to his

capital, and entertained him in a style of unparalleled magnificence.

From Jaipur the General marehked his Brigade back to the Doab,

stopping on the way to visit the Rajah of Ulwar at Macheri. Frere

he narrowly escaped assassination whilst. attending the chief's durbar.

During the ceremony one of the RAjah’s attendants, approaching his

master, asked, in a whisper, if he would authorise tle assissination of

be Boigne, which could be accomplished when he was leaving the

palnce. To his credit, be it recorded, the Prince of Ulwar recoiled in

hotror from the foul suggestion, and in consequence no attempt was

made to carry it out. De Boigne’s Vakil overheard the proposal,

which was whispered in a vernacular the General did not understand,

and communicated if to him, but De Boigne not ouly made no eaim-

ment, but never ulluded to the incident in any way afterwards.

De Boigne had now reached the zenith of bis greatness, and when

he returned to Delhi at the head of his victorious army, lie was the

autocrit of Hindustan. He had vanquished all Sindlia’s enemies,

and there was not one left that dared to so much as raiso a hand.

The power of Holkar was broken, and the rebellious spirit of Rajputana

reduced, whilst Delhi was humbled to the position of a city occupied
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by an enemy. Shah ‘Alaiu, the blind Mimperor, was sullered to exist—~

a mere symbol of authority. -in order that the fiction of governing in

his name might be preserved. All the power lay im De Loigne’s hands,

for Gopal Raéo had recently been suspected by Sindhia of participation

in the hostile intrigues of Nana Farnavis, aud deposed from his office

of Viecroy of Hindustan, which was conferred upon De Boigne, with

whom the Bhio, in lis misforlunes, had taken refuge, and by whom

he was protected, even as Ismail Gee liad been, from the malice of a

wanton and cruel revenge.

With Sindhbia De Boigne was paramonuut, for the Maratha Chief

although weneherous by nature and suspicious by disposition, trusted

his European Gencral implicitly, and treated him as houourably as he

trusted him. Never did any Furopean gain from a native prince such

confidence and esteem as De Boigne won from Madhoji, who frequently

remarked {bat though he owed hisbeing and his heritage to his father,

ib was De Boigne who tanght him how to enjoy the one, and make

use of the other. Assuredly this was the case, for it was De Boigne’s

battalions "before whose bayonels terror recoiled, aud whose grape

senttercd aymics in flight” that raised up Sindlia to his supreme

position, and kept him there,

That De Boigne was worthy of the great respotsibilities to which

he was called, history bears witwess: Although surrounded by temp-

tations which appealed to his ambition, his vanity, and lis cupidity,

he never abused his opportmiilies, but, on the contrary, wade the neble

use of them, that stamps hinas a good as well asa great nan. Tn

the exalted rank he had attained, the power for evil was as potent as

the power for good, and he ehese to exert the lather. Foremosi in

war, he was also foremost in peace, and the welfare and social nuprove-

ment of those he ruled, were his sinecre ain Ti battle lis fearless

courage and nilitary genius inspired with eoniidence the ignorant and

barbarous peoples lic trained to arms, but when the fight was finished

lie tempered the brutality of the tines by an cxereise of humunity

that mude its mark on the decade. The ferocity of war, and the

savage reprisals of victory were curbed by the enforcement of a rigid

discipline ; and slaughier, devastation, and raping were sternly re-

pressed. He never suffered tho disgrace of defeat, and he never

penuitted the greater moral disgrace that too often atiached to the

unlicensed execsses of conqucst in the East. Loyal as he was to

Sindhia, he was eqnelly loyal to his own sense of rectitucle, and fcared

not to champion the claims of lvuuanity when the occasion arose.

Often did he stand between Madhoji and the hasty wrath that would

have been guilty of a mean or wicked action, shielding those whom
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the despotism of an Oriental revenge threatened, until the fierce storm

of passion had passed and justice was allowed to resume its sway.

That De Boigne could so act, and did so act, and yet to the last

retained his master’s esteem and confidences, proved that his moral

victories were even greater than thoso which he won with his sword,

From June, 1793, to February, 1794, Madhoji remained at Poonah,

endeavouring to gain over the young Peshw4, and cireumvent the

crafty machinations of his many enemies at Court. The signal defcat

of Holkar at Lakhairi made the task even more difficult than before,

for the universal jealousy it aroused increased Sindhia’s unpopularity

in the Deccan: capital, whilst his schemes were too ambitious to find

immediate adherents. The time passed in intrigue and counter

intrigue, plot and countcr plot, until at last his efforts began to be

rewarded, and the young Peshwé, chafing under the austere direction

of Nana Farnavis, evinced a decided inclination to throw off the yoke

and submit himself to the more attractive guidance of his great

vassal. Madhoji was rough, bué he waa genial, and he cloaked his

shrewdness under ap upparently open and hearty nature. There was

a certain freedom in his manner which was attractive, and he

assiduously labonred to please. It almost seemed as if the same

good iortune that had crowned his arms in the north was going to

crown his diplomacy in the south, when, in this moment of success,

there came a sudden swwumeons to bim-—a sumuions that kings and

subjects alike must obcy, and which shetters all hopes and ambitions,

even as it terminates all fears and snfferings. Larly in February

1794, the old Patél, whilst residing at Wanaoli, near Poorsli, was

seized with a violent fever, and on the twelfth of the month, in the

sixty-fourth year of his age, Madhoji Sindhis, the greatest prince,

with the oxception of Sivaji, that the Marathi nation ever produced,

breathed his last.

Gifted with great political sagaciiy, skilled in artifice, and a master

of intrigue, Madhoji’s schcmes were ainbitious, but practicable. Had

he lived there is little doubt but that he would have fulfilled a portion,

at least, of the task Le set himself, ond founded an independent

dynasty which might have claimed a place by the side of the greatest

in India, His military talents were of the first rank, and he was not

less a greabl statesman than a great soldier. It was the combination

of the highest qualities of cach that enabled him to reecgnise the

merits of De Goigne aud udapt them to his purpose. Boldly breaking

free from the trammels of long-cstablshed custom, he superseded an

untrained multitude with a comparatively small, but compact and

highly disciplined army, which formed a powerful weapon in his
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hands. His enterprise met wilh ils due reward, for it raised him up

to a position which kuew no compeer, and feared no rival. ‘The

fighting machine he called into existence made him invincible.

Before his death, in addition to lis vast possessions in Central India

and Malwa, sevoss tho Chambal Bij putana was bis vassal, and

Hindusian his awn. From the Deccan in the south to the Siwaitke

in the north, from the vulley of the Ganges in the east to the deserts

of Bikanir in the west, ihe sway of the old Patél was wndisputed.

The kingdom he left bchind-him was the most powerful in all India,

and it owed its circumstance not less to the statesmanship of Madhoji

Sindhia than to the battalions of Benoit De Boigne.



CHAPTER VII

ACCESSION OF DAULAT RAO SINDHIA. DE BOIGNK RESIGNS HIS COMMAND.

1794-8,

ADHOJI SINDHIA left uo children, and was succeeded by his

grand nephew, Daulat Reo Sindhia, a youth of fifteen, whu was

entirely under the influence of a crafty Brahmin named Baloba

Tautia, whom he appointed his minister. Tantia, in common with

most of the leading Martha chieftains, was inimical to De Boigne,

and jealous of his enormous power. Tut it was impossible to altempt

any change in the complicated military and politieal machine that

controlled Hindustan, and the General was confirmed in the conmuand

of the army, the guardianship of the Emperor's kingdom, and the

government of all the Maratha possessions north of the Chambal.

On his acecssion Daulat Rao Sindhia decided to romain at Poonah

und continue his uncle’s policy, which had been directed towards the

altuinment of a preponderating influence at the Court of the Peshwa.

His position was soon considerably strengthened by the arrival of

Te Boigne’s First Brigade, under the command of Major Perron,

which had been ordered down to the Deccan by Madhoji shortly

before his death. This secured the young chicf a# force suilicient to

awe the Poshwa, and assure the ascenaancy of his own views. More-

over, about the same time Hessings’s and FUoze's corps were con-

siderably augmented.

On the death of his old master De Goigno’s conduct was governed

hy those principles of honouy and reetitude which distinguished his

whole career, So great was his power that it is no exaggeration to

say he might have made Hindustan his own; but the temptation was

rejected, and the soldier of fortune who had so loyally served Madhoji

Sindhia wavered not for an instant in his allegiance to the boy prince

who succeeded him.

Often throughout his career had De Boigne been fhe recipient of

tempting overtures from neighbouring powers, who sought to delach

80
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him from the Maratha’ interest, and seeure his serviees for them-

selyes, and many of these offers were now repeated. Shah ‘Alam,

who in lis impotent blindness and degrading confinement, still

hugged the delusion of majesty, propascd to confer on De Baigne

the hich office of Wuztr, if ie would employ lis Brigades in restoring

no independent Mughal Miupire. Zemin Shab, the king of Cabul,

sent his ambassadors to the Gencral, with offers so dazzling, that they

amounted to an equal share in lis throne if De Boigne would set up

the dominion af the Abdali in Iidia. Pat these and many other

overtures were all declined, and De Boigne remained truce to the

young master of the louse he had sv long served, and whose forlunes

he had raised to such a commanding eminence in the community of

Indian nations.

Tt was a noble decision that recognised the pnth of duly so clearly

and followed it so unhaltingly. Ierit was the decision of a proud,

ambitions man in the flood tide of lnis-successtul earcer, on whose

actions no restraint was placed save that of conscienee. De Loigne

was al this time but forty-three years old, and in tho very prime of

life, and there was afforded to him a possibility of obtaining indepen-

dent sovercion power. But he rejected the temptation ; and in the

vrermuneiation there was a finer ercdit than apy which the grandeur of

an usurped crown could lave conferred.

Upon the accession of Denlat Ruy bindhia De Boigne’s over-

whelming strength enabled Lim to keep the peace in Hindustan, and

overawe those projected rebellions against existing authority which

always follow the succession of Oriental rulers, Three amall ont-

breaks occurred at Datia, Narwir, and Sohiwalearh, but were

specdily suppressed by Majors Ttimont, Sutherland, and Gardner,

who were severally detached to reduce the refractory chiefs implicated.

With these exceptions no record exists of any extensive military

operations undertaken north of the Charabal, during the period that

intervened between Madhoji Sindhia’s death, and the Gencral’s de-

parture for europe.

3nt alfhough his sword was allowed to rest in its sheath, there were

many civil and politieal duties which claimed De Boigne’s ationtion

ab this time, and two of thein are cepecially interesting. One was

the condition of the Pf at Aura, the other the cireumstances of the

Emperor Shah ‘Alam. An inicrest in both matters was evinecd by

Colonel John Murray, an officer of the Company holding a high

post under Government at Calentia, who, on the 28nd of Fchimary,

1794, wrote to De Boigne, inquiring if any steps were being tiken La

preserve the nriqne mausolenni raised to Munvtas-i-Malil at Agra,

6
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and stating that ‘he had repeatedly heard that this monument of

Eastern magnificence and refinement was likely to fall soon into

irrevocable decay, woless means were taken willout loss of time to

prevent it.”

De Loigne, in reply to this inquiry, wrote :—“ I have been honoured

wilh your kind favour of the 22nd ultimo, whieh has given me much

pleasure in finding myself noted by you, and thought capable of

effccting the liberal views and honourable wishes yon have in the

preservation of the Tage.” Ho then went on to state that he had

already once or twiee spoken to Madhoji Sindhia on the subject of

preserving the mausvleuin “ but he did not appear to value more than

tho richness of the material.” A small allowance had becn sunctioned

for the expenses of keeping it in good repair, “ but the avarice and

parsimony of the Windoo caste in general, and the Mahrattos in

particular, as also their abhorrence of ali that is Mahomedan will for

ever impede the application of the wllowanee to its real purpose...

I sball certainly usc my lest endeavours, and take advantage of the

little influence I have with the Prineo, to have the allowance already

made, applied to the repairs of if, and if possible to have something

more added to it, if the former is thought insufficient... . Was ever

Secindia endowed with those neble principics yon possess, and which

guide your actions in this dese of yours, yet the Pundits, who have

the management of all business at Courl, will never put aside the old

way of embezzling the half of what is to pass by their hauds, which is

so familiar in every transaction, that it ig not thought so much as ta

take any notico of if... . If Tam so happy as to meet with success

in my exertions fo execute your conunands, that honour shall be

yours, and positively to you alone shall be indebted for the pleasure

they shall enjoy in the admiration of that superb monument. If

otherwise, and thut the decay of it cannot be much retarded, you shall

have the self-satistuetion of having wished and donc your utmosi for

its preservation, and I, at your request, to have followed your steps in

that noble carcer. Lequesting the favour to be at all times honoured

with your conamands, and with a place in your acquaintance, permit

me to be, with unfeigned regard, Sir, your most obedient and very

humble servant, Br, Ds Boienn.”

The “ Dream in Marble” still stauds to witch all pilgrims to Agra

with ita exquisite beauty. Tt’s eostly splendour may be estimated

from the fact that upon this single edifice over three million pounds

sterling were oxpended, anc this, foo, in a country where labour was

the cheapest item in building work. - Té is formed of the finest white

marble injaid with precions stones, and although bearing many marks
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of Vandal Maratha hands, still the 2’7/ exists in allits original exquisite

symmetry of form. 1'or their shure in its preservation posteriky uwes

a debt of gratitude to Colonel John Murray and Benoit De Boigne.

Colonel Murray was evidently enconraged by the tone of Do

Boigne’s Jotter to address him on another subject which he had at

heark. This was the ill-treatment the Mmperor Shah ‘Alam was

experiencing at the bands of his Marfitha sppointed custodian

Nizam-ul-Din. This ntan wis by profession a Dervish, and often

alluded to as the “ Cowric Vather,” from the circumstance that alms

in the shape of Cowres, or shells (the lowest form of currency in

Todia), were often thrown to fatirs of his persuasion. Writing on

the 10th of October, 1794, Colone) Murray thanks De Boiene for the

attention paid to his letter regarding the preservation of the Taj, and

now begs to enlist bis sympathios on behalf of the blind Emperor,

asking him “ to use his pious endeavours to mitigate the snfferings of

this fallen and ill-used family,” and enclosing the followiug extract

from a letier, written by a friend of De Deigne at Delhi, to a corre-

spondent in the Company’s service :—

“Scindia sets Shah Nizam-ool-Deen over the Badshaw as the

greatest scoundrel they could find. Fle does not give a farthing of

money to the Badshaw, or any of lis people, affecting to console the

poor old king that it is all the better for him, as no temptation can

remain for another Gholam Cadiz to seme upow him for the sake of

plunder. Regularly every day he furnishes the old King with two

seera (4 lbs,) of pillaw and sight seers of moal for himeelfto get cooked

ag he likes. ‘l'his, with two loaves of bread, about the length each of

a cubit, to suffies for breakfast, dinner, and supper, and Le may get

masdla (spices and condiments) where he can. ‘This, however,

though it ig to serve for five persons, and the poor servants who can

pick at it a bit afterwards, is living in clover in comparison with the

rest of the Royal MHousehold. They, poor creatures, without dis-

tinction, Princes and Princesses, nay {)necns and all eunuchs and

female slaves, have exactly delivered oul to them to bake into cakes

two scers o day of barley four for every three of them, which they are

to bake for themselves, and are thus afforded two-thirds of a seer of

food a day. Vor liquors, from the King to the tumapit, they have

nothing but water. The King's quincuucial party at dinner every day

18 mnade out of himself and his doctor, his son and heir, and « little

favourite daughtcr, and the mighty boon of being one at this fine

extra fure is fairly allotted to his 200 Begins, one after another in

turn; so that of the poor Queens each las a prospect, of what to them,
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after their miserable fare, must be a high treat indeed, a dinner and

ahalfa year! T asked if the old gentleman would vot wish to regale

himself with beef uow and then ? Yes, he longs for it, bus where is

he to get it? Tho servants offen apply in vreat misery to the

nofeeling father (Nizauu-ool-Deen) for a little wages, when, after

having been three or four months without a farthing, he wil perhaps

only bestow on them three or four annas, on another perhaps as much

as eight annas. The old Nizam (of Hydrabad) sent the King six years

ago 6,000 gold mohnra. ‘hey every farthing got into the Cowvie

Father’s hands, and remain there!”

Such was the pitiful condition to which the Emperor of Hindustan

was reduced whon Colonel John Murray, impelled by a feeling of

lumanity, wrote to De Boigue, It was not until the month of March

in the following year that the lattcr replied to the letter, for it veached

lim during a time when he was prosirated with illness, and incapa-

cilaied from work. Pui as 6000 as le had recovered, and insti-

tuted the necessary inquiries, he sent the following answer to Colonel

Murray, dated from Koil, the 12th of Mareh, 1795 -—

“Dear Sir,—I can’t but with propriety begin by roaking you

strong and warm apologies for my having been so long in acknow-

ledging your kind favour last received in its due time, and delivered

te me by Lieutenant Robert Murray. De pleased to believe, my dear

siv, that the cause don’t come from any neglect or forgetfulness. Too

proud in the honour of your remembrance and correspondence, I

have had so bad a state of lealth for these six months, that with the

greatest difficulties have I been able lo atiend in part to the dutics of

my station, which, indeed, are too great to leave me a moment's

quietness of mind or body. On that account, and confiding in your

kindness and liberality, I have some hope that you'll Le pleased to

forgive mo,

“Tn regard to your observations of the King Shah Allum and

family’s situation, they are but too right. However, not quite 30 bad

ag by the paper you have been pleased to send me, the author having

somewhat cxaggerated or been misinformed. Could the ok] man

know the interest you take in bis misfortunes, which are great indecd,

he could not but admire the goodness and sensibility of your heart,

which is above all praise; and myself, as if informed with your

liberal intentions, feel as you do for the unfortunate. I have been for

near these two yeara past endeavouring to alleviate the miseries of

that family, and have been perhaps rather troublesome to the late
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Madhajec Scindia in that respect. 1 will not dispnise thai the prin-

cipal motives of uy cxertious Were vel BO pure as yours, they being

rMther intended to the repittition of ihe prince, my master, and

perhaps iny own, knowing tliat the king’s miseries could nob but

tarnish it in the eyes of the world. Le always proiwised me that at

his return in Industan be would certainly attend to my application in

ameliorating big situation, und had he hved no doubt something

would have been done. After his death [ have continued ny impor.

tunities to the young prince, whieh has occasioned, as you may have

heard, some advanecs to the Soubabdar of Delhy, Shawjee, that l’akir

having been obliged to pay lately 150,000 rapees, which the Mahratta

chiefs have taken from him without the kine’s benclitting hy it,

except abont 25,000 in nuzzars und goods presented to him. At the

same time it has been settled that the former, or present allowance

of the king, should be increased Ly 5,00U rupecs a month, A few

villages have been ceded in Jayhker to somo of tho Begums and Vrin-

cesses, aud I have put myself Mirza Akber Shah’s eldest sou tu

possession of a provinces enlled Notte Kassin, producing aboub 80,000

rupecs per anntun, which he held also in Jaghér before the lite

troubles in Indostan, All this, which is net much, has been done

now, aud not, IT assure you, without my encountering the greatest

difficulties, the present government und the Malratta chicls having

not the simallest mtcention or wish to ameliorate the situation of that

poor ell mun; and it may be extd the little already done to have

been done entively by deference to him than to the King—-whieh

brings us to say, GO! Temporal OF Mores! ‘The province in Shawjee's

possession intonded for the support of the royal fauily may produce

ubout seven lakhs per ara. Should that sum be employed to that

purpose, it would be quite, if not nbave, snfficient. Lut Shawjee, xs

a Fakir, takes the greatest part of it for Limeclf, and a great deal

must be given Lo the Mahratta clicis, to Lo supported and continued

in bis office. Who is not aequatnted porfectly with the Mabratle

charneter -particularly the Pundihs- can have uo iden of their

avatice dud inscusibility aud bad fnith. Ft amuy be said they have

all the viees known, without any of the virtues, which gives renson to

suppose that the Manpire is soon to fall Bemy forced, against my

wish, to enter tito all the details of govermuent since tle deabh of

Maudhajee Shah, L luwve the opportunity lo know thom better than |

have been able to learn in ton years befure.

“ Being so fur adyaneed in your wishes aud yood intentions in regard

of that miserable family, I shall continue to caploy my best excrtions,

and the little influence J have in the Government, to do what may put
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them out of physical want, and which 50,000 rupees a month will

entirely do. Where so fortunate, 1 shall with » heartfelt satisfaction

give you due intimation of it, persuaded that it will be on enjoyment

to you,

‘** Do me the honour of your remembrance and of your commands.

My punctuality in the exeeutiou of them will prove te you my being

with regard and estesrr,

“Your most humble and very obedient servant,

, “Br, Du Lorexe,”

Ta this letter it is important to note De Boigne’s epening statement

regarding bis ill health, for the time was now approuchivg when

its continuance obliged him to resign his post, although other reasons

were advanced for his retirement. The letter is pervaded with a

gpirit of modesty, alnost approaching humility, which 10 English

ears sounds strangely, whch coming from one who wielded such

bumense power as the writer, A great-deal of this is, no doubt, to

be traced to what has been conventionally termed “ French polite-
ness,” and it certainly would not bave been so noticeable if the letler

had been expressed in French. ts whole tone conveys indisputable
evidenes of the cordial tecling existing betweon De Boigne and the

East India Company, and te establishment of a friendly correspou-

dence bebween him and one of the leading Government officials at

Caleutta.

Itis not improbable that it.was this established and friendly com-

ninnication which gave rise to an incident that occurred ahout this
time, and requires special mention; fer ii illustrates the remarkable

consolidation of De Boigne’s power, and adds a crowning prestige to

his career. In 1795 a mutiny broke ont amougst the officers of the

Company's army in Bengal, due to circumstances into which it is not

necessary to enter here, and in this emergency either the Governor:
Genoral Sir John Shore applied to De Boigue for usgistance, or it was

offered spontaneously. Colouel Meadows Tayler, in his adinirable

history, states that the Company was the applicant, Lut from Lord

Coruwallts’s correspondence it would appear thatin the first instance
the offer came from De Leigne. Th matters litle which, for the fact

remains that a cavalry reciment, officered by Enropeang, was placed

at the disposal of the Governor-General, No incident in De Boigue’s

life is so simuifivant as this, aud yet, with cusiumary indifference to

all matters relating to independent military adventure in the East,
it is loft unmentioned by many of the historians of Iudia, and slurred

over by nearly all the rest. But it was assuredly no slight cireum:
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slanco that, ia a serious crisiy of its alfairs, tho Great Company

Bukadur acocpted from this Soldicry of fortune assistance with

which to quell a mutiny in its own army, and found it accorded with

& promptitade which testified both to De Goigne's power and his

-friendly disposition towards the English.

Although Hindustan was peacetul, tronblo svon broke out in the

Docean, where a demand for Chow, oy trilute, by tho Marithés led
to a war botween them and Nizam Ali Khan, of Hnidarabad, D0

Boigue's First Brigade, under Major Verron, wis ordered by Sindbia

ty co-operate with the Peshw4’s forees, and mainly through its instr.

inentality 2 great victory was gained by the Mardthas on the Lith of

March, 1796. A detailed account of the contest wil] be found recordcd

in the life of Perron. Althougli the actual loss on the field was slight,
Kardla (or Poxinda, as it in sumetines called) was ono of the mest

noteworthy battles of the period, nob auly from its results, but because

of the number of disciplined and aropean-led truops engaged in it

These umounted to nearly 40,000 mon, ardincluded on tho side of the

Maritbis De Boigno’s First Brigade, the independent corps of John

Hessing and Michael iiloze, the former by this lime increased to four

aud the latlor to six battalions, auil the Chovalioy Dudronee’s brigade,

which wus contributed by Hoikar. Gu the side of the Nizam there

were eleven battalions ef Colone] Vayiiond’s army, and the indepen-

dent corps of Majors Loyd and Wiuglass. With the exception of

Lakhairi, which bove very much the aspect of civil war, Kardla was

the only occasion on which the native powors of India employed

largo bodies of trained infantry amd Buropean tactic in their contests

with one another, and iho vitlory, gained chiefly by De Boigne’s

battalions, over an cnemy similualy armed, drilled, aud commanded,

and adiuirably handled, added vory considorably 1o tho reputation of

the famons Brigades of Windustun.

Bat Bards did more than this. 1t coulirmed a disposition which

many of the Mayitha chiefs had long evineed for ontertaining discip-

lined bodies of regular infantry, aud hercalter most of hom are found

employing corps trained and commanded by Maropeans. Eothar

increased his establishment by (he addition of two brigades, under

Majors Phiuet and Williaa Gardner, Major W. UL. Cone was ordered

to raise a foree for the Peshwa, inte whose serviea Major Boyd also

entered. Gikwa bitde engaged Caplain Lntlertehl amd the younger

Sangster for a similar purpose, and Amubaji Gyslia commissioned

James Shepherd aud Joseph Lellasis, both excellent oficers, and

worthy of a better muster, to dill buttaliuns for him. Appa Khandi

Rio was singularly fortunate im securing such « cummandur as
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George Thomas, Ali Bahadur, of Bundelkhand, and Naghoji

Bhonsla, of Berar, each liad their trained battalious, and Daulat Rao

Sindhia, in addition to the formidable arniy created by De Boignc,

entertained no legs than four other independent corps under the

eomuands of Colonels John Hessing, and Michacl Viloze, Captain

Brownrige, and Coloncl Saleur, who was at the head of the Begun

Somru’s contingenl. Within five yeurs a couplete change took place

in the various armies of the Marith’ Confederation, and the Western

- system of military organisation superseded the old native method.

No chief of importanee considercd bis arniy complete unless it con-

dained disciplined infantry and European officers.

In the face of this almost universal adoption of the Kuroepean

system if is strange to find that tho tunovation proved of doubtful

advantage. Meenlar corps weve delicate machines, requiring special

knowledge and expert handling to keep them in order. They were

apt to become dangerous fo those who employed them when not

punetually paid and properly controlled, The radieal changes their

introduction brought about in Maratha warfare were not suited lo

the national character of the people. Whe Marathis were essentially

cavalicra, fitted only for predatory eumpaigns. Rapid retreats formed

as important an element iv the evonomy of their operations, as daring

jueursions, and a horse was & sine yet now for any display of confi-

dence and courage, of which they possessed but a very moderate

share. The introduction of iufantry aud artillery invelved pitched

battles, and afforded no scope for those marvellously quick, and hence

demoralising advances, and those equally swift strategic movements

to the rear, which distinguished the wild Deccan horseman of the

past. The result was that before long the Marithis, as a nation,

began to lose that which they could least spare—their conrage, and

also much of their former mobility, and confidence in distant enter-

prises, And there were those who prophecied that the very innuva-

tions which bad created Madhoji Sindhia’s power, would in the end

prove the run of his race, Colonel James Skinner describes au

ineident which admirably ilistrates this distrust of the new uulitary

policy. When Daulat Rao Sindhia gave orders for the erection of a

permanent Cantonment at Ujjain, Gopii Rac, who liad been restored

to favour after Madhoji’s deuth, and was now Comumtander-in-chief of

the Marathi army (1 term used it theso pages to distinguish the

natioual cavalry from the mercenary trained infantry), anade a strik-

ing remark in open Durbar, “Our fathers,” he said, “the first

founders of the Marfitha power, mude their houses on the baeks of

horses; gradually the house came to be made of cloth, and now you
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are making ioef mad. Tuke carc that in a shart tinte ié does not

turn to mud, aud is never built again.’ Dalat Itao Sindhia laughed,

and replied, “ Who is there dare oppose me so long as I have my

jntuntry and guas 2?” “ Beware,” answered the old Maratha geveral,

‘ibis those very infantry ani guuy which will be your rnin.”

A similar prediction came from a seuree even move ilugtricu-. by

& speech in the House of Commons Sir Philip Frances quoted an

opiuion on this point passed by Wiwren Ilastings. “ Sir,” said the

great Pvo-Consul to hina, “ the danger you ulinde lo in the progress

the Marithis are making in ihe art of casting cannon, in the usc and

practice of artillery, und in the discipline of their armics is bnaginary.

The Marathas can never be foriuidable to us in the field on the prin-

etples of an Lgropean ary, They wre porsuing 9 scheme in whieh

they can never succeed, and by doing suo they detuch theiusclves from

theiv own plain of warfare, on which alone, if they actod wiscly, they

would place Qependence.” A situiliur opinion was expressed by the

Duke of Wellington.

But history proves that the Mariiliuis, ar at least the merecniries

they employed, could be, and were, formed into excellant arnues,

drilled and disciplined to a high state of eflicieney. Neyerthcless,

Warren Llashings’ condenmiution of thoi anwisdom in dcserling their

own inilitary system found ample ilusteation in the Vindurt Wars,

and in Taswarl and Ascaye: Lhe yenins of De Boigne, whilst it

transformed savage irreguiury ito stayuch atd disciplined soldiery,

created an cnormous standing ariny, that vaiscd the fear and jealousy

of the English, and proved a vulnegable body, expablo of Leiug

attacked and lronght to bay. Tt was tinable fo elude flight as the

mounied Marithé hordes of the past had done, aud as Jaswant Iao's

Pindaris were yet ayain to de, and when it passed nader the com-

mand of a leader who lacked the pulitieal prudence of De Boigne, it

heeame a menace, aud by courting te very danger he warned it

againal, met the doa the vroybeards uf the nation predicted.

Kardla was the dust battle in which De Doigne’s Brigades were

engaged curing the period of his cunuusnd. Towards the ent of

1702 hig health began to fail aud his coustitution tu show signs of

yielding to the enormous strain unposed upon ib Rest and chanse

of elanate were buperative. Wor cighteon iaibreoken years he bad

labowed under an Indian sau. Vhere esisted Jor hin no show:

fanned Simla, no breezy Utakaiund, wicre ho might snatch anal

repricves from the furnace blasis of the plats. Jimaginue a modern

Tudian Viceroy spending eighteen years in ile pluing! Coneeru a

contemporary commanderin-chicl econpleting vighteen anan tours
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of inspection without a holiday fo the Hills. Yet this was what De

Boigne had done. Liltle wonder thal the time had arrived when he

felt bo must relinyuish the reins of power, or risk thoir dropping from

stiffened fingers, never to be picked wp again. It has been asserted

that lhe resiencd his post because some fancied storm was brewing,

aud that lis departure was the result of a prudent discretion. Lut

what storm conld have shaken the foundations of the power that

absolutely ruled Winduslao? VPerron—base, braggart Verron—

boasted in after years that by his intrigues he had compelled his

general fo resien, Dut to this vainglorious assertion the lie is given

in a Ictter written to De Loigne by Daulat Rao Sindhia within a few

mouths of their parting, “ You are the pillar of my State, the right

arm of my victory,” runa a passage in it; “ your presence is required

in my councils and iny Drigades. Come, with ull speed. Without

fail. It is my order and my petition to you.”

All suggested reasons for De Goigne’s resignation may be disinissed

savo the one that really ocensioned it—lis broken health. It was not

without u deep regret that he bowed to the inevitable nocessity, and

asked to be relieved of his commuind. At first Daulat Rao Sindiia

refused his consent, or to allow lis genoral to depart. Lut De Doigne

persisted, and sunction was unwillingly accorded on the understanding

that if his health was re-established by a change to Europe he would

relurh and resume his post. His partiug admonition to the Prinee

was to avoid all contest with the English, and disband his battalions

rather than excite their jealousy, or risk a war with them.

And thus it eame to pass that in December, 1795, the curtain drew

up on the last scene of the romantic draiua of Indian iiilitary

adventaire which ihese pages have attempted to depich, and on the

plain of Agra, where seven years belore he lad fougl:t that stubborn

battle which won an empire for Madhoji Sindhia, De Toigne paraded

his battalions in review for the last time.

It was no ordinary occasion that witnessed tho sulemmn parting

between the chief and the army of his creation, ‘The seciic is one ima-

giuation can help to depicl. The General, tall, gaunt, and martial, lis

rugged features showing signs of failing health, is seated on his charger.

He watches with sadness in his piercing eyes lis veteraus passing

before him for the lust time. Whe sword, that has so offen fed the way

to victory, now, «nd for the first tite, trembles in bis hand as he brings

it bo the salmte. Rank after rank, regiuent afler regiment, file past,

of dusky Asiaties who deem this man their God, and cannot com-

prebend why he should leave them now. Lefore him they would

suot them $lves down, and pressine their foreheads to lis fect, call
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him “ Padher,’ and appeal to Lim to stay, but for that stern dix-

cipline which he has tanght them, and which bids thein to face

neither to right nor to left, but march obediently on.

And he who watches them? What stirring memories the sight of

those verried ranks must have aroused! What ghosts of dead soldiers,

perchance, stalked after them, summoned by that last reveellé from

their forgotten sepulchres in the wiud-ewept deserts of Rajputana,

the sultry plains of Central India, or the fertile valleys of the Green

DoAbf And, ah! what spectre hosts of slaughtered foemen—gallunt

Mughals and chivalrous Hajputs, fiereo ohillus and stubborn Jits—

could have erept into the presence of that ercat white chicf, had he

possessed the power to call the dead from their graves, In the

accomplishment of his high eareer there was much to rejoice over,

inuch to be proud of; but tire course of conquest is marked by many

monuments, and there arc those which are crowded with the records

of the dead, as well as those which commeorate the achievenents

of the living.
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DE BOIGKTE, RETURNS TO EUNOVE,- -1s MARRIAGE, OLD AGE, AND DEATH,

1796-1830,

N Christmas Day, 1795, De Boigne left Koil under escort of his

bodyguard, and set out for the Coinpany’s territory. ‘He was

attended,”’ writes a correspondent of one of the journals of the day,

“by 610 cavalry, 4 elephants, 140 camels, and many bullock-

waevons laden with his effects. His\cavalry cut 1 good appearance,

being dressed in a uniform of green jackets with red turbans, the

folds of which were intertuixed with gilver wire. ‘They sectned to be

very well disciplined, and each Lorseman was armed with a pair of

pistols, a gun, and a sword.”

Making his way to Luckuow, De Boigne halted some time at that

place arranving his aifnirs, which he left in charge of General Claude

Martine. From thence he proceeded to Calentta, where he was

honourably received by the Goyernor-General. The horses and

eguipment of his bodyguard were purchased by the British Govern-

ment, and the troopers enlisted in the Company’s service, in which

they remained for Lwo years, until Lord Wellosley, in an bour of

re(ren¢hment, transicrred the corps to the Nawab Waazir of Oudh.

it was not nniil September, 1796, that De Boigne finally quitted

India. We sailed in the ship Urawdberz, und reached Mngland early

in the year 1797, carrying with Lin «a fortune of £100,000, the result

of nineteen years of advonture in tle Tast.

On his arrival he took up dis residence near London, for the war

on the Continent offered little prospect of repose in his native Savoy.

His health, much iniproved by the long voyage, was soon completely

re-established, and ii seomed probable that he would return to

India, for he had actually commenced preparations fur so doing,

when o pretty fuce and a musical voice~“ A voice which must be

92
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mine,” as he remarked even before la saw the face-—changed his

destiny.

It happened one day that he was at a concert where a young

gil--Mdlle. Eleonora Adrle TYOsnrend, daughter of the Marquis

dOsmond, afterwards French Ambassuler do Koglind-—-was one ot

tha performers. ITer beanty aud ber sweet singing eanqrered the

heart of the war-worn old soldier; and, although she was only seven

teen years old, he proposed for ler liaud and was accepted. They

were married on the lith of dune, 2798. There was a filling touch of

romance in the union not out of keeping with De Doigne's past; bul

unfortunately the marriage did not turu ont happily. They lived

together in London and Paris for same years, bul the disparity in age

was too great, and in 1804 they separated, uo children having been

bern. De Boigne provided handsoinely fur the Countess, and she

returmed to her father's home, and aceompanicd him to London

when he was appointed French Ambassador to the Court of St. Jame.

In 1819 she settled at Paris, and heeame the centre of a select caterie

in high life, her salons being thronged with the most distinguishcod

people of the period. Once every year slo visited her husband at

Chambéry for a few wecks, assuming her position as mistress of his

house and entertaining his mimerous friends. She always expressed

the highest respect for his charaetcr. and it is said that the honors

which were subseyucnily conferred upon him by Louis SYTIT were

due to her solicitations as much as to Jie Boigne’s well-known

royalistic principles. The Countess De Boizne enrvived her lusband

many years, and died xs recently as 15h.

De Boigne’s history for the six yeurs succeeding lis marriage, lias

been the subject of romarkable and persistent misrepresentation ab the

lands of Hnglish writers. It has been slated, and repeated with vir-

eumstantial detail, thal in 1802 the Genoral, al the invilation of

Napoleon Bonaparte, removed to Paris, and became the First Consuls

Privy Counscllor and Adviser in those designs against the Enelish

power in India, which led to the segond Marith’ war, and the exter-

mination of Sindhia’s regular anny. After a long and laborious in-

vestigation of the matter, it seemed te dle compiler that this statoment

was fuirly well attested, even though le failed to find it corroborated

by any of the records in Lhe India Office, opened to his inspection,

and which he earefully searched for its conlirmation. [t was nob until

the view was accepted that De Boigne did aetually assist Napoleon

Bonaparte with his counsel, and titis chapter was in print, that a

refutation was received. It came from the best living authority, the

present Count de Boigne, whose letter is printed i exfenso later on.
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Ag the excision of the disoredited passages would greatly interfere with

the construction of the story, and render nnintelligible several refer-

onees in the sketch of Perron’s life, it has been thought best to leave

them as they originally stood—for they contain much historical narra-

tive that is correet—and to refute the personal misrepresentation they

contain by the publication, side by side with it, of Count de Boigne’s

denial of his grandfather's alleged transactions with Ronaparte.

To the year 1802, the peace of Amiens—if, indeed, that term can

he applied to a cessation of hostilities that was little more than an

armistice—had just been concluded, and the opportunity was favour-

able for the perfection of those desiens against India which the Virst

Consul had long premeditated. ‘The conquest of the British posses-

sions in the East was one of his most cherished ambitions, and towards

the furtherance of this object he had undertaken the Egyptian cam-

paign, and entered into intrigues with the rnler of Mysere; but the

battle of the Nile and the capture of Seringapatam put a period to

both these attempts. By the Tvexty of Amiens, through an incon-

ceivable oversight on the part of English diplomacy, Pondicherry and

the other possessions in Tadia whieh had been wrested from her

during the late war were restored to France. This gave Bonaparte a

foothold in the country sufficient for his purpose. Hitherto the

French had been foiled in every endeavour to re-establish their power

in India. In direct conflict with the English they had been defeated

and driven out of the land. After Raymond's death his army, which

practically dominated [laidarabad in the French intorest, was dis-

armed and disbanded by Tord Wellesley iu 1798. In Mysore, Tipu

Sultan was dead, and the French auxiliaries prisoners of war in the

hands of the English. Southorn India was swept clean of French-

men. Lut Bonaparte, undiscourayed and indefatigable, projected

fresh ashemes of conquest in 1802, and began to build sanguine hapes

of success in a quarter hitherto untried. Generel Perron, who suc-

ceeded De Boigne, was paramount at Delhi, and had recently

opened communications with the French Government, and made

certain proposals which commended thomselves to the First Consal,

De Boigne was now in Paris, and in touch with Hindustan, being

in correspondence with Perron and other of his old oflicers, whilst his

loeal knowledge and experience were unique. Of lis ability and

advice Bonaparte is reported to hava availed himself, for it appearod

to him that the Marizth’ nation, from its constitution, its habits, and

its territorial importance, held out the most hopeful prospects that

had yot offered for the furtherance of French ambition and the

destruction af the Fnglish power in Ladia,
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The creat want that existed in Perron’s army was that of trained

officers, To supply this deficiency Bonaparte, under the colonrable

pretext of colonial defence, despatched to Pondigherry a feet af

six psen-of-war, which sailed from Vranee under Monsieur Lenois,

a distingaished naval officer. It transported 1,400 picked troops

commanded by General Decaen, Amougst these were 200 young

Frenchmen, who, although they shipped in the guise of private

soldiers, were gentlemen by birth, thoronghly trained in the duties

of officers, and provided with »u proper equipment. ‘hey were, in

addition, one and all fired with a determination to follow in the

foalatcps of De Loigne, and carve out for themselyes kingdoms and

principalities. Tt was intended that after Ianding at Pondicherry

these young adventurers should make their way to Delhi in sinall

bodies, through the territories of the Rajah of Berar, whose seaboaril

of Cuttack conld be reached by country boats in forty-cicht hours

during the south-west monsoon.) At Dolhisthey were to take service

under Perron, so that, when the time was ripe, the army of Hin-

dustan, efliciently officered and led, might co-operate with Bonaparte

in his intended invasion of India, and crush by one soneerted blow

the English power in the East. War was to be declared and carried

on in the name of the Emperor Shah ’Alam, whose yeseue from

Uritisi tyranny was assigned ag the ostensible object of this dis-

interested scheme.

Unfortunately for these aspirine young cadels, their liopes were

blighted by the sagacity and acninen of the Marquis Wellesley,

who mistrusted their coming, and whose suspicions were subsequently

confirmed by the copy of a secret doenment obtained from one of

General Decaon’s oflicers, This was entitled “A Memorial on tlie

present importance of India, and the most efficacions means of Ha-

establishing the French Nation ju its ancient splendour in that

Country.” It detailed the French scheme in full, and after

denouncing “the treatment reccived from a company of merchant

adventurers by the Kanperor of Uindustan, the sole branch of the

illustrious house of ‘Taimur,” went on to assert that “the Lnglish

Company, by Hy ignominious treatment of the great Mughal, las

forfeited ita rights and privileges in Dengal,” and that ‘the Emperor

of Delhi hag a real and indisputable right to transnit to whomsoever

he may please lo sclect the soverciguty of iis dominions, as well as

the arrears (of tribute) due from the English.” .. . hese arrears,”

concluded the ingenuous document, “ with the interest of the country

added, amount to four hundred and fifty-two Keres Tourneis, a sum

which greatly execeds the valno of the Company's moveable capital.”
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“A pretty comfortable prospect,” comments a contemporary his-

torian, “for the new legacy hunter, Bonaparte, of a bequest, at the

demise of an old mun past eighty years, of All Tindustan and nineteen

raillions seventcen Imudred and seventy-five pounds sterling !”’

dord Wellesley thus deals with this docutnent in one of his dispatches,

or rather with the scheme by which Donaparte hoped to constitute

himself legatee of the Mughal’s millions :—

“he system of introducing French adventurers into the armies of

the Native States, for the improvement of their discipline and efficiency,

has been found the readiest and most effectnal means of establishing

the influence and authority of the Irench in the government of those

States, and of erccting an independent territorial and military power,

within the limits of a foreign dominion. ... Under the continuance

of peace between FEngluud and France, and between the British

Government and the Mahvatta States, the progress of French intrigue

and aggrandisemont of the Freneh power.in India wowd be most

rapid and dangerous to onr security. Tn the prosecution of these views

the French would manifestly derive essential uid from the possession

of the person and family of the Emperor Shah Allnm, and under the

plea of restoring that monareh to his hereditary dominion, the power

of France in India might be directed to the subversion of every state,

and the appropriation of every territory unprotected by alliance with

the British Nation. . .. By suecesstul intrigue M. Perron has obtained

the office of Commandant of the Fortress of Delhi, which is the resi-

dence of the royal family, and-tlius secured the person and nominal

authority of the Iimpcror. The Mogul has never been an important

or dangerous instrument in the hands of the Mahratias, but the

angmentation of M. Pcrron’s influonce aud power, and the growth of

the French interest in Iindustan, lave given a new aspect to the con-

dition of the Mogul, and that unfortunate prince may become a

powerful aid to the cause of France in India, nnder the direction of

French agents.”

‘Phe practical application of these views was found in the precautions

Lord Wellesley took to prevent any member of General Decacn’s

Wxpedition from finding his way to Delhi. On their arrival at Pondi-

cherry the two hundred Frenel officers found, to their inlense disgust

and mortification, that they were virtually “en eage * within ils

narrow boundaries. They never left the desolate strip of territory,

and, when a little later hostilities broke out again between Jing-

Jand and France, these miserable men were all made prisoners of

war.

Meanwhile it has been stated thai De Boigne, seduced from his
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former syiopathics with the Enelish, became a bichly distinguished

personage at the Tuileries, and was clovated to tho «dignity of a

Privy Counsellor. Doubts have, however, bheon thrown upon this

episode in his listory. His biographer, M. St. Genis, omits mention

of iL, although he makes allusion to “wn wafounded remark of Bona-

parte ’ which had obtained currency and conveyed the impression that

the First Consul had been angered at a refiisel on De Uciene’s part

toe proceed to India at the head of an invaiing expedition. St. Gonis

adds that although De Loigne had taken up his abode within the

limits of the Empire, he had no sympathy with Napoleon, and pro-

bably distrusted the solidity of his power; and that notwithstanding

the advantageous opening lis military talents might have found

in the I:nperial service, he was averse to such employment on several

grounds, and the Emperor knew him too welk to spare him the

necessity of a refusal. QOn-the other band it is asserted that De

Doigne did actually advise and assis) Bonaparte in his designs

against the English Fimpire in tho Mast. Tu a pamphlet printed in

1804 and entitled “ Brief Remarks on Lhe Mabraitu War, and the

Rise aud Progress of the Vrench Establishment in Hindustan under

Generals De Boigne and Perren,” which, though published anony-

mously, bears evidence of parliculay knowledge, there is a circum-

stantial account of the iuailer as herein murated, and one of the

principal points put lorward seems to be corroborated by a passage

in a letter from Perron to De Bouigne, dated the 28th of Vebruary,

1802, and published in M. St. Genis’ work. Perron writes as follows

(the letter will be found quoted in his life):—* Yes; 1 will receive

with great satisfaction all the persons yuu recommend for appoint-

ments in the Brigades.”

Again, iu “A Letter on the Present Crisis of Affairs in India,” written

in 1807 by Major Ambrose, who had been an oltieer in Wolkuur’s ser-

vice, and who refers fo De Doigne’s residence at Paris as a matter of

common notoriety, one of the urganients pub forward is, that * Napo-

Jeon possesses the advantages of De Boigne’s abilities to guide him.”

In a third ‘India Tract,’—-to wse the generie name by which these

publications were known—written in 1914 by “ A Vicld Officer on the

Bengal Mstablishiment of thirty years’ service,” and entitled “ A Dis-

sertation on the Defence of the Lritish Territorial Possessions in

Hindustan,” the following passage occurs :—

“When a single adventurer like De Boigne, with but slender

talents (sic), and without the countenance or support of suy European

prince, was ayle to raise and discipline, in the North of Judia, such an

army as we had to contend against in 1802-4, we cannot surely be

7
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surprised if men of genius and talents, selected by Bonaparte, and

supported with ali the influence of his greal name and extensive

resources, should suecced in forming a powerful army in that country.

That De Boigne was reecived with distinguished «attention, aud

consulted on this very point is well known; and that he recom-

mended the measure as easy and practicable, and the first and most

certain step towards the conquest of Ilindustan, there can be very

little donbt.”

But perhaps the most important reference is contained in a chance,

but significant, remark in a letter of Lord Wellesley to General

Lake, under date of the 8th of July, 1808, which concludes with the

sentence :—

**M, Du (sic) Boigne (Sindhia’s late General) is now the chief confi-

dante of Bonaparte. He is constantly at St. Cloud. I leave you

to judges why and wherefore.”

Reeent information has denounced these assertions and suggestions

as incorrect, In June, 1892, the following communication was re-

ecived from the present Count de Boigne, and is inserted wilh

peculiar satisfaction, for it is pleasant to be assured that lis grand-

father was innovent of tle hostility lowards the Kuglish with which

he has been charged :—

“Tn 1802 the General was in Savoy, and signed authentic deeds,

which I have in my possession, together with letters which General

Perron wrote to him from Hindustan.

“He was never a Privy Cotusellor to Bonaparte, and in all his

family papers I do not find a single word which might lead one to

suppose that he ever saw him, or had anything to do with him.

“During the whole of the reign of Bonaparte the General led a

pertecily secluded life. It was only at ihe Restoration that he was

appointed Marshal, Knight of 8t. Louis, and of the Legion of Honour,

ly King Louis XVITI. We had married Mdllc. D°Osinond, and his

father-in-law was the first Trench Ambussador in Londou after the

return of the Bourbons.

“Tn 1815, after Savoy was united to the kingdom of Sardinia, he

was appointed Lieutenant-General, and received the Grand Cross of

St. Maurice et Lazarre.

“ All this proves Le never lad any transactions with Bonaparte.

* As to his connection with the Kaglish and the advice le guve to

Sindhia, the General felt that, in spite of the splendid anny he had

created for lim, the Prince would be boaten if he waged war against
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the English. When he left him, he told lin thal, netwithstanling

the pride he felt in the Brigades, le advised the Prince to dishand

them rather than go to war with the Mo¢lish.

“It seems to me, therctore, this the information you have rece ved

is not correct. It is in contradietiun ta the facts, and L can under-

stand why you failed to fmd any coufiwuatlion of it in the Records of

Government.

‘Cre, De Borenn.”

This disposes of an accusation, which, with the marvellous fertility

of fulschood, has blossomed from the dust of newly ninety years ago.

Early in 1803 De Boigne pureliased w fine estate on the outskiris of

his native town of Chambcry, in Savoy, where ho built, limseil a

magnificent mansion named “ Buisson,’ wherein he spent the last

tweuly-seven years of his life, enjoying the princely fortune he lad

acquired. During this period his bonnties to the poor, the sick, the

aged, and to relivious instiéutions were immense, nad conceived in i

spirit of the broadest philanthropy. The principles which governed

him cannot Le better illustrated than by a quotation from an address

he delivercd in 1822, on the oeensian of opening a hospital with which

he bad endowed his native town. “ Lf Livine Vrovidence,” le sald,

“deigned to crown with 4 speci! vrace the eureer of anus I followed,

He also loaded me with favours far greater than wy poor Lalents could

have expected, and, I may add, erenter than [ deserve. My wants

were never great, and I experioneed wo parkculu ambition for riches.

trom my forefathers I inherited nohine, and all that T bave, 1

received from heaven. For this reason L consider I shovld use these

sifts ina way aceeplable to Hint who gave them. Gratitude and our

Holy Religion enjoin this as a duty, and suggest that the proper use

to inake of my wealth is to suecouw Chie unfortunaie. Therefore, on

my return to my native lund, to which iy heart lias ever clung with

alfection, my first work, my first thought, was to invile my Sellow

tilizens to share the benetits so Lberally cutrusted to my keeping

by Providence.”

These are noble words, and how nobly De Dogue neted np te trem,

a list of his charities can lesuily, During the latter years of lis

life the sums he expended on philanthropical objects reached the

enorweus tolal of 8,678 000 francs. Ife built aud cudowed two

hospitils, a lunatie asyluiu, w institute for teaching trudes ta svung

girls, an almshouse, a college, and uw public hibrary. Nox did bis bene-

factions cease with his lifu, for in his will he supplemented them with

further princely bequests.
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Honours were heaped upon De Boigne in his old age. King Victor

Emanuel of Sardinia created him a count and a lieulenant-general in

his army, and decorated him with the Grand Cross of the Order of Bt.

Maurice and St. Lazarus. Louis XVILL appointed him a Marechal

de Camp, and a knight of the Legion of Honour, and conferred on

him the Ordcr of St. Lowis. His native town of Chambéry delighted

to honour him, During his life time his bust in marble was unveiled

by the King in the public library, and one of the finest streets in the

city perpetuates the name of her greatest son, and contains a beautiful

monumental fountain erected to his memory.

It lus been mentioned that De Goigne had no children by his

mInarriage wilh Mdile D'Osmond. Tut there were two born to lim by

a marriage coulracted “according to the usages of the country, with

the daughter of a Persian colonel in India.” These were a son named

Ali Bux, born at Delhi in 1792, anda daughter named Bunoo, They

accompanied their father to Europe, and were subsequently baptized,

receiving the names of Charles Alexumler and Anna, The latter died

at Paris in 1810, but Charles grew up and married the daughter of a

French nobleman, by whom he had a family. He succeeded his

father in the title, and lived a life of unostentatious benevolence,

dying in 1853, when the estate passed to lis son, the present Count

de Boigne.

In his old age De Doigue dispensed a lordly hospitality, and especially

welcoino to hishonse were any Eugtish oflicers who had been in India,

Both Colonel Tod and Grant Duff, in the works wiih which their

names are associated, make special aention of this, and each pays a

tribute to the courlesy and hospitality experienced at Buisson. As

illusteating the simplicity of De Boise's menage, it may be men-

tioned that to the end of his days Lis solo Major Doma was an old

native servant whom le had brought from India, and who directed all

his household arrangements,

Qne who knew De Boigne well has thus described his appcarance

two years before his death ;—‘‘ His frame and stature were Herculean,

and he was full six feet two inches in height. Mis aspect was mild and

unassuming, aud he was unostentatious in his habit and demeanour,

preserving at his advanced age all the gallaniry and politencss of the

vielle cour. He disliked, from niodesty, to advert to his past deeds,

and so seemed to strangers to have lost his memory. But in the

society of those who could partake of the emotions it awakened, the

name of Merta always stirred in him associations whose call he could

nob resist. The blood wonld mount to his temples, and the old fire

came into his eyes, as he recalled, with inconceivable rapidity and
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eloquence, the story of that glorious day. Ibut he spako of bimself as

if it wero of another, and always eoneladed with the words, Afy gursé

appears a dream ft?"

But it was no dream---that glorious past of Lis--which he looked

buek upon. ‘Ihe vista of many years stretched between him and the

epoch his deeds made memorable, bub through its gathering shadows

vivid, distinet and brilliant, glittored the star of vietory—the splendour

of actual accomplishment,

Almost on the fortieth anniversary of the battle of Patan, Death

came and gently summoned away the brave old Adventurer whom he

had so often spared ou Tudian tablielicids. On the dist Tune, T&s0,

amidst tie prayers of the aged and the helpless, and tho blessings of

the sick and the needy, full of yenrs, full of honours, peacefully, in

his bed, died Benoit Tia Borgne, Count De Boigne.'



CTITAPTER TX,

THE CHARACTER AND ACIIEVEMENT OF DE BOTGNT,

E BOIGNL’S Indian career Las been described as a series o

ambitions plans; yet however exalted their aim they all fonnd a

justification in results. Toa high intent he added a sustained dili-

gence and a determination that never faltered until each design he

undertook was completed. IIe scorned delights and lived laborious

days. Work—sheer hard work—was the secret of his success. With-

out it even his genius must have failed in achieving the ends he

attained. Moreover, he weighed those ends well. A certain practical

caution governed all his enterprises, and his prudence never permitted

him to be carried away by his enthusiasm. This characteristic he

exhibited in his financiul arrangements, ii his business aptitude, and

in his attention to detail. No mutiny occurred in the anny he

ercated, yet the historica of pricr and contemporaneous corps teem

with instances of insubordination, desertion, and revolt, consequent

upon irregularity of payment. De Boigne’s penctrating perception

marked this weak spot, and diseounted its danger by obtaining from

Madhoji Sindhia the territorial assignment that supplied him with a

fixed income, secured him from dependence on an untrustworthy

treasury, and placed his Brigades from the very first on tle only sound

footing possible to a mercenary army.

The amount, as well as the variety, of work accomplished by De

Boigne was astonishing, T.ewis Ferdinand Smith thus describes his

routine of daily duty :—-

“De Beigne was active and persevering to a degree which can only

ba conecived or Lelieved by those who wore spectators of his inde-

fatigable labours. JT have scen him daily and monthly vise with the

stin, survey his nrsenal, view hig troops, enlist reeruits, direct the vast

movements of three brizados, raise resonvecs, and encourage manu-

factures for their arms, ammunition, and stores; harangue in his

darbar, give andience to anwbassadors, administer justice, regulate the
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civil and revenns affairs of a Jaided of vwenty lakhs of rupees, listen

to a multitude of letters from varions parts, on various important

matters, dictate replies, carry on an intricate syatem of intrigue in

different conyis, superintend a private trade of lakhs of rupees, keep

his accounts, his private and public correspondence, and direct and

move forward a most complex political imachine. Such was lis

laborious occupation from sunrise til] past midnight, and this was not

the fortuitous avocations of a day, but the unremitting employment of

nine or ten years. To this exhansting and unceasing toil he sacrificed

one of the firmest and most robust constitutions ever formed by

nature.”

Living in sovereign magnificence, and wielding quasi-sovercign

power, De Boigne was called upon to exercise the most important

duties of State. For this ue was fitted, for he was 2 consummate

diplomatist, skilled in directing the ost complicated affairs, and he

added Lo a complete masiery of Oriental intigue the political subtlety

of the Italian school. lis knowledge of the world was profound, and

he understood the art of moniding to his purpose the minds of those

he had te deal with. Tle wag an acute observer of the dispositions of

men, a rapid judge of character, and gifted in a remarkable dewreo

with the power of gaining the confidence of others. But he never

divulged his own affairs, and, as one of his commentators has observed,

“ there is this remarkable thing about him, that during the whole of

his Indian eareor his only secretary was his writing-desk, which kuew

neither his business nor hia fortame, for bobh of those he kept com-

pletely to himself.”

To the end of his stay in India De Daigne carried on the mereantile

business he established at Lucknow in 1789, the books and correspon-

dence of which he wrote up with his awn hand. All these miulti-

farious occupations, military, political, administrative, and eommereial

were conducted without assistance from others, for ib was a frequent

assertion of his that any ambitious persou who reposed confidence in

another risked the destruction of his awa views. Ho never dopmted

authority, preferring 40 Jabour ciehtcen hours a day, and day after

day, rather than delegate to subordinate the contre) of any matter

of importance.

Ti has been stated that this tenacity of power devenerated at times

into a positive greed of authority, and led Lim to view ia an unworthy

light the successes and efforts of others, and he has beeu taxed with a

jealousy that on occasions iwlministered ungenerous rebuke where

commendation was justly due. Uow far this was true it is impossible

to estimate now, but it is certuinsy not corroborated by the singular
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esteem evinced towards him by his subordinates. Tn considering

thesa ebarges it must not be forgotlen that the men who filled the

ligher appointments in De DBoigne’s Brigades were in many cases

illiterate persons of liumble birth, whose mental calibre unfitted them

for positions of responsibility, although doubtless in the artificial

exaltation of their lives they considered themselves equal to any duty,

and entertained opinions of their own qualifientions not shared by

their chief.

De Loigne has ulso been aceused of greed and avarice, and de-

scribed a8 imean and grasping in pecuniary matters, and this by one

who knew him well and respected him highly, How far this failing

was a part of his nature, and how far it was dne to the spirit of the

times and his surroundings is a moot point. India of the Jasi century

was above everything else ihe Land of the Pagoda Trec, and the

raison @étre of the Payoda Tree was to be shaken violently. Men

went to the Mast fo make fortunes as quickly as they could, and then

retura to Wurope. The intention was never disguised. The question,

therefore, of De Boigne’s avari¢e, may be fairly judged by the degree

af his fortune. Let us compare tho harvest of his lite with that of

others. In eleven years he saved from lis pay, from his administra-

tion of a vast territory, and from lis comnuereial speculations, 2 sum

of £400,000. But Perron, who succeeded him, accurnulated in nine

years a eapttal which has been variously assessed at from three-quar-

ters of a million to two millions sterling, and this without any assist-

ance from the profits of business. Vourguien, who merely commanded

a brigale under Perron, was credited with taking “an equal sum ”

out of the country, but this refers to the actnal amount Perron sne-

ceeded in conveying to Kurope, which was not more than £500,000,

Bat these examples of money-minting pale before the financial

achievements of n certain Colonel Hannay, who entered the service

of the Nawab Wazir of Qudh in 1778. Hannay was a Company’s

officer, and for very cogent reasons cbhtained permission to serve on

the further side of a» boundary which creditors could not cross and

where writs did notrnn. He received the command of a considerable

force, and was assigned the districts of Laraiteh and Gorakhpur for

its support. These lie depopulated in three years by his exactions.

“Te cutered the Nawib’s service,” remarks a contemporary writer,

“aman in debt, and left it three years atterwards with a fortune of

£300,000." With such instances before us the savings that De Boigne

amassed appear reasonable when his length of serviec, his enormous

income, the gifts he received from Sindhia, his mercantile business at

Laeknow, and all his incidental sources of emolument arc considered,
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Finally, the accusation of “avariec that verged on the contemptible

may fairly be moct by a reference to the princely philanthropy of his

declining years, and in this conneclion it is proper to quote the

remarks of the Marquis de Daverges, wha, in discussing his character,

says: © He gave coldly, but always deeiledly. IIe counted the money

which caine and went, more from business habit than from actual

avariec, but he never withheld a halfpenny. He gave much and un-

ostentatiously, but withont any desire to hide it, although his seeret

charities were considerable.”

Ti is diffenifé to reconcile this conflicting testimony, but whilst thie

aceugation rests on individual statements, the refatation exists in

the charitable gifta and bequests enjoyed to this day lyy the inhabitants

of Chambrry. And ié must be noted that in the speoch De Boigne

made on the oceasion of opening a hospital in that town, he ente-

gorically disclaimed “any particular ambition for riches.”

On the other hand, against these possible detvactions must be set

many good and noble qualities. Above all stands De Boigne’s

staunch and unswerving loyalty, which, in the face of the many

enticing offers that apponled especially to the avarice he hag been

charged with, never faltered for a momont. His sense ef justice war

singularly well balanced belween severity and mildness, and his

orders commanded respect, no less from the firmness with which ho

euforeed them, than for the impartiality he displayed in arriving ata

decision. His manners wore polite and clagaut, his disposition atfable

and vivacious, and he was not wanting in a sense of hnmour. Ile was

modest, and good-natured in his behaviour towards his subordinatus,

although he could show himself stern and implacable if opposed or

thwarted, but he possessed an entire command over his passions, ard

was an adept in the art of dissimulation—gifts of inestimable advan-

tage in dealing with the natives.

De Boeigne’s achievements are the best testimony to the high order

of hia military tilent. As a gencral he may take his stand amongst

the greatest India has ever produced. In times of crisis and sudden

danger his presence of mind was incomparable, and lus judgment in

suaging dilienlties and deciding on the course to follow was as quick

as it was correct. His retreats were the result of cowardice, treachery,

or incompetence on the part of thoge with whout he was associated,

for he never lost a battle, nor was himself worsted in fight, while hig

victories were all of his own winning. Latan, Merta, and Takhairi,

although hidden from view in the turbid flood of Indian strife, were

achievements that can be compared with the most brilliant the

Company's Sepoy regiments ever porformed, and if their particular
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record is lost in the tumult of Mastern warfare, they deprive its annals

of a glorious chapter, that might filly preface Lhe victories of Laswari

aud Assaye.

Asa general De Boigne was not only successful in carrying out

extended campaigns of conquest, and directing battles splondid with

vigour, but could inspire mercenary armies with courage and con-

fidence, and, above all, with patience. No troops in Asia suffered

greater proportionate losses in war, or underwent tore trying fatigues

than his famous brigades, which, during twelve yoars of incessant

activily, were constantly marching and fighting. And yet they wera

sustained by no patriotic spirit, inspired by no national sentiment,

bound together by na common eanse. They were inerely a hireling

soldiery, risking their lives for stipulated payment, and as often

opposed to men of their own creed or caste as allied with them. Not-

withstanding which they conducted themsclves with ao loyalty and

heroisin that could not be-oxcelled by any national army. ‘The con-

quests between the Cliambal and the Siwalikes were of countries

inhabited by savage and warlike peoples, from whose very midst De

Boigne raised the battalions Mat-held the territory in an iron grip,

and drew from it revenues richer and more regular than had been

extorted by any previous conqucror.

A noble trait in De Boigne's character was his earnest endeavour

io mitigate Lhe horrors of war and minimise its evils His humunity

evoked blessings from tho battlefield, where only despair lad moaned

before. Offiecrs and soldiers whe were wounded in hia service

received pecuniary compensations commensurate with tho severity of

their sufferings, and men permanently disabled were awarded grants

of land, which passed to their heirs, whilsl special provision was made

for the relatives of those who were killed in action. The tortures of

the battlefield were ameliorated by the establishmont of a medical

department, to which an ambulance corps was aitached. These re-

forms were half a century in advance of the times, and were benign

innovations such as no native powers had ever dreaint of before.

What wonder that hig soldicrs loved this chief, whose heark was

80 full of solicitude for their welfare! What wonder that one of his

old officors, in writing to him, expressed himself in the following

terms: ‘You must return to us. We await your coming as that of

the Messiah. You will be like a saint, so highly are you venerated

and adored. Above all by the troops, who, in their songs, invake

your name only.” Do not the echoes of these songs, chanted by a

rade seldisry around their Indian camp fires, come floating over many

yeara to fell us what manner of man their leader was? Does not
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that message, with ils unlaboured eloquence, touch our hearts to-day,

even as it must have touched the heart of hima to whom it was

addressed nearly a century ago? I: is very plain to see that, above

and beyond the respect his military talents commanded, there existed

an aifeation for De Boiene that made every individual soldier in his

army an adlerent, and inspired his battalions with the magic strength

of a personal devotion. When he left India ho carried with him, not

only the csteem of his master and the admiration of his officers, but

the love of the humblest soldier who served tnder him.

By his enemies De Boigne was respected, for in the hour of their

defeat he treated them with merey and consideration, “ It is not the

lcast merit of General De Boigne as w military man,” writes the

Bengal Jonrnel in 1790, “to have tempered, by an admirable porso-

verance, the ferocious and almost savage eharacter of the Mabrattas.

He subjects to the discipline and civilisation of European armies

troops hitherto deemed barbarians; aud licentiousness and rapine,

heretofore so common among them, have now become infamons even

in the estimation of the meanest soldier.” Despite this humave

departure from the repressive customs of the times, when slaughter

followed victory, and pitiless oppression stalked in tho path of con-

quest, De Boigne’s personal prestige suffered no diminution, and

“latterly the very name of be Goigue conveyed more terror than thie

thunder of his cannons.”

De Boigne’s genius in war and his whilities in diplomacy more than

quadrupled the extent of Madhoji Sindhia’s dominions and intlucnec.

The unbroken successes of his © Invincible Army ”—ns ib came to be

ealled—inspired that prince with a belief in the European methods of

warfare, and weancd him from his racial prejudices in favour of

cavalry to an appreciation of infantry for heroie defence and irresis-

tible attack. Ilis conversion was not without fruit, for “ the military

talent of De Boigne and the valour of his battalions were the grand

instruments wlich made Madhoji Sindhia the most powerful prince

in India.”’

De Boigne was a born leader of men. ‘There was something jn

his fee and bearing,” writes the authority so often quoted, “ that

depicted the hero, an compelled iniplicit obedience, Ju deportment

he was eommanding, and walked will: the majestie lread of conscious

_eventness. ‘The strong cust of his countenance and the piercing ex-

pression of his oyes, iudicated the force and power of his mind. On

the grand stage, where he acted so brilliant and important a part for

ten years, ie was at once dreaded and idolised, feared and admired,

respected and leloved.”
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Certes in the history of the decado in whieh he flourished De

Boigne stands out, 2 splendid solitary figure, distinet and distin

guished above all others, We recoguise in him an adventurer of a

rare and noble type. Nor is that glamonr of romance wanting which

ean invest with a certain heroic charm the personalities brought under

its influenee. he cirewmstances of his career always remind us

that he was a free lance in a farland. We see him organising armies,

winning battles, conquering countries, and ruling territories in a

picturesque scene, rich with Oriental colouring, martial with pagan

hosts, peopled with dusky races, and instinet with barbaric splendour.

He curries us away out of our Gold, conventional Europcan climate,

into the warm glow of an Asiatic land, where the conditions of life

are strange and startling, and its possibilities illimitable. We follow

him, step by step, across arid deserts, through tropical jungles, over

desolate hills, past districts prodigal in their fertility, to that stately

marble palace on Jumna’s bank, where a blind Emperor, the colophon

of one of the greatest empires Asia has ever seen, finds in this self-

made soldier of fortune 2 proteetor, a patron, and the regent of his

throne. More wondrous than a fairy tale, more dazzling than a

dream, stranger than the strangest ficlion, it is diffien}t to renliso

the magnitude of De Boigne’s achievement. In this prosaic age,

when the daily oceurrences of 1 generally humdrum East are read at

our breakfast tables the next morning, and we aro reconciled to a

Government that prosecutes sedition ina police court, and exercises

self-restraint as an clection sop, it is hard to realise that less than a

hundred years ago India was a dark continent to our forefathers. Yet

such it indubitably was when De Boigne earried the mililary systems

of Europo into the heart of Hindustan, and without favour of political

opponents or license of a criminal proceedure code, ostablished his sway

in the Empire of Akbar and Aurangzebe.
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CHAPTER 1.

VKORGE THOMAS LANDS IN INDIA. BALLY VICISSITUDES., ENTERS THE

BEGUM SOMBU'S SKRVICK,

(746-1703,

[Although in the chronological order of evculs the Life of General Perron

should follow that of De Boigne, there is acayeer that of Cearge Fhomas—so

overlapped by buth, that it is most conveniently inserted between the sketches of

the two greater Adventurars. |

1756, Ilis ee wore Peinie ol humble position,
unable to afford Nim any education, and at an early

age le adopted the seafaring profession, and came oul

to India whilst he was qqiite a boy. The ciretuustanees

wader whieh he left tis culling are variously related.

Tle has been described as “a quariermimster in the Navy, or, as some

affirm, only a connmon sailor, who landed at Madyas in 17B1 or 1782 ms

whilst another account states that he was a eabin Loy on board 2

trading ship on the Coromandel coast, from which he ran away.

Whatever bis exact condition when he arrived in India, it is certain

ho began life ina very humble capacity asa sailor, On leaving his

ship he made his way “ up-ccuntry ’—an expression synonymous with

“inland in Indiz—and spent some years in the Karnatic with the

Poligars, a setni-independent und excvedingly lawless class of chiefs

inhabiting mountainous and jungle <listricts, and of whom there were

a, cousiderable number in the hill tracts of Southern India,

After a residence of about five years amongst these people, Thomas

appears to have found his way to Unidarabad, in the Decean, where
wg
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he took service as a private soldier in the army of Nizam Ali Khan,

But he did not stay here long, for in 1787 he left the Deecan and

made his way to Delhi. It is a pity there ig no record of this journey,

for id must Lave heen fall ef adventure and incident. Even in these

modern days the march of a solitary uropean iroin one capital to

the other would not be altogether iree trom danger. A hundred years

ago the undertaking must have been perilous in the extreme, and

nothing bnt a stout heart and a strong frame could have suceessfully

traversed the thousand miles between the two cities, through countries

which were in s constant state of disturbance and commotion, and,

infested with numerous bands of robbers and predatory chieftains,

who levied blackmail on every traveller, and acknowledged allegiance

to no authority.

Despite all dangera aud diflicullies, Thomas completed his journey,

and arrived at the Mughal eapital in safety. his was before the final

occupation of Delhi by the Marathis, and when the influence of

Ghulam Kadir and Ismail Beg was paramount there. The only body

of regular troops in Hindustan was that belonging to the Begum

Somru, to whom ‘Thomas offered his services. She held the fief of

Sardhina, » dislnet lying about forty-five miles north of Delhi, where

her troops were cavtoned. Thomas’s application was entertained, and

he was appointed to a subordinate command in the eaum's army,

Before long the haudsoie Trislinan attracted his mistresy’s attention,

He was a tall, soldierly fellow, endowed with a pleasing address for

one of his station, and gifted with the honied speech of his ecountry-

men, and, except when his temper was aroused, gentle in his manners,

though not without that dash and spirit which always commends itself

to womankind.

Before long ke obtained the Begum’s confidenec and favour, and

she gave him in marriage a slave girl whom she had adopted, and

promoted him to the command of a battalion in her force. He soon

found an opportunity of distinguishing imuscli. In 178) the Begum,

in her capacity of feudal vassal to Shah ’Alnm, was engaged in assisting

the Fimperor to reduco certain revolted districts which had been

restored io him when be regained lis nominal independence after the

defeat of the Marathis ab Lalsdt. “These were in the possession of a

discontented noble named Najaf Kuli Klin, who refreed to render

allegianea, and took up a position ot defiance in a stroug fortress

named Gokalgurk, w little to the north-west of Agra, whieh latter

place Ismiil Beg was cngaged in besieging. Shoal: ‘Alam had invested

the rebel’s stronghold, and erected tronclies around it. But the Lmperial

army was in a shamefully demoralised condition, and one night the
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officers and soldiery living reckicssly abandoned thezuselyes to a

debauch, Najaf Khan, determined to profit by the encimy’s folly,

aud, marching silently oat of his entronchinents, attacked the reyal

troops as they lay buried in a drunken sluniber. The investing

lines were quickly carried, and a dreadful slaughter commenced. The

verror excited by the sudden and vigorous attack was so great that a

panic seized the royal army, which was soon in confusion and on

the point of flight. The Mmperor hinuself was exposed to the greatest

danger, niany persons around hii being killed, and he was preparing

to withdraw from the field, when the Begnm Somen, whose camp

was pitched a short distance off, perecived Iris peril, and, unaffected

by the panic, determined to support ler sovereign. A liundred men

and a six-pounder gun, under the comand of 'Thonias, were hastily

ordered to advance, whilst the Beguin, seated in ler palanquin,

accompanied thetu to the scene of eonflict, und gave the order to

open fire. Thomas’s native sense of chivalry was aroused by the

spectacle of a woman on the field of battic, and he supported her with

such determination that after a short but desporate struggle, Najaf

Khan was beaten buck and the Imperor rescned from his critical

position. In gratefid recognition of assistunce so timely rendered,

Shah ‘Alam suminoned the Begum to Ins Durbar, and, after praising

her for her gallantry, and thanking her for lice service, loaded her with

hanours, and bestowed on her Lhe title uf “His most beloved daugliter.”

Nor was Thomas norewurded, for net only was lis reputation estab-

lished by the ineident, Lut he received a very valuable Lhilué, or

present, from His Majesty.

Not long after this the Begum was entrusted with the defence of

the northern Mughal districts againsi the incursions of the Sikhs, and

a valuable Jaidid assigued to her as payment for this special service,

to the manugement of whieh she appointed Thomas, who took up his

quarters ata fort called Tappal, the principal place m it. Jt was u

wonderful picce of promotion, for it clevatcd Lim to the position of

Military Governor and Civil Adiuinistrater of an extensive Lerritory.

Despite his inability to read and write, he secme to have handled the

reins of management with considerable ability, for he «doubled the

yevenues of the Jafddid before Tong, ail established the Begum’s

authority in a district which had never previously acknowledged any

master but the drawn sword. Tu the intervals of collecting rents and

dispensing justice ‘Thomas was frequently called away northwards to

repel the periodical incursions of the Sikhs, a task in which he distin-

guished himself no less by his personal prowess than by his uniform

success, Unfortunately no chronicles exist of these border fruys of a
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past ecntury. Advanced or retired boundary pillars formed the only

records of frontier warfure in India. Dut in various and successive

actions against the Sikhs Thomas, by lis courage and encrgy, made

his rule respected, and for long years afler tradition handed down the

legendary deeds of the mighty Jekaat-Saked, or sailor, who first taugit

the sons of Nanak io respect the marches of the Great Mughal.

By these suecesses Thomas gained considerable influence over the

mind of the Begum, but there were many Europeans in her force,

chiefly Frenchmen, between whom and hin a violent hatred soon

developed. They mouopolised the chief posts, and drow large emolu-

ments, although, as ho quickly observed, they were of little use except

to keep their mistress in a chronic state of pecuniary difficulty, Their

jealousy of and hostility to the English interloper were undisguised ;

but in spite of their machinations he retained for a considerable time

the place he had gained in the Leguim's favour, for he was always

ready to fight, which her other officers were not, and when lie tought

he won. ‘This in itself made hinr a vaiuable acquisition to a force

whose records in the tented field were none too glorious; but as, in

addition to his military sbilities; Thomas possessed the charm of

personel attraction, he soon became chief adviser and eounsellor to

the * Witch of Sardhdna,’ as the Begum was called. But this success,

obtained at the expense of others, increased the cirele of his encmies

and made them desperate. Envy and jealousy entered tmto a plot,

and under the leadership of an officer named Le Vassoult a cabal was

forined to bring aboul Thomas's ruin. "The scason chosen was during

one of lis periodical expeditions against tle Sikhs. aking advuntage

of his absence, the conspirators presented themsolves in a body before

the Begum, and by artful arguments persuaded her that ‘l homas har-

boured treacherous designs against her independence, and that his

reason for desiring to procure tho dismissal of her French officers was

that he might make himself sole and undisputed master of Ler posses-

sions,

This plot, which was brought to a head in 1799, was entirely

successful, It was cunningly contrived, being calculated to raise the

Degnm’s fears by suggesting a danger that bore an air of probability,

for the subversion of authority was at the root of every conspiracy in

those times. The Begum at once became alarmed, but, on being

assured of their protcetion and fidelity by her Fronel: officers, anxiety

gave way to anger, and she visited her wrath upon Tliomas's wife,

whe comrunicatied with her husband. Back he came at once fiom

the frontier, rescued lis family, and curried them to Tappual, where

he orecied the standard of rebellion,
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No doubt ho was driven to this by the toyce of cirewustances,

for George Thomas's worst enomy could never have accused him of

treachery. But still his conduct’ sccmed to confirm the accusations

made against him, and the Beymn Somru forthwith marched with an

overpowering force to rogain her district, Tappal was invested, and

Thomas compeiled to surrender. Aud then the Beyum, with a mag-

nanimity which could hardly have been cxpected of her, and had in it

a touch of both inconsistency and tenilerness, spared his life, and

permitted him to depart unmolested.

When Thomas evacuated Tappal his worldly wealth did not cxeeed

fifty pounds. It was not much to show for five years’ meritorious

service, but it may fairly be adduced as cvideuce of hia integrity ;

for during his administration of a district producing wu revenue of

nearly £16,000 a year, many opportunities must have occurred of

enriching himself by methods which, however deprecated in the West,

were regarded in India as not only fortuitous, but legitimate.

His prospects, as he summed thew up, were far from encouraging.

After cleven years of active adventure lic found himeelf little richer

than when he bogan. Heroic measures were necessary, and he adopted

them forthwith. Having expended his sinall capitel in arming a

band of desperate followers, he stormed and captured a large village

near Delhi, from which he plundered a considerable sum of money.

With the sinews of war thus obtained he inereased his foree to 25)

mounted men, and marched then to Antipshaly, the froutier Lritish

station, there to awaif events. After publing bis followers throug a

course of lraining until they presented a semblance of discipline, he

offered the servives of hia party to Ali Dahadur, one of the leading

Mardtha princes, who had established an independent rule in Buniel-

khand. But a difieulty arising about terms, the negotiations were

broken off, and shortly after this Thomas received proposals from a

chicf named Appa Khandi Wado, with promise of a suttable provision,

and these being acceptable, lie cutorcd his service early am 1798.



CHAPTER I].

UNDER APPA KHANDI KAO.

1798-1797.

PPA KHANDI BAO was one of Madhoji Sindhia’s principal

chieftains, und had played an important part in the conqnest

of Hindustan. More recently he had been engaged in the invasion of

Bundelkhand, but lis arms had not met with success, and owing to

tis his troops were several months in arrears of pay, and when their

leader's continued il-fortuno seemed to destroy all hopes of recovering

what was due to them, they broke out into mutiny. This so angered

Sindhia that he sramnarily disniissed the chief frou his service, and

Appw’s proud and baughty spirit was brooding ovor this disgrace when

he sought the assistance of George Thomas.

Tt will be remembered that ib was wider Appa Bhandi Rao that De

Loigne—now in his venith—entered Sindhia’s service wilh the two

battalions which comprised Lis frsh command, His extracrdinary

sticeces, and the power he had attained, inspired Appa with confi-

dence in the merits of urepean courage and intelligence, Although

Thormuas’s small band of ragamufling mmst have presented a ludicrous

contrast to De Boigne’s izained and equipped Luttalions, the chief re-

membered how modestly the latter began his carcer, and Thomas's

impoverished condition and needy appearance did not necessarily

prejudice hin. Vicissitudes of fortune were the rule, not the exception,

in Hindustan—only a few weels previously Thomas himself had been

thrashing the Sikhs in the northern provinecs of Delhi, and enjoying

a position of importance and confidence in the service of the Begum

Soumn, Ti mattered little his bcing temporarily under a clond. What

he had done im the past, that he could do in the fulure, and Appa was

in urgent need of some onc to collect his revenues, since his own

imuutinous troops could no longer be depended upon for that very

essential service. The man who had euforced taxes from the Tappal

Ld
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districts, could extort them from Appe’s, which: adjoined them in the

Mewatti country.

So Thomas was engaged, and ordered to raise a battalion of LOU

regular infantry and 100 lorse. But this required muncy, © eommo-

dity Appa could not command, and, therefore, in licu of «monthly

paynient, he assigned to his new coumnander the distriets of ‘Tijara,

Taptkra, and Firozpur, the revenues of whieh were lo be applied to the

expenses of the corps. hey formed a portion of Appa’s awn tervibury

of Rewari, which had formerly belonwed to Isuniil Bog, and lay about

forty miles south of Delhi. Lheir assignment answered a double pur-

pose: it secured the payment of a battalion by which Appr hoped to

re-establisl: his fortunes, and it broucht the districts themselves under

his authority, which was couifortine te his feelines and agreeable to

his dignity, for, as a matter of practical finauce, be had never been

able te collect any revenue from them himself, owing to their chronic

state of rebellion, They had, idee), been to Lim a bane rather than

a blessing, for whenever he sent a foreu against tlem, the peasantry

fled for refuge to the hilly traets urowid, aud directly his troops ro-

tired, sallied forth and committed fresh depredations on the surrounding

country. hig unsatistuctory state of alfuirs made it both cheap and

profitable to sublet the districh to auy one who would undertake to pay

himself out of the proceeds, aud keep the waruly inhubilants in peace

and subjection.

Thomas had no misgivings as to his ability to collect revenue, for

iis methods were as suve as they wore summary, and he aceepted the

proposal, with the single stipulation that aceounis should bo balanced

every six miontis, and the differenée udjusted. his being agreed to,

he received two cannons and a supply of ammunition, and began the

enlistment of men. Service under Murepean commanders was popular

with the natives, and there would Lave been no difficulty in filling his

ranks had le cnjeoyed the conunand of « little rewly cash. As it was,

the problematical reveunes of Tijiva, Vapdiea. and Virozpur did uct

pass current, and it was will great diilieulty he reernited 400 mn.

With these he decided to take possession of his Jeided, hoping to

extract a reality out of its shadowy resonrees ; Lut scarcely bad he

marched half way toward it than le wes vecalled in liot haste by Appa,

and ordered to accompany that chief to Delhi, to suard against avy

possible comnuiction that might arise ewing to the death of Modhoji

Sindhia, news of which had just rencled TMindustan,

here were several chiefs collected ai the capital, who joined in

maintaining the Maréthd anthority wider General De Boigne. They

were honourably reevived by tle Liiperor, to whom Thomas, in due
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hixn, presented his nazzar, or offering, aud from whom he received a

valuable Ahitut, He ramained at ihe capital for some time, during

which he was sucecesful in recruiting his force up to 700, and then ob-

iained Ieave lo depart in order to tuke possession of his assigned

districts, and raise from them the funds, which were now more

urgently needed than evor. But scarcely had he marched his party

oat of the capttal than they mutinied for their pay, aud began to dis-

perse and plunder the surrounding country, after the manner faskion-

able at that period.

It was with the greatest difficulty Thomas whipped in hig riotous

pack, and returned witli them to Delhi, where he represented to Appa

the impossibility of doing anything without means. The chief found

a truly Oviental escape out of this difficulty by getting very angry;

but Thomas, who seldom avoided a fight if he could help it, gave his

master back word for word, and a rupture seemed imminent, until

Appa comproiuised the matter by advancing Its.14,000, and executing

a bond for the vest of the claims, which, itis perhups superfluous to

add, was never honoured. The payment on account, however, enabled

‘Thomas to satisfy his nutineers, and in July, 1794, he set out for the

third time to inke possession of his Jiateded.

His ronte lay through the Jamna Jaghtr of the Begum Somru,

which Thomes bad administered for such o long ime. ‘he opporta-

nity was irresistible, and he plundered it, exacting a heavy fine from

a village calle] Garth. twas a very sorry return tor the generous

treatment he had received from the Buvum ; but it is probable his

vindictiveness was directed, not against Ler, bub ugainst the Wrench

faction, wlich directed affairs at dardhina, and had bronglit about

Thomas's downfall. .

Continuing his march after this little interludo, Thomas duly reached

bis domains. It was a dark und rainy monsoon night when be arrived

at Tijira, the place of chief importance. Ie pitched bis camp a short

distance from its walls, and his inen, fatigued after a Jong and hberass-

ing march, lay down to rest. That night his new subjects gave him

a taste of their quality by creeping into hig encampment and steal-

jag a valuable horse, which had been picketted in its very centre.

The impadence of thig proceeding aroused Thomus's wrath, and he

instantly determined to inflict condign punishment on the vagabond

thieves who were so wanting in veneration for constituted uwuthority.

So he detached a party to discover the village to which the horse had

been taken; bub they had not gone far before they were attacked, and

obliged to retire, Seeing this, Thomas ordered hig cavalry to ad-

vance and cover the retreat of the detachment, whilst he himself led
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out the main body of his infantry ; but by this time the enemy liad

heen considerably reinforced, and showed a formidable front, Thomas,

taking the lead of his centre colarun, boldly advanecd and set fire to

the village, which was the point of allack, but as he was doing so, his

right and left wings were seized with a sudden panie, and fled in pre-

cipitation. Their example allected the centre, who immediately

followed, abandoning their wounded, and leaving Thomas with only

a dozen faithful men and a few cuvalry to support him.

It was aimoment of extreme peril. Tint it was in sneha erises that

Thomas displayed those splendid qualities of arclacity and defiance

which distinovished hig whole career, Valling slowly back on one of lis

guns which had become embarrassed in the bed of a sirearn, he en-

couraged his stall party to exer! themselves in extricating it, and lad

just succeeded, when the enemy, confident of victery now, rencwed

the attack with furious energy.

The native commander of Thomas's cavalry, a man of distinguished

bravery, stood nobly by his master, andj with a few others, threw

themselves between tho cnemy and the enn which was the object of

their charge. Their intrepidity cost them their lives; Lut their gallant

effort allowed time for the piece ta he loaded, and the next minnte

a well-directed fire of grape was poured into the advancing foc. The

timely discharge saved Thomas and the few brave fellows that sur-

vived, and after half a dozen more rowads the eneny drew off and

retired into the surrounding ravines.

Thomas now collected his Ingitives, but when he had mustered

them, found his force reduced to S00 men. With these he again ad-

vaneed to give battle ; bub the enemy, satisfied of lis prowess, declined

to renew the contest.

Although his first experience had been so disastrous, the gallantry

and ability wilh whieh he retrieved the reverse ereated a creat cifect,

and spread adread amongst the people who had opposed him. Serious

as was Thomas’s loss in action, the Mewittis had anfferod more, and

the immediate consequence was that their headmen made overtures

for peace, which led to an amicable adjustment of terms. It waa

agreed that a year's revenne should he paid, and the stolen property

restored, hostages being given lor the performance of these conditions,

Tijara was the strongest place in thio district, and inliabited by the

most refractory people. Only a few weeks hefore the date of Thonias's

victory the Begum Semrn’s whole foree had failed in an attack upon

the town, and been conipelled to retire. lts oecupation by Thomas

Jed to the immediate submission of the rest of the district; bnt he

was so pleased with the spirit and fighting qualitics of the people
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that he offered to enlist any of them who chose to serve him, and this

being well responded to, he had no difficulty in bringing up his

battalion to the sanetioned strength.

Orders now reached Thomas from Appa to assist the collector of the

district of Kishnagar in gutting in the revenue dne. Huving no belief

in conciliatory measnres, but holding the opinion that the turbulent

people of Lhe province could only be coerced into obedience, Thomaa

at once entered into a vigorons punitive campaign, carrying fire and

sword into their midst. His expedition concluded with the subjuga-

tion of the town of Jhajjar, a place of considerable importance, after

which he returned to ‘lijira.

Upon the surrender of Jhajjar, Appa gave Thomas an order on the

collector of that town for a sum sufiicient to pay the arrears due to

the battalion ; but just at this time the chief's awn troops mutinied

for their long-withheld pay,.and te money was diverted to satisfy

their claims. Whereupon Thomas marched to the Bahadurgarh

distriet, to raise a eontrilation to mect bis needs. In his route le

found the smaller villages all deserted, and considerable numbers of
armed persons collected in a threatening manner in the larger ones.

His force, thinned by frequont desertions, had dwindlod down to 300

men, whose discipline was extremely unsatisfactory. Notwithstanding

which, having arrived sta place called Mandika, and found the in-
habitants ready to resist him by arms, he attacked them without a

moment's hesitation, and after giving them a severe beating, sacked

their village of Rs. 4,000.

The extraordinary vigour and success of Thomas's short caimpaigu

began to arouse the apprehensions of the Maréth4 anthorities at

Delhi, who felt obliged to take note of the influeuce Le was acquiring

within such a short distance of the capital. At the instigation of tho

Begum Somru, whose resentment had been aroused by the recount

attack upon her Jmmna Jaghéir, 2 combined force was sent to wateh

Thomas, who thereupon deemed it prudent to remove to » distance,

and, in consequence, retired to headquarters.

Searcely had he reached Tijira than be received an urgent message

from Appa, calling on hiin to advance with all speed to Kot Putli, a

fort about forty miles distanl, where the chief was detained by his

nautinous troaps, who had beon tampered with by GopAl R&o Bhiao,

Daulat Rao Sindhia’s viceroy in Tlindustan. Appa was fearful of

being delivered up to lis enemies, and implored Thomas to rescue

him without fail, for he could no longer rely on his officers, who had

all been bought over hy Gopal Rao,

Althongh it was raining heavily, and the aftemoon far advanced
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when Thoinas recsived the summons, he did not hesitate for a moment

ia obeying it. The fall of his master meant his own ruin, far if Sindhi:

resumed Appa’s territory, as le seemed inclined to do, Tipira, Taptikra

and Firozpur would naturally go with it. Instantly collecting his

men, Thomas marched all night and the greater portion of the follew-

ing day and night, throngh constant rain and over heavy roads, and as

two o’elock on the second morning arrived before Kot Litli. Lis

sudden appearance, and the inclement slate of the weather, prevented

any opposition from the mutineers, who liad surronnded Appa and bis

iew faithful followers, and Thomis was able to march up to the fort,

encamp under its walls, and send in a supply of provistons, of wich

the chief stood in great neod.

As nearly all Appa’s troops were in mutiny, ib was inipossible to re-

establish his authority with the small force remaining loyal, and under

these circumstances Thomas recommended that an effort should be

made to come to terms with Sindhta, Of this advice Appa appreved ;

but he, nevertheless, sought an early opporthnity of placing himself and

his family in safety, and the next day made his way to Thomas’s camp,

a proceeding not unattended with danger, lt was now determined to

fal! back upon Kanaund, Appa’s principal stronghold, and the order

was given to strike camp and mareli. Dnt mo sooner had a start been

made, than the mutinecrs began te follow in pursuit, and in a short

time overtook and surrounded Thomas's foree. The position now

became very eritical, and as a last resource ‘Thomus urged Appa to

mount his elephant, and lead an attack, Lelievingy such belavionr

would have an inspiriting effect upon the men whe dofended him, aud

who were dishcartened atthe position in which they found themselves.

Appa, who was a courageous chief, ab once adopted the suggestion,

which met with complete success. No sooner was a beld frant shown

than the mutineers firs came to a halt, und then retreated, leaving

the way clear for Thomas to conduct his master in safety to Kanai.

The danger had been great, and the deliverauce dashing, and

in gratitude for hig exertions, Appa presented Thomas with a Alilué

of Tis.3,000, with which to purchase an elephant and palanqain

snitablo to his dignity. Turthermore, to mark lis appreciation of the

gallant and faithful conduct of the regular treops, he ordered a con-

siderable increase in their numbers, and assicvued ta ‘Phowas in

perpetaity the districts of Jhajjar, Baivi, Mandoti, and Pathoda, which

wore sitnated to tlhe westward of Delhi, aud yiclded au annual revenue

of a Jakh and a half of rupees,

This marked a distinct step in ‘Mhornas’s fortunes, for in ali the

changes and vicissitudes he subsequently experienced, ho elwiz to
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Jhajjar to the end, and only surrendered it at the termination of his

career,

Appa being safely established at KA4naund, where he was in a

position to hold his own, Thomas was permitted to depart in order

to take possession of his new territory, but before he had eampleted

doing so, a serious disturbance broke out in one of his master's

frontier districts, which was under the charge of a Bralimin official

named Ganga Bishen, who possessed great influence, and was able to

bring 14,000 fighting men into the field. Discontented with the exacting

rule of Appa, and encouraged by recent events, Ganga Bishen entered

into negotiations to transfer his allegiance to Gopal Réo Bhéo, and

surrender to Sindhia, the district he held from Appa. This intelligence

being communicated to the latter, he sent orders to Thomas to seize

the rebel, who at onee retreated to a mountainous part of the

Mewféiti country, and shut himself pin a strong hill fort.

In order to lull suspicion, Thomas allowed a short time to elapse

before making sny movement. He then, aftcr a sudden and swift

night march, presonted himself before the rebel’s stronghold, and by

a clever stratagem, secured his porson, and sent him to Appa. Bui

the fort still hold out, being ocenpied by a garrisén of 1,000 men,

under the command of Ganga Bishen’s nephew; and it was necessary

to reduce il. Ags it was known to be well supplied with provisions

and ammunition, nothing bul a long and tedious blockade secmed

possible, and the better to ensure success, Thomas began the construe-

tion of a chain of posts or redoubts around the place.

Whilst employed in erecting these, he experienced a desperate

adventure, in which he narrowly escaped losing his life. Shortly

after the completion of one of his principal redoubts, he had retired

to resb one night, when he was awakened by a great shouting and

commotion. Hurrying to an eminence near at hand, he saw that the

garrison had made a sortie, and possessed themselves of this redoubt,

in which was stored all his reserve arms and ammunition. Whilst

he was reconnoitring the position, a small band of the enemy caught

sight of him, and immediately bore down towards where he was

standing. In his haste Thomas had not armed himself, but at this

moment a faithful servant rushed wp with his sword, which he had

juat time to grasp when the attackers reached him, and he found him-

sclf confronted by half a dozen dangerous mon.

These discharged their matchlocks, ind threw several spears at him,

but fortunately with an unstecessful aim. Persciving a stand of

colours, which his own men had abandoned, Thomas stooped down

to pick thein up, and the enemy, concluding from the motion of his
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body that he was wounded, dashed forward, hoping to overpower him

by forec of numbers and a simultaneous onslaneht. Bat they had

under-cstimated the prowess of the Jehast Sahih. Nothing daunted

by overwhelming odds, he gallantly met them, and although he was

obliged 10 loose lis hold of the colours, he suceeeided in heating bis

assailants off, and on being reinforeced hy his men, drove them back

into the fort. Taint from loss of bleod, he could not fellow up the

advantage, but was compelled to retire to his trenches, where his

wounds were dressed, and his pusillanimous followers reeallud to a

sense of their duty.

The principal points in the lines of investment were now

strengthened, and the siege vigorously enforecd ; lut Ganga Bishen’s

nephew held ont as resolntely, and Thomas's troops soon begun io

suffer hardships, Supplies ran short, and siekness broke out. ‘The

camp equipment was of «a miserable description, Thoinas’s tent being

the only one in the field, and this, with characteristic generosity, he

gave up for use as a hospital. he weathor was inclement, with

inecssant rain, and was made the harder to hear from the grent

scarcity of blankets and warm clothing. As usual Thomas's funds wero

exhausted, and in order to raise suitielent money to purchase the

more urgent necessaries his men required, he sold his horses. It was

by such generous sacrifices as these that Thomas ende:red hirnself to

lis soldiers, and won from them that personal devotion which he

always enjoyed. In the piping times of peace lis liberality was

prodigal, and in seasons of adversity, when there was no pay in the

treasure chest, and no grain in the camp hazaar, he never failed to

identify himself with his followers, sharing with therm their trials,

their discomforts, and their dangers.

The siege of Ganga Bishen’a fort lasted for some time, but atter

two mines had heen sprung with considerable effect, the garrison

capitwated, and Appa’s authority was asserted. Thomas then re-

turned fo Jhajjar, where he collected the revenue due, paid his troops

their arrears, and allowed them the rest needful aftor their Inte severe

exertions.

Towards the end of 1794, GopAl Rio Bhio, Siudhia’s viceroy in

Hindustan, was disgraced, and snperseded by General De Boigne, who

delegated much of his authority to Lalwa Dada, a distinonished and

favourite chief of the late Madhoji Sindhia. Takwa uoew apncared in

the vicinity of Appa's territory at the head of a large Mardthé anny,

and the Intter, considering it politie to pay bis respects in person,

visited his camp.

But although Appa was well reerived, the oceasion was taken to
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demand from him arrears of tribute which were stated to be due; and

when he desired to depart permission was withheld, and he was

practically detained a prisoner pending the setllement of what was

claimed from him. Although the whole amount was only two lakhs

of rupees, nnd many persons in Appa’s family could easily have

afforded him assistance in his distress, not «1 man was found who

would advaneo anything. Being unable to raise the required sum,

Appa, to secure his freedom, was obliged to make over his districts in

mortgage to a MarAths, chief, named Bapu Farnavis, and furthermore

to enter into an agreement to pay the troops Gapu proposed to keep

up to collect the revenuc. ‘In short,” observes Thomas in his

memoirs, “it was plain to see that whoever micht hereafter, by

cliance of war, obtain possession of the districts in quastion, it was

evident that by these concessions Appa had for ever done away with

his own right.’ Amongst the paryannahs thus surrendered were

these of Tij4ra, Tapikra and Wirozpur, which belonged to Thomas,

to whom the loss was 2 severe one, but with a macnanimity highly

to his credit he observed that “since his principle was ruined he had

no cause for complaint,” and made no claim for compensation from

that part of his master's Lerritory still remaining to him.

Appa Khandi Béo’s prestige and authority were much shaken by

this sequestration of his property, and his detention in Lakwa Dada’s

camp, and the inhabitants of iis remaining districts deemed the

opportunity a good one for refusing the payment of their taxes, and

breaking into rebellion, But they hadreekoncd without their master’s

tax-satherer, Thomas at once mayehed against them at the head of

800 men, and in a short time captured several of their pringipal placcs,

some by day and others by night assaults, and soon reduced ther to

submission. lis promptitude in planning, and vigour in executing,

puutive expeditions of this description were remarkable. Having

oxacted heavy fines from a large portion of the malcontents, he came

at length to a plaec called Baivi, where he met with a desperate

resistance, the description of which is best told in his own words.

“Tu the fort of Dyree, oxclusive of the garrison, were 500 Rajpools

and Jhats, who had been bired for the cxpress purpose of defending

the place, and it was here that 1 was in the most Imminent danger of

losing the whole of my party. We had stormed the fort and were

beat back with logs, Onc of my sirdars (officers) was wounded, and

from the confusion that occurred was left behind in the hands of the

enemy. The danger was cvery moment increasing, the town being

set on fire in several places, and our retreat nearly cut off by the

flames that surrounded us.
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“Tn this situation we had the additional mortification to perceive

the merciless enemy seive on the wonnded officer, ad with savage

barbavity precipitate him into the fire, Maqnally animated and

enraged by the spectacle, my troops now rushed forward to the

attack, with an ardour that was irresistible. Tlavine gained entire

possession of the fort, the soldiers, will) elaimerous expressions of

revenge, insisted on the death of every one of the garrison that

remained, and I was not inclined te refuse. Dnt it cost us dear, tbe

enemy toa man making a brave resistaneo, ‘This contest was con-

tinucd so long as to afford time to those who had retreated to return ;

by these means we were engaged aguin, and ai ono time almost over-

powered, but receiving a reinforcement of our own party, the enemy by

slow decrees began again to retreat. 1 pursued with the cavalry:

the enemy once more made a stand in the jungles adjoining the

town, when, after a second desperate conflict, they gave way on alt

sides, and most of them were cul to pieces.”

The expedition which was concluded by this vigorous oxploit had

been ashorb but severe one. Now that it was finished, the recogui-

tion awaiting Thomas was not such as he expected, for scarcely had

he completed the objects of his march than he reeeived @ comamiani-

cation from Appa, informing him that, owing to his straitened means,

he found it impossible to retain the services of the battalion, and he

therefore desired if to be dismissed, and Thomus io repair to his

camp in the country of the Rio hajah.

It was certainly a brief and stznmiury way of terminating the con-

tract that existed between the seldier und his master, and had the

merit of simplicity ; but it quite ignored the fact that Thomas's troops

were in considerable arrears of pay, and that without a settlement of

their claims it was impossible to disband them, Their commander,

therefore, marched to Appe’s camp, which was pitched near Ulwar,

and in the interview which followed, was informed by the chief, who

spoke with visible uneasiness, that the Mardath’ commanders noticing

Thomas's influence and his energetic conduct, considered him a

dangerous personage, and one who might, if oceasion arose, act against

Sindhia hineclf, and they had therefure requested Appa to discharve

hin.

Thomas, un hewring this, at ouee repaired to Lakwa Dida, whom

he taxed with endeavouring to procare his ruin; bat the Mariihé

general not only donied that he liad ever disapproved of Thomas's

conduct, ut offered him the command of 4,000 men in Sindhia’s

service, if Le felt inclined to leave Appi.

This was putting a new complexion on affairs, for tlie proposal cm-
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braced a promotion which few men wonld have hesitated to aceept.

3ut it failed to tempt Thomas, whose idea of duty stretched before

him straight asa die. Mercenary soldier and adventurer thongh he

was, no truer or more faithful servant thau this wandering Lrishman

ever pledged his word, Appa’s districts had now broken out again

into a state of open rebellion, and Thomas “ considered himself mder

obligations which could not be passed over; for if ha now quiiled his

master it would in all probability prove his utter ruin, and he there-

fore resolved to adhere to Appa Khandi Rao, and endeavonr to retrieve

his affairs.”

On Thomas's return from Lakwa's camp, he went to interview

Appa, who exensed himself for his late conduct, the reasons for which

are hard to understand. But he managed to satisfy Thomas (who

on more than one occasion in his career gave evidence of a confiding

and complacent disposition}, and induced him to undertake the sub-

jugation of the revolted districts. Before lie could start, however, there

came a request from Lakwa Dida, for Appa’s battalion to assist in the

reduction of the fort of SohAwalgarhk, which had refrsed to pay its

stipulated tribnte to the Mavrithds, and, with his master’s consent,

Thomas marched his men to join the forces already engaged in

hesieging the place,

On his arrival Thomas’s post was assigned to him, but his men,

being now several months in arrears of pny,“ refused to fieht, and in

order to satisfy their demands he was agai compelled fo sell his

property, and distribute the proceeds before his soldiers would return

to their duty.

Schdwalgarh had been for some time invested by four of General

De Boigne’s battalions, under command of Major Gardner. The

snemy, in the hopes of eompelling the Marithds to raise the siege,

had taken possession of the ravines in the neighbourhood, whieh led

to several skirmishes, occasioning losses on both sides. Soon after

Thomaa’s arrival a council of War was summoned to consider the best

means of reducing the place, and Major Gardner proposed the advance

of a second parallel, but this conld not be effected without first

capturing a very strongly fortified outpost, which no one appeared

inclined to attack.

Thomas, who was present at the council, volunteered no ailvice, but

hia mind was already made up to take the vedoubt. Thal same

evening he carefully reconnoitred its appronches, and decided how to

* The chronic state of urrears in which Thomas's troaps seemad to exist is

difficult to understand. It is probable that his frequent assertions of having

“ paid them up ** meant only small payments on avcouut.
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assiuult it, and early the next morning, withont acquainting any one of

his design, mustered Lis troops, formed them into columns, and,

advancing whilst the enemy were off guard, completely surprised

them. Having stormed the outworks ho effeeted an entry into the

redoubt itself, and maintained his position until le was reinforced

from the Marithé camp, wherernpon the enemy evacuated the placc,

and he established himself in the position he had won,

The second parallel was now xidvanced, and the fort so closely

invested, that the commandant, despairing of succonr from without,

negotiated for terms, and w ransom of two laklis of rupees was

demanded, which he agreed to pay. ‘Thomas received a share sufii-

cient to reimburse him for all the expenses he had incurred, and

then returned to his own country. This he found m the usual

rebellious slate, aud the betler to keep it in order, he divided his

force into two battalions, one of whieh he employed in the collection

of revenue, and kept the other stationed at Jhajjar. .

And now another danger threatened him. \I’or some menths past the

Regum Somru had been trying by every means in her power to effect

Thotnas’s ruin, and had even gone so far as to bribe the Marathi

officials to advise his disunssal. To thig hostile course of action she

was incited by her !reneh officers, and especially by Thomas’s old

enemy, Le Vassoult, to whiom, about this time, the Becum was secretly

married. His influence being now paramount, he persuaded her to

attack Thomas's districts, and she accordingly ordered her arniy to

Tharu, a place about twenty-five miles south-east of Jhajjar. The

force consisted of 4 battalions of infantry, 400 cavalry, and 20 guns,

and it was publicly given out that the object of the expedition was u

war of revenge against her former officer.

Thomas immediately called in his detachments to headquarters,

where he concentrated all his troops, which now amvuunted to 2,000

regular infantry, 200 cuvalry, and 10 pieces of artillery. With these

he prepared to mect the threatened invasion; but before the Beguu

could put her intention into execution, 1 mutiny broke out in her

army, and she was obliged to return to Surdlina, whilst Thomas,

freed from the impending danger, once more turned his attention to

the ever-constant necessity of keeping his own districts in order.

Since Appa’s reverse of fortune his country had been placed under

a joint management, as Lukwa Dida insisted on his officials being

associated in the collection of the revenue. This surveillance war

strongly resented by Appa, wliow it greatly humiliated, and he there-

fore intrigued to sow dissensions between Lakwa and his local deputy

Bapu Farnavis, and baving succeeded in setting the two quarrelling,
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determined, whilst they were occupied with one another, to reassert

his own independense.

Withdrawing into his stronghold of Kanaund, which he fortified

very strougly, he sent orders to Thomas to summarily dismiss the

Maratha colleetors and officials employed by Lakwa Dada. These in-

structions were promptly carried into effect, although their execution

gave vise to much severe fighting and loss of life. Appa next marched

oul and laid seige to Narnil, « large and populous town sixteen miles

south of Kinaund, where Thomas joined him, and the chief was so

delighted with the thorough way in which his work had been per-

formed, that he presented him with several valuable presents, in-

cluding an elephant and a palanguin.

Narndl was under the command of one of Lakwa Dada’s Drabmin

officials, whe, on hearing of Thomas’s arrival, came to him secretly

at night, and offered to surrender the town and fort if the safety of

his own person and property were guaranteed. _ To this Thomas

agreed, and the gates were opened tle next morning to the besiegors.

But now a difficulty arose, for Appa, boing in desperate want of

money, desired to oxtort a heavy fine from the Brahmin, who was

known to be a rich man, and demanded his surrender from Thomas.

Tho request was at ance retused, with un explunution of ihe circum-

stances under which the man had given himscif up. Upon this Appa

became very angry, and declared that the slight lowered lim in the

estimation of his followers, and that if was not within Thomas’s

power to grant terms and protection to the chief's enemies. But

Thomas, whoso loyalty to his word of honour was lis finest trait,

refused to yield, and the result was a serious rupture belween him

and Appa.

A few days later Thomas was requested to attend his master, and

at onee complied. Having arrived at the house where Appa had

taken up his quarters, he was informed that the chief was ill and

confined to his bed in an upper chamber, fo which Thomas was

desired to ascend. Suspectiug no treachery, and anxious to avoid

siving any cause [or offence, he left his escort below aud went upstairs

unattended, when, to his surprise, he found Appa apparently perfectly

well, and waiting to receive him.

A conversation ensued, and ib soon became ovident that the sur-

render of the Bralaniin was the main object of the interview. Thomas

listened to all his master had to say,and then replied that his pledged

word 1nvolved his personal honour and could not be broken, and that

no considcratian would induce him to yield to Appa’s request. On

hearing this the chief, making somo excuse, roso and left the room,
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from which he had no sooner departed, than ib was tilled with armed

wen.

‘Vhe trap he bad fallon into was uow apparent to Phooas, bat so

far from showing any alarm or timidity, he calmly retuined Jiis seat

with an air of tmperturbability—a course of conduct that was, not

without its effect upon the intruders. LVrosently a letter was handed

him from Appa, which proved to be wsuré of ullitnatum, domendiny

the immediate surrcuder of the Bralinin.

This brought matters to a crisis. Many a man in suelo dilemma

would have salved his couscienee with the reflection that he had donc

everything in his power to keep his promise, and that to resist any

longer was only to wantonly jmperil the one life that stood between

the proposed vietim and his destruction, Lut this was not the view

Thomas took of the iatler, for he spurned such a surreuder vf

principle as it involved, and instantly refused courpliauee. Then,

rising to his feet, he demanded, ii xn buperious tone, to be conducted

to Appa’s presence, Lis audacity saved him, atid before any one

could interpose he sirode out of the room and into the adjoining

eliamber, where the chief had retired.

At the sudden apparition of the tall resolute Irisluuau, whom he

had imagined a prisoner, Appa was completely taken whack, There

was dauger in Thomas’s flashivg eye, and an actual threat in the

action of his hand, as if senehé the hilt of lis sword. DGefore this

exhibition of daring the Maratha chief quailed, und seeing his lesita-

tion, Thoinas, with the exquisite guile and gallantry of Lis country-

nen, relieved himself of a conventioual compliment, aul accomplished

his departure unmolested.

On his return to caup he despatched lis divin, or head native

otheial, to Appa to inform him that, “compelled by a jush indignation

against the treachery of his proceeding, he would no longer serve

him.” Tn this determination Thomas was supported by his troops,

who, fired at the insult offered their leader, declared they would no

lounger retain in Appu’s service,

The incident illustrates very vividly (he dangers that surrounded a

soldier of fortunc in India in these days. Craft uc ireachery were

component parts of Lhe Marithi nature, aid the European, with his

code of honour, was at a disadvantage in dealing with men who had

none, Appa’s original requcst was onc that would have becn coi:

plied with by any native without deme or hesitation, and the miciuns

he took to try and enforce it was cousistent with c-tablished custom,

and would probably lave been considercd rather clover, The fict

that Thomas had for a long time devoicd himscl! with uncominon
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energy and fidelity to the chief's cause, weighed as nothing against

ithe gratification of avarice or malice, and Appa would have sacrificed

his officer without « sigh rather than forego the accomplishment of

his personal desire.

And now that he had failed to coerce or intimidate him his conduct

was equally despicable. He feared losing not only his Huropean, but

the regular infantry as well, So he began to invent excuses for lis

iweachery, trying to explain it away, and in order to re-esiablish conB-

dence came the next day in person to Thomas's camp, and succeeded

in persnading Lim to withdraw his resignation and return to his

allegianee, It is difficult to compreliend how Thomas could have

consented to overlook what had occurred, but it is possible that he

hesitated before relinquishing an established position with a chief of

standing, and one that was not without certain substantial advan-

tages. At any rate matters were amicably adjusted, and before Appa

lef, he and Thomas were on their old footing.

The collection of the ravenue in the Mawitti district was the next

task thai engaged Thomas’s attention. Here he found the Maratha

officials aguin intericring and quarrelling with Appa’s, bub by puuish-

ing some, and conciliating others, he brought matters into a favour-

able train for settlement. In the conrse of these proceedings, however,

he was under the necessity of storming a fort, in which he captured

a valuable bacty of cannon, bullocks, and other transport animals.

On hearing of this success Appa claimed as his right the artillery

taken, but Thomas as strenuously insisted thut the guns belonged to

the troops who had fought for them. This divergence of opinion led to

another rupture, and Appa, highly incensed at his officer's insulprdi-

nation and growing ideas of independence, determined, if possible,

to finally cffect his downfall.

Te this end he entered into communication with a body of

Ghussains, who were proceeding on their annual pilgrimage to

Hardwar, and happened to be encamped in the neighbourhood. These

people belonged to a formidable seet of Hindu mendicanis, aceustomed

to engage in military service when any offered, and large bodies of

them were frequently to be met with travelling from place to place,

and levying contributions wherever they went. They often attached

thomselves to the serviee of a particular chief, and for sudden attacks

or reprisals no menu could bo found better fitted, for they were

inured to pain and privation by the nature of their calling, and were

absolutely indifferent to deatih.

Ip consideration of a reward of Its.10,000 the Jeader of this band of

Ghussains agreed to make an attack on Thomas; but, luckily, particulars
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of this atrocious arrangement were communicated to him ly the agents

he employed in Appa Khandi ljo’s camp. Deeply incensed at the

premeditated treachery Thomas determined to defeat it, and making

a night march against the Ghussaius, fell upon thom wnawares, and

completely turned the tables on the would-be assassins, for he routed

them with immense slanghter, and sent the few survivors in headlong

flight to Delhi, as though the devil himself were afler them. Tlavmg

thus asserted himself, Thomas wrote to Appa, denouncing his base

conduct, and deelining to reniain any longer in the serviec of one who

could be guilty of such a shamefnl act.

A Maratha is seldom at a loss for an exeuse, anit Appa absolved

himself from all responsibility for the deed, by laying the blame on

his servants ; vowing that they alone were guilly, he limgelf liaving

been il, and nnable to attend to any business. He then went on to

expatiate upon the gravity of his dicordor, whieh had taken a danyerons

turn and was growing worse covery day, and capped all by expressing

a wish for a personal interview with Thomas, before it was too late, in

order that he might place under his charge the heir and suecessor he

had chosen, and for whose yonth and inexperience he desired to enlist

hig offiecr’s favour,

This invitation was both surprising and awkward, for though it was

true that Appa’s health was failing, Thomas was not prepared ta place

any further reliance on his word. On the other hand, it was difficult to

refuse such a request from so powerful a chief. Tappily te neecssity

of coming to a decision in this difienlt dilemma was obviated liy in-

telligence of a raid made by a pmmerons body of Sikhs mto the Doib

districts north of Delhi, where, after defeating and almost extermin-

ating the Marth’ troops stationed for the defence of the fronticr, they

were committing great depredations in the vicinity of Saharanpur.

Although Appa Khandi Rio had no particular connection with

Saharanpur, he thonglit that, in common with the other Marathi’ chiefs,

he ought to exert himself to prevent firther incursions, the more

especially ag his own districts would in all probability be the nest to

suffer from these desperate marauders. Ife therefore ordered Thomas

to march his whole force northward, and attack the Sikhs wherever

he encountered thom in Marathi tervitory.

The commission was one to Thonims’s taste. Le had the Irishman’s

irresistible love of a row, and nevor lagged when fighting was in pros-

pect, Moreover, the expedition relicved him from his quandary with

regard to Appa’s invitation, Crossing the Jumna, a little to the werth

of Delhi, he advanced rapidly towards the onemy. But the Sikhs

linew the Jthasi Sahil of old, having often felt the weight of bis
Hy
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sword when he was in the service of the Begum Somru, and entrusted

with the defence of these very districts. To quote Thomas’s own

words, “he had on more than ono cecasion given them samples of his

method of fighting,”* and the information thus conveyed auficed. They

had no slomach now to uect the fiery Irishman, whose prowess was

already a password along the fronticr, and on hearing of his approach

effected a rapid retreat into their own territory.

When Lakwa Déda heard how promptly and efficiently Thomas had

retrieved the disgraceful defeat of the Maratha troops and cleared the

country of the Sikhs, he requested Appa to allow his officer to raise a

body of 2,000 men for the protection of the province of Saharanpur and

other parts of the Maratha possessions. ‘To this Appa, unable to dis-

oblige so powerful a chief, reluctantly consented, und the districts of

Panipat, Sonpat, and Karnfil, were assigned to Thomas in Jaided, for

the upkeep of « special frontier force of 2,000 infantry, 200 cavalry,

and 16 guns. These districts were contiguous to Thomas's own jaghir

of Jhajjar, and their acquisition made hint paramount lord over an

extensive domain. Pinipat itself was an historical cily of great au-

tiquity. It stoad in the centre of a large plain, which had been the

scene of two decisive batiles in the history of Hindustan, and although

it had ceased to be an emporium of cornmerce, as it had once been for

the caravans of Kabul, Lahore, and Persia, it still remained a place of

considerable importance. /

No sooner lad Thomas established himself in this new territory

than a pathetic appeal for help reached him from his old mistress

the Begum Somru. Her marriage with Le Vassoult had led to a

mutiny in her foree, and in a yain endeavour te eseape from Sardhaéna,

her husband met his death, and she herself was deposed from authority,

and confined a prisoner at her capital, her step-son, Zaffar Yib Khan,

otherwise known as Dalthazar Sombre, being slevated to the govern-

mont. The Begum now wrote to Thomas in most abject and des-

ponding terms, throwing herself on his clemency, and bagging him to

come to her aid, a8 she had no one else to look to. She declared that

she was living in imminent dread of being poisoned, and offered to pay

any sum of money he might demand if he would only reinstate her

in power.

Thomas possessed in a very marked degree the virtues of chivalry -

and generosity, and could never turn a deaf ear to the pleadings of

lovely woman in distress. According to his recorded description the

Begum was at this time forty-five years of age, small in stature and

inclined to be plump. Her complexion was very fair, and her eyes

black, large, and animated. Her dress “ perfect Hindostany ” and of
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the most costly material. She spoke the Tersian and Iindustani

languages with flnency, and in conversation was “engaging, sensiblo

and spirited.” He resolved to help her, and on reeeipt of her letter

induced Bapu Sindhia, the Maritht governor of Saharanpur, by an

offar of Tig.120,000 (£15,000), to move somo troops towards Sardhana.

From his former experiensa Thomas felt econvinecd that unless he

could gain over a portion of the Bogunys rebellious soldiery, who had

now sworn allegiances to Balthazar Sombre, not only would his exer-

tions be fruitless, but the Princess herself would be exposed to the

greatest personal danger, So he set on foot an intrigue for this purpose

in which he was successful. He then marched with his force, and

encamped at the village of Kataoli, twelve miles to the nortl: of

Sardhina, where he publicly announced that unless the Legum was

yeinstated in authority, ho would accord no merey to those who re-

sisted ; and to give additional weight to his proclamation he stated thut

he was acting under the authority of Sindhia.

‘This intimation was at first abtended wilh the desire effect, for a por-

tion of the troops belonging to the Smidhiina State immediately re-

sponded hy confining Bulthazar Sombre and declaring for the Begun,

But Thomas knew well that no reliance could be placed on their cayi-

cious temper, for mutiny came to them as a poriodical relaxation in

the monotony of life: so he lost no time in pinning them to their

declaration by advaneing towards Sardlina. Lut beforo he reached

the place a counter revolution had already proclaimed the restoration

of Balthazar Sombre.

Thomas now determined on acoup de main. Ordering four hundred

of his infantry to follow with all expedition, le galloped forward, escorted

by only fifty cavalry, on whom he could thoroughly depend. Balthazar

Sombre on seeing the weakness of this escort at ounce jumped at the

conclusion that he had got Thomas into his power, and gave orders

for an attack, but at this moment the infantry were perceived in the

distance, and the mutineers believing the whole Maratha anny was

at hand, sought safety in a third revolution, deposed Balthazar neneire

_ contradicenic, and teadered their humble subniussion to Thomas.

Befors sunset the Begum Somru wus restored to power, and an oath

of fidelity—such as it waa worth-—extracted from her troops, whilst

Balthazar Sombre, who was a poor debauched semi-imbacile half-caste,

was plundered of all hig property, and conducted a prisuner to Deihi,

where he was incarcerated.

After reinstating the Begum Thomas marehed his foree to a large

town named Samli, sitnated on the Sikh frontier, the commandant

of which placo had encouraged ihe Sikhs in their late incursion, by
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communicating fothem the defenceless condition of the Upper Provinces.

Sari was situated forty-five miles from Sardhdna, and Thomas covered

the distance in fwenty-four hours. An action took place in the open, in

which the commandant, after a stubborn resistance, was defeated and

compelled to retreat into the town, and Tllomas, anxious to bring the

affair to a speedy conelusion, gave orders for an assault the same

evening, when the fort was carried by storm, and nearly all the garrison

put to the sword.

It was by these long and rapid marches, and by these sudden and

vigorous attacks, that Thomas won mosi of his victories. There never

existed a man who more conscientiously observed the maxim “ Never

put off ti to-morrow what you ean do to-day.” Fearless, impatient,

impetuous, the Jehazt Sahib could brook no delay when hia fighting

blood was aroused, and his very audacity imposed on hie enemias, so

that they came to rogard him ag irresistible and invincible.

Having arranged affairs at Samlt, and appointed a new governor,

Thomas next repaired to Bapu Sindhia’s camp, to whoin, under orders

from Appa, he was now attached. DBipu was engaged in the reduction

of Laknoti, a place of considerable strength, situated on the east bank

of the Jumna o little to the north of Bamli, and vecupied by the Sikha,

A practicable breach having been effected, preparations were made for

an assanit, but the commandant, seeing he was likely to be unsuecessful

in defending the fort, in order to save effusion of blood, came privately

to Thomas’s tent, and made terms for the surrender of the place, which

were faithfully and punctually carried out on the following morning.

The next mattot of importance in Thomas's career was the receipt of

a letter (rom Appa, in which that chief informed him that from con-

tinued illness his pains werc augmented to a degree which had become

intolerable, and no hope remaining of recovery from his cruel distemper,

he had determined to put a period to his misery by voluntary death.

For this purpose he was on his way to the Ganges, but he requested

Thomas te coms to sec him once more before the seene closed for ever,

On receipt of this intelligonce Thomas set out immediately to afford,

such consolation as he could to his desponding chief; but he had not

marched far when intelligence reached him that Appa had committed

suicide by drowning himself in the river Jumna.

Thus perished, in 1797, one of Madhoji Sindhia’s most intrepid and

enterprising chieftains, and a man who had played no inconsiderable

2 part in the Marathé conquest of Hindustan. Appa had been engaged

in the battles of Lalsét, Chaksana, and Agra, and the eceupation of

Delhi. Ile was a typical Marithé, whose mind was never free from

intrigue and treachory, aud his conduct towards Thomas had al. times
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been as base as it was unintelligible, for he had no abler or more loyal

soldier in his service than the Huropean whiose life he twice attempted

to take. On the other hand Appa was w brave and skilful general,

whose Liter misfortunes wero due to political causes, and who, during

a troublous time in the history of Hindustan, held his own against

mauy and powerful enemies, and retained his distinguished position

until his death,
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THE CONQUESY OF HARIANA.

1797-1798,

HE death of Appa Khandi Rio was a severe blow fo Thomas.

Although the chief had ofton been capricious and treacherous in

his conduct, je had at tines shown he could appreciate the high

qualities of his Furopean officer, and as lie represented an established

power in Maratha politics there was a substantial advantage in being

connected with him. <A great deal could be done in India under the

name of authority, even though the power invoked was a shadowy

toreality. For twenty years Hindustan had been ruled in the name

of Shah ’Alam, and notwithstanding that he was blind, helpless, and

a prisoner, edicts continued to be issned in his name, and rewards,

titles, and privileges conferred by his davour.

Appa Khandi Rio was sueceeded in his possessions by his nephew

Vaman Ito, or Bawan Rao as the name is sometimes written.

Yiman Réo was a vain, inexperienced youth, better fitted for

the calling of an accountant than the career of a soldier. He was

entirely in the hands of intriguing Brahmins and crafty courtiers, who

crowded his capital at ewdri, and were jealous of the authority and

influence of Thomas, to whom Appa, in his last moments, had sn-

trusted the protection of his heir, They soon persuaded the young

chief fo renounce his guardian, and demand from hirn the restitution

of the distriet, which had heen cranted as a reward for honourable

services. Thomas was naturally indignant at this treatment, and

percmplorily refused to surrender his Jaidad, but conseions that a

quatrel between Viunan Rio and himself could only involve both in

very serious difficulties, he endcavoured fo compromise matters by

offering to pay asum of money to be confirmed in ris possessions,

this species of succession duty being in accordance with the custom of

the country.

134
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Bunt Vaman Rao, instigated by his advisers, would not agree to this,

and was foolhardy onowgh to resort to force. Without notice or

warning he occupied with his undisciplined rabble a large villaze

ealled Kosli, which formed part ef Thomas's possvssions. The latter,

with «a forbearance not usual wilh him, earbed his inglitation to fight,

and endeavoured to avoid a breach of the pease. This encouraged

Vaman Rio, who on being joined by lurge bodies of local peasantry,

becamo too formidable to be ignored, and Thomas felt obliged to bring

the business to an issue. He accordingly attacked the chief’s troops,

and the affair was quickly decided. Vian Réo’s soldiery broke at

the firsb onslaught and fled in all directions, and the greater part of

them having taken refuge in the fort of Kosli were besieged therein.

After erecting baiteries, Thomas ordered grates for heating sliot to

be made ready, and this being done, fired so successfully with red hot

balls as to quickly set the place on-fire, and compel a surrender at

discretion.

It was now agreed thaf-an interview should take place between

Thomas and Vaman Rao at Kinaund, for atthe first sign of defeat the

chief had shunt himscif up in that stronghold. But when Thomas

arrived, Vian Rado pretended to be fearful of treachery, and refused

to come out of the fort, whilst Thomas, for similar reasons, was un-

willing to enter it. The negotiations were in consequence broken off,

aud leaving matters in siaftea quo the lattes marclted lis troops north,

whero his presence was reqnired to repel an incursion of the Sikhs.

He took the precaution, however, of leaving « force to defend Jhajjar

against any attack that might be made on it in his absence, and then

directed his way to Karnil, where he scon had his hands full of

fighting. Tour successive actions took place, which resulted in a loss

of 500 men on Thomas's side, and 1,000 on that of the enemy. A

mutual desire for peace was the result of this blood-letting, and a

treaty was concluded by which the Sikls agreed to evacuate tho

villages they had taken possossion of.

Vamen Rao did not uegiect the opportunity of attacking Miajjar

during its master’s absence, but the garrison left in it resisted bin

successfully, and on Thomas’s return tho ebief thought fit to retire.

The differences between Thomas and his old master’s heir lid been

fomented in a greab measure hy a specious and wily native named

Kashmiri Bholi, who was the zemindur, or headiian, of a large and

populous district ealled Dadri, which Iny to the west of Jhajjar.

Thomas now determined to punish this individual, and falling upen

him suddenly extorted a heavy fine. No sooner had he effected this

than he was summoned by Bapu Sindhia, the governor of Saharanpur,
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to assist in repelling an invasion of Rohillas on tle eastern frontier of

the province, ta which they had been incited by a Sikh chief named

Nihal Sing, who had himself assembled a large body of his country-

men to assist by a diversion on the western boundary. On ‘homas’s ap-

proach the latter at onee withdrew, and meanwhile Bapu having driven

back the Rohillas, Thomas's assistance was not required, so he turned

aside to Sonpat, one of the districts recently assigned to bim, and en-

camped there a short time, making himself acquainted with its re-

source, Soon rmmours of the arrival at Lahore of Zemin Shah, the

King of Kabul, created general consternation in Hindustan, and

caused Bipu Sindhia to summon a couneil of war, to which Thomas

was invited, tho districts he was deputed to guard being in the very

path of the projectod invasion, and the place where the Afghan army

should most properly bo met.

Unfortunately at this critical juneture Thomas's troops, being in

arrears of pay, became clamorous for their ducs. This, at a time

when their services might at any moment be urgently required, gave

the greatest offence and dissalisfaction to Lipu, and caused a serious

misunderstanding between him and Thomas. The result was that the

latter marched away in disgust, and was at oneo followed and at-

tacked by a force sent after him by the Mar4tha chief, but in the

action that took place Bapu’s general was wounded, and drew off hig

troops. At amicablo arrangement might now have been effected had

not the sikhs, delighted at the breach between the governor of

Saharanpur and his Warden of the Marches, intrigued successtully

io widen it and bring about a renewel of hostilities.

Tis was a serious matter, for with Bapu Sindhia against him on

one side, and Viman lao on the other, each threatening to sequestrate

his assigned districts, Thomas was placed in « dangerous predica-

ment. After considering hig situation, he determined to fall back on

Karnal; but in order to accomplish this he bad to cross the Jumna,

and Bipu, who was determined to dispute his passage, having strongly

reinforced his defealed troops, took the command in person, and

setting between Thomas and the river opposed lis progress. A des-

perate engagement ensued, but the Intter, although greatly ontnum-

bered, was successful in holding his own and eventually effected his

object.

Bayu Sindhi was now joined by many of the country people,

and further reinforced by troops sent out by Ragoji, the Maratha

general ut Delhi, as well as by somo of the Begum Somrv’s battalions

—-1 poor reward to Thomas lor the aid he had recently afforded that

princess. As Surdhina waa a lributary state to the Marithis, she wus
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probably acting from necessity not choice. With this combined force

Bapu crossed the Jumna, and by a rapid march took up a position

between Thomas and Jhajjar with the intention of cutting off his

retreat to his Jaidad,

Thomas’s position was now very critical, for he was short of provisions

and completely isolated, and there was only one resource left to him,

namely, to fight his way through the enemies’ forces. This he at once

determined to do, and forming his men into line, gave battle. Bapu

now looked upon success as assured, and engaging Thomas's front

with his infantry, sent his cavalry to charge him in flank. These

attacked him again and again, but were on each occasion driven back

by steady and well-directed volleys, poured into them by Thomas’s

right and left wings, who changed front to repulse them. After each

charge Thomas moved his force forward, and as the attacks became

weaker and weaker gradually made good his advance, until at length

he found the road to Jhajjar clear and effected his escape. Bapu,

disheartened by his heavy loss, made no attempt to pursue, but con-

tented himself with re-occupying the districts of Panipat, Sénpat and

Karnal, which Thomas, of necessity, had to abandon.

Dispossessed of his principal source of revenue, Thomas was now com-

pletely crippled, and left with no adequate means to pay his troops, who

numbered 3,000 men. He had hitherto occupied a position analagous

to that of other European adventurers in the Maratha service, to

whom territory was assigned for the upkeep of their corps. But his

summary dismissal from his appointment of Frontier Warden, and the

resumption of his districts by Bapu, left him not only without a master,

and without a territory, but encumbered with an army heavily in

arrears of pay, which had recently mutinied and might at any time

mutiny again, and with only the revenues of the comparitively small

district of Jhajjar to draw upon. These were altogether insufficient

for the support of such a large force as he had enlisted.

This reverse marks a distinct departure in Thomas’s career.

Hitherto he had been a mercenary, fighting other peoples battles for

stipulated payment, and acting under such authority or license as

passed current in those wild times and places. But the fountain of re-

muneration was now dried up, and he was thrown solely on his own

resources. Needs must when necessity drives, and from this hour

Thomas threw off all disguise, and became a freebooter pure and

simple. There was no attempt at concealment. He began forthwith to

support himself by fillibustering raids on the towns and villages of

his neighbours, without any regard whatever to the elementary laws

of meum and tuum. He sold his troops for specific reward, or let
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them out “ by the job,” with license to pillage and plunder like any

Pindari. His altacks were indiscriminate, the occasion of his im-

pecnniosity being the certain signal for a foray in the nearest territory

where he could hope to levy fines.

This course of life which he now enlercd upow cannot be defended

or excused. The most that ean be said for it is that it was in keeping

with the ideas of the times, and in harmony with the Maratha system

which dominated Hindustan. Thomas, in his isolated and adven-

tnrous career, surrounded by enemies and befriended by no one, was

fighting for very existence. Both Ivis livelihood and personal safety

depended upon the mon who followed his standard ; had they rebclled

against him his life would not have been worth an hour's purchase.

Money was the sole power able to control them, and when his assign-

ment was forfeited his only means of raising money went with it,

There were but two courses open to him: flight into British territory,

or a bold bid for independence. THis daring and ambitious nature

rebelled ugainst the ignominious escape offered by the former: to

achieve the latter it was necessary to throw all conventional restraint

to the winds, and boldly usurp a position, which, whilst raising overy

man’s hand against his, would make him his own master. This was

the course George Thomas chose,

Upon his arrival at Jhajjar the troops at onee dermanded their pay,

and in order to satisfy their claims he marched them against Harichu,

a largs and populous town belonging to the Rajah of Jaipur, and

“Jevied a contribution” from it, Without reason or right other than

his own necessity, he called on the governor of the town to pay him a

“ransom” of a lakh of rupees, which being denied, he stormed and

took possession of the place. The fort, which defended the town, and

stood separate from i, still held out; but when Thornas prepared for

a second assault, the commandant offered Rs.52,000, and this was

aceepted. But during the negotiations the town had * anfortunately

been set on fire, and burnt so fiercely that goods fo the amount of

several Jakhs of rupees were totally consumed.”

This episode is related by Thomas with a eandour which, in a less

reprehensible matter, wonld be a naive, There is a directness of

description and a precision of narrative im his treatment of the subject

which has a copybook simplicity. He volunteers no explanation,

advances no theory of jnatification, attempts no excuses, bub merely

mentions that he wanted money to pay lis wen, and se he went to

Havichu and took it.

Perhaps this bold and lawlese action had an effec on Vaman To,

whose adjacent territories might be the next fo tempt “ contribution.”
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Atany rate he chose the moment to re-open negotiations, and con-

ducted them in such a conciliatory spirit, that tho differences between

the two were adjusted and Thomas was coufirmed in his possession of

Jhajjar. Tn return for this be employed himself in reducing several

of the chiefs refractory zeniindars to obedience, and in forcing from

them the payment of their arrears of revenne, This incidental ex-

pedition carried him again towards the borders of the Jaipur territory,

the proximity of which suggested another raid. And so he repeated

his former experiment, this time under a pretence of punishing, what

he was pleased to call, “‘ a nest of banditti,” who had at some remote

date invaded Vamnan Raéo'sa country, the memory of which iniquity

aroused a virtuous indignation in Thomas's bosom, and compelled

him to attack them in foree, and annihilate “the thievisl: tribe” before

returning to hig yeadquarters at Jhajjar. ;

He ner determined % allow his men a short rest and reerestion
after their sixteen montlis incessant chnpaagn, te move empecially as

it was the month of May, and tle intense heat of the season militated

aginst operations in the field. Ib was during this short period of

inaction that there eame to Thomas’s imagination the ambitious

design of erecting for himself an independent principality, over whieh

he might mie with sovereign power,

To the north-west of Jhajjar Jay a tract of territory known as

Tariaua, or the Green Land, Pcrehance the name reminded him

of the Green Isle far uway, from which he had come, and for which

he felt the passionate devotion of an Irishman. Although at the

present day a populous and settled district, replete with ruilways, road,

jails, court-houses, and missionaries, and hallowed with the privileges

of local self-government, Hariina at the end of the last century was a

veritable No Man’s Land, acknowledging no mastor, and tempting

none. In turn the prey of many succecding invaders, it had for

many years been a recognised battle-field for contending powers, 14

covered un area of nearly three thousand syuare miles of country 40

wild and barren that it had been a favourite hunting ground for Tiroz

Tughlak, a renowned king of Delhi, the ruins of whose buildings were

still 40 be seen, and also the remains of a canal, excavated in the year

1856, to supply the place with water from the Juinna, ‘Chis was

yendered necessary by the naturel dryness of the region -the name

Hariina being appropriate to only a small portion of it—far there

was little or no surface water to be found, the only supply, uot

brackish, being obtained from wells, mogl of which had to be sunk

to w depth of over a hundred feet.

So far back as 1086, [[Ansi, the capital town of Hariina, had been
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in existence, and was, indeed, a place of considerable importance.

When Massoud, the son of the famous Malmud of Gazni, invaded

India, he found it fortified and strongly garrisoned by Hindus, who

believed i¢ could never fall into the hands of the Muhammadan. Ii

was, however, taken by storm afber a short siege of six days, and

plundered of the immense treasures it contained. Lying as it did in

the diyect road of the Western approach to India, it became thercafler

the victim of many invading armios, und owing to this cause was

ablnosi a depopulated wilderness when Thomas determined to make

himself master of it.

Having matured his plans and waited until the approach of the

rainy season, Thomas reinforced his army, provided it with everything

necessary to engure success, and commenced his march. His first

attack was directed against the town and fort of Kauirori, the inhabi-

tants of which were notorious for “thievish Jepredationy’ which

shocked Thomas, ¢iraieingy with his usual celerity, he attempted,
according to his custom, to take the place by storm, but was prevented

by the spirited resistance of the enemy, who compelled him to retreat

with @ losa of 300 men.

This was'an unfortunate prelude to his scheme of conquest, and

would have induced most aspirants to forego such ambitious designs.

isat Thomas was a mau whose persistenco equalled bis courage.

Like an illustrious fellow-countryman of his, who, half a century later,

distinguished himself not many miles trom this very spot, he “ never

was dude and never would bebaée/” A repulse only raised bis fury

and stirred him to fresh endeavour, and wheu his troops fell back,

baffled and defeated from ihe walls of Kanhori, he issued orders for

ihe fortification of the camp, with the stern determination of retrieving

the disaster.

A regular siege of the fort was now commenced, bub constant and

heavy rain prevented the erection of butteries, and so a fortified chain

of posts was erected round the town, by whick it was cut off from all

external wid. Lefore long the garrison were in straiis for provisions,

anid began to suffer yreat distress, and they made several fierce sallies,

attempting Lo fight their way through in investing Imes.

During one of theac eucounters Thomas experienced another of

those desperate adventures and escapes with which the history of his

life abounds. A sortie was directed ayaiust the redoubt which he

himself oveupicd, and in the confusion of the attack a sudden panic

seized bis troops, and the greater portion ran away, leaving him in a

most critical position, for only Hive of his infantry remained with him,

ihese being selected soldiexs to whom liad been allotted the particular
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charge of lis firearms, consisting of pistols and blanderbusses of a

large size. With these, an‘ the assistance of a few cavalry who came

to his aid, hc maintained the post for a considerable lime againat every

effort of the eucmy to dislodge him, and at length by repeated and

well-directed discharges compelled theni ta retire.

A few days after this occurrence, the weather beeamiug finer,

Thomas was able to erect a battery, from which be fired with sueh

good effect as io bring down a portion of the wall of the fort. This

emboldened him to attempt another assault, but night coming on,

he was obliged to defer it till the following morning, when he found

the enemy had evacuated the place.

The best and bravest inhabitants of the Hariima distriet resided in

the fort of Kanhori, men of desperate courage, nuriured in battle, and

inured to invasion, and who lived by the sword and recognised no

other form of government. The defeat of so formidable a faction had

a salutary effect on the rest of the district, which offercd but a slight

resistance. In a short time Thomas gaiued complete possession of

the whole of the southern portion of the territory ; brit it cost him

much trouble to extend his rule over the north-western parts, whieh

were oecnpicd by tho Sikhs and a predatory tribe eatled Bhattis.

These he successiully engaged and detested, driving the former back

across the river Ghaggar, which he made his boundary in that direc-

tion.

The conquest of -Haridna was now complete, and Thomas pro-

elnimed his rule over an extent of territory whieh had formerly

contained nearly a thonsand towns and villages, and produced an

annual revenue of Rs.1,480,000 (£178,750). But the numibor of tho

former wag now reduced to lithe more than a quarter, and only yielded

Rs.286,000 a year. The products of the eountry consisted chiefly of

gerin, and were dependent upon the rainfall. In favourable scasons

the Ghaggar—of evil reputation to Simla-bound travellers of the pre-

sent day—overflowed its banks and inundated the northern pargannahs,

On the subsiding of the waters a rich greasy deposit remained on

the land, whieh produced amazing crops of wheat and grass. So

stimulating were the effects of tis pastnrage that the cattle grazed

on it were cclebraied for their excellence, and this character they

relain to the present day. In the southern and weetern parts of the

country the soil was sandy and the rainfall simali, the consequence

being that enltivation was very sparse, During the smmmer montis

the heat was intense, but npon the whole the climate was sufficientiy

salubrious, and in the winter very cold and bracing.

For the capital of his now domains Thomas selected the town of
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Hinsi. Tho state of desolation into which this place had fallen may

be estimated from s legend which long ran current in the Panjab that,

when Thomas occupied the city, ils solc inhabitants were a faktr, or

holy mendicant, and iwo lions—emblems of ils poverty and its deserted

state, It had, however, the advantage of being centrally situated on

an elevated spot of ground, the highest for mauy miles round. The

ruins of the former city lay at the foot of the fortress, which was

built on one of those ge mounds of earth common to this part of

the Panjab and the mud walls of the citadel were of such enormous

thickness as to prove inipervious to shot. A large reservoir in the

centre caught and retained the rain-water, and there were several wells

in the immediate vicinity, although the surrounding country was an

arid waste of desert, through which approach for any large body of

men was rendered almosi impossible by tho absence of water. he

district harboured many tigers, and n few lions, ii being the only placo

in India, oxeept Guzerat, where the latter species of ferae cxisied.

Even as late as 1830 they were to be found there.

The plain around Hinsi might almost be termed a cemetory, for

it was computed that not less than 40,000 of the followers of the

Prophet bad found a resting-place within a short cirenit of its walls

during the centuries of warfare it had witnessed between Hindu and

Mubammadan. The inhabitanis of the district were endowed with

great personal bravery, and were expert in the use of arms, particularly

in the exercise of the lance, sabye, and matchlock. Many mstaneces

of their resolution and courage wore recorded, and in recent years

they had suecessfully resisted the attacks of Mughals and Mardthas,

and forced their armios to retreat. Lut, although fearless in fight,

they were cruel, treacherous, and vindictive, and singularly callous of

shedding blood or taking life in their domestic quarrels, The greater

part of the population at the time of Thomas's annexation were Hindue,

and their occupation agricultural.

Thomas’s first care was to rebuild the walls of the fort, whieh had

long falion into rnin, and repair the defences of the town that lay

under its ramparts. The decuy of ages had eaten into the red-brick

masonry, 80 that it crumbled to the touch, the streets were empty

and the houses roofless and tenantless, But by degrees and by gentle

treatment ‘'bornas attracted nearly 6,000 people to take up their

residence in the place, and to these he allowed every lawful indulgence,

and guaranteed the protection of their lives, liberty, and property.

What more he did is besf told in his own words, by quoting the

following famous passage in his memoirs, which has been reproduced

by nearly every writer who las had occasion to mention him :—
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“At Hansi T established a mini and coined my own rupees,” which

Tmade current in ny army and country. As from the commencenicnt

of my career at Jhajinr 1 had resolved to establish an indepondeney,

T employed workmen and artificers of all Kinds, and T now judged thas

nothing but force of arms could maintiin me in my authority. I

therefore increased their numbers, cast my own artillery, commenced

making muskets, matchlocksa, 2nd powder- and, in short, made the

best preparations for carrying on an offeusive and defensive wav, ll,

at length, having gained a eapitel and a country bordering on ihe

Sikh territories, I wished to put myself in a eapacity, when a favonr-

able opportunity should offer, of attempting the conquost of the Panjaub,

and aspired to the honour of planting the Dritish standard on the banks

of the Attock!”’

One other act of Thomas's must be mentioned, Very early in his

rule he instituted a system of pensions and componsxtians for his

soldiers, and those who were woutled in luis service reecived sufficient

for their wants, whilst half of the pay of their rank was granted to tle

* Through the kindness of General Sir A. Cunningham the Zollowing engraving

of a George Thomas rupee has been obtained ;—

TALUS (KEIGN), SIKAH SATIEN,

42 OF SHIAIL ALAM. At, 12t4

(a.p, 1799-1800). tap. 1700-1800),

General Cunningham writes : —

“ T believe this rupee to have been struck by George Thomas.

“he middle line of the obverse reads Sthad Schch, which is never used for

the money of aking. Saheb Wirda Sine is used as a tithe of kings, but always

in combination with the name of the king.

‘The Hegira date on the obverse is 1214 -A-p. 1799-1800.

“The Reign (Jaltis) date ow reverse ts 42 of Shah "Aluw--a.p. 1709-1500.

T hope this coin may be proved to belang to George Thomas. The date is

correct. The beginning of the name of Héusi is at the loft hand of the top Hine

of the Reverse. The mint city of the kings was Hisdr ; ut /fdusi was a very

famous fortress which resisted the arms of the carly Gércuit kings, and was

accordingly known as the ‘ Maiden Fortress." ’7

An additional interest is attachc’d to this engruving, fron the fact that the

eoin it is copied from is probubly unique.
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widows and children of men killed in action. These liberal provisions

absorbed a, sum of 1s.50,000 a year, which was more than a tenth of

Thotuas’s entire revenne—a proportion Jar in excess of that allotted to

sueh philanthropieal purposes, ever in the most civilised countrics.

It is a pleasant page in his chequere:t career to dwell npon. And

go let the chapter close on George Thomas, emancipated from his lust

of baltle, and settling down for a brief space’ in his crratic lifo to
cuilivate the paths of peace and improvement, and patronise the rude

arts of tlose rude days.



CHAPTER TV.

THE JAIPUR CAMPAIGN,

1799.

B* the time Thomas bad established himself af Naridua, and

outlined a system of administration, his exchequer was ex-

hausted, and he was called upon to solve the problem of finance.

When he had money at his command he was a lavish paymaster,

and in cantonments spoilt his men with kindness, often in his im-

providence expending his last rupee on them with cheerful reckless-

ness. At this particular time he had extremely henvy calls on his

resources, for he was preparing for the great project which had become

the central idea of his mind and his anthition. This was the conquest

of the Panjab, or, as he expressed if, the planting of the British

standard on the banks ot the Atteck river. With this object in view,

he commenced easting cannon, munafactnrime small aris, and pur-

chasing warlike stores and material, and these expenses soon brought

him to the end of his means. Wherenpon le took steck of his

position to see if he was properly preparcd for the great wunder-

tuking he aspired to carry through; but on a review of his troops

his force appeared insuflicient. He therefore decided on what he

pleasantly terms an “ excnysion” into Jaipur territory, which place,

he gratefully adds, “liad litherto afforded a never-lailing supply to

lig necessities, and whose ruler was, in consequence, become his

bitter enemy.”

It happened just about this dime thatthe Rajah of Jaipur was in

arrears with the payment of his tribute to tie Marithis, and VAman

Rio was ordered to invade bis country and collect what sums he

feould, Of the amount so realised jie was authorised to retain ten-

sixtcenthe lo pry himself for his trouble and exertion, and the halance

was to be remitted to the Marita treasury.

For the delicate detail of aceonnts, and especially for crediting
10 145
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himself with a bigger ten-sizteenths than so exact a science as

mathematics legitimately allows, Viman Réo was most admirably

qualified. But the coarse and brutai preliminary of mvading Jaipur

territory and by force of arms coercing a nation of warriors into

paying tribute was quite out of jis linc. Partib Sing’s army con-

sisted of 30,000 cavalry and 18,000 infantry, with | numerons and

well-appointed artillery. The order to compel the lord of so many

legions to pay up tribute quite staggered the littl quill-driving,

copper-counting chief, and he immediately wrote pressing letters to

Thomas urging him to assist in the proposed expedition. Thomas,

however, possessed with the delirium of Panjab conquest, was un-

willing to enter into 2 campaign which he know musi prove an

extended one, preferring the amall but quick profits of rapid raids, and

partly from this reason, partly from prudential motives, declined tho

invitation. He foresaw that to put into the field a body of troops

sufficient for an invasion like the one proposed could only be accom-

plished with # full treasury, whereas his was as dry as the sands of

his own deserts. This he explained to Vaman Rao, bul the chief had

become fascinated with the commission and was not to be denied.

It seemed to him that if Thomes could be prevailed upon to do the

fighting, he himself could cope with the accounts, and as this pro-

mised substantial pecuniary results (Jaipur being rich in resources of

every kind) he pressed his proposals home, and finally sent a Vakil

to Thomas with the offer of a sum of money down. This argument

was irresistible, and Thomas consented to aceompany the chief on his

expodition. ,

The Hariina force at tilris time consisted of three battalions of

400 men each, 300 Rohilla irregulars, 200 Mariana irregulars, 90

cavalry, and 14 pieces of artillery—in all nearly 2,000 men. Vaman

Rio’s troops numbered onc battalion of infantry, 600 irregulars, 900

cavalry, and four guns; so that the combined forces amounted ito

about 4,000 strong. Having effectod a junction, the march for Jaipur

territory was commenced early in 1799.

On entering the country a detachment of the Raéjah’s troops,

stationed on the frontier to colleei revenue, retreaied, and the head-

man of the district sont a Vakil into Thomas's camp and agreed to

pay two lakhs of rupees ae tribute. This offer was accepted, and the

march being resumed several other chiefs were cumpelled to submit,

and for a month the invaders continued their progress without

opposition, their mero presence sutticing to enforec their demands.

But meanwhile Partib Sing had uot been idle. Having collected

his troops, he now marche to the relief of his northern districts,
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wherein Thomas aid Viman Rie were disporting themselves, with a

resolution te punish them and give battle whenever he met them,

Nearly the whole of the Jaipur mercenary and feudal troops were

assombled in this army, whieh amounted ta not less than 40,000

fighting men,

Buoyed up by a false sense of sceurity begotten of their unopposed

progress, Thomas und Vaman Qo lad pushed on too far, and sud-

dexly discovered they were cut off in the middie of a hostile country

without any sourco of supply or base of operations to fall back

upon—a disregard of military caution which involved thoir small flying

column in # very hazardous position, ino this dilemrin Viman Rio

counselled retreat, deeming it impossible to encounter so large x force

ag that threatening them, and which was, morcover, composed ehietly

of Rajputs, whose bravery was traditional. Jn combatting these

arguments and frustrating so pusillanimous a design, Thomas remon.-

strated strongly against a retrograde movement, and reminded Vaman

Raée that be bad in the first instance insisted on undertaking the

axpedition, and that there existed no canse to prevent at least one

trial of strength with the eneny, the troops being faithful and cager

to engage. As for a retreat, without an exertion on their part,

“This,” Thomas declared, “ would be a dishonour to myself and my

progenitors, who never turned their backs on an enemy.” Bub the

argument which finally prevailed with the chief was the warning that

he could never again expeet to he employed by Sindlua, or any other

ebief under his authority, if heretreated now withont striking a hiow.

Tn the end, Vaman Rao agreed to tisk an engagement, and with this

determination murched to Iatelipur, a prosperous and important

town in the Shekhawati district, where there was « prospect of

finding 9 supply of grain sufficient for the troops, and sceuring a

strong defensive position.

Early information of Thomas's approach was conveyed to the

inhabitanis of this place, who, as a preliminary measure of re-

sistance, filled up all the wells in tho surrounding country, and tliis

rendered it waterless in the direction from which the invaders wero

advancing. Unaware of this, Thomas pushed on, only to discover,

when it was too late to reetify lis mistake, the serions danger tr

which his force was exposed. For on tho lust day he was obliged to

make a foreed march of twenty-five miles over decp sand, throuch

which, as the loug, hot afternoon wore on, his jaded troops could

searcely plough their way, their feet siuking ankle-decp inte the

yielding surface. When at length the walls of Fatehpur loomed in

sight, the town was found fully prepared to resist, and the last well
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outside its gates was just being filled up by a body of 400 men, who

had been detached for the task,

Tho capttre of this solitary water supply now became an object of

supreme importance, as Thomas at once realised. Jt was no time for

hesitation, and without further ado he collected his littl band of

regular cavalry, who necded no stimulus beyond the cravings af their

own wnendurable thirst, and charged the force defending the well.

The skirmish was at first obstinate, but two of the onemy’s officers

being killed, their men fell back, and the well was happily preserved.

Tt was a narrow cscape from a great disaster, for if the compuratively

unfatigued cavalry had failed in their attack, the exhausted infantry,

who had toiled on foot during the whole of a day, “ the service of

which was uncommonly severe,” could not have retrieved defeat, and

Thomas's army wust cither have been annihilated in an unequal

fight, or in an almost impossible retreat have pezished froin thirst

and fatigne.

The eaup was now pitehed, and the troops obtatmed the rest and

refreshment needed, and by morning were ready for work again.

But the city being full of people, Thomas desired to treat for its

surrender, in order to save the effusion of blood which must neces-

sarily enswe from an assault. He therefore suggested the payment of

a Yansor, but no sooner was the word ‘‘negotiation’’ whispered than

Vaman Rio eame to the front, and demanded ton Jakhs of rupees,

The townspeople, being enconraged to hold out by the hope of

receiving assistance from the Majali of Jaipur, who was rapidly

advancing to their rclief, responded by offering to pay one lakh, and

nothing definite was arrived at when night put a slop to the negotia-

tions. Whereupon Thomas, wha dishelieved in the policy of pro-

cragtination, formed his troops, and stormed and captured the place

the next morning.

This was scarcely effected than intelligeneo of Partab Singh's

approach was announced, Thomas, in consequence, decided to fortify

his camp, which he did in the following ingenious way. There grew

in the neighbourhood an abundance of a species of wild thorn-tree

common to that part of India, and he caused a large number of

these to be cut down and piled one upon another in the front and

flanks of the camp, with their branches closely interwoven. Being

strengthened and secured wilh ropes, they formed an almost

impenetrable chevaua de frise, the weight and solidity of which

wero increased by a large quantity of sand thrown between the

branches and piled up over theix butts. It was not practicable to dig

irenches, a8 the soil was too loose, but the abattis, or breasiwork,
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described was found ample both te ward off the charge of the cnemy's

horse, and to protect the eamip generally. Some of the wells in the

vicinity having by this time been cleared out and opened afresh for

use, batteries were erected for their defence. In the immediate

rear of the camp stood the town of Fatehpur, which was fortified in the

best manner the shortness of tho time admitted. Nor did Thomas

neglect the precaution of collecting a large supply of provisions and

grain, and by the time he had completed these preparations the

yangnard of the Jaipur army appeared in sight.

Partéb Sineh encamped at a distance of six miles, and thon pushed

forward a strong detachment of cavalry and infantry to clear the

wells in histront. He was allowed to do so for two days without

interruption, whilst Lhomas farther secured his position; but on the

second night the latter marched ont to altack the cnemy’s main park

of artillery with two battalions-of infantry each 400 strong, 8 gous,

and his 90 regular cavalry, whilst ho detached his third battalion to

disperse the advance party engaged in clenring ont the wells, He

had kept his intentions hidden from Véaman Rio, whose troops were,

in point of fact, asleop when homes left cainp. ‘The reason for this

secrecy was the knowledyc that if he acquainted the Maraéthis with

his scheme the enemy would certainly hear of it; for Viman Rio's

countrymen were quite unable to hold their own counsel, and the

gossip of their camps always reached tho cars of the enemy. So

Thomas contented himself with leaving a letter for the chief,

explaining his plan of action, and reqnesting bim to follow with his

cavalry in the moruing, aud leave his infantry to guard the camp.

Unfortunately, soon after ‘Phomas started an aecident happened

to one of his tumbrels, and occusioned sueh delay, that dawn

began to break before the mishap was yvepuired. This rendered it

impossible to carry out bis original design of a surprise, for, to

Thomas's mortification on arriving within sight of the Jaipur main

eamy, he perceived the enemy assembled nnder arms and realy to

meet him. He therefore diverted lis atvack and advanced against

the party at the wells, which numbered about 7,000 men. These

received him with a show of resistance, but the spirit aud vigonr

with which he made hig xtbaek soon vbliged thom tu fail back upon

their inain body, after sustaining cousidevable loss. Waving obtained

possession of the wells, which they had cleared ont, Thomas filled

them up again, and after capturing several horses and many bead of

cattle, returned to camp. On his way back he met the Marathi

cavalry, whe seemed mueh out of humour at not having beon con-

sulted on so important an occasion, but Vaan Rio rebuked them,
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telling them plainly that their delay in preparing for action and fol-

lowing Thomas was the real cause of their having missed sharing in

the victory. Thomas and his officers received Aiéduts from the chief,

and to prevent animositics and jealousies similar marks of honour

were bastowed, though with reluctance, on the commanders of the

Maratha cavalry.

Thomas now determined to force on a general engagement, but

found his intention anticipated by the enemy, who, at daybreak the

next morning sallicd out in order of battle. In returning to his

encampment on the previons day lhe lad prudently reconnoitred the

ground, aud determined in his own niind the spot.on which he would

engage. Towards this ho now made his way; but aware that no

reliance could be placed upon the Mardthis, he left a battalion of his

infantry and four six-poundey guns to dofend the camp and protect

his rear, which would otherwise have beon open to uttack by the

enemy. The foree with hint consisted of 800 regular infantry, 200

Rohillas, ¥O cavalry, and 10 pieces of artillery. Vaman Rio's Maratha

cavalry uccompanied him at the start, but uo sooner did they see the

immense host with which they had to contend than they gave them-

selves up for lost, and left Thomas to fight the battle alone, nor once

during the whole day did they afford him any assistance.

After some manceuvring ou either side Thomas was elad to find the

Rajput forees voluntarily distributing themselves in a manner con-

formable with his plan of battle. Their right wing, consisting of the

fendal cavalry, was dirceted against lis camp, and so certain were

they of victory that on eatching sight of the defences which had been

built up, they langhed at the idea of “a few bushes,” as they con-

temptuously termed them, retarding their progress, or resisting the

impetuosity of thoir attack, Tho left wing, consisting of 4,000

Rohillas, 3,000 Ghussains, and 6,000 irregnlar infantry, commanded

by the chiefs of their respective districts, advaneed at the same time

with hasty strides and lond shouts ta take possession of the city, the

loss of which would have been aticnded with the most serious conse-

quenecs. The main body, or contre of the enemy, was composed of

10 battalions of infantry, 22 pieces of artillery, and the body-guard of

the Riijwh, the latter numbering 1,600 chosen men, armed with

matchlocks and sabres. ‘This division was commanded in person hy

Rajah Roraji Khavis, the gencralissimo of the Jaipur forecs.

It was fortunate for Thomas that he had chosen such a strong

position, for this alone enabled him io sustain the uneqnal combat.

No sooner did the Marathas, who were posted in the rear, observe

the Rajput cavairy advancing against them in close and compact
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order, than bey senb urgent entrouties to Thomas for reinforcements.
Although it w2* impradent to spare them, he ordered four companies
from the battali02 Wich lad been left for the protection of the erp

to march out aut! Strengthen the troops in the field, whilst with five
companies and puree guns he ailvanced to repel the attack of the
Lijab’s body-guarls leaving his main hody mnder the eoummand of

au Englishman nam! Joli Morris, who, thongh 2 brave man, wes
better adapted to ona’ a forlorn hope than direct the movement
of troops on the ficld ae battle. Thomas, by a skilfil naanceuvee,

obtained possession of a Ingn-savd bank, whereby ithe cnemy were
placed between two fires, and could nest Ais Lin. nor attack
the camp withont exposing their rear to danzer. Wherenpon they

bevan to draw off, sullenly and slowly, but presently, pereciving the

weukness of his small squadron of regulur cavalry, made a sudden

aud furious charge upon the little body of ninety mounted mon, killing

the commander and several of the troopers. Thomas instantly ad-

vanced two companies of grenadicvs to their assistunce, and thoso

brave fellows, after giving a single volley, chareed the great body of

eavalry with their bayoncts, and compelled thein to retreat, thereby

affording the extraordinary illustration of isfantry attacking and

routing a mounted foree.

During this time the enemy’s left wing had advanced and made an

assault upon the city, from which they were driven back by the troops

Thomas had posted for ilg defence, These consisted of his Hariinn

infantry and 100 Rohillas, who, having ocenpied the highest and

strongest of the houses, were able to maintain theniselves against ail

attacks except those of artillery. Of this cireumstance the encmy

now became aware, and summoniny reinforcements of six pieces of

cannon to their aid, returned to ile assault. Whereupon Thousas,

having beaten otf the cavalry, proceeded to the velief of the garrison

defending the town, and attack the enenry’s left flauk so vigorously

that he compelled them to limber up their artillery and retire again.

By this time their main body had become a confused mass, wikliowt

regularity or method, having been in torn disordered by the retreat

of the right and left wings, which ‘Thomas had defeated one after

another. But notwithstanding ihis Rorajt determined to risk the

‘final issue of the day in a general charge. The ardour of his troops,

however, proved unequal to the call, and Thomas, perceiving them

wavering, opened a heavy artillery fire of grape slot upon them,

before which they precipitately retreated, THe uow desired to pursue

them with those of his companies which lad suffered least during the

fight, but unfortunately the bullocks witached to his artillery had been
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stationed for protection behind a sandbank some distance, i, the reat,

and could not be brought up quickly enough. On P&C oiving this, the

Maratha cavalry, who all through the action had stoo4y aloof, galloped
up and offered their services, and Thomas, having procured a sufti-
cient number of bullocks for one gun, advanced with that and a
battalion of infantry, whilst the Maritha horse m, 7, 9 great show of

accompanying him. oo

The evemy were now retiring in ail direch ong, and Thomas first

turned his altention to a pair of 24-pounGsy, guns which they had .
abandoned, and directed them to by yaken to the rear. But at this
moment a ass? pody of Hajput cavalry, under the chief of Chinn,

rallied, and fired with a determination to redeem their honour and

recapture the lost guns, formed a yéé, or dense band of feudal chivalry,

and charged down on Thomas. Whereupon his cowardly Maratha

allies, without waiting to sustain a single inupact, turned and fied.

Thomas immediately drew up his infantry as well as the shortness

of the time admitted, bui before the line was complelely formed the

panic-stricken cavalry, recklesa of where they were riding, dashed

through his left wing, closely followed by the Rajputs, who begun to

eut down a great number of his men. ‘These gallant fellows made a

heroic resistance, many of them, even in the agonies of death, seizing

hold of the bridles of the enemies’ horses, in their attempts to impede

their progress. The moment was critical, and it seemed aa if the |

battalion must be exterminated. But Thomas, ever resourceful and

undaunted, loaded his single gun up the very muzzle, and with about

150 of his men, whe bravely resolved to conquer or die with him, awaited

the event with fortitude. After permitting the enemy to approach to

within forty yards, the order was given to fire, and simultaneonsly

with the discharye of the G-pounder, tle men delivered a volley of

musketry with such cool precision and effect, that great numbers of

the enemy were killed or wounded. ‘Twice, before they could

recover themselves, did ‘Uhomas’s little forec reload and fire, and

after their third discharge the Rajputs turned and fied, bearing away

with them the chief of Chima, sorely wounded, from the field.

Meanwhile the Marathi, cavalry, who had been the chief cause of

this disaster, were flying helter-skelter towards the camp. But here,

by Thomas's orders, previously conveyed, they were refused admit-

tance, and in consequence fell into the Lands of a small party of

the Rajputs, who had followed iu their rear, and put many of then: Lo

death without mercy.

The enemy's infantry, when they saw the suceess which had at

first attended the charge of the chief of Chumu, scemed disposed to
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return to the contest, and ‘Thomas, collecting the remains of This

gallant battalion, prepared to receive them. But by this time the

day was drawing to a close, aud tho exhibition of his dogged resolu-

tion convinced Roraji that it was bost io rehire ; and so he drew otf,

leaving Thonie to return to his fortified caimp with the remnants of

his force. The casualties during the day on Thomas's side amounted

to 800 men, or 25 per cent. of his troops actually engaged in the open.

Amongst the wounded was the gallant John Morris. ‘The onemy lost

2,000 men, and were compelicd to abandon a vast number of horses

and other valuable effects.

Thus ended the battle of Fatehpur, in which Thomas, with Ivss

than 2,000 men, suecessfully defended a large city, and an extensive

fortified camp, and defeated in the open ficld au army of 40,000 men

well supplied with artillery. In veviewing this achievement ere

are iminy points to admire; the engineering skill with which he

protected liis encampment; the ability with which he defended a

hostile town with a mere handful of irvegniar soldiery ; his stratery

in occupying the advantageous position from which he gave battle ;

his generalship in dividing the enemy and defeating them in detail;

the marvellous resolution with which he retrieved disaster; and the

courage and vigour he displayed at all times throughout the day.

Wilien the overwhelming numerical superiority opposed to him is

considered, aud the ever-presont consciousness of danger which fe

laboured under from the cowardly and untrustworthy conduct of his

allics, we must accord to Lim the merit of having won a very rerurk-

able victory by the display of the hichest qualities of u soldier and a

general. .

Gn the following morning Thomas uolifed to Roraji that lie mivht

send proper persons to bury the dead, and earry away the wounded

without inberruption on bis part. Whis civility was reecived with

attention, and presently a request came to treat for peace. At the

prospect of renewed negotiation, Vian Rao, whose nume, it will be

noted, does not appear once in the deseription of the battle, came

forward again, and took the conduct of it into is own hands. As a

preliminary stipulation be insisted on a heavy payment to indenmify

him for the loss he had sustained, but Noraji objected, saying he

was not authorised by Partib Sing to disburse so large a su

without express orders. Ou receiving this answer ‘Thormas suspected

that the enemy only desircd time to procure reinforeements, and

urged Viinan Réo tu renew the attack. Although the Maratha ¢hiof

was averse to this proposal, fearing the risk of ancther eugagemcut,

and overruled Thomas's advice, in the end the negotiations were
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broken off, and the enemy, having collected the scattercd remains of

their forces, took post on thoir former ground. A resunaption of

hostilities was now imminent, but at this juncture orders came from

Daulat Rao Sindhia for Viman Rao to discontinue the war, und others

of similar ituport from General Perron, who had recently been in-

vested with the government of Hindustan.

And now the eneluy of their own accord offered to pay the sum of

Tig.50,000, but this was most unaccountably rejected by Viunan Rio,

who soon bad causo to repent his folly, for during the recent uegotia-

tious considerable reinforcements had arrived in the Jaipur camp,

and, despite Sindhia’s instructions, hostilities were recommenced

with redoubled vigour on both sides.

Soon ‘Thomas’s troops began to suffer grcat inconvenience from

the searcity of forage, which thoy were obliged to collect from a

distance of twenty miles, and wera sorely harassed by detached parties

of the enemy when bringing it into eamp. To add to their difh-

culties the Rajah of Bikanir arrived with reinforcements of 5,000

men for the Jaipur army. The Marth4és in Thomas's camp were

useless, except to phander and destroy the unresisting peasantry, and

he had only his own decimated troops on which to rely. In this situa-

tion, and forage continuing to decrease, a council of war was called,

and it was unanimously agrecd to attempt a retreat to their own

country.

In accordance with which resolution camp was struck, and before

daybreak the next morning the troops begun to file off. But scarcely

were they in motion than the eneiny advanced to the attack in great

foree. While it continued dark confnsion prevailed everywhere, none

being able to distinguish foes from friends, but on the appearance of

daylight Thomas collceled his men, and forming them into proper

line of battle, compelled the enemy te sheer off ‘The march was

thon resumed, but the Rajputs continued to hang on his rear, annoy-

ing it with the fire of artillery and an immense ynantity of rockets.

He pushed on, however, at a rapid rate, and soon left their heavy

guns bebind, the rocket and matehlock wen alone continuing the

pursuit.

The day was intensely hot, and the dishcartened troops suffered

severely from want of water. The fiery descrt wind blew over thie

saudy plain in Snrnace breaths, whilst on the horizon a delusive

miraye dazzled and clittercd, presenting alluring picbures of greon

islands floating amidst lakes of cvol water, which faded away or

receded, even as they appeared to Le within reach. The tramp of

shuffling feet over the louse sand churned up clouds of impalpuble
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dust, which agvravated the thirst and discomfort the coluzan suffered.

Fortunately these trials operated as much against the pursuers as the

pursued. Tor fifteen weary hours ‘Whomae’s little army fonglt its

desperate way, with cortiin death behind it, and in front an wneer-

tainty of relief almost as terrible. ‘The servieo was severe,”

writes Thomas, in his brief, soldicrly language, “and in the highest

degree fatiguing, At length, after a toilsome march, we arrived in

the evening at a village where we fortunately mict with two wells con-

taining plenty of excellent water.”

So grout was the rush to these thai two men were precipitated inte

them, one cf whom was drowned, and the other resoued with the

greatost difficulty. After this an armed foree was stationed to protect

the approaches till, by degrees, most of the troops received a small

supply, Lhe coufusion ceased, anu order was restored,

The eneiny had meanwhile cneauped-three tiles in the rear, and

Thomas nade up his mind to attack them on the following day. Lut

when morning broke he plainly realised that his men lad Jost their

accustomed hearing, and were too dispirited for fighting. All he

could do was to ceantinue the retreat. Before long many began to

suecumb to exhaustion, for the march was accompanied by circum-

stances fully as dislressing as those of the previous day, The enemy,

encouraged by their advantage, frequently appeared inclined to

charyze, and Thomag was forced to keep up a constant fire from his

artillery in the rear. So disheartened wero his men that, in order bo

oncourage them, he dismounted from his liorse and marched on loot

at their head during the whole of the day.

This is a characteristic incident, and displays al their best those

personal qualities which 1tade Thomas so greatly beloved by those

who followed his fortunes. A uative gencral in retreat cither

spurred away on a flect horse, or was carried along on the fastest

elephant, regardless of everything except lis own safety or eomlort.

Not so with this lighting Irishnian, who in lis career never proved

false to a friend, or deserted a dependent in dislecess or danger. He

shared with his soldicrs their periis and their privations, as well as

their victories, and never asked them to undertake a task he was ul

ready to join in, or a risk he was not prepared to undergo.

There is the material for 4 fine picture in this retrent from Fateh

pur. At the head of his dispirited arniy marches Thowas with lifted

head and determined stride. LGehind Lim plods the long straggling

column of soldiery, the men turning their cyes first to the ilimiteble

waste of desort around, and then to their indomitable leader, wly

holds lis steadfust compass course, and in whom all thet Lopes are
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centred. The jaded cattle drag the guns slowly and toillally through

the deep sand. Anon a halt is called, a gun unlimbered, and a few

defiant shots fired at the enemy. Like minute guns the dull reports

die away after each discharge, and the heavy smoke hangs sullenly

in tho still air, Then the order is given to limber wp again, and

once more assuming his position at the head of the column, the tall,

fierce Trishman leads the way into the desolate expanse ahead,

Powards sunset a large town was reached, where the distressed

ireops were gratified by the sight of fivo wells of water, and were

able to assuage their thirst, while the enemy, who had by this time

outmarched their enthusiasm, gave up the pursuit, and retmmmed to

Fatchpur.

Thomas was now able to direct his attention to the condition of his

men. The locality was a favourable one for a halt, and he detor-

mined to camp here till they were recovered from their reeent

fatigues. ‘The sick and wounded were corducted to a place of safety,

and properly cared for. Supplies and water being in abundance, all

fared well, and a few days’ resi made a wonderful change. Betore a

week had passed, with bodies fortified and spirits revived, and, above

all, with an increased faith in the ¢khad, or good fortune, of their

commander, Thomas’s battalions were ready for a renewal of active

operations.

He desired nothing better, for fighting was his second nature.

Hostilities were recommenced in the cnemy’s country, and by a

succession of exactions and fines, sufficient money obtained to dofray

the expenses of the expedition, and satisfy the arrears of pry due to

the troops. Before long the Rajah of Jaipur, sensible of the injury

his territory would sustain by a prolongation of these depredations,

sent persons to sue for peace, and the evacuation of lis territory, aud

Véiman Rao, having been reduced to a more moderate frame of mind,

acecpted the terms now olfered, and peace was declared.

Thomas was now free te return te Harlana, but instead of doing

this he determined to retaliate on the Rajah of Bikanir, and punish

hint for the assistanee he had recently afforded to the Jaipur prince.

Surut Singh, the ruler of Bikanir, kept up a very respectablo army

of mercenaries and fendal levies, the whole amounting to $,0U0 men,

two-fifths of whom were cavalry, and the remainder infantry and

artillery. There were several European officers in his service, who

resided in the fort of Bikanir, and disciplined his troops. The country

was a dry and waterless one, the approach to which must be attended

with privations similar to those Ihomas had recently experienced.

Profiting by the past, he took measures to protcet himself against a
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recurrence of misfortunes hy preparing a number of water bags, made

of skins, for the use of his ariny, whereby he overeame the diffienlty

of traversing waterless deserts.

Surut Singh, on reeeiviug intimation of the intended invasion,

prepared to repel it, bit being woah in artillery, and knowing he

could not stand against Thomas in the plain, confined his defence

to strongly garrisoning his frontier towns, hoping to tire the invaders

oul with repeated attacks on entrenched positions and fortified stronz-

holds. Bui assaults of this description never eame amiss to Thomas.

The first he made was upon the village of Jeltpar, which was abont

seven marches north-east of the Hijah’s capital, and defended Ly

8,000 men, Resolving on an vinmediate: storm, Thomas carned it

with a loss of 200 ten, and exaeted a heavy ransom before consenting

to spare the lives avd property of the inhabitants. This example of

his methods of warfare was suflicient to intimidate the country ronnd.

Hereafter he met wilh but little serioas opposition, for the Rajah's

troops deserted in great numbers, and only a few Rajputs remained

faithful to his cause.

Under cirennistances so vofavonrable Sunt Singh despatched a

Vakil to Thonias’s earnp to sue for peace, acrecing to pay an indemnity

of two lakhs of rupees, half of which was to be delivered on the spot,

and for the remainder bills given upon certain wealthy bankers of

Jaipur. These terms Thomas accepted, nnd commenced his revarn

to Hansi; but when, a short time afterwards, he presented the drafts

for eneashment, they were dishonoured. He eontented himself with

a protest at the time, but in his sen he determined that when seca-

sion offered he would severely punish these reprehensibie frauds upon

his confiding nadure.



CHAPTER y,

TROUBLES WITH THE SIKIS.—THE EXPEDITION TO UDAIPUR,

1799-1800.

T was early in the summer of 1799 that Thomas returned to Hansi

from the Jaipur and Bikanb campaigns, and about this time Lak-

wa Dida, the Maritha ecommander-in-chict, being suspected of sym-

pathy with the rebellion of the Bhais, fell into disgrace with Daulat

Réo Sindhia, and was superseded by anothor chief named Ambaji

Taglia. Lekwa’s downfall suggested to Thomas the feasibility of re-

gaining possession of the distriets which had been sequestrated from

Appa Khandi Rio, and these be now occupied, intending to present

them to Viman Rao. But Ambaji and General Perron, hearing of this

action, requested Thomas to withdraw; and) he, after consulting with

Vaman Rao, who advised compliance, consented to do so. In recom.

pense for this the Marathi government gave Vhomas the district of

Badhli, which he added fo his other possessions.

By this time Thomas had become a confirmed filibuster, whase

restloss spirit could not endure peace, or brovk inaction. Rather than

remain idle, ho now turned his attention to the Sikh states on his

northern frontier, and marched against Jhind, a town belonging to a

chief named Bagh Singh, who lad evimeed hostility io Thomas from

the first moment of his establishing himsclf at Hariina.

Following his nsual tactics, Thornas made a sudden march, and at-

tempted to storm Jhind by surprise. But he had underrated its

strength, and, after a stubborn conflict, found himself driven back

with a loss of 400 men. The defeat was as serious as it was unex-

peeted ; but Thomas was undisraayed, and instead of retreating, he

fortified his camp and settled down to blockade the place, in the hopes

of compelling the garrison of 8,000 men to surrender.

Adjacent to Jhind lay the territories of Sahib Singh, the Sikh chicf

of Patiala. He was himself an indolent, weak-minded man, but
158
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possessed a sister named Kant, a woman of masculine and intrepid

spirit, and she now marched at the head of a large force to the relief

of the besieged town. On the way she was joined by an individual,

who, according to Thomas's etymology, rejoiced in the name uf DBug-

heel Sing, and several other Sikh chiefs. Directly theso arrived with-

in striking distance Thomas attacked them, and compelled them to

retire, driving them in panic through their own eamp, whieh being

built of straw hnits was casily sot on fire, and consumed.

After a fow days Kunur rallied the onemy, and returned to the

contest with inereascd numbers, and, by the shameful supinoness of

two of Thomas’s officers, surprised and obtained possession of two of

his redoubts, in which many of his best men were cut to pieces. This

reverse encouraged lhe country people, who had hitherto been held in

awe, to declare openly against Thomas, and cut off his supplies of

provisions, so that he was compelled to raise the seige of Jhind and

commence his return to Winsi. Uy this time the enemy had in-

creased to 10,000 strong, and directly he began lis retreat they fullowed

in his rear, and simultaneously the Chief of Patiila took the fietd

against him, with a large addifional force and several picces of heavy

artillery.

A retrogade movement in these countries was always decmed

equivalent to a defeat, and the peasantry now reso in a mass to

oppose Thomas's progress. In order to allay their increasing hostility

he publicly gave out that he was going to Jaipur, hoping thereby to

indues them to relinquish the pursuit. Dut they were not to be im-

posed upon by this ruse, and hovered on his rear and flanks, repeatedly

attacking him, and as often being vepulsed. Ly a foreed march the

Sikhs managed to get between him and Hinsi, and encamped at a

place called Narnaund, with tho intention of stopping his way. In

this erisis, Thomas, with his usual Uefiance, resolyed on assutning the

offensive again, and suddenly ordering a night march, arrived by day.

break before the enemy's camp. Instantly attacking thera, he in-

flicted a severe defeat, Their tents, baggage, the howdahs of their

elephants, their bazaar, 1,000 saddles und 200 horses fell into his

hands, and bad it not been for his troops getting out of control arul

dispersing for plunder, he would lave captured their artillery anid

elephants as well.

The Sikhs fled to Jind, but on their arrival thera were refused ail-

mittance by Sahib Singh’s sister, who taunted them for their cowardice,

and offered to take the field in person herself, to shaw them how to

fight. Ashamed in being execeded in spirit by a woman, they returned

_ toattack Thomas, whom they found encamped near a large town, where
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he had left lis heavy baggage. Their resolution now was to conquer

or perish; but whilst deliborating overnight on the tactics thoy should

employ, their camp was nucxpectedly altacked by a numerous and

daring banditti, who sonnded their trumpets with such loud alarms,

that the Sikhs thought it was Thomas himsclf, and abandoned the

place with great precipitation.

Their panie was so lidicrous and lrumiliating that it lost for them

the reputation for prowess thoy had previously enjoyed. They were

now as desirous of penee as they bad before been impatient for

war, and made overtures which resulted in an accommodation being

arrived at, by which each side remained in possession of the districts

thoy held before the siege of Jhind, This trenty satished everybody

except the Rajah of Patiala, who refused to ratify it, although hig

spirited sister did so, in spite of lis remonstrances. Whererpon he

displayed his resentment by seizing her person and placing her in

confinement; but Thomas, on hearing of this, deemed it his duty to

interfere, and by threats compelled the release of the brave lady.

Thus onded Lhomas’s first offensive campaign against the Sikhs.

Begun impetnously, at one time it nearly found a premature end in

defeat; but lis own right hand retrieved reverse, and turned disaster

into victory. Althengh the way led to no substantial results, it illus

trated Thomas's qualities in danger, aud the amazing vigour with

whieh he could turn upon an exultant and. victorions foe, and seatter

them in flight at the very moment whien they belicved they bad him

in their power.

Shortly after his return to Hansi Thomas received a proposal of

temporary employment from Ambaji lnglia, who offercd him a subsidy

of Fs.50,000 a month, ta assist in driving Lakwa Dada out of the

province of Méwar. Having no particular war on hand, Thonias

accepted Ambaji's offer, and prepared to lead his army against the

revolted chief, who had assembled a great force and taken the field

in the vicinity of Udaipur.

This expedition was a more extended one than any Thomas lad

hitherto undcriaken, and during his march southwards a mutiny broke

out amongst his troops, occasioned by a delay in the payment of their

arrears. ‘To excuse their unimilitary conduct they explained, that as

they were proceeding to the Decean, their families would suffer great

hardships by their long absence, and they therefore expected extra

pay. Although there appeared some reason in their demand, Thomas

considered that to yield compliance would form a dangerous precedent,

and resolved to resist. Whereupon the mutineers grew outrageous,

and plotted to seize und confine him; but this he evaded by encumping
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apart from them with tle soldiers who were still faithful. fe then

called in a body of cavalry to his assistanee, upon which the mntineers

advanced Lo attack him. Determined to repress their insolence at all

hazards, he mounted his horse and rode out to mect them: several

shots were fired, but none struck hit, and seizing the leaders he

iBlantly caused one to be blown froin the mouth of a cannon.
Whereupon the remainder, perceiving the fate of their comrades, re-

turned to their duty,

When nearing Udaipur, information was received thal Sindhia had

pardoned Lakwa Dada, so that there no longer existed any necessity

for a campaign, But Thomas, whe only consulted the intorest of

Anibaji Inglia, in whose personal service he was now engaged, and
from whom he had received positive orders to fight Lakwa wherever he

cuine up with lim, did not think himself at liberty to desist, «nd con-

tinued his march, and being presentiy joimed by General Perron’s

Second Brigade under Colonel Suthorlanit, the united forces advanced

against the rebel. The Jatter was encamped near a pass leading

to Udaipur, which was so narrow that it only wlimitied of the passaye

of a single gun at a time, and here, safo in the knowledge that the

Rina of Udaipur was favourably inclined towards lim, lie had taken

up an exceedingly strong position.

A plan of attack was now concerted betweon the two commanders,

and the following morning fixed for carrying il into execution. Bat

during that night Colonel Sutherland, without assigning avy cause,

and fo Thomas’s utter astonishment, struck cup and marched away,

leaving to the latter the sole conduct of thie operations against Lakwa

Dida.

Colonel Sutherland’s withdrawal inepired the rebel chief with eonfi-

dence, and he became haughty and tiveasonuble in proportion Lo the

improvement in the aspect of Lis ulfairs, sending letters to various

chiefs in the district, suiumuoning them to join him. Mut Thomas lial

no intention of waiting for thei fo do su, and three days Inter, leaving

Ambaji with lig troops to protect the baggage, adveneed ayainst

Lakwa in order of battle. The action was however, prevented by the

liursting of x tremendous storm of rain, thnuder, and lightning, whieh

compelled « halt. It happened that ‘Motus had urrived at a position

fuvonrable for cavalry to attack, and the enemy being execedingly

strong in that arm, be thought it prudent te ehange ground, and

manonyred so as to gui possession of wn eminence where he would

have no such fear, When the stom abated, Lakwa, who had been

within gig all this time, advaneed with his army, but, losing 4 number

of men diving his approsch from ‘Vhonas’s artillery fire, and per-

I1
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ceiving the full strength of ile position to be attacked, he thought it

best to retire ; and Thomas, after a severe and fatiguing service, which

lasted during the whole of the day, returned to his camp in the

evening.

At midnight Lakwa sent Vakils to Thomas with some letters from

Sindhia, in which the Prince repeated lis commands for the cessation

of hostilities on both sides, and nominated Lakwa to the government

of all the Marathi possessions north of the Narbada. Tn consequence

of this, 1 couneil of war was called, af which Thomas announced that

as he was employed by Ambaji for the express purpose of reducing the

province of Méwar to his anthorily, he could consent ta no terms in

whieh the evacuation of that country was not 2 leadiug article.

After much discussion, 1 proposal was made that both armies

should march to the northern frontier of ile district, and there await

fresh orders from Sindhia. Thomas’s assent was reluctantly given, as

he doubted the sincerity of Taakwa, belteving that the chief only de-

sired to gain time in order that he migit he reinforced by a body of

troops who were marching to join him from Ajmir, which city, with

the surrounding territory, belonged to him. The two annies now

commmeuced their journey northwards, but owing to heavy rain, tt

fook them fifteen days to cover the distance to Shahpuyra, although it

was only scventy-five iuiles. Qn arriving there Lakwa Dada was

joined by his Ajnur troops; whom he liad been expeecling, and now

peremptorily refused to cvacuate the territory in dispute.

Hostilities were at once resumed by Lakwa taking the offensive,

Thomas hed prudently pitehed Lis camp on ground surrounded

by ravines on all sides, which secured: him from the danger of cavalry

attacks. A council of war being called, it was decided that Ambaji’s

army, which was in an exposed position, should shift quarters, and

eneamp in Thoines’s rear so as to be under his protection; but before

this could be accomplished, Lakwa, sensible of his error in not having

at first occupied the ground secured by 'lhomas, advaueced to tuke a

redoubl that defended it, near to which one of Amboji's battalions

happened to be cooking tircir morning meal, the preparation of which

had delayed them in falling back into a place of safely. This Latialion

was charged by Lakwa’s cavalry and cut to picees, Thomas no sooner

heard of this than be formed his men and Lustened to retrieve the

disaster; but heavy rain again comiug on, the ravines were soon

swollen with water, which put an end to all hostilities for that

day.

Vhe vain coutinued without intermission for a week, during which

no opportunity occurred for a general action, though frequent skir-
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taishes tock piace. In onter to britig these abort Mating constanlls

changed the colours aul unifomis of Lis men, and by this ruse often

sueceeded in vebtiug to close quarters wilh the oneuy, and opening i

siuart eannonade, which caused then: considerible lass tn gion and

horses. On one cecasion he nearly killed Lahwa dimself, but the

chief managed to get ont of range by the fleetness of Jiis stead.

Intellivence now reached Thomas that General Verron, taking ad-

vantaye of the undefended state of dhaiiar, ad invaded ik This is-

formation he was most anxious to keep rceret, fearing thata knowledys

of ibiuivlt prejudice his position; but lacdkwea lad been similarly in-

formed, nnd, a he was strongly Lostile to General Perron, be made

Thomas very handsome proposals vw join his standard. As ‘Thomas

was in the service of Ambaji, wlio was Genera! Perron’s native colleagre

ain boll: the government of Dindustin and the conuand of Sindhi:

army, this invasion of Jhajjar was distinctly treacherous act, which

might have reasonably served as aa exctiso fur Chomas to desert dis

allegianee, and aceept Lakwa’s offer of service. Dut, with all his

juwlessness and aggression, there never breathed a more frithful

soldier of fortune than George Thoms, and he rejceted the proposils,

saying, that allhough at the Cermination ef the preseul cuupalen be

5

mighé leave Ambaj)'s service, he eonld never beeame au enemy to that

cbief, nor connect himself with those who were. This answer grea!ly

displeased Jakwa, whose Mariths, aiality was nnable to conmpreliendl

the Buropean code of lowotr, and in open dark he eomplaincd of

Thomus, declaring Lin to be wus of the most unaccountable charac

ter: for, althoagh le hed reeeived repeated orders trom Siudbia ta

cease hostilities, he disobeyed them, wud) Ladktwa cot only suppose

he was bent upon extirpating the Vrinec’s suthority, sud cetablishing

his own,

Lakwa now began to try other expediants to rid himself of this

pertinacious antagonist, aud sent emissarics intu Thonias’s eranp to

stir op a uutiny alongs lus troops; bud these mien Leing discovered,

were seized and put into confinement, aud there detained during the

rost of the campaign, whilst Thomas sonciliated las soldices by an

assurance af speedily conducting them back to their own country.

Lakswa’s force at the tinue amounted to 0,000 cavalry, G00 rectlar

infentry, 2,000 TRobitas, and 6,000 imercenarics, with $0 picec. of

artillery. To oppose thig tormiidalle army Photmas could ouly noister

six battalions of infantry, wich reduced by desertion and castallics in

the field, 800 Roliltas, 130 cavalry, wand 22 suns, the whole not

numbering more than %l00 meu ‘Tle disparity in numbers wus

enormous ; but, in addition to Ushting, Tuomas was called upou to
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provide for the safely of Ambaji, guard the camp, procure supplies of

forage and provisions, and convoy them into the place,

As soon as the rain abated hostilities were actively resumed, and

several actions took place, in most of which Thomas was successful,

frequently driving tle enemy back to their camp. On one oceasion

Lakwa eseaped total defeat by a very narrow chance. Having

formed liig whole army into order of battle, he advanced suddenly

against ‘Thomas, who at the time had only two battalions with him

in the front, and was obliged to fall back, the enemy following close

on his rear till he reached the outskirts of his encampment, Here he

was reinforced Ly threo other battalions and a supply of ammunition,

of which le had nearly run out. Whereupon he faced round, and

resolutely meeting his pursners compelled thei to retire quicker than

they had advanced. So great was their cousternation and confasion

thai Thomus inflieled the greatest slaughter, and it was only the

darkness of uight, which had overtaken the combatants, that saved

Lakwa from a erushing defeat.

Lut not long after this iltere oceuvred a disaster whieh led to the

terinination of the campaign. Between the rival armics flowed a

nulla, or stream, the north side of which was occupied by Lakwa,

and the south by ‘liemas and Ambaji. Shortly after the actiou

above deseribed, Ambaji obtained possession of ove of the enemy's

redoubts on the north side of this nullah, and garrisoned it with three

batlalions of infantry, 1,000 Ghussuins, and six guns. No sooner

was this accomplished than heavy rain came on, and continued

without intcrmission for twenty-four hours. This caused two luge

tanks to overflow, and, breaking their banks, they discharged their

contents into the nullah, which soon became so full of water as to be

impassable, whereby all communications were cut off with the newly-

captured redoubt. Perceiving this Lakwa altacked the post with

great vigour, his men advancing to the assault through rushing water,

which in places rose up to their necks. Such intrepid conduct struck

terror into the garrison, wlo became panic-stricken, und, except the

Ghussains, surrendered without firing a shot. The latter refused to

yield, an after a brave, but finitiess resistance, were cul to pieces.

This disaster seeiued to crush all the spirit out of Ambaji’s army, for

direcily after it his men refused to fight, and began to desert in ercat

numbers, Lakwa, being informed of this, induced the Shahpura

chief, near to whose capital the urmies were cucamped, and who liad

hitherto remained neutral, to declaze against Thomas, and withhold

supplies of grain. Although the latter had provisions suflicient for

twenty days’ couswiuption of bis own wen, Ambaji had not more than
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enough for three, whilst Thomas himself was short of ammunition,

his reserve having been lef} at Sing&nah, thirty miles distant. Tt

was imperative to obtain a fresh supply, but he did not think it

prudent to risk sendiug a small detachment for it, and therefore

determined to fall back on this base. Hut lie could not bring himself

toahandon Ambaji’s sick and wounded, nf wham there were a large

nuinber in camp, and generously advanced money for their transport

toa place of safety. During this retrent, aldhough pursued and har-

rassed by cavalry gent out by Lakwa, he defendeil himself so success-

fally that after several futile attempts the enemy drew off, and he

completed the remainder of his marel) unmolested, and brought his

whole force safely to Singin.

Hlis conduet on this occasion appears to have touched a tender

chord in Ambaji’s breast. The ebief had tacitly aequieseed in

Perron’s reeent attack on Thomas’s districts, both he and tho general

supposing at the time that Lakwa had finally evacuated Méwar,

and there would be no further o¢casion for Thomas's serviecs, while

the distressed condition of the Jatter, far away from: home, and

weakened by a long and arduous campaign, made the opportunity

for seizing his country a favourable one, Put now that a reverse had

been sustained, and Ambaji saycd from annihilation by 'homas’s

faithful adherence to his interests, the chief grew ashamed of his

treachery, nnd began to exause the recent attacks ou Thajjar, ascribing

fuem to the enmity of General Perron. Thomas, from prudential

motives, accepted this disclaimer, aud pretended to be satisfied, and

shortly afterwards information reached litin thatthe yillaces ceeupied

had been restored, and so he allowed the matter to drop.

Having supplied his troops with ammunition at Singinah, Thomas

reburned to the attack on Lakwa, who had meanwhile invested a fort

forty-five miles to the north-east of that place. Advancing by slow

and easy marches through the districts of a chief tamed Agaji Merta,

‘Thomas took oecasion to punish this individual for his hostility on a late

oceusion, when he incited the country people to vise against Ambaji.

A few days after this he arrived within twelve miles of Lakwa’s army.

und made dispositions to attack him the next morning, but the chief,

deeming himself unequal to the eontest, strnek camp, abandoned

the fort he was endeavouring to reduce, and quilted the boundary in

dispute, and hy a couple of furced marches reached his own district of

Ajmur.

Thotuas’s commission was now fulfilled : he had driven Lakwa ont

of Méwar, and this being accomplished he turned jis attention

towards reimbursing Ambaji for the expenses he had Leen pnt to,



166 GEORGE THOMAS.

and entered on the congenial task of levying contributions. Dcogarh

and Amdt, two strong towns, were in turn attacked and foreed to

purehase their safcty, aud then Kosital and Lusain were stormed, and

heavy ransoms exacted. So successful was the raid that the fines

collected amounted to four lakhs of rupees, a sum considerahly in

excess of the expense ineutred by Ambaji, and this handsome har-

vest would have been tmereased but for a new development of

affairs.

Ambaji, at the commencement of this campaign, had entered into

an tnderstanding with General Perron, by which it was mutually

agreed thai should Sindbia ab any time reinstate Lakwa Dada, who

was avowedly hostile to the Geveral, the two should act in concert,

and by their combined efforts preserve their respective possessions.

A separate stipulation of lis treaty was that Ambaji was to retain

Mewar, But Perron now began to entertain a jealousy against

Ambaji, and entered inte a seeret nnderstanding with Lakwa, whom

he gained over to his own interests. Such, at least, is Thomas's

version of currend politics ; bub it seems more probable that Perron,

having learnt of Lakwa's rostoration to favour, shaped his course

accordingly, for not long afterwards the chief was appointed to his

former post of commander-in-chief of the Mardtha army in Upper

India.

The upshot of this intrigue was that leticrs from Sindhia were now

produced, desiring Ambaji to retire from Méwar, and Perron wrote

recommending complianec, and threatening in case of refusal to assist

Lakwa Dida by foree of arms. Under these circumstances Ambaji

ordered Thomas to deliver over the country in dispute and withdraw

his troops.

Thomas had no oplion but to comply, though it touched him to the

quick to tamely yield up that which he had won with so much hard

fighting. No sooner had he done so than he heard General Perron

was marching to Jaipur, and simultaneously Ambafji desired him to

proceed to Datia in Gundelkhand, a place 200 miles to the eastward,

Thomas was preparing to obey, for he still considered linself bound

to Ambaji, when a contrary order arrived, directing him to join the

uaited forces of that cluef and Lakwa Dida, who had exchanged visits

of aniily. Trom such contradictory instructions Thomas suspected

treachery, and knowing Lakwa was highly incensed against him,

declined to place himself in his power, but determined instead to

return to Hans.

Wherenpon Lakwa threw off his mask, and would have sent a force

after Thomas, but for his inability to raise fimds sufficient for the
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purpose. Thomas retaliated by levying contributions on the pro-

vince of Ajmir, throngh whieh lie directed his retorn jonmey, con-

sidering himself now in a state of actual Lostility with the chief.

His position had by this time heeome exceedingly preearious.

Lakwi's army was only thirty miles to the castward, and at Jaipur,

which lay bebween him aud his destination, General Perron was

endeavouring to induce Partib Singh to cut off his retreat. To

add to his cares a grievous discase attacked his troops, who were

suffering from the cifeets of drinking the mmwhelesmme water of the

monntainons country of Méwar, and a third of thom were stricken

with sickness. VWortunutely Lakwa's soldiery were in a state of open

mutiny, whilst Perron and the Rijah of Jaipur were overawed by the

presence of Colonel Collins, the Uritish resident. “bis officer, towards

the end of 1799, arrived at Jaipur to demand the surrender of Warir

Ali, the spurions Nawdéh of Oudl:, who after ogeasioning mach trouble

by his opposition to the Mnglislyin that country, sought refuge trom

their anger in Rajputana.

In this state of affairs Thomas, after cluding every attempt to

oppose his progress, and successfully levying contributions to the

extent of two lakhs of rupees, made good his retreat past Jaipur.

Ahuost his last exploit was the eapture of a strong fort named Siraj-

garh, belonging fo Patib Singh, fromm which lic exacted a fine of

Rs.50,000. After this he prudently accelerated Lia homeward journcy,

and arrived at Hansi towards the end of 1799.

Apart from the question of its morality, tlis flying campaign was

certainly one of the most brilliant and dashing that Thomas ever

executed, In less than five months he liad led lis little foreo «1. dis-

tance of nearly 1,000 miles, had fenghb a snuecession of battles, had

obliged Lakwa Dida to evacnate Mewar, and had finally marehed his

victorious troops safely home throngh a hostile country, from which,

even a8 he retreated, he extorted several heavy fines. The districts

he had traversed were cither dry and waterless doserts, or dificult

and pubthless ranges of hills, aud the elements itud been against hira

daying the greater part of the campaign. Yok such was the vitality

and mobility of his force that he suceessfully overcame all these

obstacles, and earried hig men teiumphenily back to khe podil from

whonee they started.

Thomas was now inclined to allow his troops some repos. after

their late exertions, but an cxenso for fighting presenting itself, he

could not resist the temptation of taking the ied again. It ocenrrod

to him to make an incursion into the Sutlej states, and punish Sahib

Singh of Patiala, whe had maltreated his sister for entering into
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nesotiations with Thomas in the previous year. Moreover, during

Thomas’s absence in Méwar, the chief had coramitted depredations in

Haridina, and this was a crime that could not be overlooked. Sa

preparations were made to chastise bim, whon, at the last moment,

he agreed to surrender certain villages, and pay an indemnity for the

damage he had done, and tlius avotd hostilities.

But raid and foray had become essential to Thomas, who found it

impossible to remain inactive and at peace. He and his men were

prepared to fight, and were not to be banked of their design by the

pnsillanimity of Balib Singh. <A pretext for another expedition wag

afforded by the remembranec of the dishonoured bills whieh

Thomas had reeeived from the Rajah of Bikanir, and he forthwith

determined on an invasion of Siirnt Singh’s country.

This prince had yccenily obtained an advantage over his neiyhbours,

the Bhattis, an extraordinary race of people inhabiting a jungle tract

of country to the north-west of Tiusi. “When Thomas reached the

frontiers of Bikanir the Bhatiis, hearing of his intended expedition,

offered him Rs.46,000 to capture and deliver over to them a strong

fort which Siirut Singh hud erected mine miles south-west of their

capital of Batinda, whereby they were much incommoded and

iwnenaced. ‘Thomas cheerfully aceopted the commission, and, altering

his route, soon reached the city of Batnér, whieh in the geographical

light of these times was regarded as tha most western habitation in

that part of India, ,

The fort which the Rajah of Bikanir had erected was garrisoned by

a large force of infantry and cavalry, and, from its natural position,

was almost inaccessible to an enemy, there being no water obtainable

within a circuit of twelve miles. But Thomas liad prepared himseif

for a desert campaign, and, ringing up his artillery with hin,

battered a breach in the walls aimost before the garrison realised he

was atbacking them, He soon made the necessary preperations for

storming the place, when the cacmy capitulated on being permitted

to mareh out with the honours of war, and Thomas put the Bhattis

in possession of the fort, and reecived from them the stipulated reward

of Rs.40,000.

He now continued his march towards Gikanir, storming and eap-

turing several places, and fighting various skirmishes. In these his

losses were lieavy, which, added to sickness consequent upon the

nnheulthiness of the climate, reduced his fizhting strength to one-

third of its original number, nnd compelled him to snspend his

advanee and fortify his camp for defence. Many attempts were

mae by the enemy to carry his entrenchments, bul his vigilance and
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energy foiled all, and the health of lus feree improving, he presently

struck camp and returned towards his own country. On his way he

eame across 1 town called Futehbad. which he burnt, and would in

all probability have taken possession af the adjaccnt eonntry, and added

it on to Flariina, which it adjoined, had not the enemy received assist:

anee from the Tiijab of Patiéla, who, deeming the present moment a

favourable one to work his revenge for past injuries, sent a contingenl

of 1000 cavalry to act against Thoms. The latter, not fecting strong

enough to proseeule hostilities, retnrned to Thajjar, where he allowed

his people to recuperate aftor the distotupers they had contracted

during the campeign, and reernited liis battalions to their fall

strength.

This waa in March 1800, about whieli tine Lakwa Dida, through

the intrigues of Perron at Sindbia’s curbar, had been agaiu super

seded in his command, To hastewdthe chiefs downlall, and, if possible,

to take him prisoner, the General inarclied against Lint at Sounda,

in the Datia district, where he stomucd lis camp, and forced hitu

to fly for hig life to Jodhpur. Perron, whose designs against Marianna

Thomas had reason to distrust, being thus oceupicd, the lather did

not choose to remain idle long, Large arrears of revenue were due i

him from his northern distriets, and he resolved to march thither and

enforee payment. On his route he incidentally punished a numerous

and daring banditti who had frequently annoyed him by their pre-

datory attacks, and who, having heen joined by a number of the

peasantry, wero assembled in considerable foree at the village of

Salidin, just ontside Thomas’s north-eastern boundary, Confiding

in their superior numbers, the rebbers issued boldly forth, on his

approach, to give him battle on the plain in front of the town. Dut

their temerity proved their destruction, for Thomas not only routed

them, but followed sq close on thoir heels, that jis treops entered tho

fort with the fugitives, and puf to death no less than 700 within its

walls. Thomas's own logs on this occasion was considerable; but the

victory struck such a terror thronghont the eonntry that {he

romaining dislricts subinitted without w struggle.

Finbeldened by this success, Thomas now determined to eross the

boundary and levy contyibutions in the disiviel of Saharanpur, which

wis being administered by Sambunath, ona of Lakwa DaAd-’s

collectors, who lad remained trne vo the chief's canse in the hour of

fis fall. Sambanath was in the Dott at the head of a numerous,

but disorderly rabble, and had lately sustained some smart skirmishes

with the troops sent against him by Perron. Taking advantags: of

the anuchy in whieh the districh was thrown, Thomas made a
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rapid dash through its upper portion, and extorted several heavy

fines before his presence there was suspected.

Soon after this Perron advanced in person against Sambunath, and

at the same Lime caused letters to he delivered to Thomas, which he

pretended emanated from the Deshwd, and directed the recipient to

assisi Lukwa Dida. These letters Thomas at once recognised as

forgerics, intended to temp} him into an attitude of declared hostility

against Sindhia, which would huve given Perron an exense for

declaring war againsh him. This crafty plot made Thomas regret

that he had not in the first instance taken Sambunath’s part, who

might then not only hava saved himself from defeat, but erushed, or at

least shaken the power of Perron himself. It was, however, too late

to do anything now, so he contented himself wilh offering Sambunath

an asylum at Mansi, and advising him not to think of opposing his

wretched troops to Perron's, But the former, confiding in the pro-

testations of lis followezs, rashly determined to fight. He was soon

eonvineed of his error, for on the approach of Perron, his troops

deserted him, and some endeavoured by treacherous means to seize

his person and deliver him up a prisouer. ILe effected Iris escape,

however, and found refuge in the Sikh country.

Thomas now recetyed intelligeneo that several of his own districts

in the vicinity of Hansi were in a state of actual rebellion, and had

plundered the merchants resorting to them of a very considerable

aun of money. Amongst others guilty of this reprehensible conduct

were Balbali, Sorani, Jamilpur, and Bibal. The latter place con-

tained 10,000 inhabitants, who enjoyed a character for remarkable

bravery, having defeated several armies which, at various times,

attempted their reduction, and on one occasion sucecssfully resisted

the Mughal neble Ismail Beg, who fruitlessly endeavowed to sub-

due thom with « foree of 16,000 inen and 100 gnns. The population

of Bihal consisted chiefly of Rathdédr Rajputs, who possessed the

finest qualities of courage and resolution.

This rebellion broke out in June 1800, just as the rainy scason

was commencing, and Thonias was sensible that if it was not quickly

crushed, the most serious consequences would cnste to the cultiva-

tion, on which tho revenues depended. He therefore marched

against the place without delay and found it garmsoned by 3,000

men, who, although well armed, were badly supplied with provisions.

With a diseretion be did not ordinarily display, Thomas decided

not to storm it, thinking from the numbers and bravery of the

defenders that the event might prove doubtful, and certainly lead to

an Inunense loss of life. So he fell back on the slower, but surer
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method of » blockade, and erected a chain of forts around the town,

and also completely encireled th with a diteh twelve fect dvep, which

prevented any provisions reaching the garrison, and soon redueed

thein to a condition of severe distress, ‘This was further sagmented

when means were found to diminish their water supply, nnd force

them to the neecssity of dyinking from the wells within tho fort,

which, being bitter in quality and unwholesame, coon cansed sickness

to break out. At Jast the garrison was redueed to one-third of its

original number, and Thoinas, desirous of pulling an end to the siege,

drew out his troops with intent to storm the place. Seeing this, and

satisfied of his resolution, the enemy capituiated at the Tast momeut,

and paid a fine of Ks.80,000 to he forgiven and allowed te retarn to

their allegiance,

In Angust Thomas returned to bis quarters at Tansi, and was soon

after this visited by a man named Usuf Al Khiin, a wative agent sent

by Colonel Collins, the British resident at Sindhia’s court, on a

political mission to the Sikhs. Usuf Ali, in bis report fo Colonel

Collins, rnentions that he was received with tho greatest courtesy

by Thomas “on acconnt ofthe Colonel's letter,’ and provided liy

him with an escort to Rolitak.

For the next four months) Thomas) was busy eompicting his

ammunition and stores for lis next campaigon, on which he entered in

December 1800. This was the Jast aggressive one he undertuok, and

also the most important, being directed against the Sikh states of the

Sutle; district



CHAPTER VI.

TILE INVASION OT TILL SUTLE! STATES,

1801.

N an earlier chapter it has been shown low the range of Thomas’s

ambition was not confined to the establishment of an independent

rule over the principality of Mariina, but nurtured far more extended

schemes of conquost in the Land of the Five Rivers, The Panjab

dangled a rich prize to nn invader. ts fertile plains yielded harvests

twiea a year: it was well watered and well wooded: its annual

yavenucs were two million sterling : it contained populous cities, the

resorts of merchants and caravans from the far countrios of Central

Asia; and, finally, the Sikh nation, who inhabited it, was divided and

subdivided into countless clang and) confederacies, whose internal

dissensions and jealousics nullified the cffect of their numbers, and

made their country an casier prey to an jnveing army than if they

had been a united people.

Yhomas knew the Sikhs and fheir ways well. During fifteen years

he had exchanged inany hard koocks with them, and beaten

them times without count. Along their frontier his name was one to

conjure with, for it was feared and dreaded by the sons of Nanak. In

addition to his ofd designation of Jehazi Sakti, he received about

this time the more honourable one of Jowriy Jung, which, being

interpreted, means “ George the Conqueror.” A eongneror Thomas

was, and he now proved his further claim to the title by aspiring to

the conquest and consolidation under his own government of all the

petty states info which the Panjab was divided, and the proclamation

of hig rnle over the broad territory that stretched between tho Jumma

and the Indus,

TYis design is thus summarise in his memoirs by his biographer,

Captain Franeklin :—

“When Thomnse first fixed his residence at Hénsi, he coneeived,

172
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aud would, if unforeseen ciretunstances had not occurred, have

execnted the bold design of extcnding his conquests tu the month of

the Indus. This was to lave Leen effected by a fleet of beats, con-

structed from timber proeured in the forests near the city of Fvrogpuy,

on the banks of the Sutlej river. Ife then intended procecdiny down

the river with his army, and settling the countries he might sabdne

on his route—a daring enterprise and conceived in the true spirit of

an ancient Roman, On tlie conelusion of this design ib was his

intention to turn his arms against the Punjanb, which he expected to

reduce in the course of a couple of years, atul which, considering tlic

wealth he would then have acquived, and the ainaving resources he

would Lavo possessed, must have established his anthority on a firm

and solid basis.”

With the advantuge of our amodera geographical knowledge we are

able to properly cstimate the full scope of this enterprise. ‘Lle

territory this ancacious Irishman proposed to invade, ineludes the two

vast provinces which now constitute the entire western froztice of

the British Empire in India. Their ammexntion cost the English three

great wars. Well might Captain Franeklin write that the scheme

“was conceived in the irne spirit ofan ancient Noman.” A conquest

whose limits were determined by Karadi, Lahere, and Deliii, was u

task worthy of a lieroie age.

Although it wag umbition which first led Thomas to the eonsidera-

tion of this delirious scheme, there were other causes that operated in

commending it to his mind. He was eonscious of the inervasing

jealousy aud hostility of General Perron, whose encroaching arnis aud

despotic power threatened to swallow up tle litte principality of

Haridna. Trom such an inconsiderable base of opcratious as Tins,

Thomas could not hope to sucecssfully resist the wenlth of meu und

miuterial possessed by Perron. Dat with the Panjab at his back

there was uo hostile combination he would have feared, and with that

magnificent reermting ground to draw upon, le could have created

an army that might reasonably hope to cope with the Brigades of

Hindustan,

To the dangers and difficultiesot the project ‘Thomas was not blind :

but he feared those whieh lurkel in his rear, not those whieh existed

in front. And it was with wu view of securing himself against an

attack from Sindhia that abont this dino he made definite overtures

to the Brilish Government, In these Le announced his intention of

declaring war against the Sikhe, wle were, he observed, equally the

enemies of the Murithas and the Tnelish. ‘To enable him to attuek

them with confidence he desired au assurance of neutrality from
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Genoral Perron, under gnuranteo from the Governor-General. In

return for this Thomas offered “to advanee and take possession of

the Punjaub, and give up his army to the direction aud control of the

English; to take the country, und, in short, to become an active

partisan in their cause. By this plan,” be explaincd, “T have nothing

in wiew but the welfare of my King and country; it is net to betber

mnyself that [ have thought of it; bub 1 should be sorry to seo iny

conyuests fall to the Mahvattas, for T wish ta give theiu te my King,

and to serve hin the remimitder of my days. ‘his I can ouly do as

a soldier in this part of Lhe world?”

Political considerulions made it quite impossible for the Marquis

Weilesloy to entertain these proposals. They were advanced at

a time when he had his lands fully occupicd with the expedition to

Egypt, and the unsettled state of affairs in the Deccan, where signs of

trouble were looming which would require all the resources of the

English power to successfully oppose, In consequence of this

Thomas’s design of an invasion af the Panjwb was usver carried

out in its entirety, bub was confined to the short but brilliant

campaign which he undertook in the year 1801.

A plausible exense for the fonuality of « decluration of war aguinst

the Sikhs was afforded by the conduct of the Rajah of Putinla, who,

in the preceding year, had broken his treaty of peaee with ‘Thomas,

and assisted his enemies to harass him during lis return from the

BGikanuir expedition. Sahib Singh of Patiila, whose forces consisted of

1,500 cavalry and 1,000 infantry, was at this time engaged in laying

siege to a fort in which his Amazonian sister Kumir had taken refage

froin his resentment. Thomas, with his native chivalry, determined

to mmrch to this lady's relief, bul on his appreach Sahib Singh

Jinrriedly raised the seige and retired within the fortifications of

Sunim, a large town thirty miles to the west of Patizila. 'Themas

followed on lis track with the intention of storming the place, but was

deterred from doing so by the unexpected arrival of Tira Singh, an

ally and son-in-law of Sahib Singh, who brought with him a large

furee. The appearance of these reinforcoments gave confidence to tha

surrounding peasantry, aud they rose en masse to join the Patiéla

chief. Thomas accordingly determined on more prudential tactics,

and striking camp marched twenly-four miles to a town called Belad.

But he was followed by 1 lurge body of the encmy’s cavalry, who

concealed themselves in a neighbouring jungle, intending to make

a sudden attack on his rear whon he advanecd to the storu.

Belad was a strongly fortified place, as indeed were all the towns

and villages in the district, owing to its constani stato of warfare.
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The walls were nine feet in thickness, amd ib wes serrennded by

a ditch twenty feot deep, aud defended ly a onmerous garrison.

Nevertheless Thomas, who was apprised of the proximity of lhe

Patiala troops, determined to storm it without aay loss of time, and

before the latter could form 2 junction with the garrison, or aflord

external aid,

Fortune favoured Lim, and he carried the place by a vigorous

assault, wille a loss of ouly eighty of lis own people. A rancovots

enmity hind long existed between lis troops, whe were chiefly

Muhatmmuadans, and the Sikhs, and in the heat of racial eonfliet, despite

all lis attenupts to stay the slaughter, no less than 500 of the warrison

were put to the sword, Upon which the townspeople who survived,

ransorued their lives by the payment of a large sui of money,

Waving thas established himself in a situation of strength and safety,

Thomas directed lis attention tu dividine the foree tliat had followed

hie, and gradually inereased to not less than 10,000 men, intending if

possible to attack and defeat them in debit tie also experienced un

tuclination “ to explore the neighbouring country and raise eontribu-

tions.” To effcet these objects he presently tuarched to a central

position between the towns of Vatinli and Sundin, but soon changeit

his intention on a chance presenting itself of punishing ard Singh.

whose assistance to Sahib Singh had oblived Thomas to raise ihe

siege of Sunam. Tari Singhl’s capilul was at a place culled Males

Kotla, which lay a short distance to the noxth-west of ‘Chonias’s

position, and he now perceived wo opportunity of attacking ib Ly

surprise in the absenee of its chicf, which he at once proceeded to

put into exeention. The roud lay through a thick jangle, well

adapted for ambuseade, and as his men were making their way alow:

nu smart firing was suddenly Leart in the front. Llarrying forward

Thotuas fouud bis advance guard lad heen attacked by a superiar

force of the encmy, just as they were emerging into au extensive open

plain, and presently discovered that this was a ruse to draw lis

observation away from a large and populous town named Bhat,

situated close at hand, and belonging to Thad Singh.

Having received information of the proximity of this ylace, Thoniay

marched against i} Tle walls of the fort were twelve feeb thick wad

thirty feeb high, with four strong bastions, well fortified with canuen,

conunanding the town below, as well as the plain adjobung. It was

defended by 8,000 troops, and in all respects « place dilltenlé te take ;

but Thonius was determined to eapbure it, and vesolved on an iu

mediate assault. Dividing his force into two coltunns, he led one

luimself against the centre of the town, whilst one of his officers
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named Hopkins led the other against the eastern angle. The affair

was desperate, for though tle town was scon set on fire, the enemy

made a brave and stubborn resistance. Hopkins, advancing with the

uimost gallantry, stormed the quarter assigned to him, but, in the

moment of victory, fell wounded, and several other officers were

killed or disahled by the tremendons fire kept up froin the bastions,

The affair now began to present a doubiful aspect, especially when

a laxge body of the Patitla cavalry mado their appearance in the reur,

just as Thornas’s troops, although in actual possession of the town,

were beginning to waver and show sigus of retreating, either because

of the oxcessive heat thrown out from the burning buildings, or from

the uncommonly severe fire poured down upon them from above.

The danger was, however, averted by Thomas's presence of inind.

Bringing up a G-pounder gun close to the gates of the citadel, he

demolished them by repeated discharges. Whereupon the enemy

gave up the contest, and by timely submission saved a further effusion

of blood on both sides, and paid a ransom of Rs.50,000,

Although Tari Singh was a Sikh, a great portion of the population

of Malcr Kotla were Muhammadans, who, when they heard of the

capture of Bhat, showed a disposition to join Thomas, and eventually

paid him a contribution, and united their troops with his.

Meanwhile the Rijah of Patitla hed not been idle. To the east-

ward of his capital was the districh of Shahtbad, belonging to a Sikh

chief of the name of Karram Singh, fo whose son Salil Singh offered

his daughter in imarriage if he would assist aguinst ‘Thomas, The

proposal being accepted, 5,000 of the Shahibad troops joined the

Patiila army, and on their arrival a grand council of war was held,

whereat it was resolved thal a gencral combination of the Sik slates

should be formed to expel Thomas from the country.

For by this time Lhomas had fully justified his claim to the title of

Jowruj Jung. Heo had become a veritalle scourge to Use Sutlej

states, und made his shadow dreaded wherever it fell, Victory

followed his arms, and none seemed capable of resisting him. The

confederation of such discordant elements as tho Sikh clans was tho

best testimony to his power and prestige. Information of this alliance

soon reached him through his spics, but it raised no serious appre-

hensions in his breast, for he considered that the diversity of interests

and counsels that prevailed in the enemy’s camp, and the well-hnown

jealousies of their chiefs, would veuder it difficult for them to act in

harmony, or carry ont auy preconecerted plan with loyalty to one

another.

But at this juncture an event occurred which temptod Thomas
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from the path of prudence, and trmed the scale of circumstances

against him, Adjoining the Malér Kot. conntey was the territory

of Rai Elias, a youll who liad recently suceeeded his father, Rai

Kallin, iu his inhoritance. Dai Mlias’s distviet ran contiguous with

the Sutlej river, and ineladed the inuportant eities of ladbiana anil

Pirozpur. In conseqacuce of his tender age lis imother lad assumed

the reins of government, but from inexperience, and the disadvantages

of her sex, proveil wholly tnable to rule a country producing a reyente

of five lakhs of rupees, and surrounded hy cnemics eager to prey on

it, Taking advantage of her weakness the Sikhs had abtiacked her

son’s districts in the previous year, and taken possession of a great

portion of them, only a few strong forts remaining to the Hani, Soon

after this Zaman Shab, the King of Kibul, arrived at Lahore, which

was only seventy miles distant from Itai Elias’s capital, and to him

the Rini appealed for assistance to reinstate her seu in his authority.

Hearing of this the Sikls evaciated the villages they had ocaupiad,

and the peasantry returned to their allegiance, und matters were

Degiuning to assume a brighter aspeet when a fresh danger arose,

which reduced the Thani to even deeper misfortunes than those fro

which she had just emerced.

A certain Sikh named Sahih Singh (not to be conformded with the

ruler of Patiala) who was a Bebii of the race of Nanak, the founder

and prophet of the Sikh nation, counterfeited rcligions inspivation, and

having by fraud and artifice imposed on his countrymen, collected

a large forca and proceeded to possess himsell of the country of Rai

Tilias. As Zamin Shah had by this time returned to Kabul, no help

could be expected from that sovereign, and the Hatnt was soon

reduced to a traly deplorable situation, and obliged in her extremity

to sue for terms from her enemies. <A treaty wag drawn up by which

she ngrecd to pay a sum of two lakhs of rupees to the Sikhs vs

ransom, but Sabib Singh, the imposter, refused to approve it, and

detuanded the surrender of tha whole of her country, As a Jest

resource the Lhini sent ler young sou to make an appeal iu person,

and try to obtain an abatement of these harsh terms ; whereupon the

youth was treacherously scized and retained a prisoner by Sahib

Singh, but was shortly released by s Sikh elief named Noarram Singh,

whose credulity could no longer be imposed npon hy the pretended

prophet, and who detached himself trom his canse and carried Rai

Flias to a place of safety. Sahil Singh immediately returned to the

attack of the TAni’s country, and was ocenpied in the siege of

Tudhiana, one of the chief townsin 1, when Thomas appeared upon

the scene and captured Bhit.

12
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In this sitaation of her affairs the Itani determined to spply to

Jowruj Jung for assistance in expelling Sahib Singh, and despatched

a confidential agent to his camp, offering him a lakh of rupees to

reinstate er son in power, and promising him an annual tributc of

343.50,000 a year to guarantee the youth in mndisturbed possession.

Although this proposal seomed likely to drag Thomas into a pro-

longed war he was se touched by “ the fallen condition of an ancient

ymd honourable family” that he acceded io it. Lovely womun in

dislress never appealed in vain to this susceptible Irishman, and

whether it was the Witeh of Sardhiina, the Amazon of Patidla, or the

widow of Ludhiana, it needed tui 2 woman's cry to bring him to the

resene,

Hearing of these negotiations Sahib Singh, tho imposter, wrote to

Thomas, threatening him with panishment, and warning bim ‘if he

wished for quarter ’ to send a Vekil at once to * the successor of

Nanak aud the Soversign of the Sikh nation "—such being the dignity

to which the Belidi laid claim sand he conelnded his letter by

recommending ‘implicit obedience to his commands.”

The idea of Thomas “ wishing for quarter ” at the hand of a Sikh

was distinetly precious: and there was a splendid audacity of ox-

prossion in the recommendation of “implicit obedience” from Jowray

Jung. Equally indignant at the impertinonee of the language and

the menace, Thomas replied that he was accustomed to receive, not

to send Vakils, and ihat Sahib Singh had hetter pay down his con-

tribution before le was compelled, and immediately evacuate the

country of Tei Elias, This answer brought matters to a point, and

the imposter prepared to make good his Llweats,

Meanwhile Rai Blias left the Rajah of Patidla, with whom he had

taken refuge after leaving Karram Singh, and came of his own accord

to Thomas's camp. ‘ The comely appearance of the youth,” observes

the Lrishman, “his fallen condition, and above all the confidence he

showed in placing his whole reliance on one against whom le was so

lately leagued in enmity, altogether influenced me in his fayour, and

determined me to use every exertion to support his cause.”

The Rajah of Patiila now joined the imposter to make commen

cause against their common encmy. Thomas at once advanced

against them, upon whieh “the Sovercign of the Sikhs’ inconti-

nenily fled, lis followers evacuating the country faster than ‘Thomas

could occupy it. So rapid was the Behdi's retreat that in one place

his bed, palanquin, tent and baggage were all found abandoned. His

discomfiture was complete, and he never afterwards occasioned any

disturbance.
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The Rani and her son were now put in possession of thoir territory,

and after the most active of the rebels had been seized aud punished,

the authority of the young chicf was rc-cstablished. Dnt although the

imposter wag no more, the Rajih of Patiila still kept the field, and was

joined by several other chiefs. IIe now advanced at the head of 15,000

men against Thomas, with the intention of driving hina ont of the

country. Several skirmishes took place, but without any substantial

results, neither party being desirous of risking a general engagement.

And go hostilities continued to be carried on ina desultary manner, tle

Sikhs eontenting themselves with cutting off suppHes from Thomas's

eamp, and preventing him from collecting forage. But as all this

occurred within Rai Mlias’s territory, and occagioued goat loss by

stopping the cultivation of the land, Thomas desired to carry the

war into the enomy’s country. ‘To this, llowever, the Rani would

not consent, pressing him to stay by her while the Sikhs remained

in the neighbourhoad,

So long as prudence allowed, he listened to these solicitations, but at

last a time came when his ammunition bean to fall short, and he was

reluctantly compelled to make prepavatious for his retnrn to Hansi to

obtain a supply. And so, mueh against her will, he left the Rani to

sustain her authority by herself, and began his mareh lome-

wards,

The Sikhs at once closed in upon his rear and began to harass bi.

This behaviour incited him to retaliube by dovastating their country

through which he passed, And there was a further satisfaction in

knowing that his pursuit by tho whole force of the enemy was operat-

ing favourably for Rai Elias, since it drew the Sikhs away from his

districts, which, for a time at Icast, would be freed from their

depredations.

Previous to hig setting out on this campaign Thomas had effected a

treaiy with two powerful Sikh neighbours, Bagh Bingh of Jhind, and

Lal Singh of Kaithal, by which thoy solemnly agreed to live in amity,

and particularly to abstrin from invailing Haridna during Thomas’s

absence. But now these treacherous chicts, pereeiving the strong

combination that had been formed agaiust him, broke their faith, and

joined his enemies. bey had not, however, rightly reckoned the

character of the man whose feelinus they thus outraged. Thorns,

by foreed marches, forged abeal of his pursuers, and led his troops

against the fort of Kanhori, which belonged to Lal Singh, and taking

it by storm, put the garrison to the sword. ‘The captnre of this place,

which was only forty-five miles distant from Patiala, was of [he

greatest importance to him, for its situation uear the Ghagvar



180 GEORGE THOMAS.

river, and on the borders of hig own districts, afforded Thomas an

excellent advance depst for stores and ammunition, and he accordingly

repaired the fortifentions and garrisoned it with a large force.

This done he collected hostages from the eurrounding country as

security for its peaceful behavionr, and marched to letira, another

strong fort, belonging to the Kaithal chief, and was on the point of

storming this when the garrison of 500 men, dreading a similar fate

to that experienced by tho inhabitants of Kanhori, appealed for quarter,

and were granted it on payment of a substantial contribulion, and the

surrender of the fort with its contents to Thomas.

From Retava Thomas returned to Hiinsi, where he learnt that

during his absenee Gapu Sindhia, the Marithdé general, had invaded

Hariina under orders from General Perron, but had fallen back on

Delhi, where the main army was encamped, directly information

reached him that Thomas wna retimming to his capital.

The main Sikh army, which had not relinquished the pursnit, now

began to suffer scriously from want of water and stipplies, and were

eventually compelled to abandon active operations for the present,

and drawing off encamped in the neighbourhood of Kaithal, there to

awaib the bursting of the monsoon rains before recommencing hostili-

ties. Lut no considoration of this sort hindered Thomas when ho was

on the war-path. He had still to punish the Rijah of Jhind, and

marching to that chief's district, he exacted o fine, and took hostages.

Thence he passed on to lay siege to Safidin, a town dependent on the

same ruler. This place was built of brick and enrrounded by walls of

uneommon height and strength, so that it was impossible to take it hy

a sudden assantt. Thomas therefore erected three redonbts around it,

whieh he fortified with cighteen 12- and 6-pounder guns, and opened a

bombardment, keeping up an incessunt fire from early dawn till three

o'clock in the afternoon, at which hour, fearing the place miglit be

reinforced during the night, he determined on a storm. The garrison

consisted of 700 men, 800 of whom remained in the fort, whilst the

rest sallicd bravely out and attacked Thomas’s advanced posts on the

first signs of his intention to assault, but most of them, including some

chiefs of distinction, were put to the sword as they clambored their

way out of the decp ditch surrounding the place. And now Thomas

in his turn delivered his attack, and attempted to mount the hreach

which his guns hud made. But lis sealing ladders proved too sliort,

and his men were involved in the greatest difficulty, being entirely

exposed to the encmy’s fire without any possibility of returning it.

After a desperate conflict of two hours he was compelled to draw off

with a loss of 450 of his best troops. The gallant Hopkins, who had
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been, as usual, conspicaous by hia ardour during the assault, was again

severely wounded.

But the enemy had also suffered greally in the carlier part of the

day, and now attempted to escape by cutting their way through

Thomas's line, In this they were suecessful, and reached {he shelter

of a thick furcst in the neighbourhood, whilst the vicbors niarehed in

and occupied the abandoned fort.

lt does not speak much for the national spirit of the Sikhs that

during this time their main anny lay within twenty-seven miles of

Safidin, and yet never altempled to relieve their bretliren in distress.

It was also a fortunate occurrence for Thorias that Bapn Sindhia,

who was encamped fourteen miles to the south, made no hostile

movement. Encouraged by this immunity from athaek Thomas now

marched against the main Sikh army at Kaithal, to renew the war

which had been suspended; bat his late feats had struck a chill into

the hearts of his enemies, who recognised that Jowres Seng was 2

masterful man, fo whom it was better to submit than offer resis

tance. So soon as his intentions became evident to the Cluef of

Patitla and his allies they sent four Valkils to neyotiate for peace,

thus adinitting his advantiure.

Thomas, despite his exhibition of energy and vigour, was sincerely

desirous of terminating the war; for lie was informed thai General

Perron was prepating to march front Delhi for the avuwed purpose of

assisting the Sikbs. Although this was not exactly the case, it was

certain that Perron was bent on measwrivg swords with homas,

Added to these considerations was the occurrence of distarbaue.s

which had broken oui near Hiinsi, and rcquired care’ to avert danger.

Thomas, therefore, wisely decided to profit Ly the enormous prestire

he now enjoyed, and agreed to terug. It was settled that the Sikhs

should pay him an indemnity of Ne.1g5,000, and renounee all preten-

sions to the country of Rai Vilias; that the Chief of Patiala should te

reconciled to his sister, Kuntir, who was to be reiustated in the property

confiscated from her; that cerfain districts ou the frontier slioadld te

ecded to Thomas; and finally that the Chief of Patiila should enb-

sidise two battalious of infantry, who were lo be stationed to keep orcter

on the boundary, asa safeanard to citliey party.

Tt was a treaty which did bonowe tu Vhorias, not only beeause it

asserted his complete miaslery over Lig cnemics and secured him sclid

uilvantages, Lut because we of its principal stipulations showed law

the protection of the weak, and the rehubilitation of an iujured won

had a first placo in lis warm Irish leart, aud evoked the support of

his chivalrous nature.
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“Thus,” he observes in his momoirs, “ ended a campaign of seven

months, in which I had been more successful than I could possibly

have expected when I first took the field with a force consisting of

5,000 men and 86 pieces of cannon. I lost in killed, wounded

and disabled, nearly onc-third of my force; but the enemy lost 5,000

porsons of all descriptions. I realised near Rs.200,000, exclusive of

the pay of my umuay, and was to receive an additional Hs.100,000 for

the hostages which were delivered up. I explored the country, formed

allianees, and, in short, was Dicraror in all the countries belonging to

the Sikhs south of Sutlej.”

Directly this treaty was concluded Thomas mado an astonishingly

rapid march back te Hansi, to the consternation and amazement of

General Perron, who was actively preparing for an attack on that

town, in the belief that its master was many niles away. This extra-

ordinary display of vitality confounded Perron, who, in the changed

aspect of affairs, began to consider the advisability of substituting

negotiations for action.

Lub the star of Jowrny Jung had passed its meridian height aud was

now on the decline. Once or twice it was destined to blaze brightly

out through the dark clouds that shrouded its setting; but the cam-

paign that carried him conqueriug to the Sutlej and snfely back was

his last victorious effort. Conceived in a spirit of the boldest enter-

prise ; conducted with on audacity as suecessful as it was splendid,

and concluded with a vigour that astounded his enemies, it fitly crowns

the dashing and defiant carcer of this gallant Ivish adventurcr. And

inore than this, it compels the belief thai under a happier destiny Le

might have carried into effect the ambitious schome of conquest which

he marked out for achievement, but never lived to realise.

. The end was drawing near: his work was nearly done, But its

memory was to remain. For in many a Panjab village, for many a

jong year after he had passed from the scone of his exploits, the

whisper of the name of Jowruj Jung could hush childron into silence,

and bring a keen alert look into the grave dusky faces of grey-bearded

warriors, who remembered how, in the days of their youth, the sword

blows of the sailor Suikil were wont to fall fast and thick amongst

flying Sikh armies, seourging and scattering thew like the flail of the

thyesher desconding upou the trampled sheaves of corn.



CHAPTER VIL

WAR WITH PERRON. THE GATTLE OF GRORGEGARIL

1801.

JIE extraordinary success of Thamas’s cureer, the alarming growth

of his power, and hig singularly ambitions nature, had for some

time marked him out as an object of suspicion to Daulat lito Sindh t

and of jealousy to General Perron. More than onee the Marath.:

prince had in the past offered service to ‘houas, and these offer-

had recently been revived, but-Lhomas retused them, owing to his

disinclination to serve in conjunction with) Perron, whotn he cordially

hated. And so no arrangement was coneluded, and meanwhile Thomas

gradually inercased his force to eight battulions of regular infantry of

750 men each, 1,500 Rohillas, 2,000 earrison troops, 1,000 cavalry,

and 50 guns. This Tittle army, from 2 numerical point of view,

was sufliciently powerful to ercate distrust, Wut it was rendered doubly

formidable from the prowess and prestige of its commander, “ who

had a spirit and elevation of nnd not to be subdued by accident, er

depressed by ill-fortunce,’ and from the valour and confidence whicli

animated all ranks after an almost unbroken career of viclory.

- The recent invasion of the Snile} statcs had raised Thomas to »

distinct place in the connuunity of Lndian powers, whilst the Jawle:«

and predatory instinct that swayed hin made lis army a source of

constant terror to the noighbouring countries he so frequently

devastated and laid mnder contribution, Byen to the Maral

power itself Jorref Jung Lad become a stauding uence, for bis

proximity te Delhi, and tho dush aml daring of dis system of

wirlure, made a coup de mitt auninst the capitel amd the person

of the Linperor not ontside the bowids of possibility.

This in itself wag a sufficient reuson lor Perron’s determination to

measure swords with the conqucror of llaridna. Bat there was

another cousideration which influeuceck Lima, wad thict wus ‘howa.- =

Apt
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notorious hatred of Frenchmen. Jowrity Jung suffercd from the

acutesi form of Francephobia prevalent at a time when the discase

was very virulent. It wag on this ground that he refused Sindhia’s

proposals, oxplainivg that “ M. Perron and himself being subjects of

different nations then in a state of actual hostility against cach other,

it was impossible they could ever-act in concert or with cordiality.

Ile was moreover convineed that asa Frenchman and possessed of a

national enmity against him, M, Perron would always be induced to

represent his actions in a light most unfavourable to his interests.”

This inference was eortainly sufficiently justified by Perron’s

behaviour towards the British officers in his army. We was at this

time bent on the establishment of a Fronch dominion in Hindnstan,

to which end he had entered into negotiations with the Freneli

Government. These schemes and ambitions undoubtedly mfiuenced

his policy towards Thomas, for it was impossible for him to view with

oquanimity the existence on his weakest flank of a growing power,

whose sympathies were intensely British. He therefore urged upon

Sindhia the necossity of crushing the army of the audacious adveniurer

of Hansi, whose increasing fame threatened to eclipso that of Perron

himself.

Whatever Perron suggested, Sindhia of necessity spproved and

sanctioned, for he was too harassed and tormented by diflienlttes tn the

Decean to exert any real authority in Tlindustan. Dut trne to the

iraditions of craft and intrigue that governed the Marditle mind,

Danlat Tio first altempteda diplomatic solution, and once more

repeated his invitation to Thomas to join tis standard. Thomas mot

the proposal with his tormer reply. “Principles of honour,” he

wrote, “forbid mo from acting under the command of a4 Frenebnian.

But should you think proper to appoint me to the management of

operations, cithor offensive or defensive, in any part of the Deccan,

Hindostan, or the Punjaub, I am ready and willing to undertake the

charge so suon as tho neecssury arrangements for the payment of iny

troops can be eourpleted.”

To this Sindhia, undor Perron’s direction, replied “Tat it was imn-

possible to consent Lo suelt a proposal, as it would create au unfavour-

able precedent; and lie recommended Lhonins to enrb his national

cnmity, and consider the matter in a light more favourable for the

interests of the service.”

Such was the position of affairs at the end of the Sullej campaign,

when it became evident that a conflict between Thomas and Perron

could be no longer deferred. The Sikhs, smarting under the defeat

they had suffered, helped to bring matters to x head by opening nego-
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tiations with Perron, to whom they offered a subsidy of five lakhs of

rupees and a contingent of 10,000 cavalry, if he would undertake

the destruction of their dreaded enemy.

hia offer came at an oppertune moment, for Perron was fully

determined in his mind to bring matters to a stinmary conclusion,

either by foree of arms, or by absorbing Thomas’s aymy in his own.

So he wrote a sort of ultimatum tu Thomas, requesting him Lo send «

Yakil to confer upon the proposals recently made by Sindhia. But

no sooner was this communication despatched than news reached

Delhi of the disastrous defeat of Sindhia’s forces at Ujjain by Holkar,

which in a moment changed the aspect of affairs. Orders followed for

Perron to temporigo with Thomas, and proceed iminediately to the

Deecan wibh all his treops, to assist in re-estiblishing his master’s

power, which had received a serious shock.

This was an ominous biow to/Perron. Ilis persanal interests were

centred in Hindustan, a withdrawal from which would be fatal. The

negotiations which be had recently opened wilh the French Gover:-

ment required both the consolidation of lus power at Delhi, and thst

it should be supreme there. ‘To detach all, or even a portion of Tis

troops to Ujjain would be political suicide. It was far more important

to him to destroy Thomas than to defeat Holkar. The temporary

success of the latter might ever be advantageous ta his personal

schemes if it woakened Sindhia: for Daulab Nio’s weakness wis

Perron's strength so long as the lather coull keep his Drigades around

him. Rumotre reached Limof several alliances which Thomas was

negotiating with the Degum Somru, the ivjalis of Jaipur and Ulwar,

with sundry Sikh chicts, with Likwa; Dada, and with Jaswant lio

Ilolkar himself. Asa fact, Holkar Lad repeatedly urged Thomas tu

commence hostilities, and promised to assist hin with men and

money. Thomas was also in communication wilh Joan Baptiste le

Fontaine, whe commanded six battalions of Filoze’s party iu the ecr-

vice of Sindhia. This pairing of opposite curds comes on the authority

of Lewis Ferdinand Smith, who writes : “ Such are the singularity and

treachery of Iastern politics, that two of Seindia’s Drigailes, Sombre’s

and Filoze’s, had agreed to ussist Uhoums ugainst Dalat Laio's ecru

mander-in-clief Perron!” Mor Uie moment ib alaust appeared as

thongh Lhomas would be enceessfil in forming an overwheluing cou

Lination ayainst his encuics, whilst he was considerably angmentiog his

own force, having nade preparations to ruise six more battalions, the

recruits for which were on their way to juin him, and tle arms ready

for dhem. A careful review of the comparative strength of Thomas und

Perron at this thaog seems to favour the former.
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Perhaps Perron realised this; but he had gone too far to draw back.

‘The very existence of his power dependcd upon the destruction of

Thomas’s. It was impossible for him to obey Sindhia’s orders and

march with his battalions to the Deecan, leaving Hindustan shorn of

troops. So under various pretexis he avoided starting for Ujjain, and

micanwhile cogitated on an extremely clever scheme which, if success-

ful, would at one and the same time undermine Thomas’s power, and

pacify Sindhia’s importunity. This was nothing more or less than

sending Thomas to do the work in the Deccan, and retaining his

own Brigades intact in Hindustan. With this design in his inind

Perron received the Vakil Thomas sent hin with marked favour, and

presently requested a personal interviow with lis master.

Thomas consented, and the fort of Bahadurgarh was fixed for the

meeting. Thither Perron sent his\Third Brigade of 10 battalions

of infantry under Bourguién and 2,000 regular horse, following them

from hig headquarters at Koil, about the middle of August. At

the same time Thomas marched out of Héusi to attend the interview.

On upproaching Bahadurgarh, which was siiuated a few miles to the

north-west of Delhi, he was met by Captain L. F. Smith, who was

deputed to conduct him to the place of meeting, Thomas was not

altogether without suspicion of Perron’s good faith, and this distrust

was increased by information which reached him that the General had

recently put to deall a Sikh chief, who had revolted from Sindhbia, and

of whose person he had obtained possession by treacherous means.

Thomas, therefore, took with him as a personal escort, two of his most

approved battalions and 800 cavalry, and on the 19th of August,

1801, arrived and encamped two miles’ distant from Perron’s lines at

Bahadurgarh.

The next day an interview took place. Thomas was determined to

observe the greatest circumspection, bub both he and Perron were too

cunning to deceive each other long, One ean imagine the meeting of

the vaiu-glorious Frenchman aud the hot-headed Irishman, each in

his own way typical of the European nations they ropresented. Loth

were self-made men, sprung from the same low strata of seafaring life ;

both had fought their way to dishinetion aud power by similar

methods, and reachod an extraordinary elevation. Both, doubtless,

laboured under exaggerated ileas of the etiquette and conduct required

in diplomatic dealing. The mind pictures the forecd Gallic politeness

of the one, and the Tipperary puuctilio of the other, ag they attempted

io disguise the racial hatred that filled their hearts. Derren with his

solllary hand—he bad lost one at the siege of Kinannd in 1793—

waving the groat, tall frishian into the place of hunour, must huve
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adjured the scéiérat wader his breath ; and Thomas enrsed the d—— d

Frenchman as he glared dewn on him and passed to lis seat, But the

pantomime of politeness passed off well enough, and although no busi-

ness was transacted, the way was paved for future negotiations.

Several conferences took place after this, and when the first sense of

distrust and awkwasdness wore off, friendly relations were established,

if not between Perron and 'Thomas, at least between the latter and the

European officers af Bourguien’s Third Brigade, with whoni he dinca

repeatedly. Amongst these was Colonel (then Captain) James Skin-

ner (to whose excellent memoirs much of the following matter is

indebted), who states that ‘all seemed to be going on well,” and

describes Thomas’s troops as “looking well, but not over-diseiplincd ;

but his artillery was very fine and the bullocks particularly good and

strong.” Captains Ilearsey, Hopkins, and Bireh, tlirce of Thomas's

officers, were in his camp, as well as some Europeans aeting as pur-

reants in his artillery, so that he must have made a very creditable

slow.

Thomas had already received information about Sindhia’s defeat. tb

Ujjain and the unfavourable aspect of the T’rince’s affairs, and this

naturally strengthened his hand, and Jed hin to hope that the negotiu-

tious would be productive of an amicable adjustment of all former dith-

culties, and lead to future trangquilliby and a good understanding

between him and Perron. But when the lattor indicated the con-

ditions on which it was proposed to entertain Tliomuas’s services, the

demand was equally sudden and unexpected, and quite tock Thomas

aback. He was to surrender his district of Jhajjar, but to be permitted

to retain the fort of Hansi; he was to rank as a colonel in Sindhia’s

service, with a pay of Js.60,000 a month for his corps, but to serve

under Perron’s orders. These terms were unfavourable aud unaccept-

ablo in themselves, but they wero made impossible by the additional

condition that Thomas, directly he avrced to them, would be required

to detach four of his battulions for service against Uolkar in the

Deccan.

In Thomas's acutely suspicious Lrish uaimre this last proviso aroused

the shrongest distrust. Lt seemed to hin that Perron wished to follow

the political masim Divide ef Lieperc, and he believed the stipulation

yas a distinct attempt to undermine his power, and that as soun as

Holkar was defeated, his own tura would come to be dewlt with, when

he would be compelled to accept any Loring Lerron might choose to

impose. Je therefore peremptorily refused compliance, and abruptly

breaking off the conference, wmrched back to Hansi aud preparcd for

war.
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That he was mistaken in this step is proved by results, for service

under Sindhia could never have led to such absolute rnin as overtook

Thomas before four ionths had passed away. Te has been blamed

for want of judgment in neglecting ‘the only rational chance left

him of realising with greater certainty a higher station as a soldier

than he could ever hope to do by his own mnaided resources against

the jealous enmity of the most potent prines in Hindustan,” Although

by the light of subsequent events the wisdoin of this criticism is made

apparent, it is easy to understand the grounds which iniluenced

Thomas in his choice. In the first place he conld uot foresee that all

his projected alliances wera to fail him, and he had in theory an

exceedingly strong combination at lis back. Then he was a victorious

and independent leader treating for terms, uot a defeated genoral suing

for them, who had no choice bubto submit to the humiliation of sur-

rendering territory ho had held and governed fornine years. He was

at the lead of a marvellonsly spirited force, fresh from a brilliant

campaign, in which it had proved its superiority over enormous nume-

rical odds. Perron might eertainly bring bigger battalions into the

field, but the recent defeat at Ujjain had gravely shaken the prestige of

Sindhia’s rogulur infantry. Lastly, there waa ‘Thomas's own nature,

his unconquerable pugnaciby, his firm faith in his own fortune, and his

cherished ambitions for supreme power which prevented his giving

way. Visions of glory blinded him; lis oyes still turned towards the

far Panjab ; his mind was filled with schemes of conquest and acqui-

sition, Ib was intolerable to him to serve under another in an ingluri-

ous réle of subordination ; bat altogether repugnant when tliat other

was a Frenclman. And it was this sentiment, more than any other,

that urged him to enter into a struggle with the master of forty

thousand fighting men, rather than yield up an independenco which

he had won with his own right hand, and lower his sword in salute to

a chief whom he despised.

War was formally declared, and both sides began to make ready.

But Perron set off for Koil with such impolitie precipitation that Lewis

Verdinand Smith refers to his departure as“ the flight of Perron from

his army.’ Te left Majox Louis Bourguien, who was in conanand of

the Third Brigade, to conduct the operations, and this officer, after

being slrengtlened with 60 guns and reiuforced by GQUd Sikh

cavalry, entered Thomas’s territory carly in Septenber, and marel-

ing to Jhajjar, which was nnfortilied, occupied it without oppo-

sition. He then attempted to capture Gcorgegarh, a strong fort

five miles to tho south, garrisoned by 800 of Thomas's troops,

but the officer entrugied with the attack being repulsed, Gourguien
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left Captain L. #. Smili with three battalions of infantry and a

battering train ta lay siege to if, und himself marched to ThinJ,

whither he heard Thomas had gone. On arriving here he was told

his quarry had moved off to Patijla, and at once starled in prrsnil ;

but this had merely been a feint on Thotuas’s park to draw off Bonr-

guien’s main army, aud hoe now retraced his steps to Hansi with

incredible rapidity, completed his ammunition and other stores, left a

body of Rohillas to defend the place, and then swooped down on

Smith at Georgegarh, covering the last seventy-six miles in two days,

whilst the blundering Bourguien, discovering too late the trap into

which he had fallen, came following after.

Thomas's sudden approuch was the signal for Smith to raise the sieve

of Gcorgegarh, and fall back on Jhajjar. But homas was not to

be foiled, and without resting his men, dashed forward to ent Snith

off. His troops, however, fron somo weeeotintable reason, lost their

road in the darkness of the night, and when in the early morning

Thomas came up with tho vetreating envy he found he had only oc

hatbalion supporting him.

Smith's rcar-guard was under the command of a gallant oll native

officer, named Pivau Singh, who numediately drew up his battalion

in line in order to cover ihe retreat of the artillery and bagcare,

whilst Smith opened a slight cannonade, and then continued his flight.

This gave. time for some of Thomus’s laggards to come up, but being

in a state of oxtreme fatigue, and only commanded by a native officer

named Martaza Khan, they incautiously advanced through a field of

high standing corn, without reconnoitring their frout, and suddeuly

found themselves attacked by [wan Singh, who charged them with

great spirit and beat them back with a loss of four of their grurs.

Tearing of this disaster Thowas irumedintely advanced to the relief,

and lending his men, sword in hand, fell upon tho enemy, and after a

severe conflict completely defeated them, and recaptured the four guns.

Piiran Singh was wounded and taken prisoner, and a great number

of his men Iilled or disabled, only mere remnant escaping ; for

although Smith was buta short distance whead, ho did not return to

their assistance, ut busied himself with securing the saicty of his

guns and baggage.

Thomas, whose loss wag under 100 men, now fell back on George-

garh, his troops being 80 exhausted with fatigue ns to bo unatle

to continue the pursuit; and only a few cavalry were sent after the

fugitives, and these picked up several stands of colours and sinall

arms. Skinner, in his memoirs, blames Smith for hig supine conduct

on this occasion; but Thomas observes, ‘Had it not been for the
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soldier-like precautions taken by Captain Simith in sending forward

his artillery and baggage, whilo he made head with his infantry, the

whole would have infallibly have been captured; as it was he lost the

qrenter part of his ammunibion and baguage.”

This action occurred on the 27th of Seplembor, and on the following

morning Thomas was preparing to renew the attack when his seouts

brought information of Bourguien’s approach. THis troops being

fatigued and many of them dispersed in search of plunder, Thomas

did not deem it advisable to hazard an immediate engagement, and

the relieving force, which turned out to be Bourguien’s 2,000 regular

cavalry, under the command of Captain F. E. Smith, a brother of

Captain L. F. Smith, made good their way to Jhajjar, and saved the

two battalions and the battering train there from a very serious

danger.

Bourguien himself, with his infantry, arrived on the 29th, the men

harassed, fatigued, and famished after a-march of sixty miles in thirty-

six hours; yet, with incredible imbecility, their leader determined

on an immediate attack, On reeonnoilring Thomas’s position he

found him drawn up in one line, with Georgegarh and a large fortified

village on his right flank, a strong redoubt, in which were stationed -

600 Rohillas and 4 pieces of artillery, on his left; and another

large walled village in his rear. Mven under favourable circum-

stances the position would have been a strong one to attack, but

under existing conditions an assault by Teurguien’s exhausted and

Worh-out troops was madness,

Notwithstanding which the Frenchman ordered the adyaneo at

three o’clock in the afternoon, but, witha prudent regard for his own

safety, directed operations from a point far away in the rear, where he

faithfully kept his post during the rest of the fight, full of importance,

but out of danger. Obedient to orders, and with s calm intrepidity

worthy of its reputation, the Brigade advanced in open columns of

companies against Thomas’s entrenchments. The route lay through

heavy sand, and they were cxposed to a dreadful and well-directed

fire from 50 guus. Two battalions, with a couple of cannon, were

detached fo make a diversion on Thomas's rear, whilst the main body

proceeded straight against his position.

Thomas had chosen his ground with his usual ability, and so

divided his forces as to oppose a front to the enemy at each point

threatened. The position gave him a considerable advantage, for

knowing that his men were unaceustomed to artillery fire, he sclected

a place where the soil was so loose and sandy that it deadeued the

shot, and prevented them from ricocheliing, The total number of
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troops under his command consisted of 10 battalions of infantry, 600

Rohillas, 500 cavalry, and 54 enns,

About fonr o’clock the two armies were within musket shot, and

Joureuien’s men began to push briskly on, with thcir guus at the

drag ropes. J3nt Thomas, with rapid discharges of round aud grape

shol, mowed them down by seores, whilst his own troops were in a

greab measure sheltered by a brceastwork of sand which they had

hastily thrown up. A few minutes of this hot work threw Bour-

gnien’s main body imto confusion, which must have resulted in

jrretrievable disaster, had not his euvalry made a spirited charge on

'Thomas’s centre, and pressed it so hard that it began to give way,

and the rest of his line to waver.

This rendered an immediate movement necessary, and Captain

Hovkins with the right wing, and Captain Birel: with the left, werr

ordered io advance and charge with bayonets. Lach moved out with

two battalions in columns of campanics, and thon formed in front of

the cnemy “ with as great calmness and precision as if they had been

at review,” and after delivering their fire dashed forward with fixe

bayonets, and drove Bourguien’s line back, But Bourguien’s gunners

would not abandon their picees, and, serving then with great resolu-

tion, kept up a heavy fire, which created immense havoc, and so

encouraged the cavalry, who had temporarily drawn off, that they

charged again, But being bravely met and repulsed with loss, they

retreated a second time, and weve pursued fer a considerable distance

by Thomas's horse.

And now there came one of war's niischanees to operate against

the vietory which secmed almost assured to Thomas, Captain

Hopkins, his second in command and in gallantry, his alter equ,

was stenck by a cannon ball, which carried away one of his legs, On

seeing their leader fall his men iminediatcly lust heart, and retired ia

disorder, carrying him with them. Whereupon Bourguien’s left wing

rallied, and reoccupied the position they had abandoned, and after a

little time attempted to advance to the storm again; but the fire

along the line from Thomas's guns was so murderous, that at last the

whole Brigade was ordered to lie down and avail themselves of such

shelter as the undulating surface of the ground afforded. In the

sume way Thomas's troops crouched belind the sand billocks that

protected them, and in this position the two armrics remained will

sunset, neither daring to expose itself by an advance or a retreat, lint

continuing to keep up a constant fire. When at last night drew its

curtain over the bloody plain, the worn-out soldiers, utberly vx-

liausted, bivounced on the open fick? they had so desperately contested.
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At sunrise the next morning Bourguien hung ant a flag of truce,

and an armistice was granted for six hours, during which the wounded

were conveyed to the rear and the dead buried. At vioon the flag was

hauled down, but neither party displayed any inclination to renew tha

engagement, and after a few rotnds of cannon shot Bourgnien drew

aff unmolested, leaving Thomas master of the field.

Thus ended the severest battle that was ever fought between tho

diseiplincd armies of Hindustan up to that date. The troops opposed

had been nearly equally matched, for though Bourgnien commanded

8,000 men, and Thomas only 5,000, the latter’s deficiency in numbers

was made up by the greater strength of his position, the comparative

freshness of his men, and his own immeasurably superior military

skill.

The loss an both sides was enormous, but from the conflicting

nature of the returns it is difficult to state the exaes numbers.

Captain Skinner, who was present at the battle, puts down Bonr-

guien’s casualties at between 3,000 and 4,000, but Thomas assosses

them at 2,000, whilst Captain TL. DP. Smith states “that above

1,100 men were killed and wounded, which was nearly one-third

of the number engaged.” But Bourenien had 7,500 infantry at

the very least, so that Tlomas’a ostimate is probably the most

covrect. Skinney’s must certainly be accepted cautiously, for his

memory for dates aud figures is peculiarly incorrect as a rule. Out

of saven European officers engaged in the altack, Lieutenant

M’'Colloch was killed, Lieutenant Eimilius Felix Smith mortally

wounded, and Captains Oliver and Rabells wounded.

Thomas lost 700 men by his own account, thoneh Skinner puts it

down at 2,000. The destruction of artillery on both sides was very

great. Twenty-five of Bourguien's tumbrels were blown up, and

fifteen of his guns dismounted, owing to the sandy soil from whieh

they were fired preventing a proper recoil, and so causing the axle-

trees to snap. In the same way horas lost twenty pieces of

cannon, only a few of which were dismounted by the enemy's shot

striking them.

But a far greater loss to him was the death of Captain Hopkins,

who succumbed to his wonnd a few hours after the action. “Ie was

worth more than a couple of battalions to Thomas,” writes one who

knew him, “‘and had the Injtey, possessed enother such officer the

undecided day of Georgegarh would have been turned into victory.”

As these words are being penned, ninety yoarg have passed to the very

day sinee Hopkins fell in battle. ‘The coincidence of date comes

suddenly and with something of a shock, even as the ink that records
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his death is wet. God knows under what insignificant dot of land in

that distant country lic mouldering the bones of this gallant ad

venturer, Lut laying down the pen, and musing for an idle moment,

a forlorn pity steals over the mind as ono thinks of how he was cut ofl

in the bright spring-tide of his youth, synandering all that hionan

nature holds most dear in the insiynificant service he belonged te.

Expatriated, remote, unknown, he died a suldier's death, acquitting

himself ay nobly as if Le had been fichting under the flag of his own

country, instead of in a catise thiut yielded little credit, and less

renown. Thrice in these pages, willitn the compass of a year, tho

brief chronicle of Hopkins’ bravery finds mention: twice wounded,

tlie third time dead, and so forgetten—poor dropped atom in the

world’s dust!

Tadeeisive as was the battle of Georecvarh, the advantage remained

with Thoinas, Wiad he availed himself of Lis opportunity he would

have added a crowning success to lis career. Colonel Skinnacr

aduiits this wheu lie writes: “We had always heard that Thomas

was a brave, active, and clever soldicr, and an abie general, But we

were surprised that he now permitted us to remain (or fifteen days

without attempting to attack us, ov make good his rctreat ta Haus:

for there was no doubt in our wuinds that had he tried vither plan he

would have suceceded. The state of our guns and the spirits of our

soldiery was such thit, had Thomas chown any inclination to move

towards us, we sould have got ont of dus reach, for our conmander,

Major Louis Leurguien, was mot only a coward, but a fool, He wis

one of those whoa got on by flattery, and ld if wot been fur Major

Bernier, a Frenchinan, we sliouldt certainly lave lost the day; for the

Major was nob secn at all during the battle, and our being saved

from total destruction was cutirely owing to the exertions of Major

Bernicr, wlio was a brave and able soldier.”

Thera is a humiliating confession ju this passage, and one cannot

but hope that De Doigue never funent to what a low ebb * the spirits

of his soldiery? had been reduced. Lerron, when he wrote to |:is

old chief in the following February, aid boasted that “he bad been

obliged to entirely destroy that scoundrel Uhowmas,” omitted to towel

on tis incident, or to mention low Capiain Drugeon, the geueral's

deputy at Dell, collected all the doctors in the city and bundled

them off to the front to tend the weanded, whilst Perron bimecif

raised new truops, and buried furward reinforcements with feverish

haste.

Captain Lewis Lerdinand Smith takes cveu a stronger view than

Blhinner of the possibilities opened to Vhowas by the Lubtle of

18
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Georgegarh, as the following passage will show:—“ Had Thomas

taken advantage of Bourguien's ignorance and folly, and sallied out

on the beaten troops of Perron, he would have overturned his power.

But Thomas was, in this critieal moment, confused and confounded,

though he had shown feals of valour during the action... Had he

acted with his usnal boldness, caution and activity, the forcos under

Bourguien must have been destroyed; the allies of Thomas would

have thrown off the mask, and openly taken his part; and before

Ferron could have collected smother efficient force, Thomas would

have been master of Delhi aud the king’s person, and probably have

extinguished Porron’s power and authoriiy, Scindia would have

quietly transferred that power to Thomas, for he would have been

equally indifferent who governed Hindostan, Perron or Thomas, as

he raust, from impotency to resist, have bowed to the will and power

of every aspiring mind who commanded large bodies of regular

infantry.”

Ié was in this supreme moment of his carecr that Thomas fell.

Fell from an estate so high, that tts possibilities are scarcely credible

when we consider the character of the man who might have grasped

them, and learn the reason why he failed to do so. That reason has

not hitherto beew hinted at, but it had long existed. When Thomas

required his faculties to be clearest, his understanding unclouded, and

his cnergies struug to their lighest piteh, he gave way to drink!

Alas! for the unheroing of this hero, that he should Lave sold

hinself so cleaply, so vulgarly, so wantonly. Who shall diuoose

a drunkard’s reasons? Perchaneo, Thomas was over-atiected by tho

death of gallant Hopkins, and his impressionable Irish nature sought

the solace which countrymen of his class noi untrequently fly to on

such oceasiuns: porchance it was the very cevilry of drink that drove

him to the bottle; or a more charitable explanation may lie in the

stinmlant required by the unendurable fatigue of over-taxed physical

effort, or the terrible strain of wental ansiety, It matters litle

which, The pitiable truth remains that in the momentons crisis of

his life Thomas surrendered limself to the demon that enslaved

him, and in one wild, reckless debaucl, sacrificed everything.

Those who lave followed him thus far in the erratic course of lis

adventurous career, and who, in noting each step in it, have sighed

over his lawlessness and condemned his abandonment, but have yet

heon cajoled into admiration for the man militant, may surely, in this

moment of bis wenkuess and his folly, as they see him distraught and

undone, blindly secking lis own destruction, spare one regret for the

losb man. Remembering only, out of their charity, those things which
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lie to his credit: the loyalty that never descrted a friend, the chivalry

that so oftentimes suecuured the weak, the enterprise which raised

him to the height from which he tell, nud the invincible spint that

sustained bint through twenty years of war aud baile in the East,
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Fee a fortnight after the battle of Georgegarh Thomas resigued the

entire conduct of his ailairs to Captain Hearsey, who, instead of

pressing forward to attack, or retiring on Hénsi, began to fortify the

catnp—a proceeding that halted lialf way between an advance to

vietory aud a retreat to safety. Te reason lic gave for Lis action

was that ho expected assistunce from Lakwa Dada, but this chief was

fully employed in defending himself against Ambaji Inglia’s Fmelish

ofliccr, James Shepherd, and was, moreover, in a state of pecuniary

onbatrassinent, for it had recently bean publicly reported he had been

obliged to gcll his jowels to yaise money to pay Lis troops.

Ii is ditheulé to understand the eonsiderations which induced

IIcarsey to repose confidence in the faith of » Maratha, and on the

streugth of it take up a position ta an open camp instead of fulling

back on Hinsi, whieh was not ooly Thomas’s capital nnd arsenal and

the base of his supplies, bot a fortress of great strength, and cupable

of opposing an indefinite resistance to Perron, Ignoring this, Hersey

elected to fortify what was little better than an open cantonment,

completely ent off from all resources, aud without any corresponding

advantage in return.

While Thomas drank the golden moments away, and Hearsey

thought only of holding a untenable position, reinforcements kept

reaching the enemy daily. Drngeon, Perron’s deputy commandant

at Delhi, hurried forward all the available troops he could spare.

Perron detached five battvlious of the Sccond Brigade from Koil,

and five more from Hessing’s corps ub Agra: Dapu Sindhia, the

Maratha Sabahdar of Salaranpr, contributed a large foree of cavulry,

and the ebiels of Ghartpur aid Uathras supplied the quota of troops.

Last of all, a grout many of the bikl chivis joined Vhomas’s enemies,
196
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amongst thom being Salib Singh of Patina, whose Amazonian <ister,

Kuni, died on the Uth of September, at the carly age of twonty-

eight.

Perron, when he heart of Bonreuien’s defeat, was furious, and

despite that offieer’s solemn asseveration that “* Ged knew he had

done his best,’ superseded hin by Major Pedvon, who commended

the Seeond Brigade. This officer immediately started for the front,

and shortly after ho had assumed comivand at Georgegarh, a enrdon

at $0,000 men and 110 picees of artillery was drawn rowad Thomas.

This anny was made up of twenty-two lattalions of regular infintry,

including teu of the Third Brignude, five of the Second Brigade, five af

Hessing’s, and two of the Bexum Somru’s (the authority quotcd is

that of Colonel Skinner), with 2,000 regular Windustani Lerse, and

about 12,000 Sikh and Maratha eayvudry. One ol Pectron’s first acts

was to advanee his line nndseenre possession of a large tank or reser-

vair of water, a short distnunce outside Georgegarh, which left Thomas

with only three wells to depend om Very soon the cnormons display

of force brought against him overawed the surrounding peasautry, who

submitted to Pedron, and diseiitinned their usual supplies of provi-

sions to the boleaguered camp, liv which the diffieultics within it were

very considerably augmented.

And now, when it was too lute, Thomas pulled himself together and

yesnmed the command of lis troops. He soon realised that he was

toa week to draw out lis arizy iu open fold wid gre battle, and that

all hie could do was to remain within Jiis lines and act on the detensive.

Semething of his old cnerey and resonree began Lo return to him, and

he set to work to fortify the enmnp in the best manner possible, |uutd-

ing around if a hedge of the auine kind of thorn trees lie had utitised

in his dctence of Fatehpur, and formul se efliencions, Le then took a

earefnl stock of his provisions, and fond they were sufficient for a

miouth’s consumption. Tavine thia arranged everything for ihe

security of the camp, ho braecd himself to holt out until assistance

arrived from TLakwa Dida, who, at the commencemcut of lostilities,

had given him frequent asstrances of support.

Tt was now nearly the middie of October. Soon skirmishes began

to take place daily, and Thorius uiade drequenb sorties and attacked

Pedron’s entrenchiienis, but was uevor able to caplure any of t)en.

Tsolated ducls were often fought in the epen plain between the two

camps by detache parties frou cithor aemy, but although Thomas's

troops behaved with sigual gallantry, they were alvays overpowered

by superior numbers aud driven back within iheir own lines agin.

On tho i8th of October a grand concerted atlach was made in conjune-
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tion with some troops Vaman Rio had sent to Thomas’s assistance,

but it tailed, and the latter lost 400 men without effecting anything

decisive, The following day, Rahmén Khan, one of jis Afghan mer-

ecnaries, made a gallant sortie with 2,000 men, but only to be driven

back by a heavy cannonade from Pedron's well-posted guns. And so

» fortnight passed, marked by frequent conflicts, in which nothing

was gained, aud by tho end of it Thamas’s provisions had shrunk alarm-

ingly, for his foraging parties found it impossible to avoid the Sikh

and Martha cavalry that swarmed round the eanmp, and prevented

them from replonishing his fast diminishing stock. Day followed

day, and one week another, and there was no sign of Lakwa Dida’g

eoming, The investing lines were drawn closer and closer, and the

weak points in them strengthened, until at last a complete blockade

was established, whilst, to complete his troubles, the water in ‘Thomas’s

three wells began to show signs of failing.

The Asiatic soldicr, no maiter how herciecally led and commanded,

is & fatalist at heart, and this prejudices him for defensive operations,

for, curiously enough, his fatalism always anticipates the worst, and

when he touches his forchead and says‘ Kismet,’ he is prepared to

accept defeat, When food ran short, and water began to be stinted,

a portion of Thomas’s troops commenced erying “ Kismet." Previous

to the declaration of war he lad enlisted several bands of Afghans to

swell his ranks for the coming econtesi, and to tle untrustworthiness

of these treacherons mercenaries his ruin can in a great measure be

traced. Pedron was net slow to avail himself of these [acts, and

began to intrigue with the maleontents in the besieged camp, and

bring corrupt influences to bear upon them. The families of several

of Thomas’s native ollicers resided in Perron’s territory, and their

dependent situation was taken advantage of to effect their niister’a

downfall. Perron, being acquainted with their circumstances, had, at

the commeneemont of the war, placed guards over the houses of many

of these individuals, notably over those of Shitéh Khan, who was

commandant of the fort of Georgegarh, and Khuirat Khin, who com-

manded Thomas's first matchlock regiment, both of whose familics

resided in villages belonging to Perron. These native officers wore

now pressed to desert theiy colours under pain of their property being

confiscated, and their wornon folk maltreated—a threat more potent

in the East than lire or sword. Vribes, threats, and promises were

all freely used io induce them and others siilarly situated 1o forsake

their allegiance, To this wafair ani ignoble pressure many succumbed,

not a few being selected men, who had been the recipients of the

greatest kindness from Thomas, and whom he had raised from low
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stations in his army to appointments of authority and command. Yet,

in the hour of his sore distress, they serupled not to prove traiters to

their sali, and joined his eneiics.

But thore was eveu foulor treachory than this at work in the camp,

for incendiary fires began to break ont, In the forl of Georgerarht,

where Shitéh Khan commanded, several stacks of hay, which formed

the chief forage supply were destroyed, whilst the smail rew wining

store of grain was made away with by :ucans cqually nefarious. Not

eontent with this, these perfidious men were constanlly instilling

into the minds of the troops the peril of their situation, and the im-

possibility of saving themselves except by submitting to the enemy

and joining them, as they were daily invited to do. Of these traitorous

designs Thotnas was not informed until it was too late, when their

truth was brought home to him by the sudden increase in deserbions.

Meanwhile TLakwa Dida did nob, arrive, and, disheartened by

Thomas's misfortunes, several other chicfs, who had promised him

their assistunce, not only witliheld it, bnt actually joined his enwiuics.

Constant and authentic information of all that was passing in his

eamp reached Pedron, who, on the 24rd of October, hoisted x fag,

and publicly announced that all deserters from Georgegarh taking

retuge under it should receive quarter. That night two of Thomas's

newly-raised battalions murched ont, and availed themselves of this

proclamation, aud three days later, Sharif Klin and Tlamza Klin,

two Afghan mercenaries, whot ho hal recently entertained, followed

their base example, and passed over to Pedron with all theiy men,

Amidst all these dangers and diffieulties Thomas was tho only

person who never lost heart, bub ungoasingly endeavoured 15 buoy

up the spirits of his people with the assurance that help was coming.

To Lakwa Dida he gent frequent and urgent messages, and a3 con-

stantly heard from: hin, one ictter, full of the usual specious promises,

reaching him as late ag the 3rd of November. Viiman Rito also wrote

encouraging Thomas to persevere, and stating he was sonding rein-

forcoments. But they weve all words, tle words, and netther Lakwa

Dada's nor Vaman Rao’s staulards over appeared.

On the 6th of November Thomas determined to make w In:t effort,

and with a body of cavalry endeavoured to surprise Pedyon’s samp by

a night attack. Lut traitors liad given information of the intended

attempt, and the sortie was ict with a diselurge of musketry, wtillery

and rockets from an enemy fnally prepared and adutirably ported, and

the attempt resulted in failure and defeat. By this tine Thomas was

reduced to tho divest straits, ‘Che grain in the eanp was finishod, and

the seanty supply that his foragines parties collecbed at a great expense
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of life, was sold at the price of blood. His cattle had nearly all been

killed, his water supply was almost exhausted, and his troops were

kept alive on meat rations, a form of food not only unsuilable but

positively injurious 10 men accustomed to grain diet. Finally, his

ammunition began to run short, and threatened ta leave lim without

the means, ag well as without the men, to fight. In this extremity

there remained to him but ona single echanee. A large convoy of

grain had been despatched by Vaman Rao, and lis hopes were all

centred on its reaching jiim safely. It was due on the 10th of

November, bui on the previous night a detachment of Pedran’s horse

discovered and captured it. In a spirid of Oricntal brutality the noses

of tho camel drivers conveying it were eut off and sent with tannts

into Thomas’s starving camp, carly on the following morning. At

the same hour he learnt of the desertion on the previous night of his

most trusted Afghan clicf,a man named Ali Ghal, in whom ho had

hitherto reposed the greatest confidence, and whose loyalty had never

been doubted.

Tn such a pass the bravest man might without dishonour have given up

an unequal fight ; but submission never entered Thomas’s mind. “Tn

this distress,” he writes, “I had no resource but either to attack the

enemy by night, to sally forth and try the event of a contest by

day, or to attempt a retreat, leaving the infantry to make the best

terrus they could with the enemy.” No idea of eurrender is apparent

here, though it must have been the uppermost thought in the mind

of every other man in the camp. But Joieruy Jung never belied his

repitation fora moment. The word detcat was not in his dictionary:

and when circumstances obtruded it, the letiors shaped themsclves

into defianee. Fight by day, or fight by night, or, at worst, a dash

through those investing lines, sword in hand, and his horse’s head

pointed for Hanst, were still “resourece”’ left him. After a shart

consideration he determined to hazard the first, and attempt to fight

his way past the enemy, and reach his capital.

Ho accordingly gave the necessary directions for carrying this

resolution into cffect; but his soldiers, suspecting his intention, began

to pack up their baggage and openly desert the camp. Thon this,

Thomas assembled lis officers and inquired of then the cause of the

coramotion stirring in the lines. They replied that uo further reliance

could be placed on the troops, who, confounded by their difficuliies,

would no longer remain true to their colours, On hearing this, Thomas

proeceded in person to tho lines, and endeavoured to reanimate his

men, but lunger and thirst and want and privation had laid their

hands upon his followers, and with the tatalism of their race they
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had acecpted the decree of Fatc, convinecd that the star of Jorrij

Tang \vad sot.

But Thomas relaxed not his efforts. “To eneonrage the drooping

spirits of his people ’ (1) he gave orders for an attncek to be made on

one of the enemy’s advaneed posts which, from its siluation, appcared

easy to be taken. But a difficulty arose regarding bullock drivers,

who had all deserted the camp. Some sepoys, however, encouraged

hy the promise of a liberal reward, undertook the office, and a select

delachment qnitted the cwuup. But whether from being infected

with the depression of spirits that prevailed, ay beewnse they were

really unfit for dhe work assigned them, the sepoys conducted them-

selves in so awkward a manner, and made so little oxertion in getting

on the guns, that it was neeessarv to reeall them to camp.

Shortly after this his spics brought Thomas information that tlre

exemy, having been apprised of his intention to force his way to

Hiansi, had formed lune ready to-opposc his progress. And it now

scemed to him that, in the present discontented state of his troops, if

ho attempted to earry cut his design, the termination must be delent

and diserace.

Tha end was drawing near. Ab sunset Thomas summoned a

council of war, and submitted to his officers the cireunistances of

their situation. They gave if as their unanimous opinion that

nothing remained but an unconditional surrender to tho cnomy.

Tong and earnesily dil their leader try to persuade them that a

retreat to Tnsi was still practicable: Inui lis excrtions were inel'ee-

tual, aod he was forced to confess that au dismal aspect presented

itself on wl sides." The spirit of resistance was crushed out of the

eamp, saving only the inextingnivhable spark glowing by comparison

more brilliantly than ever in the bosom of its chief

Searcely was the council of war dismissed than Thomas learnt

that a heady of Roliillas stationed over the wells had gone over to the

enemy. Other troops were ab onec appointed to guard the posts tins

abandoned, but to his sorrow Thomas fonnd that the spirit of

desertion lad seized on the Muhammadan soldiory in goneral, the

cavalry alone excepted. At seven o’elock in the evening the whole of

the troops stationed on out-post duty followed the cxuuple of the

Rohillas, and it beeame apparent that Pedron was aking pre-

pazations for a general assantt. Situalianeousty an incendiary five

broke ont in the last stack of hay, whieh, ss Thomas afterwards

learnt, was @ preconcerted signal be.ween the trailors in his camp

and the enemy. Even as the Hames leapt forth tuto the dark night,

word was brought him that Slitih Khan, who commanded at
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Georgegarh, and although secretly in league with Pedron, had up to

now preserved an appearance of loyalty, was mounting his horse

preparatory to leaving the fort, attended by all his people and their

effects, and that a party of the Maritha troops had approached the

walls in order to escort these deserters to safety, and occupy the

abandoned post.

Thomas’s soldiery were now openly deserting the camp in all

directions, and the only battalion that remained faithful was the one

formerly commanded by Hopkins. It liad entered on the campaign

7OU strong, but the severe service of the last two months had reduced

it to little more than 200. ‘ These,” writes Thomas in his memoirs,

with pathetic brevity, “were the only men that stood time to my

interests.”

Even the splendid spirit of Jowruj Jung was dismayed now. New

dangers and calamities sprung up on every side. Within and without

the camp «all were against him. The encmy were preparing to

advance in overwhelming numbers, and it was evident that in

another hour all would bo ever, And go, at nine o’clock on the night

of the 10th of huvember, 1801, Georges Thomas mustered his Europeans

and 200 of his chosen cavalry, and putting himself at their head, led

the way out of the doomed camp.

Prosper him, kind Fate! Prosper a brave man’s rido to-night!

No worthier object of thy kind deerce ever appealed for thy aid. No

stouter heart ever faced theo than this gallant Irishman, who

gallops now for life and liberty!

The direction Thomas took was that in which Major Gcorge

Hessing’s Brigade was encamped, and against its five battalions he

made his last daring charge. Ho succeeded in breaking through

them, but the alariu wag at once givon, and the whole of Pedron’s

cavalry turned out in pursuit. Overtaking the littio band of fugitives

before they had gone far, they attacked them with vigour, and the

escort, disheartened by late evenis, lost their accustomed sonrage

aud seattered and melted away, leaving Thomas with four

Enropeans—Captains Hearsey and Bireli and two scrgeants—to [ly

for their lives. And so, aloue and unattended, “inte the anidnight

they galloped abreast.”

The horse Thomas rode was a favourite animal, of 1 very superior

Persian breed, and of the highest spirit. ILo proved himself “ an horse

without peer” that uight. The enemy continuing the pursuit,

Thomas was compelled to make a cireuituous route to avoid falling in

with their strageline parties, and traversed double the actnal distance

between Georgegarh and Wansi in reaching his destination, His
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goncrous steed covered ihe journey of 120 miies without halt or -tay,

and by nightfall of the 11th of Noveniber carried his master safely ito

his capital.

Fifty guns and ail Thomas’s camp and bagenge fell inte Pedran’s

hands. The few fsilbful troops left behind laid down their arms,

rejecting with contempt the offers of services meade then by the

victors. ‘Lheir personal attachment to Thomas survived his dowrdilh

and several of his old native officers, who had been jn his service for

along time, “rent their clothes and turned beggars, swearing they

would never serve ad soldiers seain,’’
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PON reaching TrAinsi, Thomas's first etre was directed towards

its defences, nnd warned by bitter experience of the treneherons

disposition of his Muhammoadan soldiery, he committed the charge of

the fort to his faithful Rajputs, whom on all oceasions, and in most

trying situations he found worthy of eonfidence. Two pieces of

artillery were all that remained in the fort ft for service, but

the dilatory advaneea of the enemy allowed time for eight new

cannon to be east and mounted. Al the wells within a radius

of severnl miles of tho city were filled up, and the tanks defiled

with beef and pork, so as to render their water undrinkalle to

either Hindu or Musalmaa. Just outside Haénsi Thomas threw

up three strongly-forlified ontworks—one commanding the south-

eastern gate, a secoud the soulhern, and a third the western gate, and

these were manned with Itohilla troops. Tt is difficult to estimate

the exact strength of the foree that remained to him: Skinner

pnts it down at 5,000 men, but Thomas states there were only 1,200

adhering to his interests, of whom 300 were Rajputs. The Iatter

estimate is probably the correclh one: bnt whatever the number of his

men, he had lost eonfidenee in all excepi his Rajputs, and so critical

did he consider his situation that he took up his residence within

the fort and was careful to keap a stries guard daring the night to

avert treachery.

After his success at Georgegarh, Major Pedron brought the Third

Lrigade wp to its full strength by drafting into it a sufficient number

of men from the Second to fill the vacancies created by death and

casualties, and coneoiving the campaign practically finished, returned

to Aligarh, leaving Major Louis Bourgnien with ten full battalions of

infantry, 500 WTindustant horse, and 4,000 Sikh cavalry to follow

Thomas and effect the coup de greece.

20
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Bourguien set forward in a leisnrely way, marching by casy stages

and possessing Limself of the wells in the vieinily of Tdnsi, whieh be

stopped to clear out, It was not voli) bowards the end of November

that he reached tlie town, and alter reconnoitring its environs several

times, fonued his plan of attack. It was frst neeersary to capture

the outworks which defcnded the gates, and an assault upon them was

ordered. ‘Tlwec columns, of two battalions cach, advaneod at day-

break, led hy Captain bhkinner, Major Dernier, and Lieutenant

Mackenzic. They sueeceded so easily, Lhat Thomas aseribed tlicis

victory to treachery. Lé is certain that Skinner and Mackenzie inet

with but a uvminal resistance, the garrisons scrambling ont aul

ruuning away as the stormers advanecd; byt, according to Skinner's

account, Major Bernier wag obsiinately opposed, for, by getting

belween the town and the ontwork he was attacking, he ent off the

retreat of the troops dcfending it, who Jonzht well and drove the

storiners back, Bernier rallied them, bot was killed i the act of

doing so, upon which his nien rushed forward and carried the place,

putting every soul in it to death, Considerable donbt is, however,

thrown on this aecunnt by the reeeut discovery of a marble tomb
stone, which was erceted over Lorniors grave, and tho inseription on

which states that he was killed on the 10th of Deeember at the

storming of THdnsi, The outpost affair above described oeeurred in

Noveniber, and it is probable that Skinner's memory was at fault. im
waking it the occasion of Dernicr’s death. ‘Che total loss on

Lourguicn’s side was veryoemall, and fie three captured works
were now fixed upon as potits tor his trenelics. DBattericg being

erected, a heavy fire was opened apou the walls of the town, anid,

although the defenders kept up it sraart return, a breach was effected,

and thiee columns, numbering 1,500 men each, were told of for the
storm.

At dawn of day on the 10th of December the signal for attack was

given. Captain Skinner and Lieutenants Skinner and Mackensie were

the officers in corumand of the columns. The elder Skinner ford

bineelf opposed by Lieutenant Lirch, whist lis Leother and Macketuie
stormed the points defended by Captain llearsey and a native ullicer
named Ilias Beg. The two Yerleuants made ood their way aiter

sume resistance, but Caplain Shinner was twice beaten back by

Birch, who defended his post well. Burniug thateh, powder pot, and
every missile that came to bind were showered down upon the

stormors, greatly distressing and disheartening them. At a Uhird
altcmpt, however, they made vood their footine, and just as Ssinuer

elambered up the broach, le saw Jiireh about twenty yards off
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taking aim ait him with a double barrelled gau, both of which barrels

he dischargad. Fortunately he missed his mark and Skinner imuiedi-

abcly “ levelled his javelin,” und darting it at Birch, took off lis hat,

whereupon the Jaiter set off running and joined his party who had

already left the walls.

Bourgnien’s threo columus now converged towards tho centre of the

town, driving the enemy before them, until Thomas came up with his

reserves to the relief. Attuching the younger Skinner he beat Lim

buck to the walls of the town; but the latter, being joined by his

brother, advanced again, and oblived ‘Tomas to retire. The three

columns now effeetcd a junction in the central baxvaur, which became

the scene of a despornte conflict. Thomas having ordered up a

6-pounder, brought itto bear on the stormers, and by several discharges

of grapo expelled thei from tho busaar, but they, being reinforced by

a reserve battalion and two Ypounders, were able to retake the

position. The contost was nuw, earvied on at closcst quarters, the

fighting being hand to hund, Young Skinner approached so near to

‘Thomas that he made a sabre cut at hint and would have disabled him

but for the protection afforded by his armour, Thrice tho tide of

batile ebbed to and tro, now one party, now the other, gaining ground.

The narrow side streets were chaked with the bodies of the dead, and

wounded who had eruwled out of the way, and the central bazaw ren

red with blood. Tesperate defence was opposod to obstinate atlack

from morning until] noon, when the superiority of Gourgnien’s numbers

began to tell, and after disputine cvery inch of ground with tho most

determined valour ind resalution, Thomas wis compelled to withdraw

inte the fort and abandon lis étpital to his cucmics.

The loss of life, in comparison to the numbers engaged, wes cnor-

inoas. Skinner puts down the killed aud wounded on Bonrenicn’s

sule at 1,000, but due allowanees mmst be made for lis habitual

exaggeration, Amongst the wounded was Viecultenant Mackenzie,

and several uative ollicers were killed. Thomas records that after

the fight only 700 men remained to him, avd this would make his

less about 600. Directly victory was assured, Donrguien, who had

watched the comlict fom a strategic, but sate, position in the rear,

marched into the town with two battalions and 8,000 dismonnted

troopers, and relieved the combatants whe were allowed to rctiro to

the rear,

‘Yhe following morning Bourenien’s bettering guns were drageed

into Hinsi, and trenches dug within two hundred yards of the tort.

Eight 18-pounders being run into position in tle ecntral bazaar,

their fire was brought to bear upon the walls of the citadel, Thomas
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made every disposilion to defend hiniself, but lis troups had lost heart

and were no longer the sarae men whom Le had so often led to vietory

in the past. From time to time they Lillowed him out to the attack,

buat they forght with the conviction of coming defeat, and although le

sometimes suceceded in driving the euciy ont of the trenehes, le

was tmable lo maintain any temporary advantege.

The bombardment itself produced bul little cllect, fur the balls of

the cannon merely buried themselves in the aud walls of the fort

without in the least degree shaking their solidity. On this beeominy

apparent it was decided te commence mining, wud Dourgnici’s sappers

advaneed to within ten yards of tue crown-work, Lut meanwhile

the condition of affairs within the fort fell from bad to worse. Pru-

visions were searce, aud the danger from slat and shell go constant

as not to leave a momeut’s rest. Tho spirit of uimliny appeared

amongst the Muhammedan troeps, wad numcreus Uescrtions oseurred,

so that it was soon apparent thal only time was wanting to complcte

the tale of Thomas’s ruin.

Lourguien now began to intrigue with the sarrison in the fort.

Letters offering them six months’ pay and permanent service under

the Marathé flag were rolled yound arvosys wud shot over the ramparts,

and replied to by the same incthud. Defore long these insidious

proposals began to bear fruit, “There were still aw faithful few aramid

Thomas, but they were in the minority, and Bourcuicn was assured

by those le tampered with that in iw short tine they would be

able to urrunge an accommodation for the dort to be surrendered and

is muster delivered up.

But in this tho darkest honr of that dark time Juwrny Jung found

in his cnemy’s camp hearts touched by Lis splendid spirit, aud whe

would nat suffer this gallant soldier to became the viebiut of such doul

treachery as thal premeditated. Lewis Ferdinand Smith, the two

Skinners and Mackenzic were respectble and Lonourable men, and

unable to wuequiesee in deeds of sliuue. Lourguiea had boasted low

he work ill-use “that blackezuard brishunan ? wher he once got Lold

of him, vowing he should be confined in prison, a dhireat he was quite

capable of exnrrying into oxeeution. Jrit this,” writes Skinner, “was

language wo did not admire, nud we feil iadignant at this nnderhand

treachery, and agreed that ib would be disgracoiul if Thomas full

through sueli intrigne.” And sa these olicers, some English, some

countryborn, waited upon LDourguien and remonstrated against wat

was going ou, and, partly by protest, partly by persuasion, prevailud

npou him to allow Thomas the larren honours of » eapitulation,

pointing oul that much move eredil would resulé fron: such iw course



208 GEORGE THOMAS.

than if the end was scoured by unfair means. Vor a long time

Bourguier resisted, but “one day, aller tiffin, when the wine he Lad

drunk had put him in high spirits and good humour,” they pressed

their point, and at last he consented, calling out in his broken English,

‘* Well, gentlemen, you do as you like. I give power. Only he be

one dam Iinglishman.”

Thomas was aware of the conspiracy ripening against him, but

powerless to prevent it, The Rajputs still remained faithful, and it

was his intention to hold out as long as it was possible; lt it was

plain to see that the end was near, and that nothing could save him.

When, therefore, Captain Smith was deputed to visit him, under a

flag of truce, with the offer of honourable terms, 'Thomas received him

with gratitude, and on learning he had been sent by the whole of the

English officors to save him from dishonour, thanked him and begged

he would return and say any terms the officers recommended would

be accepted. After some trouble, Gourgnien was prevailed upon to

sanction the following: that Thoms should be permitied to depart

with all hig money and private property to British éerritory, and Lis

troops allowed to march out with all their private arms, and the

honours of war; but that everything else in the fort was to be made

over to the victors.

Thomas's acceptation of these terms-may be best recorded in his

own words .—

“Considering, therefore, that I had entirely lost my party, and with

it the hopes of at preseuf subduing my enemies, the Sikhs, and the

powers in the Mrench interest; that I had no expectation ‘of suecour

from any quarter, Lueckwa having gono to Juudpore; that if hostilities

continued my resources in money would have failed ; in this situation

I agreed to evacuate the fort.”

And so the curtiin fell on the rule of Jowre] funy, xud the prinei-

pulity he founded. Won by tho sword, and held by the sword, it was

surrendered at the sword’s point. Crowded ave its bricf but brilliant

annals with tales of lawless, yet dauntless daring and audacious energy,

and fitly closed Ly the heroisin of the last graud struggle, when

against dangers that appalled, and overwheluuing numbers that

crushed, the uneconquerable spirit of George Thomas resisted for long

weeks of unequal strife and constant batile the might of Perron’s

power.

On the 20th of Decomber, 1801, the terms of surrender were drawu

out and signed, and a cessation of hostilities declared. TL was agreed

that possession of the fort should be given up in two days. An inter-

view followed between Lourguien aud Thomas, at the bungalow of
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the latter, which was situated upon the banks of the Umteo tank in

she town of Hinsi. All Bourgnien’s officers were assembled to receive

the defeated soldier, His behavtour was dignified and conrteons, and

lie was particularly gracious to the younger Skinner, “ whom he en

braced,” and showed him the eut he Lad received from him on his

beli during the fight of the 10th of December, His demeanour had a

marked effect on Bourgnien, who treated him with great politeness and

invited him and his two officers, Birch and Hearsey, to dinner on the

next day.

Thomas accepted the invitation, and alout seven o'clock on the

following svening rode into camp, attended by 50 of his cavalry.

His bearing was now greatly chunged from that of yesterday, and he

showed signs of deep dejection, aa though bowed down by the weight

of his misfortnnes, At cight o'clock dinner was served in a large tant

and all sat down. With the chivulrons sympathy all brave soldiers

feel for a fallen foe, Bourguien’s officers tried their utmost to cheer

their cnest, carefully framing their conversation so as to avoid all

reference to recent events, and endeavouring to enlist his interest in

other topics. Presently the wine began to How, und Thomas sought

comfort in ita fickle cheer. Dy cleven o’clock at night the whole

company was “pretty merry,” and drinking the health of “Genoral

Perron” and “Georgo Thomas,” and Thomas himself seemed quite

happy.
Suddenly, stirred by some evil and ungenerous impulse, Louis

Bourguien raised his glass aloft, and from his sent at the head of the

table, called Ioudly out: ‘Let ns drink to the success of Perron’s

arms!"

Tn a moment the sounds of laughter and carouse died away, and an

ominous hush succeeded, a8 those present rebelled against the toast

and in testimony turned their glasses up.

As Thomas realised the import of that action, and the gencrous

sympathy it conveyed, his impulsive Irish nature yielded to the insult,

and to the condemnation it had evoked, and he burst into tears.

But only for a moment. The next ho was Jowruy Jung once more,

fierce and furious, Springing te his feet he confronted the man who

could thus taunt him in the hour of his misfortune, and layin hig

hand on his sword hilt, called out to Bourguien that ib was to his own

ill-fate his fall was due, and nob to the prowess of the low braggart

who insulted hin. Then, druwing his sword and waving it over his

head, he cried aleud :

“One Irish Sword is still sufficient for a hundred Frenchmen,”

One Trish Sword!) And what a sword it was. Sikh and Nohilla

14
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Rajput and Pathan had fled before it. Tt had shielded tho Mugha

provinees of Saharanpur from imvasion, and reinstated the Witeh of

Sardiina on her throne; it had seourged the lawless Mowétti

districtg into submission, and established a rnler in rebellious

Rewari; Jaipur and Bikanir had paid it tribute, Batinda had

bought its clemency, Hariina knew its weight, and Udaipur its

yeach: if had carried canquest to the banks of the gleaming Suilej,

and, but three months since, had defeated the battalions that were

still known as “Do Boigne’s.” One Irish Sword—sufficiont for a

hundred Frenchman, truly, as it flashed oub now in the dimby-lighted

tent. More than sufficient for Louis Bourguien, who felt the magic

of its latent power, and in a palsy of terror jumped from his chair,

and rushing out of the tent, called for his guard to protect him.

Thomas's troopers, wlio were outside, crowded in at the first sound

of high words. For a moment it seemed as though a fight was

imminent, but the European officers present assured them thal it was

“only the Sahib drunk,” and bade the men keop off, whilst Thomas in

the midst kept wildly waving his sword and calling out in

Hindustani to “ See! seo! how he had made tlic d——d lrenchman

run bke a jackal”

A dramatic seene. Picture the great Irishman, swaying to and fro,

as he lunges and thrusts with bis sword into the empty air, in the

intensity of his excitement. In bis face the flush of wine, in his eyes

the glitter of passion, in his attitude the ferocity of insulted honour.

The swarthy troopers, thronging in, press forward with ‘clank of stcel

and angry cries; the turbaned servants buddle in the doorways; with-

out the hurried cry to arms, and shouting and confusion swelling the

elamonr; within the tent all have risen from the littered table, and

are crowding round Thomas, striving to pacify him, whilst be

wrestles and towers above them, waving his sword and glaring at the

empty chair from whence the master of the feast has fled.

Ti required the greatest persnasion to prevail upon him to sheath

his weapon, The natives were hustled out, and after Thomas had

been indueod to resume his seat, it was explained fo him that the

wine Bourguien had taken was the cause of his forgelting himself,

and that no insult had been intended. With the inconsistency of

intoxication, Thomas agreed to make it up, whereupon the Frenchman

ventnred to return, and shaking hands begged Thomas’s pardon.

Peace boing thus restored, the wine owed again, and it was soon

evident that the banquet was degenerating into an orgics. The elder

Skinner was orderly officer of the day, and seoing how matters were

shaping, withdrow and rode off to the town, which was cveeupied hy
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Bourguion’s troops, to caution the men not to challenge Thomas on

his return to the fort. Unfortunately he omitted to warn the guard

posted at the south-eastern gate, which was the one Thomas entered

by, and in consequence on the arrival of the latter ubout midnight,

he was saluted with the usnal challengo Who-Kim-Dar ?”

“Sahib Bahadur!" (the great master), was the reply from

Thomas’s troopers, that being the name by which he was always

known.

The sontry replied that he know of no Salih Bahadur, and could

let no one pass without permission from his officer. Thomas hoard

this, and tuming round to his men asked them,

“Could any one have stopped Sahib Dakadur at this gate but one

month ago?"

“No, not” they answered, with tho effusive concurrence typical of

the native character. Whereupon Thomas dismounted, and drawing

his sword, made a slash at the poor sentry and cut off his right hand,

The guard immediately fell in and Thomas's life was in danger, but

just at this moment Skinner came up and further mischief was

avoided.

He found Thomas staggering up and down, his naked sword in his

hand, ond Heargey and several of his troopers trying to lay hold of

him. At length one of the latter enught him from behind, and he

wad disarmed. He then submitted to be placed in a palanquin, and

in this conveyance the Lord of TWAnsi was carried into his fort for the

last time.

The next morning, on recovering his scnses, Thomas learnt from

Hearsey what had happened. Whereupon he gent for the trooper he

had maimed end gave him 6.500, and wrote to Bourgnion apologiving

for his conduct.

Alas, for that Irish sword! The pity that it should be sullied by

tho stain of this eowardly act. In all his excessos Thomas never

plumbed 2 deepor degradation of drink than this pitinble incident

displays. Would that, if happen it must, it had happened on any

other night than that on which, in a flash of defiance that lifted

him high above his misfortunes, ho bearded Bourguien at his own

table, und elaizmed for his Irish sword that it was still sufficient for a

hundred Frenchmen !



CHAPTER X.

THE DEATIE AND CHARACTER OF GEORGE THOMAS.

1802,

N the 29th of December, 1801, George Thomas evacunted Hansi,

and three days Istor, under escort of » battalion af Rourguien’s

infantry commanded by Captain Smith, started for Anupshahr-—tho

very place fron: which lie had commenced his adventurons career cxactly

eight years before. He carried with him the wreck of his fortune, to

the yalue of about onc lakh of rupees, in money, jewelry, shawls and

other property, and was accompanied by bis wife and family.

vom Anupshahr Thomas proceeded by river io Benares, which he

renched in March, Here he meb. the Governor-general’s fleet of

boats on its way to Lucknow, and was invited by Lord Wellesley to

an interview, in the course of which Thomas afforded the Governor-

general a great deal of valuable information abont the countries

beyond Delhi, and the strength of the armies of the native princes in

the western parts of India. In connection with this meeting there is

a characteristic anecdote recorded, which must not be omitted, In

order to illustrate Thomas's remarke a map of India waa laid on the

table, in which, as was and is still customary, the British possessions

were coloured xed. On this being explained to Thomas, he swept his

areat hand across the chart from end to end with the emphatic

comment, “ Alf this ought to be red 1”

Therein breathed the fruo spirit of Jewruj Jung. Ted that map

was destined to be, and the great stutesman he addressed little

suspected how soon, And in this connection it is curious to observe

that nearly forty years lator, Ranjit Singh, the old Lion of Lahore,

made an almost identicul observation under similar circumstances,

for when a map of India happened to be placed before him and the

theory of its colouring explained, he fixed on if that one penetrating

eys of his, “ which waa equal to any other man’s two oyes,” and

almost in Thomas's words remarked, ** It will all be red soon.”
212
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Thomns remained some time at I3enared arranging his affairs, and

it was here that he dictated his memoirs to Captain Mrancklin. “He

proposed,” writes hig biographer, “to deliver his information in the

Persian language, adding, that from constant use, it had become

more familiar to him than his native tongue. This offer, for obvious

reasons, was declined; but it proves Mr. Thotuas’s capacity under

every disadvantage arising from a want of regular education, and |

have no hesitation in declaring my opinion that if Mr. Thomas had

found leisure to cultivate his mind, his progress in the most useful

branches of literature would have becn surprisingly rapid. He spoke,

wrote, and read the Hindustani and Persian languages with un-

common fluency and precision.”

It was Thomas’s wish to return to Ireland with his family and

fortune, and pass his days in rotirement in his native land. With

this aim in view he left Denares, and commenced his journey to

Calentta by river. But muisforbunes had broken his daring mind anil

impaired his robust constitution, and ho succumbed, a viebim to lis

own fatal weakness, on the 22nd of August, 1802, in the forty-siath year

of his age. We died near the military cantonment of Galbrampur, in

the burying ground of which place his remains woro interred.

Captain Francklin states that a monument was being erected to

Thomas’s memory at the time when he was finishing his memoirs.

Anxious to include in these pages the epitaph which lis eonlemporarics

placed over George Thomas, particulur endeavours have been made

to secure the same, but wilhout success. ‘‘I have searched every

cemetery in Berhampur, English and Duteh,” writcs an esteemed and

courteous correspondent, “ but.no trace of George Thomas's tomb eu

be found. In the cemetery now in uso there are many old tombs

without any name plates left on them: the plates have fallon out, and

where they have been picked up whole, they have been inserted in

the wall. I have no doubt that Mr. Thomas's plate has fallen oul

and been broken—if it ever existed.” The illustration shows the pro-

bable site of his grave.

In appearance Thomas was a singularly fino anil tall wan, standing

upwards of six feet in height, and lis limbs aud body were massive

and well proportioned. His constititiou was an iron one, and bis

physical strength enormous, whilst Lis dexterity with the sword wis

auch that be could decapitute a bullock with a single stroke, His

countcnance was bold aud open, and his bearing manly and erect.

“ From the coustant and active uso of hia liubs, during his long and

arduous warfare’ writes Francklin, “he had contracted a certain
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elevation of the lead, which gave him an air of stiffness, but, at the

same time, added to his martial appearance, and seemed to indicate

something of the intrepidity of spirit which wholly possessed his

conduct to the last hour of his life.”

The life which was brought to a premature close af Bahrampur

presents a strange admixture of strength and weakness, and tho

contrast enablos us to see the actual clay of which the man was

moulded. Although this circumstance may dispel much of the

glamour that surrounds Thomas’s romuntic career, the knowledge

of his frailty heightens our astonishment at his achievement.

For if reveals tho faci that this fearless Irishman, who, cutting him-

self adrifi from all communication with his fellow-countrymen,

plunged into un woknown land, raised himself from the position of a

private soldier in # native army to that of an independent prince,

waged indiscriminate war, invaded foreign territories, fought battles,

stormed fortresses, and pillaged towns, premeditated the conqnest of

tho Panjab, and pitted his strength against lurron when the latter

was in the zenith of his power—this Irishman, we find, was 9 very

liuman hero after all, From the summit of bis success as independent

tuler of Hénsi and self-clected scourge of the Sikl states, it is 4 deep

drop into the abyss of that frtal fortnight at Georgegarh, and an

acquaintance with these facts creates a wonder, not how he rose but

how he fell. We find it, indeed, more difficult to understand his

exhibition of weakness than his display of strength.

There is, of course, very much that is unrecorded in Thormas’s life.

Francklin’s memoir is, at best, a mere surumary of facts, without a

comment or an oxplanation conceded. What Thomas did—he did,

No analysis of motive elucidates his actions, even when they are

most lawless. Perhaps it is better so, It ig to be feared that the

philosophy of Jowruj Jung savoured too much of “the good old plan”

id permit of hia history being too closely scrutinised.

Bui passing from his motives to his decds there comes to us much

that compels our admiration. The romaneeful pages of Indian

adventure coutain no epie more stirring than that of Georges Thomas.

Whether he is striding forward to conquest, or standing defiant in

resistance le amazes us with his prodigious dering and his un-

conquerable resolution. Without a single advantage of birth or

education, without means and without friends, he fought his way to

success. Suffcring in its acutest form from an Irishman's irresistible

propensity for fighting, Thomas's Indian career was onc prolonged

battle. Never resting for one moment on his arms, he faecd about

from one victory or ropulse, only to attack another foo. Nothing
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dismayed him, nothing stopped him. He ted his fying columns

thirty, forty, and fifty miles a day into the heart of un enemy's

country; he sacked villages of their cooking-pots and Lonsehold

utensils for metal to cast lim eannon; he seldom saw a fortress but

he stormed it there and then; never met a foe but he forthwith

offered fight. He did not know what it was to be defeated, and was

most daugerous when other men wonld have been most despairing.

And yet, with all his lust of battle aud his lawless extravagence,

there comes, ever and anon, souie strangely touching ineident io

reveal the finer nalure of the man, as when we find him forgiving a

treacherous master, championing « deposed prince, or assisting some

weak and oppressed woman in lier distress, with a nobility of

character, a disinterestedness of design, and a chivalry of feeling that

would have become many a beter man.

Let contemporary opinion spetk for Chonts’s character.

“Thomas was formed by nature,” writes Captain Prancklin, ‘to

execute the boldest designs, aud though aneultivated by education lis

possessed a native and inherent vigour of mind, whieh yualified

him for the performance of creat actions,and placed lun on a level

with distinenished officers of his day. Llis knowledge of the different

tribes and nations that composed the interior of the vast peninsula

of India was various, extensive and correct, and no man, perhaps,

ever more thoroughly studied, or properly appreciated the Indiun

character at larve. In his manners lle was gentle aud inoffensive,

and possessed a natural politencss, and evinced a disposition to

please, superior to most mon, Te was a loyal subject ta his king,

and a yeal and sincere well-wisher to the prosperity and permanence

of the British Empire in the East. He was open, generous, charit-

able and humane, and bis belavionry towards the families of those

persons who fell in his serviec evinces a benevolence of heart,

and a philanthropy of spirit highly honourable to his character.

But with these good qualities the impartiality of history demands

that we should state his errors, and cudeavour to discover some

shades in a charactor othorwise splendid. A quickness of teniper,

liable to frequent avitation and the ebullitions of hasty wrath, not

unfrequeutly rendered his appenrunee ferocious; yeb this only occurred

in instances when the convivindily of his temper obscured lis reason,

and for this, on convietion, do nem was ever readier to make every

acknowledeniaut and reparation in his power, Perfect eorreetnes.. of

eguduet cannot be expected from a character like the oue wider con-

sideration, as a seclusion from ciyilisel lite and love absenee from the

exercise of those dutics which evustitute the ebief cujoyment of social
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happiness, must necessarily have tinctured the manners of the man

with some portion of the spirit of the barbarians with whom he was

so long intimate. Upon the whole, however, we may be justified in

remarking that on a review of the life and actions of this very cxtra-

ordinary man, it is diffienlt which most to admire—the intrepidity of

spirit by whieh he was incited to the performance of actions which, by

their effect, raised bim frou the condition of a private subject to rank

and distinction among princes, or the wonderful and uncommon al-

tachment generally exhibited towards his person and interest by the

natives of every deseription who fought and conquered with him in

his long and arduous career, and whose assistance exalted him for a

time io a height of respectability and consequence that seldom falls to

the lot of an individual.”

In these lines Captain Francklin has laboured much to disguise

Thomas's failings; but reading carefully between them it is casy to

recognise the particular vices and shorteomings they indicate. No

one could believe the debanch of Georgegarl was a new and sudden

folly ; it was, alas, the climax of a long course of dissipation. And

for the rest it is enough to mention that Thomas so far conformed to

the customs of the country as fo keep a harem. After his death an

exceedingly numerous progeny found an asylum at Sardhina, through

the indulgence and charity of the Begum Sororu, only in process of

time to become merged in the native population of the country ;

although one, who bore bis father’s name, rose to the position of an

officer in her army.

The following testimony of Lewis Ferdinand Smith is, perhaps,

more valuable than that of Captain Francklin, for he was brought

into earlier and move intimate relations with Thomas.

“Thomas was a bold, enterprising adventurer, who stepped over

difficulties which would have disheartened many daring minds. He

was coarse and illiterate, but his courage was undaunted, his perse-

verance invincible, and his activity indefatigable. He had a strong

judgment, cautious prudence, and great natural powers, waa generous

and hospitable, and often insinuating from inclination: and his ambi.

tion required tho operation of all these three qualities. All ambitions

characters must be generons: il is one of the most powerful instru-

ments to forward their views. Thomas's conduct had been sw-

prisingly admirable until the moment when he required the exertion

of all his uncommon powers. At this critical moment he failed, and

fuiled astonishingly. I can only ascribe it to his being confounded at

the difficulties which opposed him, to his want of European officers,

and to the treachery of his native commanders.
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“T was intimately acquainted with him, and had a sineere respect for

his character. With some oddities, aud many singulwities, he was

an uncommon character, and bis exertions towards station, power,

riches and glory, were still more uneoimmmiou. Tle was extraordinarily

ambitious, which was the principal cause that led to his ruin. tle

wonld be all or nothing. To serve under the orders of another was

an inglorious dependence in his estimation of things. Courage he

possessed to an eminent degrec, and he certainly had abilities, if a

clear head, a solid judgment, and an acute discernment can be called

by that name.”

‘To Thomas's military talents several competent critics have borne

testimony. Writes a contributor in the Calcutta Revicw :--—* We lind

this uncducated and dissipated adventurer casting guns at Ténei,

strengthening his flanks in action against large bodies of cavalry with

abbatis, ‘and altogether demeaning himecif{ as a soldier in a manner

that would have done credit to the sehool of Wellington and Nape-

leon.” Aud auother in the sume journal: “This romarkable man,

by dint of perseverance, military skill, and great personal valour,

earved out for himself a small principality, and bad there been only

natives to contend against would have jield it, In hha was: pre-

eminently displayed the energy of charactor which distinguishes the

European from the Asiatic. Wo find lim refusing to desert the cause

of friends, bringing into subjection a distriet previously uncontrollable,

building forts, ¢asting canon, and training levies. To support the

widow of a Mahomedan prince, who had appealed to him for help, Le

marched through a hostile country, in open warfare with the chiefs of

it, whom he defeated in more than one battle, and he was the first

Englishman to plant bis foot on the banks of the Sutlez, although

that honour is usnally aseribed to Lord Lake.”

Colonel James Tod, the author of Yhe Annals of Rajas'than,” thus

summarises Thomas's character in the pages of the Astalic Journal:

“Tn Thomas was seen the union of wild energy, considerable fore-

sight, and daring intrepidity, with gigantic form and strength, which

placed him among the most conspicnous of all who earved their way

to fortune in that wild field. Nor is there any reasonable doubt this,

but for the brilliant close of his career in the unequal but auavorlulle

contest with Perron, he would have made Gahore his eapital. for

the Sikhs quailed before the name of ‘Thomas, who spoke of then: as

soldiers with contempt, and trented tiem to hard hnoeks, With 500

of his Rohilla cavalry he would at any tue lave disposed of thrice

that number of Sikh horse.”

This long list of quotations may be concluded by an extract from
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the Edinburgh Review. “If we can forgive Thomas what, at that

time and under his civeumstances, was rarcly accounted a crime, that

he shed blood, and that very largely, in the quarrels of others with

which he had no concern, and that he manifested very violent out-

bursts of temper, wo shall atill, to do him justice, be obliged to admit

that he displayed many and very striking traits of generosity and

benevolence ; that he was scrupulously truc to his engagoments ; that

he never deserted or betrayed o friend or an ally; and that he pos-

sessed in an uncommon measnre those noble qualities whieh secured

to him the devoted attachment of all, of whatsoever race, who served

under him.”

In estimating the character and career of George Thomas, after a

lapse of nearly a hundred years, we must divest ourselves of many

modern ideas, and judge him by the standard of the times in which

he lived, and the scenes in which he laboured. ‘They were barbarous

times and sauvage scenes, In the world which be penetrated, only the

strongest avin and sharpest sword, the shrewdest brain and least

scrupulous conscience, met with suceess. Moral obligations were

unknown in the Marith4 Empire. The cthies of the sons of Sivaji

were simple. Might was riglt, and the ond justified the means.

Yhe starting point from whieh ‘Thomas began bis career did not

quality bim for the exhibition of any extraordinary virtue or forbear-

avee, A common sailor at the end of the last century was familiarised

to despotism and tyranny. His personal liberty extonded no further

than tho hail of the press gang: his professional duties were ineuleated

and exacted with « Spartan severity; and he was rendered callous of

life by the cheerful way in which ho was enlled on to kill or be killed.

Ata time when the high seas swarmed with privateers and pirates,

the lawlessmess of maritime warfare was notorious, and battle and

chase were the conditions, not the exceptions, of naval life. This was

the school in which George Thomas was educated, and in serutinising

his conduct and his humanity, we must remember that he sprang

from the lowest strata of society in w civilised country, wliere men

wero transported for pilfering trifles, and Inmg for stealing sheep.

The bruiality of the repressive laws of the cightcenth eontury oxceeded

the brutality of those who broke them, and if Thornas held life cheap

in war, the conulry Le belonged to held it cheaper in peace.

‘To pass from Thotuas’s merits us a niin to Lis claims as a soldier is

a pleasant transition. We was a born loader, w gencral by intuition.

He enjoyed the precious gift of cudearing nen to bis person, making

them not merely soldiers but zealots in his cause. Lle‘inspired con-

fidence, courage, and cnthusiasm. Ie could rally paniec-stricken
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battalions by the magic of bis presence, ani lead them to victory

where they had bat just fallen back in defeat, Tis troops followed

hin, without question or coucern, on distant and hazardous enter-

prises into regions terrible with vague dangers aud unknown risks.

Tn the record of his qwilitary achicvements it is difficult to partioularise

any as more brilliant than the rest, but taking them at haphazard,

and as they oceur to the running pen, what more dashing episode

could be adduced than his isolated fight at Fatchpur? what more

masterly retreat than his withdrawal from Udaipur 2? what mor

vigorous advance this his invasion of the Sutlej states ? and, above and

beyond all, what imore defiant und hevoie resistance than that which

his invincible resolution rendered possible at Georgegarh and [Hénsi ?

To completo the estimate of his military abilities contrast the con-

ditions under which he fought and conquered with thoso existing in

modern warfare. In the Sikhs, Iiajpals and Tlindustanis, whom

Thomas engaged, he found enemies as brave and daring us any oxist-

ing in the present day. Hoe inet them on » common ground with

coflamon aris. ITis superiority lay in his yonius and his gallautry,

not in machine guns and breach-loaders, The troops he led were

composed of the sume clemonts as the troops he conquered ; they

possessed no leaven of Lritish bayoucty. The muskets he manu-

fucfured and the cannon he east were uot a whit better than those

whose muzzles were pointed towards him. The forts he stormed and

captured were stronger by nature than the redoubts ho orected to

reduce them, or the armed camps he defended. The learues he

marched were trudged on foot, ofttimes through anexplored countries

and trackless deserts, where the sun by day and the north star by

night guided his daring course ; no troopships or transport trains

delivered him on the confines of an enemy's country, surveyed and

mapped for campuign. A commissarint system and a medical statf

entered not into the philosophy of his warfare. 1b was nob tho for-

tuitous advantuges of money, # superior equipment and an advaneei

civilisation that enabled him to overcome uumecrieal superiority, Lut

his own single intelligence and valour. No hope of public appreciation

or reward spurred him on to effort : le was sustained only by his own

danniless resolve. Fay beyond the farthest ken of his fellow-country-

nen George Thomas ab Hawi was the splendid solitary advance

picket of Kaglish HMurpire in the VPaujab.

Surely when we reflect on what he did, we way aequit lim of his

lawlessness and forgive his frailiy. Who can help but aduire this

reckless, resolute Drishman, as he cimerges breathless out of the great

tumult of his times, and plants his foot upon the walls of Hansi?
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‘Whose heart can remain unthrilled when, with a tough that con-

quers it, George Thomas, begirt with enemics, Iallen and defeated,

draws hig Trish sword and burls defiance at his French conqucror ?

And who can help but love this vagubond adventurer when he sweeps

his great hand athwart the map of India, and vows it sheuld all be

red ?

To-day that map is all red. It is dyed deep with the blood of

conquered Maratha, Afghan, Sikh, Rajput, Mughal, Sindian, Baluchi,

Rohilla, Gurkha, and Burmese. With ceaseless spread the emblem-

atic colour has increased and covered all, What then if Jowruj Jang

swept his neighbour's borders in foray, or seized a district and pro-

claimed his rule? Shall we condemn him with that map before us?

Let us net seck onr own justification, nor question his. Let it

suffice that in our Panjab Province, where peaceful tillage has followed

perpetual warfare, and battle-ficlds have been turned into quiet

pasture lands, the spirit of British adventure was typified by George

Thomas, the van of British Conquest was led by Jowraj Jung.



PERLON.

CHAPTER I.

HIS BIRTH AND WAKLY CAREER,

1755-1756.

TIM eventa recorded in the preceding pages will lave made the

name of Perron familiar fo the render, and the time has now

como to deal with the career of this adventurer. Int in order to do so

oubisfietorily, it is neeessary fo go back a little and bring his history

4p to the point when De Boigne resigned the command of the army

of Ilindustan, and thereafter continue the narrative which was

interrmpted by the interpolation of Le Jife of George Thomas.

Vicrre Cuillier, better known to history as General Perron, was

hearn in 1755 at Chatean du Loire, Sarthe, France. His father was a

cloth merchant, who failed in hasiness whilst Perron was yet in bis

fecus, and the boy was early thrown upon his own resources, After

niking o fruitless appeal for assistance to a rich relative, Perron

detormined to trast fo his own endeavours, and early in 1774 Jaid out

his modest capital in a specalative investment of handkereliicfs, and

set out for Nantes with the object of disposing of them, Not mecting

wilh success in this venture, he deserted eommerce, and obtained a

situation in the cannon foundry at Nantes, where he mastercd the

technicalities of casting guus. He then enlisted in a regiment of

volnnteers under orders for the Iste of France, where he arrived in

the same year, Later on he appears to have transferred his services

to the navy, for in 1780 he came out to Tdia, according to one report

as 2 common sailor, to another as » petty officer on board the French

frigate Sardine, under the famous Admiral Suflrein. The period was

one when French military adventurers were welcomed in the native
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states of Southcrn India, and it was doubtless a knowledge of this fact

that induced Perron to desert his ship, in company with three of his

messmates, and Jand on the Malabar coast. Making bis way into

the interior, he journeyed np country wnitil he reached Upper India,

where, about the year 1781, he ontered the Nana of Gohad’s corps,

commanded by thea Scotchman Sangster, under whom there were

two other Emropoans serving, Tom Legge, and Michael Filose.

Pierre Cuillier now discurded his patronymic and assumed the

non, de guerre of Perron, which was thea diminutive form of his

Christian name. This fashion of adopting a Christian name or alias

on entering the employ of the country princes was ® common one at

the period. Thus Walter Reinhard became Summers, which was

corrupted inio Sombre, and so, in native dpeceh, fo Somru. George

Hessing was known as Jorue Sahab, Louis Bourguien, as Looee

Sahib, George Thomas as the Jehazi Said, and James Shepherd ag

James Sahib. People who retained their surnames suffered dreadful:

atrocities at the lips of the natives. Robert Sutherland, for instance,-
was known as Sutluj Sahib, and Captain Symes as Sunk Sahib,

while Captain Brownrigg was even imore unfortunate, for his

patronymic was twisted into Burrandce Sahib. Vhe designation that

Perron assumed was itself corrupted by native pronuneiation into

Peeroo Sahib—a not altogether happy one for its possessor, since

Peeroo is the Hindustani for a turkey.

Perron began his new career in a very humble capacity, and it was

not until two years had passed that he rose to non-comrnissioned

yank. It is probable his first introduction into the native service yas

as an artilleryman, or af besi an averscer in Sangster’s Foundry.

But his circumstances enabled him to marry, and be was united

to a Malle. Deridon, whose family resided at Pondichery and whose

brother “a half-easto Frenchman” was a military adventurer in

Upper India,

Upon the defeat of the Rana of Gohad and the disbandment of his

battalion, Perron entcred a corps, commanded by an officer named

Lestineau, in the service of the Jat Rajah of Bhartpur, obtaining an

appointment as quartermaster-sergeant on a pay of Bs.60 a month.

This was probably about the year 1784. He remained in tho service

some time, aud was presont at the batiles of Chaksiua and Agra, and

assisted in the oceupation of Delhi by the Marithas in 1789, when his

chief was in allianee with Madbojt Sindhia. It was on this oceasion

that Lestinean, having been detached to assist in the pursuit of

Ghulam Kadir at Meerut, possessed himself of that person's saddle-

bags, which were filled with jewels looted from the palace at Delhi,
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and with this plunder and the regimental pay due to his battalion

absconded, leaving his corps under the charge of his second in

command, Mons. J. Pillet, who proved unequal to the task of keeping

the oxasperated soldiery in order, for they mutinicd directly they

became aware of Lestineau’s flight, and were in consequence dis-

banded by Madhoji Sindhia’s orders.

Perron being thus thrown out of employment applied for serviec to

Nina Khan, a general of high standing in Sindhia’s army. From this

chicf he received the command of a battalion, which was, howover,

soon broken up, and Perron found himself once again adwift on the

world. A friend named Montigny now interested himself on his

behalf, and recommended him to the Begum Somrn for employment,

but as that lady’s military force was fifteen months in arrears of pay

at this time, she did not foel justified in increasing her establishment,

and Perron found his application unsuccessful, despite the very

strong recommendations he liad yecoived. This was in 1790, by

which time he had been. moro than nine years in India, and was

apparently little farther advancad in life than when he first sought his

fortune in the Hast.

But now came the turning point of his career. Gcneral De Boigne,

who had recently been commissioned by Modhoji Sindhia to raise his

Firat Brigade, was looking out for officers, Perron was personally

Imown to him, and ho had formed a favourable opinion of his

eapacity as a brave soldier, and anu artisan skilled in the werk of a

‘annon foundry. So he appointed him eaptain-lieutenant in the

new Brigade, and gave him tho command of the Burhinpur

battalion.

Perron soon ingratiated himself with his chief by his conrage,
activity and great punctuality in his duties. ile was a subordinate

after De Boigne’s heart, being diligont, energctie and indefatizable,

finding 2 pleasure in his work, and taking a pride in bringing his

battalion to the highest pitch of efficiency and discipline.

Towards the end of 1790 there occurred the campaien against the

princes of Jaipur and Jodhpur, which witnesecd the batiles of Patan

and Merts.. Perron was present at bobh, and at the former

particularly distingnishod Winuself, When Do Boigne retrmied to

headquarters, Perron was left belind to settle tho newly annexed

district of Ajmir, and this task he carried out with eonsiderable

ability. In 1702 he marched back to the Doab, but was soon selected

for further special employinent. De Boiguo lad determincd to

reduce the fort of Kanaund, which still held ont against the Maratha

rule, and sent Perron with four bittalions te caphare it.
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Kanannd was an exceetingly strong fortress in the Rewari territory,

and had formerly been held ly Najef Kuli Khan, one of the leading

nobles at the court of the emporor Shah ’Alam. On Najef Khiin’s

decease the possession of the fort passed to his widow, who, when De

Boigue summoned her to surrender, seemed inclined to obey, for,

before his death, her husband had specially warned her not to attempt

to resist the general. Bub whilst negotiations were going on a uew

ally suddenly came to hor assistance. This was none other than

Ismail Beg, who after the batile of Merta, had submitted to the

Marathé rulo, and, it is said, accepted service under Sindhia. But his

sympathies wore always with the old régime, and Holkar, aware of

this, instigated him to revolt, pointing out the excellent opportunity

that offered of joining forees with Najaf Khin’s Begum. This

artifice, by which Takuji Holkar hoped to weaken his rival Sindhia,

and so improve his own prospécts in Hindustan, was a very trans-

parent one; but the shallowest excuse was sufficient to tempt the

gallant Mughal noble to strike another blow for the Faith, and he

xecepted the suggestion with avidity, Renouncing his allegiance to

Sindhia, he wrote to the Begum to hold out against the conqueror

of their common country, and hurried to her assistance with an

army of 20,000 men and 30 guns.

Upon hearing of this De Boigne ordered Perron to advance with

all speed, give battle to Ismiil Beg, and bring him in dead or alive.

Marching to Kanaund, Perron found the allies encamped under the

walls of the fort, and at ouee engaged them. It was the first

important battle in which be held chief command, and he acquitted

himself very creditably, In less than two hours he inflicted a severe

defeat on the enemy, killing 2,000 of them, capturing all their guns

and driving Ismail Beg and hia beaten troops into the fort for

shelter.

The siege of tho place was now undertaken, but Tsmail Reg,

although vanquished in open fight, maintained a brave defence for

four roonths. ‘The thickness of the mud walls of Kanaund proved

impervious to Perron’s battering train, and he was unable to effect o

practicable breach, whilst his strength in men was insufficient to take

the stronghold by assault. It seemed as though the blockade would be

a very slow business, when an accident ocenrred which accelerated it.

One day the Begum, whilst playing a game of chess with an eunuch,

was killed by a chance stone shot, whereupon the garrison became

disheartened and broke into mutiny against Ismiail Beg, who had

been instrumental in persuading their late mistress to resist. Hoping

to sain more favourable terms for themselves they conspired to
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deliver him up to the besiegers, bul this plot coming to his cars,

Ismail Beg anticipated their action by surrendering to Perrou, who

promised on his own faith aud that of De Boigne’s to spare lis life,

and honourably redeemed his word despita Madhoji Sindhia’s wrath

and opposition.

During the siege of Kanaund an accident happened to Perron which

inalmed him for life, Whilst experimenting with sume hand grenades

one of them biursé as le was in the act of throwing it, and so

shattered his hand that he was obliged to submit to amputation, and

thereaftex.he was often known among the natives us WAdusé, or The

One-handed. But bis sueecss at Kanaund was rewarded by his

promotion to the rank of major, and ou the ereation of De Boigne’s

Second Brigade, he was appointed to the command of St, Major

Trémont, as senior officer, obtaining that of the First. Thus in less

than three years from the date of bis cutering Sindhia’s servico,

Perron found himself in a post almost analogous to that of a general

of division, and with w force of 8,000 infantry, 800 cavalry, and 40

guns under his command, whilst his pay and emoluments were

probably not less than Ls.2,0U0 2 month. This was a rapid and

wouderful rise for a man who had Int recently been fruitlessly

seeking service, and lamenting the loss of an employment that

brought him in Rs.720 a year.

During the resé of this yeur and in the early part of 1798 Vorron

was associated with Arbaji Inchaand Rina Khin in the subjuga-

tion of Méwar, and assiated in establishing the former as Subahdar or

lord lieutenant of that district. Madhoji Sindhiu himself aceom-

panied the army cngaged in this work, and when the objects of the

expedition were completed, marche te Poonah, whilst Perron aid Lis

Brigade returned to headquarters in Hindustan, But he was not

allowed to remain here long, for ewly in 1704 le was transferred

to the command of the Iirst Brigade and ordered to the Deecan

to strengthen Sindhia’s position there. Leforo ho arrived, however,

that prince was dead and suececded hy his nephew, Daulat ldo

Sindhia, whose peacefil succession was in a great measure due to the

opportune arrival in the mouth of Mare of Perron and lis ten fine

battalions.

In the following year there came to Perron one of those oppor-

tunities which, if rightly used, often Jay the foundations of future

greatness. <A disagreement lad long existed belween the Marith’s

and the Nisam of Waidarabad, relative to a claim for chowd or tribute,

demanded by the former and long resisted by the latter. The sum

had now increased to nearly ilree millions sterling, and Nina

15
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Farnavis, the Peshwi’s prime minister, determined to exact it, and

called upon the Nizam for an immediate settlement. Anu angry and

jusulting answer was returned, which was inamodiately followed by a

declaration of war, and in January, 1725, both powers took the field.

The Peshwi was assisted by his tributary chiefs. Daulat Rao

Sindhia supplied the strongest contingent, which imeluded De Boigne’s

First Brigade under Perron, Michael Filose’s independent corps of pix

battalions, and Colonel John Hesgsing’s of four, and a large force of

irregular cavalry. Takuji Holkar sent a brigade of four battalions of

regular infantry under the Chevalier Dudrenec, who lad been com-

missioned to raise and discipline another corps after his disastrous

defeat at Lakhairi, Raghoji Bhonsla, the Rajah of Berar, and other

lesser chicfs of the Deccan sent in contingents, and the allied army

numbered 140,000 men, of wher 24,000 were disciplined infantry.

Daulat Rio Sindhia took command, of his own troops in person, but

the actual direction in the field wus left te Perron.

To oppose this formidable lest the Nizam Ali Khaén collected an

army of 110,000 imen, including 17,000 disciplined infantry, of which

11,000 were under the command of Colonel Raymond, a French otiicer

of high character and repute, and the remaining 6,000 belonged to twa

independent corps commanded by an Ainerican named Boyd, and an

Englishman named Tinglass.

Upon the 11th of Marek, 1795, the two armies met near a place

ealled Purinda, whither the Nizan was marching from Kardla, by

which name the battle thateusued is generally known. The Marithis

appeared in great force upon the Nizam’s right, on some rising ground,

from whence they were able to open a distant cannonade on the rear

of the Heidarabad army. The Nizam’s troops were af once drawn

out in line of battle, and Raymond advancing with his infantry and

24 guns took up a position on an elevated piece of ground in front,

supported by a large body of cavalry. Upon this Pareshram Bhiao,

tlie Peshwé's commander-in-chief, formed his army to receive the

attack, tuking the centre station himself, with the Peshwa’s cavalry

and the Chevalier Dudrenee’s brignde, whilst he placed the Rajah of

Lerar’s contingent on the right, and Daulat Réo Sindbia's infantry on

the left wing. The action commenecd with an attack on the MarAtha

centre by the Nizam’s cavalry, who were much elated at a slight

advantage they had gained on the previous day over an advance

guard of the Peshwa’s honsehold troops. They now charged with great

gallantry, wounding Parcshram Dhao, and driving the Mariihé centre

back in confusion. Lut whilst thoy wore thus carrying everything

before them in the centre, the regular infuutry on both sides had
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advanced to willin masket shot of oue wiother. Verrou, by skilful

mauuwuviing, obtuined a deekied adventeye of position, and, luvin

posted 85 guns on an eminenee, opencd a destrnctive fire. linymond

was dimuodiately deserbed by the Nivat’s cavidry, Lut lis iufautry

stood their ground well, and lid they been permitted to fight out thu

duel, if is possible they might have wor the day. ‘The fate of the

battle was, however, destined to be decided by ane af these domestic

considerations which often have a prepondorading Diluence in Asiatic

goutests. ‘The Nigwn, with the inabeeile infatuation of an Orientel

poventate, had carried lus womenfolk with hin on the eumupaign, and

euly in the Lattle, his fuvourite wife, terrified by the voar of thc

cannon, implored him to retire. To pucify Ler fears be ordered

Kuymond’s brigade to fall back for her protection. lis commander

resisted to the ubmost this fatal and supine ach of pusillanimity, wtl

frequent aud repeated conuuends left him ne cheieo bul to obey, and

about sunset he began to retire. Darkness soon elosed over the seene

ot battle, Lut Perrou, whose long experienes of Indian warfare lad

tagght him the importanee of pressing home oan advautage, mute

every cffort to follow, porsisting in the pursuit ns long as ib was

possible, xnd keeping up « desultory fire iu the dark.

Meanwhile the orders and counter-orders that reached Naymond

were so confusing that in attempting Lo carry them onf lis men were

perfectly bewildered, and at last, worn out with fatigue mud voecifers

lion, they sank to rest in, bivouwe upon the ficld. Guat about eleven

eelock an accidental encounter belweou the vdvanee pickets of the Lwe

armies started the battle afresh. Verron, from his advanecd position,

immediately opened a heavy fire with artillery and rockets, where-

upon a panic seized the Nizam’s soldiery, snd abiundoning their guns

and camp they fled towards Karla, 1 siuall fort so surrounded by

ills that it formed a veritable cul-de-sac.

Within the walls of this fort the Nivea wook refuye, and for sone

time Raymond gallantly defended jis master, Dut when Perron

dragged up his heavy artillery and brought it to bear on the place,

surrender became inevitable, and ithe Nizam sued for terms. An

indemnity of three millions sterling was extortcd from him, besides

territory yieldiug a revenue of penely (hree anda half loklis of rupees

annually, and for the due fulfilunent of these stringent terms he was

compelled to send bis prune minister as a hostage to Ltoonal.

Kardla was a decisive battle, but never was such n stibstan ual

victory wou with less bloodshed. Although there were nearly a

quarter of a million men contuuling in the field. the losses on either

kide were infinitesimal, aud the Niza owed his defeat to lis own
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cowardice and folly, But Perron’s reputation as an able gencral was

at onee established, and thercufter he found signal favour in the sight

of his master, Doulat Rao Sindhia.

In 1795 Sindbia left Poonal, and proceeded as far as the Godaveri

river on his return to Ilindustan, where his presenve was required

owing to Do Loigne Laying announced his intention of resigning hig

eommand, But on the 25th of October, Madhu Bao, the Peshwé, com-

mitted suicide ab Poonah. In the hyperbolical language of a native

lustorian, whieh is worth quoting for its quaintness, “The Peshwi

was one day nimusing himself flying kites on a terrace of his palace,

when, us ate ordained, the string of his life being short, his foot

slipped and he fell over the parapet, and the kite of his soul flew away

into the air!’ Immediately on receipt of this intelligence, Sindlua,

by the advice of his prime minister, Balloba ‘antia, returned to

Poonah with his whole army to contest the suecession of Baji Raa,

whom the late Peshwa had appointed his heir, and who had been

immediately installed by Nana Farnavis, the powerful and determined

enemy of the House of Ujjain.

De Boigne still persisted in his determinztion to retire from Daulat

Rao’s service and return to Europe. Tn after years Perron boasted

that it was his iatrigaes which obliged the general to quit the country,

but it is probable that the wish was futher to the thought. Still it

cannot be contested that Perron was at this time in high favour with

Sindhia, and in constaut attendance upon his person. In December

De Boeigne finally quitted Hindustan. It would have been in ae-

cordance with Tndian evstom had he recommended a successor, but it

is established on the best authority that he did not do so; on the con-

trary, he adviscd Daulat Rao to demolish his Brigades rather than

put them under the commund of one person, as such power ought not

to be entirely trusted to a single will and influence, Diroetly after

his departure a keen competition arose between Perron and Robert

Sutherland for the post rendered vacant. Major l'rémont, the senior

officer in the force, died about this time, leaving Sutherland at the

head of aifairs in Hindustan, who conceived this gave him # sort of

clain to the permancnt appeintraent, Lut he was too far from the

seat of government to press his intereste, being engaged in the redue-

tion of Bundclkliand, which occupied him for six months. On the

other hand Perron was daily at Sindhin’s court, and, by the death of

Fremont, was left senior officer in the Brigades. Ile made the most of

his opporlunities, aud succeeded so well that before the end of tho

year he was promoted to the runk of goncral and appointed to tho

chief command of De Boigue’s army.



CHAPTER IT.

PERRON ASSUMES COMMAND OF THE ARMY OF WINDUSTAN.

1797-1800.

TE army which De Boigne left behind him im Sindhia's service

consisted of 24,000 infantry, 3,000 cavalry and 120 euns, besides

garrison troops and irregulars. The battalions were vetcran and

undefeated, and their spirit and organisation unexeelled. It was an

army the command of which might lave filled with pride any solttier

in India, whether king’s or Company’s offiecr or adventurer. Tehind it

was a proud record of achievement; it was well disciplined, well

paid, and well equipped ; and in addition animated by that esprit de

corps which lifts men out of themselves, and by identifying them

with the flag they serve, doubles their individual worth. De Loigne’s

battalions were proud of their prestige and jealous of their honour,

and upheld by a resolution to sustain the reputation they had won on

many battie-fields, and, where possible, to increase it. They were, in

short, worthy monument to tho man who had created them,

Such was the army to the command of which Perron suceceded in

September 1706. Making over the First Brigade to Captain Drugcon,

he set out for Mattra, where jie arrived in February 17497, and took

over charge from Jaggu DBapu, the Marathi eenoral. By his

commission he was invested with the full powers exercised hy De

Boigne, and one of his first acts was to take possession of the Jaidad

in the Dodb, Here, in Oetober of the following year, he fixed his

headquarters, considorably enlarging the eantonment of Koil and

strengthening Lhe already formidalle defences of Aligarh, which

defended the place. During lis first year of office he had little

leisure to attend to external affairs, being fully employed in

acquainting himself with the details of the Brigades, and the

administration of the territory assigned for their upkeep. After he

had established his power and anthovity within his own boundaries

29
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he turned his attention to the more axtended responsibilities of his

post. The first matter that occupied liu was the state of affairs at

Delhi. Directly after Perron’s appointment to the supreme command

of Hindustan, Sindhia had issned orders to the Mardithi governor of

Delhi fo make over charge of the city. But Billoba Tantia, Sindhia’s

prime minister and a deterinined enemy to Perron, secretly trans-

mitted contrary instructions to the capital, ‘an occurrence ” observes

a contemporary historian “by no means uncommion in the singular

absurdity of Muabratta polities.” The Tlinda governor of Delhi, only

too glad to retain bis post, refused to surrender the city, and in May,

1798, Perron ordered Major Pedron, with four battalions, to lay sieze

to it, and obtain possession by blockade, bribery, or intrigue, but to

avoid a bombardment for fear of offending the blind emperor, whose

titular authority it was a matter of policy to recognise and respect.

After a close blockade of five weeks Sutherland arrived and the gates

were opened to the impulse of gold, ani the unfortunate Shah ’Ainm

released from the fears and privations occasioned by the conduct

of his recent guardian, Nizam-ul-Din, tho Cowrie Fakir. Perron

appointed Captain Le Marchant governor of the capital and enstodian

of the king’s person, whilo Pedron returned to Koil, where the

Second Brigade, commanded by Sutherland, to which he belonged,

was cantoned, the Third Brigade, under Coloncl Pohiman, being

stationed at Mattra,

The insubordinate example of the Marathi governor of Delhi en-

couraged the commandant of Agra to resist. This person was a brother

of Balloba Tantia, and refused to yield np possession of the fort to

Perron, who being at the time busily employed in strengthening the

defences of Aligarli, made uo move until he had completed the task.

He then marched against Agra with six battalions and arrived

unexpectedly before the walls on the 17th of February, 1799. The town

was taken completely by surprise, aud Perron entered it without oppa-

sition, proclaiming his nuthority by beat of drum. But the fort and

citadel held out, and an investment was necessary. A siege followed

and lasted fifty-eight days, at the end of which a sueecssful mine

was exploded and destroyed a salient bastion on the north-east front,

Whereupon, to avoid the calamity of an assault, the garrison snr-

rendered on condition of being allowed to march out with the

honours of war, From first to last the capture of this place cost

Perron 600 men, and it was an achievemmcont not unworthy of

the reputation of De Boigne’s battalions, for Agra was the strongest

fortress in Hindustan, and defended by a force of 4,000 mon.

With the possession of the Key of India Perron’s power was
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completely established. “He had now the entire and merited

confidence of Sindhia,” writes one of his officers in a contemporary

journal, “and was invested with the fill and uncontrolicd government

of all Sindlio’s possessions from the Chumbnul to Patedla-—a

country, even in its ruinous state, yielding a revenue of one million

sterling. He was authorised to raise armies and retain or discharge

troops, and no European, not even De Boigne, ever possessed sneh

confidences and power.”

This at first sighL may seem a strangely rapid rise, but it is

intelligible when the cireumstaneces which favoured Perron are

considered. Déulat Réo Sindhia on his accession to power threw

himself completely into Deecan polities. His predominant desire

was to render his iniluonce supreme at Poonah. But he had two

obstacles to contend against: the fiesi was the eraff and power of

Nana Farnavis, the Peshwi’s prime minister, whose opposition pro-

longed the contest for ascendancy from aimonth te month and year

to year; and the second was his own natural weakness of character,

and the base elements of government with which he surrounded him-

self, Daulat Rao altogether lacked the genius of his uncle Madhoji,

and possessed little real ability. He squandered lis time in riot and

dissipation, nnd indulged in the worst vices of a debauched Oriental

sovereign. Such a nature ag his, oub of very inertness, surrendered

ihe power it should have wielded to hands that were itching to grasp

it. With Perron tho beginning was more than half of the whole.

His appointment to the command of the army of Hindustan assured

everything else ; since the country was held solely by that army, his

battalions constituting the real power behind Sindhia’s throne. Loft

to himself in the north, Perron assiduously employed his time and

resources in inmercasing his strength. Te made Koil an immense

fortified camp, and Jaboured to render Aligarh impregnable. ‘The

strength of the place cannot be described—a seventy-four might sail

in the ditch,” wrote Lord Lake of the fortress fuur years later. Its

position was admirably chosen, for from his headquarters there

Perron held both Delhi and Agra in check. DBoneath the walls of

Aligarh he built himself a palatial residence-—it still existed in L871,

and was used as a seitlcment office—and assumed sovereign state,

During the seven years of his rule the dominion of Hindustan lay not

at Delhi, nor at Poonah, but in the vast fortified camp of Koil, from

whence tho chief of many legiong issued orders fo the prinecs of the

neighbouring districts and Rijputana, and so far as Upper India was

concerned was the master of both the emperor Shah ‘Alam and

Daulat Rao Sindhia,
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There is a very interesting article in the Asiatic Review for 1799,

which confirms this estimate of Perron’s power. ‘ General Perron,”

Git rons) “a Freneh officer of great experience and consummate

ability, both as a statesman and a soldier, represents Dowlut Rao

Scindia in Hindostan, and is invested with the most full and absolute

authority over every dopartment, both civil and military. This

power, which oxceeds that of any prince, be exercises with great

moderation, and at the samo time with a dogree of judgmont and

energy that evinces vory superior talents. Amongst his European

officers none haye a character for superior capacity, although very

good soldiers. Yet having risen from very low situations, and not having

the advantage of education, none of them have displayed any «bilities

out of their professional line, But this deficiency in his officers he

may easily remedy (and no doubt will) as soon as peace takes place

in Europe, when innumerable military adventurers will flock to his

standard, qualified for the highest sittations civil and military. The

Mahratta ports on the Malabar eonst, from whence supply of

ordnance and arms and military stores have occasionally boon

procured, will afford them an easy access, so that before long we may

expect to see the northern paris of Hindustan swarming with needy

and intriguing Frenchmen.”

Whilst Perron was thus engaged in establishing and consolidating

his power in the north, troubles were browing in the south, occasioned

by the rebellion of the Bhais. The Bhais were the widows of the

late Madhoji Sindhia, and had never acquiesced in the accession of

Daulat Réo. There were threo of these Jadies, one of whom,

Bhagirthi, was young and beautifnl. Daulut Rio, as in honour

bound, promised to make ample provision for his aunts, and they

continued to reside at his court. Dut time passed and no measures

were taken to ensure their permanent establishment. Presently it

was whispered that au intrigue was in progress befwcen Bhagirthi

Bhai and Dalat Rao, and the two elder widows, hearing of it, were

scandalised, and expressed their abhorrence at the incestnous

criminality. For this they were barbarously ill-treated by Ghatkay

Rao, one of Sindhia’s creatures in authority. This wretch not only

imprisoned the elder widows, but caused them to be flogged. Sneh

degrading treatment aroused the wrath of the Shenwi Brahmins, a

high easte of men who had monopolised all the principal offices of

government under Madhoji Sindhia; and these now openly

espoused the cause of the widows againsh the young chief. Mueh

discussion and dissension ensued, until it was agreed that the Bhais

should reside at Burhanpur. For this purpose they left Poonah, but
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had not proceeded far before they were treacherously seizod and

thrown into confinement in the fort of Alimednagar, and after a shart

imprisonment brought back to Danlat RAo’s camp. Before long,

however, they found means of escaping, and threw themselves npen

the protection of Amrat Rao, who was brother to the Peshwa, and a

very powerful personage. Just prior to this, Daulat Rilo married the

daughter of his minion Ghatkay Nico. She was a woman of singular

beauty, who exercised a complete control aver her husband, and her

influence elevated her father to the post ot prime minister in

succession to Balloba Tantia. No sooner was Ghatkay Rio in power,

than he urged Sindhia to crush tive conspiracy of the Blais at once.

This advice was adopted, and five battalions of infantry wore

detached from Drugeon’s Brigade under command of Captain Da

Prat to surprise Amrat Rao’s camp, and seize the refugees; but the

attempt failed, and Du Prat Was beaten and obliged to retreat.

Resource was now had to further negotiation, and with all the duplicity

of his Maréths nature Sindhia promised to provide his aunts with a

snitable establisiiment if they would retura to his protection. Where-

upon, trusting in his good faith, Amrat Rio come to Poonah to

arravge the matter, but was attacked by two battalions and twenty-

five guns under Drugeon, who, without warning, opened fire upon

him and dispersed his troops. ‘This gross act of treachery constiluted

a declaration of war against the Peshwaé himself, in whose govern-

ment Amrat Rao now filled the post of prime minister. <A coalition

of chiefs was immediately formed against Sindhia, who became

alarmed; the more so as Perron was at this time oceupied in the

sieve of Agra, whieh ho had not yet reduced, and where the faction

of the late prime minister, Balloba Santia, still held out. A general

vising against Sindhia’s authority in Hindustan and the Deecan

threatened, and he was now anxious to lay the storm he had raised.

But Ghatkay Rio, who had been the primary cause of all the trouble,

having tasted blood, thirsted for more, and disregarding Bindhia's

orders to effect a settlement with the revolted chiefs, iuercased the

danger of the situation by perpetrating innumerable fresh ontrages.

Al last Daulat Rao was obliged to order Ghatkay’s arrest, which was

accomplished by two of his European officers, Filoze and Hessing.

After this a peace was patched up with the Peshwa, but in the mean-

time the Bhais had retreated to Kolapur, where they were joined by

the leading Shenwi Brahmins, amongst whom was Lakwa Dada,

one of Madhoji’s best generals, who had recently been dismissed frort

his appomtment of commander-in-chief of the Marith4 army on

aecount of bis attachment to the ex-minister Dalloba Taéntia, who
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had naturally been one of Ghatkay’s firab victims, and was now

languishing in a ernel coniinement.

Tiarge bodies of mounted soldicry flocked to Lakwa Dada as soon as

he erectcd the standard of rebellion, and openly declared for the

widows of the old prince. Daulat Rio attempted in vain to allay

the increasing storm. No sconer had his regular battalions under

Du Prat, Drugeon, Filoze, aud Hessing repressed tho attacks made

on his territories by the rebels and returned to camp, than the latter

faced about and followed them. The flame spread through Hindustan,

and Lakwa Dada soon found himself at the head of an army of 20,000

cavalry, 15 battalions of infantry, and 20 guns, and susiained

by the immense prestige which still attached to the service of the

widows of the old prince.

It was at this eritical moment in his affairs that Daulat Rao desired

Perron to advance against Lakwa Dida, and at the same time appointed

another chief, named Ambaji Tnglia, ta the head of the Mardthé

army, and ordered him to co-operate with the reguiar Brigades.
Perron was at first disposed to underrate the strength of the

rebellion, and contented himself with sending two battalions, under

Captain Butterfield, to assist Ambaji. With these the latter marched

to Kotah, where he met the insurgents and engaged them; but Ambaji’s

troops had been tampered with by Lakwa Dada, who was a master of

intrigue, and lost the battle. Of the 1600 regular infantry under

Butterfield, one-third were killed or wounded, the whole brunt of the

action falling upon ihem, whilst Ambaji’s Maratha cavalry showed

searcely any fight at all.

Perron now ordered Sutherland, with the Second Brigade, to rein-

force the defeated army, upon which Lakwa Dida fell back on the fort

of Chittirgarh, Ambaji, at the same timc, made great preparations

to retrieve his defeat, and engaged George Thomas, with 6 battalions

of regular infantry and 60 guns, on a monthly pay of Rs.60,000.

Supported by Sutherland and Thomas, tho chief advanced againat

Chittir about the middie of the year 1799, his army consisting of

20,000, horse and 14,000 infaniry, A good deal of desultory skirmish-

ing ensued, but no really heavy fighting, nor were any substantial

results achieved by either party. Meanwhile Sutherland’s and

Thomas's troops, being far removei from their headquarters, fell into

arrears of pay, and this led to a general plundering of the country

yound, and very soon every village within filty miles was pillaged and

deserted.

Perron had always been jealous of Colonel Sutherland, and he now

gave a ready enr to a report that he was secretly intriguing with



COMMAND OF THE ARMY OF HINDUSTAN. 235

Lakwa Dida instead of fighting him. The colonel was therefore

suspended, and Major Pohlman sent from Mattra to take command of

his Brigade. Captain Dutterfield fell a vietim to Perron’s malice at

the same time, and was driven to leave Sindhia’y serviee ; bul Suther-

land managed to clear himself, and after a short time was sent to

the Deccan, to take over charge of the Virst Drigade from Du Prat,

who had recently superseded Drugeon fallen into disgrace.

Major Pohiman had no opportunity of distinguishing himself

against Lakwa Dida, for searcely had he tuken over the commend

than news came that Zamiéin Sheh, the King of Kabnl—a grandson of

Ahmed Shab Abdali, whose name wis dreaded by the Marithts—was

preparing for an invasion of Indin, with the intention of re-establish -

ing a Mahomedan empire. This threatened danger bronght about an

immediate concord amongst the Marithis, and all internal feuds and

jealousies were forgotten. Danlat Rio Sindhia released Balloba

Vantia, Lakwa Dada’s stanneh friend, from confinement, and rein-

stated him in his farmer post of prime miuister; whereupon Lakwa

and Ambaji exchanged visits of amity, and shortly afterwards tho

former, through the influence of Dalloha, was again elevated to the

post of eommander-in-chief This typieal example of the glorious

uneortainty of office in a Maraths administration left Ambaji withont

employment; and feeling hurt aia humiliation he had not deserved,

he entered inte relirement fora soason.

All the Maratha’ troops, regular and irregular, were now ordered to

concentrate at Mattra, where a formidable army was collected in

December, 1799, under the chief command of Perron, wlio marched

thither from Koil. l'rom Mattra the army advanced to Delhi, to take

up a position to oppose Zamin Shah, und here for some time the

immense lost was encamped. Lt ineluded in its ranks Perren’s Second

and Third Brigades, under Pohlmen and Vedvon, 100,000 Mardiha

cavalry of Lakwea’s, and 200 guns. So critical was the danger con-

sidered, that Perron deeided to fnrther augment his army, and

directed Major Pedron to raise a Fourth Brigude. The English also

assembled a large force at the frontier station of Annpshahr under

General Craig, tu assist in repulsing the Afghan invasion. Fortunately

for the peace and security of Hindustan, an outbreak at Kabul obliged

Yamén Shah to return to his capitil, and so the danger passed away.

A small insurrection in the Swharanpw district next engaged

Perron’s attention. Lere a religions impostor, whose real name was

Sultan Shah, gave himself out fo be Ghulim Kadir, asserting that it

was not that misercant who had been captured ond killed at Meernt

in 1780, and proclalning bis anthoriby over the territories of the
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Rohilla adventurer whom he represented himself to be. Perron

detached Captain Smith, with three battalions and some of the Begnm

Somru’s troops, to bring the impostor to book, and he was easily

defeated, and sont flying for refuge to the Sikhs, who had assembled

in force near Karnal, with the object of assisting Zamén Shah.

Perron now advanecd to Karndl, and summoned all the Sikh chiefs

between the Sutlej and the Jumma to appear hefore him and tender

their submission. These included the Rijahs of Tatidla, Jhind,

Kaithal, and Tanésur, who had long been a source of annoyance and

danger to the northern frontier of Hindustan. At first they seemed

inclined to resist; whereupon Perron, with a number of local chiefs

who were burning to avenge past injuries, and who brought with them

10,000 cavalry, advanced with his Third Brigade to Tanésur. This

prompt exhibition of strength overawed the Sikhs, and they submitted

to the terms imposed, and) signed the treaty required from them,"

Perron then returned to Delhi, chastising, on lis route, several large

villages which had been backward in paying their revenue, amongst

them being some over which George Thomas claimed authority. This

invasion of the latter's rights—not the first instance of its kind—tended

to increage tho ill-feeling alroady existing between the two adventurers,

and sowed the seeds of troubles that were to find their harvest at

Georgegarh and Hansi two years later,

* "Tt was about this time that lerron sent presents to Ranjit Singh, of Luhore,

with proposals for a treaty of umity and friendship. Bagh Singh of Jhind,

who waa Ranjit Singh’s maternal unele, was induced fo use his influenee in

bringing about this treaty, but Ranjit declined Derron’s overtures, still in

auch a manuer as to avoid giving offcnce. Ie had, prior to this tine, entered

inty negotiatious with the Marguis of Wellesley ; and he explained that it was

‘a difficult matter to muintain a friendship with both partics.? In the end he

patched up an understanding with Perron, explaining to Colonel Collins, who

had been the medium of the English negotiativnus, that ‘although my friendship

for you and the most nable the Governor-general is great beyond the possibility

of words, yet I must preserve appearances with General Perron, in consideration

of what is due by me to the will of my uncle, Bhig Singh.’

‘CA Httle later Perron proposed to Ranjit Singh to join him in attacking

George Thomas at Hunsi, but this the Sikh chief refused to ugree to.”"—Extrauct,

“Bombay State l’apers.”?



CHAPTER LIL.

THE BATTLE OF MALPORA, AND TUE STORM OF SOUNDA.

1800-1861.

Farny in the year 1800 Lukwa Dada utvanced into Rajputana, to

collect the tribute duc from that country. [Te was supported by

Perron’s Second Brignde under Major Pollan, aud by the Chevalier

Dudrence’s corps. Partib Singh, driven to exasperation by the

exactions of Perron, bad determined to throw off the Marithé yoke, if

possible, and assert his independenee. ‘Io this end he eollested a

powerful army at his camp at Sanganir, a few miles south of Jaipur,

where on the 4th of April he was joinal by (0,000 Lathor cavalry

from Jodlpur, who, for the Brst time sinee their defeat by De Boigne

at Merta, veutured to iake the field against Sindhia. Hearing of

these preparations, Perron sent an ulluuadum to Partab Singh, calling

wpon him to pay his arrears of tributc immcdistely; anil the demand

being refused, Lukwa Dida was deputed to enforce it.

Upon the rejection of Perron’s ullimetan: great activity prevailed

in the Jaipur camp. The Rajuh mounted lis state elephant and

reviewed his troops; there owas «a vast amount of saluting with

cannons, rockets, and small arms; rich sacrifices were vlfered to the

gods, ludihs of eleemosynary Tupecs distribuled to the Brabuins, and

alms in abundance bestowed on the poor.

By this time Lakwa‘s army bad approached to within fighting

distance, and the 15th of April being declared a propitions day by the

court astrologers, Parti Singhs forces mioved out to battle. Lakwa

lind chosen a good position now Malpure, where he formed his annuy

in two lines to meet the attack, ihe advance one consisting of the

regular infantry under Pollman and Dudrenee, aud the supporting

oue of the Maratht cavalry, who were siationed 4 thovsand paces iu

the reww; whilst 5,000 of Perron’s Lindnsiant horse defended the

flanks of lis Brigade.

237
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At four o'clock in the morning the battle began with a brisk artillery

fire, Presently Pohiman, who was on the right of the line, determined

on a forward movement, and led lis Brigade on, but with orders to

withhold thety fire until quite close to the enemy. With their accus-

tomed discipline and intrepidity the troops obeyed, but the cuwardly

Maratha cavalry leld back, leaving the infantry, as usual, to fight the

battle alone; in consequcuce of which Pohlman was soon hard pressed,

and at one time in imminent danger of being overwhelmed hy

numbers. But he displayed generalehip equal to the emergency. By

a skilful aud judicions movement he mussed bis six battalions into

square—a formation loug warfare against cavalry bad made thom

families with—and presented a front to the enemy on all sides; and

thus drawn up they inet and resisted every cliarge. After a desperate

defenee, in which the artillery played an important part, Pohlman

gradually drove the Jaipur troops back, and eaptured 40 of their

guns and 30 stand of colours, but not without heavy loss, for

1000 of his men, or neatly 17 per cent. of the force engaged, were

killed and wounded.

Ou the left of the line the Chovalier Dudvenee faved differently.

His troops were composed of newly-raised levies, who lacked tho

discipline that enabled Polinian’s velerans to stand firm and avoid

panie. Dudrenee himself was i gallant soldier, well schooled in

adversity, and if expericnce of disaster could make a great ceneral,

lie would have had every elaim to that distinction. Dut he was fated

to suffer yet ancther catastrophe on this day. Ib fell to the Rithors

of Jodhpur to oppose his partion of the line, and they lad memories

to obliterute such as could only be blotted out with blood; they had

lusterical reproachies to silence, whose cutting echoes rang through a

decade of shame, and could ouly be drowned in the din of battle ;

and vibald rhymes to put a period to, whose sting could only be stayed

by the clash of steel, To-day they sought the recwiche of Morta,

and 10,000 sous of Marwar were eager to fulfil their duty.

There is a stirring and vivid deseription of their charge avainst

Dudresiec’s corps in Colonel James Skinner's memoirs, whiels depicls

the episode in luwoguage singularly glowing and graphic; and

althongh it is not free from old “ Sikander’s ” habitual exaggeration,

no apology is necessary for quoting it in exfense, These are Skinnei’s

words:

“We now saw the Chevalier Dudrence’s Lrigade, which was on our

lett, charged by the Tkhatlores. Tle received them nobly, but was cut

to pieces by them: out of 8,000 men he had not 200 jeft. The

Rhattores, more than 16,000 in uumber, were scen approaching from
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a distance, the tramp of thelr imiueuse and compact boy rising like

thunder above the rear of baltle. They qune on, lirst at a slow Laud

gallop, wlich inereased in speed as they approached. ‘Che weill-served

guns of the Brigade showered grape upon this dense mass, mowing

down hundreds ut cach discharge, but this had no effect in arresting

their progress. On thoy came like a whirhvind, traurpling over L,a00

of their own body destroyed by the cannon of the Urignde. Neither

the uurderous volleys from the muskets ner the serried hedge of

bayonets could check or shake them. They poured like a torrent on

and over the Brigade, and rode it fuirly down, leaving scarce a yestiga

of it remaining, ag if the sheer weight of their mass had ground it to

picces. Then, as if they had met with but a slight obstacle, they

looked not cven behind them at the fullen, but went on, uushaken,

and still in their formidable inass, to attack the cavalry of the sceand

line, These ran like sheep, while the Rhattores pursued them, cutting

them down for several miles. In this charge Captain Paish and

several other officers were killed, and Dudrenee only escaped by

throwing himself down amongst ihe dead.”

The impetuous frenzy of the Rathors, drnnk with victory sud

revenge, proved their vuin. by their blind pursuit of the Mardéthi

cavalry, they put thoniselvos out of the action as completely as if they

themselves had been in Might, and this just at the time when thelr

presence was most needed; for Poluhnan liad now beaten back the

Jaipur troops, and advancing in his turn, recapinred two of Dudrenve’s

lost guns. Upon this Vartéb Singh, with G,000 of lis chosen body-

guard, determined to emulate the feat of the Miithors, and share

Poliman, But the latter, seeing him moving down on his elephant,

divined his purpose, und immediately ordered his guns to the front of

the line; and by the time the Rajah had approached to within two

hundved yards, the word was given to fire, aud a discharge of artillery

instantly followed, Partab Suosh's clephanf was killed, but net-

withstanding this, his boayguard twice attempted to charge, but were

beaten buck each thine. On the secoud occasion the Nijah monnted

his horse, and turning tail fled to his capital, followed hy his cavalry,

who never drew rein until they fowud refuge within the walls of

Jaipur, forty-five miles distant.

Poklman’'s battalions were now left in sole possession of the field,

About midday the Rithors were secon returning from the chase of the

Marath’ cavalry, beating their drwus in token of victory, On nearing

Polilmau's comp they observed the Jaipur colours, whieh lad been

captured, floating above it; and ihis cireruustwiee led them to suppose

that VPartih Singh lad Leen ax suceesstul as tlemeclves and was in
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possession, and they rode up in loose order to be eruelly undeceived

by a discharge of grape poured into them from thirty guns. When

thoy realised the fatul mistake into which they had fallen they made

a gallant effort to retrieve it. Twice thoy charged, notwithstanding

their fatigued condition, but were repulsed, although many brave

individuals broke through the square formed io receive them, and met

their death at the bayonets point. Lut the task was an impossible

one, and at last they drew off, and finding the Jaipur camp

abandoned, followed the direction of flight taken by Partab Singh,

victims of their blind impetuasity and au wideserved misforiune.

Pohlinan’s Brigade now advaneed to occupy the cnemy’s deserted

lincs. It was a maguificient encampment, crowded with swmptuous

tents of the most luxurious description, belonging te the various

chiefs. Two large bazaars ran down the contre, filled with movable

shops, in which every imaginable arlicle was exposed for sale. But

not a trader remained behind to recommend his wares, not a trooper

to strut and swagger down the streets, for the great host that had

thronged this tented city but yesterday had melted away into

nothingness,

In the centre of the camp was Rajab Patab Bingh’s wooden

pavilion, or palace. It was a beuntiful structure, covered with

embroidery and crimson velvet, and the interior a blazing sheen of

gold and silver brocade. Two golden idols guarded it, whose flashing

diamond eyes peered into vacuify—two golden idols before whom

the might of Jaipur Lad ofttimes bowed in adoration. But, impotent

as Baal of old, they were, by the irony of circumstances, the very first

treasures to be looted from the camp, which soon became a scene of

plunder and confusion.

The losses on both sides at the battle of Malpurah wore heavy.

The Maratha cavalry had Leen cnt to picecs by the Rathors, whose

own ranks, on their return from the chase, had been decimated by

Pohlman’s fire. Dudrenec’s Lrigade, which, according to Simith’s

authority, numbered about 4,000 fighting men, lost between five and

six hundred killed and wounded, whilst Polilman’s list of casualties

totalled 186. But heavier than all of these was the slaughter that

had ieken place in the ranks of the Jaipur army. PTartih Singh

never recovered the blow to his power and prestige which was dealt

him on this eventful day. Of the cighty pieces of cannon which he

had bronght into the field, he lost seventy-four, together with all his

camp, baggage wnd warlike stores.

On the 10th of Muy Perron arrived from the Sikh country north of

Dellu, where Le had Leen engaged in reducing his neighbours to
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order and obedience at Kirnil. He brought with him reinforce-

. mente of five battalions of infantry and his bodyguard of 500 cavalry,

known as the Khasi Risila, Having tvken over the chief command

from Lakwa Dada, he was preparing to advance against Jaipur, when

Partib Singh sent in his submission, and was granted peace on a

payment of twenty-five lakhs of rupees.

A treaty having been drawn out and signed, the Rajah invited

Perron and his European officers, sixteen in number, to visit his

enpital and experience his hospitality. The invitation was accepted,

but not without certain qualms as to ita prudence. The Rijah, with

wv cavaleado of twenty elephants, met his guests ontside the gates of

lis capital, and eseorted them to the “ Palace of the Winds,” under a

salle of twenty-one guns. Colonel Skinner, who was present,

describes the city as “the liandsomest ever seen; the streets were

broad, the houses regular on both sides, the bazaars extremely fine,

‘and the place fall of inhabitants, who seetm prosperous and happy.”

This description, recorded nearly a ceninry ago, world hold good in

the present day, for modern Jaipur is without oxception the cleanest

and most beautiful city in the native states of India, and enjoys the

distinction of being the only one lighted with gas !

Perron’s ceremonial visit passed off with great éeled, despite fear

and distrust on both sides at the connnencement. A grand entertain-

ment in the Hinda style wag prepared, whereat nazzare wera

presented and f&hiluts bestowed. This was followed by a banquot, at

which (observes Skinner) a choice assortment of Hindustani liquors

were on the table, and the whole wound up with elephant battles,

tiger and buffalo fights, and the inevitable Natch Dance, when several

sete of handsome girls were introduced.

The defeat of tho Rajah of Jaipur had a@ salutary effect upon hig

kinsman of Jodhpur, who, without further trouble, paid up the arrears

of tribute due trom him, amounting to twelve Inikhs of rupees, and

tendered his formal submission to the Muaritha rule.

Affairs in Itijputana being thus satisfactorily arranged, Perron

returned to Koil towards the end of July, leaving Pohiman and six

battalions te reduce the fort of dijpur, which belonged to a chief

named Kasri Siugh, who had leony harassed the Laéjah of Kotah, an

ally of the MarAthis in the late campaign. JAjpur was a stone

fortress, built on the summit of a steep hill, and fran: its position and

the solidity of its masonry, a place of unusual strength. Kasri

Singh refused to surrender to Pohlman’s summons, and mesasures

were taken to forcibly dispossess hin. A large battering train was

brought te bear on the walls of the town, and 2 breach soon eflected,

MG
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and the following night, on s given signal, the troops advanced and

occupied it without much difienlty. The fort now remained to be

takon, und it was found necessary to make regular approaches. A

fortnight was consumed in udvancing the lines to within two hundred

yards, daring which the Rajput garrison made many vigorous sallies,

When everything was ready the bombardment was opened, and a

portion of the wall being baticred down, a storm ordered, The

six batialions wore formed into two columna; Poltlman leading one,

and Captain Donolly, his second in command, the other, and just

before dawn the signal for attack was given hy lighting a port-fire,

and the troops rushed forward. But the garrison was prepared to

receive tham, and saluted the assailants with a tremendous fire from

cannon and small arms, The stormers pressed gallantly forward,

and reached the breach, but found it impracticable. The garrison

scoing this, increased their oxerlions, rolling down large stones and

discharging powder-pots and burning thatch upon the foe below, which

caused the greatest havoc and eonfnsion in all ranks, Captain

Douelly, a gallant Ivishinen, and Lieutenant Eixshaw lost their lives

in this affaiy, and 800 men wore killed ond wounded before the

battalions retired. Four days later the assault was renewed, and this

time, in spite of the heroia defenee of the Rajynts, the fort was

captured and all the garrison killed and wounded with the execption

of Kasri Singh and about 400 of his followers. Pohlman, himself a

gallant offiecr, could feel for these brave men, and offered them

terms which, seeing all wes lost, they rxecepted, and marched out

with the honours of war,

During the noxt few weeks Pohlman was engaged in reducing

several refractory local chiofs, who refused to pay their tribute until

compelled by force, atter which he mareled his Brigade back to

Delhi, after a short but successful campaign.

Whilst this expedition had been in progress in RAjputana there

had been another shufiling of the cards in the Deccan. Harly in the

year Daulat Rio's wife had induced him to liberate from confinement

her father, Ghatkauy Rao. This wreteh soon regained his former evil

influence over his con-in-law, and intrigued sneeessfully against

Balloba Tantia, the ministcr in power. Before long Balloba fell into

disgrace, and in June was seized and imprisoned in the fortress of

Ahmednzgar, where he shortly aftcrwurds died by poison, Thia

event had a disastrous effect on the fortunes of Lakwa Dada, who

owerl his restoration to power to the friendship of the late minister,

and now felt certain that his own downfall was af hand; notwith-

standing that Sindhia, with characteristic deceit, wrote to him to be
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under no apprehension, but to continue zealously in ihe performances

of his duties as coinmandar-in-chief, Iut in spite of these

yeassurances, willin a very few weeks Ambaji Inelin was

summoned from lis retirernent and appointed to supersede Lakwa

Dida, who had already sent his family to Judhipur for safety, where

he now proceeded to join them and entered into an allianee with the

prince of thal country.

Dircetly after his restoration to favour, Ghatkay Tito recommenced

urging Daulat Rao to ernsh onee for all the rebellion of the Bhais,

by putting to death every man of note who was suspected of syn-

pathy with them, knowing that by ancl a course of policy many

powerful rivals would be removed from his own path. Sindhia

listened favourably to these sngvestions, and sanchioned a wholesale

slanghter of the Ieading cliieftains, who had been fuvonrite officers

and ministers under his uncle -Modhoji, and wero al! men of high

rank and ability. This atrocious preceeding at once alienated the

affections of Sindhia’s subjects: bnt it did inore than this, for it struck

a deuth-biow at the Marathi national army, and Jeft aulat Rio

almost solely dependent upon his regular Brigades and his Mnropean

officers.

Such of the chieftaing as were able to escape, fed for refuge to

Sindhia’s enemies, and disorders threstened on overy side. Takwa

Dada was now formally dismissed frowr atu office which he had in

practice abdicated, and this gave the signal for a general insurrection

to break out. The Holkars, who, since their defeal by De Boigne ab

Lakhairi, bad searce lifted their heads, now began to assert themselves,

and under the direction of Jaswant Lao, a natural son of old ‘Pakuji,

who died in 1797, raised the stundard of their house, to which vast

numbers of Sindhia’s late adherents began to flock.

Scarcely had Perron returned to Koil in July than news of

Lakwa Daéda’s defection reached him. He at once prepared to

return to Ldijputana to attack the rebel and his new ally of Jodhpur,

but was delayed by the breaking out of an jusurrection north of

Delhi, where Sambunath, the subahdar of Sxharanpur, a faithfnl

adliereut of Lakwa, declared for his patron direetly he hoard of his

aupersession, and, collecting au army, audaciously avowed his

intention of invading Perron’s Jatdud. Tho danger from such an

exhibition of insubordiuation existed tore ia ita example than in its

action, and ii was imperative to crush if in the iad. Captain Siuith

was at once detached to attack Sambunith ; but although he inflicted

a slight defeat, more energetic measures were necessary. Perron

therefore deferred his advance against Lakewa Dida, and on the 22nd
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of July took over the command of Captain Smith’s foree, and gave

battle to Sambunath at Katdoli, The action was short but decisive,

and resalied in a complete victory for Perron. Utterly beaten and

routed, Sambunith flod to the Sikh tervitory and the general returned

to Delhi with suck laurcls ag he might reasonably claim from sueecss

against an individual whom George Thomas contemptuonsly termed

“a grain merchant.”

Perron stopped a short time ab the capital, waiching the progress of

events, and whilst there paid his respeets to the blind Emperor with

much pomp and ceremony. The formality of “ centering into the

presence * was one he never omitted to. observe when occasion

allowed, for the nominal authority of the Mughal was the mast

pewerfal moral factor in his hand.

Just about this time Partih Singh was going to be marvicd, and as

Perrov had promised to attend the earemony he determined to visit

Jaipur, and from theuce marel to the attack of Lakwa Dada.

Collecting a strong force he set out for Rijputana, bat on arriving at

Balehera on the 14th of November, Jearnt that the rebel chief had

left Jodhpur and joined the Thais in Malwa. This necessitated a

change of plans, but as it was important for political reasons that

Verron should keep his Jaipur engagement, he detached Major

Bourgnien to capture Ajimir, which belonged to Lakwa, and him-

self proceeded to Jaipur to be present at the nuptials of Partab

Singh on the 26th of November, and add ta the ceremonial that

éclué so precions to Oviental-minds, It was not until January, 1801,

that he left thie city, and in fulfilment of his original design of

attacking Lakwa Dida set outfor Mabwa, where that chief was last

reported to be. On his way he levied a heavy fine from the Rajah of

Unaria, a veealcitrant chief who had lately defeated one of Perron’s

detached battalions under Skinner. At this place he learnt that

Lakwa had evacnaiel Malwa and gone to Datia in Bundelkhand,

taking the Bhais with him, and tired of his fruitless bunt Perron

detertnined to discontinue it, and retraced his steps to hig head-

quarters at Koil, from which he had been too long absent,

Moanwhile Ambaji Tnglia, the new Marathi ecommander-in-chief,

was ordered to take up the chase of Lakwa, who had now entrenched

hunself at Sounda, in the territory of the Rajah of Datia, and was at

the lead of an army of 6,000 cavalry, 8,000 Dundela troops, and a

small party of 200 sepeys, commandcd by Colonel W. H. Tone,

and 16 guns. The position he hal chosen was an exceedingly

strong one. In his rear was the fort of Sounda: in his front a

network of ravines extending for seven miles: and his flanks
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were detended by broken country aud several strong forts, Through

these natural defences there were ouly tlice clear passes or passayes

for the advance of an enemy, all stronyly protected with infantry and

artillery.

Ambaji Inglia, acting under orders froin Sindhin, collected at

Gwalior an army of 5,000 horse and three brigades of regular infankry.

Of those latter one was sent him by Verron, consisting of eight

battalions under the command of Colonel Pedron; a second was one

in lis own employ, oflicered by two Knglishmen, named Janes

Shepherd and Joseph Dellasis, aud the third an inferior corps

commanded by a native named Kaleb Ali. Dut having assembled

this army Ambaji hesitated to march against Lakwa, who was

net so much the enemy of Sindhia as the champion of the Marittha

chieftains against the tyranny of Ghatkay Ido, 2 personage as hateful

to Aubaji himself ag to any one, whilst tho latter’s foclings towards

Lakwa were, at the bettom, net amfriendly. When at length an

advance conld no longer be delayed, Ambaji doputed his brother Bala

Lito to take command, and himself rerunined at Gwalior.

In March, 1801, the army moved towards Sounda, and no series of

small skirmishes soon took place, but nothing decisive was effected.

Perron now began to recognise the gravity of the situation, for Lakwa

Dada and the Bhais had by this time prevailed upon Jaswant Rao

Uolkar, and Ali Bahadur, a powerful independent chief in Gundel-

khand, to support the rebellion. Thus a most formidable confederation

was projceted which threatened Daulat Rao’s authority, and thereby

shook the very foundations of Perron’s own position. In fact the insur-

rection of the Bhais, as it was glill termed, was assuming sueb pro-

portions that ib seomed likely to chanve the existing balance of power

in the Maratha Empire, and opencd an actnal danger of Sindhia being

crushed by a hostile alliance of all the other chiefs in the Deccan,

This induced Perron to procecd tu Sounda in person, and he arrived

in May with an escort of a battalion of infantry aud 2,000 Hindustani

horse. IIe found anything but « satisfactory condition of affairs.

Pedron, overawed by the natural strength of Lakwa Daéda’s position,

had done nothing except engage in a few nuimportant skirmishes,

This dilatory conduct angered Perron, who determined to bring

matters to an imocdiate tssuc, and gave the order for a general

assaulb on the eveny’s entrenchinents, and at dawn of day on the

8rd of May the troops wenl inte action. .
They were divided into three colmians to attack the three passes

that led to Lakwa's cainp. The right consisted of four battalions

under Pedron; in the contre were Shepherd, Bellasis und Kaleb Ali
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with their brigades; and on the left were five battalions and 2,000

Hindustani horse under Captain Syines. The pass whicl: Padron

attacked was held by Colonel Tone, who fought with great gallantry,

until he was overpowered, and with his officers taken prisonor. In

tle contre Shepherd and Bellasis were opposed by a chief named

Barir Singh, whom they drova hack. But the left wing under Captain

Symes met with w serious reverse at the hands of the gallant old

Rajah of Datia, and sustained great slaughter.

Peryon on hearing of this disaster sent to Pedrou for reinforcements

of two battalions, and, placing himself at their head, advanced to

Symes’s assistance. After rallying and reforming the routed troops,

he led them back to the assault with the greatest personal daring and

courage. Inspirited by his proseuce and example the men answered

to his appeal, and the position was now stormed with complete success.

The old Rajah of Dutia fought nntildhe was killed, whilst Perron

was himself wounded by a spear thrust during an attack which he

pressed Lome mntil it came to hand to hand work.

This decided the battle, Bardr Singh was killed fighting bravely,

and Lakwa Dada, seriously wounded by a musket shot in the foat,

escaped with the greatest difficulty. ‘he Bhais fled on horseback,

and all the rebel troops dispersed, whilst their sixteen guns were

taken and their camp plundered. The day was not, however, wou

without serious loss, for the resistance offered was obstinate. In

Pedron’s colamo nearly a thousand men were killed and wounded,

amongst the latter being two European officers, In the centre column

Bellasis and three other officers were killed, and 1,500 men placed

hors de combat: whilst an the left Captain Symes and Lieutenant

Paish were wounded, and nearly half their men cut up. Had it not

been for Perron’s prompt aud gallant assistanee the whole of this

eolumn would have been annihilated,

Perron behaved with great unimnity and kindnoss to Colonel foue,

Captain Livans and the other Kuropean atficers who were taken

prisoners. To the former he offered serviee in Sindhia’s army, buat

this was declined. Whereupon all the captives were permitted to

retive to Holkar’s territory, Perron fumishing them with Rs.10,000 to

defray their expenses and enable them to re-establish their fortunes.

All this time Major Bourguion hud been doing but little in Ajmir,

which, it will be remembered, was Lakwa Dada's own province.

Having arrived before the fort in Deeomber, 1800, he endeavoured to

storm it on the eighih of the uionth, bub was driven back by the

garrison, He then, in expressive Oviental phraseology, “sat down”

before it, aud after fruitiessly attempting its reduction by siege, bom-
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barded it with a more powerful metal than iron, aud alter five long

months gained possession of the place by bribery on the 8th of May,

1801; so that in one week Hakwa [hide sustatued two crushing defeats

ab points so fay distant as Ajmir and Sounda. Int before news of the

full of the former place reached Perron he was so disgusted with

Bourguien’s incompetence that le sent Captaiu Bynes to supersede

him.

From Souuda Verron returned to Koil, which le reached early in

Jane, having in one short but brilliant eanipaigu broken up the rebel-

lion of the Bhais and asserted Sindhia’s supremacy.



CHAPTER Ly.

PERRON VARAMOUNT, THE BATTLE OF USJALN,

1801.

ERBON was now at the zenith of his career. He had brought all

Hindustan into subjection, and waa supreme within the bown-

davies of Sindhia’s northern possessions. When he suecoeded to Da

Boigne's post two formidable enemies stood in his way, Balloba Tantia

and Lakwa Dida. The former was dead, the latter a fugitive, and

for the moment no shadow of opposition stood between Perron and

his will, From Koteh in the south to Saharanpur in the north, from

Jodhpur in the west to Koil in the east, lis power was paramount.

An enumeration of the territories Perron governed at this time,

aud the countries and states he dictated to, will give an idea of the

enormous extent of his influence. In the vast Jaidad he held, and

whiel: ineluded the richast districts of the Dodb, he enjoyed the

rights and privileges, and lived in the state and dignity, of an actual

sovereign. The Subals, or governorships, of Saharanpur, Panipat,

Delhi, Narnol, Agra, and Ajuair, were directly under hig control: he

drew their revenues and ordered their government, He directed the

polities of, and reecived tribute from, the Rajahs of Jaipur and

Jodhpur, and many lesser Rajput chiefs, and claimed authority, if

he did not actually exercise it, over the Sikhs between the Jumna and

the Suile}, Within Hindustan proper he owned the monupoly of the

sult and customs duties, the two most valuable sources of revenue

that existed, and enjoyed the exclusive privilege of coining money,

and lia annual revenue was estimated wt £1,632,000 sterling. Fis

possession of the person of the Limperor, Shah ’Alam, enabled him

to invoke the Imperial authority for all his auctions, and be enforced

Ins will by the terror iis disciplined army inspired.

it is not wonderful that such marvellous success tLmmed Perron’s

head. From hawking handkerchiefs in a Preneli provincial town to

aig
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ruling Hindustan was an advancemont in life that might have dazzled

the most sober brain. From serving as a sailor on board a French

frigate to commanding an army of 10,000 men was a promotion that

finds few parallels in history. Brave in the field, and not overbearing

in the camp, Perron Lud hitherto been respected by his “aropean

officers and beloved by Lis troops, and, until now, retained the charac-

ter De Baigne had conceived of hitu, namely, tliat he was 1 gallant

soldier and a man of plain senso,

But in 1801 a change became apparent in Verron’s nature which

soon began to influence his behaviow. He grew intoxicated with

success. The subtle oil of Oriental flattery was poured into his cars,

and he learnt to love it. Great schetues suggested thoutselves to his

mind, and he indulged in dreams of establishing an independent

kingdom for himself, or winning a place in his country’s history by

restoring to France the dominion of the Mast. On his clevation to his

present post he had entered into correspondence with Pivon, the sue-

cessor of Raymond at Haidarabad, and with the French faction of

Mysore, with whose revoltttionary political principles he was in entire

sympathy, Had Fortune permitted stich a combination Perron would

have joined these countrymen of his in 2 concerted endeavour to

establish again the French power in India, But Lord Wellesley broke

up Piron’s force af Haidarabad, and Tipu Sultan’s French auxiliaries

sturendered to the English at Seringapatam, so that the only hope re-

inaining to the French of reviving their ancient rule in the Fast was

centred in Perron, for he was now the sole representative of the

French struggle in India. The réze of a nutional champion appealed

to his vanity and pride, and he shaped bis policy accordingly, and

displayed a decided prefercnce for Hepublican principles. He did not

realise that the presence of a French army—-for so his Brigades came

to be called—in the very heart of Hindustan must raise the jealousy

of the Iinglish; or, if ho did, he was prepared to inenr the risk, for he

began, without avy disgttise, to pursue a course of favouritism in order

to advance the views he had adopted.« He ignored the elaima of merit

* The following footnote in Kaye's ‘‘ Life of Lord Metcalfe ” is interesting. [t

is an extract from « letter of the litter, dated the 22nd of March, 180%.—“ Camp,

Kashulehur.—Here J found four more battalions of Perron’s troops. Que of

the officers came to visit inc, anxious to hear of his father, Colonel ——. 1

obtained some informution from him relative to the Muhratta, service. [t

appears that promotion depends on General Perron, who is naturally disposed

to favour his own countrymen. So far, however, as the rank of captain, every

officer obtains wu step annnaliy—ie. in four years & man must he a captain.

The rule extends no higher. Fhe uniform of the Sepoys is the same as the

Company’s ; so ure the accoutrements, with the exception that they carry a
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and the rights of regimental seniority, and filled all the posts of corm-

mand in his Brigades with his own countrymen, who were pitch-forked

over the heada of Europeans of other nationalities, without justice

and without desert. 'Lhis policy naturally excited the cnmity aud dis-

satisfaction of all forcigners serving under him and created a spirit

which weakened bis army. Is was a gross departure from the prin-

ciples laid down by De Boigne, who, above all things, was impartial,

and never gave prefercnce to any individual, but promoted each isan

by seniority, or for acknowledged merit, In pursuing an opposite

course Perron hardly took the trouble to dissemble. THe tolerated his

English officers only from necessity, fully prepared to discharge them

whan the oeeasion arose, whilst every adventurer who conld boast wu

Frenel extraction, was pushod forward into appointments of respor-

sibility and emolument, irrespective of claim or talent. That even-

tnally these favoured countrymen of his rewarded his preference by

disloyalty and ingratitude was but a just retribution. His downfall,

indeed, was brought ubout by the very men whom he now raised from

insignificance to power. ‘his can create little surprise when their

characters are considered. ‘'Low they were,” writes onc of the super-

seded English officers, “in every sense of the word. Low in birth,

in education, and in principle. Perron’s army became a miniature

of the Frenel Ttevolution. Wrotches were raised from cocks and

barbers to become colonels and brigadiers, and absurdly entrusted

with tho command of troops, and showed into paths to acquire lulchs

of rupees, ‘This was the quintessence of egalité, tie acme of Freneh

Ttevolution, the principles of which were now generally affected in

the lorce.”

As a natural consequence every English officer in the Brigades soon

came to detest Perron, Their supersession by illiterate and reprobate

Frenchmen was guflicient to raise their indignation. How unjustly

they suffered may be gathered from the fact that in ihe period of

twenty years between 1788 and 1808, durivg which De Boigne’s

battalions flourished, only four Frenclinen were killed in active

sorvice, whilst fifteen British-born officers met their death on the field

of battle. These partisan prejudices which Perron displayed were

destructive not only of the esprit de corps that had previously in-

spired hig army, but of tho political harmony which should Lave

existed between the Marithis and tle Mneglish, To the promotion

of a good feeling between the two powers De Boigne had particularly

sword as well as a bayonet aud imusket. ‘he band, which was in full tune,

as they marched by my little camp, playcd nothing but marches—perfectly in

the Kuropean style.’
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addressed himself, but under Perron this friendship soon changed to

mutual distrust and hostility.

But this was not the only enmity Perron raised against himself and

his master. As his power and influcnee increased Sindhia’s Marathi.

chiefs ford their own declining, and wilh each augmentation of the

rerular Brigades their feudal troops became of less and less account,

nud fewer prizes fell to their share. It was evident their ocenpation

was slipping away, and with it hose hereditary privileges and emoli-

ments so dear to the native heart. Volitical extinction and peeuniary

rnin threatened them, aud the desperate eondition of their prespects

soon instigated them to plot against the foreigner who had usurped

their richis and to enter into intrigues to ettect his rnin,

Heedless of these gathering dangers Porron pursued his course.

Behind lis political ambition there was an even greater incentive

to personal exertion, and that was lig love of money. Tho harvest

was rich, the season prosperous, the hnsbandman in humony, and he

reaped and reaped. His pay and allowances were cnormous. As

commander-in-chief of the Imperial ariny he drew Ry.15,000 per

mensen, with a liberal extra fer “table expenses.” For the support

of his bodyguard he received a monthly sum of Bs.82,000. On all the

revenie collections of the Jaidud his commission was 5 por centum,

and ilie sume on the revennes of tha Subals he adininistered, In

every political arrangement he sanctioned, or entered into wilh the

neiglibouriug prinecs and fendatory slates, ie exacted a nazaar, or

complimentary donation, of 23 per cené, ‘The wealth of the man was

prodigions. On the lowest calculation, oxelusive of the pay of his troops,

he enjoyed a monthly emolunient of Rs.100,000, wlich, at bhe exchange

of the day, representcd an uunual income of over £150,000. Tn ad-

dition to this there must have been many other sources of gain open

to him, for his savings in seven years were variunsly estimated aah

from one to two millions sterling.

Tt is now_necessary to turn to a contemplation of tho state of affuirs

in the Deeean, where Daulab Niio Siudbia hat been so long delayed,

to the advantage of Lis Kuropewu deputy in Uindustan.

Early in the year 1800 Nan liarnavis, the great Marithawinister,

died, and a dispute immediately broke oul between Sindlia and the

Peshwi over the division of the inuuense property left by the deceased,

Daulat Rio ilnstrated the practical application of the adage that

possession is nine points of the law, by seizing the Nana's Jaghir, or

territory, under pretext of a claim of a million sterling against Lhe

estate. Plot and counterplot succeeded, too long und too complicated
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to be detailed here, inextricably interwoven as they were with the

insurrection of the Bhais, whose canse the Poshwé espoused after the

barbarous reprisals and bloodthirsty excoutions Sindhia bad ordered,

and which, as explained in a previous chapter, left the latter without

any friends or adhereuis amungst his own countrymen, except his

father-in-law, Ghatkay Rao. Disordera and turmaile broke out on

every side, and their occurrence prompted Jaswant Rao Holkar to

take advantage of the difficulty in which his rival was planged, to

reassert the political influence of his tumily, which, since the death of

Taktyi Holkar, had fallen to a very low ebb.

In order to explain Jaswant Hiio’s standing it is necessary to go

back a little and pick up the thread of the narrative ab the point where

mention of the house of Holkay ceased. After Takiji’s crushing

dcfeat at Lakhairi in 1793 he retired to his capital, where, in 1797,

he followed his life-long rival, Madhoji Sindhia, to the burning ghoul.

Takdji left behind him four sons, two levitimate and two natural onca.

OF the former, the elder and acknowledged hetr was Khasi Lito, but

he was weak in intellect and defornied in person, whilst the younger

brother, Malhar Rao, was brave and aspiring. <A contest for the sue-

cession tuck place between thesc two, and Khasi Réo, with fatal

weakness, applied to Sindhia for assistance. So excellent an oppor-

tunity of increasing his importance and influence was precisely what

Daulat Rio desired. He became for a time the champion of the

rightful heir of the house of Flolkar, and in the strngele that ensued

Malhar Bao lost his life in buttle, and his infant son, Khandi Rao, fell

into Sindhia’s hands. Khasi Réo was now left nominally in full

possession of the Government, but, im reality, wholly dependent on

Bindhia.

During the struggle between Khasi Rio and Mallar Rao, the iwo

natural sons, Jaswant Rio and Ithal Réo, supported tle latter, and

when he was killed were forced to flee. Ithal Rao sought refuge

at Kolapur, and eventually met a violent death si the hands of his

enemies. Jaswant Rao, in the first instance, found protection ab

Nagpur, and later on, efter numerous vicissitudes, in which. his life was

often in danger, at Dhar. Being a chief of great personal gallantry

nnd talent he was svuon able, in the distracted state of politics, to

gather around him many adhcrents of his fathor who were prevented

from supporting the cause of Khasi Rao by his connection with

Sindlia. Having collected a formidable following Jaswant Rao

entcred on the life of a professional frecbooter, directing his enter-

prises chiefly against Sindhia’s territories. One of his first acts was

to enter into an alliance with a celebrated Pathin soldier of fortune,
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named Amit Khau, who was at the head of a baud of free lances,

and lived by rapine and foray. Amir Klrini's peculiar ability, audaeity,

and fame in predatory expeditions marked Trim out as a fit auxiliary

for the schemes Jaswant Rio meditated, und the Pathan, on his part,

was not blind to the advantage of conneeting himself with a chief of

such high dignity as Jaswant Rio, ‘through whem” (to quote from

his memoirs) “a road might be opencd to the management of gront

affairs, even to tle very highest, from behind the enrtain.”’

It was not long before Khasi Itio proved mentally incapable of

ruling, and when this beeame notorions Jaswant Lio had no difficulty

in strengthening his position by proclaiming that he was acting on

behalf of Khandi Rio, the nephew and heir of Khasi Rado, and in the

name of this infant he assumed the headship of the honse of Holkar,

His singular sucecss aud the depredations he commnitted in Sindlia’s

Narbada districts soon roused the latter to action, and a detachment

of reguiar infantry was sent-against him under the command of the

Chevalier Dudrenec. This officer, on the death of Takiji, had cast in his

lob with Khasi Rao, a politieal error which soon beeame apparent to

him, bub never more clearly than on this occasion when he was

defcated by Jaswant [Ao, whose reputation was thereby vastly in-

creased, The reverse he sustained decided Dudrenee to change his

allegiance, and declaring his conviction that Khasi Rio was incapable

of governing, he passed over with all his battalions to the scrviee of

Jaswant Lio,

Jaswant Rio's fortunes were now in the ascendant, and he began to

dream of re-establishing the old glory and influence of his house,

Soon his improved circmiustanees required that he should conform te

the respectability expected in a chief of position, and he reformed his

vagabond army, introduced a certain degree of discipline into its

ranks, and augmented his regular battalions, go as to put himself on a

more equal footing with Sindhin. Several Enropean officers were

engaged to raise corps for hima, and men of character and ability

tempted to enter his service by Hberal terms of remuneration, As

there happened to be a greater number of French adventurers in the

Deeean than of any other nationality, three-fourths of the Huropeans

introduced into his service belonged to that country. In addition Lo

Dudrence’s Brigade two others were raised, cach consisting of four

battalions. One was eommanded by Captain Gardner, but he did nat

yemain long in the service, being succeeded by Captain Dodd. The

other was under Captain Pluuet, “a Frenchman and a gentleman ;

two qualities which were seldom united in the Mahratta army.” The

successes achieved by these infiuntry Brigades soon enabled Holkar to
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pay them with tolerable punctuality, nnd for a time he continued to

devastate Sindhia's territories in the vicinity of Ujjain without oppo-

sition, Sindhia was, in fact, sacrificiog everything to maintain his

influence at Poonah, where the political firmament continued to he

mueh disturbed, Unt a time came when he conld no longer dis-

regard the rapidly growing power of Jaswant Rio, and he felt

compelled to take netion against him, or rnn the risk of his own

Malwa districts being harried into a wilderness. And so in 1801 he

left the Peshwi’s conrt, and accompanied by an enormous army set

out on his return to Ujjain.

His progress was so slow that it allowed Jaswant Rio ample time

to call in all his seattered detachments and coneentrate them in the

neighbourhood of Sindlhia’s capital, with the intention of swooping

down upon it in one final raid. When Daulat Ido reached the Tapti

he heard of the threatened danger, and in his alarm sent forward

Major George Ilessing with three of Lis battalions and one from

Fidele Filoze’s corps to protect the cily. Dy this time the rainy

season had broken, and tho country way in a state most difficult for an

army to traverse, notwithstanding which Tessing made on astonishingly

rapid route and reached Ujjain by the end of June. A few days ufter

his departure from Sindhix’s camp tho chief’s anxiety increased, and

he ordered Lieutenant MacIntyre, with the fourth battalion from

Hessing’s Brigade, and a second from Filoze’s, to follow and support

the advanced column. Three days later he detached two of Suther-

land's battaliona from the First Brigade, under Captain Gautier, to

further strengthen Hessing, ani finally crowned his imbecility by

closing up the rear, after another interval, with two moro of Suther-

Jand’s battalions and a park of artillery under Captain Drownrigg.

Thera was thus an cchelle of small isolated detachments, with

twenty, thirty, and forty miles between cach, marching against an

enemy whose ontire strength was concentrated on the objective point.

Jaswant Kio was too able a gencral to let such an opportunity slip,

and at once prepared to altack the detachments in detail, Passing

by Hessing, who had reached Ujjain, he fell upon MacIntyre at Nuri

and compelled him to surrender. Plated with success he pushed ou

to attack Brownrigg, who, on hearing of the disaster, had crassod the

Narbada and effected a junction with Gautier near the town of Satwis,

where he took up a very strong position. Tho foree under his com-

mand only amounted to four battalions of infantry and a hundred

Rohillas, with, however, a very strong park of artillery, Wolkax's

army, according to a Bombay paper published at the time, consisted

of fourteen regular battalions, under Piumet, 5,000 Nohillas, 50,000
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Maratha cavalry, 27 heavy guns, and 42 light field-pieces; but this

appears an oexaygerated ostimate. Still if is certain he had an

immense numerical superiority ever Brownrigy. The battle com-

meneed at soven o'clock in the morning with a discharge of round

and grapo slob from Jaswant hao’s euns. An artillery duel sue-

ceeded, and lasted for four liours, when an attempt was made to

advance and storm Brownrigg’s position. Bat he defended hinself

with such resolution and judgment that all Holkur's attacks were

unavailing, whole files of his infuniry being eut to pieces by the

shain shot discharged against them. Ticfore long the men became

dlemoralised aud refused to advance, and Major Plimet being taken

prisoner,* Holkar decided on a retreat, which he did not effect with-

out enormous loss. Brownrigy’s casualtics were only 107, but

amongst them wag his gallant fellow-countryman, Lieulenant Row-

bothain.

Jaswant Rao now retired to Indore, from whence he sent urgent

messages to Amir Khan to join him with all speed. But the Pathan

chicf was 2 man of obstinate metal, and preferred to retrieve Holkur's

reverse rather than commit himself to a retrograde movement. So

he holdly advanced against Ujjnin to attack Lessing, whereupon

Holkay plucked up heart, and, hurrying forward with two brigades of

infantry, effected a junction with his ally. On the 8ndof July, 1801,

the combined forces moved against the city. They found Hessing

drawn up ready to receive them, his foreo in a square formation, with

its rear defended by the battlements of the capital. Jaswant Nio

divided his army into two equal divisions, making over the command

of one to Amir Khan and leading the other himsclf. The Pathin

opencd the action by dispersing Hussing’s eonsiderable body of Marith.é

horse by a charge of his own cavalry, and then directed a heavy

éannouade upon the four battalions of regular infantry. These were

soon thrown into confusion, upon which their commander, a half-euste

son, by a native woman, of gallaut old Johu ILessing, friled to dermon-

strate the doctrine of heredity, and fled at an early slave of the action,

Icaving his officers to meet the advance of Plumet's brigade, which

was now commanded by a Frenchman named Wlenry, The result

was soon placed beyond doubt, for, although Hessing’s officers behaved

with conspicuous gallantry, freely saevificing their lives in the defence

of their colours, they were completcly overpowered, and, towards the

elose of the action, annihilated by o spirited charge of the Pathiu

cavalry under Amir Khan himsclf. ‘ To the end,” writes a conicm-

porary observer, ‘they behaved with all that eco] and collected

* So stated in the newspaper quoted from—hbut the fact is doubtful.
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fortitude which belongs to fruo heroism, and fell covered with honour-

able wounds.” Of the twelve cflicers ongaged, eight were killed

and three wounded and made prisoners, Hessing alone escaping to

Bairtingarh by a eraven flight. Those who Jost their lives were

Captain-Lieutenant Jolin Macpherson, a son of Captain Macpherson

in the Company’s service ; Lieutenant John Graham, son of Ensign

Graham in the same; Liertenant Edward Montague, son of Colonel

Montague of the Bengal Artillery; Lieutenant Doolan, Ensigns

Haddon and Urquhart, all of Heasing’s brigade, and Lientenants

Lany and Meadows of Filoze’s corps. Amongst the wounded were

Lientenant Humpherstone, Captain Dupont and Major Deridon, the

jatter a balf-bred Frenclaman, whose sister Perron had married, He

was eventually ransomed by Colonel John Hessing, of Agra (who

was also a connection of his), by 1 payment of Rs.40,000, which sum

Sindhia afterwards refunded with unusual generosity, The heads of

the dead officers were cut off and carried to Holkar, who rewarded

this atrocious act of mutilation with a payment of Its.1,000 for each,

Holkar bought the victory dear, although he captured 20 guns. In

Amir Khin’s memoirs it is stated that 200 Europeans were killed in

the battle, which the editor, in a footnote, explains “ probably in-

eluded all elasses of Christians, go that the number slain may have

been nearly as stated in the text”; bub this appears very doubtful,

and the sportive fancy of the Amir’s biographer, Basawan Lil, probably

added a redundant cipher to the night hand of the total. Hessing’s

camp was plundered and an immense booty of stores, elephants,

horses, kettle-drums, and standards fell into the hands of the victors

in addition to the guns. The next day the cily of Ujjain was given

over to pillage, and sacked with all the thoroughness pecnliar to

Asiatie frecbooters, gifted with a genius for the discovery of cachés

and secret hiding-places.

Holkar’s prestige was enormously increased by the victory of Ujjain,

and overtures for an alliance were now made to him by Lakwa Dada,

the champion of the Bhais, who, although wounded, was still able fo

intrigue. This chief proposed s, combination between Ali Bahadur,

of Bundelkhand, Jaswant Rio Holkar, and himself against Sindhia,

and a formidable alliance was thus promoted, which seriously threatened

the great house of Ujjain.

Sindhia was at Burhanpur when news reached him of the disaster

that had overwhelmed Hessing’s brigade, “Tce writhed in an agony

of vexation and rage at hearing of it,” writes the quaint native historian

already guoted. Ilis first act was to send orders to Perron at Delhi

to hurry to his support. The moment was eritical, Every day helped
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to fan into fame the mouldering embers of long peulup hatred and

jealousy that existed against hin in the Deccan, and Daulat Tio

urged on Perron the supreme necessity of using every exertion in

bringing his brigades south, and simultaneously reealled to bis head-

quarters the troops he had left at Poounh to maintain his authority

there. These included 10,000 Marith’ cavalry under Ghatkay Rao,

and the remaining five battalions of the first brigade under Colouc!

Robert Sutherland. As soon as they joined, Sindhia’s confidence began

to return, and he only awaited Perron’s arrival to inflict a crtshine

Liow on the baseborn upstart of the rivil Louse wlio had lowered his

pride and defeated is regular infautry.



CHAPTER Y¥,

THE WAR WITH GHKORGE THOMAS,

1801.

GOUT the middle of 1801 2 danger which had for some time past

been troubling Perron began to assume formidable proportions.

This was the singular rise to power of George 'Thomas, whose history

has already been related. Botween the two adycnturers enmity had

long existed, for they were antagonistic ut every point and huted each

other as cordially as Briton and Frenchman could hate at that period,

Perron was both jealous aud fearful of Thomas's increasing influence,

which had been greatly augmented by the recent brilliant campaign

against the Sikls of the Sutlcj Stutes. More than once during the

past year the Kronchman had maile a sly attack on Jhajjar territory,

thereby raising the wrath and indignation of its master. A

common instinct told both that sooner or later their differences would

linve to be decided by the sword, und the Trishman, with whom there

was never any time like the present for fighting, was getting ready for

the fray. Perron, on his part, having disposed of Lakwa Dida, felt

himself free to approach this new difficulty. For somes time past he

had urged on Sindhia the necessity of crushing Thomas's power, and

a treaty had been approved by the chief, framed with the object of

reducing Jowreuy Jung to a position of subordination to Perron. To

iinpose this treaty upon Thomas, Perron came to Delhi in Junc, 1801,

and wrote to him to send a vakilto confer on the inatter, Thomas,

who had concluded peace with the Sikhs, and withdrawn 1o his capital

to prepare himself for resistance, in view of a possible rupture, co far

acquiesced in Perron’s wish as to depute an agent to attend the

General.

Such was the condition of affairs on the 8th of Jwy, when the

battle of Ujjain occurred, and Sindhia ordered Perron to proceed at

once to the Deccan with two complete brigades and all the Hindustani

268
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horse. This was tantamount to the evacuation of Hindustan, for

comphance with these orders would have left Upper India defenceless,

saving for a few garrison troops.

But Hindustan was as completely under Perron’s sway as his own

Jaidad, for it was held and controlled by the army le commanded.

Although for the sake of form lie cited the Murperor’s name as

authority for his actions, and from tine to time, at Darby, confessed

himself Sindhia’s Lumble and obediont servant, Perron was tho

paramount lord and niaster of the country so long as his brigudes

were at lis back. And now tliese brigades were smumoned to the

south.

Jt was impossible to let them go: to proceed there himself would

be an act of abdication. Iis own duty und Sindhia’s sore distress

had no weight in his mind wile that terrible Irishman paraded his

troops and won lis victories on the western confines of Delhi, What

maitered Danlat Raéo’s danger, when danger threatened Perron ?

Charity begins at home, and the former must be mvt with temporising

promises, the latter with the brigades, unless perchance—it was a

brilliant idea that occurred to him —he could induce Thomas to under-

take the fighting in the Deccan, and leave him, with his troops

intact, in Hindustan.

For some time past it had beon apparent thet the General was nealuct-

ing Sindhia’s interests and consulting only his own. ‘This behaviour was

confirincd now, for on receiving Daulat Lio’s orders tu proceed to his

aid Perron at once lapsed into protestations, andl with these beyan

‘and ended his response to lis master’s appeal. His sense of loyalty

and his sentiments of gratitude toa prince wlio hat loaded him with

favours and raised him to his high station were lost i apprehensious

of his own danger, and with a supreme selfishness le sacrificed

everything to his own interests.

‘There exists a very detailed record of Perrou’s behaviour, during this

critical period of Sindhia’s affairs, in some Persian Afbars, or uews-

papers, printed at the time, and the following extracts, thrown into a

narrative torm, exhibit the true character of the man of whom they

treat.

The chronicle commences on the 28th of Junc, 1801, when intima-

tion was received at Delhi that Thomas had made peace with the

Sikhs, and was preparing for hostilities with Perron, trom whom he

had just received proposals for a politieal arrangement, Tn the success

of thesa Thomas evidently had very little fuith, for le epened com-

munications with Lakwa Dida, who was in Datia territory, pro-

posing an alliance against tle Frenchman.
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Ten days later, un the 8th of July, Perron received infurmation of

the defeat of Hessing at Ujjain, and simultaneously urgent orders

reached him from Sindhia to march to the Deecan with his brigades.

To these he sent » reply saying he wonld start at once. On the

15th of the month he moved out one stuge from Delhi, with the

ostensible intention of preeceding south, but having encamped at

Livahpula, retusiued there fist, showing no inchuation te continue

his march, Here, on the 19th, he received a visit from Bapu Sindbia,

his deputy-governor in the Saharanpur province. As this district

adjoined Thomas's territory and that of the Sikhs with whom he had

recently been at war, apn was certainly the person mosi qualified to

afford information about Thomas, to obtain which was probably the

reason of his being summoned to attend Perron, for a Jong ‘ con-

suitation ’ was reported to have taken place, The following day

Perron returned to Delhi with fonr of his Luropean officers, and went

through the formal ceremony of being “admitted to the presence ” of

the Emperox, to whom the usnal offerings were presented, and trom

whom the customary gifts were, In turn, received.

For the next fortuight Perron remained at Delhi, trying to bring to

an issue the negotiations with Thomus, for on the 7th of August it

was publicly given cut that “the General was diverted from his

purpose of marching to Seindia’s aid by tmportant business nogotia-

tious with Thomas, by whieh he hopes te obtain four of that person’s

battalions and 20,000 Sikli horsemen to send to Oujein.’? And yet in

the very same issue il is stated that “on Perrou’s speedy arrival

depends the fate of Seindia, whose situation has becume critical.”

On the 8th of August Perron “ called in his detachments,” and it

was notified that “ immediately after his interview with Thomas the

Gencral intends to march against Holker.” Another duy passed, and

he wrote to one of his native ollicials that “after two or three days,

having adjusted matters of great urgency, I will set out to join

Seindia.” On the same date, with his usual punctilio in revenue col-

lections, Le sent a warning to the Rajah of Jaipur ta be up to time in

the payment of his tribute.

Four days later the receipt of another urgent letter from Sindhia

was announced, which conveyed the information that Holluw’s army

was vuly fifleen miles distant, and that many of Danlat Uio’s chiefs

had deserted to tho enenty, and once more urged Perron to join lim

with all speed. On the 10th of August ramours reached Doli that

matters were still morc critical, ‘ull the Decenn chicls having joined

Jeswunt Rie Holker,” but still Perron made no sign of starting, for

negotiations with Thomas were coming to a head, and his whole
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attention was monopalised by them. The next day he moved ont to

Sitaram Ka Serai, near Bahadurgarh, where an interview took place

between him and Jowraj Ting. 11 appears to have been hedged

about with the ceremonial and dilatoriness of Oriental diplomacy, for

a week lator he was still at the same place.

The next entry oceurs on the Sth of September. The Emperor

Shah ‘Alam having constantly inquired, “ When is General Perron

going to Oojcin?” and as constantly been informed, “In twa or

three days,” relieved himself of the sage opinion that “he did not

think the General showed any intention of going at all!” and almost

atthe same date Rajah Partab Sinch, of Jaipur, who had evidently

been following Perron's movements with a profonnd interest, an-

nouncnil in open court that his agent at Delbi had written him saying

that ‘* Perron liolds ferth an intention of joining Seindia, but that in

reality he entertains no such design, and has commenced a secret

correspondence with Lueckwadada.” Commenting on which the Rajah

observed that ‘the General seems to have detached himself from

Seindia, and hag not acted well in s0 doing.”

This side-light thrown on the negotiations between Perron and

Thomas is interesting, in so far as ih suggests a reason why the latter

was disappointed later on in receiving the assistance he expected from

Lakwa Dada, whose notoriously treacherous character would be quite

equal fo encouraging Thomas to resist, and ecaming to a seerct under-

standing with, Perron to stand neutral.

On the 12th of September ib was reparted thal Perron waa going to

the camp of Ali Raladur, one of the allies in the confederation against

Sindhia, to settle certain affairs, and about the same time the report

of his negotiations with Lakwa Dida was confvued.

Ow tie 16th of September Perron reburned to Delhi, all attempla to

some to an understanding with Thomas haviug proved futile. Shortly

after hig arrival he paid lis respecis to the Emperor, Lut “on receiving

an express went off fo Coel.” A week later it was reported at the

capital that Daulat Rio Sindhia continned repeatedly writing to

Perron, urging him by every wmicuns tn his power to help him, and wag

at the same time so sanguine of response that he “ only” awaited the

arrival of the General ta attack Ilalkar, fb is tustenetive to read,

side by side with this, that “it ix publicly reported in Tindustan that

General Perron has withdrawn from the contest with Jeswant lo

Halker!”

On the 26th of September Praveon, Commandant of the fort of

Delhi and enstodian of the Mmperor’s person, received a Tettor from

Perron, the contents of which lie made known, hey were tu the
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effect that Perron’s “wish had been to remain at Delhi, bub the

necessity of sending troops io Daulat Rio Sindhia obliged him to

repair suddenty to Koil, and he kad sent @ brigade, with military

stores and ammunition, to Daulat Rao.”

Ilere, at last, he seems to have awakened to a sense of his duty,

but, as will presenily be seen, the good intention withered in the

bud.

On the 20th of September came the news of the defeat of Captain

Smith's foree at Georgegarl. by Thomas, followed two days later by

alarming intelligence of a sanguinary battle, in which Bourguien and

his brigade had been defeated and Jost 3,000 men, whilst the Irishman

had regaincd Georgegarh, and was in possession of it. No sooner did

Perrou hear of this than he sent immediate orders to Drugeon at

Delhi to entertain fresh levies, despatched Pedron to the front with

reinforcements of five battalions, and ordered George Hessing, who

had evidently arrivad at Agra from Ujjain, to march to Bourguien’s

assistance with four battalions. At the same time he collected all the

available troops at Koil, and gave out that he intended to take the

command in person againsb Thomas.

The total force at this Lime under Perron’s command in ilindustan

consisted of three brigades of infantry, 5,000 Hindustani horse, and

the garrison troops, Of these, two brigades—the third under Bourguien

and the fourth under Pedron—aud most of the cavalry were employed

against Thomas at Georgegarh, It is probable that Pedron’s brigade

was (he one which Perron informed Drugcon * had been sent” to

Ujjain. But it is possible that when le so wrote he was veferring to

the second brigade, under Pohlman, whose headquarters wore at Mattra.

Whichever if was it is very ccriain that neither proceeded very far

towards the destination indicated. Pedrou’s, as has been shown, was

diverted to Georgegarh, and for Pohhnan’s there was a more remarkable

task assigned, It appears that some time previous to this Perron, in

the novel capacity of a pawnbroker, had ient Partih Singh, of Jaipur,

a large sum of money, for the sceurily of which the Hajah had pledged

his jewels. Perron now wanted his money back. If is not difficult

to conjecture what donbts and fears were passing through his mind

and making him anxious to realise his capital. And it is evident that

the recovery of lis eash was a far more important business in his eyes

than the relief of Sindlia, for Pohlman, who might certainly have been

spared for the Deccan, was deputed, instead, to perform bailitf’s work,

and obtain from Vartib Singh an immediate settlement of his reconnt,

under pain of his territory being laid waste,

ii is interesting to observe how Pohlman performed this honourable
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commission, Having summoned Partih Singh to pay up, he did not

wait for a reply, bué added a peint to his demand by marching from

Chaksu to Hardru, where he began plundering the country a few

miles sonth of Jaipur. The Rajah at onee sent Poliiman tho halanee

of his debt, amounting to 11s.95,000, and asked for the restoration of

his jewels. But he was met with a counterclaim from the bailiff

reueral in possession of his couatry, who presonted a statement of

aeecount showing a balance of two lakhs of rupees. ‘Che debtor denied

the correctness of the fivures, as debtors unskilled in the easting of

campound interest are apt to do in India, and his agents refused to

part with the money they had brought, especially after eliciting from

Pohiman the acknowledgimeit that he had nob got the jewels with

hint, but had sent for them, and expected them to arrive in four or

five days. ‘This delay allowed an extension of time for pillaging, and

Pohlman restted the congenial work wnlil the Rajah bought him off

with a payment of Rs.40,000 on account. Whereupon Poliliman con-

sonted to hold his hand, and marelied south to Tonk—an outlying

district belonging te Wolkar-—where he expelled the garrison from the

chief town and took possession of it.

Returning now to Delhi, news was received there on the 8th of

October of the death of Emiling Velix Smith, just as Drugeon

was sending off 200 newly raised cayulry to the front, On the

ith Perron, who was still at Koil, was reported to have severely

eeusured Bourguien for his misconduct of the campaign, and super-

seded him by Pedron, ‘ who will now liave a chanee of displaying

his valour.” Detween this and the 25th of October there were

constant reports of Thomas’s fhrave defence (which have been

incorporated in the sketch of his life), and on the latter date Perron,

never unmindfal of the main chance, called upon the Rajah of Jaipur

to pay up his tribute, promising, it ho did se punetnally, that, as soon

as Thomas was reduced, he would march into the Hajah’s territory and

put Lim in possession of certain revolted districts, in fulfilment of a

promise previously given. Ga hearing which VParlih Singh, who

was a prinee ever ja trouble with his own tribularios, sadly observed

that General Perron Jind entered into many similar enzngements,

but never performed any of them, aud thal he regarded nothing but

his own interests.’ Which, on the face of it, seemed a reasanabla

remark to make.

Buch is the tale of Perron’s invratitude, faithlessness, and treachery

diselosed by the Persian newspapers of the period. Nor are alt these

reports mere idle gossip, emanating fram irresponsible sources, for in

the majority of instances the authority quoted is that of Mohan Lal
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Perron’s own vakil, or agent, resident with the Emperor, whose duty

it was to daily report lis master’s actions to the King of Kings. The

truth was that Perron not only had uo intention of assisting Sindhia,

but even desired that he should be hard pressed by Holkar. This is

confirmed by a letter from Colonel Collins, the Nesident at Daulat Rio's

Court, to the Governor-general, in whieh the following passage ocenrs,

which bears upon the events just recorded :—

“Tho Mahratta Chicts and Sirdars, envious of Perran, do uot seruple

to affirm that he by no means wishes the total ruin of Holker, since

in this event Scindia would be unable to vepaiy to Hindostan to take

upon himeclf the chief direction of affairs in that quarter. . . . General

Perron has been given to understand that he must relinquish the

collection of all the districts which he now possesses in Hindostan,

excepting those appertaining to his Jaidad, the annual revennes of

which are estimated at 40 Jnkhs, while at present the General

collects nearly 80.”

Tt must here he observed that Colonel Collins under-estimated very

considerably the annual collections made by Perron, towards whom, it

may be added, he entertained a very friendly feeling. Moreover, the

inference that Perron’s reported desire for Holkar’s suecess wers to

be traced to the envy and malice of unscrupulous Maritha chiefs seems

unjust. Perron’s own actions afforded very strong grounds for this

anspicion, which is amply corroborated by the day-to-day record of

his doings betweon the 28thof June and the 15th of October of the year

undor review. No one who lias followed his sinnous course during

these four months ean have any doubts left as to his real character.

He was no longer * the brave and faithful soldier” ha once had been,

but a traitor, who had thrown off all diseuise, and was fighting for bis

own hand alone. His greed of power and gold had overshadowed

everything else, and he cared not bow desperate was the cause of the

master who had lavished so many favonrs on him and raised him to

so high an estate when his own paltry lakh of rupees was at stake.

There was ample work for the army of Hindustan in erushing that

defiant Irtshman, who could not comprehend the-meaning of defeat,

at Georgegarh ; but if, perehance, a brigade conld be spared, it

might, iu Perron’s epinion, be utore profitably employed in doing

bailiffs work in Rajputena than in propping up the tottering power

of Daulat R4éo Sindhia in the Decean.

Sindhia’s position waa indeed eritical while all this procrastina-

tion was going on. The alliance against him was overwhelming,

for Rapuji Bhonsla of Berar, a chief of the first magnitnde in

the Marithi Confederation, had decided to join Holkay, Lakwa
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Dada, Ali Bahadur, and all the Tesser chiefs who were leagned

against Danlat Rae, The only person of imporlance who remained

true to Sindhia, was bis generilissimo, Ambaji Inglia, who was in

the neighbourhood of Javaru, where his battalions, under Jaines

Shepherd, were successfully holding Lakwa Dada in cheek.

Bindhia, in this distressfnl situation, was anxions to stay the storm

his ambition had been mainly instrninental in raising; but the

Peshwi, who had sided with his enemies, refused to listen to any

overtures for reconciliation, until Daulat Rio had made peace with

the Bhais, who continued as yreatly incensed ag over against their

nephew. Moreover, Baji Rao deuanded 9 naceiiita, or peace

offering, of fifteen lakls of rupees, and this was highly inconvenient to

Sindhia, who was in his chronic state of impocuniosity, and engaged

in a costly campaign. There seemed, indeed, to be more money in

Jaswant To's camp than in his tival’s, for the former was constantly

sending remittances and reinforcements to Lakwa Dida, with which

to oppose Ambaji’s attack and Verron’s anticipaled march from

Delhi to Ujjain, it being taken foy granted that the General, as he had

publicly announced, would al oneo proceed to his master’s assistance.

At Agra, Colonel John Hessing beld the fort, but he was so weakened

by the despatch of his son and the fonr battalions to Georgegarh, that

he was utterly unable to help Sindlia, and, on the contrary, was

continually urging Perron to send Jim reinforeements as Lakwa

Dada’s intrigues had created great disturbances in his government.

In short, as far as Tlindustan war eoncerned, there seemed to he no

possible hope of help reaching Sindliia so long as Thomas held out

and monopclised the attention of 16,000 reenlay infantry and tlio

Hindustani lorse.

Bat now, when matters were ab their worst and nothing but

danger, difficulty, and disappointmont seemed to anrromnd Sindlita, a

saviour arose In his own eamp, in tie person of Robert Sutherland,

Colonel-Commandant of the first brigade. Jt will be remembered that

after De Boigne’s resignation Sutherland tried hard to obtain his post,

but fortnne had been against lim and Perron won the prize. The

competition left a feeling of hatred and jealousy in Perron’s heart,

whielt had on more than one oecasion influenced his treatinent of the

Seotchman. Ansious to expel him from Tlindustan, he liawd manu-

fucturell a charge against him of entering into treasonable cor-

rerpondence with Sinditia’s cnemies, aud found in it an exense to

transfer him to the Deeean, giving the command of his brignde to

Pollman. Sutherland had been jinpotent to do anything but obey.

But the very measure intended to punish and undo him, now gave
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tho Scotchman the opportunity of proving lis merit, for he found

himself filling the chicf post of defence at his master’s side, which

Perron had basely declined.

For nearly three months after the battle of Ujjain Sindhia did

little but wait for Perron to arrive, and endeavour, by every means in

his power, to strengthen his forces, At last he gave wp all hope of

assistance from Hindustan, and determined to try and retrieve his

fortones with such means as he had at his disposal. On the 24th of

September he crossed the Narbada, on the south bank of which he had

been compulsorily encamped since the rainy season commenced, and

entered Malwa with eight battalions of Sutherland’s brigade and four

of Filoze’s. A week later he formed a junction with 14,000 Maratha

hoyse and eneainped on the banks of the Koiah Sind Miver. Here he

remained with his heavy baggage, sending Sutherland forward to

avenge the sacking of Ujjain by retuliating on Holkar's capital of

fodore, an undertaking which the troops approached in the highest

gpirite.

Jaswant Rao immediately advanced towards the defence of his

capital, and on the 15th of October the two armies met outside its

walls. The Indore force consisted of ten battalions of regular infantry,

5,000 Rohillas, 12,000 Maritha cavalry, and 15,000 Pathin horse under

Amir Khin. But Holkar was without Muropean officers, which was

a serious loss to him, The reason of this is nob very clear: according

to one authority ho had dismissed all in his employ an tho suspicion

that they were unfaithful to lim; but Major Ambrose, an officer in his

service, states that he was “deserted” by his Europeans just before

this action, and that this was the eause of his defeat,

After sending off lis bagzagea nnd reserves to the further side of

Indore, Wolkar, during the night, changed #rovnd, and placed the

city between him and the enemy, taking post beliind a deep ravine to

the north of it, and training bis guna so as to sweep this defence,

whilst Amir Khan, with 15,000 horse, threatened the enlemy’s rear from

u place about five miles distant.

Sutherland commenced the attack on Iolkar's position early on the

morning of the Mth, lis twelve battalions moving briskly forward,

animated by a determination to avenge their officers and comrades

slain at Ujjain. Owing to the change of ground made by the enemy
during the night, Sutherland was obliged to mancenvre his army io

the right, over some difficult and broken country, before he could form

it in line of battle for attack, and it wis not until three o'clock in the

afternoon that the retion began. Having detached his Marithd

cavalry to keep Amir Khan iu check, the Colonel advanced againet the
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nullah whieh protected TWfolkar, and was met with a tremendous

fire from 95 guns. But it could not stay the steady anid irre-

sistible assaulé of the regular battalions, who forced the ravine and

captured the guns in their position, At this eritieal moment

Amir Khéu, having defoated the Marithi cavalry, came charging

down to the reliefof Jaswant Rao. Whercupou Sutherland boldly

faecal round with a portion of jis foree and opened 2 heavy fire of

grape and round shot upon the Pathan as he was strugeting through

the ravine front whieh the brigade had just emerged, and the Amir’s

horse being killed he fell to the ground; whereipon his men,

supposing him dead, took flight. ‘This was the trning-point of the

battle. Sutherland’s infantry now stormed Hoikar’s cntrenchmenis,

which they carried splendidly, and by six o'clock in the evening the

vistory was won and the enemy dispersed in full flight. Holkar lost

alf lis guns, 160 tumbrils,.and his bageage, and, attended by his

¢avalry, fled headlong to Maheswar; and the next morning Sindhia’s

standard fleated over Indore, and Ujjain was avenged. An

incident happened in this battle, mention of which should not be

omitted. Tidele Viloze, who comiuanded four of the battalions

engaged, belonging to his brigade, had a short while before entered

jnlo a traitorous correspondence wilh Holkar, and when the aelion

commenced, with a dastardly treachery, fired into Sutherland's troops,

Happily this diabolical act failed in its intention, and the perpetrator

was apprehended and confined in prison, where ho shorily after-

wards comnitted suicide. Sutherland’s loss at Tudore was 400 men

killed and wounded. It is needless to add that Holkar's capital was

thoroughly pillaged, and, indeed, rased to the ground by Sindhia’s

predatory horse, who, however useless in fight, were masters of the

art of extracting the last grain of rice from any cily given over to

thein to loot,

The victory of Indore might have been turned into a decisive battle

of Maratha history by Sindhia if he had followed up his advantage.

But he over-estimeted his snecess, aud deluded himself into the idea

that Jaswant Rio’s power was crushed out, But this was not the

case, and Daulat Rio's impradent assnmption led to the gravest

yesnits. Holkar and his fidds achetes, Aunty Khin, soon resumed their

fonner coarse of agereasion nnd plinier, attracting to their camp all

the discontented soldicry in Central India, so titat it quickly became

filled with rude and reckless freelooters, who exo to be known by the

generie term of Pindaris, and whose deeds and misdecds during the

next cightecn years laid desolate raany of the fairest provinecs of tlic

peninsula, and constituted a period to which the natives gave the
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expressive appellation of the Gardi-ha-Wakhé, or, “Time of Trouble.”

No longer able to pay his troops, Holker gave therm free license to

support themselves by plunder, though he continned to keep up his

rezular infantry, who, after Dudrence's desertion to Perron, which

shortly took place, found a gallant leader in the person of a youn

Fnglish officer named Vickers.

Yind)iia’s unexpected sucecss in the Deccan gave Perron breathing

space; but the relief was only temporary, and the effects that followed

very serious. Ina short time his personal forhimes were a8 seriously

threatened as Danlat Rao’s had been lefore Sutherland's victory.

Thomas still continued to hold ont at Georgeparh, with that un-

conquorable spirit of his thal upset all caleulations. And now

Colonel Sutherland’s star was in the ascendant, and the distrust and

jealousy with which Perron regarded this officer were intensified to

an enormous degree, and he even began to be fearful of being

supplanted by the Scotchman, who had been lis rival in the past.

As yet he could do nothing to avert the threatened danger, for he

dared not leave Hindusian while Thomas was uniefealed, And so

he vacillated in an agony of indecision, nnceriain whether to proceed

to the west and pné bis fortunes to the test of an assaulf on the

fortified camp that was resisting all Pedron’s endeavours, or to hurry

to the south and re-establish his infisence at Sindhia’s Court,

On the 10th of November Georgegarh fell, but even as Perron was

congratulating himself on his long-deferred suecess, he hoard of

Vhomas’s escape to Hainsit. ‘The eapture of the man was far more

important than the eapture of his cutlying camp, and the vietory was

robbed of tis chief importanee by the failure to obtaia possession of

Thomas's person. Then came tidings of the fresh resistance al

Hanst, avd the knowledge that the task of seizing Thomas had been

contided ta Bourgmien. The ineapacity of this officer was known to

Perron, and he sickened at beart as he reflected Low his interests

were in the keeping of 2 man who had always failed in every task

allotted to him. Week afier weck Perron waited, in feverish ansiety,

at Koil, eagerly drinking in the daily news from the seat of war,

elevated for a moment when he heard of some temporary siiecess,

depressed again when reverses were reported: hugging himself with

joy when he learnt that Jowrnj Jung had beon beaten back into his

citadel, downeast when it was made evident that there was still fight

left in the terrthle Irishman.

To add to his troubles the constant messages that continued to

arrive from Daulab Rio were now conched in very different language

to that affected before the battle of Indore. In their growing



THE WAL WITH GEORGH THOMAS. 269

insistence there were ominous expressions of anger; tliey were no

longer appeals, but sharp commauds, with a warning ring in them

that indicated danger and menace.

The teusion was terrible, but at last the reprieve came. Bourguien

the incompetent, for the first time in lis life, was guilty of achieve-

menb Thonus surrendered. The news reached loil early in

January, 1802, and with a great gusp of relicl Perron heard that lis

enemy had been delivered into Lis bands.



CHAPTER VI.

PERRON VISITS UJJAIN. THE BATTLE UF POONAH,

1802.

HE defeat of Thomas and destruction of his power cleared a very

scrious danger from Perron’s path and left him free to concen-

trate his cndeavours on re-establishing his interest at Sindhia’s Court.

Whilst the Irishman was undefented it was Perron’s policy to belittle

his importance, but after the fall of Hansi the vanquished adventurer

becnme a national enemy, who had threatened the disintegration of

the Marithi Empire, and in his letters to Sindhia Perron made as

much of his victory over Thomas as if he had defeated a Cassar or an

Alexander.

The reason of this change cf opinion was not far to seek. Porron

wanted an excuse bo explain bis lone and systematic disobedience of

Sindhia’s orders to march to the Deccan. The campaign against

Thomas offered a plausible exeulpation, and the more he extolled its

_inportance the greater credit would be reflected on himself for

destroying such a formidable public enemy. Moreover, Perron was

now as anxious to proceed to Ujjain as he had before been unwilling.

Colonel Collins, the English resident, liad recently joined Danlat

Rao’s cainp, and Perron distrusted him, fearing he might have come to

initiate a poliev hostile to the brigades, similar to that under which,

four years previously, the Lritish Government bad broken up and dis-

banded Raymond’s corps at Haidarabad, This was one of the

reasons that made a visit to Ujjain necessary, whilst another was

Perron’s jealousy of Sutherland, who, since the batile of Indore, had

risen high in Sindhia’s favour—a state of affairs highly detrimental to

fhe General, since the Scotclinan was next to him in seniority, In

fact Perron felt it was imperative to counteract the growing influence

of this successful subordinate, who already held their master’s ear,

and at the same time learn the real tenor of Colonel Collins’s instrue-

tions, and so he determined to proceed to the south.

270
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Matters in Hindustan were uow in a fairly settled state, LBourgaien’s

brigade had overawed the Sikh country, and that bold brigadier was

engaged in levying tribute from his recent allies, wider guise of

collecting » contribution towards the expenses of tho way, so thub the

cost of expelling Thomas was defrayed by the chiefs of Patitla, Jind,

and Kaithal, At Delhi Drageon kept watch end ward over the blind

Empcror—a close one, too, in every sense of tle word, for in January

of this yeer Shah ‘Alam wrote to Studia in terms of mild

remonstrance, saying that “ Although General Perron cerluinly made

a monthly remittauce of the royal stipend, it would still be more

agreeable if Dowlut Rao woukt do so himself, under hia own

immediate supervision.” Pedron had returned to Isoil with the

fourth brigade (for the command of which the Chevalier Dudrenec

had lately been enyaged), and George Hessing to Agra, with his four

battalions, to reinforee bis father in command there. All things

were in order, and Perron could safely be spared, His departure

was accelerated by a reporl which found publiciby in the Persian

akbars at Delhi in February to the effect that “Dowlat Nao Seindia

had several times written to General Vorron requiring his personal

attendance, but without effect; and that His Highness was accord-

ingly so nich exasperated at the General's neglect of orders, that he

instantly broke and dishauded the regiments under his enmmand.”

This was the climax, and at the end of the iuonth Perron left Koil,

and, escorted by his bodyguard of SUU horse, started for Ujjain. A

letter written by him at this period is given in the appendix of

M. St. Genis’ “ Life of De Boigne.” and the tollowing translation of

it may convenicnily be inserted here :-—

“Camp BANDARLS,

* Hebruary 25, 1802.

“My pean Gunxurat,—-Since your depurlure from this couniry

there have been nothing Lut troubles. lour years ago the widows of

the old Prince fled from their nephew, the reigning l’riuce, and

collecled a considerable force in opposition to him,

“Three years ago Luckwadnda, who also imrned traitor to ihe

Prince, took the part of the widows. I wus obliged to march against

these two factions who opposed us. Huving brought them to action 1

was fortunate enough to defeat them. Luckwadida was wounded

in the battle, and since hia defeat the widows have potitigned the

Prinec to grank them terms.

“He has just pardoned them, and they lave returned to their

allegiance. Luckwadddw died of bis wounds; had he gol the better

of mse he would never have spared me,
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“Jeswunt Réo, of the house of Holker, has also been at war with

the Prince for tue last two years. He is plundering and desolating

the country everywhere, and I amon the march against lim with my

cavalry.

*“ A man named George Thomas, who tovk advantage of my stay in

tha Deccan to raise a party of 12,000 men with GO guus, seized a

considerable traet of territory ou the Sikh frontier, where he built 4

strong fort and devastated all the countryside even up to the walls

of Delhi, I was obliged to destroy his forse with my third brigade,

and I have allowed the scoundrel tu go, but proliibited bim from

again entering the Prince's territory.

“You are a soldicr, iny dear General, and you know that we

always lose brave soldiers in the titue of war. M. Rostock, whom you

recommended to ic, was killed at the baltlie of Indore. M. Bernier,

one of the best and bravest officers. in the brigades, met the same

fate; also the younger Sinith, Nonelly, your protcgé, and several

others whoni you de not know.

“At the present moment the Prince has only Joswant Rao to

subdue tu assure complete peace in hig immense possossions. The

brigades, of which you yourself, my dear General, were the

creator, and ju which your name is daily invoked, are as etlicient as

ever. It isin reality you who have conquered this immense territory.

“Tollowing your example in the discipline which I insist on, and

whieh is not only most necessary for an army, but the basis of its

suceess, 1 have been everywhere victorious wilh the brigades. My

command is made happy by the attachment and confidcace whieh. the

troops express for ime, and Ty haye always won, romaining muster of

the situation even uuder the most critical circumstances.

“ You recommended M. Drugeon toms, A year ago I reinstated

him in the brigudes, but in consideration of the ability which you

know he possesses, I appointed him to an even more honourable

situation than any L could have given hi in the army itself. I have

made him Governor of the fort of Delhi and guardian of the

Emperor's person. in giving him this post I have overlooked his

former shortcomings, and 1 fcel perfectly compensated by the intorest

you take in his welfare.

“Yes; I will receive with pleasure any one whom you may

recommend for an appointment in the brigades. My friendship for

you demands this, aud it is also due to you as the creator of the brave

soldiers who compose tis foree. IL is the least I can do for you, and

both ny duty and gratitude require that I should not fpil in fulfilling

your wishes. “ CUILLIER Pros.”
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Atter forming a junction with Polilman’s brigade on the road,

Perron marched to Ujjain, which he reached on the 20th of

Mayreh; 1802. Colonel Subtherland’s brigade arrived at the same

time from an expedition to the Bayinda River, where it had boen

employed.

The story of Perron’s reception at Sindhia’s Court is so graphically

-Yrelated in Colonel Skinner's memoirs that the account must be

borrowed in extensa, This is how it runs :—

“ His reception was not of a nature to eratify an otlicer like Perron.

Tt was not until the 25th that he was invited to call upon the

Maharajah, and then, having proceeded to durbar with 200 horsemen,

he was kept waiting at the gates for two hours while Scindia was

amusing himself by flying kites. Nota chief camo ont to moet him,

while be satin company with certain discontented chiefs of note, among

whom was old Gopal Rio Bhow, who was at the head of the army,

This officer, addressing Perron, said, “Observe to what the old

Pateil’s reign has come! Good soldiers are all forgotten: none but

dirty time-servers and flattererg can get on. But mark my words, ho

will soon find out hig error, but uot until too late to mend it Vo

this Perron replied that ho was but a servant, and all he know was to

obey. This sort of conversation went on until the choleedare announeed

the approach of Seindia, when wa all rose, and Perron went up and

presented his nuzzwr. Scindia just toucled it, and asked him if he

was well; fo which Perron made the sialreply, ‘By your favour,’

and then we all in turn presented our nuzzura, and wera desired to

sit down,

“Tn half an hour Sciudin dismissed the durbar, and desired

Perron to return to camp, which he did, completely disgusted with tho

cold and slighting reception he had received from his master. Eight

days now passed without the slightest notice or message from Seindia

to Perron, and Gopal Rao Bhow, a great friend of the latter, signified

to him he had best be on his guard, as the Maharajah had resolved

to lay hold of him. Several seerct visits passed at this time between

Perron and Gopal Rao Bhow, whilst Colonel Sutherland and Major

Brownrigg were intriguing against Lhe former.

“Perron, aware of tho intrigues of his enemiex, became depressed

and porturbed, when at length matters seemed likely to le brought to

a crisis. A day was appointed for holding a durbar, to which Perron

and all his Kuropean officers wero invited. At the durbar Seindin,

together with his fathor-in-law, Bhirzco Rao Ghatkay, had formed a

plot to lay hold of him, aud had employed 500 Pathans, bolonging to

Babadhur Khan, a chief then at Malaghur, and several others of his

18
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own favourites and companions in vice and debauchery to carry the

purpose into effect.

* Perron, however, was made aware of this plot, and ordered all the

native offiecrs of both brigades, as low as the rank of jemadar, as

well as all the European officers, to come fully armed to altend his

visit to Scindia. Our full uniform included a brace of pistols

attached to our sword-belia; aud theso he directed us to bring loaded.

We amounted in all to 300 native and 380 European officers, and

in this state of preparation marched to the durbar, which was held

in a large tent pitched for the occasion.

“At the hour of nine in the morning, headed by Perron, we

yeached the tent. Scindia rose to receive us, and we all presented

our nuzzars. We were then directed to sit down on the left side of

the presence, the right being ceeupied by the Pathina, who regarded

us very fiercely. When we were seated, Scindia, turning to Porron,

observed that the invitation had been extended to himself and his

European officers only, to which Perron replied that in arranging his

suite he had only followed the old rule laid dewn by himself and his

uncle; aud this answer silenced lim, All this time we sat quiet,

eyeing each other, whilst much whispering went on between Seindia,

Gopal Rao, and Shirzee Hao. I believe it was Gopal Rao whe

persuaded him not to attempt any violence, for that not only himself,

but the whole party would be eut to pieces by the fine body of men

whom Perron had brought in. ‘

“Sceindia then ordered the Pathans to retire, and they all got up,

looking as if they would eat us, while our men aat laughing at them

with the most perfect unconcern.

“When they were gone Scindia and Shirzee Raéo began to flatter and

endeavoured to throw Perron off his guard. But he, assisted as he

was by his old friend Gopal Rio, was too old a soldier to ba so

cajoled ; and so khiluts were ordered for us all, and alter receiving

them we presented our nuzeurs, which Scindia graciously aecepted.

Beetul was then handed round, and we received leave to retire.

“Perron then got up, and taking off his sword, laid it down at

Scindia’s feet, saying that he had grown old in the service, and that

it did not become him to be disgraced by dissolute knaves and bullies ;

that all he wanted was his discharge. Then, addressing us, he said

that henceforth we must lock to Scindia, for that he, for his part,

was too old now to brook affronts and mustretire, Scindia on this rose

and embraced Perron, telling him that he regarded him as his unele,

and that he had no idca what offended him. Compliments withaut

measure passed between both parties, but on taking loave Perron
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cautioned Scindia to beware of Shirzoo Rao Ghatkay, for he would bo

hia ruin—a caution in which all the old Mahratta chiefs joined cordially

and applauded the part which Verron had taken.

“ At length we reached camp, where several days were occupied in

the transmission of messages to and from ithe Court, and in visits

from chieftains who were sent to make mattcra up. But Perron was

too indignant to be pacified. Colonel Sutherland in the meantime

was sent to the second brigado and Colonel Pohlman to the first,

while Major Brownrigg was put in arrest under fixed bayonets. On

the 15th of April Perron marched with the second brigade for

Hindostan.”

The light in which Perron’s conduct is here depicted is a very

favourable one, bué Skinner was somewhat of a partisan officer, and

allowaneco niust be made for his sympathies, and also for a certain

faultiness of memory. Tho account of Perron’s visit that comes to

us from other sources somewhat modifies the impression that

Skinner’s version leaves, Lewis Terdinand Smith states that “a

storm was brewing at Oojein, and Verron was obliged to risk his

enthority, and even his personal safety, by procesding there. Dut

he had motives for this dangerous step, wishing Lo find out by closer

inspection what were the views of Colonel Collins, the British

Resident, Perron being jealous of the Company. Moreover, he began

to dread Colonel Sutherland, who commanded the first brigade.”

There was good cause for this, if any trust may be placed in a report

which appeared in the Persian akbars about this time, and which

stated that Sindhia had actttally transferred the command of the

brigades to Sutherland. But Perron, although “detcrmined to quit

his station and resign his authority if he could not quell the storm

that was rising against him, suceeaded in doing sa. Perhaps his

apprehensions were greater than the veal danger. Perhaps the five

lakhs he gave Scindia dissiputed the dangers he feared, and which

threatened his ambition.” Herein we have a much more likely

explanation of his success than that which Skinner pnts forward. 1t

was not Perron’s injured dignity that influcneed Sindhia, but his hard

cash. Daulat Rio was w dissolute, viciuns prinec, who cared nothing

for character: a good man in distress awakened no compassion in his

heart. But a wickod man—and assuredly Perron had been wickedly

treacherous during the past year —with five Iukls of rupees was

worthy to be taken to his bosom !

While it lasted the contest between Perron and Sutherland musi

have been 9 sharp one, but the former triumphed, and sectred the

Scotclunan’s transfer to the second brigade, which was to return to
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Hindustan with the General, where it is not difficult to imagine the

treatment that would have been meted out to the vanquished sub-

ordinate. Sutherland, however, had ua intention of subjecting him-

self to such a risk, for “he took some offence at an expression of

Perron’s and his extraordinary behaviour and left Oojein for Agra with

a hundred horsemen.” Whereupon the General * composed the minds

of the troops when Sutherland left them without permission, and

promised them another officer of equal rank tu command their

brigads.”’

Early in May Perron commenced his return march to Hindustan,

and on the I4tth reached Jaipur, whore doubtless there was a little

account to be squeozed out of Partih Singh. But although the

General returned to Koil with his former power and in perfect safety,

stil it was clear to every disccrning eye. that his influence with

Daulat Rao was diminished, This.is confirmed hy letters written

by Colonel Collins to the-Governor-goneral soon after Perron’s

departure, in which the following passages ocenr :—

“T hear on very good authority that if is Scindia’s intention as

soon as he can get to Agra to deprive Perron of the command of the

fortresses he possesses in Hindostan"; and two months later,

*‘General Porron has been peremptorily directed by Scindia to give

up all tho mekals in his possession not appertaining ta his Juidad.

I understand that Perron is highly displeased with the conduct of

Scindia’s ministers, and that he entertains serious intentions of

relinquishing his present cormmand.”’

The Asiatic Register, in a communication dated June 2, 1802, very

clearly summarises what Perron actually accomplished by his visié

to Sindhia’s Court :—

“We learn by a letter from Oojein that Scindia has dismissed the

whole of the British officers in hig sorviee. There is no doubt that

this is to be ascribed to tho influence of Gencral Perron, who has

long been jealous of the introduction of English officers into Seindia’s

army, and has occasionally exerted every artifice of intrigue to

frustrate their views and to impress the Prince with a notion that

though these men came into his dominions in the character of

independent adventurors, they are generally omissaries of the British

Government, in whom it was impossible and highly unsafe to confide ;

and Scindia listened to these untruths and acted on them.”

Perron made the best use of his renewed opportunities, and in the

shuffling of commands that resulted Major Brownrige was the only

Englishmen who kept Lis post. Ie was last heard ef, upon Skinners

authority, under fixed bayonets, but he appears to have been restored
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to favour, for he was appointed to the command of the fifth brigade,

which was raised shortly after this. The rest of Sindhia’s army

passed entirely under the hands of foreigners. Pohlman, a German,

commanded the first brigade ; George Hessing, a Dutchman, and

nephew to Perron, the second; Louis Bourguien, also a relative of

Perron, the third; Dudrenec, a Frenchman, the fourth. This

officer was also promoted to second in command, and destined to

succeed the general when he retired. The independent corps, affiliated

to Perron’s command, were those of Jean Baptiste Filoze, an Italian,

and also a relative of the general, and the Begum Somru’s under

Colonel Saleur, a Frenchman. John Hessing, a Dutchman, com-

manded the fort of Agra, Drugeon, a Savoyard, that of Delhi, and

Pedron, as Frenchman, had charge of Aligarh. Deridon, Perron’s

brother-in-law, also filled a high post. Thus every Englishman in

the force, with the exception of Brownrigg, was debarred from

superior eraployment, although the British subjects in the brigades

numbered not less than forty. Country-borns—a very large factor in

the foree—who could boast a British origin fared no better; and so

groas was the favouritism and injustice Perron displayed, that even

the natives could not conceal their contempt for it,

- These intrigues and jealousies which contaminated Sindhia’s court and

brigades had a lamentable effect upon his interests. His own country-

men were estranged, and their complete supersession by the regular

troops shut them out from every opportunity of following a soldier’s

career, and they ceased to be a martial people. Daulat R&o himeelf

plunged deeper and deeper into the mire of vice and degradation,

neglecting state affairs and ignoring the duties of government, and

Perron, on his return to Hindustan, soon became as independent as he

had been before his visit to Ujjain. Little of importance occurred

during the rest of the year 1802, the only matters recorded being

some desultory fighting against Holkar’s Pindaris in the Deccan, and

a visit paid by Perron to the Sutlej, where Bourguien with the third

brigade was trying to reduce tho Sikhs to the same state of subjection

as the Rajputs, and was, as usual, “‘ waiting for reinforcements.”

All the time these matters had been taking place in Sindhia’s

possessions Jaswant Rao Holkar had not been idle. He and Amir

Khan engaged in an extensive and lawless campaign, during which

Rajputana was plundered and Khé4ndesh devastated. Holkar’s

Pindari army might appropriately be likened to the mountain

torrent, which gathers volume in its course. In a predatory

expedition there is nothing which succeeds like success. Malwa was

full of disbanded soldiery, to whom Jaswant Rao’s remunerative
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rapine constituted a call to arms. From all quarters he was joined

by wild Decenn Lorsemen thirsting to share tho pillage of his route.

Before a year lad passed he completely recovered from the shock of

Indore, aud was at the head of a mighty host, full of tho desh and

daring acquired by a long course of successful forny, and made the

more formidable by two complete brigades of regular infantry in-

cluded in its numbers.

Holkar now began to furn bis steps towards the Deccan, intent on

once more reguining his influence in the councils of the Peshwa. As

soon as his intention became apparent, the Court at Poonah took

alarm, and endeavoured by every means to stay his advance. He

was oven desired to formulate bis demands, and immediate attention

was promised to them, provided he would only remain north of the

Godavari. But this Holkar declined to do. Personal ss well as

political motives guided his course.) Tie had @ brother’s murder to

revenge, for Baji Rao, the Peshwa, had inthe previous year not only

ordered the death of Ithal Rio, Jaswant Rio's younger brother, but

gazed on the execution as it was being carried out with all the

shocking barbarily of Oriental savagery.

On the 7th of October Holkar's infantry brigades, under the

coramand of a trusted chief named Fateh Singh, eame upon the

Peshwa’a army, and after a short, but decisive, action completely

defeated if, and captured all its cannon. Two daya later Jaswant

Réo, who had been elsewhere engaged with his cavalry, effected a

junction with Fateh Singh’s force, and at once marched towards

Poonah,

The Deccan capital was now at Holkar’s mercy, and with it the

Poshwa, who was the key of the power which controlled the Maratha

Confederacy. On Jaswant Réo’s approach overtures for peace were

opened by Baji Rao, but they Jed to nothing, Holker’s real object

was to obtain possession of the Peshwa's person, but the latter would

not consent to a meeting; for, in the language of a native historian, “ the

word treachery was in the page of his dealings with the Holkar family,

and his eye fell on it, and he feared to trust bimeelf in the power of

Jeswant Rao.” But nothing short of this would satisfy Holkar, who

wes determined to cstablish himself in a position where he could

enforce his ascendancy to the exclusion of Sindhia’s influence

Daulat Rio had been roused to action by Jaswant Réo’s rapid

advance, and directly he realised that it was the intention of the latter

to attack Poonah, he sent an army from Ujjain to assist the Poshwa.

This force successfully made its way to the capital, but it was

utterly inadequate for the performance of the work assigned to it.
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Holkar, however, before proceeding to war, determined to make an

attempt to divide hia enemics, hoping tv overawe the Peshwi into

neutrality, whilst he himeelf first settled matters with Sindhia. So

he wrote a diplomatic letter to Baji Mao, saying “that the Holker

and Secindia factions were the arzmo in the balance to Tis Highness ;

for him therefore to show partiality to the one and estrangement to

the other, much less to side absolutely with cither, was not the part of

the High Lord of beth, That it would be more becoming to his

dignity to keep up a friendly understanding with the two parties, and

bring about a friendly reconciliation, or if precluded from adopting

this course, that at any rate he should give protection and eounten-

anee to neither, but stand aloof from the contest, and leave them to

settle matters as they might.”

In explanation of this it may be observed that Sindbia still held

possession of the person of Jaswant Udo's nephew, Khandi Rio, the

infant son of Malbar Réo, and the rightful heir of the house of

Holkar. For political reasons Jaswant Rao liad constituted himself the

champion of the child chief, claiming to be his proper guardian. It

was therefore a matter of great importance to procure the releaso of

this youth, and Holkar informed the Peshwa that his present action

was due to this necessity.

Of course Baji Rée would not consent to disconnect himself from

Bindbia, whom he had taken into favour again after his victory over

Holker at Indore. The Peshwa had no choice in the management of

his polities] machino, except to use one ebief against anothor, and so

preserve a balance between them, which left him with the nominal

control. When Sindhia grew too powerful the Peshwa sided with

Holkar, Lakwe Dada and the Bhais, and now that Jaswant R.o’s

star was dominant Baji Rio, as a matter of course, threw himself into

Sindhia’s arms. It is impossible in the limits of a short sketch to

follow the shifting currents of Marith4 intrigue and diplomacy, but

the explanation afforded will make the present situation intelligible.

Negotiations being unsuccessful, both armics prepared for battle,

and on Sunday the 25th of October 1802, their lines were formed for

action on the plain outside Poonah. Sindhia’s forees consisted of

four battalions of Pohlman’s brigade, uuder Captain Dawes, and

seven battalions of Ambaji Inglia’s under a Makomedan commander,

with 10,000 Marathi cavalry and 80 guns. The Peshwa only con-

tributed four very inferior battalions of infantry, under native officers,

and 6,000 cavalry. The position the allied forces took up was a strong

one, their rear being protected by the city of Poonah.

Holkar brought into the field an army superior in both numbers and
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quality. His regular infantry consisted of four battalions under

Major Harding, five under Major Vickers, and four undor Major

Armstrong. There wore also three others under a native commander,

and 6,000 irregular Rohilla infantry. His cavalry numbered 25,000,

and he had 100 capital uns.

Tt was due to tho spirited representations of Captaim Dawes that

battle was offered to a force so superior in every way. Dawes was a

vallant soldier, and strongly advised fighting, although there were but

four European officers in the allied armies. The troops were accord-

ingly formed for action, and Jaswant Mio eagerly responded to the

challenge. Dawes himself took post in the contre, with the artillery.

On the right were the Poonah troops, and on the left the Maratha

cavalry. At 9.380 a.m. the action commenced with a sharp aud inces-

sant cannonade, which lasted for four hours, and showed great

determination on both sides. An udvance was then attempted by

Dawes, and for a time the superior discipline of his battalions began

to toll; for, owing to # misunderstanding, Jaswant Réo’s cavalry were

ordered to make an ill-timed charge on Dawes’s left flank, during

which they were exposed to the grape of the artillery in such re-

peated discharges as to threaten the loss of the day altogether, for seeing

them wavering Dawes’s cavalry attacked them with fatal effect. “The

confusion,” writes tho quaint native historian already quoted, was

like that of the Day of Judgment: no one knew where he was or

what he was about. The slaughter was great, and the flight of

Holker’s troops had commenced.”

Jaswant Rao, who had taken up his station on un eminence, in order

to direct the operations of the Leld, perceived this eriticul pass to which

hig arms had come. It roused him to a great and worthy effort.

Springing on his horse, he drew his sword, and calling ont, “* Now or

never to fellow Jaswant R4o!” spurred to the front, rallied the fugitives,

collected a compact body around him, and turning round charged back

again upon the enemy.

As he reached them be found Ambaji’s battalions already beginning

to waver before the steady attack of Major Harding, whoso brigade had

advanced to the reseue of the cavalry. Against these Holkar dashed,

and scattered them like chaff, and then turned his charge upon

Dawes, whose troops had up to this time behaved with a conrage and

discipline worthy of their reputation, As Dawes saw the Chief and

his squadrons approaching, be attempted to oppase a proper resistance,

but his small body of men was completcly overwhelmed by the

sheer weight of numbers and thrown into confusion. They fought

desperately to the very last, and as became tho best traditions they bad
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inherited from the days of De Boigne, Is was not until three of their

officers were killed, and the fourth talcen prisoner, and G00 men out

of their total slrength of 1,400 killed aud wounded, that they sur-

rendered. Duving the latter part of the action a terrible explosion

took place in their very midst, caused by a cannon shot striking one

of their tumbrils, and this added to their disorder, and liastoned their

defeat. Almost immediately after this cabastrophe Dawcs was killed,

and a similar fate befel Captain Catts and Kusign Douglas. This left

the force with only one officer—-a Freneliuan named Hanove—who

behaved with great intrepidity, carrying with him the colours of the

corps, until he was made prisoner.

Jaswant Raéo, to whose personal bravery and spirit the vietory was

due, was wounded in the act of spearing one of Dawes’s artillerymen

aut his gun, to the very muzzle of which the chief had charged.

Major Harding, who joined him, and rode by his side, was killed by

almost the last cannonushot fired. Tlolkar lest 1,600 men in this

action, whilst on the side of the allies the killed and wounded

amounted to 5,000. Sixty-five guus were captured, of which twenty

belonged to Dawes’s battulions. Et is worthy of uote that, during

eighteen years of arduous active servico and continual fighting, these

were the first enna lost by any of De Boigue’s old brigades since their

formation. The whole of Sindhia’s buggage and camp were talien,

and his army, bereft of their officers, was routed and dispersed, and

fled in all directions.

The consequences of this defeat were far more more disastrous to

the Peshwa than to Sindhia. Marly in the morning Baji Rio, not

doubting success, left his palaco with tie intention of being preseut

ad the action. But the noise of the firing frightened him, and le

withdrew to a place some distance south of Poonah. Alniost before a

shot was fired his troops deserted Dawes, and retired within the walls

of the city, and as soon as Baji tio heard of the impending issue of

the day, he fled, atteuded by 7,000 followers, to the fort of Singarh,

from whenee he proceeded to Mhiir, on the sea coast. Here he em-

barked on board an English ship, provided for his reeeption by the

Government of Bombay, and was landed ai Bassein, a fugitive fran

his throne, and indebted for his safety to Lue very nation from whom

it had been the policy of the Marathi nation to consistently Lold alout,



CHAPTER VII.

WAR WITH THE ENGLISH.

1802-1803.

“ TESWANT RAO TIOLKER has taken possession of Poonah, and
greatly huraseed that city aud His Highness the Peishwa. I am

therefore obliged to march towards Poouah to oppose the Holkera, and

inamediately on receipt of this letter yon will hasten your march with

all your troops ander your command and meet us at that place. Our

endeavours must be strenuously exerted to bafile the Holkers in all

their hostile designs, and to secure tho country from their infamous

depredations now and hereafier, Ii will be necessary to use every

means in our power to ernsh and ovorwhelm them at once, that they

may never again have sufficient ability to do us similar mischief.”

Thus wrote Danlset Rac Sindhia to General Perron on the 16th of

November, 1802, after the defeat of his and the Peshwé’s troops at

Poonah. On receiving this letter Perron made some show of obedi-

ence by directing Bourguien, who wes ai Jind, to proeced to ihe

Deccan with the third brigade. But hore his efforta began and

ended: the order was not carried ont--probably there was never any

serious intention of having it exeeuted—and Perron confined himself

to copious protestatione, declaring he was about to march south “im-

mediately ’—a formula that had an elasticity about it not contem-

plated by the framers of language.

Other reinforcements, however, reached Sindhia, Ambaji, his

Maraith4 general, despatched five of the Begum Somru’s battalions,

and Raghuji Bhonsla of Berar sent « large body of horse. On these

joining him Daulat RAo marehed with his army six or eight miles out

of Ujjain on the ist of December, with tho intention of proceoding to

Poonah, but his further progress was arrested by sickness which

broke out amongst his troops, and by a belief that he was not stroug

enongh to risk a conflict with Holkar, and reinstate the Peshwa, who

292
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was continnally urging him to come to his assistance, and drive

Jaswant Rdo out of tho capital.

Perron was folly aware how critical the moment was. THolkar was

uot ouly in possession of Poonah, but hail declared Baji Réo deposed,

and elevated to the masnad, the Peshwa's brother, Amrat RAo, whom

he desired to use as his tool, usurping the real anthority himself

Driven from his country, a fugitive and efraid, it was hopeless to ex-

pect Baji Réo to accomplish his own restoration. There were but two

courses open to him : either fo trust to Sindhia to reiustute him, or to

throw in his lot with the English, as the Nizam of Haidarabad had

done two yoars previously, and accept from them the services of a

contingent force to replace him in power and keep him there. But

this would be tantamount to the surrender of the independence of the

Marfithé Empire, and Baji Rio naturally hesitated before committing

himaelf to auch an irrevocable atep.

During the two months of indocision that followed, Baji Rao re-

peatedly appealed to Sindhia for military easistance against Holkar,

warning him that if help was deferred be would be compelled, from

sheer necessity, to apply to the British Government to reinstate him.

Sindhia as repeatedly despatched express messengers to Perron, com-

manding him to send down troops to the Deccan at once, as without

reinforcements Daulat Rao dared not risk » battle. But Perron pursued

a line of conduct similar to that which he had adopted in the previous

year, He waa afraid of throwing too much power into his master’s

hands, which might ultimately be turned against himaclf So long as

he kept three complete brigades under his personal control in Hin-

dastan, he had nothing to fear from his cnemies at the Ujjain Comrt ;

but the transfer of ane of them from Delhi to the Deecan would

destroy his preponderance of power, and prejudice the political plans

he had in view. So he avoided complianes with Sindhia’s commands,

and affected an excuse for his disobedience in the refractory conduct

of Partib Singh.* Instead of marching to Ujjain hie led bis troops

to Jaipur, announcing that he expected to be absené on this expedition

for some time. But Partab Singh, seared at Perron’s approach, im-

mediately paid the fine demanded, whereupon the general, instead

* A “news Jetter?? in a Persian jouw) stutes that in) August, 18v2,

the Rajah of Jaipur wrote several letiers to Ghat- kay Rio, Daulat Riots

fother-ielaw, and Prime Minister, compkuiuing of the couduct of Gencral

Perron, and statiug some other mattcrs of moment to himself. These letters

were intercepted by Perron’s Harhkarras, or news runners, and brought to hin,

Their contents ‘‘ effaced all the impressions of friendship he felt for the Rajah,

and determined him to take vigorous measures fo ruin the Prince.”
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of proceeding to the seat of war in the Deccan, returned to his head-

quarters at Koil.

And this at a moment when kingdoms were toppling! Tho Peshwa,

Holkar, Sindhia, all were threatened directly or indirectly by the

oxisting state of affairs. One masterly stroke would bave assured the

complete ascendancy of Sindhia’s influence; for had he driven Holkar

out of Poonah, and reinstatod the Peshwa, Danlat Réo’s power would

have become unassailable. It needed but Perron’s co-operation to

make this a certainty: but that co-operation was withheld, and the

failure and ruin which followed were solely duc to the general’s

treachery. Baji Rio, beholden for his personal safety to the English

at his clbow, could hold out no longer. Sindhia was even invited by

Colonel Collins, the British Resident, to aseist in the restoration of

his suzeraine, but his anxioty to be the acle agent in the matter would

not permit him to act in concert with a foreign power, and one which

he especialiy feared and dreaded. So he temporised with Colonel

Collins, and carried on an active correspondence with Baji Rado,

promising help, which never came, until the latter grew despairing

as he daily received the stereotyped reply that Sindhia “ wonld march

as soon as he was strong enough,’ whilst every hour consolidated the

power of Holkar ati Poonah, and tended to make the elevation of

Amrat Rado to tho masnad an established and recognised state of

things.

At last the Peshwa could no longer defer coming to a decision,

and on the Sist of December, 1802, the die was cast, and he

appended his signature to the Treaty of Bassein. It sounded the

death-knell of Marithé Independence, and, by a retributive justice,

of Perron’s own power, for his subsequent fall was distinctly traceable

to this event. By the Treaty of. Basscin the Peskwa was reduced to

the status of a protected prince, and accepted from the Company the

services of a subsidiary force of 6,000 regular native infantry, with

the usual proportion of guns, and Isuropean officers, and artillerymen.

In rotarn for this he assigned to his deliverers vant districts in Guaerat,

and on the Norbada and Tapti Rivers, which yielded a revenue of

twenty-six lakhs of rupoes. Moreover, the treaty contained a clause

directed against adventurers of Perron'a class, for by the cleventh

article the Peshwa agreed, in the event of a war between the English

and any European nation, to discharge any Muropean or Kuropeans

in his service, belonging to such nation, who shall Lave meditated

injury towards the English, or ontered into intrigues hostile to their

interests,”

Perron’s relations with the French Government were within the
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knowledge of the Marquis Wellesley. Coloncl Skinner mentions

that in 1801 the general ‘was so pulled up with riches and power

that he allowed himself to be porstaded by his tlatterers into sending

an ambassador to Bonaparte, and Monsieur Desoutde was the person

despatched; but the purport or result of the embassy was never

known.” But if not actually known, it may reasonably be suspected

that it led to the Expedition which the First Consni ordered, Hig

designs against Indiz have boon fully explained in the sketch of De

Boigne’s life, and need not be here repeated, But Perron’s share in

thera must be noked. Perron was a Sfrenchman and a revolutionisi,

in close sympathy with tho principles which the Freneh nation

affected at this period, and after his own personal advantago he

honestly desired his country’s welfare, Tle perceived how favour-

able was the opportunity afforded by the internal coramotions in

Flindustan for ihe establishment of a French dominion in India,

and was prepared to assisi that consummation, There is but little

doubt that the elaborate project formed at Paris owed much to

his practical suggestion, for ik could seareely have becn any other

person who pointed owt tho roate by which the Expeditionary

French officers were to reach hig headquarters through Cuttack.

Tt is known that Perron pressed his views on the attention

of Gouaparie, aud that an important communication from him

reached Paria during the national rejcicing over the Pcaca of Amicns.

It eould not have arrived at a more seasonable period, for the treaty

of 1802 opened every desirable avenue for the prosecution of the

schemes suggested. An arrangement was actually setiled for tho

assignment to the Government of France of all tho districts that

Perren held, the transfer of which was to be confirmed by the

Emperor Shah Alam, in whose name, and undex whose authority

everything was to be done.

Perron’s policy in Hindustan was subordinated te this scheme, for

the success of which he worked and waited, and sacrificed Sindhia.

The three brigades which Perron kept under his immediate command,

refusing to spare any of them for the Deccan, were required for its

accomplishment. They were regarded as “the Vreneh army of

Hindustan,” and conteniporary writers constantly refer to them by

that designation. Perron only awaited a full complement of officers

from France 10 ¢0-operate in apy atiack on the Mnglish which the

First Consul might order. But, unfortunately for Perron’s plot and

Gonaparte’s plans, Lord Wellesley anticipated them, and the Treaty

of Bassein was one of the countermoves in this game of politics. Tt

established the paramount influcnes of the English in the Marathé
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dominions, and at the same time cut the ground from under the feet

of the French faction. ‘‘ There is every reason to believe,” writes

Lord Wellesley in his “Dlistory of the Mahratta War,” “that the

Government of France intended to make the unfortunate Emperor

of Hindustan the main instrument of their designs in India, and to

avail themselves of the authority of His Majesty’s name to re-

establish their influence and power. <A plan to this affect was

actually submitted to the Chief Consul of France, in 1801, by an

officer, who afterwards accompanied General Decsen to India, in

1803." This plan resulted in the despatch of the Expedition to

India, which was preparing to anil from France at the time that the

battle of Poonabh took place, and Perron was probably aware of it

when he received Sindhia’s urgent orders to join bim “ with all his

troops” the very troops whe wore to be officercd by the expected

French expedition. To detach them to the Deeean under such

circumstances was manifestly iimpossibla, and so, from November

io February, Perron evaded obedience, expecting at any moment

to hear of the arrival of tha force which would so immeasurably

strengthen his hand as to make him independent. But the French

fleot was delayed, and did not appear off Pondicherry till June, 1803,

Before that time Perron was in difficulties, for Bindhia grew “ warm

and positive” in his tones, and the Frenchman had not sufficient

staying power to hold out. Hopo deferred made his heart sick, and

he submitted to pressure, which » atroneer mau might have resisted

for a much longer time. In February, 1803, he sent Sindhia the

fourth brigade, under the Chevalier Dudrense, and half the newly-

raised fifth brigadc, under Captain Drownrigg, thus detaching nearly

helf his army to the Deccan. It was the acknowledgment of his

defeat, and he confirmed it by tendering his resignation at the same

time.

There is only one explanation of this sudden and complete collapse

of Perron’s policy. He suspected the designs of the British Govern-

meni against the French military adventurers in the Maraéthé, service,

and wishod to securo his own personal safety and his large fortune

before any further political complications ensued. Disappointed in

the long doferred arrival of the French Expedition, it was now

evident that with the English paramount of Poonah, the accomplish-

roent of his plans was impossible. The auspicious moment had, in

fact, passed away; and even ad Sindhia’s projects and ambitions

had been destroyed by Perron withholding assistance from him, so

were Perron’s own schemes ruined by the untoward delay in the

arrival of the aid from France, which he had sa long expected. It is
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curious to note how in his downfall Perron suffered, step by step,

from almost identically similar disasters as those which, through his

influence, contributed to his master’s undoing.

At the soime time that Perron tondered his resignation to Sindhia,

he applied to General Lake, the Commander-in-chief at Cawnpore,

for loave to proceed to Tucknow, with an escort of 200 cavalry

and 400 infantry, on his return to Europe. General Lake forwarded

the application to fhe Marquis Wellesiey, who replied that he was

strongly disposed to aceclerate Perron’s departure from Sindhia’s

service, conceiving it to be an event which promised much advantage

to the British interests in India. A willing guarantee was accorded

for the goneral’s safegnard from Lucknow to Calcutta, necessary

orders issued for his suitable reception and treatment, with every

mark of respect and consideration, and he was assured that a proper

guard of Sepoys for his roule would be provided, and at the Presidency

the Governor-General proposed fo receive him in « manner con-

formable to his wishes, and to use evexy means to facilitate his voyage

to Europe.

Porron’s resignation reached Bindhia towards the end of February,

1803, just as Colonel Collins, tho British Resident, returned to the

Mardth& prince’s camp at Burhanpur, after a temporary absence,

bringing with him a copy of the Treaty of Bassein, whose terms he

now discloscd, In a moment the whole political atmosphere was

changed. Although Sindhia affceted to consider that there was

nothing in the treaty he could objoct to, it put a poriod, with one

dash of the pen, to the whole policy of aggrandisement to which he

and his unele before him had devoted thoir entire energies for the

last deeade; for it placed the head of the Marathd’s under the pro-

tection of the one power they most desired to keep out of dhe nation’s

councils. No instrument could have been more complete in its altack

on the existing condition of things, or more unacceptable to the

Marathés at large. Every Deccan chief was startled, and, in tha

face of this common danger, all internal enimitics and jealousies were

relogated to tho background. The note of alarm was sounded by

Raghnji Bhonsla, of Berar, who at once proposed an alliance between

Sindhia, Holkar, and himself, for the purpose of expolling the English

and restoring the national indepondenco cf the Peshwa. All the

minor chicfs concurred in the determination to resist, and, if pozsible,

overthrow the new regime. In this crisis of affairs Sindhia wrote to

Perron, declining to accept his resignation, and informing him of

the Treaty of Bassein, and the proposed gencral alliance against the

Company.
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A false ray of hopo shone out on Perron, who thought he saw the

silver lining behind the black cloud of disappointment, Tt is not

impossible that he was further encouraged by advices of the forward

state of the French expedition destined to strengthen him. At any

rate he decided to sec ont the storm that was now gathering in the

Deccan, and consented te withdraw his resignation and remain in

Sindhia’s service for another year.

War, althongh within a measurable distance, was not at this time

declared. But at Sindhia’s request Perron drew ont a plan of

campaign to be followed in the event of hostilities. It was one that

did credit to bis ability as a general, and, although it was never

carried into effect, its details are worth recording.

The forces of the Confederate chiefs were apportioned as follows ;

Sindhia, with 85,000 Marithdé cavalry, was to penctrate into the

Haidarabad territory and eompol the Niza, who was in alliance

with the English, to withdraw his forces from the scat of war in the

Decean, Raghuji Bhonsla, with 30,000 horse, was to enter Bengal,

cut off General Lake in Oudh, and carry fire and sword into the rich

districts of the Ganges. Holkar, with another 30,000 horse, was to

invade Benares and Behar, and Shamshir Bahadur (a son of Ali

Bahadur, whe had recently died} and Ambaji Inglia, with 20,000

eavelry, were to desolate Oudh and the British Doaéb provinces.

This disposed of the mounted native armios. The infantry were

detailed for defensive work. Perron, with three brigades of twenty.

fonr battalions, was to defend the passage of the Jumna, Holker

infantry, under Vickers, was to oppose the English in Surat. Sindhia’s

Deccan brigades, consisting of Perron’s fivst under Pohlman, half

the fifth under Brownrigg, four battalions of the Begum Somru’s

under Saleur, and four battalions of the late Fidéle Filoze’s under

Dupont—in all twenty battalions were to defend the Adjanta Ghat;

and, finally, fifteen irregular battalions of Raghuji Bhonsla’s, under

native communders, were to bar the passage of the Késabéri Ghat.

It was a skilful and comprehensive plan of campaign, which appor-

tionod defensive work fer 94 battalions of infantry at four widely

divided points, and oifensive operations for 115,000 cavalry. Had it

been carried out in its entivety it must have resulted in a long and

bloody war. But the ignorance, distrust, and supineness of the

Marithdés, and the treachory of Holkar, who withdrew from the alliance

at the last moment, ruined all hops of sucecss.

From March to August, 1808, Colonel Collins, the British Resident,

remained in Sindhia’s camp, veinly endeavouring to obtain from that

chief and the Rajah of Berar the withdrawal of their armies from
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the frontiers of the Nizam’s territory, where they were encamped,

and which they threatened. But Sindhia, in reply, demanded the

previous retirement from ihe territories of the Peshwa of the army

of observation assembled under the command of Major-General

Arthur Wellesley. To consent to this was impossibly while the

Marathé forces retained their commanding position aud menaced

Tlaidarabad. In the Governor-General’s words, ‘‘It would have

submitted the dignity, honour, and interests, if not the very existence,

of the British Government in India to the most faithless, sanguinary,

yapacious, and violent of Mahratta adventurers. We should have

forfeited the opinion of the native powers, which forms » main pillar

of the fabric of our Mmpire; we should have been degraded by the

native states of Hindustan and the Decean to the rank of a secondary

power in India; of a power secondary to Daulat Ito Seindia, whose

military strength rests upon the support of French adventure, enter-

prise, aad skill.”

During these negotiations Perron strenuously advised Sindhia not

to form any connection wilh the British Government nor to enter

into their plans, vowing that he was ready to sacrifice lis life and his

fortune in defending the cause of his prince. No explanation is given

of this newly-developed loyaity and enthusizsm, nor does any suggest

itself for Perron’s conduct during this period, except the arrival at

Pondicherry, on the lth of June. of General Decaen’s expedition

trom France. Of this he probably received early iutimmiicn. What.

ever professions he made to Sindhia he certainly substantiated by

the uncommon energy with whieh: he prepured for war. On the 26th

of June he directed Bourguien to withdraw the third brigade from

the Panjab and canton it at Lanipat, whilst the second, under

George Hessing, was concentrated at Sikundra, near Agra, At

Aligarh, where edron was in conmunand, tle must claborate prepara-

tions were made for hostilities. Ou ithe oth of duly old Colonel

John Tessing died al Agra, and Perron instantly proceeded there

and appointed Gvlonel George Tessin to the command of the fort,

sending a French officer named Geslin to take over charge of his

brigade, which had marehed to Delhi.

Notwithstanding all this energy and the digplay of loyally whiclt

these preparations seemed to indigute ou the pari of Perron, he was

fated to feel the veaction of bis forruer treuchery to Daulat Tao

Sindhia. Abtthe very moment wheu Le was really working honestly

in his master’s interests intrigues against hin: were being brought to

a successful issue in the Court he served. Ambaji Inelia had lony

coveted the Subuhdari of Iindustan. Despite Perron’s protesta-

1y
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tions of fidelity there existed a deep-et feeling of distrust against him

in Sindhia’s breast. His past actions rose up to condemn him, and

Ambaji, by a timely gift of twenty-live lakhs of rupees, was abie to

gain his ends, and in the month of August, on the very eve of the

declaration of war, waa appointed to the chief command of Hindustan,

with instructions to supersede Perron, who was to he subordinate to

luis orders. “By this action,’ writes Lewis Ferdinand Smith,

“Seindia delivered Perron over to his most implacable enemy, for

Ambajee would have assuredly drained Perron’s purse if he had

spared his life.”

On the 8rd of August Colonel Collins Ieft Sindhia’s camp, and the

British Government forthwith declared war, and proceeded to carry

into exeention the plan of military operations previously determined

upon. ;

Perron was actually the last man inthe Mardth4 councils to hear

of it, and even then the xotifieation came to him from General Lake

himself after the British advance had begun. In this tremendous

crisis of his life the master of many intrigues was destined to find

himself undone by the craft and treachery which disclosad themselves

around him. He was unaware that Ambaji Inglia was hastening to

Flindustan to wrench the bdéfon from lis hands; or that the Chevalier

Dudrenee, whom he had given service tv and destined for his sucecssor,

had declared his allegiance to the new commander-in-chief, Tint the

erucllest blow of all was yet to come, for Louis Bourguien, Perron’s

bosom friend and most trusted lieutenant, “whom he had raised from

obscurity to rank and riches, with outrnge and injustice to other

ollicers,” was the first in Upper India to revolt against the hand that

had lifted Lim from the gutter, and ere wany days had past to

declare the deposition und attempt the life of the man before whose

frown Hindustan had trembled for seven years.



CHAPTER VIII.

LORD WELLESLEY'S DWSPATCHES.

1808.

O far the narrative has followed Pcrron and hig fortunes from the

Maratha point of view. In order to assist a broader estimate of

his political, and cven international, importance, it is necessary to

extract a few passages from the Marquis Wellesley’s despatches and

correspondence, which will illustrate the ligh elevation attained by

this self-made soldier of fortune,

The first reference to Perron in fiiose voluminous writings oeeurs in

a letter, dated from the Capo of Good Hope in Febrnary, 1798, and

addressed to the Right Honourable Henry Dundas, President of the

Board of Control. It merely indicates Lord Wellesley’s knowledge

that “Scindia employs about 20,000 bepoys, disciplined by Kuropeans

or Americans. The commander is narned Perron, a Frenchman.”

The next reference is in June, 1799, by which time the Governor-

General has bccome alive to the influence French adventurers were

exerting in the Maritha States, for addressing tle game correspondent,

he writoa:—‘'I shail endeavour te render tiie cession of territory

(after the Mysore war) the instrument of annihilating every remnant

of a French party in that quarter,” wud a few days later adds, “I am

anxious to find some mode of engaging the interests of Seindia in the

naw settlement of Mysore, under tho condition of disinissing all the

French officers from his service, and (if possible) under that of his

delivering them over to our Government for the purpose of being

sent to Turops.*’ On the 4th of July, im a despatch toa Colonel

Paluer, the Resident at Poonah, he further empbasises this desire.

“The whole system of my policy is an earnest of ny anxicty to

expel the French from the service of Seindix.”

But the uction of this policy was delayed by another circumstance

which demanded Lord Wellesley’s attention und heavily taxed his
2a
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resources. This was the invasion of Meypt by Bonaparte, which was

a blow aimed directly at India, and all eurrent intentions had to be

suspended in order to assist in repelling this new danger by

despatching a powerful contingent, under General Baird, to co-

operate with General Abercrombie in the Delta of the Nile.

But although Lord Wellesley's local policy was ueccssarily deferred,

it was by no means abandoned, and in 1802, on the termination of

the Egyptian campaign, his attention was onco more focussed on

affairs in fhe Decean. “ The distractions in the Makratta Fmpire,” he

writes, “oecusioned a combination of circumstance of the utmost

importaneo to the stability of the British power in India, yet pre-

senting a conjunction of affairs which appeared to afford the most

advantageous opportunity that las ever occurred for improving the

British interests in that quarter on solid and durable foundations.’'

This was wriltenyjust after the battle of Poonah, when Jaswant

R4o Holkar had defeated the combined armies of Sindhia and the

Peshwa, and the latter, u fagitivadrom hig capital, was indebted for

his personal safety to British protection. In the diplomatic trans-

actions which followed the treaty of Bassein was conceived and

executed, and the road opened for the atiack on the * French army

of Hindustan," which the Governor-General had so long desired.

On the 27th of March, 1803, the name of Perron again appears in Lord

Wellesley’s despatches, on the occasion of his acknowledging a letter

from General Lake, which enclosed an application from Perron to be

allowed to proceed to Europe through the Company's territories, To

this sanction was accorded; but before it reached Perron he had

changed his mind, and decided to throw in his lot with Sindhia in

the crisis that had just prisen, and was instigating him to resist all

the demands of the English. Swayed by his advice, Daulat Rao

refused all accommodation, and at last became threatening and

insolent in his tone, when, as a final resource, a separate treaty was

offered to bin. Upon his rejection of this the Commander-in-chief

was orderel to make preparations for war, and in a despatch dated

the 28th of June, 1808, the Governor-General laid down the following

objects to bo attained by force of arms :—

1. The seizure of all Sindbia’s possessions between the Gunges and

the Jumna: in other words, Perron’s Juidad,

2. To take the person of the Mughal Shah ‘Alam under British

protection > he was at the time in Perron’s custody.

3. The immediate reduction of the forees under the command of

Perron.

' 4, The formation of alhanees with the Kajputs and other inferior
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states beyond the Jumna for the pupose of excluding Sindhia from

the northern districts of Hindustan: these states were tributary to

Perron,

5, The oecupation of Bundelkhand.

Tt is very plain to sce that tho objective of the campaign was

nothing mors or less than Perron. Without the Frenchman thore

would have been no war afi all: it was his brigades which gave Sindhia

confidence to resist aud the Pritish Government tho incontive to

attack, Ag witnoss the Goveruor-General’s note on the subject —

“*M. Perron’s forces are said to he at present collected at Coel, and

to consist of about 8,000 infantry and an equal number of cavalry.

‘*Seindia, it is generally believed, has no confidence in M. Perron’s

attachment to his government. In the evento! a war with the British

Government it is probabla that Seindia will endeavour to propitiate

M. Perron, and the prospect of this crisis of affairs, which would render

M, Perron’s conduct an object.of attention, to both states, may have

contributed to induce M, Perron to postpons his avowed intention of

relinquishing Scindia's service, in the hope of more advantageous

offers from Scindia or from the British Gevernment. A considerable

number of the Sepoys who were discharged from the Lritish Army at

the late reduction are said to have entered into M. Perron’s serviec.

. +. It is supposed that Scindia’s European officers might be induced

to resign the service by offers of present subsistence and of a future

establishment in the service of some of the allies or tributaries of the

* These refer to the local forces at Koil only, for in the Marquis Wellesley’s

“History of the Mahratta War” Sindhia’sarmy, regular, and irregular, in June,

1803, was estimated as follows :—

Names and Description of Corps. No, of Battabions. No. of Men. No. of Guns.

lst Brigade. M. Louis Bourguicn a & 7,000 ag

2nd, M. Hessing .... 7 5,690 50

ard M, Pohlman .. R 6,000 80

4th oy, M. Dudernuigne 7 a 5,000 70

bth =, ” . 7 4,000

Corps under M. Dupon 4 2,000 = about. 20

Major Brownrigg’s Corps .. 2,250 30

Begum Semre’s Corps wid os 2,400 20

Lute Filoze’s Brigade Ms we 6 . 3,000 60

Ambaji Inglia’s Brigade. . 1 We St

(irand Total =... 72 dod

N.B.—The foree in this estimate is exclisive of the troops employed in

garrisons, of irrepular infnntry Mewattis, ve., the number of which is con-

siderable.
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British Government. It must be ascertained whether it would be

safe or practicable to detach M. Perron, or any of the European

officers in Scindia’s service, or any of Scindia'’s troops from their

employment with Scindia, and whether any and what emissary

should be sent to M. Perron or to the officers.”

Ten days after the date of these instructians Lord Wellesloy writes

to General Lake: “TI wish you to undorstand that I consider the

reduction of Scindia’s power in the North-west Frontier of Hindustan

to be an important object in proportion to the probability of a war

with France. M. du Boigne (sic), Soindia’s late general, is now the

ehief confidant of Bonaparte. He is constantly at St, Cloud. T leave

you to judge why and wherefore.”

Qn the 18th of July a secret and confidential memorandum is

despatched to the Commander-in-chief, in which the following

passage occurs :—

“Tho defeat of Perron is certainly the first object of the camprign.

The Commander-in-chief will consider what advantage can be

derived from any negotiations with Perron or Hessing (for Agra).

My opinion is that if might be dangerous to attempt any negotiation

with any of Scindia's officers until we shall be masters of the field.

.. The Rajput and Jaut Rajahe are disgusted with Mehratta rule,

but their dread of Perron’s power execeds their wish to be relieved,

and the same observation applies to the Sikh chiefs, . .. Colonel

Sutherland, lately dismissed from the command of a brigade by

Perron, might be able to give much valuable information, and be

instrumental in drawing over other officers from Perron... . I shall

cheerfully sanction any obligations or expenses incurred for the

purpose of conciliating the officers or ministers of the Confederates.”

On the 25th of July, in 2 secrot despaich to Lord Castlereagh, the

Governor-General writes : ‘The state of preparation required by the

position and strength of Scindia’s French corpa, under the command

of M. Perron, has already compelled me to restore the native corps to

the war establishment.”

Two days later, in a despatch to the Commander-in-chief, Lord

Wellesley more particularly explains his opinions: “ The regular

infantry in the service of Seindia, under the command of European

officers, is supported by funds derivable almost exclusively from the

territorial possessions of that chief, situated between the Jumna and

the Ganges, and the mountains of Kamaon. A considerable portion,

if not the wholo, of the territory has been assigned to M. Perron, a

French officer who has succeeded M. du Boigne (sic) in the chief

command of Scindia’s regular infantry. M. Perron has formed his
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territory into an independant state, of which Scindia’s regular

infantry may justly be termed the national army. The inhabitants

of the districts comprehended in M. Perron’s Jughir consider that

ofieor as their immediate sovereign, while the troops supported from

the revenues of the country regard M. Perron as the immediate

executive authority from which the army is to reccive orders, sub-

sistence, and pay. Tossessing sueli means, M. Perron dictates with

the authority of a sovercign state of x superior rank, and with tho

vigour of efficiont military power, to the petty states occupying the

countries to the southward of the Jumma, and by the terror of his

name end arms holds in abject submission the Rajput states of

Jeypore and Jodpore, together with tho Jhauts and the state of Gohud,

extending his influence even to Bundelkhand and to the country

occupied by the Sikhs, Seindia rotwins no efficient control over M-

Perron, or over his regulary troops. Various instances must be

familiar to your Excellency’s knowledge in which M. Perron has

either openly disobeyed, or systematically evaded the ordors of

Scindia, especially in the Inte crisis of that chief's affairs. M. Perron

has for some time past manifested a systomatic deposition to remove

all British subjects from the command of Seindia’a regular infantry,

and to introduce French officers under his own immediate patronage,

M. Perrov is supposed to havo amasscd a considerable fortune, and

your Excellency is intimately eequainted with his anxions desire to

retire to Europe, and to disposa of his actual command, and of his

territorial possessions fo some person of tha l’rench nation. To these

considerations it is important to add that M. Perron is in possession of

the person of the unfortunate emperor, Shah Allum, and conseqnently

is master of the nominal authority of that unleppy prince, and

thorefore may transfer this valuable possession, with his property of

any other description, fo any French adventurer or officer who may

be enabled to completa auch a purchase. Thns the coincidence of

various extraordinary and uncontrollable agcidents, and the weakness

of Scindis’s personal character, have contributed to found an

Independant French State on the most vulnerable part of the

Company’s frontier. Under the influcnee of a succession of French

adventurers, this state must be exposed to (he intrigue of the French

in India, and even to the ambition avd husiile sptrit af the person

who now rules the Mrench nation. Nor could an instrument of

destruction more skilfully adapted to wound the heart of the British

nation be presented ta the vindictive hund af the Iirst Consul of

France. This French state actually holds possession of the person

and nominal authority of the Mogul, mainiains the most efficient



296 PERRON.

army of regular native infantry and the most powerful artillery

existing in India with the exception of the Company’s troops, and

exercises a considerablo authority over the neighbouring states, from

the banks of the Tudus to the confluence of the Ganges and Jumna.

In ihc present crisis, when every cirenmstance sonounces the

probability of a renewal of the war with I'rance, and urges the

necessity of resorting to every practicable measure of precaution and

sceurity, the safety of the British dominions requires the reduction of

M. Perron’s military resources and power, independantly of any

question which might exist heiween Scindia and tho British Govern-

ment.”

This explicit declaration of the views and opinions of the Marquis

Wellesley amply confirms the testimony previously adduced of

the high political position held by Perron. His Jaidad was “an

Independent French State,” in which he “ dictated with the authority

of a sovereign of high rank,” and his army constitnted “a menace to

the British dominion in India.’ This was the height of power and

inflnence to which the runaway sailor from = French frigate had

taisod himself. It was an elevation even more astounding than De

Boignoe'’s, an usurpation of authority more audacious than that of Georgo

Thomas. Wad Perron resigned his post at this momeut he would

have left behind him a reputation sceond to no adventurers in India,

But the splendour of his suecess was to be marred by the squalor of

his dawnfall. He lacked the respectable dignity of De Boigne and

the dauntloss dofance of Georga Thomas; and in the last few days of

his power, when swumoned to face the culminating crisis of his lite,

he showed a weaknoss of purpose that prejudices all his previoug

achievements, and his exit from the seone wherein he had played so

prominent a pari was that of a poltroon, clutching his money bags

and erying for quarter before he had struck a single blow.
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PON the declaration of war by Lord Wellesley, Sindhia’s Regular

Brigades numbered over 89,000 men, with 5,000 Hindustani

horse and 464 guns. Tn addition to these there were 85,000 Maratha’

cavalry and fifteen battalions of infantry belonging to Ambaji Inglia,

and also sundry garrison troops, so that the entire strength was not

far short of 90,000 men-at-arms. ‘The Rajah of Berar contributed

fifteen battalions of infantry, 30,000 horse,‘and 60 guns, and Shamshir

Baladur 10,000 troops of sorts, The Confodernte army wag divided

as follows :—

With Sindhia, in the Deecan, were Perron’s Dirst Brigade, under

Colonel Pohlman, four battalions of Jean Daptiste Filoze’s corps, under

Dupont, and four battalions of the Gegum Somrn’s, under Colonel

Saleur. These totalled 10,400 men. The Rajah of Berar’s infantry

was estimated at 6,000, and the combined Marathi cavalry at 50,000,

The cannon numbered 190 pieces.

Hin route to Hindustan were Perron’s Fourth Brigade, under

Dudrenec, and five battalions of the Fifth Brigade under Brownrigg

—in all nearly 8,000 men. Ambaji’s infantry and cavalry increased

the total to abont 25,000 of all arms.

At Ujjain was stationed Jean Baptiste Filozo's party of six bat-

talions, numbering 3,000 man, with 60 guns. They were destined for

the defence of the capital, and had no sliare in any of the historical

actions of the war.

With Perron in Hindustan were the Second and Third Brigades,

under Bourgnien and Geslin, at Delhi. Two battalions of the Fifth

Brigade and 5,000 Tlindustan horse at Koil, and at Aligarh the

garrison troops under Pedron, and a similar body at Agra under

George Hessing. In addition there were about 10,000 Mardtha

cavalry.

207
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As far back as the month of March Sindhia had ordered Perron to

bring his army into 4 state of readiness to take the field, and these

instructions wero faithfully executed, By tho end of June it became

publicly known that war was inevitable. Perron was busy with his

preparations at Aligarh, and orders were issued to all the feudatory

chiefs in Northern India to rally to the standard. The Emperor's

royal tent was pitched at Delhi, and it was proclaimed that Sindhbia

‘was about to take wp arme against the English in order to defend the

Mughai from tyrants who sought to usurp his throne. The Second

and Third Brigades were massed at the capital and the Fourth was

on its way to join them, after its fruitless march to the Deccan,

Shah ’Alam was invited to place himself at tho head of the army—a

proposal the helpless old man was not in a position to decline .

Harstik Rai, Perron's chief bankor, was sent to the capital to advance

whatsosver money might be required for the troops. In short, all

that waa possible was done to put the army on a sound war footing,

and bring every available man into the field.

It is beyond doubt that Perron’s fixed determination was to fight.

However spurious his lip-loyalty had becn in the past, he now girded

his loins for war. Ono can only surmise the reason for this, It was

certainly not his fidelity to his master’s cause, for he had displayed

his insensibility to this too often; nor was it to secure his fortune, for

he had declined the offer of # safo conduct to Calcutta, which had

been recently guaranteed him; nor could it have been for the pure

love of fighting, for although Perron had in the past shown himself

a gallant man, he was never carried away by that lust of battle

which distinguished George Thomas. Lord Wellesley suggested that

he stayed on, hoping in the event of war to find two powers bidding

for his sword; but this was disproved by his doclining overtures sub-

sequently made to him by General Lake. There remains only one

solution to account for his line of conduct—hie relations with the French

Government. He was too deeply committed to dare to withdraw from

Hindustan, especially with the knowlodge that General Decaen’s

expedition, which had beon despatched not improbably on his appli-

cation, was at Pondicherry. This in ifself made his return to France

without striking a blow impossible, Had he deserted his post at the

elaventh hour he could never have faced the First Consul, te whom he

had sent an ambassador offering him the dominion of [lindustan.

Ii was necessity, not choieo, which made him apparently loyal te

Sindhia, and decided him to see the contest out; to whieh end he

sent his family and treasure to Agra, and made every preparation to

resist General Lake,
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But there was one power with whieh Perron had not reckoned, and

whose attack he had not evon anticipated. This was the enmity

behind him, One cannot but feel a compassion for this faithless man

when one learns the reason of his downfall. For even as he was

bracing himseif for ihe momentons struggle, working with onergy

and ability, hurrying from post to post, and doing everything in his

power to safeguard Sindhia’s interests, intrigne and treachery were

lengued against him in secret and plotting his downfall. As he had

meted it out to his master, so it was to be meted out to him.

Just before the declaration of war, Lord Wellesley issued a very

judicious proclamation inviting all the English offieors in Maritha

employ to quit their stations and come over to the British Govern-

ment, under promise of pensions graduated to their rank. Most of

the adventurers in Sindhia’s army tock advantage of this. Amongst

them were Captain Carnegie, a Scotchman, and Captain Stewart, a

country-born—both in ihe Second Brigade—who at an early date

signified to Perron their intention of loaving the service, Hearing

which the General grew furious, and summarily dismiased seven

other British-born officers, ordering them to quit Maritha territory

forthwith, and following tlus nection by a general discharge of all

British and British country-born subjects in the brigades. It was a

swift and prompi way of cutting the Gordian knot, and was resented

by not a fow, who remonsirated against the sweeping decision. But

Perron's wrath was roused, and the only reply be vouehsafed was 2

warning to them not to be feonnd within yeach of the Maritha enmp

after a certain date. His conduct is hardly to be wondered at: for

many months past he had been unpopular with his English srb-

ordinates, whom he had mortified and disgraced in the most unjust

way. Such men were not the ones to rely on in this extremity: their

prejudices were fixed and antagonistic io him. Fully realising this,

Perran determined to expel them from his service, and to repose his

confidences on his own countryien alone, especially on those related

to him by marriage or bound to him by ties of gratitude. Herein he

made his last and most fatal mistake.

On the 20th of August Perron Leard of General Take’s advance.

He immediately wrote to the British Commander-in-chief, expressing

his surprise and demanding to be informed if war had Leen declared

egainst Sindhia. In reply, General Lake explained his march in

general terms, and at the same time invited Perron to send a con-

fidential officer to confer. This was in accordance with instructions

received from Lord Wellesley, who had shortly before written to the

Comunander-in-chief in the followmg terms :—-
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“Tt would be highly desirable to detach M. Perron from Scindia's

service by pacific negotiation. M. Perron’s inclination cortainly is to

dispose of his power to a French purchaser. I should not be sur-

prised if he were found to be ready to entor into terms with your

iixcellency, provided he could obtain a sufficient security for his

personal interests. I empower your Excellency to conclude any

agreement for tho seeurity of M. Perron’s personal interests and

property, aecorapanied by any reasonable remuneration from the

British Government, whieh shall induee him to deliver up the whola

of his military resources and power, together with all his territorial

possesgiuns and the person of the Mogul] and the heir-apparent, into

your Hxeellency’s hands.”

Perron sent no*reply to General Lake's letter until the 27th of

August, when he wrote expressing an earnest desire to find some con-

venient means of avoiding hostilities, but declining the proposition of

sending a confidential officer to the British camp, on the grounds that

auch a step would excite the jealousy of Sindhia. But, asa counter pro-

posal, he suggesied that General Lake should send an officer to him.

With this the latter did not think fit to comply, but in conveying his

refusal he mentioned that the aim of the proposed conference with a

confidential officer of Perron had no reference to the public affairs of

the British Government, but to the private interests of Perron, and to

the means of executing with ease and eafety his recent design of

withdrawing from Sindhia’s service.

Perron’s reply was one that did him honour, He stated that it

was his intention to stay by Simdhia during the present crisis, and

that it was impossible for him to retire until his successor was

appointed. But he added that he would send hig aide-de-camp to

General Lake, and, in consequence, Mr. Beckott attended the Com-

mander-in-ehief on the 29th. But the conversation that ensued was

of a vague character, excepting that Beckett would not agreo to any

proposition for Perron’s surrender, and he withdrew without any

arrangement being concluded.

General Lake had during these communications steadily continued

his march, and wlien they were concluded he was xt the gates of

Aligarh. Direetly Mr. Becketh had left the camp the British army

moved ont to attack Perron, whose force consisted of about 14,000

cavalry, which included his own 5,000 regular Hindustani horse.

‘The position they had taken up was a strong one and favourable for

defence, their front being covered by an extensive swamp, which was

unfordalle in many parts, whilst their nght flank was protected by

the fortress of Aligarh, and their left derived considerable advantage
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trom the nature of the ground. Directly Perron observed indications

of the hostile movement m the British camp he strnck his own tents

and drew up his cavalry in line of battle.

General Lake determined to iry and turn the Icft flank of the

enemy, and, forming his cavalry up in two lines and his infantry in

three or four, as the confused nature of the ground permitled,

advauced to the attack. As he was executing this mancuvre a fine

opportunity was afforded Perron of making a bold charge with his

cavalry upon an enemy who numbered only two men to his three ;

but he did not dare to strike a blow, being intimidated and eon-

fonnded; and his indecision ran through the ranks. No sooner had

General Lake fired a few rounds from his galloper-guns than Perron's

force turned and Zed. The irregular portion disbanded and dispersed

to their homes, and the 5,000 Ilinduastani horse followed their chief

in retreat to Mandu, a large village eight miles south of Koil.

Amongst the British officers whom Pcrron had recently dismissed

from Sindhia’s service were Skinner and Stewart (country-borns),

Fergusson and Carnegie (Seotehmen), and Lucan and Henessy

(Ivishmen)—the latter a deserter trom the 14th Native Infantry, in

which he had been sergeant-major. They had started frum Koil on

the day previous to the battle, uud were proceeding southward to

Agra, where their families resided, About midday on the 29th, veing

encamped by the roadside during the heat of noon, they saw the

Maratha horse galloping towards them in a disorderly manner, as

they tied from the fight. Presently Perron Liuself dashed up “in

confusion and without his hat.’ Skinner, who at that time was

bound by no tie to the Lritish interest, had meade up his mind to

apply to Sindhia for redress, since his remonstrance against summary

dismissal had beon of no avail with Perron. This is how the story of

what now occurred is told in his memoirs :—

“Skinner went up to Perron immediately, aud wold him he had

come to again renronsirate against his dismissal, and had determined

to remain in the service and share Lis fortunes. ‘Ab! no, no,’

replied Perron, ‘itis all over. These fellows [the horse} have behaved

ill; do not ruin yourself; go over to the british; iv is all up with

us!’ ‘By no means,’ replied Skinner. ‘Itis uot so. Let us rally

yet and make a stand. You may depend upon having many yeb to

fight for you.’ But Perron still shook his bead, and after a little

while said in his bad Ielish,‘ Ah, no, Monsieur Skinner. 1 not

trust. [not truss. I ‘fraid you all go.’ Sinner on this got avery,

and retorted, saying that in thai case it was Perron who was the

traitor, if he meant to proceed in that way; if, on account of one or
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two ingrates, he should lose to his master the services of many

faithful persons, this was the way to ruin the cause. But that if he

persevered in doing all for the best, no doubt he might still hold ihe

country and effectively serve his master. But Perron, who had made

up hia mind on the matter, still refused’to have auything more te do

either with him or any of his brother officers, on which Skinner

declared he would go to Sindhia himself and complain. Perron

answered inipatiently, and bidding no further parley, shook his head

and rede off, saying, ‘Good-bye, Monsieur Skinner. No trust, no

trust!’ ‘Then you may go lo the devil!’ roared Skinner after him.”

Perron pursued his way to Hathras, where he made over the com-

mand of the Hindustani horse to Monsieur Fleurea, and ordered him

to go to Cawnpore, destroying the country ag he went. Perron him-

aclf retreated to Agra, where his family, and a great portion of his

wealth in precious stones, jewels, and shawls, had been sent.

The following day, the 80th of August, General Lake sent a summons

to Colonel Pedron to surrender Aligarh. ~Pedron was not disinclined to

listen io terms, but ho simultaneously reeeivod a letter from Perron,

who either divined or was informed cf the Commandant’s weakness,

and this doeurnent is worth quoting, if only to exhibit the singular

effrontery of the man who, having himself shamefully avoided battle

under the walls of Aligarh two days previously, could write in the

strain be now adopted :—

“Po Colonel Pedron.

*Srr,—You will have received the answer you are to make to the

propositions of General Lake... 1 uever could have believed that for

an instant you could have thought of capitulation,

“Remember you are a Frenchman, and let no action of yours tarnish

the high character of the nation.

“T hope in a few days to send back the English commander ax fast,

or faster, than he came. Make yourself perfectly casy on the subject.

Kither the Emperor’s army or the army of Genoral Lake shall find a

grave before the fori of Alyghur. Do your duty; and defend the fort

while one stone remains upon another.

“Ones more remember your nation. The eyes of millions are fixed

upon you.

“T am, etc.,

“C, Peron.”

Of a surety a characteristic letier, with its vainglorious vauntings

and its ineffable French vanity. Nor must notice be omitted of the
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reference to the Hmperor's—not Sindhia’s-—army, by whose valour

and heroism so great store was set. And yet, even as he invoked its

courage and protested its fidelity till death, that army was renouncing

Perron and swearing allegianee to Brigadier-Genera) Louis Bourguien,

ex-cook of Calentta, and guondam pyvotechnist of Lucknow, awhile it

elamourcd for the life of the man who cited its virtnes.

The fortress of Aligarh had beon rendered strong by all the skill and

pains which science could bestow, and Perron reposed the most im-

plicit confidence in Pedron. But the latter—‘'n stout, elderly man,

dressed in a green jacket with gold lace and epauicts ’’—was not made

of that stern metal requisite for defending a place “while one stone

remained upon another.” On the contrary, he would have bailed

capitulation with relief, had not the garrison refused to agree with

him. The troops in the fort consisted of BOO regulars, 1,000 Rajpuis,

and 1,200 irregulars, and a squadron of horse. These men resolved to

defend the place to the end, and deposing Pedron, elected for their

commander a Bahadari Rajput named Bagi Rio, whe signalised his

accession to officc by confining “the stout, elderly man in green,” and

occupying the place of honour in charge of the gate und outer fort.

General Lake, finding his summons (isregarded and his terns

refased, assaulted the stronghold on the 4th of September, with 500

Kuropeans and three battalions of Sepoys. This force left the camp

at? a.nv., and reached the walls alittle beforedawn. Lieutenant Lucan,

the Irishinan who had recently left Sindlia’s service, and had since

beon received by General Lake. volunteered to lead the storming party.

A pleqnet of 60 men with a 6-pounder pun had been stationed by Laji

Niko about fifty yards from the fort, aud this was quiekly driven back

by the forlorn hope, who captured tle gun after a desperate tussle.

They then made for the moat, whieh was se broad and deep that a

three-decker might have floated in it, aud crossed it by a narrow

causewiy leading to the vate, which was raked by two or ihree guns,

and flanked by a bastion, from whenee a mest destructive fire was kept

up. Sealing-laddors were now applied to the walis aud an attempt made

to mount them, bit the s.ormers were repulsed. A 12-pounder was

then run up to the gate, and after five shots it was blown open. ‘Tha

eonflict now became a hand-to-hand one, the garrison fighting with

atubborm bravery, but by degrees the attacking foree made good its

footing, aud eventually succeeded in capturing what had hitherto been

regarded ug an impreguable fortress. The Rajputs “ foughi like lions,”

und Baji Rio was killed, with 2,000 of the defenders. Gallant and

loyal men they were, as the following extract from General Lake’:

letter of the 40h of September shows: “Thad tried every method do
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prevail npon these people to give up the fort, and offered a very large

sum of money, but they were determined to hold ont, which they did

most obstinately, and, 1 may say, most gallantly. From the extra-

ordinary strength of the place, and being obliged to win it meh by itch,

it being so determinedly defended, in my opinion British valour never

shons more conspicuous.”

The Englisl loss at the storming of Aligarh was very heavy, no less

than 228 officers and men being killed and wounded. One hundred

and nine guns were captured, exclusive of wall-pieces, and a vast

quantity of warlike stores and material, including thousands of regi-

mental uniforms, chiefly blue jackets with red facings, made after the

French fashion. DPedron, in spite of himself, had the honour of being

made 2 prisoner of war.

The intrepid coup de main on the fort of Aligarh was a mortal blow,

not ouly to Perron, but to Sindhia, Ii created # panic in the minds of
ihe natives, and astonished oyery prince in Hindustan, giving them

exaggerated ideas of Kuropean valour and prowess.

It will be remembered ihat M. Fleures had been detached with

Perron’s 6,000 Hindustani horse to harry the country towards Cawn-

pore. He carried out his orders, and to him belongs the single success

achieved by any portion of Sindhia’s regular army during the war.

Making his way to Shikohibad, a small out-post in the Company's

froutier district of HtAwah, held Ly Lisutenant-Colonel Coningham,

with five companies of the 11th Native Infantry and one gun, Vleurea

attacked it on the 2nd of September. From four in the morning till

two o’elock in the afternoon the garrison resisted all bis attempts with

great spirit and resolution, and ultimately obliged him to fall back.

Tho attack was, however, resumed on the 4th, and Colonel Coning-~

ham, through the failure of his ammunition, was compelled to capita-

late after two hours’ fighting, and to give his parole that none of the

garrison should serve against Sindlia during the continuance of the

war. He retired to Cawnpore wilh his arms, amniunition, and all

his private property, the cantonment being burnt and pillaged, but

Mrs. Wilson, an officer's wife, was carried off by the Mahrattas. Colonel.

Coningham lost four of his officers and 68 Sepoys killed and wounded,

whilst Fleurea purehased lis viclory dearly, at the oxpense of seven

officors and 500 men. No sooner had these terms been arranged than

news arrived of the full of Aligarh. Flcurea’s troopers refused to

believe the fort had been taken by assault, but maimtained that it

had been treacherously surrendered by Perron, aud immediately made

their way to Agra i great indignation, expecting to find the general

there. He had, however, removed with his family and effects to
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Mattra, taking with him his bodyguard of 800 horsemen, mounted

from his own stablo, and here Fleures’s horse joined hima—a reinforce-

ment which, a3 events happened, proved highly inconvenient.

For within the period of oue short week that had clapsed since his

flight from Aligarh Lerron was destined io seu the whale fabric of his

power fall in fragments do the ground, and the army he had so long

commanded arrayed in revolt against him, More bitter to boar than

this was the revelation that his bosom friend ourguien was at the

head of the mutiny which declared their chief's deposition.

Bourgnien had received early intelligence of Ambaji's appointment

to supersede Perron, and on the first rumour reaching him began to

plot and intrigue against his chief, and publicly annonnced that he

had gone ovor to the English. A seniblance of confirmation was piven

to this by Perron’s supine conduct at the battle of Koil; and no

sooner did news of the abortive resistance reach Delhi, than Bourguien

threw off all disguise, and called on the Thitd Brigade to elevate him

to the supreme control, which they forthwith did. He then attempted

to win over the Second, under Monsieur Geslin, but tls officer stood

true to Perron, and denounced Bourguien. ont the spirit of mutiny

was abroad, and his men plaeed Geslin and all their officers of the

Second Brigade in arrest uncer fixed bayonets, and declared for Bour-

guicn, ‘The latter now demanded an andioneo with the Emperor, and

procured from him a Ahilut of investure as Commuandcr-in-chief of

the Imperial army. The blind and helpless monarch, in no position

to withhold favours, acquiesced with the simple faith that distinguished

all his actions whenever he was complimented by the request for an

exhibition of his regal authority. Never, surely, did such a stalking

horse exist for knaves to veil their designs, as poor old Shah ’Alam,

whe deputed more authority from a prison than many a sovereign

has done from a throne.

But Hourguien had not reckoned with Captain Drngeon, the keeper

of the King. Drugeon had been in trouble once, but liad experienced

Perron's clemency and forgiveness. He remembered this now, and in

the moment of his chief's downfall struck a loyal blow on bis behalf.

Resisting Bonrguien’s demand to deliver up to him all the public

treasure, Drugeon tuned out bis garrison of 5,000 men and expelied

the usurper from the fort, ab the same time informing the Emperor

that he would obey no one’ except he liad Perron’s orders,

Bourguien immediately laid sieve to the citadel of Delhi, and

planted a battery of eight guns in front of the Hajghat bastion,

which he battered for two days and Said level with the ground. Where-

upon the Emperor begged him to suspend operations, saying he would

20
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contrive to make Drugeon obey orders. Donrgnien having in the

meantime secured the person of Perron’s chief banker, Harsik Tai,

found sufficient occupation in squeezing several lakhs of rupees out of

bim—at which interesting point the story stops.

The usurpation of Perron’s office was not sufficient for Bourgiuen,

who, with truly Oriental thoroughness, determined to avoid half

measures, and complete the work he had begun. He now wrote to

the native officers of the Hindustani horse at Mattra, denouncing

Perron as @ traitor, and ordering them to seize him, and, if neecssary,

put him io death. It seems scarecly credible that a man who owed

everything he possessed to Perron should have been guilty of such

black and dastardly treachery. But its confirmation comes cireum-

stantially, and on the authority of Skinner, Smith, and Perron himself,

who adds that his assassination was only prevented by the presence of

mind of his aide-de-camp.

This was the last drop in tho bitter enp, already filled to overflowing.

A concatenation of disasters, misfortunes, and dangors was crusbing

Perron as suddenly as swiftly. First came tho fall of Aligarh; then

his supersession by Ambaji Ingha, his implacable enemy. Simulta-

neously the revolt of the Second and Third Brigades, and the news that

the commander of the Fourth Brigade had already pronounced for

Ambaji, despite the fact that Dndrence had been selected by Perron as

his own successor. Lastly came this attempt on his life, instigated by

Boarguien, at the hands of the cavalry who liad come hurrying in from

ShikohbAd, already meited against Perron by the news of the fall of

Aligarh, which seemed to them primd facie evidence of his treachery.

All these slings and arrows of outrageous fortune crowded in together,

and struck home, one after another, within the poriod of a few hours.

No wonder that Perron was “confounded with the dangers whieli

surrounded him,” and determined to throw himself on the liberality

of the British Government for protection and safety. But in order to

accomplish this he was obliged to employ stratagem. Mustering

his Hindustani horse he harangued them, condemning Bourguien’s

conduct, and assuring them of his own loyalty. He declared he

would af ones march to punish the mutineers and then, if they

would follow him faithfully, drive the British out of the Doib, These

were brave words, bui he had braver material bebind them. As an

earnest of his good intentions, he handed over three lakhe of rupees

to the native officers to be distributed amongst the mon. It was an

astute piece of liberality, and resultcd, as Perron had counted, in the

soldiery quarrelling over the division. Meanwhile he prepared their

minds for his departure, by announcing that he would cross the Jumna

that evening, with his bodyguard, en route for Delhi.
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Everything turned out according to his desires. Dy snnact he had

placed the river between him and his Tlindustani horse, and, by

bribing the ferrymen, secured the retainment of every boat on his side

of the stream for the rest of the night. He then left, s1ying he was

going to cnenmp a short distance ahead; instead of whieh he made a

forecd mareh of thirty miles to Sasni, sendinron an express ta Geueral

Lake to inform him that he had resigned Sindhia’s service, anid

desired to venow his application to retire within the Company's

territories to Lucknow.

In this letter, which reached General Take on the Tth of Scptexaber,

Perron mentioned that he had just heard of the appointment of his

successor, Which relieved him of all obligations to remain at his post,

and further observed that the treachery and ingratitude of his European

officers eonvineod him that further resistance to the British was

useless,

The Commander-in-chief immediatelycomplied with Perron’s

request, and detached a British officer to meet bim and conduct him

in safety to Lucknow. He also permitted Perron to retain his body-

guard as an escort, and provided for his reception in the Company’s

territories with every mark of respeet and henour. This course of

action was later on approved by the Governor-General, who wrote: * T

consider the retirement of General Verron in tho present crisis of

affairs to be an event highly favourable to the sueccss of the British

arms, and to the interests of the LBrilislh Government in India. It

must also diminish the confidenec which the Native powers of India

have been acenstomed to repose in the fidelity of their French

officers.”

Thr in ten days from Genoral Lake's arrival before Aligarh

Perron’s power was dissolved, and Limself a fugitive in tho British

camp, Nover surely did a master of so many legions fall so swiftly,

and soignominiously Not asinglo blow had he struck to uphold that

sovereign power which he had wielded for seven years. All his brave

schemes, his elaborate plans of campaign, his protestations of fidelity,

his vauntings, and his vanity had melted into nothingness ab the first

eight of tho Lritish flag flying in the leart of his domain. With a lic

on his lips, and hie trembling hands squandering gold to bribe tho

soldiery he dared not trust, Perron fled from his kingdom, followed

by the execrations of his troops and the exultant denunciation of his

fellow-countrymen.

Tho causes which led to this dramatic downfall were many. In

the first place Porron had calculated that the British army would

wait for the termination of the rainy season before atarting from



808 PHHRERON.

Cawnpore, whereas General Lake marehed out in mid monsoon. He

considered that Aligarh would sustain a siege of at Icast two months,

during whieh time he would be uble to bring up his brigades and fight

an advantageous battle beveath its walls. But his impregnable for-

tress fell in a single day, and this, in itself, appalled him. His sudden

supersession by Arabaji, under whom he was ordered to serve, con-

fronted him with actual danger to hia person and property. The

defection of his brigades, one afier another, paralysed him and left him

helpless. But, above all, the treachery of his bosom friend Bourguien

erowned his tribulations, and foread from him the ef tu Brute that

bows its head in dospair, and resigns itself to fate.



CHAPT IL Xx.

BOURGUIEN IN EXOELSIS,

sas.

ERRON'S Dight left {he road completely clear for Lois Bourguicn,

who was a man as weak ss he was wicked, us conecited as lie

was incompotent, and as timid as he was treacherous, It was in

keoping with his character that he should seck to make a stepping

stone of his benefactor. From time to time Bourgnien’s shadow bas

fallen across these pages, yet never onee gloriously. Whether at

Ajmir, endeavouring to bribe un cncmy he could not beat, or at

Georgeyarh keeping out of range of fire, or at Hansi, enteriug into

foul intrigue to ruin a bravo man, he is always an inflated, low-born

fellow, fitted only to handle his mative skewers, or discharge the

rockets of braggadocio, Lut he never fell so despicably low as when

he proved a traitor to Perron, who had paid him the compliment of

believing in him. At the first whisper of omen, this renexade

brageart, whom every consideration should havo impelled to remain

true to his clief, was the firet to declare against him, and on the

lofty grounds—forsooth—of loyalty fo Sindhia’s service! Louis

Bourguien apostrophising the code of honour ia an idea tov precious

to be lost!

Tt has been shown how Bourguicn tampered with the brigades at

Delhi, and induced them to elect hin te their Lead, and how Geslin

and Drugeon opposed him without success. He gained the day, and

wae for 2 time in nominal command of the Iuperial army. © Lut,”

says Lewis Ferdinand Smith, ‘he baffled his own cnds. if once the

reins of subordination are thrown aside, and the soldiery encouraged

to revolt, it is difficult to chock or repress the commotion which often,

like a dangerous instrument in fecble hands, recoils on him who holds

ik © Such was the result of the mutiuous spirit Boureuien had infused

into the troops of the two brigades. Licentious with impunity, they
309
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despised the orders of hina who had taught then to despise their own

Commander-in-chiel”

After the fall of Aligarh Delhi became the rallying point for the

troops Perron had deserte], hither rade Flourca’s 5,000 Tlindustani

horse, convineed now that Bourguien was a true man, since he had

warned them of the general's defection. When they arrived at the

capital they fonnd the brigades—which included eighteen battalions

and 110 pieces of cannoa—in a state of mutinous confusion and

anarehy. Simultaneously naws arrived that General Lake, with rapid

marches, was approaching. A change at once came o’er the spirit of

Bourguien’s dream, and he endeavoured to persuade the troops to

retire to Hariana.

This opened their cyes and convinced them that their new general

Was a8 raver and untrustworthy as their discarded onc. Never in the

history of the brigades had battle beon shirked, as it was now pro-

posed to shirk it, The spirit of the mien rebelled against the

cowardice of their officers, and they forthwith deposed Bourguien and

placed him in confinement, electing a Native name Sarwar Khan to

the chief command.

Such is Skinner's version of the progress of eventa at Delhi during

the few days preceding General Leke’s arrival. But Bourguien must

have been released almost immediutely, for he personally superin-

tonded the preparations for defence, and wasin command at the battle

that shortly took place. On the Oth of September he moved his two

brigades down to Tatbarghdt and began to cross the Jumna, and hy the

11th twelve battalions of infantry, 5,000 Elindustani horse, and 70 pieces

of cannon had offected the passage, when the arrival of the British

army compelled him to form his treops for battle, which he did in

tolerably good order, but faking carve to keop himself, with some

cavalry, out of reach of fire.

General Lake was tnaware of the proximity of the enemy, for they

were cntirely concealed from view by the high grass jungle which in-

tervened. Having completed a fatiguing marel of oighteen miles,

and reached the banks of the Hindun river, six miles distant from

Delhi, the British army began to pitch their tents ; aud some of the

Sepoys were actually engaged in cooking their food, when a large body

of Bourgnien’s horse suddenly appeared so close at hand that the

grand guard and advanced pickets were at onee turned out. The

enomy’s numbers increasing, General Lake went ta the front to re-

connoitro, accompanied by three regiments of cavalry. He found

Bourguicn’s army drawn wp in complete order of battle, on rising

ground, and with their guns strongly posted.
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It was not a favourable hour io accept battle, for the time wus mid-

day, and the British troaps wearicd with along march, having been

ia motion since thyec o’elock in the morning. The leat was intense,

and under the fierce rays of a September stm many of the Euro-

peans had been prostrated Ly sunstroke. General Lake’s entire force

consisted of 4,500 men, and included one King’s regiment (the 76th),

seven battalions of Sepoys. the 27th Dragoons, and two regiments of

Native cavalry. With these le had to oppose nearly 10,000 regular

infantry, 5,000 Hindustani horsc, and 70 guus, posted in wn udvan-

tageous position.

Bourguien opened the action with a heavy cannonade, which caused

General Lake to send orders for the infantry and artillery to move up

instantly to the front. They were quickly formed, and marched for-

ward in columne of grand divisions from exch battalion, but it was at

least un hour before they -joinedihe gencral ; and all this time his

cavalry was exposed to a constant,and well-directed artillery fire, which

occasioned heavy less. At last the Commanier-in-chicf (whose horse

had been shot under lim), pexeeiving the enemy were so strongly posted

as to make an attack not only difficult but hazardous, determined to

draw therm on to more level yround by a felnt, and ordered the

cavalry to retire with the double object in view of enticing the enemy

from theix position, and effecting a more rapid junetion with the

infantry, than if he hed waited for them to come up. The manecuvre

was entirely snecessful, for Lourguieu’s battalions immediately left

their ground, and pursued the retréealing cavalry with exultant shouts

of victory. But they halted dead when euddenly the British infantry

eae in sight. General Lake’s cavalry at once opened from the centre

to perniit the infantry to pass through to the front, then the line waa

swiftly formed, whilst the cavalry massed and took up a position about

forty yards in the rear of the right wing.

‘The order was now given tor « general advaneco. Led by the Com-

qander-in-chicf in person, and amidst a tremendous fire of round, grape,

and ¢hain-shot, the regimonts pressed forward in one steady desperate

assault of bayonct against caunon, ‘The men fell ly scores, but they

never took their muskets from their shoulders till within a hundred

paces, Then the charge was sounded, and imiuediately the whole

line gave a single volley and doubled forward upon Bourguien’s guns

and battalions with such impetuosity, that the latter refused to meet

them, and, turning rightabout feacc, led from the field. As soon as

the infantry charge was spent, General Lake gave the order to broul

up into columus of companies, leaving gaps through whieh the

eavalry charged wilh the yalloper guns, und falling upon the Jying
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foe, rendered the victory a eomplete one. The battle was fought

within sight of the minarets of Delhi, and before sunset the British

army was encamped on the east bank of the Jumna, opposite the cily.

Ji was the first time in their famous career that De Boigne’s

battalions had given way without showing stubborn fight. Had he

who created them commandzd them, there would have been a

different tale to fell, but, deserted by their officers, and left without

proper control or direction, they obeycd the instincts which have

always asserted themsclvyes in Asiatic troops when bereft of leaders.

Bourguien and his French officers were the first to fly from the field,

and, accompanied by a few horsemen, who afforded them an example

of fidelity, thoy sought refuge in Delhi. “Here the miscreant” (to

quote General Lake’s despatch), “after plundering the city, took bim-

self and his vagabonds offon the morning of the 12th, and the country

people were so enraged at being plundered by Bourguien, that they

retaliated by plundering the baggage of his fngitive troops.”

In the battle of Delhi Geneval Take Jost 477 men killed and

wounded, of whom 131 belonged to the ranks of the gallant 76th.

In Bourguien’s army 8,000 men were killed and wounded, and 68 guns,

87 tumbrils of ammunition, and two tumbrils of treasure captured. The

report of the ordnance taken is an interesting document, and reflecta

ercdit on the handiwork of Sangster. Colonel Tlorsford thus describes

the captured pieces : ** The iron guns (eight in number) are of Europe

manufacture, The brass guns, mortars, and howitzers have been cast

in India, one Portuguese three-pounder exeepted. Some bear an in-

seription of having beon made at Muttra, others at Agra; but the

whole are evidently from the designs and execution of an European

artist. The dimensions are in goenoral those of the I'rench, and the

workmanship is of as high a finish as any in the Company’s arsenal.

The whole of the guns are furnished with well-made elevating screws

of tho latest French improvement.”

Three days after the battle of Dolhi General Lake began the cross-
ing of the river, and on the 16th of September paid his first visit to

the Emperor, Shali’Alam. His progrcss to the paluce was slow, for

the streets were thronged wits the populace, eager to behold the

English general who had emancipated them from the bondago of the

French adventurers. General Lake found the great Mughal seated

uuder a small tattered canopy in a mockery of regal state. The aged

monarch showed signs of all the oppressions of old age, degraded

authority, and extreme poverty, and his miserable appearanve wag

eloquent of his recent sufferings. “ Tt reflected,” writes Major Thorn,

“indelible disgrace upon the merciless oppressors who had usurped
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his dominion,” and Lord Wellesley records that, ‘in the motaphorienl

language of Asia, the Native news-writers, who described this oxtras

ordinary scene, have declared that His Majesty’s deliverance restored

the sight to his eyes from execssof joy.” In addition to many other

marks of royal favour und condescension, the Emperor was graciously

pleased to confer upon General Lake the pleasing if voluminous title

of ©The Sword of State; the Hero of the Land; the Lord of the Age;

and the Vietorious in War.” Tis Majesty, it may be observed, was a

poeb, and given to composing verscs. A not inelesant translation of

one of his elegics is given in the Appendix to Franeklin’s ‘ Life of

Shah Allum.”

The views expressed above concerning the actual condition in which

Shah ‘Alam was confined must be accepted with a certain amount of

reserve. It was alinost an axiom in 1803 that a Frenchman could do

no good. Mills, the historian, is inclined to consider that the Eimperor

was very fairly treated, eyen though Lord Wellesley talks of his ‘* de-

liverance from degradation and bondage.’ That the poor old man

was most cruelly used in the past has been shown in the sketch

of De Boigne’s life, bué there is evidence that his condition was

much ameliorated when Drugeon was appointed his keeper. Up to

that time Shah ’Alam was nearly starved by Shalji the Fakir.

After this there ig an indication that the Mnuperor wus far from satis-

fied, for he wrote to Sindhia, requesting that bis allowance might be

paid by that Prinee himself, and not allowed to filter through channels

which evidently showed alcakage. The ineome allotted to Shab Alam

was nine lakhs of rupees annually, but Major Thorn asserts that

‘not more than 1s.50,000 wore actually appropriated for that purpose,

86 that the descendant o Timur (who wus at the time eighty-three

years of age) and his immense houscheld wore often in want of the

common necessaries of life.” The suggestion immediately forces

itself forward—who had the cight and a lalf Jakhs unaccounted for ?

Not Drugoon, for his savings amounted to only its. 30,000. THe was,

moreover, merely the deputy of Perron, to whom Sindhia granted

the Soubalidari of Delhi in place of Shahji.

Lord Wellesley thus sununarises the situation after the occupation

of the capital. ‘Dy the suceces of our arms interesting purposes of

humanity were accomplished, and so far as the object is regarded in

uw political point of view, His Majesty Shah *Alluu being placed under

the protection of the British Government, no other power can now

avail itself of the weight and influence which the Emperor's name

Inust ever possess wanongst the Mahomedan inhabitants of Hindostan.

‘The attention of the Governor-General is now directed to the forma-
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tion of a permanent arrangement for the future dignity and comfort

of His Imperial Majesty. . . . He has also given directions to provide

for the nobility and the great officers of state af Delhi, whose fortunes

have been destroyed by the successful usurpation of Scindia’s French

adventurers.”

‘Thus, after a life of singular trial and vicissitude, Shah ‘Alam found

a suitable repose in his extreme old age. But the fact must not be

lost sight of that the British Government never attempted to restore

that authority and power which ‘Scindia and the French adventurers

had usurped,” but merely appropriated it itself, The moval justifics-

tion for this does not appear io be discussed in any official work on

the subject.

Three days after the battle cf Delhi Louis Bourguien surrendered,

with four of his officers, whose naines are given as Gessin (? Geslin),

Guerinnicr, Del. Perron, and Joan Pierre, Tt is also probable that

Drugeon asked and obtained yuarter ab the same time, for there is x

reference in one of General Lake’s despatches to a sum of five and a

half lakhs of rupees “ captureclim the hands of M. Drugeon,” which

waa divided as prize-money. Bourgnien und the officers with lim

wore confined under a strong guard, and 4 little later sent lo Fatehgarh,

from whence they were deported to the Presidency. Their surrender

was accelerated by the dangers that threatened them from the enraged

populace of the capital, to escape whose resontment they were very

glad to solicit British protection.

Thus, within the space of a fortuight (ucluding the interregnum

during which he was imprisoned by his own troops), began, flourished,

and ended the reign of Brigadier-General Bourguien. Begotten in

treachery, conducted with cowardice, and concluded in defeat and

dishonour, Louis Bourguien’s Indian carcer found e fitting termina-

tion. It will not, perhaps, surpriso the reader to loarn that on the

achieverneut of his last fortniyhe he founded a claim to having vali-

antly endeavoured to save the Mardthd Hmpire from destruction.
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LASWARI AND ASSAYE,

1803.

FTER establishing matters on a sound footing at Dethi, General

Take marched, on the 24th of September, for Acra, leaving the

capital and the Emperor's person in charge of Colonel Ochterlony,

who was supported by a battalion and a half of the Company’s Native

infantry, and two newly-raised regiments of Najibs, recruited from men

recently in Perron’s service, and emumanded by Licutenants Birch and

Woodwill, ex-otficers in Sindlia’s employ. It should also be men-

tioned that immediately after the battle of Delhi sight Ristlas or

squadrons of the Hindustani horse caine over to General Lake, and

were taken into British employ, Captain Skinucr being appointed tu

command them, These subsequently became a fainaus regiment,

known as Skinner’s Irregular Horse.

There wore six battalions of Perren’s Second and Third Brigades

which had failed to cross the Jumna in time to participate in the

battle of the 1ith. So soon as tho dny was lost they fled to Fatehpur

Sikri, where they divided. Three, under Sarwar Kliin, effected a

junction with the Fourth Brigade, which was on iis way from the

Deccan, under Dudrenec, to juin the ummy at Deli. 'Vhe Chevalier,

ind two of his officers, Major Lewis Verdinand Smith and Lientenant

Lupenct, now left their troops, and. surrendered to Colonel Vandeleur

at Mattra on the 30th of September, the command of the Fourth

Brigade being taken over by Sarwar Khan. The other three Delhi

battalions pushed om to Agra, where they joined four battalions and

twenty-six pieces of cannon belonging to Perron'’s Fifth Brigade,

which lind also been dispatched from the Deeean, under Major

Brownrigg, to strengthen the forees in Upper India. These seven

battalions, being denied entranco to the fort by tle garrison, took up

a position on the glacis outside. ‘fhe troops in Agra consisted of

4,000 fighting men, under Colonel George THessing. They bad broken
Bis
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inte ruutiny after Perron’s defection, and mado Hesuing a prisoner, as

well as the European o‘ticers under him. In the fort was treasure

amounting to twenty-five lakhs of rupees (£800,000 storling), which

had been sent there by Perron for safety when hostilities first

threatoned, and of which particular mention will be made later on.

The revolted gurvison desired to divido this treasure, bub their mutual

jealousies prevented them from agreeing to any plan of apportion-

ment, and the singular circumstance was presented of these muti-

neers guarding their precious charge from each other with the utmost

vigilanee. When they heard of tho arrival of Brownrigs's battalions,

and these from Delhi, they dreaded their strength and unanimity,

and refused to admit them into the fort, Dut still they did not dare

to broach the treasure themselves, being intimidated by their Euro-

poan prisoners, Colonels Georgo Hessing and Robert Suthorland,

Majors Brownrigg and Deridon, and Captains Harriot, Marshall, and

Atkins, who warned then: tha if tlie monoy were tampered with their

lives would answer for it when the British arrived,

On the 2nd of October General Lake reached Mattra, and, forming

a junction with Colonel Stevenson's detachment, moved on to Agra,

where, at 2 p.m. on the dth, a summons was sent to the garrison to

surrender, But within the fort all was anarchy and confusion, and

not sven a reply was returned.

The seven battalions, however, who were encaniped on the glacis

had preserved their disciplinc, and now prepared to show fight,

which, considering that they were locked out of the fort by their

fellows, exhibited uncomroon spirit and resolution. So leng as they

held thoir position it was impossible for General Lake to make any

approaches against Agra, and accordingly he determined to dislodge

them. This he effected on the 10th, with nine battalions of Native

infantry, but it cosb a long and severe fight, and his loss was nine

officers and 218 men killed and wounded. The seven battalions

resisted stubbornly, and it was not until they had lest 600 men, and

all their twenty-six guns that they yielded. “The enemy,” wrote

General Lake in his despatch desoribing the action, “fouglit most

desperately. I understand they are supposed 10 be the best Perron

lad, and they were so advantageously posted that it was almost im-

possible to get at them.” Two days after the battle the survivors of

these seven battalions, amounting in all to about 4,500 men, tendered

their submission, under protnise of being taken into the Coimpany’s

service on the sale pay at they lind received in Sindhia’s, and march-

ing over to the British lines on ihe 13th of October, encamped alony

side of their conquerors.
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The siege of Agra was now commonced. Althongh Sarwar Khan

with the Fourth Brigade, the three Delhi battalions (in all about

9,000 infantry), and 1,500 Hindustani lorse, was encamped within

thirty miles, he made uo attempt to relieve the fort; this eould not

have been from went of spirit, for his troops had plenty of fight in

them, as they showed before the month was out, and their supine

attitude can only be attributed io the want of intolligent direction, due

to their desertion by their Enropean ollicors.

A breaching battery having been erected within 350 yards of the

south-east side of Agra fort, preparations were made for s bombard-

ment. But before it waa opencd the garrison released Colonel Suther-

land from confinement, and sent him io ask for terms. To brought

a letter signed by Hegsing, as commandant of the fert, who wrote

that “bis soldiery had become a little more reasonable from his

having repeatedly told them-that any further resistance on their part

would avail them nothing, buton the contrary cxasperate the English.”

They were now prepared to deliver up the fort, guns, sboror, Xe., on

condition of protection ta themaclves and their private property.

“Dut,” added Uessing, ‘ should any unforseen deviation from this

proposal take place, as wo are still their prisoners, we hope your

Lixcelieney will not impuic to us the blame.”

Tu reply, General ake sauctioned the terms asked for, but particn-

larly specified that no treasure was fo be taken out of the fort, He

granted one howr’s grace in which to confirm tho agreement. This

answer was taken by Captain Salkeld, bul after receiving it fresh

difficulties and diyergenecs of opinion arose amongst tho garrison,

ani in the midst of them the firing reconnnenced from the fort,

whereupon Captain Salkeld immediately retired.

In consequence of this treacherous act all negotiations were decreed

ended, and the breaching battery opened on the morning of the 17th,

doing considerable damage to the high stone bastions and rampart.

A few hours sufficed to bring the garrison to their knees, and the next

morning the place capitulated, and the English marehed in, The

defeated troops, amounting to 4,000 men, were permitted to depart,

and some of ther joined the British scrviee, whilst others dispersed

to their homes, Twenty tumbrils laden with treasure, amounting to

twenty-four lakhs, wero taken, and the amount distributed as prize-

money. The ordnance captured consisted of 76 brass and 86 iron

guns, including a famous piece known as “The Great Gun of Agra,”

which was composed of many metals, incluling all the precious ones,

and discharged a ball measuring twenty-two inches in diameter, and

weighing 1,500 Ibs. General Lake attempted to send this “ Agra
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Infant” as a trophy to Caleutta, bot it was swamped in the Jumna,

and under the golden sands of that river found a fiaal resting-place.

In loss than two months Aligarh Delhi and Agra had been captured,

and three battles won, by whicli the Second, Third, and Fifth Brigades

had been practically destroyed—only the Fourth, and threo of the

escaped Delhi battalions, remained undefeated, bnt this foree had been

gradnally swollen by the daily arrival of refngecs and small, dispersed

parties from Delhi and Agra, so that ib now numbcred twelve or four-

teen battalions, furnished with seventy-four pieces of artillery. Against

this formidable fores General Lake turned his arms. “Jf I can get

hold of the brigades of the Deccan,” he writes, “not a Frenchman

will be lefii im the country.” He had information of their position. and

at first made overtures to their commander, Sarwar Khan, to desert

Sindhia’s cause, offering him very tempting pecuniary inducements.

Bui this native was as faithful as he was gallant, and vejacted them.

Tt speake well for the loyalty and discipline of De Boigne’s hatialiona

that in those dark days, when they were deserted by all, or nearly all,

their Muropean officers, and were aware that every action hitherto

fought had gone against them, they still maintained themselves as an

army and stood to their guns. How nobly they held out to the very

end let the story of LaswAri show.

When Sarwar Khin heard of the fall of Agra ho marehed from

Fatehpur Sikri, where he was encamped, to Bhartpur, to gain the pro-

tection of the fort, The Rijah, however, refused him admittance,

whereupon he prevailed on a local Mardtht, ehieftain to join him with

about 5,000 irregular cavalry, and commenced his march towards the

Méwatti country, levying contributions as he went.

General Lake started from Agra in pursuit of theso troops on the

27th of October, and on the Ist of November overtook them at the

village of Laswari, after a forced march of twenty-six miles, performed

af night, during which the cavalry had outstripped the infantry.

When he came upon the cnemy ab sunrise he had only three regi-

ments of dragoons and five of Native cavalry with him, but with

these he determined to make an immediate attack without waiting for

the arrival of the infantry. So he placed himself at their head, and

led them forward, hero never was a more gallant general than

Gerard Lake, who was “a man of action” in the boldest sense of the

word, Throughout this Mardthé war we find him ever heading

charges in person, just as if he had boen the celonel of a cavalry corps,

and constantly having lis horses shot under him on the field of

battle.

He now attacked and forced the enemy’s first lino in the face of a
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tremendous discharge of grape and musketry, which created groat

slaughter amongst his squadrons, whose progress was seriously

impeded by chains fastened to the enemy's cannon and running from

one battery to another, “ Sarwar Khin’s battalions reserved their

fire,” writes Major Thorn, “ till our cavalry eae within a distanee of

twenty yards of the ninzsles of their guns, which, heing eonecaled ly

the high-grass jungle, became perceptible only when a fiorce discharye

of grapo and double-headed shot mowed down whole divisions, as the

sweeping storm of hail levels the growing crop of grain to the earth,

But, notwithstanding the shock of this iron tempest, nothing could

repress the ardour of the cavalry, whose velocity overcamo every resis-

tance, Having penetrated the oneuty’s lino, they immediately formed

again, and charged backwards and forwards three times amidst the

continued roar of the cannon and an incessant shower of grape, and

chain-shot, with surprising order and effect. ‘The scene of horror was

heightened and the work of destruction increased by the disadvantage

under which our cavalry had to act; for no sooner had they charged

through than the artillerymen of the enemy (who, to save themselves,

had taken shelter under their guns), directiy our men had passed, re-

loaded them and fired upon our rear.” So determined was this resia-

tanco and so galling the fire, thai ab last General Lake found it

nccessary to withdraw out of reach of the enemy’s guns, and await the

assistance of the infantry to continue the battle.

It was not until noon that the rest of the troops camo up, after

having covered a distance of twenty-five aniles sinee three o’elock in

the morning, A short resi being absolutely necessary, two hours

were allowed the fatigued troops in which to recover themselves.

Taking advantage of this delay, Sarwar Khan fell back and concen-

trated lis battalions around the village of Mchalpur, placing the Fourth

Brigade on the left, and the refugees of the Second and ‘Third Brigades,

who had redeemed their character, lost at Delhi, by ropelling the

cavalry charge, on the right, whilst the cavalry was stationed in the

rear. In front of bis position was a tank or large pond of water, the

embankment of which he cut, and so flooded the space between the

two armies. His front was covered by his guns, which were posted

with great judgment.

Soon after noon General Lake formed his infantry into two columns,

and dirocted one to support the other in turning the right flank of the

enemy, while the cavalry were detached to make a hostile demonstra-

tion against their front. The renewed action opened with a tremen-

dous cannonade, and as soon ag Sarwar Khan perecived the plan of

the attack, he threw back his right wing so as to bring it at almost
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right angles with his front and left wing, both rears being protected by

the village of Mehélpur. The gallant 76th led the way against this

position, supported with equal alacrity hy the 12th Native Infantry.

When they arrived within 1 hundred and fifty paces of the enemy’s

line their ranks were boing so mown down by Sarwar Khan's admir-

ably-served guna, that, sooner than risk a temporary halt whilst wait-

ing for the reserves to come up, General Lake ordered a bayonet

charge. The men responded magnificently, and rushing forward with

2 ringing British cheer, were scon in the thick of a méiée, wherein not

even 2 spirited charge of the enemy's cavalry could dismay them;

and when, in turn, the British cavalry spurred forward to attack, the

day was won.

But splendid as was the advance, equally splendid was the resist-

ance. On the field of Laswari De Boigne’s battalions surrendered not

only their glorious career, but their existence as an army and their

lives ag men. There was no. contusion, no fear, no rout: to the end

they were staunch, disciplined veterans, on whose colours were em-

blazoned Patan, Morta, and Lalkhairi, and worthily they sustained their

proud heritage. Their breasts met the opposing British bayoneta

ag inch by inch they contested ovory point, refusing to give way until

they had lost the whole of their guns, and even then, although their

situation had become desperate, they continucd to maintain the same

courage and disposition, When at last, out-fouglt by British

persistance, thoy fell back, it was in steady retreat and good order.

But it was too late to escape, They were broken in column, and eut

to pieces by the British cavalry, who detoured and took them in rear,

sabreing all except 2,000 men. These, bcing hemmed in on all sides,

and without a loophole for eseape, surrendered as prisoners of war.

They were the sole survivors of fourteen battalions numboring 9,000

men who had been ranged in the field that morning! The annals of

Indian warfare contains no more dreadful sacrifice at the shrine of

duty.

The battle was over by four o’clock in the afternoon, The enemy's

camp was captured as it stood, with all their baggage, 74 guns, and 44

stands of colours. The joss on the British side amounted to 834 men

killed and wounded of all grades, ineluding 42 officers. Major-

General Ware and Colonel Vandelour were amongst the killed. The

Commendor-in-chief had two horses shot under him, and his son,

Major George Lake, was wounded in the act of tendering his charger

to his father. ,

No sketch of the battle of Laswiri could do complete justice to the

vanquished, if it emitted to quote General Lake's secret despatch to
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Lord Wellesley, dated from the field of battle on tle 2ud ef November,

1803. The following is an extract from it :—

“Che enemy's battalions ure tuost uncommonly well uppoiuted,

have o must numerous artillery, as well sorved as they possibly can be,

the gunners standing to their guns until killed by the bayonet. All

the Scpays of the enomy bebaved exceedingly well, and if they had

been comnuutuded by French officers, the affair would, I fear, have

been oxtremely doubtful. T never was in so severe a business in my

life. and pray God I never nay be in such a situation again. Their

aruny is better appointed than ours; no expense is sparcd whatever,

and they have three tines the number of men to a enn we have.

Their bullocks, of which they have many iore thin we have, ure of

a very superior sort. All their men’s knapsacks and baggage are

eurricd upon camels, by which moans they can march double the

distance, ... Dhese fellows fought like devils, ur rather heroes, and

had ive nol wutde a disposition for udtuchk te uw style that we should

have done against the most fornvidable ering we coal have been

oppose to, I verily believe, froue the position they had tehkeit, we

wight have farted?

skinner, in Lis memoirs, strikes wimore huiuan note, as indeed he

uften does in his racord of these starring times.

“As General Lako was returning from the battle some of the

hivepeans cheered bim. Ie took off lis hat and thanked them, bul

tol them to despise death, as those brave fellows had dene, pointing

b. the Mahrattas who wore lying thick about their guns. All these

nus were captured, with several thousand prisoners, besides killed

wml wounded, the number of which on the Maliratta side was very

aveat. But it waa never properly ascortained, as [ believe the field

was never cleared, and the poor fellows were left to the wild

beasts |

At TaswSri the destruction of the last of Perron’s bettalous im

HHudustan was completed. Twelve hud been routed at Delbi, seven.

at Avra, and ten more here, exelusive of the dispersed fnigitives from

{he previous battles. In the tortresses of Aligarh, Agra, amd Delhi,

thous 18,0G0 garrison troops had been broken up, and the 6,000

Hitudustani drorse never paraded ayain. The total amounted to

noutly 40,000 men, of whom twelve weeks after the decluratiun of war

uoba vestige remained in oppogitien, At least-one third of them bad

Loun actaully killed or wounded in fight—-a returu which Uustrates

their brayery and devotion to a lost catse far better than any

words can hope io do, Without detracting from the merits of the

victors, the observation may be pertuitled, that lad it been pussible te

2h
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deprive the British army, suddenly and without warning, of all their

commissioned officers ai the commencement of the campaign, it in

doubtful whether the record at the end of i¢ would have illustrated

such devotion trne to death as ennobled the passing of De Boigne’s

Lattalions.

Whilst General Lake was winning victories, and Perron’s army

crumbling away in Hindustan, the samo process had been going ou in

the Deccan, where Sindhia and Bhonsla wero opposed by General

Arthur Wellesley, The force in the south consisted of the First Bri-

gade under Major Pohlman ; four battalions of the lute Vidcle Filoze,

now commanded by Major Dupont, and generally referred to as

Dupont’s Corps ; five battalions of the Begum Somru’s under Colonel

Salvur ; und Sindhia’s grand park of artillery of 62 euns, which, added

to those of the Brigades, brought up the total to 115 pieces in the field.

In addition to these troops there were 35,000 irregular Maratha

cavalry.

Gencral Wellesley’s first’ exploit was the capture of Ahmeduaggar,

a strong fortress ncar Poonah, garrisoned by 3,000 men, ‘ inehiding

1,00 Sepoys, in white jackeis, commanded by thres French officers,

w litthe dark coloured, who wore blue clothes.” ‘he Geveral then

murelicd against the combined armies of Sindhia and the Rajah of

Berar, These, on the 24th of August, had entered the territories of

the Company’s ally, the Nizam of Haidarabad, by the Adjanta Ghat,

aud reached Jalnapur, a plage foriy miles east of Aurangabid. After

somo marching and counterniarching, which only gave opportunity

for a little skirmishing, Genoral Wellesloy manaved to come within

striking distance of an onemy, whose disposition had heen to avoid

action. Although at the moment a considerable portion of his troops

was detached at 2 distance under Colonel Stevenson, whereby he waa

much weakened, the General determined not to lose the chance

aiforded for a battle. Leaving his baggage under guard of a battalion -

and a half of Sepoys at Naulnér, he marched, on the 2érd of Sepiember,

with the 74th and 78th King’s Regiments, the 19th Light Dragoons,

four battalions of Native infantry, and four regiments of Native cavalry

to the place where the onemy were known to be encamped near the

fortified village of Assuye, where be arrived nt one o’clock in the

nfternoon, after a fatiguing march of twenty-two miles, and found

the enemy strougly posted in a triangular piece of ground, betwoen

the junction of two small rivers, the Kaitut und Juah, He deter-

mined to attack ut ouce, and having crossed the former by a ford,

near its junction with the Juah, formed his infantry im two lines,

with the cavalry ag a reserve in a third, and from the apex of the
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triangle Wheeled down upon the foe, who quickly ran their guns into

line to oppuse him. Notwithstanding the terrible artillery fire poured

into them, the British troops advanced with wndannted firmness, bnt

the execution in their ranks was so grenb, wud especially amongst te

men aud bullocks of the artillery, that their canuen Lad to be left

hebind, and the infantry end ciuvalry, led in person by General

Wellesley, advanced without any support whatever from their artillery

to attack a line of 115 vuna,

The Marathas, numerous and daring us they were, stood astounded

and appalled at the audacious spirit of the comparatively insignificant

array that thus preswned to atluck their formidable host. ‘Che total

number of men under Gencral Wellesley’s conumand did not exceed

4,500, of which only one third were Eurupeans, whilst the enemy

nttubered 50,000, of whom 10,500 were disciplined infautry.

Moving rapidly forward the Lribish troops fired but a single volley,

and stermed the first line of guns al the poiut of the bayonct. Then

advancing again, in equally good order to the second line, they

captured that as well, But meanwhile many of the artillerymen of

the first line, who Lad thrown themselves duwn and sinimlated death

as the British regiments passed over thei, rose, and manning their

guns again, turned them round and poured grape and chain shot into

the rear of the victors, who were obliged to relurcuand drive then uway

from their pieces. Lincouraged by this sceming retreat, some of

Sindhis’s battalions, who had been rotiring in good order, halted,

faced about, and advanced to the attack, wliilst their cavalry were

emboldened to charge.* This was the critical point of the battle,

* The folluwing interesting Native account of the battle ot Assaye from the

pages of ‘*Pandurung Hiri” is perhaps not generally known, and is here

inserted as confirming with singular accuracy the account above given, which

has been culled from English sources: © At Asanye we opposed a great English

general. He attacked our lott wing, wid we changed the position of vur guns

and infantry. The English adtvanecd to the attack ; our tire was dreadfully

destructive to them, and we so thinned the vight of their line, that a body of

our cavalry was induced lo charge it, of which uwaber J was one. We thought

ourselves to be doing business pretty sutistactorily, until we found that the

enemy's cavalry was in reserve to intercepl us. “hey repulsed us with grout

slaughter. ‘These English are large, powerlul men—pertect war-tigers—aud the

weight of their sabres almost amiiilated my poor troopers. ‘They wahorsed

nuurbers of us mercly by riding aysinst us~-D was se served for one, and, with

many others, feigued inyself dead. Our amuy being routed, Hed, and the

Fuglish pursuing them, left the guns Uhey had captured iu the rear, These T

proposed to turn upon then; we got up aad did so with reat effect. Th was

clear we mare our shot tell pretty well, for a budy of the Topee Wallahs, with

their general at their head, rode wp te puta stop to the firiag. ‘The General had
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and, realising the danger, General Wellesley put himself at the head

of the 78th Regiment and charged the Marith4s who had manned

the guns, whilst at the same moment the 10th Dragoons, who drew

only 850 sabres, and the Native cavalry delivered their attack. After

a bloody and perilous contest General Wellesley, who had a horse

shot under him, and was exposed to the most imminent danger,

achieved his objcet by recovering the cannon, whilst Colonel Maxwell,

with the cavalry, so vigorously attacked the enemy's main line of

infantry, which had reformed, that he completed their overthrow, but

with the loss of his own life.

Although defeated and thrown into confusion, Sindhia’s regular

infantry fought to the end with the desperate fury of men stung by

a sense of shame at having to yield to an inferior force. For tiree

hours the sanguinary conflict raged, at the end of which British

resolution triumphed over Asiatic valour, and the glorious name of

Assaye was udded to the batthe-roll of Mngland’s victories. Daulai

Réo Sindhia and the Rajah of Berar fled from tho field soon after

the commencement of the action, as did the Maratha cavalry, who

behaved in a dastardly way. Pohlinan left 1,000 men on the field,

whilst the country round about was covered with his wounded. The

wholo of the enemy's camp eyuipage and unilitary stores, with 98

guns and 100 tumbrils, fell into Goneral Wellesloy’s hands. On the

British side the loss in killed and wounded amounted to 1,506 (of

whom 600 wore Europeans), or more than a third of the total number

engaged. Such ao percentage of loss had never previously been re-

corded in any genoral action sinco the establishment of the English

power in India. The 74th King’s Regiment was half annihilated,

17 officers and 884 men being struck down: they were 700 strong

when they went into action. Sindhia’s Prime Minister, Jadu Rao,

received a wound, from the effects of which he afterwards succumbed,

and un European of distinction was found dead on the field. It is

diftigult to surmise whom this could have been ; he was probably one

of the following, whose names appear in General Wollesley’s despatches

as serving with the encmy.

Brigade-Major D'Orion. Lusign Perrin.

Captain Goutier. ! Iinsiyn Mars,
Cuptain-Licutenaut Mercior. | Ensign Cameron,

Caplain-Licutenant Honore. [| linsign Brown.

Lusigu Wroughton. : Cadet Sengster (? Sangster).

his horse killed under hin. At this time our troops still hovered sbout oue part

of the English Line, At longth we fled, leaving uinety-eight pivces uf cannon

and seven stundurts in the hauds of the Maglish.””
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Reviewing the battle of Assays, it was acknowledged by all the

officers present, who had witnessed the powor of the French artillery

in the wars of Europe, that the cnemy’s guns on this occasion were

equally well served, and that they fought with a prowess worthy of a

Buropeau nation. “The battle,” wrote General Wellesley in a private

letier to Colonel Collins, “ was the most severe I have ever fought in

India. Sindhia’s infantry behaved well. They wers driven from their

suns only by the bayonct, and some of their corps retreated in great

order and formed again.” Lord Wolloslcy, the Governor-General,

termed it a matchless victory. Ti swopt out of existence all that re-

mained of De Boigne’s battalions, and cleared the way for the treaty

mide with Daulat Rio Sindhia on the 80th of December, 1808, by

which Hindustan was closed to French influence and intrigue for ever.

The two great battles won by Lake and Wellesley rank amongst

the most notable gained by the -inglish in India, because onr

arms overcame a brave and powerful-enemy, whose defeat meant

something move than the merce addition of another inseription on

the crowded page of British achievement. The focmen were worthy

of our steol; the fight was hard and desperate; the victory one to be

proud of; the reaults commensurate. Tor thoy added to our Eastern

possessions the rich Doab districts between the Ganges and the Jumna,

including the cities and forts of Delhi, Agra, and Aligarh; the greater

portion of the province of Bundelkhand; the whole of Cuttack and

Orissa; and a large extent of territory in Guserdt. It left ns in posses-

sion of the entire senboard of India, and was the most important exten-

sion of frontier our Indian conquosts have ever known, since it secured

lo us not merely the supremacy, but practically the annexation of the

whole of the peninsula; for round the independent states that still

remained the cordon of tho red linc was closely drawn, supported in

its renr by the oeeans of which our navy was the muster. Finally,

there was loft to our onemies but a single road to Tndia—the long and

dreary one through Central Asian deserts, over which they are still

toiling.

Commenting on these two battles, thus writes an eloquent his-

torian in 1807: “ At Assayo and Laswaree tho infantry of the enuny

stood till the Maglish bayonets came to their breasts; the atillerymen

served their guns without receding an inch, till they fell under the

wheels of thelr own cannon; ilic cavalry charged to the very muzyles

of the English firelocks. There is not in the records of human courage

a more desperate engagement than that which was fought between the

British army commanded by Sir Avthny Wellesley ind the Mahrattas,

aided by the French regular biltalions. on the plains of Assaye,
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Had the liberties of Europe been contested with equal bravery, the

Continent would not at this day be lnid prostrate at the heel of

France.” ;

Thus pasacd away De Boigne’s battalions, which had m twenty

years increased from two to forty, and prescrvcd an almost unbroken

record of victory until they met the Emglish. Great in their rise,

they were nob less great in their fall, but worthy to the last of the

traditions and achievements which made their career illustrious.



CHAPTER NIT.

PERRON'S RETIREMENT, CTIARACTRR, AND DEATH.

1808-1934.

PTER his surrender to Genoral Lake, Perron, with his secretary

and aide-de-camp, Beckett, an Moelishmean, and his cavalry

commandant, Fleurca (who had effeeted his esenpa with great diffi-

culty from the Hindustani horse), proceeded to Lueknow, whiel:

they reached on the 1st of October. Under special orders from the

Governor-General, Perron was treated with the respect and distine-

tion due to his rank in Sindhia’s army, and reecived the customary

salutes and marks of attention, The Resident at Lucknow was, how-

ever, ordered to aecelerate his departure for Calcutta, bnt notwith-

standing this his start was delayed by several circumstances.

Soon after his arrival at the Oudh capital Perron wrote to Lord

Wellesley, stating that at the time of quitting Sindhia's service he

had deposited twenty-two lakhs of rupees in the keeping of a Native

banker, besides other valuable personal property, and that, on re-

quirmg their restoration, he was informed the money and valn-

ables wera ab Agra, and could not therefore be delivered up. In

consequence he was obliged to leave tle money behind him, and now

requested that it might be restored.

This was the treasure whieh hal induced the garrison at Agra to

depose and confine their Kuropean officers; bat they had been fright-

ened to divide it owing to the warnings of Coloncl George Hessing,

and the money was found intact when General Lake captured the

fortress. He questioned all Sindhia’s European offiecrs abont it, who

declared if was public treasure, and not Perron’s private property,

It was clearly in the possession of the zarrison at the time of taking

Agra, and alihough the terms of capitulation permitted the troops

to carry their private property away with ther, they left this

money behind. General Lake, on these grounds, declared it to be
227
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lawful prize money, and in this view he was supported by the

Governor-General, who, in answer to Perron’s application, informed

him that when he was allowed to retire into the Company's territory,

the sateguard granted only extended to his person and tho property

he carried with him, and that the British Government could not

guarantee the safoty of anything he had left behind in the hands of

an enemy with whom the English were at war.

Of this incident Perron, who was naturally much exasperated at

losing more than a quarter of a million sterling at one fell swoop,

made considerable capital on his return to Europe, by which time the

sum in question appears to have more than quadrupled itself, whilst

its confiseation came to be deseribed as on actual robbery on the part

of the British Government. Major Thorn distinctly traverses this

statement, for he says, “‘ Perron, with a singular effrontery, but with

an address peculiar to adventurers, being no doubt well acquainted

with the deposit of the treasure at Agra, laid claim to twenty-two

lakhe taken there.” In this there is a suggestion of mela fides, which

is not econfirmed by Louis Ferdinand Smith, who states that ‘ before

the declaration of war Perron sent all his ready money to the fort of

Agra.” It is not umprobablo that the ireasure was derived from his

Jaidad revenue collections, and that technically it was Perron’s; but

it had passed out of his keeping and eontrol into that of his mutinous

troops, and he lost it, not unfairly, but by the chances of war. Its

loss by no means erippled him, for in addition to the property he was

able to convey away, he hada large sum of money (estimated by one

authority at £280,000) invested in the East India Company's funds!

Tn pecuniary investinents this shrewd Vrenchman ran with the bare

and hunted with the hounds.

On the 8th of October Perron left Lucknow for Caleutta, from

whenco he retired to Chandernagore, where he resided for some time

in the neighbourhood of the French settlement. It was not until the

following year that he embarked for Kurope, nor until September,

1805, that he landed at Hamburg, where de Bourienne was the French

Consul, rom whose memoirs the following passage is extracted :—

“Every one has heard speak of the famous General Perron, who

has played such a great réle amongst the Mahrattas. In 1805 he

arrived at Hamburg and applied to me for a passport, and I had a

most interesting convareation with him about his truly oxtracrdinary

adventures. He said that he had possessed more than fifty million

franes, but that in order to obtain permission to loave Tndia he had

been obliged to pay the Lnglish three-quarters of the money. Most

of his goods were magnificent cashmeres. He was good enough to
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offer me one. General Vorron had only one arm. Hoe was ascom-

panied by two copper-colonred children—a boy and a girl—the off-

spring of an Indian mother. Their costume attracted considerable

attention wherever they went. ‘They did not speak a word of Freneh.

Theit father exhibited gront affection for them, anil caressed them

continually.

“ Some days afier Gencral Perron’s arrival TRourguien also sirvived

and applied for a passport for Franec. He was at daggers drawn

with Perron, who spoke of him with similar bitterness, They pro-

feased 2 profound contempt for each other, and aeeused each other of

boing the cause of the ruin of the Mahrattas. Both had immense

fortunes. I do not know what bas become of Gonrguien, but Gencral

Perron retired to a magnificent estate which he bought in the neigh-

bourhood of Vendéme.”

Perron, after landing, proceeded. to, Paris, where he was colidly

received by Bonaparte. He did not remain long in the capital,

but withdrew to a domain which he purchased at Fresnes, near

Montoire, in the department of Loire et Cher. His mother and

sisters were alive when he returned to Trance, and received

him with open armsé. Soon after he had scttled down he married

a Madamoiselle Du Trochet, by whom he had ao large family.

Two of his daughters by this union were subsequently married

to two members of the Roehefoucauld family, one of whom, the

Countess Frederic de Rochefoneauld, died so reeently as March,

1892, whilst the ‘‘copper-colourcd damsel"' gave her hand to

M. Alfred de Montesquion. In his Inxurions retirement at Fresnes

Perron passed nearly thirty years, but iowards tho end of his life he

was suspected of republicanisin and subjected to police surveillance

by tho French Government, und, in the words of a French author,

* found in his own cotntry misery and persceution.”

Of the three carcers of military adventure which have beon

sketched in this work, Perron’s was, without doubt, the most re-

maikable. Starting from a beginning as humble as that of George

Thomas, he obtained n political power exceeding that of De Boigne,

notwillistanding whieh he Icaves us with the convietion that of the

three he was the inferior man. We lacked the daring and the per-

sonal attraction that distinguished Thomas, and he wrnted the

dignity and straighiforwardness of De Boigne, Net that Perron was

deficient in personal courage or sclf-estcem : no one vonld impngn his

apirit during the earlicr part of his career, nor deny his appreciation

of position towards its close. But there came a time when he pre-
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ferred to gain his ends by cunning and intrigue rather than by good

honest fighting, when he stooped to grossest favouritism, and was

guilty of injustice and treachory, and whon his praper pride degeno-

rated into vulgar vanity, and his actions cavo the lie to hia protesta-

tions of eourage and fidelity.

Tt is, perhaps, difficult for an Englishman to approach the consider-

ation of Perron’s character without prejudice. Had he earricd his

pronounced hostility towards the British nation to its legitimate end,

and fought us in the field of battle, he might have claimed more

from our generosity than he can from our impartiality. But he

declined to cross swords, preferring rather to accept quarter, which he

repaid by sopious abuse when his personel safety was no longer at

risk, and this rouses our indignation and ranges us against him.

And when wo come to judge hig career ay a whole we cannot bub

condemn much that was evil in if. His later loyalty to Sindhia, and

his eredilable rejection of General Take’s overtures, do not condone

his Jong course of faithlessness and treachery during the war with

Holkar, when he sacrificed his master’s inferests with callous uncon-

cern. His courage at Sounda is obliterated by lis craven retreat at

Koil. We cannot help reading with contempt his appeal to Pedron to

hold the fort at Aligarh, when we remember his own spiritless sur-

rendor a week later. And if his fall was due to his dosertion by his

chosen favourites, Bourguien and Dudreuec, their defection suggests

how little there must have been that was lovable in their chief.

Tho recriminations Perron entered into with Bourguien at Hamburg

display his smallness of mind, as does also lis vainglorious boast that

hy his intrigues he compelled Do Boigne to resign his post. This

latter assertion comes to us on the authority of General Belliard, whe

was in a confidential post under Bonaparte in Egypt, where he had

charge of all the First Consul’s intrigues and ccrrespondence with

the Native states of India. This officer records that, on bis return to

Tiurope, Perron boasted that he had compelled De Boigne to quit

Sindhia’s service. De Boigne never stooped to notice, far leas

to reply to these allegations, which only leave in our minds

a wonder that Perron should so self-convict himself of baseness.

That Perron was cunning, grasping, and avaricious, his financial feats

clearly show. Who shall say from low many helpless wretches,

and by what dire exactions, his fortune was accumulated? If—as he

stated—it amounted to two millions sterling, ibs vory magnitude is

its own condernnation, for such a vast sum could never have been

honestly accumulated in the time and cirenmstances which were opon

to him,
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This is the dark side of the pietnre. On the other hand it eannot

he denied that Perron made the most of his opportunities, and if he

succeeded to a great position hy favour of fortune and intriene. be

held and improved his station by his own energy and determination.

He was as industrious as he was able. Colonel Collins bears testi-

mony to the former quility in a letter addressod to the Governor-

General in Mareh, 1802, just after Perron’s visit to Ujjain. oT

noticed” (he writes) “the unwearied sttention of General Verron to

improve and strengthen the works of the diferent fortresses garrisoned

by his troops, and mentioned [to the Mehratia ministers] the high

estimate in which he was held by all the Rajpoot and Sikh sirders,

who were chiefly guided by his counsel and direction.” As to Perron’s

ability, the singular suceess with which ho wielded the power lett to

him by De Boigne admils no doubt of it. Tis methods may have been

questionable, and his administration unjust and venal, but he held

the reins with a firm and skilful hand. Tis reputation as a soldior

was established by the capture of Kanannd and the victory of Kardla,

lis subjugation of Najputana and his defent of Takwa Dida were

masterly, vigorous, anid brave demonstrations of military capacity.

The plan of campaign which he proposed for the war against the

British does credit to his powers of organisation and his talent as a

general, and had it been earricd ont in its entirety would have resulied

in a long and bloody struggle for supremacy. Of his contest with

George Thomas perhaps the best that can be said of it is that Perron

won ; if he exhibited signs of personal weakness in its conduct; if, as

has been suggested, his courage was doubttul, he at least continued to

keep his grip on Hindustan throughout the crisis, and when it wns

over immediately advanced his powor to the Sutlej. Even when his

influence with Sindhia was gone, and he was peremptorily ordered to

give up possession of all the districts he held, execpi his own Jaidad,

he evaded abedienee, and to the end retainod his government intact.

Throughout his career he was. apposed by many cnemies, but he

triumphed over all, The three most powerful ones were Balloba

Tantin, Lakwa Dada, and George Thomas: they all died in flight or

defeat. Ambaji Inglia alone prevailed over him, and tho victory he

purchased with gold was a dear and empty one.

In addition to these intornal tovs, there was a far more powerfal

external hostility opposed to him. ‘he consideration in whieh the

Marquis Wellesley held Perron’s influence towards tho end of his

career has been shown. But it was not only in 1808 that the Gover-

nor-Gereral considered him dangerous; so far back as 1798, when

Zeman Shah’s invasion threatencd India, Lord Wellesley wrote ta
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Colonel Collings in the following terms: “ Your particular attention

must be given to the conduct of M. Perron, We must enunteract any

allempl from him to establish a state in Hindustan. Ho would

undoubtedly assist Zeman Shah, and perhaps enter into his service in

the event of Scindia’s fall. . . . Leannot believe that M. Perron would

give a cordial support to any cause that we might favonr. We mitst

never forget that he is a Frenchman”

Tn the face of this determination Perron did establish “a state in

Hindustan,” as Lord Wellesley admitted four years later. ‘“‘ General

Perron,” be recorded, “has obtained the exercise of sovercign

authority over a territory whose annual revenues amount to near two

millions sterling, and has negotiated treaties and allianecs with several

peity states in his own name.”

When we consider what Perron was—a runaway sailor from o

French frigate—and what le becamc—a person exercising sovereign

authority over Hindustan—and this in spite of the active opposition of

many enemies in the court he served, and Lord Wellesley’s expressed

intention of opposing him, we must allow him the full credit of an

achievomcnt as extraordinary as ib was groat.

It lias been asserted that the Marquis Wellesley over-estimated

Perron’s power, and that the adventurer was not such a dangerous

individual as the Governor-General found it convenient fo make out.

It was not the man but the principle that Lord Wellesley feared.

He regarded Perron as the active representative of the French inte-

rest in India. Itis known that Perron wag in friendly eommunics-

tion with Raymond, and after that officer’s death with his successor,

Tiron, at Haidarabad; and also with the Trench faction in Mysore.

The allinnce of these three parties, which was solely prevented by

Lord Wellesley’s sagacity and statesmanship, would have threatened

the English with a graver peril from French ambition than any

actually experienced. When Liron’s corps was broken up, and Tipu’s

French auxiliaries surrendered at Seringapatam half the danger of the

situation was demolished, Dut there still remained sufficient to

require the most eager vigilance and precaution ; and when Perron

sought the countenance and help of Bonaparte, the final contest could

no longer be safely delayed, nor the means taken to seeurc sucess too

earefally guarded. The simultaneons and murvellously rapid victories

of Generals Lake and Wellesley gave rise to an impression that the

enemy they vanquished could not have been so formidable as the

Governor-General asserted, and on these grounds he was publicly

attacked by many persons, notably by Sir Philip Frances—one of

{hose virtnous instruments of chastisement not altogcther unknown in
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moder parliaments—and by the discredited historian James Mills.

But their argument that because Perrou’s Brigades were so soon

defeated and dispersed, therefore they could not have been as power-

ful as Thord Wellesley represented, was unjust to many. It was

unjust to De Boigne’s stubborn battalions, who displayed such heroic

courage at Laswari and Assayo, aud although deserted by their Wuro-

pean officers fought with a valour that has never becn equalled by any

Natiye-led armies in India. It was unjust to Perron, for no one can

deny that be kept his anny up to its aucicnt standard of oxecllenee—

and indeed the rank and file who fought to the death were far more

worthy of praiso than the officers who tuft them before a shat was

fired, It was unjust to General Lake and General Wellesley, since it

belithled their achievements by suggesting that their victories were too

cheaply won, whon the very opposite was the ease. And, lastly, it

was unjust Lo the Governor-General, whose statesmaniike policy had

weakened the effect of Perron’s power by previously destroying those

who would have been his allies im un international struggle betwecn

Franee and Nngland for the possession of India,

As regards Perron himself, if is true that jis intiuouce way waniug

when the war broke ont, Te had pussed his zenith, and his personal

power was on the deeline. At a defined period in his career this

gliange became manifest, and it was due in a priveipal degree to his

own faults and failings. Skimner describes the commencement of this

moral decadence in 1801. “ Perron now began to feel his power, and

to chango his manner. Instead of being, us formerly, a good, plain,

honest soldier, beloved by his soldiery and esteemod by all about him,

he began to turn his ears to dlattory,aud to neglect auecrit, while bis

favourites got all the good appointinents, and he hinself only thought

of amassing mouey.” No personal govermuent conld safely pursuc

such a coureo without risk: it was bound to end in danger and dis-

uster. When once the controlling hand entrusted the reins to incom-

petent subordinates, and began to grope for gold, tle whole fabric of

adruinistration was weakened. Lewis Verdinand Sinith confirins this.

“Unfortunately for Perron,’ he writes, ‘every low Frenchman he

advanced with outrage to ofliers repaid Jus unjust preference with

ingratitude. lig army was a miniature of the Wrench Revolaiien.

Wrotches were raised froin cooks, bakers, and barbers to majors and

colonels, and absurdly entrasted with the command of brigades. . .

T speak the cabn language of impartiality. [ Lave no personal dis-

like to Perron, nor Lave I received amore injury trom Lim than any

vther british subject who bad the iortifying tisfortuue to resort to

him for service. Livery low Vreuchimun was pub vver us in rank,
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This would not have been so unjust if they had superior, or even equal

merit,”

As regards Porron’s final surrender, Smith judyes it leniently. ‘I

do not approve of Perron’s principles, nor do I admire his character,

but impartiality obliges me to declare that I do not think he wanted

either sense, prudence, or principle in quilting Scindia’s service when

he did, and seeking protection to his person and property from the

British Govermuent. I condemn lim for not advising Neindia te

avoid hostilities.”

De Boigne’s opinion of Perron has been quoted in an earlier part or

this sketch : he described him as * a man of plain sense, of no talent,

but a brave soldier.”

Such are the views of three of Perron’s contemporaries, De

Goigne's we muy accept as reflocting truthfully Perron’s character

aud disposition in the sarlicr part-of his career, and betorc success

had turned his head, With regard to Skinner's and Smith’s opinions,

evon adiuitting the unavoidable prejudice that existed ia their minds,

there is no reason why we should hesitate to give weight to their

judgment. Had Perron’s resignation occurred just after he won the

battle of Sounda, his name might have been handed down to posterity

with De Boigne’s, But, like many another great man, his meridian

splendour was dimmed by tho dark clouds that shrouded his dcctine.

“We must never forget that he ig a Frenehman,” wrote Lord

Wellesley of Perron, in 1798. Assuredly we never can forget it, tor

he was a typieal son of France, and displayed all the strength and all

the weakness of the national character. Tlow earnest he waa in his

patriotism it ie difficult to estimate; how much may be forgiven

him on the plea of it is still more difficult to decide. ‘ Remember

you are a Frenchman, and let no action of yours tarnish the character

of your nation” were Perron’s own words to Tedron, when he

exhorted him to hold the fort of Aligarh against the English. ‘ Once

more remember your nation,” he reilerates; and then with a true

ouch of Gallic vanity, ‘‘ The eyes of millions are fixed upon you.”

Tf those were Perron’s actual thonghts, how much more focussed,

must he have considered, tho cyes of Franes upon himself? But the

knowledge, however much it intuenced his actions, did not make hita

strony, and within a week he was tendering in surrender the sword

which he had never drawn from tts sheath.

The severest condemnation of Perron comes from one of his own

countrymen. “ Perron,” writes « French critic in 1822, “under the

protection of the British Government, escuped the just vengeance of

the Marathads, Sikhs, Rajputs, and all the people of India. He haa
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returned to France to exhibit before our cyes, as a trophy of his

infamy, the diamonds and the millions he stole from the imiserable

Sindkia whom he betrayed. His intumous treachery was so odious

to tle Indians that his name was long exeerated by them. The con-

duct of this traitor assured to the Mnglish the supremacy of Hindu-

stan, and has done more harm to the name of France than fifty years

of misconduct and misfortune could have accomplished.”

Ife died at his Chiteau of Fresnes in 1824, in the seventy-ninth

year of lus age, and tlicre he lies buricd. And though it may seen

strauge, yel itis frue, that Death, “Mloqnent, Just, and Mighty,” has

deniod to this famous J*renclinan ‘ tiuse two narrow words, £Hic

jacet.” For Pierre Cuillier, the last veprosentative of the French

power in India, aud who, for seven years, rulcd in kingly state and

with sovereign authority tle fairest provinces of Hindustan, sleeps

in wn unmarked grave, above which posterity may nol even read the

name of Perron,
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MBROSE, RB. L., MAJOR.--Major R. I, Ambrose was an English

officer in Jaswant Rao Holkar's service, of whom little or nothing

is known, excepting that he was the anthor of an Indian tract en-

titled “ A letter on the present crisis of affairs in India, addressed ta

Edward Parry, Chairman of the Honourable Court of Directors of

the Honourable Fast India Company.’ The following extracts from

the pamphlet are of interest, aa touching on the subject of military

adventure in India :—

“Holker detested—justly detested—thea name of a Frenchman,

when he reflected that by the Chevalier Dudernaigne and Monsieur

Tlumet, to whom in the first instance he entrusted the command of

his brigades, he was deserted on the near approach of Scindia’s army,

and left with his infantry, deprived of officers, to the defeat which he

experienced at Indore. So highly irritated was he that he nevor

montioned the country without signs of abhorrence, and it was his

express orders to the commanders of brigades subsequently appointed,

that on no aceount whatever should they afford employment to indi-

viduals of a nation by him entitled the Duggerbiz, or Faithless, .. .

“Tt is well known, to those conversant with the affairs of the East,

that there are in that country many hundreds of thousands, soldiers

by profession, who wander continually from service to service, from

prince to prince, as the pressure of the moment requires their assistance

and promises them employ. . Gain is their god, and it is so perfectly

immatorial to them whom they serve, while they are paid, and the

minutia of their caste attended to, that an utter stranger, with

efficient funds, might at any time raise an army in Hindustan, who

would follow him and fight his battles as long as his resourees were

sufficient for the curront expenses of the day. Born soldiers, without

any other profession than that of arms, these men eagerly flock to the

standard of any adventurer, however desporate his prospects, if ho

only possesses the stmmum bonwm of their happiness. In the minds

22 a7
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of these people no such sentiment as amor patria ia te be found,

above affection for a few clods of earth or stumps of trees, merely from

their having been imprinted on their recollection from the sportive

period of infancy. The Indian is, in this point, a citizen of the world.

Tt not unfrequently happens that fathers, sons, and brothers embrace

different services, and meet in battle array on the ensanguined plain

against each other, perhaps unwittingly to fall by each other’s hands.”

Anmsrrona, Mazor,—Major Armstrong succeeded Major Plumet in

the command of Holkar’s Second Brigade of regular infantry in 1802,

and distinguished himself at the battle of Poonah in the same year,

On the breaking out of the war with the English in 1808, Armstrong

determined to quit the chief. But he did not effect this without the

greatest difficulty, and was obliged to sacrifice all his arrears and

most of his property, barely saving his life by a secret flight. Had his

intention been suspected he would assuredly have shared the ernel

fate of Vickers, Dodd, and Ryan, whom Holkar barbarously put to

death for refusing to fight against their own countrymen. Major

Armstrong lived to enjoy a pension of Rs.1,200 a month from the

British Government, as a compensation for his loss of employ.

Baounrs, Mason [orthography doubtful ; also written Bahors].—

Major Baours was a Frenchman, and began his career in the Begum

Somrn’s force, to the command of which he succeeded in 1783, after

the murder of Pauly at Delhi. When De Boigne raised his first

brigade Baours gladly left the Begum’s employ to take the command

of a battalion in Sindhia’s service. . His career was, however, soon cut

short, for he waa killed at the battle of Patan in 1790.

Be.wasis, Josepn Harvey, Carrain.—This fine young adventurer

was probably a cadet of a well-known Bombay family of the same

name, one member of which rose to tho command of the artillery in

the Peshwa’s service. Captain Bellasis was originally an ensign in the

Honourable Company’s Corps of Engineers, but was impelled by his

pecuniary embarrassments to seek to retrieve his fortunes in the service

of the Native princes, and in a rash moment resignod his commission,

and penetrated into the Marithé dominions. Ile had seen and heard

of many adventurers who had reached the summit of ambition, power,

and richss as soldiers of fortunes in the interior of India, and who did

not possess greater talents or stouter resolution than himself; for he

was a young man allowed by all to be an honour to his profession.

His courage was undaunted, his integrity irreproachable, and his
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generosity unbounded. He had an excellent knowledge of military

science, was elegant in person, and endowed with great activity of

body and energy of mind, and was, moreover, an excellent scholar,

conversant with Greek and Latin, and understanding musie and

painting. To these accomplishments he added a fascinating address

and an open disposition. Such was the young Finglish gentleman

who in 1796 cut himself adrift from his fellow countrymen, and entered

the service of the Marith4 chief, Ambaji Inglia, for whom he raised

four battalions of regular infantry. He soon found out the mistake he

had made. Ambaji was “tainted with the worst principles of the

worst Asiatic,” and Bellasis lacked the powers of intrigue, the as-

siduity and the duplicity necessary to rise in such a service. Yet he

tried hard to do his duty, and it is recorded that Ambaji’s battalions

would have been “as fine as any in Hindustan, if the parsimony of

the chief had not rendered futile their commander’s labour and

genius.” In 1797 Bellasis was engaged in the storm of Lobar, and

in an assault of uncommon boldness his battalions suffered heavily.

Notwithstanding this, he was ordered, immediately after the capture,

to march his shattered and fatigued corps to storm another fort, named

Gopalpuy, fifteen miles distant, leaving his dead unburied, and his

wounded unattended to. Such inhuman orders could only be justified

by the most cruel necessity, and Bellasis, with the fine feelings of a

soldier and the propriety of a commander, refused to obey them. This

refusal, which was eagerly expected, was made the pretext for dis-

charging him and his battalions, and plundering their effects. Two

years later his distress and his necessities drove him once more into

Ambaji's service, and he obtained the command of two battalions in

James Shepherd’s party. With these he took part in the siege of

Sounda, and whilst gallantly leading his men on to victory was shot

through the head in the assault on Lakwa Daéda’s entrenchment.

Bernier, Augustine, Masor [spelt Bunnear and Burnear by con-

temporary writers|.—Major Bernier was a French adventurer, and

began his Indian career in the service of the Begum Somrn, and was

one of the witnesses to that lady’s marriage with Le Vassoult in 1793,

Later on he commanded a battalion in Perron’s Third Brigade, under

Louis Bourguien. Bernier was a brave and able soldier, and Skinner

states that at the battle of Georgegarh in 1801 he saved Bourguien

from a disastrous defeat by his ability and courage. He was killed a

few weeks later at the grand assault on the town of Hansi—a fact

which, it is curious to note, was brought to light so recently as Novem-

ber, 1891, for Skinner erroncously states that Bernier was killed in the
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attack on Thomas's outposts whilst rallying lis men, who had been

beaten back, A correspondent of a Lahdr paper thus writes on the

date above mentioned :-—

“A marble tomb, in a broken condition, has been found by Mr.

Stanloy Skimmer in his village of Baysi, close by Tiinsi, bearing an

inseription to this effect: ‘Te the memory of Auguatine Bernier, late

Major in the service of HHI. Dowlut Trio Seindia, Killed in the

storm of Heng, on 10th December, 1801, while gallantly leading on

his troops. Aged 32 years.’”

Bernier was a great favonrite with his soldiery, by whom, as well

as by his fellow officers, his death was deeply regretted.

Biacu, Lirutenanr.—Lieutenant Birch was originally an officer in

George Thomas's army, in which he fairly distinguished himself. He

proved faithful to his chief during the long and trying siege of George-

garh, and aceompanied him in his fight to Hans, which he helped to

defend until Thomas was forced to capitulate. Birch then appears to

have joined Perron’s service, for he remained in Hindustan, and was

one of the officers in Marathi employ who took advaniage of Lord

Wellesley's proclamation offering pensions to all British subjects who,

on the declaration of the war, Icft the Mardthas and passed over to

the English. Bireh appears to have been awarded a pension of Rs.800

a month, and after the batile of Delhi, when General Lake left Colonel

Ochterlony in command of the Capital, received the command of two

Najib battalions raised to assist in holding the city. Soon afterwards

they were detached against Bap: Sindhia, Daulat Réo’s governor

in the Saharanpur district, bul were shockingly beaten, and lost four

of thelr yuns—a catastrophe which so incensed Colonol Ochterlony

that he refused to entrust any more of the Company's artillery to

Sincthia’s late officers, many of whom were now in the British service

and in command of newly raised levies, reeruiied from the dispersed

yernnants of Perron’s Tvigades. Bireh, after his defeat by Bapi, re-

assembled his battalions, and was stationed on the Punjab frontier,

where, in 1604, ho assisted Skinner to defeat a large body of Sikhs.

Boxp, J. P., Conowen.—Boyd was an American, When Raymond

inereaged his corps at Haidarabad to such an cxtent as to make it too

forraidable, the British Government, as a counterpoise, suggested to the

Nizain that he should raise two fresh corps, to be commanded by officers

whose sympathies were with the English. Boyd, who owned a party

described as “a ready formed and experienced corps of 1,800 men,”

was engaged, and in 1795 took part in the battle of Kardla, In the



APPENDIX. adi

following year, whou Raymond was at the height of his power, and it

was rumoured that be premeditated an attack on the British Rosident’s

carap, Boyd and Finglags (another English adventurer in command

of a corps} at once paraded their troops, and signified their intention

of supporting the Company's cause. The tronble, however, passed

over, and they were not called upon to act. A few mouths later

nistndersiandings arose between Boyd and the Court of Waidarabad,

fermented probably by Baymond, and the Anicricau quilted the

service, taking his party with him. He was next engaged by the

Peshwa of Poonah, who paid him a salary of Rs. 3,000 a month, In

October, 1716, Boyd assisted in the operations which resulted in

Baji Nao being seated on the measnad as Peshwa, after tho tragical

death by suicide of Madhu Rito. The next year le was raised to the

command of the Peshwa's regular Brigade, and the last mention of

him is in connection with some local disturbances which broke out at

Poouah in 1797.

Bovrcurer, Levis, Coronnn [spelt also Bourguionne, Bourquoin,

Bourquin, and Dourkin} —This indivilual, who was known amongst

the Natives as Lonee Sahil, was a Frenehivan, whose real name was

Louis Bornard. Te eame to India in Admiral Suffrein’s tieet, Iaud-

ing at Pondicherry, where ae remained soue time. Be then made

his way to Calcutta, and. enlisted in a mercenary rogiment of

foreigners in the Company's service, known as Captain Doxat's

Chasseurs. Upon the reduction of that foree Boarguien turncd his

aitention to civil pursuils, and for some time exercised the calling of

a cook at Calcutta, his cvaft in culinary matters being superior to lis

skill in military ones. Later ou lie started business as a manufacturer

of fireworks, and in this capacity accompanied a goutlemian named

Cairard, the proprictor of the Vauxhall Gardens st Calentta, to

Lucknow. de then returned to the nulitury profession, and obtained

at appointment in the Begun Sonia's forsee, from whieh he

entered that of De Boigne about the year 1794, when he is found

rated as a lieutenant on a pay of Le. YUU a month No mention

of hig name appears again until August, 1500, when he joined the

Rajah of Jaipur, with oue of Perron’s battalions, to assist ayalnst

Lakwa Dada. Svon after this he was dctuched to capture Ajmir,

bat the fort proved too sbrong to be tukon, and ho was defeated in

December and obliged to fall back, He thon invested the place,

and on the 7th of May, 1801, sceured its surrender by bribery. But

meanwhile Goneral Perron had become greatly dissatisfied with his

conduct of the siegc, and sent Captain Symes to supersede him.
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Bourguien was so enraged at this tha he offered his services to

the Rajah of Jaipwe, but Partél Singh declined to accept them

for fear of disubliging General Perron, by whom he had recently

beon reduced to a state of abject submission. So Bourguien awal-

lowed his mortification, and vetamed his appointment in Sindhia’s

army. He seems to have been undeservedly fortunate, for in a few

weeks he was promoted to the command of the Third Brigade, and

in August entrusted with the conduct of the war against George

Thomas. A full account of this campaign has been given in the

eketeh of Thomas’s life. Although at the head of ten fine battalions

of infaniry and a large body of Hindustani horse, Gourguien was

outwitted and outmancouvred by Thomas, and finally defeated af the

battle of Georgegarh. This led to his supersession for incapacity for

the second time within the year, but after Pedron had retrieved affairs

Bourguien was onee ayain entrusted wilh the command of operations,

and ovontually forced Thomas to surrender af Hansi. We was then

detached with his brigade to collect tribute in the Sutle} states, and

in November, 1802, we find him at Jind negotiating matters of con-

siderable importance with Rijah Bagh Singh. He remained in the

bikh country till the middle of 1803, his last exploits being the capiure

of Rohtak, and the levying of « tribute of Rs.15,000 from the Karnal

district. In Jane of this year, when war with the luglish was im-

minent, Perron ordered Bourgnien to cnenmp ut Pimipat, and shortly

afterwards to maroh down and occupy Delhi. Im August hostilities

broke out, and simultaneously Ambaji Inglia was appointed to siper-

sede Terran. Bourguien, although a “bosom friend” of the General

—Skinner states they were relatives—was the first to revolt against

him, and the chicf instrament in effecting his downfall, The eventa

leading up to the battle of Delhi, and Bourguien’s brief tenuro of

power, have beon fully recorded. He surrendered to General Lake

shortly after the British victory, and was deported to Calcutta, from

whence, in course of time, he found his way to Hamburg, and so to

France. He retired with ‘an immense fortune,” and there his

history chds, “ He was not only a coward, but a fool,” was Skinner's

brief commentary on him, and Smith describes him aa being “as

wicked as he was weak.” He gained a certain reputation from the mere

fact of his being in nominal command of the enemy at the battle of

Delhi, but it was a totally spurious one, for he was the first to fly the

field. With the exception of Sombre, and perhups Michael and Fidele

Viloze, there is no mors contemptible character amongst the military

adventurers of Hindustan than Louis Bourgnien, cook, pyrotechmist.

and poltroon.
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Browsnicc, Masor.—Major Drownrigg was known as Burandee

Salah amongst the natives, but there is no proof that this derogatory

designation was anybhing but an unhappy corruption of his proper

narne, He was an lrishmman by birth, and a very brave and able

officer, inueh liked by his soldiery, and highly esteenied by Daulat

Rao Sindhia, for whom he raised au independent corps. He is first

heard of in 1799, when he stormed and eaptw'ed the fort of Kolapur,

near Poonah. During the next year le was chiefly employed in

opposing Parcshram Lhao, the Peshwa’s eommandor-ia-chief, during

the political revolutions and disorders that prevailed in the Deccan.

He then accompanied Sindhia to Mulwa, and in Jily, 1801, made lis

famous defenee against Jaswant Rio Holkar, who, after defeating

Macintyre, attacked Brownrige’s entrenched camp near the Narbada.

Brownrigg’s force was vastly inferior in numbers, not exceeding four

battalions, but bis position was an cxcecdingly strong one, with the

river in his rear, and his front and flauks intersceted by ravines,

which prevented Holkar’s cavalry trom acting. He was, moreover,

well supplied with artillery, being accompanied by Sindhia’s grand

park. He defended his position with great judgment and intrepidity,

and finally obliged Holkar to retreat, leaving two guns behind hin.

Three months after this Brownrige axsisted Sutherland in winning

the notable battle of Indere, in whieh Wolkars entrenchments were.

stormed ai the point of the bayonet, and ail Lis guns taken. By this

time Brownrigg liad risen very high in Sindlia‘s favour, which made

hin an ubject of jealousy to Perron, whe, when he came to Ujjain, in

March, 1802, found means to cneourpass lis disgrace, and Skinuer

moeniions him as having been “ put in arrest wuder fixed bayouets ”

for intriguing against the General, What became of Browurigg’s

corps after this is not quite clear, but it is possible it was incorporated

in Perren’s army, for a few months later Brownrigg was at Koil,

from whence, a little while before the breaking out of the war with

the English, he was sent back tc the Decean in command of five

battalions of the newly raised Vifth Brigade. Sinuhia, however, soon

ordered him back to reinforce Pevron’s ary im Hindustan, and he

reached Agra just after the battle of Delhi had been fought. Although

Lrownrigg’s battalions were refuse entry uito the fort, he was per-

nuited to join Hessing, Sulbcrland, and the other European oflicers

residing there, aud shared with thei: the confinement they were

presently placed in by the revolted garrison. After the fall of Agra,

Evownrigg entered the Lvitish service, obtained the command of some

irregular levies, and was employed in the war ayainst Jaswant Rio

Yiolkar. He fell in an unequal conflict before Sirsa, in the Iariéna
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district, on the 19th of February, 1804, his troops beimg overpowered

by superior numbers and defeated for want of good arms. It was the

first repulse he had experienced in the course of twelve years of active

and arduous service, IIc wus an amiable man and a fine soldier,

whose defeat of Holkar in 1801 was one of the most brilliant episodes

of Marith’ civil strife.

Burrunrmutp, Captain.—Captain Butterfield was the son of an

officer in the Honourable Company’s servico. He appears to have

sought a career in the Native courts early in life, and before 1790

was omployed by the Rajah of Karaoli, whom he quitted in order to

enter the service of Thaktir Dirjan Lil,a Rajput chief, from which he

was tempted away by tho superior inducements of Sindhie’s army.

It is probable that he joined De Boigne when the Second Brigade

was raised, for in 1794 he had risen to the rank of a captain, though

on a pay of only Rs. 200 a month. Some years later he was still a

captam in the Second Brigade under Colonel Sutherland. When

Lakwa Dida joined the rebellion of the Bhais, Ambaji Inglia was

ordered fo attack him, and Butterfield, with two battalions and ten

pieces of cannon, acted under the chicf. Marching to Kotah they

onguged the Bhais arniy at a place called Chand-khori, when Ambaji's

irregular troops descrted, and the whole brunt of the attack fell upon

Butterfield’s two battalions. After fighting for two hours it became

apparent that not only cowardice but treachery was rifo in Ambaji’s

army, for some of his troops went over to Lakwa, in consequence of

which Buttorfield was forecd to retire, and lost a great number of

isen. before he could get to » place of safety. BEventually he made

good his retreat to Shérgarh. For his conduct on this oceasion he

received a very flattering letter from Perron. No further mention of

his servieos can be found.

Dawes, Caprary.—Captain Dawes was an officer in Porron’s Virst

Brigade under Sutherland, iittle is known of his career, In Veb-

ruary, 1802, he was detached by Daulat Ito Sindhia to pursue Holkar

after his defeat at Indore. Dawes had only four battalions of regular

infantry and six ragammnftin battalions belonging to Ambaji, and

was unable to effect anything of impoxtance, or stay Holkar's rapid

predatory course, though he carried on a desultory campaign in

Khandésh for some months, und won a few small skirmishes. When

Holkar advanced against Poonal, Dawes was sent to oppose him.

His army was utterly inadequate for the work, and inferior in every

respect to Jaswant Rdo’s, notwithstanding which he strongly urged
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Sudiseo Ghao, the Maratha general, to force a battle. The defeat

whieh followed is historical, and was the indirect cause of the war

between the English and Sindhia in the following year. Darwes’s

battalions behaved with signal courage, fally sustaining their reputa-

tion, but they were completely overpowered. Of their four officers,

three — Dawes, Catts, and Douglis- -were killed, and one taken

prisoner. The gune lost on this occasion were the first ever captured

in action from any of De Boignc’s battalions,

Denrivoy, Lours, Maton {spelt also Deridun, Derrideven, and

Dareebdoon}].—Major Derridon was « hualf-bred Frenchman and

brother-in-law to General Perron, who noarried lis sister. He was

also related to Colonel John Hossing, probably in the same degree, for

the Colonei’s son, George Hessing, is desertbed by Skinner as Perron’s

nephew. Major Derridon commanded a battalion in Hessiug’s corps,

and was present at the battle of Ujjain, when Holkar defeated four of

Sindhia’s battalions, and killed nearly all their officors, In this action

Derridon was wounded and taken prisoner, and Colonel John Messing

paid Rs. 40,000 to ransom him from Holkar, though Sindhia, according

to a local paper published at the time, subsequently refunded the

amount. Derriden then repaired to Hindustan, and when Perron

discharged most of his Eugligh offiecrs in 180%, received a high

appointment in his army, THe was ab Agra when the orb way

captured by General Lake in 1803. Lady Vanuy Varkes, in her

“Wanderings of a Pilgrim in Search of the Picturesque,” incidentally

mentions that this officer was living at Koil in 1838, “in a house

formerly the property of General) Perron.” Wis prandsons wore

owners of tho same property as late as 1871.

Dovp, Mason.--Major Dodd was an Englishinan, and succeeded

Captain Gardner in the conniand of a brigade in Jaswant Rao

Holkay’s service, which was composed of four battalions of infantry,

200 cavalry, and 20 guns. [tis probable he took part in the battle of

Poonah. Wo was one of the British ollicers behoaded by Holker in

1804 for refusing to fight against their own countrymen.

Doxerny, Carrain.—Captain Donelly was an Irishman, and com-

manded a battalion in Perron’s Second Brigade, under Colonel Pohl-

man. All that is known of him is that he was killed at the storming

of Shabpira in 1799, when Pollman was beaten back with a Joss of

thousand men killed and wounded. Yerron in a letter to De Boigne

mentions the death of this officer, wom he refers te as “ your protege,

Donelly.”
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Ducvaxon, Cartain.—Captain Drugeon wags a Savoyard by birth,

and @ countryman of De Boiyne. He was born at Hyenne, near

Chambéry where his father resided in the chiteau of Bergen. The

circumstances of his brother having risen to the rank of a general in the

Sardinian army scoms to indicate that Captain Drugeon was a man of

good family. In 1787 he was at Pavis, and probably came out to India

in the French service. He was one of De Boieno’s oldest officers, and

in May, 1794, was Brigade-Major of the Second Brigade, and drawing

Its. 400 a month pay. When Perron was traueferred to the command

of the First Brigade and sent to the Decean, Drugeon accompanied him,

and succeeded to his command in 1797, when he was promoted to De

Boigno’s vacated post. Drugeon saw some fighting at Puonah, but not

of w very creditable kind. In June, 1798, after tle Bhais had fed for

protection to Amrat Itéo, that chief was induced hy Sindhia to repair to

Poonah for negotiation. But no sooner had he encamped on the out-

skirts of the city than Ghatkay Réo, Sindbia’s father-in-law, made a

treacherous attack upon him with two Brigades of infantry under

Drugeon’s command. Opening fire from twenty-five guns upon Amrat

Rio's unsuspecting troops, he speedily threw them into confusion, and

then charging with the infantry put them to flight and plundered their

camp. Soon after this Drugeon appears to have fallen into some grave

trouble, for 1 local paper records that he was deposed by his own

officers, and, under orders from Perron, superseded by Colonel Duprat.

He atiributed his disgrace to the machinations of his enemics. In

1800, partly at the request of De Boigne, who appears to have retained

a regard for him, he was restored to Perron’s favour, and appointed to

the commandantship of the fort at Delhi, and ten months later to the

eharge of the Emperor's person, on a salary of Rs. 800 a month.

About this time he wrote an interesting letter to De Boigne, from

which many of the following particulars are gleaned. He mentioned

he bad saved Rs. 30,000, which he had invested in the Company's

Funds, and hoped to be able to pay for his passage to Europe without

trespassing on this capital, which would constitule a sutlicient provi-

sion for his old age, He deplored De Boiguc’s departure, declaring

that his prescnce was necessary to re-establish Sindhia’s fortunes ona

sound basis, and that bis return would be hailed like that of a Messiah,

“in such veneration and adoration are you held, especially by the

troops, who invoke your name only in their songs.” As for Perron,

Drugeon deseribes him as “ like the King of Prussia for power, and

like a Croesus as regards riches, which fell on him night and day like

the most abundant rain, in the form of rupecs. He is courted by all

the rajals and chieds of the country and also by Sindhia, who is afraid
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of bisa. You have made the soup, which he Las ouly the trouble of

supping.” His own misfortunes, Dregean pocs on to statc, had bev

very heavy. “Hf uy jenlous enemies,” ho protests, bad not done

me an i tum with Perron, I would have Leen x rich man to-day, |

try to forget them—for what can J do? Gud Ainighty cannot nude

what has already been done.” Sach is his philosophical reflection,

but doubtless lic found 2 buhu to lis wounded spirit in the fact that

the Emperor's person, hig correspondence, and all his household were

entrusted to his eare. After detailing some loeal news, whiel: lis

been incorporated in the sketch of Perrorrs fife, Prugeon goes ov to

say: “I very much desire fo return to Enrupe, but 1 am bindered

from deing so by an entanglement with a lady of the country, whem

1 fove very wuch, and whom J have taken np with to asyist me to

forget my past cares. As to taking her with ine, can Edo so? Todo

not at all wish to desert her. Kindly give ine your advice. She isa

uiece to the Nawab Sdliman Khin; and aowidow, seventeen years old,

aud is incessantly telling me she wouklauther dic than leave me, 1

am speaking to you as a confessor, and J await your answer before

deciding anything.”

Drugeon remained at Delhi till the bretking out of the war with the

English, and is constantly referred to in the Persisn newspapers of

the periad. Much of tho iuformation econceming Perron's movemculs

recorded in the Wfe of that-adveuturcr has beew gleaned from the

published reports which Dingeon made to the Kanperor. In Anguat,

1808, when Dourguion revolted against Perron, and stirred up a

piutiny in the Second aud Third Drigndes, Drugeon resisted dina. and

atter refusing to surrender the treusure he had charge of, turned hin

out of the fort, whieh Le prepared to defeud with tbe 6,000 nen for.

ing its regular garrison. After the capture of Delhi by the Trrtish,

Dregeos, who seems to havo stnek to the treasure, aftempted to

“deposit it? with the Enuperor, bnt the transaction was regarded by

General Leke us a “fraudulent transfor,” and it was distrilnuied

ag prize money to the troops, Drngeou was doported to Calcutta,

and eventually found lis way to Europe, and dicd at Nice in 1824.

Duprenac, tus Cugvauer [written also Du Drenee, Du Dernnig,

Duderneg, Du Dernee, Dodernaigue, Dadernaigue, and Daderiiek.

Known to the vatives as Hass Bey)—-THad the history of the Chevalier

Dudrenee been properly recorded, it would without doult have aflurded

as interesting « career of romance and adventure as wy in these pages.

The following fragmentary particnlars have been pieced together froin

a great variety of sources, and cven in their skeleton form suggest a
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remarkably eventful life. Dudrence wus a native of Brest, in France,

and 4 gentleman of refinement, education, and agreeable manners,

He came of a good family, his father being a commodore in the

french navy. The Chevalier arrived in India about the year 1773,

asa tmidshipman on board a French man-of-war. Leaving bis ship,

he made his way to Delhi, where he oblained employment in Madoc’s

corps in 1780, two of his fellow oflicers being the Count de Moidavre

and the Chevalier Cressy. With Madoc’s party he served in turns

the Rajahs of Bhartpur und Gohad, and Najaf Kuli Khan, the Waazir

of the Mmperor Shah Alam. About the year 1782 Madoe retired, and

Dradence entered the service of the Begum Somru, whose force was

af this tine commanded by Pauly. With this lady he remained til

1791, a little previons to which he obtained the command of her

troops. But lie resigned the appointment to enter tle service of

Tukaji TWolkar, who offered hhu Hs. 3,000 a month to raise and

discipline a brigade of four battalions of regular infuniry, In the

following year this force suffered an ansihulating defeat from De Goigne,

at the battle of Lakhairi, when all its guos were captured, and its ranks

broken and dispersed. Dudrenee only saved his life by throwing him-

self down amongst the dead, and simulating death. Dut bis battalious

had shown such stubborn fighting powers before they were destroyed,

that Tukaji Holkar listened to their commander's representations and

consented to raise another brigade, advancing Dudrenes a large sum

for this purpose. The new foree wis enlisted in 1798, and two years

later took part in the babtle of Kardla, being associated with Perron’s

battalions and sharing with them the honour of a somewhat easy and

bloodless victory. From the seat of war they returned to Indore,

where they reposed in peace for three or four yeara, and by 1797 their

strength had inereased to six battalions. On the doath of ‘Inkaji

Holkar, Dudrenes was much puzzled whether to cast in his lot with

the imbecile but rightful heir, Kasi Rado, or with the dashing but ille-

gitimate Juswant Rio. He declured for the former, and for a time

carried on a campaign against Juswant Kio, whom be at first

defeated, but at whose hatids he sustained a serious reverse in {798,

After this Amir Khan, Holkar’s brilliant ally and jidus achaics, found

means fe tamper with Dadrenec’s troops, and by offering them in-

creased pay gained over a great number, and created a mutiny amongst

the rest, when they were encamped at Mahdshwar. The Pathdu chief,

galled at a defeat received at the lands of the Cheyalier, had vowed

not to wear a turban till he had reduced Dudrenee. This came to the

knowledge of the latter when he was at Mahéshwar, in great straite

for want of provisions, and he sent 4 vakil to Amir Khan offering to
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come to terms with Jaswant Rac. The Amir reported the overture to

Holkar, who, with characteristic perfidy, proposed to allure the Freneli-

man to an interview and then assassinate him. Tint the Pathin,

though not a man of many seruples, could not bring himself to

consent to this, and, after some persuasion, extracted a promise of

honourable terms for the Frenchman. Armed with this authority, he

proceeded to Jimghit, ncar Mahiéshwar, to xeeoive the Chovaiier's

surrender. Dndrenee mot Lim some distance out from his camp, gave

him a salnte with all honours, and invited him to his tent, where

he first desired him to be seated, and then pointing to tho silk land-

kerehief Amir Khan wore in lieu of a turban, took off his own head

covering, and, with joined hands, said: “As your vow prevents you

from wearing a turban till you have eonqnered awe, see, the object is

accomplished! Bareheaded I lay my head's covering before you, and

acknowledge my defeat, Nay, if yon wish to make me your prisoner,

hore is my sword. I surrender it, and you may take me to your

camp.” This, being conformable with the Finropean custom, pleased

Amir Khan very much, and he expressed himself fully satisfied with

the speech. The Chevalier then gave the Amir his own turban, and

put on the silk handkerchicf the Vathin was wearing, after which he

escorted him to Mahéshwar. Having transferred to Linn all his jewels,

stores, and treasures, he accompunicd him to the Mar&thé camp, to bo

presented to Jaswant Rav. Tn consequence of the protection extended

by Amir Khan, Holkar dared not harm Dudrence, but he still designed

evil againat him in his heart. '' Whereupon,” to take up the thread

of the narrative from the pages of 2 Native historian, “it happoned

that on that very night the Mabarnjah was sitting on the bank of the

Narbada river, amusing himself with firing at a mark, when the mateh-

loek burst and inflicted a severe wound in the eyo, by which he entirely

lost the sight of it, Of a truth Hoe that knows all thinga, secret and

divalyed, is not to be deceived! In tho twinkling of an eye, upon the

eye of the Maharajah fell this just retribution for the trcachcrous

designs he meditated against Hazur Beg.’ In the ond IJlolkar

accepted Dudrenec’s submission, and restoring hin to the command

of hia brigade, sent him, in 1798, to cecupy and administer the distriets

of Tonk and Rampira, where he remained iwo years.

In 1800, when Lakwe Dida was restored to favour by Sindhia, be

appears to have obtained Dudrence’s assistance for the subjugation of

Jaipur, in which Helkar was probably interested. On the lth of

March of that yoar the Chevalier effected a junction with Perron’s

sseond brigade, sommanded by Pohiman, and shertly afterwards was

engaged with his corps at the battle of Malpura. A spirited account
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of ihe charge of tho Rathor cavalry, which destroyed 500 of his forea,

exisis in the pages of Skinner's memoirs, and has been already quoted

in the sketch of Perron’s life,

In August of the following year Dudrenec, having made up his

mind to leave Holkar, showed an inclination to follow the fortunes

of Lackwa Dada, who bad been again disgraccd and deposed from

office by Sindhia, but he oventually decided on joiming Perron’s service,

being invited to do so by the Genoral himself, who offered him the

post of second in command, vice Sutherland dismissed, aud a brigade.

Dudrenee was at this time at Ramptira, where he always kept his

family and property under the protection of Zalim Singh. He had

the greatest difficulty in escaping, for his troops, who refused to follow

his fortunes, pelted him out of camp, and then, at the instigation of

a Native named Shamrao Nadik, surrounded his house, with the

intention of putting him to death... Ho was saved by the intervention

of Zalim Singh, the regent of the ruler of the territory. Jaswant Rao,

on hearing of this, demanded his surreniler from the old Rajput, but

the latter refused to porpetrate stich an act of treachery, and in the

end a small sum of money was paid by Dudrence to Holkar, by way

of compensation, and he was permitted to depart to Hindustan with all

his money and belongings.

On arriving at Koil Dudrenec entered Perron’s army, and early in

1803 was given the command of the Fourth Brigade. In February of

the same year he marched to the Decewn to reinforee Sindhia, but

just before the breaking out of the war with the English he was seni

back to Iindustan, and left Daulet Rio’s camp at Jalgdon on the 18th

of July. About this time Ambaji Inglia, was appointed to supersede

Perron in the command of the Brigades, and Dudrenec exhibited more

attachment to dhe Native than to the European Commander-in-chief

—a desertion which stung Perron acutely. On his way to Delhi

Dudrence reecived information of Bourguicn’s defeat, and seeing little

prospect of ultimate success, abandoned his command, and on tho

30th of November surrendered to Colonel Vandaleur at Mattra. Thus

ended a career full of adventure, incident, and peril. The Chevalier

seems to have been a singularly unfortunate coramander, for ho

suffered several disastrous defeats. His faithlossmess had such an

effect on Jaswant Réo Holkar, that he withdrew alt countenance from

any whose nationality was French, and after the Chevalier’s defection

gave orders that no adventurer of his nation should be allowed to

enter his service. As will be seen by this slight sketch (in which, it is

to be feared, there aro many inaccuracies duo to an attempt to

reconcile divergent statements and dates), Dudrenec served no loss
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than goven different mastors during the period of his Indian career.

Té is difficult to ses how ho desorves the many encomiums that have

been passed on him by various writers, for there is no record of

his Having won any substantial victory. His surrender to Amir

Klin was sineularly spiritless, and his notions of loyally were

deeidadly questionalile.

Durvont, Joun Jans, Maton. — Major Dupont was a native of

Holland, and an officer in Filoze’s corps. After the suicide of Fidéle

Filoze he sneceeded to the command of four of the battalions and was

with Sindhia when war with the Mnglish broke out. His foree took

part in the battle of Assaye, where they shored iu the defeat aud disper-

sion of Daulat Réo’s army. According fo one acconnt Dupont was

engaged in the battle of Ujjain in 1801, where he was wounded and

made prisoner with Derridon and Humphertson.

Duprat, Coionet,—-Colonel Duprat wag o Frenchman and an

officer in Perron’s army. He succeeded Drugeon in the command of

the First Brigade at Poonah in 1798, but only held tho post for a year,

being relieved by Colonel Sutherland. Tle was in command of five

battalions of infantry which attempted to surprise the camp of Amrat

Réo, the Peshwa’s brother, after tha Blais had fled to him for protec-

tion. This occurred on the night of the 7th of June, 1798, He failed

in the atterupt, and being briskly attacked in return, was compelled to

draw off, and it was not without considerable loss that he made good

his retreat. In the negotiations which followed the affair Amrat Rao

was prevailed on fo come to Poonah, when Drugeon treacherously

attacked and defeated him. Duprat’s mame dess not appear in any

subsequent records.

Evans, Captain [also spelt Evons].—Very little information is avail-

able concerning this officer. He appears to have commanded the

Begum Somru’s party after Baours ieft it in 1789. THe then entered

De Boigne’s service and rose to tha rank of captain on a pay of

Rs. 400 per mensem, Skinner mentions an officer of this name as

having been taken prisoner with Colonel W. II. Tone at the storm of

Sounda, and from another passage it is made apparent that he passed

into Holkar’s service. When war broke ont with the Enelish in 1808

a Captain Evens availed himself of Lord Wellesley’s proclamation and

“samo in,” receiving a pension cqual to tho pay he drew in the service

of the state ho was serving. Bui it is difficult to believe that an

officer who commanded Somru’s party so far back as 1789 wag only
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@ captain in 1808, and there may have been two advonturers of the

sameé, or similar, names.

Finoze, Fipitn, CoLonen [also speli Filose, Felose, and Feloze}.

—T"idéle Filoze was the son of Mielincl Filoze by a Native woman.

When his father found it prudent to hastily resign Sindhia’s service

and leave Poonah, the conmmand of his eleven battalions was divided

between his two sona Fidcle and Jean Baptiste Filoze. Fidele, how-

aver, retained eight of these with him in the Decsan and. sent three

only to his brother who was at Delhi. The first mention of Fiddle is

in 1798, when he and George Hessing were directed by Sindhia to

arrest Ghatkay Rao, whose gross misconduct and contempt for the

prince’s authority had become intolerablo, and this task they effected

with great dexterity, Soon after this Fidéle succeeded to the

command of his father's battalions. In 1801 he accompanied Daulat

Rao to Malwa, and on reaching the Narbada one of his battalions was

detached under Colonel George Hessing to protect Ujjain, and a

second shortly followed under Captain MacIntyre. Both were

defeated and dispersed, the former at Ujjain, the latter at Nir. The

remaining six battalions took part in the battle of Indore in October of

the same year, and directly afterwards Fidéle was acensed of a foul

act of treachery, in having fired into Sutherland’s troops as they

advanced. It was asserted he had entered into a seerct understanding

with Holker, and on these grounds he was seized and confined.

According to one account he cut his throat in prison, in order to avoid

the disgrace of condign punishment, but another states that the act was

done ina fit of deliyium following fever. Smith, though admitting his

treason, somewhat unaccountably describes him as “on the whole a

good, ignorant man,” but he has been depicted in a much less favour-

able light by others, and Drugeon condemns him aa a traitor who

worked to ruin a master who had loaded him with favours. This ia

probably the more correct estimate of his character.

Finoze, Jean Baptiste pr 1a Fonrarng, Coroyven (known to the

Natives as Jin Battcejis]—Baptiste Filoze, as this individual ig

always called, was ithe younger son of Michacl Filoze. When his

father fled the country Baptiste wag at Delhi, where his brother Fidéle

sent him three of the eleven battalions they had inherited, and. to

these Baptiste added three more which he raised in Hindustan. This

force assisted in the war against George Thomas in 1801, but waa in

a sorry state of discipline, and extremely insubordinate, the three

original battalions being on one occasion expelicd from Delhi by the
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Emperor Shab ‘Aluin’s orders on wccount of their atrocious cordnet.

This appears to be the single recorded instance of that king of

kings having voluntarily promulgated a cdeereo which was carried

into effect, aud both the order and iis prompt execution scom ip

indicate that Baptiste’s battalions wore x public nuisance. After the

fall of Georgegarh Baptisto-—-who, according to Thomas’s meroirs,

carried on a trailorous correspondence with him--returned to Delhi,

and Smith says that Perron procured the transfer of these six

ballalions to his command by intrigue, and that they formed the

foundation of the Fourth Brigade. his was probably the case, for in

i802 Baptisle proceeded to Ujjain to take over ble command of the

Decean battalions left vacant by the suicide of his brother Fiddle.

When war broke out with the English his foree cousisted of eight

battalions of infantry, 500 cavalry, und 45 guns, our of these were

beaten and dispersed at Assuye under Dupont, and Baptiste, with the

remaining four, escaped a similar fate by the circumstance of his

having been loft to guard) Ujjain. When he heard of Sindhia’s

erushing defeat, he saved himeclf by huzrying off to Rajpuiana, but

rejoined the prince on the conclusion of the war, aud remained in his

service for many years afterwards, being the singlo mililary adventurer

of Hindustan who survived the disasters of 1803. People of his name,

and probably his descendants, are to this day employcd in the court

of Sindbia, and Sir Michael Filoze is x highly respectable architect at

Gwalior. In Broughton’s ‘Mahratta Camp” there are several

references to Tbaptiste Filoze, whose circnimstances in 1809 were fur

from happy, for serious disturbances were constantly occurring in his

corps, Which was seldom out of » state of reyulay niutiny, owing to the

men being in arrears of pay, and the tyrannical treatment they

experienced from Baptiste. Ou one occasion he was removed from

the command, after he and his Muropean officors had been seized and

confined, some being flogged, while others, with a refinement of

eruelty, had their cars nipped in sunlocks, after which they were all

expelled from the lines. They numbered torty, chiefly half-eastes, Lut

two or Lhyes ware Englishmen. A Hittle later ou Baptiste was rein-

stated, through the interest of friends at court, who described him as

“ one of the greatest generals of the day’; which clicited the shrewd

comment from Sindbia “that he had geuerally fowad these very great

generals were also very great rogues.” Lowever, Baptiste obtained

his reappointment, and eviderlly prospered, as the following extruct

from Colonel Sleeman’s “ Rambles of an Indian Official ” testifies :

“ After the Dusera festival in November every year, the Pindaris co

‘Kingdom taking’ as regularly as Luglish gentlemen gu partridge

a
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shooting on the Ist of September. I may give as a specimen the

excursion of Jean Baptiste Filoze, who sallied forth on such an expedi-

tion at the head of a division of Scindia’s army just before the Pindari

War. From Gwalior he proceeded to Kerowlee, and took from the

ehicf of that territory the district of Subughur, yielding four lakhs

annually. He then took the territory of the Rajah of Chundeylee, one

of the oldest of the Bundlecund chiefs, which yielded about seven

lakhs of rupees, The Rajah got an allowance of Rs. 40,000 a year. He

then took the territories of the Rijaha of Ragooghur and Bahadhur-

ghur, yielding three lakhs a yoar, and the three princes got Rs. 50,000

a year for subsistence amongst them, He then took Lopar, yielding

two lakhs end a half, and assigned the Rajah its. 25,000. Hoe then

took Gurla Kotlah whose chief pets subsistence from the British

Government. Baptiste had just completed his Kingdom taking when

our armies took the field against the Pindaris, and on the termination

of the war in 1817 all theso acquisitions were confirmed and guaranteed

to Seindia.” Writing in 1888 Colonel Siceman adds: “ The present

Gwalior foree consists of three regiments of infantry nnder Colouel

Alexander, six under Apajeo, eleven under Colonel Jacob (Broughton

micntions them as excellently disciplined in 1807, theix commander

enjoying a Jaided and paying therm regularly), and five under Colonel

Jean Baptists Viloze.”

Gaptiste remained at Gwalior till the breaking ont of hostilities

between the ruling Sindhia and the Hnvlish in 1848. He was then

commander-in-chief of the Slate army, which consisted of 80,000

regular troops and the famous park of arhllery which had remained

with it since the days of De Boigne, dust before the battles of Maha-

rajaptr and Panniér, Baptiste arranged that he should be locked up

by his own wen 80 as to avoid fighting the English. The reason of

this was that he had £40,000 invested in Gompuiny’s paper. With

the exception of two, all the other officers of his army withdrew from

the contest, knowing the hopelessness of success. ‘lho war was begun

and concluded with these two battles, both fought on the same day,

and after if Baptiste and his offieers wore removed froim their com-

mands and employment of every kind.

Thus Daptiste’s career is traced for forly-sevon years in the service

of Sindhia—a record no other military adventurer can boast of.

Finoze, Micnar.t, CoLonxs.— Michael Filoze was a low-bred

Neapolitan of worthless character, yet not without a certain addross

and eunning that enabled Lim to advance his interests. In his

native country he liad followed the calling of a muleteer, before
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he enlistod in the French army and came out to Madras, from

whenee, after several vicissitudes, le made his way to Delhi, and

enlisted in the Rana of Gulad’s service, in the corps commanded by

Madoc, Do la Fontaine, a Preneliman, was a fellow officer, und it

was evidently afler him thal Michael named lis son Baptiste, whe

was born at Gohad in 3773, In 1782, when the Rana was defoated

by Sindhia and his battalion brvken up, Michael Jiloze losi his

employment, and it has been stated that during the next cight

years he served one of the Native states of Sunthern India. But

if so, he evidently retnrned to Windnstun, for about the year 1790

he found means to recommend iiiuself to De loigne, who ap-

pointed him to the conmmand of wu battalion in his Virst Brigade.

It was some time before he rose to auy substantial rank, for in

May, 1794, he was only rated af a pay of Ns. 600 per month. In

the previous year he had bev selogted to xevompany Madhoji

Sindhia to the Deccan, and later ou he snecessfully intrigued to

get his battalion wade into & stparate comune, independeul of

De Boigno’s, It formed the nucleus of the corps he raised, which

eventually numbered eleven battations, Tn 1797 Michael Jilose

found it prudent to tly from Poonah, under the following circum

stances. Nana Farnavis, the Veshwi’s primo minister, and the aost

uble statesman in Maratha history, was induccd lo return a formal

visit of ceromony paid hin wfew duys previously by Datlat Lito

Sindhia, of whom he was suspicions and distrustful, But Michael

Vilozo pledged his word of honour for the safety of the old aninister,

and so overcame his scruples; notwithstanding which the Neapolitan

seized Nana and made him over « prisoner to Sindbia. This per-

fidious act excited the just indignation of all the European officers

in the services of the Native stales, whose general character was

impugned by it, and who, in Grant Poif’s words, “though mere

soldiers of fortune, were as distinguished for good faith as daring

enterprise.” The Mardthads themselves excused Michael's treachery,

saying that he was ignorant of what was intended, and aseribing

it to sudden eoercion by Ghatkay Bao. It should further be

mentioned that in a letter to w current nowspaper Michael Filoze

strenuously denied his guilt. Tho Nana was too powerful a person-

age to be kept a prisoner long; for a time he was confined in the fort

of Aluucdnagar, but in the following year he obtained his liberty by

a payment of ten laklis of rupees. Directly Filoze heard he was

treating for his liberty, and likely to obtain il, le decamped to

Bombay, leaving the command vf bis cleven battalions to his sons,

Drugeon, who brands Michael Wiloze as a traitor, mentions that he
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set out for Harope, “but died"—whether on the voyage or after his

arrival there is not specified. Grant Duif confirms Drugeon’s estimate

of this adventurer’s character, as does Smith, who describes Filoze’s

party as one that“ never performed any action of military or political

consequence.”

Fingiass, Caprain,—This officer was an Englishman, and formerly

a quarter-mastor in the 19th Dragoons, whore he bore a good cha-

racter. He and Colonel Boyd, at the head of two independent partics,

were introduced inte the service of the Nizam of aidarabad os 4

counterpoise to Raymond’s overgrown power. In the year 1798

Vinglass’s corps numbered about 800 men, and took part in the

battle of Kardla, where it shared in Lhe defeat the Nizam brought

upon himself by his pusillanimity. After this it was increased, and

in 1798 wumbered 6,000 men. Early in this year Raymond died, and

was succeeded by Piron inthe eommand of the “ French army”

of 14,000, which was disbanded in the following October by

Lieutenant-Colonel Roberts, under orders from the Guvernor-

General. With the dispersion of these troops, and the cessation of

ihe danger they threatened, it became a question whether or not

Finglass should be allowed fo retain his corps. In the end Tard

Wellesley sanctioned Hs continnance, and, furthermore, permitted

Finglass from time to time to purchaso ordnance, ordnance stores,

and muskets at Fort St. George. Itis possible that the Haidarabad

reformed troops, now in the service of the Nizam, can carry their

traditions back to the days of Captain Finglaas.

Fieures, Captars [also written Tleury].—Captain Fleuros was

a Frenchman and a cavalry officer in Perron’s anny. After the

battle of Koil in 1808, when Perron precipitately ficd to Agra, he

detached Fleurea, with 5,000 Hindustani horse, to carry fire and

sword into the Company’s district of Cawnpore. Tleurea came across

a small British outpost at Shikéabad, commanded by Colonel Con-

ingham, and after four days' fighting forced it to surrender. Ti was

not s very brilliant performance, bué still the single advantage gained

by any of Porron’s troops during the war. On hearing of the fall of

Aligarh, Fleuvea’s Lroopers carried him back to Agra, from whence he

made hig escape with great difficulty after Perron’s flight, joining the

Gonoeral at Lucknow, and accompanying him to Calcutta.

Fremont, Cotoxzn [spelt also frimont and Fremond|—Colonel

Frémont was a Loyalist und commander of the Wrench forces at
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Chandernagore. But he quitted the service, as did most of the other

officers in 1790, on the breaking ont of the Freneh Revolution. Pro-

ceeding up country, he applied to De Bofgne for employment, and

was appointed to the command of one of the two original battalions,

and, when the Second Brigade was formed, promoted to the head of

the First with a salary of Rs. 1,400 a month. In 172 he distinyuished

himself at the storm of Balahiri, a hill fort forty-five miles cast of

Jaipur, on which occasion Captain Bulkeley was killed. An intorest-

ing account of this campaign appeirs in Phe World (a newspaper

printed at Caloutta), in the following letter, datcd from a place called

“ Ringhass,” on August 6 and 10, 1792 :—

“We arrived at this place on the 5th, our force consisting of the

Second Brigade and 15,000 regular Mahbratta horse, but oxelnding

irregulays. This is a stone fort, upon a scientific plan of constrnetion,

surrounded by a ditch thirty fect deep, twenty-four feet wide, and

capable of defence with such men and discipline as ours. It belonged

to the Rajah Deby Sing, a tributary to the Jeypore LKijah, to whom

he has refused the established tribute, anonniing to two lakha and a

half, offering only a small portion. We arrived early, and after

summoning the place to that effect, nt nine o’clock we opened our

trenches, and kept up a sevore firs on tho place till ten o'clock, by

which time wo had effected a capital breach between one of tho

bastions and a head of the envtain. The garrison had but few guns,

with which, and musketry, {hey contrived to nnnoy us heartily. We

opened two mortars after dark, which created, as was tutended,

dreadful confusion among them.

“Captain Chamband’s battalion and 4 seleet body of Rohillas were

ordered for the storm in two divisions, with: orders mot to spare the

sword. Tho time, three in the morning. However, tho order had

reached the garrison, and by a eapitulation at half-past two they

saved the lives of the remaining people. Deby Sing had quilted the

fort previonsly, lenving injunctions to his officers not to surrender on

any terms. The garrison are all prisoners now with us, and the stock

of provisions and stores is valuable to ws. The valaable properly wad

earried off to the Rajah ; however, what was left more than pays the

amonni offered.

‘Deby Sing has anotlier strong fort, called Sikker, about eight

cos distant, where he has resolved to hold out, and we are determined

to bring him to implicit obedience or bondage. Ho has a chosen

force, a strong fort, good guns, and three months’ provisions, und the

country around is without water.”

Frémont brought this expedition to a snecessful conclusion, The
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next mention of him is two years later, at Datia, whither he was

sent to punish the Rajah. The following account of this campaign is

extracted from the “* Asiatic Researches.” “Gopal io Bhow marched

against Duticya (in 1794) to compel payment of tribute and exact a
fine. He was opposed. An engagement ensued, in which the

Dutieya troops charged, sword in hand, the vetcran battalions of

De Boigne, which wore commanded by Major Fromont, an officer of

ability and experience. The Bundélhas showed no fear of the musket

ond bayonet, and there were several instances of grenadiers cut down,

while their bayonets were buried in the breast of their assailants’

horse. The Brigade lost 300 mon in the attack, and Major Frimont

himself assured me that nothing but » continual discharge of grape

from the guns prevented it from mntter destruction.” In another

account the victory is attributed to the judicious disposition of Fre-

mont’s artillery, and the gallantry of his men in some severe close

fighting, in which they routed the enemy with considerable slaughter.

In 1795 or 1796 Frémont died, and this left Perron the senior

officer in the force, and paved the way for his promotion to ihe

chief command.

GarpNer, WILLIAM Linanus, CoLonet.— In its social aspect

Colonel Gardner's life is the most romantic of any recorded in these

pages. Born in 1770, he was a great grandson of William Gardner,

of Colleraine, and a nephew of Alan, first Baron Gardner, a distin-

euished admiral in the British navy, who received the thanks of

Parliament for his servieos. Colonel Gardner was educated in

France, and came out to India in the King’s service, and after rising

to the rank of captain quitted it te enlist under the banners of the

Native princes, There was a Seotcl, officer of the same name who

entered Sindhia’s service in 1792, was Drigade-Major of the First

Brigade in 1793, commanded the Second ‘Brigade in 1704, and was at

the storm and capture of Sohawalgarh in 1795, where he was assisted

by George Thomas. But as bis Christian name is given as James in

one place it is doubtful whether he was the same individual as the

officer under notice. Colonel William Gardner entered Jaswant Rao

Holkar’s service in 1798, and raised a brigade of reyular infantry for

that chief. Eué a disagreement arose bebween them, and Gardner

left him. The story of his cseape is thus told by himself :—

“One evening, when in Holkar’s service, I was employed as an

envoy to the Company's forces, with instructions to return within a

certain time. My family remained in camp. Suspicion of treachery

was caused by my lengthened absence, and accusations were brought

forth against me at the durbar held by Holkar on the third day follow
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ing that on which my presence was expected. I rajoined the camp

while the durbar was in progress. On my entranee the Maharajah,

in an angry tone, demanded the reason of my delay, which L gave,

pointing out the impossibility of a speedier retum. Wherenpon

Holkar exclaimed, in great anger, ‘Mad you not returned this day T

would have levelled the khanits of your tent.’ LT drew my sword

instantly and ondeavoured to ent Tis Highness down, but was pre-

vented by those aronnd,him; and hefore they had recovered from the

milazement and confusion caused by the attempt, I rushed from the

camp, sprang upon my horse, and was soon beyond the reach of

recall,”’

To account for Colonel Gardncr's indignation it murt be explained

that he was married to a Native Jady, and that the Ahanits, or can-

vas walls of his tent, represented the privacy of the cenaza, antl to

have eut them down implied the exposure of the inmates, an insult

for which there could be no atonement. Through the influence of

friends Colonol Gardner's wilo and fanily wore allowed to join lim

shortly afferwards—a piece of generosity hardly to be expected from

such 2 character as Jaswant Rao [olkar.

The story of Colonel Gardner's marriage, as related by himself to

Lady Fanny Parkes, is one of romantie interest. TIe was married by

Muhammadan rites to 2 princess of the house of Cambay, a state on

the western seaboard of India, wnd prebably when be was an officer

in the British service. This is his desoription of the incidents lending

to the union :—

“When a young man I was entrusted to nogotiate 4 troaty with one

of the Native prinees of Cambay. Durbars and consnitations were

continually held. During one of the former, at wluch I was present,

a curtain near me was gently pulled aside, and IT saw, as I thought,

the most beautiful black eyes in the world, It was tinpossible to think

of the treaty: those bright and piercing glances, those beautiful durk

eyes completely bowildered me.

“T felt fatlerod that a ercature so lovely as she of those deep black,

loving eyes should venture to gaze upenrne. To what dangor might

not the veiled beanty be exposed shonld tho movement of tho purdak

be seen by any of those present at the durbar? On quitting the

asseinbly I discovered that the bright-eyed beauty was the daughter

of the prince, At the next durbar my agitalion and anxiety were

extreme to again behold the bright cyes that haunted my dreams and

my thoughts by day. Tho curtain was again gently waved, and ray

fate was decided.

“J demanded the princess in marriage, IIor relations were at first
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indignant, and positively refused my proposal. However, on mature

deliberation, the ambassador was considered too influential a person

to have a request denied, and the hand of the young princess was

promised. The prepurations for the marviage were carried forward.

‘Remember,’ said I, ‘it will be useless to attempt to deccive me.

I shall know those eyes again, nor will I marry any obler !*

“On the day of the marriage I raised the veil from the countenance

of the bride, and in the mirror that was placed between us, in accor-

dance with the Mahomedan wedding ceremony, I beheld the bright

eyes that had bewildercd me. I smiled. The young Begum smiled

too.”

This young princess was only thirtecn years old when she was

married: “An event,” says Colonel Gardner, ‘ which probably saved

both ony lives.” She was evontually adopted us a daughter by Akbar

Shah, who sueeceded Shah ‘Alam as Emperor of Delhi. For over

forty years usband and wife lived a life.of perfect happiness, and

she died of a broken heart in August, 1835, six months after Colonel

Gardner.

Subsequently to his departure from Holkav’s service Colonel

Gardner had another very narrow escape for his life. In 1803 he

was confined a prisoner by Amrit Rio, who, when war broke out with

the English, cansed Gardner to ba fastened to a gun, and threatened

with immediate execution if he refused to tuke the field against his

follow countrymon. The Colonel remained staunch, end in the hope

of wearying him out, his exceution was suspencted, and he was placed

in charge of a guard, who had orders never to quit sight of him for

a single metant. Walking one day along the edge of a steep cliff,

which led by a presipitaus descent to the river Tapti, Gardner was

suddenly inspired to make a daring dash for liberty, and perceiving

a place fitted for his purpose, he called out “ Bismillah!” (Tn the

name of God”), and flung himself down a declivity some forty or fifty

feet deep. None were inclined to follow him, but an alarm was

sounded. Recovering his feet, he made for tho river, and plunged into

it; butafter swimming for some distance he found pursners were gaining

on him, and sought shelter in a friendly covert, where, with merely his

mouth above water, he waited until they had passed. He then landed

on the opposite side, and proceeded by unfrequented paths to a town in

the neighbourhood, which was under the command of a Native whom

he knew, and who afforded him protection. After remaining in

hiding for some time, he ventnred ont in the disguise of a grass cutter,

and reached the British outposts in safety.

At one time it would appear, from a passage in Major Thorn’s “ War
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in India,” that Colonel Gardner was in the service of the TRajah of

Jaipur; but in 1804 he returned to his allegiance to the British Govern-

ment and raised a famous cavalry corps known as “ Gardner’s Horse,”

which achieved a great reputation, His best services, both in the field

and in diplomacy, were performed under the King’s flag. IIe had a

profound knowledge of the native character, and had adopted many

of the ideas and opinions of the people with whom he passed a great

portion of his life, But this did not prevent lim from being an

acceptable companion to his own countrymen, with whom he was

always a great favourite. Lewis Ferdinand Smith describes him as

“a gentleman and a soldier of pleasing address and uncommon

abilities.” His figure was tall and commanding, and his handsome

countenance ond military air rcndcred his appearance very striking.

Lady Fanny Parkes, from whose interesting ‘‘ Wanderings of a

Pilgrim” many of tho foregoing facts have beon gleaned, formed an

intimate friendship with Celonel Gardner, and speaks of him, in his

old age, in terms of the warmest admiration and regard. For many

years prior to hisdeath he resided on his garyker, or estate, at Khasganj,

sixty miles from Agra. His Begum bore tii twosons atl a daughter,

His cldest son Jnmes married a niece of tle Winperor Akbar Shah.

The younger, Alan, was united to Vili Sahiba Hinga, and left two

daughters, Suzan and Hirmnzi. The latter was married in 1886 to

her relative, William Gardner, a nephew of the second Baron Gardner.

Their son, Alan Hyde Gardner, succeeded to tlic title, and is the

present holder of it. He married in 187) Jano, a converted princess

of the Tousc of Delhi, and hag an heir, born in 1881, There is a most

interesting pedigreo of this family on p. 420 (vol. i.) of the “ Wander-

ings of a Pilgrim,” which Wlustvates in a very envious way the thread of

connection by intermarriage between the heirs und descendants of an

English Barony, the Imperial Ifowse of Taimiit, the Kinga of Ondh

and the Prinees of Cambay. The dozrce of velationship is too intricate

to be explained in detail, but the present Lord Gardner is grandson of

a Prince of Cambay, and nepliew to a late Emperor of Delhi, and

alate King of Oudh. This sketch cannot be more suitably coneluded

than by an extract from Dod’s Pcerage.

“ Garpyer (Ireland) created 1800. Daron Gardner, 1806 (United

Kinedom), by which title he holds his seat in the House of Lords.

Baroneh, 1794 (Great Britain) Alan Ilyde Gardnor, son of the Into

Stewart William Gardner, grandson of the first baron. Ti. 1836: M,

1879, Jane, daughter of Angam Shekoc. Sueeceded his kinsman in

1883. Residence, Vilage Munowia, near Nadri, Giah distriet. Tletr,

Bon Alan Legge, born October 25, 1881,”
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Grsity, Masor.—Moajor Geslin was a Frenchman, and commanded

a battalion in Perron’s Second Brigade. When the war of 1803 broke

ouf he was appointed to sueceed George Hessing in command of the

brigade, the latter beiny sent to take up the commandantship of the

fort of Agra, rendered vacant by the death of his father, Colonel John

Hessing. Gealin, meanwhile, joined Bourguien at Delli, and opposed

him when he revolted against Perron’s authority, and usurped his

command. Lourguien, having failed in every attempt to seduce

Goslin from his allegiance, incited the brigade to mutiny and place

the Major under arrest, which they did. After the battle of Dellu,

Geslin was one of the officers who surrendered to Lord Lake, and

wero deported to Calcutta.

Harpine, Masor.— Major Harding was a very gallant young

English adventurer, whose career though short was brillient. He

raised a brigado of four battalions for Jaswant Rao Holkar, which he

brought to a high state of efficiency and discipline. He mot his death

ati the battle of Pooneh, whilst charging Dawes’s guns side by side

with Holkar. In the very moment of victory he received a cannon

shot in the shoulder, almost the last one fired in the action. Jaswant

Rao, although wounded in three plates, immediately hurried to the

spot where Hardiag was lying, to afford him assistance and sonsola-

tion. But the wounded officer was sinking fast, and he oxly had time

to express a wish to be laid to rest hy the side of his fellow country-

men in the burial place of the British Residoney at Poonah—a dying

request that was serapnlonsly fulfilled.

Harriorr, Carrain.—Captain arriott was un Minglishman, and an

officer in Perron’s Fifth Brigudc. Te was one of the Europeans con-

fined by the mutinaus troops at Agra, previous to the capture of that

fortress by General Lake, Taking advantage of the terms of Lord

Wellesley's proclamation, he passed over to the British Government,

aud obtained the command of ono of Sindhia’s battalions whicl: were

taken into the Company's service after the war, and saw some fighting

with itin the Hariina district in 1804.

Teansry, Carrain.—Captain Hearsey was ono of Thomas’s officers,

and assumed tomporary charge of the camp at Georgegarh after the

memorable battle of the 4éh of September, 1801. It was owing to his

error of judgment in not retiring to Mansi, that Thomas’s fall was in-

directly due. He appears te have passessed very little military ability,

put was faithfal to his chief, and not only accompanied him in his flight
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to Hansi, but fought bravely to the end. After Thomas’s fall Hearscy

entered the service of somo Nutive state, whether Sindhia’s or

Holkar's it is impossible to say; but he was one of the officers who

availed themselves of Lord Wellesley’s proclamation in 1808, and

reccived a pension of Ns. 800 a month drom the British Government.

Hessine, Groner, CoLtoxsi.—George Tlessing was a half-caste

Dutchman, being a son of Colonel Jolin Ilessing by a ‘* Native

woman.” But though Grant Duff deseribes the mother in these

terms, there is litile doubt but that she was a sister of Major

Derridon and Madame Perron, for Skinner mentions that George

Heesing was the General’s nephew. Hessing was known amongst

the Natives as Jorus Sahib, a. corruption ofhis Christian name, which

cannot bear comparison with the sonorous Jowruj applied to Thomas.

The first mention of George Hessiny is in 1708, when, in conjunction

with Fidéle Filoze, he expertly effected tie capture of Ghatkay Rito.

In 1900, on tho retirement of hig fathor, he sneceeded to the ecommant

of a brigade of four bultalions, which le quickly increased to eight.

The next year he accompanied Sindhin to Malwa, and on reaching

the Narbada was sent forward to protcet Ujjain xguainst a threatened

attack by Holkar. Althongl it was in the rainy season, and the

country flooded with water, HMcssing made an astonishingly rapid

mareh, and arrived at the capital in June. Amir Khan soon attacked

him, and kept him in play till Holkar defeated MacIntyre and

attempted to repeat the success against Brownrigg; but being re-

pulsed by the latter officers, he joined Amir Khfin, and made a con-

certed assault on Ilessing’s entrenchments outside the walls of Ujjain.

Hessing behaved in a most cowardly munney, flying at an early

periad of the action, and leaving lis troops to bo annihilated, and his

eloven European officcrs killed or woundod and taken prisoners.

Just previous to the battle of Ujjain he had despatched four of his

battalions to his father at Avra, whither he now mado lis way. He

was soon ealled upon to march with these to assist in the war against

George Thomas, and it was through Iris lines that Jowrny Jung ent

his way when he cseaped to Hinsi. After this Hessing returned to

Agra, Snuith states that his four battalions were taken over by Derron

in 1808, and made the foundation of the Vifth Brigade, Icssing being

promoted to the command of the Seeond, in sucecssion to Robert

Sutherland; but he did not hold the appointment long, for his father

died in Tuly, aud le was iransiorred to the cominandantship of Agra.

He was here whon General Lake captured the fort, but not in cem-

mand, for he had been previously deposed and confined by his
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mutinous troops. At the last moment he was put forward to negotiate

terms for the garrison, Skinner asseris that le was “too rich 2 man

to defend the fort well, and soon found means to dissatisfy the

farrison,” but this opinion seems ill founded. Hessing’s fortune waa

estimated at five lakhs of rupees, besides money in the Company's

funds. After lis surrender he retired to Chinstira for somes time, and

eventually removed fo Calenita, whero he died on the 6th of

January, 1826, aged forty-four years.

Tlzssine, Joux, Coionsi..—Colonel Hessing was a native of Holland,

and was born in 1740. He came to India in 1764, and entered the

service of the Native princes. After many adventures, no records of

which appear to exist, he joined De Boigne, and obtained the com-

mand of one of the first two battalions the General raised. He was

present at the battles of Lalsdt, Chaksana, Agra, and Pitan. After

the latter he quarrclled wiih his commander and left him. Soon after

this he was specially cmployed by Madhoji Sindhin to raise a body-

guard for that chief, and accompanied him to Poonah in 17928. By

degrees Hessing increased his party to a small brigade of four batta-

lions, In 180) ill-health obliged him to resign his command in favour

of his son George, and, “ covered with wounds received in war,” the

fine old Dutchman retired to fill the post of Commandant of the Fort

of Agra. Here “in his judicial capacity ho so tempered justice with

mercy, that he was universally loved and esteomed, and in this

honourable retreat passed the remaining years of his life, spending

with liberality a well-earned fortune.” He had many opportunities

of extending hospitality to British officers, who visited Agra for amugo-

ment or curiosity. Lord Metealfo, then a young civilian and Assistant

Resident at Daulat Rio Sindhia’s camp, mot Jolin Hessing at Agra in

March, 1801, and thus describes the incident:—“I broaktasted by

invitation with the Duteh Commandant, Colonel J. Hessing. I found

him with his son, who commanded in the engagement at Oojein,

where his battalions were defeated; » Mr. Marshall, an Englishman,

and two others, whose uumes I have not learnt, The breukfast

consisted of kedgeree (viee and eggs), fish, game, fowls, curry nnd rice,

stews, oranges, pears, pomegranates, eggs, bread-and-butter, cakes of

all kinds, pancakes, and a number of other dishes which have aseaped

my recollection—amongst athers I have forgottcu to enumerate cheese,

The Dutchmen was as polite as a Dnichman could be, and very weil

meaning, Tam certain. On the following day I breakfasted and dined

with him again,”

John Hessiug died on the 21st of July, 1803, aged sixty-three years, of
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which thirty-seven lind been spent as au adventurer in military service

in India. From some passazes in Skinner’s “ Memoirs” it appears ule

Colonel was father-in-law to Robert Sutherland, and it secms certam

that his wife was a sister of Madame Perron, Smith describes Jolm

Hoesing as ‘a good, benevolent aman and a brave soldier.” A bean-

tifel mausvleum was erected to his memory in the Catholie burial

ground at Agra. Tt was designed in imitation of the Taj, and cost a

lakh of rupees!

Hopkins, Captain, Captain Hopkins was the son of a field offiecr

in the Honourable Company's service, and one of George Thomas's

officers. He was an extremely gallant man, greutly beloved by his

chief, whom he accompanied in the invasion of the Sutlej States,

where he was twice wounded whilst gallantly storming Native foris.

He met his death at the battleof Cleorgegarh. Thomas was decply

affected by his loss, and thus refers to him in lis memoirs -— The

firmness of his behaviour during ihe whole period of Lis service, as

well as the manly resignation whieh he exhibited at the close of life,

stamps his character as that of an amiable man and a brave and

gollant soldier.” And Skinner gives it as his opinion that, “ had

Thomas possessed another officer like Captain Hopkins, he would

have gained the day at Georgegarh,” Hopkins’s battalion was tlie

only one that remained faithful to Thomas to the last. When Thomas

retired into British territory, after lis surrender at Hinsi, he sent a

present of Rs. 2,000 to [Llopkins's sistor, who had just been leit an

orphan by the death of her father, with a promise that if this sum

was not thought enough, he would extend forther benevolence to her

out of his ruined fortunes.

Leger, THouas.—The name of ‘Ton: Legge” has been rescued

‘ from oblivion by the graphic pen of Coloned Tod, the author of ‘Tho

Annals of Rapasthan,” and frow a contribution of his to the Asredee

Journal the following particulars are excerpted :—Legge was a putive

of Danagadec, in the norih of Ireland, is futler being a shipowner

in a small way, and engaged in the cmigrant-carrying trade to

America. om Legge was very wild in his youth, and, rejecting all

his father’s offers to establish him in a respectable calling, ran away

from home and shipped on board the Swallow, sloop of war, bound

for Madras. Arrived in India, Lis vayvaut principle asserted itsell,

and, deserting his ship, he trumped lis way to Haidurabad, in Sind,

supporting hintself by bogging. ‘This wast have been abont the year

1775. He stayed in the lower Indus districts for five or six years,



866 APPENDIX.

and then proceeded to Multan, aud from thenee through the desert to

Jaipur. After a short residence in Rajputana he entered the service

of the J4t Tana of Gohad, boing appointed to u post in Sangster's

corps. IT*rom this officer Legge learnt the art of casting cannon and

whatever belonged to their management, and with the possossion of

this knowledge, and the revival of the crrant principle within him,

he resumed hig travels. Bidding farewell to Sangster, he steered his

course ta Kabul, where his talonts gained him a situation on a pay of

three rupees a day. Here he remained some yeurs, receiving very

kind treatment, and rendering himself so useful that, wlien he desired to

leave, he was obliged to escape hy stealth. Journeying north, he crossed

the Hindu Kush and entered Badakshan, and was so well received

that le stayed there fora considerable time and contracted a left-hunded

matriaze, On quitting this country he went to Bokhaére, where he

exerciscd his art for some time, and there, as clsewliere, his only

difficulty was to get awey.. He afterwards. visited Herit and Kan-

dahiir, and in this mode of life spent tweuby years, serving almost

every power between the Indus and the Caspian. At length, tired of

this nomad existence, he set oub for Jaipur, where le determined to

settle down for the rest of his days. Here he married a daughter of

Dr, de Silva, a yrandson of the eelebrated Favier de Silva, whom the

King of Portugal sent out to assist the astronomival studies of Jai Singh,

the prince who founded Jaipur. This allinuee obtained for Legge

the command of a Najib battalion in the Jaipur army, but his first

service will: it proved lis last, for in storming the stronghold of a

refractory chief he rcecived two wounds. It was shortly after this

that le camo to Colonel ‘od’s ¢amp) to obtain medical assistance.

“Twas poked down with a pike, and shot through my thigh, and I’ve

come to your honour’s camp to get cured, for they can make no hand

at it at Jaipur,” was his explanation of his appearance, and the

speech was intermingled with forcible and patriotic cxpressions of joy

at seeing the British fag waving in tronl of the Colonel’s tent. THis

alay here extended for some months, during which Colonel Tad heard

all the incidents of his adventurous lifc, and records the pleasure he

felt “in listening to the variegated history of this singular being, who

had retained, amidst those strange vicissitudes, an artlessncss of

manner and goodness of heart which were displayed in many notable

instances during liis nbode of some months in our eamp.” Legge was

in Many ways ou eccontric and cosmopolitan character, He practised

tho healing art, alchemy, and divination. He was very benevolent,

and his xecurate memory had mastered and retained an extraordinary

atock of wild Central Asian logends, which he usod willingly to retail
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to any one who would listen to him. He suffered from a delusion

that during lis wanderings he had discovered the Garden of Iden.

The road which led te it was through a spacious and dark cavern, and

an angel with flaming wings euarded its entrance. Deep dow1 in

the heart of a mountain was situated a beautiful garden, filled

with delicious fruit, with piles of gold bricks at one end, and of silver

at the other, and various other marvels, The location of this imagi-

nary spot was in the Hindu Kho. Another striking aid praiseworthy

eharactoristic of ‘om Legge’s was his reverence fur the Bible, a copy

of whieh he carried about with him in all his travels and wanderings.

The doctor who attended Por Legge was a Seotelunan, and although

his patient’s brogue could not Le mistaken, there was blended with it

a strong Scotch accent, and the ductor fancied he recognised a country-

man. ‘At this Tow’s meek spirit took fire; the guaere involved a

double insult, to his country and to his veracity, and he exclaimed with

warmth, ‘You may tuke ive fora Spaniard or a Portugese, or what

you plase, sir, but I tell you nothing jut the iruth, your honour, when

Tsay Um an Lrishman. Colonel ‘Ted dustantly poured the oil of

gladness on his wounded spirit by saying he did not doubt his word,

but that the doctor was a Scotelinan, and wished to know whether,

from his accent, ho might not clahu Tom as a fellow-countryiman.

Tom’s countenance brightened as he rejoined, with a tone and expres-

sion which could only come from # genuine son of Kirin, ‘Sure, an’ was

not me mother a Mackintosh 2?’ ”

Tom’s wound did not heal, and he felt himself slowly wasting away.

“T do not fear death, your honour,” he said to Colonel Tod, “und

could I get my life written and my bov sent to Caleutta I should dio

contented.” At length he expressed a desire to rettan to Jaipur, and

everything necessary was provided him; Imt le had not long quitted

the camp before despair overtock him, and, throwing away his clothes,

he took up his post in a deserted tomb and proclaimed himself a

Faker, In this condition he was discovered by the wife of Sindhia’s

Genoral, Jean Baptiste Filoze. Sho acted the good Samaritan towards

him, but it wes too late, and poor Tom Legge died shortly afterwards

in the year 1808. Alas! the pity of ii that his book was never written,

Literature might have been the richer by another werk like “'fom

Coryat?s Crudities.”

Le Manrciant, Caprain [also written Le Mareliaud].——Captain Le

Marchant was a Vrenchmau, and ontered De Boigne’s service about

the year 1702. In 1794 be had risen to Lue rank of enptain, and was

drawing Tis. 300 a month pay. Four years later Perron appointed him
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* Prefect” of Delhi, and there, in command of two battalions, he

faithfully discharged the trust reposed in him, and proved himself an

active and diligent officer. He died tn November, 1799, and his widow

assumed the command of his battalions, aud refused to surrender

them to a successor. In March, 1800, a Native was appointed to the

post, but the spirited widow declined to recognise his authority, and

Perron was obliged to send Emilins Felix Smith to dislodge the defiant

lady. She had taken up w strong position, and fortified it with four

guns, but despite her gallant resistance she was eventually compelled

to surrender, wfter having held her late husband's appointment for four

months. The custom of a widow succeeding to the command and

emoluments enjoyed by ler husband was not an wneommon one in

India. ‘he example of the Begum Somru naturally suggests itself,

but others can be adduced as illustrating this somewhat singular system,

of succession. There was in 1790 in the Pesliwa’s service a corps

coumunded by a Huropean named Yvon, on whose death an English-

man named Kobinson was appoinled to suceced him. But Mrs. Yvon

immediately hurried to Dharwar, whore the corps was stationed,

deposed Robinson, caused him to be imprisoned, and assumed the

command herself. Another instance occurred in the service of Haidar

Ali of Mysore. A Portugese officer named Meyyinez, who had on

one occasion rendered signal service to the prince, was slain in a battle

with the Marithas. Haidar Ali immediately conferred the command

of his battalion upon the widow, Madamc Mequinez, and invested

her with the rank of colonel, whieh she was to enjoy until her son

became old enough for the post. This lady accompanied the regiment

everywhere ; its colours were carried to lier house, and she had a

private sentincl at her door. She received fle pay of the foree, and

caused it to be distributed, and the deductions made from it, in her

own presence. When the regiment was drilled and paraded she

inspected it herself, but in time of war her second in command led it

into action. Her fate was rather a humiliating one. She married a

“mongrel Portugese sergeant”; whoreupon ILlaidar Ali reduced her

to a sergeant’s rank and pay, because, by her own voluntary action,

she had degraded herself!

Lestixbéau, Monsieur [also written Lesteneau|.—Lestineau was a

Frenchman, and commanded a regular corps in the service of Ranjit

Singh, the Rajah of the Jits, about the year 1788, After the defeat of

Lalsét, Madhoji Sindlia entered into an alliance with Ranjit Singh,

and thus it happened that Monsieur Lestinean’s corps acted with the

Marathis in the battles of Cluksaua aud Agra, ln the former his
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troops were stationed on the right wing, and shared with De Boigne’s

two battalions the barren honours of the dey, and after making a

staunch and gallant resistance, were foreed to retire owing to tho

desertion of tle Maritha cavalry. TLestinean and his eorps aecam-

panied the Marithas to Delui after the vietory of Agra, and he was

detached to assist in the pursuit of Ghulim Kadir, who had fled to

Meerut. When Ghuldim was captured, lis saddle-baes, stuffed with

the jewels which the misercant had loated from the Emperor's palace,

fell into Lestincan'’s hands, who with these, and the pay of his

battalion, absconded shortly after his return to the capital. He

reached British territory in safety, and evcntually found his way to

Europe, with his il-gotten wealth.

Le Vassovit, Cotonet [spelt also Le Vassou, Le Vaisseau, Le

Vaisseaux, Le Vaissaux, Le Vassoo], —Le Vassonlt— assuming this to

be the proper orthography of bis name--was a Frenchman, and a

person of talent, good birth, nud pride cf character. He enterod tha

Begum Somru’s corps, and after rendering his mistress essential ser-

vice in the management of her artillery, was promoted to the command

of it in 1793. Two yoars later, iv order to obtain complete control of

her party, he married tho Begum. He always felt a profound con-

tempt for the officers in the force, and refised to sit at meals with

them, treating them in a haughty wianner, and attempting to reform

the character of the troops with stern severity. This apeedily led to

a mutiny, and Le Vassoult Jost his life under cireumstances which

will be found fully related under the heading of “ Sombre.”

Lucay, Carrain {also spelt Luecan].—Captain Lacon was an Irish-

man, and an officer in Perron’s army. When the war of 1803

occurred, be availed himself of tlhe Governor-Gencral’s proclamation,

and left Sindhia’s serviec. At the storm of Aligarh he volunteered to

show Lord Lake's troops the way to the gate, and the Commander-in-

chief mentions him in the fullowing terms in his despatch of the 4th

of September, 1803, aunouncing the capture of the fortresn:—TI feel I

shall be wanting in justico to the merits of Mr. Lucan, » native of Great

Britain, who recently quitted the service of Sindhia to avoid serving

against his country, were T not ta recommend him to your Lordship’s

particular attention. He gallantiy undertook to lead Colonel Monson’s

storming party tu the gate, and point out the roud through the fort,

which he effected in a most gallant manuer, and Colonel Monson has

reported having received infinite bonelit fron. his service.” Luean

was rewarded with x commission in tlie 7ith Regiment, and a donation

24
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of Tis. 24,000——“ for the job,” as Skinner somewhat disparagingly puts

it. General Lake mentions Lucan again in his despatch of the 10th

of October following :— To Mr, Lucan’s information and exertions on

this occasion [the battle before Agra] as well ag on every other, I

feel myself very mineh indebted.’ Subsequently Captain, or as he

ought perhaps to be called, Lieutenant Lucan was appointed to the

command of a large hody of irregular cavalry, and attached to the

force under Colonel Monson, which was employed in keoping Moikar

in check, Monson met with a disastrous defeat after a shori

campaign in Holkar’s territory, and Lucan was detached to pro-

tect his rear. When the troops were leaving Rampiira he might

have saved himself if he had retreated directly Jaswant Rao’s advance

guard came in sight. But he desired to win 2 name for himself, and

thought he might do so by making a brilliant charge before falling

back, He was deserted by most of his men, and soon surrounded by

Hoikar’s best cavalry, and after sustaining a gallunt fight, in which

his few faithful troops were cul to pieces, he was wounded and taken

prisoner. He was confined at Botah, and shortly aflerwards dicd,

according to various accounts, by poison, by torture, or from the

effects of his wounds. Inthe “ Lite of Amir Khan,” by Bhosawan Lal,

it is made to appear that Tmcan fell in hand-to-hand conflict with

Holkar himself, and the apocryphal exploit is commemorated by

some Persian verses, of which Prinsep gives the following metrical

translation :—

“ Tha Maharaj at Lucan flew,

As swoops the falcon on its prey,

His water-tempercd blade he drew

And streams of gushing blood found way‘

The broken host took Hight and fled,

Death was among them freely dealt,

Sepoys and soldiers, black and white,

The sword’s keen edge in plenty fett.

A Raging Lion, Jeswunt Rio,

Came upon Lucan, brave and bold,

Aud striking at his neck oue blow,

His head upow the green sward rolled.

The army saw their leadcr’s fate

And forthwith in confusion turned ;

Such the reward of those, whose hate,

Like Lucan’s against Holkar burned.’*
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It is, perhaps, as well to mention that, despite these circumstantial

and gory details, the above incident is purely imaginary,

MacIstyre, Carrary.—Nothing is known of this adventurer, except.

that he was an officer in Hessing’s or Tiloze’s brigades, and was

detached by Sindhia in June, 1801, to enpport the former ab Ujjain

with two battalions. IIe was ent off by Juswant Lio Polka at

Nii, twenty-seven miles distant from the capital, and compelled to

surrender.

MacKenzie, Lievrevant.—Lientenant MacKenzie was an officer

commanding a battalion in Perron’s Third Brigade under Bourguien.

He was present during the campaign against Thomas, and belaved

with gallantry at the final sssaulton Miinsi, where he was wounded.

Mapoe, Coroner [spelt also Médoc|.—Next to Sombre's, Macoc’s

was the oldest “ party” in Tlindustan. Madee was an illiterate and

ignorant Frenchman, who had formerly eon a private in the French

army in Southern India, froin whieli he deserted in 1774, and found

his way to Delhi, where he entered the service of Najaf Khan, for

whom he raised a corps of five battalions of infantry, 500 cavalry, and

20 euns. He gathered around him several very respectable and com-

petent officers, amongst whom were the Count de Moidayre and the

Chevaliers Dudrenec and Crassy. Colonel Malleson states that Madoc

commenced his career as carly aa 1757, and that he was one of Sombre’s

officers, and served at the battle of Buxar. Tlewas a gallant 2uan, but

deficient in military knowledge, and with more enterprise and bravery

than prudence and science, and his battalions generally failed in their

attacks from the rash impetuosity of their commander. After leaving

Najaf Khén’s service, Mudoe entered that of the Rana of Gobad in

177G, and a little later experienced a disastrous defeat in the defiles

of Bidna in the Méwatti district, where his foree was attacked by a

large band of Rohillas, during 2 heavy storm of rain, and annihilated,

twelve of his Kuropean officers being killed, and all his guns and

baggage captured. Maroc escaped by flight, and found refuge at

Fatehpur, from whence he repaired to Agra, and set to work to enst

new guns and raise and discipline another corps. When it was roady

for service, by « species of transaction not uncommon in those days,

he sold it to the Rana of Goliad in 1782, and its command devolved

on Major Sangster. Madoc, having realised a small fortune, retired

to Europe, where he was uct long afterwards killed in a duel.
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Marsuai, Jawes, Caprarn.—Captain Marshall was a Scotchman,

and a gentleman of good family and education. He began life as

midshipman in the Company's navy, bub in a spixit of adventure left

the sea, and tock service with the Native princes, obtaining the

command of a battalion in Tlessing’s corps. He is spoken of by a

contemporary a8 a brave soldier, an intclligent officer, and a man of

liberal sontiments and amiable manners. Little is known of his active

eareer in Sindhia’s service, execpt that be was ono of the officers who

waa confined by the revolted troops at Agra in 1803, and if is probable

he was engaged in the war against George Thomas. LIaving sur-

rendered to General Lake in terms of the Governor-General’s proela-

mation, he was awarded a pension of Rs. 500 a mouth by the British

Government, and shortly afterwards appointed to the command of

some newly-raised levies, and sent to keep order in the Hariina

district. He was shot through the heart about the year 1804, whilst

gallantly storming a town, in the discharge of his duty to his King and

country. ‘Sueh characters are rarely seen,” writes Lewis Ferdinand

Smith. “I knew him long, and he was esteemed and respected by all

who were acquainted with his many excellent and amiable qualities.

To was cut off in the flower of his life. As he received the fatal bullet,

he grasped the hand of his friend, Captain Harriott, smiled at him,

and dropped back dead.”

Manrinr, Craupz, Gunerat [also wrilten Claud Martin].—Clande

Martine was a Frenchman. He was born in the year 1732 at Lyons,

whore his father carried on the business of a silk manufacturer. It was

intended that he should follow the same calling, but his adventurous

spirit would not submit to so fame 4 career, and ranning away from

home at an early age, he enlisted in the French army. He soon dis-

tinguished himself by his activity and energy, and was advanced from

an infantry to a cavalry regiment. In 1757 the Count de Laily was

appointed to the government of Pondicherry, and requiring volunteers

for his bodyguard, Martine rade application to be enrolled, and was

accepted. Accompanying Lally to India, he arrived there in 1758,

but had not been long in the country before he began to experience

trouble. Lally’s ideas of discipline wore inordinately severe, and his

behaviour and manners toward his subordinates harsh and tyrannical.

His treatment might have been necessary, for a large portion of his

bodyguard had been recruited from military criminals and deserters

under sentence, who were drafted into it ase punishment. But Lally’s

sternness had the effect of increasing rather than diminishing the in-

subordination, and when, a little later, Ceote advanced and laid siege
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to Pondicherry, the whole of the Governor's bodyguard deserted on

masse to the English, by whom they were well received. On the

return of the British troops to Madras, Martine volunteered to raise a

corps of French chasseurs from amongst the prisoners of war, for

service under the Company’s flag. His proposal was entertained, aud

he reccived a commission as ensign. Shortly afterwards he was

ordered to Bengal with his corps, but, during the voyage, the ship in

which he sailed sprang a leak, and it was only with the greatest diffi-

culty that he saved his men in the boats, and eventually landed thei

safely in Caleutta. In due course he was promoted to the rank of

captain, but in 1764 his men mutinied, notwithstanding his exertions

to keep them faithful, and the corps was broken up. Martine’s conduct

on this oceasion was greatly commended by the authorities, and, being

an able draughtsman, be was rewarded by an appointment in the

north-eastern districts of Bengal, where he was sent to survey bie

country. His work was so satisfactory that, on its completion, a

similar appointment was found fer hi in the province of Oudh.

This was the turning-point in his eareer, which had hitherto beon

more eventfal than profitable. Having fixed his headquarters at

Lucknow, he employed his leisure in exercising bis ingenuity in

several branches of mechanics, and, amongst other things, manufac-

tured ‘the first balloons that ever fluated in the air of Asia.” This

brought him under the notice of the Nawal, who conceived so high an

opinion of his abilities, and especially his skill in gunuvery, that he

solicited permission from the Bengal Government for Martine’s ser-

vices to be transferred to him, aud this being sranted, the adventurer

was appointed superintendent of the Nawab’s park of artillery and

arsenal.

Martine did not neglect the opportunities thus opened out to him,

and speedily ingratiated himself with his new master, whose con-

fidential adviser he beeame. In the many political changes that took

place in Qudh during the next twenty years the Frenebman always

contrived to remain on the right side, making himself indispensable

in negotiations betweeu the Nawal and the Company. At the same

time he was careful not to push bimself forward into public notice,

preferring to remam the power behind the throne; and although le

seldom appeared at Darbar, be had more real influence than the

Nawab’s ministers in shaping tite course of events.

Martine’s salary was largely increased, and he enjoyed, in addition,

extensive sources of emolument, such as were always open to men in

positions of confidence in the Native courts, Ie became the recog-

nised channel for petitions from all who desired any favour from the
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Government, and in this capacity exormons bribes and presents of

erent value found their way into his hands. Tle educated the Nowdb

into un appreciation of the products of Europe, and then acted as his

ugent in procuring them, He established extensive crerits with the

Native bankers, aud so obtained a large share in the profitalle pnbhic

joans made tu his master. Finelly his position at Court was esteemed

su secure that, iu a country distracted by war and internal troubles,

he soon became a sort of “saute deposit” for the viluablea of the

Nawib’s subjects, charging 2 commission of 12 per cent. for the

custody of articles committed to lis care. Dy those and similar

inethuds he acquired an immense fortune during his long residence at

Lucknow.

Martive’s pleasure in life secia to aye been limited to the more

aceuntilation of riehes, for le derived none from spending them.

In his peculiar way he was sutticient]y hospitable, but his iable was

not ealenlated to attract guests, either by the elegance of the enter-

tainmont or the geniality of the Lost. Of lis private bounty during

his life very few instances are recorded, though it is known that from

time to time he assisted his family ut Lyons. The principal object of

his qubition or vanity seers to have heen the attuininent of inilitary

rank, a fact the truth of whichis emphusised hy the epitaph he wrote

for his own tomb. During the time he resided at Lucknow his pro-

motion in the Company's servica continued; for although he

relinquished his pay and allowances, le yetuined his commission.

dn 1700, at the commencemend of the first war with Tipu Sultan, he

presented the Company with u ntmber of fine liorses ¢o unount a

troop of cavalry, and in return wis gazetted fo the rank of colonel,

thus uchieving the object tor which the gift was madc. Six years

later, when the Conrpany’s officers received brevet rank from the

King, Martine's name was included in the Geselér, and to bis infinite

satisfaction he became a major-gencral Lord Tcignmoutlh deseribed

him in 1707 as a man of wmueh penctration and observation, whose

language would be clegant if it corresponded with his ideas; but he

talked very broken English, interlarding every sentence with “ What

do you call it ?"— "Do you sce?”

Amouget the most remarkable poiots eounecte] with Martine waa

his honse at Lucdinow, which was a enstellated edifiec built on the banks

of the River Ginnii, and desiened for defence if necessary. Lt was

constructed strietly on hygieni¢e principles, for it contained a series of

yooma--or flats, as we should call them iu these modern days—

adapted to the varying tumperuture of the different seasons of the

year. Thus in the hot season be resided in a subterranean suite of



APPENDIX. 375

chamhera, which were always cool und shellercd from the fierce glare

and heat outside, When the rainy season came un, he aseendel to an

upper story high above the ground level and its malaria. In the

cold. weather he changed quarters again, and descended to the ground-

floor. The house was fitted with many ctwtious mechanical con-

trivances for comfort; the ecilings of the different apartments were

formed of elliptic arches, ornmmented most claborately, whilst the

exterior decorations were equally fanciful and florid. The furniture

was on wu par with the building, and the walls of the rooms were

covered with glasses, prints, and pictures, estimated at many thousand

pounds in value. Not ihe least curious feature in this building—

which was called Covsiuntia, from the motto Labore ct Constantia

earved on its front—was » room containing a vault designed for

Martine’s place of sepulture. He built this because the Nawal refused

to pay him the price he asked for the edifice; whereupon, in aw fit

of pique, he declared that his tomb should be Landsomer than any

palace in the kingdom. His subsequent interment therein had the

effect of desecrating the place im the eyes of the Mulammadans, for

no followers of the Prophet can inhabit a tomb,

For the last fifteen years of lis life Martine suffered greatly from

stone. He cured himself once by a successful though crude and

painful course of treatment; but recurrence of the disease ter-

minated his life in the year 1800, at the age of sixty-two.

On the Ist of January of the same year he executed an cxtra-

ordinary will, which he drew wp himself 11 contaimed over forty

clauses, and began by acknowledging with penitence that self-interest

had been his gniding principle through life. [Tis fortune, amounting

to nearly half a million sterling, he bequeathed in innumerable

legacies. Amongst them were three to the poor of Calentta, Chan-

demagore, and Lucknow, the interest of which was to be doled daily

at certain fixed places, distingnished by tablets bearing an inscription

in English, French, or Persian, according to the location, und notifying

that the alms distributed were the gift of General Martine, and to

be so disbursed in perpetuity. Le left alarge sum in trust to the

Government of Bengal for the establislament and endowment of a

school to be called La Martaetere, which still exists, and where on the

anniversary of is death a sermon was to be preached, followed by a

public diuner, at which the toast of The Memory of tle Pounder”

wags to be drunk in solemn silence. To bis relatives and the town of

Lyons he bequeathed large legacies, and two separate sums to that

city aud Caleutia, their intercst to be devoted to releasing poor

debtors from gaol on the anniversary of his death. He left directions
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that his house Constantia should never be sold, but serve as a mauso-

leum for his remains, and he committed it to the care of the ruling

power in the country for the time being. Such were the elaborate

precautions taken by this ececntric man to keep his memory alive and

hand it down to posterity.

The thirtieth clause in his will was perhaps the most remarkable of

all. It ran na follows: ‘ When I am dead, I request that my body

may be salted, put in spirits, or embalmed, and afterwards deposited

in a leaden coffin made of some sheet tend in my godown, which is

to be put in another of siseoo wood, and then deposited in the cave in

the smnll round room north-east in Constantia, with two feet of

masonry raised above it, which is to bear the following inscription :—

Marorn-GENERBAL CuaupE Martine,

Born sé Lyons, January, 1738.

Arrived in India as a common soldier, snd died at [Lucknow, the

18th of Scptember, 1800] a major-general ;

aud he is buried in this tomb.

Pray for his soul.”

His wishes were faithfully fulfilled, and when Lady Fanny Parkes

visited the tomb in 1831 she mentions that a buat of the General

adorned the vault, lights were constantly burning before the tomb,

and the figures of four Sipahis, as lerge as lite, with their arms

yeversed, stood in niches at the side of the monument. In the

centre of the vault was a large plain slab bearing the inscription

above recorded.

Perchance it sufficiently summarises Martine’s lifo, for bis career

was disfigured by much that was ignoble and inglorious. Yet, conning

it after the lapse of nearly a lundred years, one cannot help reflecting

on the achievemenis of the man epitomised in the few terse words.

Dynasties have died ont, thrones have toltered and fallen, kingdoms

have crumbled into dust and been forgotten since this private soldier

sought to perpetuate his name; and it is not an uupleasing thought

that the atonement of his testamentary charity still keeps alive the

pious memory of the founder of La Martinéere.

Mowradur, Enwarp, Lisurenayt.—Lientenant Montague was the

son of Colonel Montague, of the Bengal Artillery, and an officer in

Hessing’s brigade. He was killed at the battle of Ujjain in 1801,

He is described in an obituary notice published at the time as a most

accomplished young man, who had been cducated at the Royal
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Military Academy at Kensington, and received o more ample

education than was generally esteemed necessary for the army.

Tempora mutantur; as witness the groups of great-brained, young

- aspirants, who periodically clugter round the doors of Burlington

“House te prove their sufficient intellectual powers.

Morris, Joux.—John Movris was an Tuglishman, and commanded

one of Goorge Thomas’s battalions. He is only mentioned once in

Thomas's memoirs—namely, in the description of the battle of

Fatehpnr, where he distinguished himself and was wounded. ‘ He

was a brave man,” wrote his master, “but better adapted to con-

duct a forlorn hope than direct the :motions of troops on the field of

battle,”

Parsn, Captary.—There appear to have been two officers of this

name. One, a captain in the Chevalier Dudrenec’s corps, was killed at

the battle of Malptra in 1799, in the charge of Rathor cavalry that

overwhelmed the force; the other, a lieutenant in Perron’s Fourth

Brigade, was wounded in the storm of Sounda, in 1801. As both inci-

dents are gleaned from Skinnor’s memoirs, it is possible that they

refer to one and the same individual, and that he was only wounded,

not killed, in the first action.

‘Pauny, Conoxun (Paots).—Colonel Pauly was a German, and selected

by the Begum Somru to command her lusband’s party after Sombre’s

death in 1778, He engaged too much in Oricntal polities, and espoused

the cause of Prince Jiwan Bakhi, who, in 1782, desired to rid Shah

"Alam of some of his unruly nobles, and wudertook to secure the arrest

of a powerful minister named Mirza Shafi Khan; whereupon the

latter fled, und the Emperor appointed Jiwan Bakht Amir-dl-Urura,

or Chief of the Nobles. But Mirza Shafi entered into an alliance with

several other rebel nobles, and, collecting a large aymy, marelied against

Delhi, sending forward a vakil to Shah "Alam, demunding his restora-

tion to power, The Emperor was intimidated, and summoned a council,

at which Jiwan Bakht proposed to sally forth and fight the rebels, a

line of action which Pauly strongly supported, undertaking to defent

Mirza Shafi's following with his battalions of regulars. But the

Emperor was too frightened to act boldly, and ordered Pauly to

enter into an amicable arrangement, Tho German obeyed, and a

general reconciliation of all parties was outwardly agreed to, bat

scarcely had Pauly entered the rebels’ camp to arrange for carrying

the agreement into effect, than a party of horse, who had been placed
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in ambuseade, fell upon him, and, dispersing his escort, “ by a bloody

process cut off the head of Mr, Pauly.”

Peproy, CoLongit.—Colonel Pedron was a Frenchman, and a

_ native of Hennebon, near Orient. He sorved in Monsieur Law's

corps at Lucknow in 1760. Law, it may be mentioned, was a son of

the financial genius known as “ Mississippi” Law, wlose speculative

enterprises in France produced a parallel to our South Sea Bubble in

Eingland. Law was at Chandernagore in 1756 when Clive captured it,

but managed to make his escape into the Upper Provinces with about

250 of his countrymen, whom he kept together till the year 1761,

when he was defeated and foreed to surrender to Major Carnac. But

prior to this a great number of his Enropeans deserted, and amongst

them was Pedron, who returmed to Oudh, and took service with the

Nawab Wazir at Lucknow... When the French were expelled from

that ruler’s dominions at the instigation of the English, Pedron ob-

tained employment under the Rajah of Berar. After this a great

blank occurs in his history, for he is not heard of again till 1790, when

he entered De Boigno’s First Brigade as a lieutenant, and was posted

to Mattra, and shortly afterwards purchased his majority. In 1705

he was promoted io the command of the Third Brigade, and must

have been a inan of considerably over fifty years of age. In 1799 he

was evgaged in the siege of Delhi, which the Native commandant,

despite Sindhia’s orders, refused to deliver over to Perron. After a

blockade of five weeks the gates were opened * to the impulse of gold,”

but whether to Pedron or to Sutherland is doubtful, as the honour has

been assigned to both. In 1800 Pedron raised the Fourth Brigade

whon the threatened invasion of Hindustan by Zeman Shah eansed

Perron to increase his army. His next service was against Lakwa

Dada at Sounda in 1801, but he affected so little with hig eight battalions

that Perron proceeded in person to the seat of war, and stormed the

rebel chief's entrenchments. Soon after this hostilities wore declared

against George Thomas, and when Lourguien demonstrated his utier

ineapacity, Pedrou was sont to superscde him. That he was success-

ful was again due, in a great measure, to the “impulse of gold”—a

inetal in which he scems to have liad more faith than in steel, for he

displayed little military talent, and uo courage, wliilst the methods he

adopted of tampering with Thomas's troops were not such as commend

themselves to European notions of houcurable warfare. Buthe gained

his cnds, and after Thomas’s flight to Hausi, made over the comimund

to Bourguien again, and returned to Aligarh to recruit his brigade,

which had been weakened by casualties and transfers to the Third.
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Here he remained for eighteen months in charge of Perron’s head-

quarters, and when the rupture with the British Govermment occurred

in 1803 he was entrusted with the defence of the fort, and was the

recipient of the famous Jetter from Ferron which exhorted him tu

hold the place while one stone remained upon another. But this

desperate resolution was not in Pedron, and he was auxious ta sur-

reuder without a blow, and ouly prevenicd from doing so by the spirit

of the troops under him, who, on the first indication of his weakness,

deposed and confined him, and eleeted a Hajpnt named Baji Raéo to

the command. Aligarh was taken by storm on the 4th of September,

and Vedron was made a prisoner of war, or to be more exact, was

transferred from Maratha to English bondage. Thorn describes hin

as “an elderly man, elad in a green jacket, with gold lace and epau-

lettes ”-—which is the last record discovered of this adventurer.

Purr, J,, Capram,—Captain Villet was a Frenchman, in Tos-

tineau’s corps, in the service of the Rana of Goliad, to the command

of which he succeeded by seniority when Lestinenu absconded after

securing Gilam KAdir’s saddle-bags. He was, however, tmable to

control the men, who broke into muliny and were disbanded, Pillet

subsequently entered the service of the Rajah of Jaipur, and about the

year 1704 made a long report to the British Government on thio

resources of that country, with a view to an allianee. As the leading

feature of the propoval was that the Rajah should keep up an army of

50,000 inen, and the Company pay for it, it did not receive that atten-

tion which doubtless both Partib Sing and Pillet fondly hoped.

Pinon, CoLonen [often mis-spelt Perron|.—Colonel Piron, who is

constantly confounded iu historical books with General Perron, was a

native of Alsace. He was in the servieo of the Nizam of Haidarabad,

anil second in command to the fuauous adventarer Raymond, who

raised n brigade of seventeen battalions for that ruler. Piron was au

outrageous Jacobin, and in close touch with the French Republican

faction in Mysore. On Raymond's death, in March, 178, he sueceedod

to the command of the 14,000 men comprising the foree, which was

supported bya Jaidad yielding oighicen lakhs of rupees annnally, and

included a streny train of artillery and a complete military equipment.

Once of his first acts was to send to Perron, Sindlua’s general, a silver

tree and Cap of Liberty as a souvenir. lis corps always hoisted the

French national flag, and the lapels and epaulettes of the Sepoys’

uniforms were embroidered with the words Liberté et Constitution.

Piron and all his officers entertained aiibitious desizns, and eonsidered
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themselves as forwarding the interests of Franco, Their undisguised

hostility to the English and pronounced principles soon compelled

Lord Wellesley ta take action agsinst them, and ho determined to

effect the disbandment of the force. Lieutenant-Colonel Roberts,

assisted by John Malcolm, was told off for the task, and effected it with

complete success on the 22nd of October, 1798, the operation being

facilitated by the fact of the troops being in a state of open mutiny,

and Piron and his officers in danger. The following account of

the dispersal of this “Trench Army” (as Lord Wellosley calls it) is

extracted from Kaye's “ Life of Maleoim.”

“Having reported to Colonel Roberts the favourable aspect of

affairs, Malcolm drew up his detachment on the heights facing the

French lines. There he was specdily joined by the European officers

of the French corps, elate with joy at their escape from the hands of

their infuriate soldiery, und acinally, in the conjuncture that had

arisen, regarding the English as friends and deliverers. The rest was

soon accomplished. The Sepoys lefi their guna, laid down their arms,

and in the presence of the two lines of British troops, moved off in a

deep solumm to a flag planted on the right of tle ground. Not a shat

was fired, not a drop of blood was shed. Eleven or twelve thousand

inen were dispersed in a few hours; and before sunsct the whole can-

tonment, with all their storchouses, arsenals, gun foundries, and powder

mills, were completely in our possession, The celebrated French

corps of Hydrabad bad passed inte tradition.”

Piron and his compatriots confessed themselves very grateful, not

only for their rescue from a grave peril, but for the humanity with

which they were subsequently treated. It is difficult to estimate the

exact qualities of this adventurer. Major Kirkpatrick, the Resident

at Haidarabad, writing in 1797, describes him us younger than Ray-

mond, and far more enterprising and active, and particularly fond

of the military profession. But Sir John Malcolm, then Kirkpatrick's

assistant, who had equally good opportunities of forming an opinion,

reeords that “ Piron is a rough, violent democrat, a man with more

hostile dispositions to us than his predecessor Raymond, but less

dangerous ; being a stranger to that temper and those conciliatory

manners by which the latter won his way to greatness. Piron has

no ability, and his authority is far from being generally acknow-

ledged.” Events proved Piron was totally unfitted to step into tle

post made vacant by aymond’s death. He died at Chandernagore

in 1805.

Prumet, Masor.—-Major Plumet was “a Frenchman and a gentle-
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man—two qualities which were seldom united in the Mahratta

Empire." Such is Smith's dicta. Plumet raised a party for

Jaswant Rao Holkar in 1798, aud lad 2 principal share in securing

the victory of Ujjain, although a short time previonsly he had sustained

a reverse when he attacked Major Brownrigg’s position onthe Narbadn.

According to one historian, he was wounded and taken prisoner in

the latter affair, and not present at Ujjain; but another, with equal

insistence, accords to him the honour of thet day, Ho soon found

Ifolkar “too eruel, eunning, capricious, and ungrateful,’ and left his

service. Major Ambrose states that Plumet deserted his chief on the

eve of the battle of Indore, and yo couduced to the defeat which

Jaswant Rao sustained, and that this behaviour cansed Tolkar to

brand all Frenchmen as “Duggerbiiz,” or Faithless. Major Plumet,

after his brief career in the Deccan, retired to the Isle of France.

Poutman, Cotonen [also written Pholman and Balaman].—Colonel

Pohlman was a native of Tanover, and a sergeant in a regiment com-

posed of men of that nationality, formerly quartered at Madras, and

one of several similar mercenary corps of foreigners in the Company’s

service, such as Doxat’s Chasseurs, the Swiss Regiment de Meuron,

and Claude Martine’s company. Tohlman entered De Boigne’s brigades

about the year 1792 or 1793, and was a captain on the modest pay of

Rs. 200 a month in 1794. In April of the following year he was in

command of a Najib battalion in the Second Brigade at Mattra, to

which James Skinner was posted when he first joined tho servieo.

Between this and 1799 he probably saw a good deal of service, for

it is a period of which Skinner has much to relate. Barly in 1799

Perron distrusted Sutherland, who was in command of the Second

Brigade, and removed him trom his post, which he bestowed on

Pohlman, who shortly afterwards sustained a severe reverse in

an unsuccessful attack upon the fort of Shapira, when six of his

battalions were beaten back with 2 loss of two officers and 1,000 men

killed and wounded. Eventually he captured the place, when, it is

pleasant to record, he treated the gallant Rajput garrison with great

humanity and consideration, permitting them and their women-folk

to march out with all the honours of war, and the respect due to their

heroic defence. In the following May, Pohlman commanded at the

important battle of Malptra, whon his force consisted of his own

brigade of eight battalions, five of the Chevalicr Dudrenee’s, and 5,000

cavalry, He inflicted a severe defeat on Rajah Partab Singh, and

captured 74 of his guns. This was the action in which Dudrenec’s

corps was ridden down by the Ruthors, and tho victory waa solely due
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to Pohlman's good generalship. For tho next two years he appears

fo have been quartered in Rajputana, to enforce payment of the

tribute due, and keep the country under control whilst Perron’s other

brigades were engaged in the wars against Holkar, Lakwa Dada, and

George Thomas, in none of which Pohlman seems to have had any

part. In 1802 he escorted Perron to Ujjain, and-here, for the sceond

time, superseded Sutherland, who was obliged to leave the service

owing to Perron’s hostility. Pohlman and the First Brigade remained

with Sindhia in the Deecan till war broke out with the English. It

is uncertain whether he was in command of Sindhis’s infantry at the

battle of Assaye, in which his brigade fought well, the artillery being

splendidly served, and the men sustaining a stubborn fight against the

genius of Wellesley and the valour of British troops for threc hours.

Pohlman eventually entered the Company’s service, though without

rank, and re-enlisied some of his old soldiers to form an irregular

infantry corps. He is dcseribed.as on oxcocdingly cheerful and enter

taining character, who lived in the style of an Indian prince, kept a

seraglio, and always travelled on an elephant, attended by a guard of

Mughals, all dressed alike in purple robes, and marching in file in the

same way as a Lritish cavalry regiment; notwithstanding which

melodramatic weakness, Pohlman was certainly one of Perron's most

competent officers.

Rarmonp, Frangols pz, Grnrrau.—-Frangois dc Raymond (whose

name Colonel Melleson gives as Michel Joachim Maric Raymond) was

born at Serignac, in Gascony, in 1755. He came out to India carly in

life, and in 1775 obtained employment as sub-lieutenant in a battalion

commanded by the Chevalier de Lassé, in the service of Haider Ali

of Mysore. His conduct brought him to the notice of the military

authorities, and he received a commission as captain in tho French

army in 1783, and was appointed aide-de-camp to the famous Bussy.

Three years later, on Bussy's death, Raymond entered the service of

the Nizam Ali Khin of Haidarabad, for whom he raised a small

corps of 800 men, hiring the weapons with which they were armed

from a French merchant on the coast, at tle rate of eight annas per

mensem for each musket. When the confederate war against Tipu

Sultan broke out, and the English, Mardthis, and the Nivam were

leagued against the ruler of Mysore, Raymond’s command was raised

to 700 men, and he distinguished himself so much in the campaign

that he grew into grcat favour with Ali Khan, and his force was

augmented to 5,000 men, his own pay being increased to Rs. 5,000 a

month. At the battle of Kardla m 1795 Raymond's battalions
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numbered 10,840 men, with 28 guns and 46 tumbrils. The regularity

with which this force was paid enabled him to fill its ranks with

deserters from the Compauy’s services, ta whom he held out tempting

inducements. He is also said to have encouraged Irench prisoners

of war on parole to escape and take service under his flag. The

battle of Kardla was the only occasion except the Mysore war in which,

during a service of seventeen years, Raymoud meta forcign foe, He

was forced to retire from the field, but was not defeated, for the retreat

was solely due to the Nizam’s pusillinaiity, and ordered at a moment

when Raymond’s battalions were stoutly and, peradventure, sucecss-

fully holding their own. He was next employed in reducing to sub-

mission the Nizam’s rebellions son and heir, Ali JAh, Jn this he met

with stout resistance, and was obligad to send for reinforeaments to

one of his subordinates named Baptiste, on being joiued by whom he

quickly brought the expedition to a conclusion, and sceured the person

of Ali Jah, who committed suicide, leaving Sikander Jth heir to

the throne, This Prince was accustomed to swear “by the head of

Raymond," whom he regarded as the first of men, with the single

detraction that he belongad te a nation that had mnrdered its king

and queen. After the battle of Kardla Raymond tried hard tio obtain

the Karpa distriet, which would have cnabled him to ¢o-operate with

any Freneh force making a descent on the Coromandal coast, with or

without the concurrence of the Nizam. Ife already possessed an inn-

mouse military territorial assignment which yielded fifty-two lakhs of

rupees a year, in addition to.an estate or Jaghir of his own, the income

of which was Rs. 50,000. THis salary was princely, and it the style of

his domestic life he collected round him every Inxury and elegance

within the reach of a Europcan in India. Previous to his death

he further increased his force, which he considered “A French body

of troops, employed and subsidised by the Nizam,” to aver 14,1100

mon, with a complete train of artillery, chieily brass ordnance,

worked by a well-trained corps of Europeans, and drawn by 5,000

bollocks. His cavalry numbered 600. He possessed, in his own

right, all the guns and military equipage Lelonging to the force. ‘The

physique of his soldiers was uot to be compared with that of the

stalwart and warlike warriors whom De Boigne and Perron enlisted

from the fine recruiting gronnds of Upper India, lut the men were

well disciplined, and their parade appearanee was good, whilst the

service itself was cxtremely popular with the Natives.

Raymond was an ambitious and intriguing man, and one who

understood the art of gaining his ends by engaging manners and

conciliatory demeanour. After the battle of Kardla ho began to
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assume an almost kingly state, for his power mado him the arbitrator

of Haidarobad. All his regimental returns were headed Corps de

Franecis de Raymond, and he was received in his own cantouments

with a royal salute. He stood in a position which would have enabled

him, in the event of the Nizam’s death, dp elevate whom he pleased to

the throne, and the overpowering influence which he acquired in the

country was a serious menace to English interests, Fle was in close

touch with the Government of France, and with Tipu Sultan of Mysore,

and engaged in intrigues which had for their object an alliance against

the British power in the East. He was also in correspondcnce with

somo of the European officers in Sindhia’s service, and an intcresting

letter cxists which he addressed to Michael Filoze in Jamnary, 1798,

on the snbject of the treacherous soizure of Nana Farnavis, the

Toshwa’s Prime Minister, This is worth quoting as showing Ray-

mond’s honourable feelings, and-because of a rather quaint adaptation

it contains of tho “ Rights of Man” theory to eighteenth century Marathé

politics—-probably the firat and Jast time the argument was used in

such a connection, ‘A report prevails,’ writes Raymond, “ that

Nana Farnavis has been arrested contrary to the Rights of Man and

ta the clauses of the treaty for which you [Filoze] were sceurity. Lhave

no other interest in spoaking of thie but that which I take for overy

European whose reputation is dear to me.” Then he goes on tu request

Filoze to cbtain the Nana's restoration to liborty, and offers him a

position and emolumenta, “one-fourth more than you have with

Scindia, and a jaghir of one lakh of rupees annually.’ The reason

of this liberality is not obvious in the lettcr, hut it enggests many

inferences. The epistle concludes: Y will be shortly on your

frontiers, when we shall be able to keep up e correspondence, Burn

this letter if it should not suit you ; but write tome. Raymond.”

Two months later Raymond died- according to some accounts by

poison—at the early age of forty-threc, and in the enjoyment of a

degree of power and consequence never reached by any other military

adventurer in Southern India,

Raymond's charactor has been variously estimated by different

writers. Major Thorn describes him aa “a man of extensive know-

ledge and equal activity.” Kaye, in his “ Life of Maleolm,” views

his character in tho following light: “Raymond was a man of ercat

ability and address. . . . Had he lived the taking of his men (in 1798)

would not have been an easy task... . His troops were admirably

disciplined and equipped. Their store-rooms well filled with arma

and accoutrements, and clothing from Europe of excellent quality,

and they could with oase have armed 12,000 mora men in a few
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onthsy. They cast excellent cannon, and made serviceable muskets

their different foundries, all of which, as well as their powder-

ills, were under the direction of able and eeientifie Kuropeaus.”’

Aaleolm’s opinion las already been quoted in another page, namely,

that Raymond was s raau of “temper aud couciliatory manners, by

which he won his way to greatness.” But it has been reserved for a

contemporary historian, on grounds which it is a little difficult to

understand, to elevate Raymond to the position of a national hero.

“This remarkable man,” writes Colonel Malleson, “is referred to by

many English writers simply as ‘an adventurer named Raymond.’

That lie was an adventurer is troe, but he was ons in the best sense

of the teru:i—chivalroug, daring, trustworthy, and a splendid cr-

ganiser; one of thoge adventurers who, like Garibaldi in our own

days, leave their mark on the history of the country in which their

deeds have been achieved. .. . If may be said that no Indian Prince,

not even Madhajee Svrindia, or his snecessor, Dowlat Itio, ever had a

finer or more efficient body of troops in his service [than those which

Raymond raised). 1n the campaign against the Mahrattas in 1796 (?},

it was Raymond and his troops whe repulsed the charge of the

Mahraita cavalry and would have beaten them back altogether had

not the Nizam and his troops abandoned the field. His reputation,

great at the time, still survives, and it may be said with truth that

the name of no European connected with India has survived seventy -

six years after the demise of his body, to live with such eternal green-

ness in the hearts of the people of the country as docs the name of

Raymond in the memories and traditions of the great families of

Tiydrabad.”

Those who have read these pages will lardly {cel inclined to agree

with this estimate of Raymond's superior talents as a military ad-

venturer. <A soldier of fortune is judged by his deeds, and Raymond's

achievements in the tented field cannol for a moment bear comparisou

with those of Dc Boigne, Perron, oy Thomas,

Passing to the other side of the picture, we have the opinion of

Major Kirkpatrick, who was Lritish lesident at Haidarabad in 1797,

and wrote of Raymond as by no means a man of vigorous mind or

decided character, and very hurd, and wanting libevalily in peeuniary

matters, which makes him much disliked by all his officers, except

one or two he favours. He never showed himself to be much of a

soldier, but was artful, and had an arranging heal and conciliating

“manners when they suited his purpose.” Captain Fraser, in Our

Faithful Ally the Nizam,” describes Raymond as wanting in charac-

ter, promptitude, and decision. Colonel Geatson, in his History of

20
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the war with Tipa Sultan, has recorded the following opinion of the

adventurer and his party :—‘ The corps commanded by Colonel

Raymond, which, during the last war in Mysore, amonnted to no

more than 1,500 men, was at that period so defective in point of

discipline as io be rather an object of contempt than jealousy to the

Government of India. Tt kas gradually augmented its nwubhers and
improved its discipline under the command of the late Monsieur

Raymond, until it nearly reached the number of 14,000, and had

obtained a degree of discipline superior in every respect to that of any

Native infantry in India, excepting the Sepoys in the Company’s

serviec. The corps formed the largest and most efficient branch of

the military establishment of His Highness the Nizam, and the

French officers had aequired a considerable ascendancy in his do-

minions and councils, and had manifested on several occasions the

symptoms of a disposition so arrogant, overbeuring, and adventurous,

as to exeite alarm in the minds of His Highness and bis ministers.”

The last quotation musb be from tho despatches of the Marquis

Weilcsley. ‘' Raymond’s force was avowedly designed to cope with

one De Boigne had ercaied for the Mabratias, and was organised on

very similar lincs. Each regiment was ofticored by two Europeans,

and there was a field train of fifty guns, and a smali body of dis-

ciplined cavalry attached. The former was served by European

gunners, many of them deserlers from tho Company’s service. The

parade appearance of the force was good, but the discipline was far

from strict, and the slackness in this respect, combined with the

regularity of pay, made the service a very popular one with tho

Natives, so that there was no difficulty in keeping the brigade up to

its full strength. Ali the officers were Irenclimen, devoted to the

doctrines of Jacchinism, and any atuonget them who evinced Royalist

tendencies were spoedily dismissed. hey fought under the French

flag, and the Cap of Liberty was engraved on their buttons. Raymond

was not a man of any great capacity or vigotir, bul in craft and

intrigue ho was an adept, and sustained Lis position by surrounding

himself with u few fuvonrites, who supported him through thick and

thin. With bis othor officers he was far froui popular, being a hard

man, oud in pecuniary matters extremely iHliberal ; for, although he

derived vasi reyenues from enormous territorial assiguments, he could

never divest himself of his inherent avarice and meanness.”

Roperrs, Linvrenany.—Lieutenant Roberts was an Englishman,

and commanded a battalion of infantry in De Boigno’s Fivet Brigade

in 1790, He was present at the battles of PAthan and Merta, and
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was severely wounded at the latter by x missile from a weapon known

as an “organ,” and which consisted of several gun barrels so joined

together as to fire at once. Wherchy it would scem that the Mitrail-

louse was of Rajptitanic origin !

Ryan, Masor.--Tlis wnfortnuate officer was an Jrishman, and

commanded a battalion in the serviec of Juswant Rao Holkar, Wis

only claim to be remembered is as a victim to that chiefs treachery,

for he was one of the three British subjects who were eruelly

behended in 1804 for refusing to tuke the field against their fellow

countrymen.

SaLgeun, Cotonen falso spelt Suletr and Salenre].—Colonel Saleur

was a Swiss or French officer, who succecded to the command of the

Begum Somru’s corps, after the snicide of Le Vassoult in 1795. He

had taken no part in the mutiny whicl Jed to his predecessor’s death,

bné had, on the coutrary, done everything in his power to prevent it,

He was deseribed ag the ‘only vespectable officer” who signed tho

Covenant entered into between the Beeum and ler rebollious soldiery.

Saleur, who had been in the force almost since its commencement,

increased its strength to six battalions, with 40 guns and 200 cavalry,

and in 1802 marehed with five battalions Lo join Sindhia in the Deccan

after the defeat of Ujjain. The men were in a state of mutiny the

whole way, as many of the colonel’s lvtters, written in French, to

his mistress tesvified, When way broke out with the English, Salenr’s

troops were with Sindhia, but only one battalion took part in the

battle of Assaye, the other four having been left behind to guard the

Marithé camp and baggage, and owing to this cireumstance they

escaped destruction; and Colonel Saleur marched them safely to

Burhanpnr, and from thence back to Sardhina, Saleur was one of

tho witnesses of the Beguin’s marriage to Le Vassoult in 1793.

SanesteR, Mason.—Major Sangster was a Scotchman, and a person

of skill and ingenuity. In 1782 he obtained the command of the

diseiplined battalion of infantry which Madoc raised at Agra and

sold to the Rana of Gohad. It consisted of 1,000 well-trained Sepoys

and a respectable train of artillery. Sangste was skilled in the art

of casting cannon, and those ho fanned ont conld compare with the

best the Company inanufactured, whilst his muskets, produced ab a

cost of ten rupees cach, were excellent in every respect. When De

Boigne raised bis frst two battalious, he engaged Sangster (whose

snaster had been ferecd to surrender to Sindhia), und appointed lim
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to the charge of the arsenal at Agra. He appears to have led a very

busy life, far in process of time other arsenals and magazines were

established at Matira, Delhi, Gwuliot, Kalpi, and Gchad, of all of

which he bad the snperintenderce, The cannou balls were cash at

Gwalior, where there were very fine iron mines, and gunpowder was

tnantfacinred at Agra, the saltpetre and sulphur being imported from

Likanir, No mention of Sangster cau be found after De Boigue’s

resignation, though in 1801 9 report appears in one of the Tersian

journals that “Lakwu Dada has employed Mr. Sangster’s son to

raise and discipline a battalion for him,’’ which seems to indicate

that the father was still in the country. Young Sungster was probably

ihe cadet “Songsler” who surrendered to General Wellesley atter the

battle of Assaye.

SHEPHERD, James, COLONEL {known to the Natives as Jamius Sahib],

= James Shepherd was an Englishman of unusual enterprise and

courage. When hardly emerged from childhood, he deserted his

ship in Calcutta, and accompanied an officer to Do Boigne’s camp in

the quality of a monial servant. He afterwards lived in the same

capacity with a gentleman at Fatehpur. Shepherd was deseribed as

well caleulated for the Native serviec, being a good-looking man and

endowed with pliability of temper. About 1799 he tookeservice

under Ambaji Inglia, for whom he raise] a brigade of regular

infantry, which numbered five battalions, with 500 cavalry and 26

guns. Ambaji was a penurions chief, and stinted his officer in

moncy, or he would have created a much mere efficient foree than

one which is sometimes alluded to as the “ ragamnffin battalions.”

Shepherd was engaged in the attuck on Lakwa Daddae's position at

Sounds in 1801, when he materially assisted im defeating that chief,

but lost four of his European officers killed or wounded- poor Bellasis

amongst the former—and a ereat number of his men. He was

detached to pursuc Lakwa Dada after his fight, and kept him in play

during Perron’s campaign against George 'howas. It is a pity there

is no detailed reecrd of Shepherd's services, for he is stated to have

seen much and been frequenily wounded. ‘ Wibkent birth, educa-

tion, or protection,” wriles Smith, “ho rose from obseurity to cuu-

sequence by his bravery, his perseverance, and his Edelity; his

diligent toil and bold cnterprise deserved all the suceces he won,”

On the breaking out of tho war with the English, Shepherd and his

party passed over lo the Company’s service, and he distinguished

himself in Bundelkhand m 1804, where he gave the celebrated Free-

booter Amir Khana sound beating at Mullion Ghaut, and on the 24th
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of June completed his discomfiture by entirely defeating and dis-

persing his force near Kinch. Shepherds corps at this time consisted

of 8,180 men, and was highly praiscd for its efficiency when General

Lake reviewed it in 1806.

Sxinxer, James, Lircrenant-Cotonet, C.B.—This compilation is

so much indebted to ‘The Military Memoirs of Liewtenant-Colonel

James Skinner, €.L.,” that although thet delightfnl and graphic

biography of the stout old adventurer exists, a sketch of his carcer

must be included in these pages, and the following has heen condensed

from the above work :

James Skinner was born in 1778. His fathor was a native of

Scotland, and an officer in the Company's service, aud his mother a

Rajpatui, the daughter of a BRajpit landholder in the Mirzipur

country, She was taken prisonor in the war with Chait Singh, the

Rajah of Benares, during an uction near Bijaigarh, and came under

the protection of Ensign Skinnez, to whom. she bere six children,

three sons and three daughters. he latter were all married to

gentlemen in the Company's service. David, the eldest son, wont to

sea; James, the second, and the subject of this sketch, became a

military adventurer; and Robert, ihe youngest, followed in his

footste os.

Skinner’s mother died by her own hand in 1790, because it was

desided that her daughters should be sent to school, and she con-

ecived this would be a4 violation of the sanctity of the purdah, and

that their Rajpit honour would bo destroyed in consequence. After

her death James and Robert were sent. to a charity school, their

father being still only a lieutenant, and unable to pay for their

education. However, when he obtained his captaincy in 1703, he

removed his sons to a boarding-sehool, where the charge was Rea. 30 a

month for each, Two years later James was bound apprentice to nr

printer, on # seven years’ indenture, and sent to the office to learn his

business,

Three days sufficed to disoust him with his proposed calling, and

he determined to run away to sea. On tho third might he effected his

escape, with sixpence in his pocket, on which he contrived to live for

six days. When his money was exhausted he wandered about the

Calentta bazaar, working for any one who would hire him, and for

some time picked up a precarious living by carrying loads or pulling

the drill for Native carpenters at a pay of threepence a day. But

before long he was recognised by a servant of his clder sister, Mrs.

Templeton, who forthwith bore him away to his mastor’s house
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After getting a good rating from his uncle, he waa set to work to

copy law papers, and remained so employed for three months, until

his godfather, Colonel Barn, arrived at the Presidency. ‘This gentle-

man, finding that young Skinner burned to be a soldier, gave him

Ks. 800 and sent him to Cawnpore, where Captain Skimner’s regiment

was stationed, and whither the Colonel was soon returning.

Here Skinner arrived in April, 1795, and a fortnight later his

godfather followed, and furnished him wilh a letter of introduction

to General de Boigno at Koil, Proceeding there the youngster was

very kindly received by ithe great man, who gave him an ensign’s

appointment in his brigades, on a pay of Rs. 150 a month, and posted

him to a Najib battalion, commanded by Captain Pohlman, at

Maittra,

Shortly after this De Boigne retired, and the temporary commend

of the army devolved upon Calonel ober Sutherlund, who was at

the heed of the Second Brigade, to which Skinner’s batialion belonged,

Skinner’s first exporicnce of active service was diwing a campaign in

Bundelkhand, where Sutherland and Lakwa Dida were engaged in

reducing several refractory chiefs and ritjahs to obedience. Here he

assisted in two ficld-battles, and the storm and capture of five or six

forts, which intensificd his military aspirations. Ile now made it

his study to master all the modes of Native warfare, and becamo pro-

ficient in the use of the Maratha’ spear, the bow and arrow, and the

sword cxercise,

In 1796 Perron was appointed to tho supreme command of tho

army of Hindustan, and arrived ab Mattira im February of ahe follow-

ing year. Soon after this the rebollion of the Bhais broke out, and a

large force was ordered to assemble at Gwalior, under Captain Butter-

field, to which Skinner's battalion was attached. Tho first action in

the campaign was the battle of Chandkhori, where, owing to lis

desertion by the Marathi cavalry, Butterlield was defeated and

obliged to fall back with a loss of 500 men. Skinner defended his

rear during the retreat to a fort called Shérgarh, behaving very

gallantly in the face of great difficultics and dangers, and bringing

off his guns with safety. For this he received great commendation

from Captain Butterfield, and General Perron hearing of it promoted

him to the rank of lieutenant with the pay of Rs. 200 5 month.

The Bhais had now been joined by Likwa Dada, and retired to

Chiturgarh in Udaipur, and thither Ambaji Inglia, the new Maratha

commander-in-chief, followed them. Captain Butterfield was again

in command of the infaniry, and Skinner, now promoted to the

charge of two haitalions, accompanied him. A great deal of
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skirmishing took place, but ucthing decisive was effected. Nor were

matters mended when Ainbaji wag joined by Colonel Sutherland and

George Thomas, who had been temporarily engaged by the chief.

The campaign, which was not without adventure for Skinner himself,

was cut short by political considerations, and Colonel Sutherland

heimg suspected of treachery by Tervon, was superseded, and his

command conferred on Major Polilman, an officer under whom

Skinner subsequently saw much service. It may le observed that

Skinner did not care much for Sutherland, and there waa a qnarrel

between the two before the Colonel left the brigade.

Soon after assuming command Pohlman was directed to tike a

fort ealled Jajpur, which was in the possession of a refractory Rajpit

chief named Kasri Singh. In the first assault he suffered a, severe

repulse, but four days later succeeded in carrying the place by storm.

This was one of the hottest affairs Skinner was ever engaged in. In

Pohiman’s life tle name of this fort is given us Shaptiva on very good

authority, but from internal evidence it seoms tuore likely that

Skinner's location of the scene is the right one, there being a strong

fort at Jajpur and nove at Shaptra,— From here the brigade marched

to Delhi, at the siege and eapture of which, ag well as at that of

Agra, Skinnor was present, both cities having refused to acknawledge

' Perron’s authority,

The next action in which Skinner was engaged was the battle of

Malpura, in which he showed distinguished gallantry. Lord William

Bentinck, when he was Governor-General of India, mentions an

incident in this battle in one of his political despatches to the Court

of Directors on tha subject of Skinner's public services. “T cannot

refrain,” he writes, “from relating an anecdote told me by an old

Sirdar in the Jeypore service. De had a command in the battle of

Buxar in 1764, and he must have been a hundred yoars of age; but

he had still retained Lhe ereclness of youth, a fine martial appearance,

and his faculties unimpaired. Ile described to me, with a manner

and expression glowing with gratitude, how in the battle of Jeypore

(2, Malptva), Colonel James Skinner, then a youth, led a charge

of cavalry, captured a field battery which the Sirdar commanded,

and then, by his hnmanc and decided interference, saved his life.”

tt is worthy of Skinner's hahilual modesty that he does not relate

this incident in his own description of Lhe battle, but merely mentions

how be nearly lost his own life in the final repulse of the Hithors,

being attacked by one of them, who charged into the contre of the

square and killed his horse, Skiuney only escaping with his iife by

an undignified retreat under a tumbril, After the battle Skinner was
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the first to reconnoitre the Jaipur camp, into which he rode boldly,

only to find it deserted, Here he looted two golden idols with

diamond eyes, belonging to Rajah Part4b Singh, and trinkets to the

value of Rs, 2,000, amongst them being “a brass fish, with two

chowrees hanging down like moustachios.” This curious object

proved to be the Mahi maratih, or Hish of Dignities, a decorative

syrabol conferred by the Mughal emperors on réjahs of the highost

rank, and equivalent to the Three horse tails of the Turkish Empire,

or the Bution of the Chinese mandarin. In this instance the decora-

tion had been conferred on Rajah Partib Singh. Skinner presented

this valuable acquisition to the Mardthd General, and received in

return a handsome Ahifaé and considerable commendation,

A few days after this Perron joined the army, and Skinner visited

Jaipur in his sudée. From here ho was detached, in independent

command, to attack a fort ncar the Chambal river, belonging to a

Rajput chief named Ram Pal Singh. On arriving before this place,

he found the low mud walls so nearly Icvel with the crest of the

glacis, that there was no touching the bastions with the battering

train. Ho therefore opened tronches, and advanced by regular

approaches to the glacis, snd then ordered a mine to be carried under

it, When this was sprung his three battalions rushed forward to the

assault, and after one rather severe check the place was taken.

Skinner was next ordered to assist the Karaoli Rajah, who had fallen

out with his neighbour of Uniira, and hired several battalions,

(amongst them Skinner's from Perron}, to fight his battles for him.

The force consisted of six battalions of infantry, 2,000 cavalry, and

twenty guns; of these the only efficient troops were Skinner's.

The scene of the campaign was between the territory of Tonk and

the Bands river, nnd here the two armies came in sight of one

another. But the Karaoli chief wags a coward, and an impecunious

one fo boot, and could not find money to pay hia mercenaries, who

became so dissatisfied and insubordinate, that Skinner sent for rein-

orcements to Colonel Pohiman. Bui before they arrived the Uniara

NRijah took advantage of the troubles in his enemy’s camp, and intri-

gued with the discontented levies, and a little later moved ont to

give battle; whererpon tle whole of the Karaoli infantry, with the

exception of Skinner's battalion, deserted to the enemy,

On seeing this, Skinner commenced a retreat towards a deserted

village in his rear, which he gained with diffieulty, drivicg off two

of the enemy's battalions who charged him. Then the whole of their

eavalry and infantry, amounting to 6,000 men, eame an to the attack,

and upon this Skinner recognised it was hopeless to athempt to hold
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the village. So he decided to retreat, if possible, to Tonk, which was

six miles distant, and ovacnated his position, but was immediately

attacked by the two battalions who had previously charged him,

and wero now aided by their cavalry. These Skinner repulsed, but

not withont the loss of one of his five guns, and his horse was killed

under him. The remainder of the cnemy now came up fast, and

Skinner found further progress impossible, so he drew up his men on

a level plain, and then made them a short but spirited speech, telling

therm thoy could but die once, and exhorting them to fight, and, if

needs be, fall like good and brave soldiors.

Allowing the enemy to approach to within fifty yards, Skinner gave

them a volley and then charged. Those in front gave way, and he

captured their guns; but their flanks wheeled into action, and galled

him terribly; wherenpon Skinner threw jis mon into a square, and,

ad o last resource, attempted ta gain gome ravines about three quarters

ofa mile away. Bub it was to no purpose; the enemy, inspirited by

his retreat, charged again and again, eaptured three more of his

guns, and destroyed so many of his nien that he had Int 300 and a

single ficld piece left. Driven fo dosperation, he called on his men

to make a final sally, but as he was in the act of leading them forward

he was shot through the groin by « matchlock man, and fell to the

ground, and the remnants of his brave but unfortunate battalion wore

destroyed.

This happened about three o’clock in the afternoon, and he did not

regain consciousness till the nexi morning, when he found himself

despoiled of everything excepf his pantaloons. Around him were

heaps of his dead and wounded Native officers and soldiers, among

them a Subalidar with his leg shot off helow the knee, and g Jemadur

with a pike thrust through the body. All were tortured with thirst,

and unable to move; and thus they remained in helpless agony

through the long hot day, praying for death. Night came at last, but

neither release from suffering nor assistance. The moon was full and

clear, and about midnight it was very cold. So dreadful did the

night appear that Skinner vowed to himself that if he survived it he

would never go soldiering again, anil if he lived to recover, thai lic

would build 2 church to the God of his white futher. The wounded

on all sides were moaning and eryiny out for water, and the jackals

kept flitting about like four-legged ghouls, tearing the dead, and

coming closer and closer to the living, and were only kept off by

stones feebly thrown at thein.

Next morning an old man and woman camo to the battlefield

carrying a basket and a pot of water, To every wounded man the
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latter gave a piece of jeari bread and 2 drink of water. This revived

Skinner, but as the woman was a Chumarin (an outeaste) the Subab-

dar, who was a high-class Rajput, would take nothing from her hands,

saying that a little more or jess suffering was nothing, and that he

preferred to dia unpolluted.

Skinner was eventually rescued by a party of tho Unidra Rijah's

men, who came to the field to bury the dead, and send the wonnded

into camp, The poor Subahdar now vot some water, and he and

Skinner and the reab wero lifted in sheets and taken to the Rijah’s

encampment, After a month the chicf gave Skinner his liberty.

It is pleasant to learn that the brave Subahdar also recovered, and

that Skinner sent the poor Chumarin woman s present of a thousand

rupees, and s message that he considered her in the light of a mother.

His wound now obliged Skinner to take leave, and in February he

went down to Caleutta, where he stayed severaf months with his

sister, Mrs. Templeton, returning to lis duties in the month of

January, 1801. Inthe May following he was engaged in the storm

of Sounda, having in the interval been transferred from the Second to

the Third Brigade, which, under Pedron, had been entrusted with this

attack, ‘he column to which Skinner was attached lost three officers

‘and 1,000 men Killed and wounded, but captured Lakwa Daéda’s guns.

Vhe casualties are Skinner's, and the prudent reader will do well to

divide all his figures by three or four, and sometimes more; but in

this sketch they ave all given as he estimates them. After the victory

Skinner returned with his corps to Abgarh,

Two months later he was again sent on active service, this time

against George Thomas. The Third Brigade was now commanded by

Louis Bourguien, an officer for whom Skinner had no respect what-*

ever. Tho events of the war have already been very fally detailed

(chiefly from Skinner's memoirs), and need not be repeated ; although

it may be noted that Skinnor considers the battle of Georgegarh the

severest one in which he was present during his military career, Later

on he had a creditable share in seeuring for Thomas tho terms which

enabled him to surrender with honour to himself, and Skinner’s con-

duct on this occasion, unassumingly relaied by himself, is worthy of

the highest praise.

In March, 1802, Skinner, who lad becn posted back to his old

brigade, the Second, accompanied Perron to Ujjain, and was present

at the memorable Darbar when Daulat Ido Sindhia’s intended

treachery was averted by the cunning and precaution of Perron.

Skinner returned to Hindustan with the General, and a period of

comparative inaction followed, till war broke out with the English in
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August, 1808. On the 28th of that month all the British subjects in

Perron’s brigades were summarily dismissod the service, and a few

days later Skinner joined General Luke’s camp, under cireumsiances

whieli his dark complexion rendered somewhat mortifying to the

amour propre of a gallant man. But this was compensated by the

treatment he received from the Commander-in-chief, who took a great

fancy to him, and shortly afterwards, when 2,000 of Perrow’s Hindu-

stani horse came over to the English after the battle of Delhi,

appointed him to the command. On this occasion occurred an inei-

dent which shows how Skinner was beloved by his soldiery, When

the troopers were asked whom they would Lave for their commander,

with one voice they shouted—“ Stkander Sahib,” that being the

appellation, half name, half sobriquet, given Skinner by the Natives.

Lis own eognomen they pronounced Is-hinner, which they changod

into Sihander, associated in their ininds with Alexander the Creal, as

a compliment to Skinner’s: dauntless valour, which was a bye-word

amongst them,

With Skinner's subsequont careor it is not in the province of this

compilation to deal. Perron’s 2,000 Hindustani horse beecamo a

famous British irreguler cavalry corps, known as Skinner's Horse,

or more familiarly and affectionately as Phe Yellow Boys. They and

their leader covered themselves with glory during the next thirty

years, and their exploits and achievements won for Skinner the sub-

stantive rank of Licutenant-Colonel in the British Army, and the

coveted distinstion of the C.B. A valuable jaghir in the Aligarh

district was also conferred upon him, Jor many years his head-

quarters were at George Thomas's old capital of Hansi (near to which

some of his descendants are still Nving}, and ho performed able service,

although his afier life was not uehoquered with some disappoint-

ments which he did not deserve. He made a host of friends, and

found many admirers, amongst them sueh distmenished men us Lord

Lake, Sir John Mateolin, Lord Metcalfe, Lord Minto, the Marquis of

Tastings, Lord Combermere, and Lord William Bentinck, It is

goodly roll of patrons and acquaintances for the offspring of 1 Com-

pany’s cnsign and « Rajpitni girl, and one whose only introduction to

high society was his own sterling worth !

Many anecdotes are related of Skinner, but only two or three can

be here recorded. Perhaps his most remarkable characteristic was

lis modesty and utter contempt of all assumption. To the end af his

life an old spoon was placed on his brealfast table every morning to

remind him of his own humble origin and early days. Tn fulfilment

of the vow he made on the battlefield of Uniara, to build a church to
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the God of hia father if his life wore spared, he erected the edifice of

St. James at Delhi, ai a coat of $20,000, and in the same spirit of

modest humility before noted, often expressed a desire that when he

djed he should be buried, not within it, but under the door sill, so that

all persons entering might trample upon “the chief of sinners.”

Skinner’s domestic habits were in some respects more Muhammadan

than Christian, and he left behind him a numerous family by sundry

wives, of whom he had at Ieasi fourteen. His eldest son, Hercules

Skinner, was educated in England, and through the influence of Lord

William Bentinck received a commission in the Hydrabad Contin-

gent, much to his father’s delight. In 1836 Colonel Skinner was

confirmed, and during his latter years was sincerely pious, constantly

studying the Bible, and preparing himself for his end. He died at

Hinsi on the 4th of December, 1841, aged sixty-three years, and was

buried there with military honours. But a little later his remains

were disinterred, and carried to Delhi fo be deposited by the side of

his dearly loved friend and comrade, William Fraser (brother to his

biographer), under the altar of St, James’s Church. It had been his

wish to be buried near Fraser, and if was felt proper that this wish

should be fulflled.

On the 1%th of February 1842, accompanied by the whole of his

corps, and a great concourse of people, the coffin was carried from Hansi

to Sitaram-ka-Sarai, on the outskirts of Delhi. Here all that was

mortal of the gallant old adventurer was mot by the civilians and

tiilitary officers of the station, and a vast multitude from the city, and

go escorted to its final resting-place. ‘‘ None of the Eroperors of

Hindustan,” said the Natives, ‘ were aver brought into Delhiin such

state as Sikander Sahib!”

Srinver, Rovert, Masor.—Robert Skinner was the younger brother

of Colonel James Skinner. He entered Perron’s army in November,

1800, with an ensign’s commission, and was posted todo duty with

hig brother’s battalion. The introduction of the young subaltern to

his men was a charactoristic one. The elder Skinner called his most

trusty Native officers together, fine old soldiers, with scarred faces and

grizzled beards, and steady, intrepid fellows every one of them. Then

he drew himself up in military fashion, and pointing to Robert, said,

“This is my brother; see yo be his protectors!” The veterans,

stroking their beards, and carrying their hands on their forehonds,

replied with grave emphasis— On our heads be it!” James Skinner

was not quite confident of his brother's diserebion, and selected this

method of safeguarding his inexperience,



APPENDIX, B07

Robert Skinner was present at the attack on tam Pal Singh’s fort

near the Chambal, where ho was womuded by a bullet inthe neck, and

obliged to return to Aligarh to recover. Ile rejoined his brother after

the defeat of Uniara, and was svon afterwards promoted to the rank

of lieutenant, and given the command of a battalion in the Second

Brigade under Pohlman. The next oceasion on which the fwo

brothers served side by side was in the war against Goorge Thomas.

At the battle of Georgegarh the following incident occurred, touchingly

related by Fraser in Skinner's memoirs: “ James and Robert Skinner

were engaged at different parts of the field, so that neither knew how

the other fared. The cannonade was so fierce and eontinuons, and

the slaughter so great, that all was smoke and carnage, and there was

little communication between the different batialions engaged. When

the battle ceased, a report came to James that his brother had been

kiled, whilst a similar one reached Rubert as to James. Both, moved

by one impulse, ran to the bloody field, without thinking of rest or

refreshment, and sought all over for the bedy of the brother, but in

the darkness, amidst the thousands of corpses, torn and mutilated by

the cannon shot, neither found what he sought, and after a weary

and fruitless search, they returned tu the tent of their commanding

officer to make their report. Ly a singular chance they cntered from

opposite sides at tho same moment, wud the first thing that met their

eyes was the object on which their thoughts were dwelling. They

saw nothing clge, but ran and embraced, calling out each other’s names

before the officers that filled the tent.”

Robert Skinner was engaged at the siege and storm of Hansi, and

at the latter led one of the three assaulting columus. In the hand to

hand sircet fighting he approached so close to Thomas on one ocep-

sion, that ‘le got a cut at him, but his armour saved Thomas,” It

was characteristic of Thomus’s generous nature that after his sur-

render he was “particularly gracious to the younger Skinner, whom

he embraced, and showed him the ent he had reeeived from hin on

his belt.”

On the occurrence of the war with the English in 1808, Robort

“Skinner, after being dismissed from Verron’s army, repaired to

Sardhana, and took service with the Begum Somru, and when General

Lake arrived at Sitsndra was deputed by that lady ta wake terms for

her, which he did successfully, Subsequently Skinner entered the

Company's service, and was given tho local rank of licutenant, and

appointed 1o the cavalry corps his brother commanded. In this he

continued to serva for many years, performing excellent services, and

winning many encomiums. In 1815 James Skinner, with the



898 APPENDIX.

generosity of disposition and brotherly affection which so distingnished

his nature, desired to sever from his corps a portion to be made into

a separate command for his brother, whose interests ho thus hoped

to forward, But Lord Hastings, the Governor-General, preferred the

force being left intact, and Robert Skinucy remained in command of

the second regiment in it, but was promoted to the rank of local

Major. In 1819 the Government granted him in perpetuity a small

jaghir in the district of Aligarh ; but he did not live to enjoy it long,

for his death oceurred in 1821, before he had reached his fortieth

year.

Sota, Lewis Ferprxanp, Masorn.—Major Lewis Ferdinand Smith,

as the historian of the military adventures of Hindustan, and as an

adventurer himself, and 2 writer of considerable ability, desorves a far

more complete biography than can, unhappily, be compiled; for ke

was a modest soldiery man, who preferred) to write of the achieve-

ments of others, not of his own deeds. Of his early carcer little is

recorded. He was the son of Major Lewis Smith, an officer in the

Honourable Company’s service, and entered Sindhia’s army during the

time that De Boigne was in command, thouch at what precise date it

is impossible to say. Ile evidently knew De Boigne well and inti-

mately, for in 1796 and 1797 he contributed two excellent letters, de-

seriptive of the General’s lifeand carcer, to the Calentta Telegraph——

a: curious namo for a newspaper in the last century, although, so far

back as 1767, Edgeworth had invented his Telelograph, contracted

into Tellograph, “a manchine which describes words at » distance,”

This digression is, however, parenthetical. In the two letters alluded

fo, Smith indicates that he had a long daily intercourse with De Boigne

His first independent command on active service seems to have beei

in 1798, when he defeated the forces of the Bhopal State in an engage-

ment, when he was at the head of a battalion of infantry and 100

eavalry, In December of the following year he was entrusted with

the conduct of a more considerable campuign. An impostor named

Sultan Shoh gaye himself out to be Ghulam Kader, the miscrean*

who blinded the Emperor Shah ’Alamin 1788, and whom he declare.

had never been killed, but escaped and reached Mecca, Sultan

Shah, claiming this personality, pretended he had been ordered

by the Prophet to recover Mindustan from the Mardthas, and

yve-establish the Muhammadan Empire. He uppeared in arms in the

province of Saharanpur, where he was opposed by a Maratha official

named Ramehander Palkia, whom he easily defeated. The éelat of

this victory brought him a number of followers, and Perron found it
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necessary to send Major Smith with three battalions against him.

Smith was strengthened by some of the Begum Somru's troops, and

the combined force marched against Snitan Shah, and on the 22nd of

November, 1799, came upon him at the village of Délny, near the Kali

Nadi. Smith at once crossed the river, bat the Begum’‘s battalions

remained where they were, “ for more security,’ as a contenporary

ebronicler quaintly puis it. An action took place, and tho I:postar’s

army, which consisted of 10,000 Rohillas, 400 cavalry, and some rmall

field pieees showed poor fight. Simith advauced quickly to within

grape-shot range, and then poured several discharges inte the enemy,

who forthwith took to flight, and were chased for a considerable

distanee.

The next record of Smith’s services is during the war with Georga

Thomas, in whieh his achievements at first were less satislactary. He

was in command ef a battalion of Bourguien’s Brigade, and de-

tached with this and two others to beseive Georvegarh, whilst the

Colonel followed Thomas one wild-goose chiase into the Sikl country.

The latter doubled back, shook off his pursuers, and sweoped down on

Smith, with a greatly superier numerical force. Smith at once raised

the siege, und retreated upon Jhajjar, “ Why Thomas did not follow

me,” he writes in his book, “f cannot say. If he had continned the

pursuit I must have lost all my guns, and my party would have been

corapletely destroyed. But Thomas sparcd me nnd remained at

Georgegarh."" Smith was reseued trou: his perilously weak position

by his brother's arrival next day; bus he did not forget Thomas's

moderation, and amply repaid it. [fe was present throughout the whele

of the campaign, and acemmpanied Gourguicn to Hansi; and when the
latter had “subdued the garrison with gold, which in India is moro

irs 2sistible than in Europe,” Smith cane forward to agsish Thomas to

obtain honourable terms of surrender.

in 1803 Smith accompanied Dudrenee’s Brigade to the Decean, and

wer in the year returned with it to Hindustan, and surrendered to

wlonel Vandeleur ai Matira,a few days after the battle of Delhi,

oiling himself of the Governoy-General’s proclumation offeriug

‘Sasions to all british subjects in the Maritha employ who resigned

sheir posts, and being awarded one of Ms, 1,200 a month. “T have

lost,” he writes, ‘the Lopes of an judependent fortunc, whieh I

would have acquired from my rank, the result of my long service, in

spite of Perron’s injustice ; and I should have starved bad it not been

for the political and muilicent generosity of the Most Noble the

Governor-General in allowing liberal provisiuns to the British

officers, who were obliged to quit Scindia’s service on the declaration
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of war, Wo should have been wanting in principle, and in duty to

our country, bad we continued to serve its enemies.” Besides being

the author of “A Sketch of the Regular Corps in the Service of the

Native Princea of India,” Smith contributed several papers to the

Asiatic Annual Register and other publications, for his style of com-

position can easily be recognised in many of the “ Newsletters ”

which appeared in Indian newspapers during the time that Perron

flourished,

Suits, Eaunius Fro, Capramy.—Captain BE, F. Smith was a

younger brother of Lewis Ferdinand Smith, and was born in Rohil-

khand in 1777. He entered Sindhia’s service at a very early age, but

left on obtaining a commission in the 30th Regiment. This, how-

ever, lie subsequently resigned in order to remain with bis brother, and

to thia end re-entered Sindhin’s service in 1800. Soon after this he waa

engaged in the reduction of two rebel battalions, commanded by the

widow of Captain Le Marchant, who hail refused submission to Perron’s

orders. He then obtained an appointment in the Hindustani Horse,

and accompanied Bourguien on the campaien against George Thomas.

When his brother was defeated at Georgegarh, and obliged to tall

back on Jhajjar, Emilius burried to the relief at the head of his cavalry,

and * performed an astonishing rapid movement of eighty miles in ten

hours, fraternal affection giving impulse to his conrse.” Two days later

he commanded the left wing of Bourguien's army at tho batile of

Georgegarh ; ond whilst gallantly leading it to the charge, his leg was

severely shattered by a four-pounder cannon-ball. He was removed to

Jhajjar, where he bore the tortures of an unskilful operation with

manly fortitude, but sank under the fever which the wound and shock

to the system induced. He died on the 8th of October, 1801, aged

twenty-four years. Just before he oxzpired he said with a sigh—‘“ Ah,

why did I not fall on tle plains of Eeypt with my regiment, I should.

then have died without a regret.” He fell a sacrifice to Lis ardom

for his profession. He was a young man of fins character, affec

tionate disposition, and good education, Something of a poet, too

for many fugitive picces from his pen found a corner in the Caleutt

periodicals of the day.

SOMBRE, on Sownv.—-His infamy rather than his achievements

have rescued the name of this notorious adventurer from oblivion, and

awarded it an unenviable niche in Indian history. Sombre’s real

name was Walter Reinhard, and be was reputed to be the son of a

butcher at Saltsburg, where he was born in 1720. At the age of thirty
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he came ont to Pondicherry on hoard a French frigate, from which

he deserted in order io enlist in the French army of Southern India.

To hide lie identity he assumed the name of Somers as a nom de

guerre, but his saturnine features and lowering mien soon caused its

corruption into the sobriquet of Sombre, which in turn was twisted by

Native pronunciation into Somru,

Sombre appears to have spent somo years in the Carnatic and

Southern India before he mado his way to Bengal. Arrived here, he

first of all enlisted as a private soldier in a Swiss battalion in the

employ of the Company, but eighteen days’ experionce of it sufficed,

and he crossed the boundary igto Chandernagore, and was appointed

asergeant in Mons, Law's force. Lut he was soon discontented with

this, and oneo more abandoning his allegiance, proceeded to the Upper

Provinces, where he assumed the Native style of dress, and entered

the service of Surdj-ud-Daula, the Nawab of Bengal, as a common

trooper, This situation proved even less to his liking than his previous

ones, and for the next two or three years he appears to have led a

veatless and vagabond existence, till 1760, when he joined the rebel

fqaujddr of Parnea, by whom he was appointed to the command of a

small force, with instructions to drill it in the European method and

bring it into discipline, In a fow mouths the Fuujdér suffered a

reverse, which naturally determined Sombre to desert Lim. The

adventurer now accepted a similar post under an Armenian name,

Gregory, a member of a Calcutta family of repute, and the virtual

minister of Kassiiu Ali Khén, who hed succeoded Surij-ud-Daula as

Nawab of Bengal. Fortune favouring Sombre, he was promoted to

the command of two battalions. In 1763 a rupture occurred between

Kassim Ali and the Company, and the former, enraged at the ili

success of his arms, treacherously attacked and captured a large body

of English residents at Patna, and in a spirit of wanton and blood-

thirsty revenge, ordored them, to be executed,

But the deed was too dark and foul a one for any of Kassim Ali’a

Native officers to undertake, and il was reserved for Sombre to ingra-

tiate himself with his master by carrying out the crime. The details

of thie ‘ execrable villainy” are thus given in the “ Annual Register.”

“ Samers invited above forty officers and other gentlemen, who were

amongst these unfortunate prisoners, to sup with him on tho day he

had fixed for the execution, and when his guests were in full security,

protected as they imagined by the laws of hospitality, as well as by

the right of prisoners, he ordored the Indians under his command to

fall upon them and eut their throats. Even these barbarous soldiers

revolted at tho orders of this savage European. They refused at first

26
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to obey, and desired that arma should be given to the English, and

that they would then engage them, Somers, fixed in his villainy,

compellal them with blows and threats to the accomplishment of

that odions service. Tho unfortunate victims, though thus suddenly

attacked and wholly unarmed, made a long and breve defence, and

with their plates and bottles even killed some of their assailants, but

in the end they were all slaughtered. Proceeding then, with a file of

Sepoys, to the prison where a nnmber of the prisoners then remained,

ho directed the massacre, und with his own hands assisted in the

inhuman slaughter of one hundred and forty-eight defenceless Euro.

peans confined within its walls—an appalling act of atrocity that has

stamped his name with infamy for ever.” Justice requires it to be

added that in one account of this tragedy, it is asserted that

Bombre’s own life wonld have been forfeited had he refused to carry

ont Kassim Ali’s commands.

Fritish troops were soon marching up from Caleutta ta avenge this

fonl deed, and Kassim Ali Khan’sarmny was defeated. But beforo

this happened Sombre had been invited by the Nawib Wazir of Ondh

to enter his service, and seizing the opportunity of Kagsim Ali's dis-

tress, renounced his allegiance, extorted by violance the arroars of pay

due to him, and then marched his two battalions to Lucknow, where

ho entered on his new appointment.

By the end of 1763 Sombro’s force had increased to four battalions

of infantry, one of cavalry, and a strong complement of artillery, and

their commander enjoyed a high influence at Court, until war broke

ont with the English, and the Nawab Wazir was defeated at the battle
of Buxar, and compelled to stie for peace, when ane of the principal

conditions insisted on by the English was tho surrender af Sombre.

The Nawab accepted the stipulation in theory, but pointed out that,

in practice, Sombre was in command of an armed force, which mado

ix apprehension impossible. ILe proposed, as an alternative, tc

poison or assassinate the adventurer, but this suggestion was declined.

Meanwhile Sombre, suspecting the tenor of the protracted negotia-

tions, took advantage of tho delay to surround and plunder the

Nawib's Begzums. who hed been entrusted to him fur protection, and

also to rob his late master, Kassim Ali, who was at tle time a refugee

at the Ondh Court. Having thus acquired a iurge sum of money by

methods perfectly in keeping with lis past curcer, he secured the

fidelity of his forre by paying it up in full, aud then marehed to

Nohilkhand, Here he entered the serviee of the Afghan chief, Hafiz

taimat Ali—the benevolent liohilla ruler of Macaulay's essay on

Warren Hastings. Lut fear of the English soon drove him to leayo
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the neighbourhood, aud marehing to Dig, he enlisted under the banners

of the Jét Rajah of Bhartpur. lis connestion with this potentiate was

of a very short duration, for in a few months he was serving the Rajah

of Jaipur in o similar capacity, bub the Rajput prince scon dismissed

a mercenary whom he fownd too villaincus for his service, and Sombre

finally tendered his sword to Najaf Khan, the Wazir of Shah ‘Alam,

the Emperor of Delhi, and a nobleman who seldom refused the pro-

posals of any military adventurers, and who agreed to pay Sombre

Re, 65,000 2 month for the services of his party.

Up to this period of his career Sombre had served twelve or fourteen

different masters, buf he remained in the service of the Court of

Delhi until his death, This fixity of employment was probably dua to

his having been assigned a rich jaghir or estate at Sardhina, a dis-

trict some forty milos north of the capital, where he built and fortificd

his headquarters, and settled down.

From the time that he had quibted civilisation and Chandernagore,

Sombre had adopted the native dress, and with it the eustorm of keep-

inga harem. At Sardhina he fell in love with a very beautiful, and

eke romarkable woman, concerning whose parentage thero are various

accounts. One historian asserts that she was the daughter of a

decayed Mughal nobleman, another that she was a Kashmiri daneing-

girl, and a third that she was by birth a Syudanz, or lineal descendant

of the Prophet. Sombre was alrcady married to a woman of the

Masealman faith, who was still alive; but this did not prevent him

from repeating the ceremony with this girl who had taken his fancy,

His connection with her laid the foundation of the fortunes of his

family, for the Begum Somra, as she came to be called, was not less

notable for her beauty than for her extrnordinary cleverness and foree

of character, Shoe soon gained a great ascendancy over Sombre, and

it was in a great measure owing to her influence that he abandoned

his roving life and settled down permanontly at Sardhina.
Sombre was an illiterate man who eould nsither read nor write,

though he spoke Persian and Hindustani fluently. Jt is to his credit

that he was never ashamed of bis humble origin, and although his

services were eagerly courted and bid for, and he enjoyed a position of

considerable political power in the country, he despised show, and

preferred a plain unostentatious mode of life. But with this single
statement the category of his virfues is begun and cnded. He pos-

sossed a certain degree of low and crafty intelligence, but was utterly

YWestitute of military skill, martial spirit, or personal courage, whilst,

considering the possibilitios open to him, he was singularly devoid of

enterprise and ambition, Shortly after entering Najaf Khan’s service,
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he was offered a large and important Jaidad, or military assignment

of territory, which would have raised him to a princely position, but

he preferred & monctary monthly payment, and refused the proposal.

It is probable he feared the risk involved in occupying an extended

territory necessitating the distribution of his troops, and preferred to

keep them together and concentrated about his person, For it is

known that after the massacre of Patna he suffered agonies of

termorge and fear, and lived in the miserable and constant terror of

being betrayed into the hands of the English to expiate his crime. 'To

prevent such a fate he always carried poison about his person, with

which to terminate his existence if necessary, and if his courage served

him.

Sombre's disposition was merciless, cruel, and bloodthirsty, and he

was totally wanting in honour and fidelity. Avaricious and nnsern-

pulous to an astounding degrec, he bartered his sword to the highest

bidder, with the eagerness ofa huckster disposing of perishable goods,

and changed his fealty with the same unconcern that he changed his

coat, His foree was officered by Europeans, but few, if any, of them

were men of respectability, and those he svgaged were generally the

very dregs and dross of society. The consequence was that his troops

wero gonerally in a state of pronounced mutiny and insubordination,

committing every imaginable outrage upon the persons of their officers,

whom they despisod. They seldom obtained their pay until they had

put their commander into confinement, and made him dig up his

hidden treasure, if he had any, or borrow from bankers if he had

nono. If the troops werd impatient it was their custom to divest

Sombre of his trousers and straddle him across a hot gun. When one

battalion had extracted its duos, he was often handed over to ancther

to be farther squeezed. In later years the Begum herself was subjected

to the starving process, but Colonel Sleeman is the authority for

stating that she was nover actually grilled on a gun, The same

writer states that it was Sombre’s invariable rulo when engaged in

active service to draw up at a safe distanee and await the aourse of

events, If vietory declared for the enomy ho sold his unbroken foree

to the foe for a cash payment; if his own friends won, he promptly

assisted them in plundering, and so secured all the tangible fruits of

vietory.

Lewis Ferdinand Smith has left on record a scathing oriticiem of

Sombre's character as a soldier, and of the merits and qualities of his

corps. “Sombre’s party,” he writes, ‘have never been conspicuous

for their military achievemonts, nor famed for their military trophies.
They never lost a gun and never gained one, until they were dofcated
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by the British army near Adjanta Ghat (Assaye}. But they were

remarkable for their excellent retreats. Sombre made it a rule in

every action to draw his men ont in line, fire a few shots, and then

form square and retreat. This rule his party has ever since adbored

to with inflexible exactitude; by which singular mode of prudent war-

fare they have acquired no laurels, yet preserved their reputation.

They have been the most mutinous troops in India, and woe to the

unfortunate European who was compelled by his necessities to enter

into this party. Disgrace, if not death, altended them, from the fre-

quent revolts of the soldiers, when they regularly wreaked their

ire with clubs upon the shoulders of their European officers.”

The latter years of Sombre’s life were rendered a perfect purgatory

to him by his distrust and suspicion of all around him. He died at

Agra on the 4th of May, 1778, aged fifty-eight years, and was buried

in the garden of his residence there. Tut three years later his widow,

the Begum Somra, on being baptized and received into the Roman

Catholie faith, caused his remains to be disinterred and deposited in

the churchyard of that city. The following is the Portugese in-

scription over his resting-place, in Padretola, Agra :—

AQUIIAZ EO AQs4

OWALT DM MAYO

ERREINHA NOANNO

RD. MORR DE 1778

After Sormbre’s death the command of his party, its pay, and the

joghir of Sardhina, were continued to the Begum Somru, who was

always known by that name, although on her entry into the church sho

had been christened Joanne Nobilis. By means of her uncommon

ability, gallantry, and masculine force of character, she proved herself

equal to the responsibility. She gave the command to a German

uamed Pauly, perhaps because he was a countryman of her

husband, but, it has been suggestod, from more tender reasons,

and gradually entertained a considerable body of Jsuropeans, both as

officers and to work her artillery, which numbered forty pieces of

cannon. These Europeans were of all nationalities, English, French,

Germans, Swiss, Portugese, Armenians, and half-castes, many of them

being deserters from the Company’s service. At onc time the egum

employed over two hundred in her foree.

But she was unfortunate in her officers, for the respectable ones all

left her, and the others were a worthless, dissolute set of men, whose

outrageous conduct often incited the troops to mutiny. Pauly was

murdered “ by a bloody process” in 1783 ; Baours, who succeeded him,
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retired, so next did Evans and Dudrence, all three disgusted with the

“beastly habits” of their European subordinates. It was about this

time that George Thomas rose to a position of importance, if not the

actual control of her force ; he, tov, was forced to leave. It will be

remembered that he was the officer concerned in the spirited succour

which the Begnm afforded to the Emperor Shah 'Alam, when he was

trying to reduce Najaf Kuli Khan in 1788. Thomas departed about

1798, when the command of the party devolved upon Le Vassoult, a

gallant and good-looking soldier, with whom the Begum carried on an

intrigue, She was presently married to him by Father Gregorio, a

Carmelite monk, Mujor Bernier and Colonel Saleur being the witnesses

of the marriage, which was kept secret. Colonel Sleeman states that

Le Vassoult proposed for her hand as the best method of securing his

ascoudaney over Thomas, to whom he was always hostile. Le Vas-

goult was a gentleman by birth and education, and a soldier of honour-

able feelings; but he was stern and haughty by nature, and so

thoroughly despised his subordinates that, after his marriage, he

refused to associate with them on equal grounds, or admit them to a

seat at his table. The Begum in vain endeavoured to persuade her

husband to alter his demeanour, urging that their personal safety

yequired that the officers should be conciliated. But her warnings

wore disrecarded. They proved too true; Le Vassoult’s subordinates

took umbrage, and declared that uo man should command them who

would not meet them on terms of perfect social equality. The troops

sided with the officers, and determined to depose the Begum, and

elevate Balthazar Sombre, a son of Sombre by his first wife, to the

government, This woman waa still living, nor, indeed, did she die

till 1888, when she must have been over a hundred years old. She

was buried at Sardhana, the cemetery of which place, it is curious to

note, contained the bones of many ecntenarians.

Matters with the mutineers were brought to a ecrisia by Le

Vassoult’s harsh treatment of a German officer named Legois (a friend

of George Thomas), who was degraded for endeavouring to dissuade the

Begum from making an attack on Hariina. This arbitrary abuse of

power disgusted the troops, who had fought under Legois for many

years, and were incensed at seeing him superseded by a junior officer.

After remenstrating in vain with Le Vassoult, they suddenly broke

out into open mutiny. The Begum and her husband now became

frightened, and detcrmined to seck an asylum in the Company’s

territory. Neither of them understood English, but Le Vassoult,

with the aid of a grammar and dictionary, managed to communicate

his wishes to Colonel MeGowan, who commanded the advance post
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of the British army at Anupshahr. After some difficulty sanction

was accorded, but a stipulation was mado that Le Vassoult should be

treated as a prisoner of war on parole, and reside with his wife at the

French settlemont of Chandernagore, This was in May, 1795.

The Begum's troops had, however, obtained information of what

was going on, and immediately summoned Balthazar Sombre—or, as

he was more commonly called, from a title bestowed on him by the

Emperor Shah ’Alam, Zafar Yalb Khan—from Delhi to assume the

government of the Sardhana State. Meanwhile Le Vassoult and the

Begnrm managed to slip away, but their departure being discovered,

a detachment was sent in pursuié to capture them, An agreement

existed between the Begum and Le Vassoult, that in the event of

their falling into the hands of the mutineers, neither should survive the

other. In the commotion that ensued, consequent upon their being

overtaken and surrounded, the Begum drew a dagger, and in a balf-

hearted way slashed herself alizhily in the breast. Her attendants

seeing the blood flow shouted out that their mistress had killed herself.

Le Vassoult, who was riding a short distance ahead, hearing the

tumult, inquired what it avose from. He was told that his wife was

dead. A second time he repeated the question, and received the

same apswer. He then drew a pistol from his holster, and although

he might easily have galloped off and saved himself, placed the

muzzle to his mouth and pulled the trigger. ‘Phe ball passed through

his brain, and he sprang from his saddle a full foot into the air, before

he fell dead to the ground. His corpse was subjected to every in-

dignity and insult that the gross and bestial imagination of his officers

and men could conceive, and left fo rot, unburied, on the ground.

The Begum, who was only slightly injured, was carried back

a captive to Sardhana, and kept chaincd to a gun for seven days, and

deprived of all food oxcept such as was conveyed to her by stealth by

her female servants. Balthazar Sombre was seated on the masnad.

He was a detestable compound of ignorance, weakness, cruelty, and

debauchery, and it was uot loug before it beenme evident his rule

had not a single cloment of stability.

The actual instrument of his deposition, and the Begum’s re-

establishment in power, was George Thomas, with whom she found

means to communicate. He gencrously laid aside old animosities,

and responded to her appeal for help. Balthazar Sombre was sent

a prisoner to Delhi, where he died, some say by pvison, in 1808,

leaving a daughter, subsequently inarricd to Colonel Dyce, whose

son became famous as the principal personage in the great Dyce-

Sombre law-suit.
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The command of the Beguin’s forca was now bestowed on Colonel

Salour, who, with thirty other Kuropean officers, signed a ducument

swearing fidelity aud allegiance to their mistress. As illustrating the

class of men who filled the posts of command in this party, it may he

montionced that Salour was the only one who could write his name,

most of the others affixing their seals, whilst a few, to show the

superiority of their accomplishments, subscribed two or three letters —

of the alphabet, not necessarily those representing their proper initials,

but such as they happened to be able to form. The covenant was

drawn out by a Mubammadan scribe in Persian,and as his conscientious

scruples prevented him from acknowlelging Christ as the son of God,

the precious document was superscribed—‘* In the name of God, and

of His Majesty Christ!”

The Begum never publicly declared her marriage to Le Vassoult,

and immediately after his death resumed her former name. So

anxious was she to bury in oblivion an episode which cortainly evinced

weakness in a woman usually strong minded, and already well

advanced in years, that she stipulated in her will that her heir,

whose family patronymic waa Dyce, should in addition assume the

name of Sombre, To complete the story of poor Le Vassoult’s fate it

should be added that doubts have heen cast upon the bond fides of the

agreement which the Begum oriyinated, that in the event of capture

at the hands of the mutineers neither should survive the other. This

and her subsequent mock wound have been denownecd as o picce of

treachory on ber part, designed to rid herself of her husband. There

is, however, no actual proof of this, and Colonel Sleaman, writing in

1886, mentions that he heard ‘' from grave old Native gentlemen, who

were long in her service, that thore really was too much truth in the

story of her intimacy with the gallant young Fronchman, though God

forgive them for saying so of a lady whose salt they had eaten for 60

many years.” Under these circumstances the inhuman atrocity of

the above anygestion is hardly conceivable.

Colonel Saleur raised the Begum Somru’s party to six battalions or

infantry, increased the artillery, and added a cavalry force. The corps

is often mentioned in the political history of the next eicht years, but

it never distinguished itself, nor did the Begum lapse a second time

rom the path of prudence. Aiidst the kaleidoscopic changes of

Hindustun, she managed to preserve her power aud independence

intact, uutil her army, famous in peace, if not in war, met the

English on the plain of Assaye, But even here fortane favoured

them, for four of her five battalions, baing left to guard the Maratha

camp, made good their escape, and only ons was destroyed.
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Just before the declaration of war in 1803, Robert Skinner jomed

the Boegum's service, and after the fall of Aligarh was deputed io

arrange for her submission to General Lake. James Skinner tells the

story so well in hig memoirs that its quotation cannot be resisted,

“Whon the Begum came in person to pay her respects to General

Take, an incident occurred of a curious and characteristic description.

She arrived at head-quarters just after dinner, and being earried in hor

palanquin at once to the reception tent, the General came out to meet

aud receive her. As the adhesion of every petty chieftain was, in

those days, of consequence, Lord Lake was not a little pleased at the

early demonstration of the Begum’'s loyalty, aud being a litile elovated

by the wine which had just been drunk, he forgot the novel cireum-

stance of its boing 8 Native female, instead of some well-bearded chief,

so he gallantly advanced, and, to the ulter dismay of her attendants,

took her in his arms aud kissed her! The mistake might have been

awkward, but the lady’s presence of mind put all right. Reeeiving

courteously the proffered attention, slie tirned calmly round to her

astonished attendants and observed, ‘It is the salute of a purée

(priest) to his daughter.’ The Begum professes Christianity, and thus

the explanation was perfectly in character, though more experienced

spectators might have siniled at the appearance of the jolly red-coated

clergyman exhibited in the person of the General.”

The Begum lived for many years after this in friendly intercourse

with the British. Bishop Heber saw her in 1825, and described hor as

“a very queer looking old woman, with brilliant but wicked eyes, and

the remains of beauty in her features.” “ Queer and wicked ” she had

been in some of her actions, as the following anecdote shows, One

day two of her slave girls set fire to her honses at Agra in order to

make off with their paramours, two soldiers of the guard loft in charge

of them. These houses had thatched roofs, and contained all the

Begum’s valuables. The fire was put out with much difficulty ond

great loss of property, and the two slave girla were soon after dis-

covered in the bazaar at Agra, and brought into the Begum’s camp.

She ordered the affair to be investigated by a drum-head court-

martial, and in the usual summary fashion. Their guilt being

established they were first of all fogged until they were xenseloss, and

then buried alive in a pit dug in front of her teut. Another version of

this atrocious story, related in Ieber’s narrative, states that the girls

were buried in a hole dug in the floor of the Begum’s own chamber,

and that she had her bed drawn over it, and smoked her hookah

anconoernedly over this living grave. But Colonel Sleeman, who was

at the pains of sifting the story, vouches for the correctness of the
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former version—although it is buf one degree less horrible—which he

heard from an old Persian merchant named Aga, to whom the glave

gitls originally belonged. ‘The Begum’s object,” explained the old

Aga, “was to make a strong jinpression upon the turbulent spirit of

her troops by a severe example, and she was entirely successful.”

When the Begum submitted to the English, her force consisted of

six battalions of infantry, 400 horse, and a party of artillery served

chiefly by Europeans, She possessed a good arsenal, woll stored, and

a foundry for cannon, both built within the walls of the fortress of

Sardbéna, The eost of the upkeep of her military ostablishmont was

about four lakhs of rupees s year, and her other expenses were not

less than two, but the revenues from her jaghir of Bardhina were

sufficient to cover both. When she accepted British protection her

income increased very greatly, and there were no longer any calle for

the payment of her troops, which were disbanded. She thus became

immensely rich, and devoted large sums to charitable nnd religious

institutions. Amongst other gifts, she sent to the Pope at Rome

Rs. 150,000, to the Archbishop of Canterbury Rs. 50,000, and te the

Bishop of Calcutta Rs. 100,000, To Catholie Missions in India sho

subscribed Ra. 130,000 ; and for distribution to the deserving debtors

of Caleutta Rs. 50,000. She also built a handsome Roman Catholic

Church and a Protestant Chapel at Meerut, to which place she re-

moved her residence during hor latter years. The Roman Catholic

bishop here was an Itelian from Milan, named Julius Cesar. He

was the medium of her donation to the Pope, for which he raceived

his bishopric. Tis Holiness made the Begum's recognised heir and

step-grandson—Dyce-Sombre—a Chevalier of the Order of Christ,

besides presenting him with a splint from the real cross as a relic.

The Begum was very diminutive in person, but possessed a

wonderful dignity of carriage, and an wneommon resolution of

manner. At Meerut she entertained from time to time several

Governors-General and Commanders-in-chief, During the closing

years of her life an immense army of pensioners cnjoyed her bounty,

and she acquired the character of a kind-hearted and benevolent

woman. Sho died in 1836, leaving behind her a fortune af £700,000,

a large portion of which was bequeathed to charities, and the rest to

Mr. Dyce-Sombre, who married an English lady of title, and his two

sisters, one of whom murried an English offtcer, Captain Troup,

aud the other au Halian gentleman, Signor Sabroli.

SUTHERLAND, Ronert, CoLonen [known to the Natives as Sutief

Sahid).— Sutherland was a Scotchman, and originally an officer in the
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73rd Regiment, from which he was eashiered. He entered Do Boigne’e

First Brigade in 1790, and in May, 1794, was still only a lieutenant on a

pay of Ra. 200 a month. Soon after this promotion came to him, and

he obtained the command of the Third Brigade, and on the death of

Colonel Fréamont in 1795 was transferred tu that of the Second. When,

at the ond of this year, De Boigne retired Sutherland was senior officer

in Hindustan, and acted as chief commander of the troops. Perron

was, however, considerably senior to him, and being in the Deccan

with Daulat Rio Sindhia, had little difficulty in obtaining the succession

to De Boigne’s appointment, in spite of all Sutherland’s endeavours to

secure it for himself. This was the beginning of a lung aud jealous

feud between the two adventurers, which only terminated with the

Scotchman’s resignation in 180%. It is probable, though not actually

recorded, that Sutherland was present at the battles of Patan and

Merta, In 1796 he was employod in the reduction of some revolied

districts in Bundelkhand, bringing into obedionce several petty réjahe,

during which {in Skinner’s words) he fought two goneral actions and

captured half-a-dozen forts, His next service was against Lakwa

Dada at Chitirgarh, This was the occasion when Thomas complained

of Sutherland’s conduct in having arranged 2 concerted attack on the

rebel chief over night, and then mnaccountably drawn off his forces

without any assigned reagon. Skinner records an incident which

happened during this campaign, and does not rebound very muoh to

Sutherland’s credit, It appears that during the desultory progress of

the war, Skinner wag one morning exercising his horse “ in full

armour,” and chanced to meet Harji Sindhisa, a Mardthdé chieftain,

and arelutive of Daulat Rao. Harji invited Skinner to join him in

his ride to s river close by, whither he was hound, at the request of

the Mardth4 General, Ambaji Inglis, to look for # ford. This ex-

pedition was subsequently proved tou be a snare laid by Ambaji, in

collusion with Lakwa Dada—the encmy he was supposed to be fight-

ing against—to bring about the desiruction of Harji, to whora both the

chiefs were hostile. As they rodeo sloug Skinner's suspicions were

aroused, and be warned Haji, who was attended by 500 of his men,

to be on his guard. His fears were not ill-founded, fer almost im-

mediately afterwards they fell into an ambuscade, and were attacked

by a thousand of Lakwa Déda’s cavalry. Skinner and Harji im-

mediately offered fight, and eventually sneceeded in beating the

enemy aff, though not before the formers horse was wounded by a

sabre cut, and he himeolf had received two or three sword blows on

the body, from which he was only saved by his armour. Harji was

wounded, but Skinner fortunately cat down the man who was altack-



412 APPENDIX.

ing him. Returning to comp, Harji invited Skinner to his tent, where

all sat down in Darbar. Then the chief arose and said, “ All those

who fought with me this day were my servants, and did but perform

their duty; but you are my friend, and fought for me as a friend.”

Ho then took a pair of gold bangles set with diamonds, and put them

round Skinney’s wrists, and also gave him a sword, a shield, and a fine

horse. ‘

When Colonel Sutherland heard of this he blamed Skinnet for what

had passed, and told him he should report the ciroumstance of his

accompanying the chief, without leave, to Perron. But a litilo later

he caused intimation to be conveyed. to Skinner that if he would give

him the horse ho had roceived from Harji, nothing should be said of

what had happened. Skinner sent back word he would give the

bangles, but not the horse, the sword, or the shield. At this Suther-

land was much incensed, and his anger was inereased when he learnt

that Harji had bimself written fe Perron praising Skinner’s conduct.

“Soon after this,” adds Skinner, with quiet satisfaction, “the Colonel

himself was discovered intriguing with the Maratha chiefs, and Perron

discharged him, bestowing hig command on Major Pohlimean.” This

incident is related because if shows the existence of an old-standing

quarrel between Sutherland and Skinner, and, in a measure, explains

some of the strictures the latter, in his memoirs, takes oceasion to pass

upon the Scotchman,

Not long after this, Sutherland, having been forgiven through the

interest of his father-in-law, Colonel John Hessing, was sent to the

Decean to take over the command of the First Brigade. The side-light

here is interesting, for it establishes a connection by marriage betweon

Perron and Sutherland, sinco the General and Hessing had married

sisters. Inu another part of his memoirs Skinner mentions that Filoze

and Bourguien were both related to Perron, but without mentioning

the degree of connection. It would thus appear that there was o

regular family party in command of Sindhia’s brigades, for Perron,

the two Hessings, Sutherland, Derridon, the Filoze’s, and Bourguien

must all have been more or Ices connected by marriage ties. Suther-

land, indeed, was nephew by marriage to Perron, having married the

Genoeral’s niece ; but, despite this, they cordially hated one another,

and the Frenchman lost no opportunity of mortifying and vexing the

Scotehinan, with the object of getting rid of him, for ié did not suit his

poliey that his second in command should be a British subject.

Sutherland assumed command of the First Brigade in 1799. Previous

to tis his principal services had been the storming and capture of

Narwar with four battalions in 1795, and the siege and capture of Tori
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Fatehpur in 1796, at the head of eight battalions. In the Decean he

was chiefly engaged in helping Daulat Rao Sindhia to consolidate his

power at Poonah, and it was not until 1801 that an opportunity

oceurred for him to really distinguish himself. In this year Sindhia

returned to Malwa, leaving Sutherland and a portion of the First

Brigade behind to support his interests at the Doccan capital during

his absenco, Then came the disastrous defeat of Ujjiin, and Suther-

land was at once summoned to his masier’s aid. As soon as the rainy

season slackened, and the Narbada heexme fordable, Sutherland was

detached to retrieve the defeat sustained in June, With fourteen

battalions of regular infantry and 20,000 Mardthdé horse he gave battle

to Jaawant Rao Holkar and Amir Khan on the plain outside the city

of Indore, where the latter had taken up a strong position. After an

obstinate contest ho gained a complete victory, drove Holkar and his
troops from their entrenchments, took 98 guns, 160 tumbrils, and all

the baggage, and wound up the exploit by plnndering Indore. Lle

lost 400 men in the action, which was a very severe one. Although a

detailed account of this battle has been given in the sketch of Perron’s

life, it will not be out of place to quote the following description of it

from the pages of ‘‘Pandurang Han,” which gives a graphic idea of

the fight from a Hindu point of view. Pandurang Hari, it may bo

mentioned, was at the time a cavalry officer in Ilolkar’s Maratha

Horse.

*“T had just entered upon my new service when despatches arrived

with orders for ws to march to Indere, Holker’s capital... A

Mahratta army consists in general of horse and foot of every neigh-

bouring nation, religion, and costume. It makes a very motley

appearance, as it is under uo discipline, and dostitate of regular

uniform. Few of the men in the samo line, either cavalry or infantry,

have weapons of a likeform. Some are armed with sword and shield,

others with mateblocks or muskets. Some carry bows and arrows,

others spears, lances, or war rockets. Many are expert with the

battleaxe, but the sabre is indispensable to all, The men in armour,

of whom there aro many to make up the variety, cut a very curious

appearance. A helmet covers not only the head aud ears, but pro-

tects the shoulders. The body is cased in iron network, or in a thick

quilted vest. They give preference to thw two-edged sword before the

curved one used by the Persians and Arabs... . Every réjah, prince,

or leader is responsible among the Mahrattas to the Psishwa, or head

of the empire, for his general conduct. He pays tribute for his district,

and attends when summoned with his quota of men, which is regu-

lated by his wealth and population. He is supreme in command over
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his corps, which is attached alone to him and to his fortunes, and ad-

heres to whatever party he supports. ... After a fatiguing march we

reached Indore, the capital of Jeswant Rao Holker. Our preparations

were now complete, and we were confident of success. Our cavalry

was & strange rabble, mounted on tall and short horses of every colour

and kind, Saddles were always slipping off for want of girths ; strings

fastened to any old picces of iron by way of bits, supplied bridles; old

turbana served for martingales, and tent ropes for cruppers. The in-

fantry wae just aa wretchedly accoutred as the cavalry. Everything

was wanting and nothing regular. Here voices might be heard roaring

out for ball, and there for muskets or arms. Those who were not

fortunate onough to procure any weapon at all, supplied the deficiency

by a bamboo pole, which they dignified with the designation of a spear.

, +» The aventful day at length dawned. I awoke carly, and opening

my tent, looked abroad. All was dark and misty. Soon it was all

alive in the camp, and as the day advanced clamour, turmoil, and

preparation increased. The drums roared on every hand the call to

arms. The war-elephants, caparisoned and ready, yelled with im-

patience, and towered loftily over all other living objects. The neighi-

ing of horses, the clash of arms, the buzz of impationt voicce, the

sounds of command, the march of the irregular and eonfused masses

to their stations, was an impressive scene. Soon the firing of guns,

at first slow and! irregular, then more rapidly, convinced me the work

of death had begun in some quarter, and it seemed speedily extending

itself towards the station of my troop, which Lhad joined, well mounted,

and with which I remained, with a fluttering heart, in awful suspense,

The current of battle now rolled close by me, and aetion soon took

away all reflection, for we had enough upon our hands. Our men

were all lean kine, and too seantily fed to be much heavier than

skeletons. Our horses were in little better condition, and when

Seindia’s cavalry came down on us we were knocked off on the ground

before we could strike a blow. In vain I tried to rally and remount

my men. I succeeded in prevailing upon only a few to rally ; the best

part of them turned tril and fled without oneo looking behind. Thus

the division to which I was attached was speedily disposed of Our

infantry getting mixed with the cavalry that had been driven back by

Seindia, was taken by it for the infantry of that chief, instead of our

own, and the sabre began to cut among thom as if they were a field of

standing corn, I laboured in vain to rectify the mistake, and stay the

carnage of our own men. My voice was Jost in the scene of death and

discord, the rush of rockets, and the groans of the dying. How long

this scene might have continued before it could have been put an end
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oT cannot tell, if the attention of the cavalry had not been drawn to
something, which even in tho beat of battle was truly appalling to the

sight, and made them, even there, think of self-preservation. A

wounded elephant rushed in among tham, mad with the pain of a ball

he had just received, and rolled hig unwieldy bulk through and over

the slashed infantry, and among the terrified horse. Boast and rider

were overturned and crushed beneath his tread, and all that lay in his

peth became victims to his fury. This effectually put a stop to tha

havoc the cavalry had begun, as the horses took fright and bore their

riders off the field of action, leaving their own broken infantry to be

trampled to death by the enraged beast, At this moment the cavalry

of Scindia charged our artillery and captured it all togethor with our

baggage, This was decisive. Joswant Rio Holker saw his world-

conquering heroes disperse in every direction, and the battle terminated

in leaving Scindia no enemies ina view, the pursued goon leaving their

conquerors far in the rear. The virtne of leanness, which served us

50 ill in the battle, was now of singular service in making our escape,”

Pandurang Hari makes a mistake in describing Sindhbia as present

in person at the battle, for he was some niiles in the rear with hig

baggage, and Sutherland was in command of the victorious army,

it is curious that no mention is made of the regular infantry in this

spirited description of the ght. The victory established Satherland’s

reputation and confirmed bim in his master’s favour; so much so

that at one time it was announced he had been appointed to super-

sede Perron, whose jealousy operated as much aa any other cause in

bringing him to Ujjain in Mareh, 1802.

Perron soon obtained Sindhkia's ear, and althongh Sutherland

intrigued assiduously, he was disgraced and transferred to tho

command of the Second Brigade, which had escorted Perron down

from Hindustan. This humiliation and “a remark of Perron’s”
caused the Seotchman fo throw up his commission in disgust, and ho

returned to Agra “ without leave,” accompanied by a hundred cavalry.

Sindhia, it was slated, was very much distressed at his departure, and

Perron went personally to pacify bis brigade, and promised them a

new commander of equal rank.

Sutherland remained at Agra till the breaking out of the war with

the Huglish, and was one of the officers confined by the mutinous

Agra gerrison. He was associated with George Hessing in arranging

the terms of capitulation, and the bearer of the letter to General

Lake which “demanded a cessation of hostilities’ on the 13th of

October, 1808. ‘Two or thres days nfter this he and all the European

officers in the place found protection under the British flag.
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On the whole, Sutherland seems to have been a good officer, thougl
doubtless his social qualities were not so commendable as his military

shilities. His victory at Indore justifies Lis claim to be cotsidered a

miore competent commander than most of his contemporaries. 1.

hig withdrawal from Bindhia’s service he obtained & pension of

Its, 800 a month, undor favour of the Governor-Genoral's proclama-

tion, which he enjoyed for some years. He died at Malttra, but the

date of his death is not known.

Syueu, Captain [known to the natives as Sunk Sahib].—Captain

Symos was the commandant of a Najib, or matchlock, battalion in

Perron’s First Brigade, aud was wounded at the storm of Sounda,

After this be was sent to supersede Bourguien, who had been

fruitlessly endeavouring to capture Ajmir. From thence he pro-

eeeded to Tonk, which place he garrisoned for some time, until

Jaswant Rao Holkar attacked him, aud. forced him to retreat to

TRamptra. Hoe died at Sikandre a short time before the war broke

out with the English,

Tone, Wittram Dexxy, Cononen.—Colonel W. I. Tone was an

Trishman, and brother to the famous Trish rebel, Theobakl Walfo

Tone, Wiliam was born in August, 1784, his grandfather being a

respectable farmer uear Naas, in county Kildare, und his father a

ocoachmaker, who was roined by tigation ovor the family property.

Tone was intended for e commercial life, and bound apprentice at tho

age of fourteen to an eminent bookseller. This enabled him to

indulge his passion for reading, and he perused every book of voyages

and travels which he could find, and also some of military history and

adventure. This literaturo heated an imagination naturally warm

and enthusiastic to such a dogrea that, at the age of sixteen, he ran

away to London, and entered as e volunteer in the East India Conn-

pany’s service. Tis first exporienco was unfortunate, for instead of

finding bia way to India, as he desired, he was sent to the Island of

St. Helens, on which barren rock ho remained in garrison for six

years, and then returned to Furope. It was highly to his honour

that, though he entered into such execrable socieby as the troops in

the Company's eervice were composed of, and at such an early age,

he passed through the ordeal without being affected Ly the contagion

of their manners or their principles. He even found meaus in that

degraded situation and romote spot to cultivate his mind to a certain

degreo, so that his brother, Wolfe Tone, was much surprised when he

met him in London, after a separation of eight years, to find him
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with the manners of a gentleinan and a considerable acquaintance

with the best parts of Euglish literature. Tone liad w natural talent

for poetry, which he much improved, aud composed sevcrel very

elegant sets of verses. Ile was a haudsome, well-made man with a

good address, and extremely well received among women, wiiom he

loved to excess. He was as brave as Cesar aud devoted to soldieriuy.

Having remuined three or four years in Lurope, by whieh time lis

father was utterly ruined by the law-suit alluded to, Tone resolved

io try his fortune in India, from which step his brother did not

attempt to dissuade him. Re-enteriuy the Company's service in 1702,

he arrived at Madras at tho cnd of that venr. With an advantageous

figure, = good address, and considerable talents, he recommended

himself so far to the colonel of the regiment in which lie served, that

he obtained lia discharge and Ictters of introduction to persors at

Calcutta, where he was advised to push his fortunes, A smali military

command enabled him tordefray, the expenses of the voyage, aud

procured bin a gratification of £50.0n his arrival at his destination

aga reward for jus exertions in quelling w dangerous mutiny whieb

broke out amongst the black troops tuder his command on bosrd,

who had furmed a scheme to run away with the chip. At Calentts

the persons to wliom he had come recommended introduced him toa

French officer named Marigny, who was secoud in command of the

Nizam of Haidarabad’s army, aud happeucd to be at the Pre-

sideucy purehasing military stores for Its masicr. Marigny gave

Tone an appointment in the Nizani’s service, 2nd prowised him the

coramand of a4 battery of artillery as soon as they should arrive at

Haidarabad. The stores being purchased, Tone marched with the

First Division, of which he had the command, and arrived safely at

the Nizau's capital, After some time, Marigny fullowed ; but by an

wnforcseen accident all Tone’s hopes were blasted. A quarrel took

place between Marigny and Raymond, the Frenchmen in command,

in which Tone, with wi honourable indiseretion, sided with his friend.

The conseyuence was that Marigny was put in irons, and Tone only

escaped a similar fate by appeling, as a Livitish subject, to the

Resident at the Nizaim's Court for protection. [lis cireumstance,

together with the breaking out of the war between the French end

English, pat an end to all prospects of his advanecment, as all the

Luropeans in the Nizam’s army were Frenchmen.

So Toue set out to return to Caleutix. On lis journey, having

teavelled four lundred miles, and with two hundred yet to travel,

which must have brought bin into the distriet of Orissa, he dis-

mounted from his horse to shoot in a junele by the roadside. On iis

27
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return he found his servants and horses in the bands of five rnffiass,

who were engaged in plundermg his baggage. He immediately ran

up and fired at them, and shot one in the stomach, whereupon

another returned the fre with one of Tone’s own pistols, which they

had seized, and wounded him in the foot. They then made off with

their booty, and in this distressed condition the unfortunate Irishman

hed to travel two hundred miles in a burning climate and without

resources. But his courage and good constitution supported him,

and he at length arrived at Calcutta, where he speedily recovered his

health. Tig friends there had not forgotten Lim, and when an

opportunity offered of Major Palmer proceeding to Poonsh to take

up the appointment of Resident at the Court of the Peshwa of

the MardAthis, they procured Tone a strong recommendation to that

Court, and he set off with Major Palmer in high spirits and health,

and with expectations of the command of a battery of artillery at

least.

So far Tone’s history hag been extracted trom the memoirs of his

brother Wolfe Tone. Carrying the narrative forward, it would appear

he reached Poonah about the year 1796, and found employment in

Boyd's corps. Two years later he was selected by Amrai Rio, the

Pesiiwa's brother, to command a proposed brigade of regular infantry,

all the officers of which were to be British subjects, but the idea was

abandoned. In 1801 he was in command of two hundred Sepoys

assisting Lakwa Dada and the Bhais st the dofenee of Sounda,

where he was defeated by Perron’s troops and obliged to surrender.

The General behaved very kindly to him and his officers, supplying

them with a handsome camp equipage, such as tents, camels,

horses, &c. Te the Colonel he offered service in his own army, but

it was declined, and Tone was permitted to retire to Mahéswur,

the capital of Holkar, and furnished with Re. 10,000 for his expenses,

aud to enable him and his comrades in misfortane to recover their

Shattered fortunes.

Tone was killed in the following year, being struck by 2 bullet in

the right temple in an action near Choli Mahéswur while serving with

Holker. His brother's biographer (his own nephew), writing in 1827,

does not scem to have been aware of this, or, at least, does not spe-

cifically mention it.

Tone was the author of a pampliet entitled * Some Tustitutions of

the Mahratta People,’ which has been frequently quoted by various

luistortans, so that he evidently cultivated his iaste for literature to

the end. Grant Duff, in his “Tlistory of the Mahrattas,” refers in

very appreciative tcrms to three letters which Tone had published,
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giving an accurate account of affairs at Poonah in 1796. “I have

examined minutely,” he writes, “all which that intelligent gentleman

wrote respecting the Mahrattas. What he saw may be relied upon ;

as to what he heard, I am less surprised that he should have fallen

into error than that he should have obtained information so nearly

correct.” Smith describes Tone as a man of ‘‘ undaunted valour and

persevering enterprise ; an unfortunate gentleman whose abilities and

integrity were as great as his misfortunes had been undeservedly

sovyare.” and criticises his ‘‘ Institutions ’’ as ‘both elegant and

accurate.” Tivery one who was brought into contact with William

Haury Tone writes well of him, and lkuves us with the impression

that he was a brave and amiable man.

IckERS, Masor.—Major Vickers was a half-caste, and an exceed-

my. ly gallant young soldicr. He entaren Perron’s army as a lieutenant

in the Secor] Brigade, under Major Pohiman, and emmuanded one
ot the trenches in the siege of Jhajgarh, displaying great bravery in

leading the storm of that formidable place. When the Chevalier

Tudrenee deserted Holkar’s service, Vickers was appointed to the

command of his corps, and behaved with great courage at the battle

af Poonah, in October, 1802, his intrepidity and steadiness conducing

much towards the victory, and being atthe time a theme of admiration

amongst all military men. In 1804, when war broke ont between

Hoikar and the British, the chief scnt for Vickers, aud asked him if

he would fight against his countrymen. The young man positively

refused to do so, as did also two other adventurers—Dodd and Ryan.

Whereupon Jaswant Rac, assigning as a justification a treasonable

correspondence which he accused them of carrying on, ordered all

three to be beheaded, and the sentence was carried into effect at

Nahar Maghdna (Tiger’s Hill) in the month of May, 1804. Their

heads were fixed on lances in front of Jaswant Rao’s camp, and a

public crier proclaimed that such would be the tate of any European

who might fall into Holkar’s clutches.
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